## COGNITIVE ENHANCEMENT IN PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

EDITED BY: Tomiki Sumiyoshi and Kenji Hashimoto PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry and Frontiers in Psychology







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-055-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-055-4

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

## COGNITIVE ENHANCEMENT IN PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

**Topic Editors:** 

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan



Image: Cognitive Health "To overcome cognitive difficulties brings about peace of mind". Scenes photographed by Tomiki Sumiyoshi

Disturbances of various domains of cognitive function have been shown to provide a major determinant of outcome for patients with psychiatric conditions. Cognitive impairment is present in an array of diseases, including schizophrenia (with its prodromal stage), mood disorder, autism spectrum disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, anxiety disorder, post-traumatic disorder, and eating disorder. In an effort to develop effective therapeutics for cognitive impairment, bridging of preclinical and clinical evidence has been attempted. This edited Book will provide a forum for researchers and clinicians interested in the phenomenology, underlying mechanisms, and treatment of cognitive impairment associated with psychiatric illnesses. Twenty-eight contributions from 8 countries in Europe, Middle East, Asia, North America, and South America represent studies dealing with genetic, molecular, imaging, physiological, psychological, and behavioral issues. Information in this Book will facilitate the development of therapeutics of greater clinical value.

**Citation:** Sumiyoshi, T., Hashimoto, K., eds. (2019). Cognitive Enhancement in Psychiatric Disorders. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-055-4

## Table of Contents

07 Editorial: Cognitive Enhancement in Psychiatric Disorders Tomiki Sumiyoshi and Kenji Hashimoto

## **NEUROBIOLOGY OF COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENTS**

- **10** Genetic Biomarkers on Age-Related Cognitive Decline Chieh-Hsin Lin, Eugene Lin and Hsien-Yuan Lane
- 19 Right Frontotemporal Cortex Mediates the Relationship Between Cognitive Insight and Subjective Quality of Life in Patients With Schizophrenia

Shenghong Pu, Kazuyuki Nakagome, Masashi Itakura, Hiroaki Ohtachi, Masaaki Iwata, Izumi Nagata and Koichi Kaneko

- 29 Cognitive Function and Monoamine Neurotransmission in Schizophrenia: Evidence From Positron Emission Tomography Studies Harumasa Takano
- *37 Electrophysiological Evidence in Schizophrenia in Relation to Treatment Response*

Kazuki Sueyoshi and Tomiki Sumiyoshi

43 Sensorimotor Gating in Depressed and Euthymic Patients With Bipolar Disorder: Analysis on Prepulse Inhibition of Acoustic Startle Response Stratified by Gender and State

Junko Matsuo, Miho Ota, Shinsuke Hidese, Toshiya Teraishi, Hiroaki Hori, Ikki Ishida, Moeko Hiraishi and Hiroshi Kunugi

55 Relationship of Handgrip Strength and Body Mass Index With Cognitive Function in Patients With Schizophrenia

Shinsuke Hidese, Junko Matsuo, Ikki Ishida, Moeko Hiraishi, Toshiya Teraishi, Miho Ota, Kotaro Hattori and Hiroshi Kunugi

66 Early Intervention and a Direction of Novel Therapeutics for the Improvement of Functional Outcomes in Schizophrenia: A Selective Review

Masayoshi Kurachi, Tsutomu Takahashi, Tomiki Sumiyoshi, Takashi Uehara and Michio Suzuki

## **EVALUATION OF COGNITIVE DISTURBANCES AND RELATED ISSUES**

77 Semantic Memory Organization in Japanese Patients With Schizophrenia Examined With Category Fluency

Chika Sumiyoshi, Haruo Fujino, Tomiki Sumiyoshi, Yuka Yasuda, Hidenaga Yamamori, Michiko Fujimoto and Ryota Hashimoto

87 Neuropsychological Profile of Specific Executive Dysfunctions in Patients With Deficit and Non-deficit Schizophrenia Ernest Tyburski, Justyna Pełka-Wysiecka, Monika Mak,

Agnieszka Samochowiec, Przemysław Bieńkowski and Jerzy Samochowiec

97 A Brief Assessment of Intelligence Decline in Schizophrenia as Represented by the Difference Between Current and Premorbid Intellectual Quotient

Kazutaka Ohi, Chika Sumiyoshi, Haruo Fujino, Yuka Yasuda, Hidenaga Yamamori, Michiko Fujimoto, Tomiki Sumiyoshi and Ryota Hashimoto

107 Verbal Memory Impairment in Patients With Subsyndromal Bipolar Disorder

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, Atsuhito Toyomaki, Naoko Kawano, Tomoko Kitajima, Ichiro Kusumi, Norio Ozaki, Nakao Iwata, Kazuki Sueyoshi and Kazuyuki Nakagome

114 Competence to Consent and its Relationship With Cognitive Function in Patients With Schizophrenia

Norio Sugawara, Norio Yasui-Furukori and Tomiki Sumiyoshi

## PHARMACOLOGIC STRATEGIES TO AMELIORATE COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENTS

119 Medications Used for Cognitive Enhancement in Patients With Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder, Alzheimer's Disease, and Parkinson's Disease

Wen-Yu Hsu, Hsien-Yuan Lane and Chieh-Hsin Lin

- 130 Effects of Continuing Oral Risperidone vs. Switching From Risperidone to Risperidone Long-Acting Injection on Cognitive Function in Stable Schizophrenia Patients: A Pilot Study Hikaru Hori, Asuka Katsuki, Kiyokazu Atake and Reiji Yoshimura
- **134** Potential and Challenges for the Clinical Use of D-Serine as a Cognitive Enhancer

Gerson D. Guercio and Rogerio Panizzutti

144 Drugs Interfering With Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors and Their Effects on Place Navigation

Jan Svoboda, Anna Popelikova and Ales Stuchlik

**155** Dose Reduction/Discontinuation of Antipsychotic Drugs in Psychosis; Effect on Cognition and Functional Outcomes Yoshie Omachi and Tomiki Sumiyoshi

## **COGNITIVE REMEDIATION AND ITS AUGMENTATION**

- **162** Cognitive Remediation for Schizophrenia With Focus on NEAR Tamiko Mogami
- 166 Cognitive Remediation in Middle-Aged or Older Inpatients With Chronic Schizophrenia: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Korea Kee-Hong Choi, Jinsook Kang, Sun-Min Kim, Seung-Hwan Lee, Seon-Cheol Park, Won-Hye Lee, Sun Choi, Kiho Park and Tae-Yeon Hwang
- 177 Neural Correlates for Intrinsic Motivational Deficits of Schizophrenia; Implications for Therapeutics of Cognitive Impairment Kazuyoshi Takeda, Tomiki Sumiyoshi, Madoka Matsumoto, Kou Murayama, Satoru Ikezawa, Kenji Matsumoto and Kazuyuki Nakagome
- 188 Pharmacological Augmentation of Psychosocial and Remediation Training Efforts in Schizophrenia

Philip D. Harvey and Michael Sand

### 199 Enhancing Neuroplasticity to Augment Cognitive Remediation in Schizophrenia

Carol Jahshan, Yuri Rassovsky and Michael F. Green

## NEUROMODULATION TO ENHANCE COGNITION IN NEUROPSYCHIATRIC ILLNESSES

206 Possible Facilitative Effects of Repeated Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Functional Outcome 1 Month Later in Schizophrenia: An Open Trial

Zui Narita, Takuma Inagawa, Kazuki Sueyoshi, Crystal Lin and Tomiki Sumiyoshi

- 214 Effect of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Functional Capacity in Schizophrenia: A Study Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial Zui Narita, Takuma Inagawa, Kazushi Maruo, Kazuki Sueyoshi and Tomiki Sumiyoshi
- **219** Brain Stimulation in Alzheimer's Disease Chun-Hung Chang, Hsien-Yuan Lane and Chieh-Hsin Lin

### COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENTS IN PSYCHIATRIC CONDITIONS COMMON IN CHILDREN/ADOLESCENTS

- 232 Acoustic Hyper-Reactivity and Negatively Skewed Locomotor Activity in Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders: An Exploratory Study Hidetoshi Takahashi, Toru Nakamura, Jinhyuk Kim, Hiroe Kikuchi, Takayuki Nakahachi, Makoto Ishitobi, Ken Ebishima, Kazuhiro Yoshiuchi, Tetsuya Ando, Andrew Stickley, Yoshiharu Yamamoto and Yoko Kamio
- 239 Procedural Memory Consolidation in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder is Promoted by Scheduling of Practice to Evening Hours Maria Korman, Ishay Levy and Avi Karni
- 251 Neurocognitive Impairments are More Severe in the Binge-Eating/Purging Anorexia Nervosa Subtype Than in the Restricting Subtype Hiroko Tamiya, Atushi Ouchi, Runshu Chen, Shiho Miyazawa, Yoritaka Akimoto, Yasuhiro Kaneda and Ichiro Sora





# Editorial: Cognitive Enhancement in Psychiatric Disorders

#### Tomiki Sumiyoshi1\* and Kenji Hashimoto2

<sup>1</sup> Department of Preventive Intervention for Psychiatric Disorders, National Institute of Mental Health, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Division of Clinical Neuroscience, Chiba University Center for Forensic Mental Health, Chiba, Japan

Keywords: cognition, functional outcomes, therapeutics, assessment, biomarkers

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

#### **Cognitive Enhancement in Psychiatric Disorders**

Disturbances of various domains of cognitive function, e.g., several types of memory, executive function, attention, fluency, and attention/information processing, have been shown to provide a major determinant of outcome for patients with psychiatric conditions. Cognitive impairment is present not only in people with dementias but also in an array of diseases, including schizophrenia (with its prodromal stage), mood disorders, autism spectrum disorders, and eating disorders. This is in line with the Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) initiative proposed by National Institute of Mental Health in the USA, designating the Cognitive System as one of the functional domains whose impairment is pertinent to various operational diagnoses. Intervention into cognitive impairment has been recognized as a major goal of clinical practice, but much remains to be explored.

Articles in this *Topic* deal with genetic, molecular, imaging, physiological, psychological, and behavioral issues regarding the mechanisms, assessment, and treatment of cognitive disturbances in psychiatric illnesses. Twelve *original researches*, nine *reviews*, five *mini-reviews*, one *protocol*, and one *opinion* have been contributed by authors from eight countries in Europe, Middle East, Asia, North America, and South America.

To attain the aims of initiatives, such as RDoC, it is essential to elucidate the biological bases for abnormalities of specific cognitive problems. The first paper, Genetic Biomarkers on Age-Related Cognitive Decline by Lin et al. concerns the search for genetic biomarkers of cognitive aging. A review was provided on studies of candidate genes and genome-wide associations, as well as geneenvironment interactions paradigms, which is relevant to the prevention and development of novel therapeutics. Also, Pu et al. in Right Frontotemporal Cortex Mediates the Relationship between Cognitive Insight and Subjective Quality of Life in Patients with Schizophrenia present data on cortical activities in the brain, as evaluated by near-infrared spectroscopy. Another powerful tool to assess brain functions *in vivo* is positron emission tomography (PET). Thus, Takano summarizes the role for receptor subtypes and transporters for dopamine, serotonin, and norepinephrine, as evaluated by PET, in cognitive disturbances of schizophrenia (Cognitive Function and Monoamine Neurotransmission in Schizophrenia: Evidence From Positron Emission Tomography Studies).

Neurophysiological evaluation in relation to behavioral changes associated with cognitive function has been an area of intensive research. Accordingly, Sueyoshi and Sumiyoshi provide a brief overview on this issue with particular focus on electrophysiological markers, including electroencephalogram (Electrophysiological Evidence in Schizophrenia in Relation to Treatment Response). For mood disorders, the study by Matsuo et al. (Sensorimotor Gating in Depressed and Euthymic Patients with Bipolar Disorder: Analysis on Prepulse Inhibition of Acoustic Startle Response Stratified by Gender and State) presents data of prepulse inhibition (PPI) of

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited and Reviewed by:

Antoine Bechara, University of Southern California, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi tomikisumiyoshi840@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

**Received:** 06 May 2019 **Accepted:** 03 June 2019 **Published:** 19 June 2019

#### Citation:

Sumiyoshi T and Hashimoto K (2019) Editorial: Cognitive Enhancement in Psychiatric Disorders. Front. Psychiatry 10:435. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00435

7

the acoustic startle reflex. These authors found PPI disruption in patients with bipolar disorder only if they are male and depressed, suggesting that this behavioral phenotype is both trait- and state-specific. The same group of investigators also report that weak handgrip strength and high body mass index are disadvantageous for cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia (Relationship of Handgrip Strength and Body Mass Index With Cognitive Function in Patients With Schizophrenia by Hidese et al.), providing a potential physical index for cognitive performance. Much attention has been paid to early intervention into cognitive and social outcomes in psychosis. This topic was reviewed in Early Intervention and a Direction of Novel Therapeutics for the Improvement of Functional Outcomes in Schizophrenia: A Selective Review by Kurachi et al., who summarized evidence for morphological changes in the brains of individuals with schizophrenia, and provides perspectives of novel treatments.

The implementation of reliable and valid assessment methods of cognition, capable of predicting social function, is one of the most important research topics. Specifically, Sumiyoshi et al. investigated high-level cognitive functions, using a text-mining technique, in individuals with schizophrenia, as reported in Semantic Memory Organization in Japanese Patients With Schizophrenia Examined With Category Fluency (by Sumiyoshi et al.). Comparisons of high-level cognitive function between subtypes of schizophrenia were attempted by Tyburski et al. (Neuropsychological Profile of Specific Executive Dysfunctions in Patients With Deficit and Non-deficit Schizophrenia), who observed the ability of performance on specific cognitive domains to predict long-term outcomes. For this clinical issue, Ohi et al. used the difference between premorbid and current IQs as a surrogate index of cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia (A Brief Assessment of Intelligence Decline in Schizophrenia as Represented by the Difference Between Current and Premorbid Intellectual Quotient).

Compared with schizophrenia, the degree of cognitive decline is milder in mood disorders, suggesting the need for using neuropsychological tests with greater sensitivity. Accordingly, Sumiyoshi et al. report the utility of the California Verbal Learning Test, with greater cognitive demands compared with other word list learning tests typically used for schizophrenia, in evaluating memory disturbances in patients with euthymic bipolar disorder (Verbal Memory Impairment in Patients with Subsyndromal Bipolar Disorder). Cognitive function also plays an important role in decision-making capacity of patients in the event of consenting to participate in clinical studies, receiving medical treatments, and so on. This critical issue is discussed by Sugawara et al. in Competence to Consent and Its Relationship With Cognitive Function in Patients With Schizophrenia. Overall, future research will be benefitted by incorporating objective markers to facilitate the understanding of the link between cognitive performance and real-world functional outcomes.

In an effort to develop effective therapeutics for cognitive impairment, translational approaches, i.e., bridging preclinical and clinical evidence, have been attempted. However, clinical trials of agents, produced through such approaches, have yielded negative results in most cases, indicating a need for further study. This challenge was summarized by Hsu et al. who provided a review of the literature on the efficacy of several drugs, i.e., putative "cognition enhancers" based on preclinical data, in treating cognitive impairment of psychiatric and neurological diseases (Medications Used for Cognitive Enhancement in Patients With Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder, Alzheimer's Disease, and Parkinson's Disease). The paucity of effective compounds to date is related to the initiative of the switch to other administration routes for the same drug, as reported by Hori et al. in Effects of Continuing Oral Risperidone vs. Switching from Risperidone to Risperidone Long-Acting Injection on Cognitive Function in Stable Schizophrenia Patients: A Pilot Study.

To overcome this situation, research into some of the novel agents is addressed. Thus, Guercio and Panizzutti provide a review of studies on the possible cognition-enhancing effect of D-serine, a co-agonist at N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors, and related compounds (Potential and Challenges for the Clinical Use of d-Serine as a Cognitive Enhancer). On the basis of animal data on spatial memory, Svoboda et al. discussed the role for subtypes of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors as a potential target for drug development (Drugs Interfering with Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors and Their Effects on Place Navigation). In addition to these agents, neurotrophic compounds, anti-inflammatory/ oxidation agents, and particular nutrients may provide a novel candidate for pharmaco-therapeutics in this field. Also, whether prolonged administration of antipsychotic drugs is advantageous for improving cognition social function in schizophrenia and early psychoses has attracted attention. Accordingly, Omachi and Sumiyoshi examined results from relevant studies on this issue in Dose Reduction/Discontinuation of Antipsychotic Drugs in Psychosis; Effect on Cognition and Functional Outcomes, which should provide a clue to improving long-term consequences of quality of life for patients.

There is also a growing trend to develop non-pharmacologic therapeutics for ameliorating cognitive deficits in psychiatric illnesses. In particular, promising results have been reported for several types of cognitive remediation, or rehabilitation in schizophrenia and other diseases. Mogami contributed an Opinion on the Neuropsychological Educational Approach to Remediation (NEAR), one of the landmark methods of cognitive training (Cognitive Remediation for Schizophrenia with Focus on NEAR). Efficacy of this type of cognitive rehabilitation has been reported mainly for relatively young people with schizophrenia. With a well-controlled study design, Choi et al. found that disturbances of some of the key cognitive domains were alleviated also in older patients with chronic schizophrenia (Cognitive Remediation in Middle-Aged or Older Inpatients With Chronic Schizophrenia: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Korea). Several factors have been suggested to intervene the effect of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. For example, Takeda et al. provided a review of the role for intrinsic motivation in optimizing the benefits of cognitive training, with reference to neurobiological substrates measured by brain imaging methods (Neural Correlates for Intrinsic Motivational Deficits of Schizophrenia; Implications for Therapeutics of Cognitive Impairment).

Recent efforts have been directed to boost the effect of cognitive rehabilitation with biological strategies, such as medications and non-invasive brain stimulation (neuromodulation). In this line, Harvey and Sand examined the current state of interventions combining cognitive and psychosocial treatments with pharmacological agents, such as stimulants, plasticityinducing compounds, or attentional enhancers (Pharmacological Augmentation of Psychosocial and Remediation Training Efforts in Schizophrenia). For non-pharmacological approach, Jahshan et al. presented an update on co-treatment with physical exercise or transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), a type of neuromodulation (Enhancing Neuroplasticity to Augment Cognitive Remediation in Schizophrenia). Physical exercise is thought to stimulate neuroplasticity through the regulation of central growth factors, while the mechanisms of tDCS may involve long-term potentiation.

tDCS is the subject for a series of articles in this Research Topic, in accord with emerging evidence for the efficacy of neuromodulation in improving cognitive function. Thus, Narita et al. observed stimulation of the left prefrontal cortex with tDCS improved some domains of cognition, e.g., verbal memory, in patients with schizophrenia (Possible Facilitative Effects of Repeated Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Functional Outcome 1 Month Later in Schizophrenia: An Open Trial). Importantly, daily-living skills or "functional capacity" was also enhanced, providing the first report on the ability of tDCS to improve the higher-level functional outcome. These findings were based on an open-label trial, and the same group of investigators are conducting a confirmatory study with a more rigorous design (Effect of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Functional Capacity in Schizophrenia: A Study Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial by Narita et al.). Several types of neuromodulation, such as tDCS, transcranial alternating current stimulation, and transcranial magnetic stimulation are also expected to enrich the treatment options for cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease, as summarized by Chang et al. (Brain Stimulation in Alzheimer's Disease).

Cognitive function and its dysregulation have been a topic of research on psychiatric conditions common in children and adolescents. Among the behavioral phenotypes typical of developmental disorders, sensory symptoms are included in the diagnostic criteria for autism. With a focus on acoustic startle response, Takahashi et al. observed that exaggerated acoustic reactivity was associated with skewness of locomotor activity in boys with autism spectrum disorders (Acoustic Hyper-Reactivity and Negatively Skewed Locomotor Activity in Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders: An Exploratory Study). In young women with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), gains of procedural memory consolidation were greater with the evening rather than morning training, unlike the case for individuals with typical development, as reported by Korman et al. (Procedural Memory Consolidation in Attention-Deficit/ Hyperactivity Disorder Is Promoted by Scheduling of Practice to Evening Hours).

Impaired cognitive function has also been suggested to underline some aspects of the psychopathology of eating disorders. Thus, Tamiya et al. compared cognitive profiles between the restricting type and binge-eating/purging type of anorexia nervosa, and found significantly worse attention/ vigilance for the latter type, which may be related to the higher mortality rate (Neurocognitive Impairments Are More Severe in the Binge-Eating/Purging Anorexia Nervosa Subtype Than in the Restricting Subtype).

These days, we occasionally receive a message "Tomiki (Kenji), an article you edited reached an impact milestone." At the time of completion of this *Editorial*, the number of "views" of our *Topic* has reached almost 73,000, thanks greatly to the dedicated authors worldwide. This status assures us that our endeavor to "make a forum for researchers and clinicians interested in cognitive impairment of psychiatric illnesses" has been attained. This collaborative work accomplished by our colleagues will help facilitate the development of therapeutics of greater clinical value.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TS wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and KH provided opinions on it. Both authors read and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was partly supported by Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) KAKENHI No. 17K10321, Intramural Research Grant (29-1, 30-1, 30-8) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders of National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry (NCNP), and AMED under Grant Numbers 18dk0307069, 18dk0307081 and 19dm0107119h0003.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sumiyoshi and Hashimoto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Genetic Biomarkers on Age-Related Cognitive Decline**

Chieh-Hsin Lin<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Eugene Lin<sup>1,4,5</sup> and Hsien-Yuan Lane<sup>1,6\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Graduate Institute of Biomedical Sciences, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Chang Gung University College of Medicine, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>3</sup> Center for General Education, Cheng Shiu University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Electrical Engineering, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States, <sup>5</sup> TickleFish Systems Corporation, Seattle, WA, United States, <sup>6</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Brain Disease Research Center, China Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan

With ever-increasing elder populations, age-related cognitive decline, which is characterized as a gradual decline in cognitive capacity in the aging process, has turned out to be a mammoth public health concern. Since genetic information has become increasingly important to explore the biological mechanisms of cognitive decline, the search for genetic biomarkers of cognitive aging has received much attention. There is growing evidence that single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) within the ADAMTS9, BDNF, CASS4, COMT, CR1, DNMT3A, DTNBP1, REST, SRR, TOMM40, circadian clock, and Alzheimer's diseases-associated genes may contribute to susceptibility to cognitive aging. In this review, we first illustrated evidence of the genetic contribution to disease susceptibility to age-related cognitive decline in recent studies ranging from approaches of candidate genes to genome-wide association studies. We then surveyed a variety of association studies regarding age-related cognitive decline with consideration of gene-gene and gene-environment interactions. Finally, we highlighted their limitations and future directions. In light of advances in precision medicine and multi-omics technologies, future research in genomic medicine promises to lead to innovative ideas that are relevant to disease prevention and novel drugs for cognitive aging.

### OPEN ACCESS

## Edited by:

Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Po See Chen, National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan Rogerio Panizzutti, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

#### \*Correspondence:

Hsien-Yuan Lane hylane@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 29 August 2017 Accepted: 07 November 2017 Published: 21 November 2017

#### Citation:

Lin C-H, Lin E and Lane H-Y (2017) Genetic Biomarkers on Age-Related Cognitive Decline. Front. Psychiatry 8:247. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00247 Keywords: Alzheimer's diseases, biomarker, age-related cognitive decline, cognitive aging, gene-gene interactions, neurodegeneration, single-nucleotide polymorphisms, SNP-SNP interactions

## INTRODUCTION

Generally speaking, age-related cognitive decline, or cognitive aging, is recognized as a gradual and enduring process of transition in cognitive capacity with increasing age (1). Although cognitive decline is common in old age, the relationship between aging and neurodegenerative disease such as dementia remains unclear. Whereas aging is a well-known risk factor for dementia, dementia is not an inevitable consequence of the process of aging. The concept and underlying mechanisms of normal aging and pathological aging might be different. It should be noted that cognitive aging may raise the likelihood of many age-associated diseases and neurodegenerative disorders, such as mild cognitive impairment (MCI), Alzheimer's diseases (AD), Parkinson's disease, and other dementias, due to the fact that prior research work has projected that rates of age-associated diseases and neurodegenerative disorders gain rapidly with advancing age (2). While ever-increasing elder populations exist in both developed and developing countries, the pervasiveness of age-associated

10

Cognitive Aging Biomarkers

diseases and neurodegenerative disorders has become a huge public health concern owing to high social and economic burdens (3). What is more, cognitive aging processes implicate multiple complex pathogeneses including genetic and environmental factors (4). In this light, the identification of genetic biomarkers has become an important area of research that aims to preclude the advancement of cognitive aging and to grasp the biology of cognitive aging in an increasingly aging society (5). It is noteworthy that untangling genetic biomarkers for cognitive aging has been at the center of major investigations in the field of precision medicine, and the relevant biomarkers for AD are generally utilized in cognitive aging research as well because of the increased risk for AD in the elderly individuals (6).

More recent research in genome-wide association studies (GWAS) has implicated that single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) among 11 genes appear to affect the risk of AD, encompassing the PICALM, MS4A6E, MS4A4E, MS4A4A, EPHA1, CR1, CLU, CD33, CD2AP, BIN1, APOE, and ABCA7 gene (7-11). Consequently, a meta-analysis of GWAS studies (n = 74,046) identified 14 risk genes in AD, encompassing the ZCWPW1, SORL1, SLC24A4, RIN3, PTK2B, NME8, MEF2C, INPP5D, HLA-DRB4, HLA-DRB1, FERMT2, DSG2, CELF1, and CASS4 genes (12). The succeeding whole-exome sequencing analysis further tracked down the PLD3 gene to likely be a risk gene for AD (13). Moreover, it has been found that cognitive decline was linked with the CR1 rs6656401 SNP by using the established AD-associated genes (14). Additionally, recent epistasis studies suggested that the CLU-MS4A4E (15, 16) and CD33-MS4A4E (16) gene-gene interactions might have a considerable influence on the susceptibility of AD. By utilizing the known AD-associated genes, it has also been demonstrated that cognitive decline was related with the ABCA7 rs3764650 and CD33 rs3865444 SNPs in the elderly Caucasian women (17).

In this review, we first surveyed some genetic biomarkers that were linked with age-related cognitive decline in several recent association studies (**Table 1**). Furthermore, we assessed some potential gene–gene and gene–environment interactions on age-related cognitive decline. This review does not intend to comprehensively survey all literature. We mainly focused on the most recent developments for biomarker research in cognitive aging. Finally, the limitations and future perspectives associated with cognitive aging in terms of genetic biomarkers were summarized. Future replication studies in larger samples with longitudinal follow-up are required to confirm the findings of the biomarkers for cognitive aging discovered in the association studies.

### **RECENT ASSOCIATION STUDIES**

#### **AD-Associated Genes**

As mentioned previously in the Section "Introduction," it has been revealed that AD risk is linked with ZCWPW1, SORL1, SLC24A4, RIN3, PTK2B, PLD3, PICALM, NME8, MS4A6E, MS4A4E, MS4A4A, MEF2C, INPP5D, HLA-DRB4, HLA-DRB1, FERMT2, EPHA1, DSG2, CR1, CLU, CELF1, CD33, CD2AP, CASS4, BIN1, APOE, and ABCA7 in GWAS and meta-analyses (7-12). To recognize probable genes implicated in the regulation of age-related cognitive decline, a recent association study has analyzed whether SNPs within these 27 AD-associated genes are linked with cognitive aging as well as via complex gene-gene and gene-environment interactions in a cohort of older Taiwanese adults (n = 634) aged over 60 years (mean age: 64.2 years) from the Taiwan Biobank (18). In order to weigh cognitive functions, the mini-mental state examination (MMSE) method was administered for all participants (18). Lin et al. tested 588 SNPs, but only the CASS4-rs911159 SNP persisted significant for cognitive aging

Gene Study Ethnic		Ethnic group	Results				
ADAMTS9	Lin et al. (56)	Taiwanese (mean age: 64.2)	ADAMTS9 (including rs9831846, rs4317088, rs9985304, and rs73832338) were linked with cognitive aging				
APOE	De Jager et al. (30)	Various populations (mean age: 72.0~80.8)	APOE was genome-wide significantly correlated with cognitive aging for normal aging				
BDNF	Laing et al. (34)	German (mean age: 72.7)	BDNF altered cognitive aging in healthy subjects for normal aging				
CASS4	Lin et al. (18)	Taiwanese (mean age: 64.2)	CASS4 rs911159 persisted significant for cognitive aging after Bonferroni correction for normal aging				
COMT	Liu et al. (36); Papenberg et al. (37)	Taiwanese (mean age: 78.7) German (mean age: 64.9~65.3)	COMT Val158Met contributed to individual differences in cognitive aging				
CR1	Chibnik et al. (14)	non-Hispanic white (mean age: 75.5~84.4)	CR1 was significantly associated with cognitive aging for normal and pathologic aging				
DNMT3A	Chouliaras (78)	Dutch (mean age: NA)	DNMT3A rs11887120 was associated with cognitive decline for normal aging				
REST	Lin et al. (67)	Taiwanese (mean age: 64.2)	REST rs1277306 was linked with cognitive aging for normal aging				
TOMM40	Davies et al. (86)	Various populations (mean age: 64.6~79.1)	TOMM40 rs2075650 was significantly associated with cognitive aging for normal aging				
Circadian clock genes	Lin et al. (42)	Taiwanese (mean age: 64.2)	RORA rs13329238, NPAS2 rs17655330, CLOCK rs3749473, and RORB rs10781247 individually and interactively altered cognitive aging for normal aging				

after Bonferroni correction (18). In addition, their analysis results suggested an association with 6 more SNPs in the AD-related genes, encompassing the *SLC24A4*-rs67063100, *RIN3*-rs1885747, *PLD3*-rs11672825, *MEF2C*-rs9293506, *FERMT2*-rs4901317, and *EPHA1*-rs10952552 SNPs (18). Lin et al. also displayed the gene–gene interactions among the *SLC24A4*-rs67063100, *MEF2C*-rs9293506, *FERMT2*-rs4901317, *EPHA*-rs10952552, and *CASS4*-rs911159 SNPs on cognitive aging by using the generalized multifactor dimensionality reduction (GMDR) approach (18). Furthermore, they disclosed the gene–environment interactions of the *MEF2C*-rs9293506 and *SLC24A4*-rs67063100 SNP with environmental factors including social support, physical activity, smoking status, and alcohol consumption on cognitive aging by using the GMDR approach (18).

Consistent with the findings by Lin et al. (18), two preceding GWAS studies (8, 10) have reported that the *EPHA1* rs11767557 SNP may affect the vulnerability to AD. In addition, the *FERMT2* rs17125944, *MEF2C* rs190982, and *SLC24A4* rs10498633 SNPs were prone to AD in a meta-analysis study (12). Moreover, a whole-exome sequencing study pinpointed a rare rs145999145 (Val232Met) variant in the *PLD3* gene was liable to AD (13). The *PLD3* gene may play a central role in dealing with amyloid-beta precursor protein (13).

The CASS4 protein is proposed to better characterize the functions of cell growing, spreading, adhesion, and other activities (19). Moreover, it was speculated that *CASS4* plays a vital part in the hallmarks of AD such as the amyloid precursor protein (APP) and Tau protein (20). More recent studies also indicated an association between AD and the *CASS4* rs7274581, rs6024870, and rs16979934 SNPs (12, 21–23). In contrast, a replication study indicated that the *CASS4* rs7274581 SNP did not affect the risk of AD in a Spanish population (24).

Gene-gene interaction study inferred that *SLC24A4*, *MEF2C*, *FERMT2*, *EPHA1*, and *CASS4* synergistically raised the propensity of cognitive aging by using the GMDR approach (18). It was further speculated that these five genes are comprised in the relevant pathology and pathways (18). *EPHA1* is implicated in regulating neurodevelopment (20). *FERMT2* contributes to Tau neurotoxicity and cell adhesion (25). *MEF2C* may influence hippocampal synaptic connectivity and thereby mediate hippocampal-dependent memory and learning (26). *SLC24A4*, in the vicinity of the *RIN3* gene, is linked with neurodevelopment (27) as well as Tau pathology and APP (28).

#### APOE

The *APOE* gene, located on chromosome 19q13.32, encodes a major protein which is crucial for the regular catabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoprotein constituents (29). Conducting a GWAS study with the longitudinal cognitive testing data such as memory and perceptual speed, De Jager et al. discovered that *APOE* was genome-wide significantly correlated with age-related cognitive decline (mean age: 72.0~80.8 years) (30). A meta-analysis of 77 studies (n = 40,942) also suggested that carriers of the *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  allele, which were linked with late-onset AD, performed worse on several domains of cognitive functions including overall global cognitive ability, episodic memory, and executive functioning (31). Further, the *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  and *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  and *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  and *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$   $\varepsilon$  were more likely to develop non-pathological cognitive aging, independent of *APOE* major isoforms, in a Finnish population (32). In contrast, a replication study indicated that the *APOE* gene did not affect the risk of age-related cognitive decline in older Taiwanese adults (18).

## **BDNF**

Another potential candidate gene such as *BDNF* was reported to be implicated in age-related cognitive decline among the elderly (33). The *BDNF* gene, encoding proteins of the nerve growth factor family, was demonstrated to alter cognitive deficits in healthy subjects (mean age: 72.7 years) for normal aging by using the mean Z-scores based on three cognitive domains including motor function, memory, and perceptual speed (34). Ward et al. also disclosed an interaction between *APOE* and *BDNF* that predicted a cognitive effect in healthy older adults (35).

### COMT

The *COMT* gene, located on chromosome 22q11.21, is essential in the metabolic degradation of prefrontal dopamine (36). A functional *COMT* Val158Met polymorphism has been shown to contribute to individual differences in cognitive aging in Taiwanese (mean age: 78.7 years) and German (mean age: 64.9~65.3 years) populations using MMSE scores (36, 37). Based on a 4-year longitudinal study, Dixon et al. also revealed that the *APOE* and *COMT* genes are complementary biomarkers in normal cognitive aging and early MCI for older adults (38).

## CR1

The *CR1* gene encodes a protein that plays a role in cellular binding and immune complexes (14). A replication study reported that the rs6656401 SNP in the *CR1* gene, which is one of the susceptibility loci for AD, was significantly associated with cognitive deficits (mean age: 75.5~84.4 years) for normal aging (in terms of global cognitive decline) as well as for pathological aging (in terms of global AD pathology) using the cognitive testing data such as memory and global cognition (14). A subsequent replication study also indicated that the rs4844609 SNP in the *CR1* gene modulates episodic memory decline and an interaction between *APOE* and *CR1* influences cognitive decline for normal aging and for pathological aging (39). In contrast, a replication study indicated that the *CR1* gene did not affect the risk of age-related cognitive decline in older Taiwanese adults (18).

## **Circadian Clock Genes**

Circadian rhythms are instinctively recurring cycles that determine the timing of biological events such as energy metabolism, hormone release, and sleep-wake cycles (40). Additionally, dysregulation of circadian rhythms is characteristic of the natural process of ongoing aging and cognitive decline (40). The circadian rhythms are maintained and triggered by a composition of core circadian clock genes, which can be classified as vital genes on provoking circadian rhythms in specific cells (41).

Circadian clock genes, encompassing RORB, RORA, PER3, PER2, PER1, NR1D1, NPAS2, CRY2, CRY1, CLOCK, and ARNT, may be also involved in cognitive impairment (40, 41). To find out potential genes implicated in the regulation of age-related

cognitive decline, a recent study analyzed whether the 11 aforementioned core circadian clock genes as well as complex gene–gene and gene–environment interactions contributed to cognitive aging in more than 634 elderly individuals (mean age: 64.2 years) in Taiwan (42). As a result, four SNPs, including the *RORA*-rs13329238, *NPAS2*-rs17655330, *CLOCK*-rs3749473, and *RORB*-rs10781247 SNPs individually and interactively alters the hazard of cognitive deficits in terms of MMSE scores for normal aging (42). Finally, environmental factors such as smoking status, alcohol consumption, social support, and physical activity also interacted with these SNPs in regulating the liability of age-related cognitive decline (42).

*CLOCK* encodes a protein which creates the ARNTL/CLOCK heterodimeric protein with ARNTL (43). In addition, rs1554483, 3111, and rs4580704 *CLOCK* SNPs influenced the tendency to AD in Chinese subjects (44–46). However, these results were not confirmed in different populations (42).

The RORA and RORB proteins create a family of nuclear hormone receptors (47). These two genes were reported to have a key part in a wide variety of regulations; for instance, cellular metabolism, circadian rhythm, embryonic development, immunity, and inflammatory responses (48, 49).

It should be noted that *NPAS2* encodes transcription factors which are a component belonging to the basic helix-loop-helix family, and the ARNTL/NPAS2 and ARNTL/CLOCK heterodimeric proteins can bind to chromatin, bringing about the upregulation in gene expression for *PER1*, *PER2*, *PER3*, *CRY1*, and *CRY2* (50). In this manner, products of these *CRY1*, *CRY2*, *PER1*, *PER2*, and *PER3* genes build a complex that inhibits the action of the ARNTL-containing complexes and in turn forms a negative feedback loop (50).

#### **Insulin Resistance-Associated Genes**

To identify possible genes implicated in the process of agerelated cognitive decline, a recent association study of the Taiwan Biobank has hypothesized that SNPs in insulin resistanceassociated genes, including the *PPARG*, *GCKR*, and *ADAMTS9* genes, might be associated with cognitive aging individually or collectively in a cohort of Taiwanese individuals (n = 547; age > 60 years; mean age: 64.1 years) (51). The results indicated that 4 SNPs (including rs9831846, rs4317088, rs9985304, and rs73832338) within *ADAMTS9* were linked with MMSE scores (that is, cognitive aging) after performing Bonferroni correction (51). In addition, Lin et al. identified a SNP–SNP interaction between *ADAMTS9*-rs76346246 and *ADAMTS9*-rs9985304 that may influence cognitive aging by using the GMDR approach (51).

*ADAMTS9* is demonstrated in the regulation of a wide variety of processes, such as the control of organ shape during growth, the inhibition of angiogenesis, and the cleavage of proteoglycans (51). Since one of the risk factors for cognitive aging and AD is insulin resistance, insulin resistance-related genes might be linked with cognitive aging (52, 53). Insulin abnormalities raise the uncertainty for neurodegenerative disorders including MCI, AD, and cognitive aging (54, 55). Insulin is also a fundamental factor for normal brain functioning. It should be noted that *ADAMTS9* is associated with insulin resistance, insulin sensitivity, and type 2 diabetes (56, 57). There is growing evidence that the ADAMTS-9 protein might participate in the processes of brain disease states including spinal cord injury, ischemic stroke, and transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in animal studies (58–60). In accordance, a GWAS study has identified the *ADAMTS9* rs6795735 SNP as a candidate biomarker for age-related macular degeneration, which commonly occurs in elder adults (61).

## RE1-Silencing Transcription Factor (*REST*) Gene

A growing body of evidence suggests that REST may be involved with AD and cognitive aging (62). A recent replication study has assessed whether REST SNPs are associated with cognitive aging as well as via SNP-SNP interactions for normal aging in elder Taiwanese subjects (n = 634; mean age: 64.2 years) (62). Their analysis results demonstrated that REST-rs1277306 was linked with cognitive aging, which was measured by MMSE scores (62). This prediction is further supported by evidence that the association remained significant for individuals without APOE E4 allele after Bonferroni correction (62). On the other hand, the REST rs1277306 SNP was not a predicting factor for cognitive aging among individuals with at least one APOE ɛ4 allele (62). In addition, Lin et al. tracked down an SNP-SNP interaction between the REST rs1713985 and REST rs1277306 SNPs on cognitive aging by using the GMDR. The REST protein is indicated in the modulation of synaptic plasticity, ion channels, vesicular transport, axonal growth, and neuronal differentiation (63, 64). In addition, *REST* is associated with amyloid  $\beta$ -protein toxicity, protection from oxidative stress, AD pathology, MCI, brain aging, and slow hippocampal loss (65-67). Additionally, REST might act as both a primary protector against neurodegeneration and an essential repressor for normal neurogenesis (65-67). Although APOE is well-established regarding its major role in cognitive decline in elder adults (68, 69), the biologically synergistic effects between the APOE and REST genes on cognitive aging are still unknown. It was speculated that APOE and REST might involve in a comparable pathway relevant to cognitive aging (70). Consistent with the findings by Lin et al. (62), several other studies pinpointed an interaction of APOE with PSEN2 (71), PSEN1 (72), PICALM (70), and APP (71, 73) by using patient stratification based on APOE £4 status.

## **DNA Methylation**

Recent studies indicate that DNA methylation, one of main epigenetic mechanisms, plays a crucial role in cognitive aging (74, 75). DNA methylation involves the inclusion of a methyl group to the DNA molecule, especially when a cytosine is followed by a guanine (76). DNA methylation is regularly associated with reduced transcriptional activity and is triggered by a family of DNA methyl-transferase proteins (77). Using repeated measures of composite scores for annual cognitive testing, Chouliaras et al. investigated associations among common SNPs in genes modulating DNA methylation and cognitive aging. They found that the rs11887120 SNP in the *DNMT3A* gene was associated with annual decline in cognitive deficits for normal aging in a Dutch population (78). In contrast, this finding was not replicated in German subjects (79). *DNMT3A*, encoding a DNA methyltransferase, is located in the cytoplasm and nucleus in *de novo* methylation (80).

#### **TOMM40**

With longitudinal cognitive ability data, a GWAS study reported that the rs2075650 SNP in the *TOMM40* gene, which is adjacent to the *APOE* gene, was significantly associated with age-related cognitive decline (mean age: 64.6~79.1 years) (81). After fine SNP mapping of the *TOMM40/APOE* region, both *APOE* rs429358 and *TOMM40* rs11556505 were correlated with cognitive aging (81). Furthermore, SNPs within the *TOMM40/APOE* zone possessed a non-protein-coding regulatory and functional effect in a functional genomic analysis, indicating that the *TOMM40/APOE* zone may be linked with nonpathological cognitive aging (81). The *TOMM40* gene, located on chromosome 19q13.32, encodes the mitochondrial outer membrane complex relevant to the channel-forming subunit of the translocase, which is indispensable for construction of protein precursors to mitochondria (82).

### **Other Potential Genes**

The *DTNBP1* gene encodes a protein that plays a role in the biogenesis of organelle linked with lysosomes, platelet dense granules, and melanosomes (83). It has been suggested that the *DTNBP1* gene modulates general cognitive abilities both in schizophrenia patients and in healthy subjects in Japanese (mean age: 34.1~39.2) and German (mean age: 24.8) populations (84–87). In addition, Burdick et al. found that the CTCTAC risk haplotype of 6 SNPs including rs909706, rs1018381, rs2619522, rs760761, rs2619528, and rs1011313 in the *DTNBP1* gene was associated with general cognitive ability and cognitive decline in schizophrenia patients (84).

In a recent systems genetics study applying a genetically diverse population of mice, Neuner et al. pinpointed Hp1bp3 gene to be a novel modulator of cognitive aging (88). Their findings also confirmed that as compared to cognitively healthy individuals, levels of HP1BP3 protein were significantly decreased in the hippocampi of elderly subjects with cognitive impairment, suggesting that reduced expression of Hp1bp3 may contribute to cognitive aging in both mice and humans (88). The HP1BP3 gene is located on chromosome 1p36.12 and encodes a histone H1 related protein with non-redundant and specific roles vital for viability and gain in humans (89).

It is worth mentioning a potential gene called *SRR* although, to our knowledge, there are only animal studies but no population studies for this gene in cognitive aging. *SRR* encodes the serine racemase enzyme which converts L-serine to D-serine. D-serine is an endogenous co-agonist for N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (90). The *SRR* rs408067 SNP, located in the promoter region, may affect the transcription activity of the *SRR* gene (91). Reduced *SRR* expression impaired hippocampal age-related cognitive function in an animal study, suggesting that the *SRR*-dependent pathway might be one possible target of the hippocampus-related cognitive decline in aging (92). Another expression profiling study reported that various genes that are associated with cognitive ability were influenced by the *SRR* mutation (93).

## LIMITATIONS IN CURRENT STUDIES

Notwithstanding, there were several limitations with respect to the aforementioned studies. First, there is certainly room for development of much further research and comprehensive evaluation to reassess whether the current results remain in other ethnic populations for the investigated genetic variants with cognitive aging in terms of the association and interactions (62).

Second, given the relatively young mean age of the sample in several studies mentioned previously, the current results are unable to be extrapolated to much older populations that have higher risk for developing age-associated diseases and neurodegenerative disorders, such as MCI, AD, and other dementias (18).

Because of logistical and ethical matters, it is challenging to assess homogeneous genetic backgrounds and recruit a large enough cohort of participants at the same time (94). Furthermore, some findings were not replicated, and the discordant results found among these studies may be due to issues in the sample size, ethnicities, study design, and phenotype definitions. Moreover, confounding factors may not be fully handled, and thereby considerable bias may not be excluded.

In order to reinforce the statistical findings, it is appealing to seek more supplementary biologically relevant evidences owing to the fact that the investigated SNPs might be greatly enhanced in association studies (95).

Besides, the aforementioned studies utilized various methods to assess cognitive function. A major challenge is to ensure a proper approach for evaluating cognitive function. The wellestablished MMSE approach is chosen to evaluate cognitive function in several aforementioned studies because it is the most widely used screening test of cognition (96). Nevertheless, the ceiling effect of MMSE in healthy young subjects as well as its floor effect in the oldest subjects diminishes the variability (96). Similar to MMSE, another strategy is the General Practitioner Assessment of Cognition (GPCOG) with psychometric properties. However, using the GPCOG is required to further examine for its possible language or cultural tendency (97, 98). Another more recent language independent method is the CANTAB, a visual and cognitive assessment tool used on computers (99). Nonetheless, because the correlations between CANTAB and commonly used cognitive tools such as GPCOG and MMSE are only modest, the application of CANTAB should be justified in future studies (100). Moreover, an alternative is the ADAS-Cog which achieves higher sensitivity with a change of four-point (101). Although the ADAS-Cog is a well-validated scale in cognitive performance, the drawback is that about 40 min is needed to complete the task and this fact causes it unacceptable in most large-scale studies (96).

Cross-sectional design for cognitive aging studies has been adopted by many researchers because it is less feasible to examine aging trajectories for individual participants with longitudinal studies due to the high cost and long follow-up time (102). Nevertheless, it is always important to recognize the limitations of transversal studies on aging. Most importantly, we are unable to make longitudinal or causal inferences about changes in cognitive function by using cross-sectional data.

#### **FUTURE OUTLOOK**

Over the past decade, advances in genome science have spawned numerous lines of research into precision medicine and multiomics (103). In spite of spectacular progress in precision medicine and multi-omics technology, which can assemble a mammoth amount of multi-omics data, there are no established approaches to take advantage of that data in a predictive fashion (103). Therefore, we face a challenge of developing a fundamental, personalizable, mathematical model, which is calibrated on a broad range of multi-omics and clinical data (103). To conquer this challenge, a key component of future projects is to be able to advance the aforementioned predictive capability by facilitating machine learning and predictive approaches (103).

Building up a set of genetic biomarkers which are immensely dependable as a benchmark of disease status or drug response for cognitive aging will be considerably indispensable in the future (104). At this juncture, no genetic biomarkers found in the aforementioned studies would be unquestionably qualified to be incorporated in the panel owing to the aforementioned limitations (104).

Moreover, machine learning and predictive techniques such as Bayesian networks may present a conceivable approach to forecast novel drug efficacy and establish statistical models for predicting disease status (103). In future research, we will be able to help physicians in the prescription by creating predictive models which forecast the likelihood of diseases or treatment response (103, 104). In addition, predictive and machine learning approaches such as Bayesian networks might be important in weighing correlations in RNA–RNA molecule, correlations between miRNA and mRNA, as well as interactions between gene and environment (105). Moreover, the statistical modeling such as meta-analysis, pathway analysis, and gene–gene expression correlations is intrinsic to eliminate the false positive biomarkers observed during the association analyses of current precision medicine studies (105).

Essentially, evidence shows that multi-omics data and biomarkers such as genetic, epigenetic, metabolomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic profiles are important in assorted pathophysiology for a certain disease and novel drug treatment (103, 105). Subsequently, the systematic and integrative analyses of different profiles with apparently cooperative functions might have a big impact on the disclosing for the mysterious pathogenic processes of a certain disease and novel drug treatment (103, 105–107). Finally, in order to unquestionably carry out disease pathogenesis as well as novel drug therapy, future studies will have to accomplish an integrative and systematic way of using clinical information, biomarkers, and multi-omics data (103, 105).

#### REFERENCES

- Blazer DG, Wallace RB. Cognitive aging: what every geriatric psychiatrist should know. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry (2016) 24(9):776–81. doi:10.1016/j. jagp.2016.06.013
- Katz MJ, Lipton RB, Hall CB, Zimmerman ME, Sanders AE, Verghese J, et al. Age-specific and sex-specific prevalence and incidence of mild cognitive impairment, dementia, and Alzheimer dementia in blacks and whites: a

#### **SUMMARY**

In this review, we have focused primarily on recent findings and relevant studies for age-related cognitive decline. The current review also highlighted the merit of association studies with relatively large sample size to incorporate a wide variety of populations for cognitive aging. In order to advance personalized treatment and prevention strategies worldwide, a main challenge is how best to integrate these findings with other pieces until the picture of cognitive aging is adequately apparent. Similarly, these findings have indicated that machine learning and predictive tools might be beneficial for clinical decision making by integrating multi-omics data and biomarkers.

In light of recent developments, novel machine learning and predictive algorithms will be the new frontier in the decades to come for establishing prognostic and diagnostic assessments by using huge data technologies for precision medicine (103, 105). Future research using machine learning and predictive approaches is warranted in the matter of managing the interactions of biomarkers and foretelling the relationship between biomarkers and drug response in precision medicine studies (103, 105). In our opinion, yet a number of challenges remain and a host of deeply key and crucial research issues must be ironed out. As we enter a period of the new envisioned science of precision medicine, personalized therapy for individuals would undoubtedly become a reality.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EL, H-YL, and C-HL involved in conception and design; EL and C-HL involved in literature review and interpretation, and manuscript writing; EL, H-YL, and C-HL involved in financial support and final approval of manuscript.

#### FUNDING

The authors extend their sincere thanks to Vita Genomics, Inc. for funding this research. This work was supported by the Ministry of Economic Affairs in Taiwan (SBIR Grant S099000280249-154), Ministry of Science and Technology in Taiwan (MOST 105-2314-B-182A-059-), Taiwan Ministry of Health and Welfare Clinical Trial and Research Center of Excellence (MOHW105-TDU-B-212-133019), and China Medical University Hospital, Taiwan (DMR-101-091 and DMR-102-069). *Role of Funding Source*: The aforementioned institutes had no further role in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the paper for publication.

report from the Einstein Aging Study. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord (2012) 26(4):335–43. doi:10.1097/WAD.0b013e31823dbcfc

- Barnes LL, Bennett DA. Alzheimer's disease in African Americans: risk factors and challenges for the future. *Health Aff (Millwood)* (2014) 33(4):580–6. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1353
- Konar A, Singh P, Thakur MK. Age-associated cognitive decline: insights into molecular switches and recovery avenues. *Aging Dis* (2016) 7(2):121–9. doi:10.14336/AD.2015.1004

- Dubois B, Feldman HH, Jacova C, Hampel H, Molinuevo JL, Blennow K, et al. Advancing research diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease: the IWG-2 criteria. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13(6):614–29. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422 (14)70090-0
- Jack CR Jr, Bennett DA, Blennow K, Carrillo MC, Feldman HH, Frisoni GB, et al. A/T/N: an unbiased descriptive classification scheme for Alzheimer disease biomarkers. *Neurology* (2016) 87(5):539–47. doi:10.1212/WNL. 000000000002923
- Harold D, Abraham R, Hollingworth P, Sims R, Gerrish A, Hamshere ML, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies variants at CLU and PICALM associated with Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Genet* (2009) 41(10):1088–93. doi:10.1038/ng.440
- Hollingworth P, Harold D, Sims R, Gerrish A, Lambert JC, Carrasquillo MM, et al. Common variants at ABCA7, MS4A6A/MS4A4E, EPHA1, CD33 and CD2AP are associated with Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Genet* (2011) 43(5):429–35. doi:10.1038/ng.803
- Lambert JC, Heath S, Even G, Campion D, Sleegers K, Hiltunen M, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies variants at CLU and CR1 associated with Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Genet* (2009) 41(10):1094–9. doi:10.1038/ ng.439
- Naj AC, Jun G, Beecham GW, Wang LS, Vardarajan BN, Buros J, et al. Common variants at MS4A4/MS4A6E, CD2AP, CD33 and EPHA1 are associated with late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Genet* (2011) 43(5):436–41. doi:10.1038/ng.801
- Seshadri S, Fitzpatrick AL, Ikram MA, DeStefano AL, Gudnason V, Boada M, et al. Genome-wide analysis of genetic loci associated with Alzheimer disease. *JAMA* (2010) 303(18):1832–40. doi:10.1001/jama. 2010.574
- Lambert JC, Ibrahim-Verbaas CA, Harold D, Naj AC, Sims R, Bellenguez C, et al. Meta-analysis of 74,046 individuals identifies 11 new susceptibility loci for Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45(12):1452–8. doi:10.1038/ng.2802
- Cruchaga C, Karch CM, Jin SC, Benitez BA, Cai Y, Guerreiro R, et al. Rare coding variants in the phospholipase D3 gene confer risk for Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* (2014) 505(7484):550–4. doi:10.1038/nature12825
- Chibnik LB, Shulman JM, Leurgans SE, Schneider JA, Wilson RS, Tran D, et al. CR1 is associated with amyloid plaque burden and age-related cognitive decline. *Ann Neurol* (2011) 69(3):560–9. doi:10.1002/ana.22277
- Ebbert MT, Boehme KL, Wadsworth ME, Staley LA; Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative, Alzheimer's Disease Genetics Consortium, et al. Interaction between variants in CLU and MS4A4E modulates Alzheimer's disease risk. *Alzheimers Dement* (2016) 12(2):121–9. doi:10.1016/j. jalz.2015.08.163
- Ebbert MT, Ridge PG, Wilson AR, Sharp AR, Bailey M, Norton MC, et al. Population-based analysis of Alzheimer's disease risk alleles implicates genetic interactions. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75(9):732–7. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2013.07.008
- Nettiksimmons J, Tranah G, Evans DS, Yokoyama JS, Yaffe K. Gene-based aggregate SNP associations between candidate AD genes and cognitive decline. Age (Dordr) (2016) 38(2):41. doi:10.1007/s11357-016-9885-2
- Lin E, Tsai SJ, Kuo PH, Liu YL, Yang AC, Kao CF. Association and interaction effects of Alzheimer's disease-associated genes and lifestyle on cognitive aging in older adults in a Taiwanese population. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(15):24077–87. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.15269
- Singh MK, Dadke D, Nicolas E, Serebriiskii IG, Apostolou S, Canutescu A, et al. A novel Cas family member, HEPL, regulates FAK and cell spreading. *Mol Biol Cell* (2008) 19(4):1627–36. doi:10.1091/mbc.E07-09-0953
- Karch CM, Goate AM. Alzheimer's disease risk genes and mechanisms of disease pathogenesis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 77(1):43–51. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2014.05.006
- Beecham GW, Hamilton K, Naj AC, Martin ER, Huentelman M, Myers AJ, et al. Genome-wide association meta-analysis of neuropathologic features of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *PLoS Genet* (2014) 10(9):e1004606. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004606
- 22. Rosenthal SL, Barmada MM, Wang X, Demirci FY, Kamboh MI. Connecting the dots: potential of data integration to identify regulatory SNPs in late-onset Alzheimer's disease GWAS findings. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(4):e95152. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0095152

- Wang X, Lopez OL, Sweet RA, Becker JT, DeKosky ST, Barmada MM, et al. Genetic determinants of disease progression in Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* (2015) 43(2):649–55. doi:10.3233/JAD-140729
- 24. Ruiz A, Heilmann S, Becker T, Hernandez I, Wagner H, Thelen M, et al. Follow-up of loci from the International Genomics of Alzheimer's Disease Project identifies TRIP4 as a novel susceptibility gene. *Transl Psychiatry* (2014) 4:e358. doi:10.1038/tp.2014.2
- 25. Shulman JM, Imboywa S, Giagtzoglou N, Powers MP, Hu Y, Devenport D, et al. Functional screening in *Drosophila* identifies Alzheimer's disease susceptibility genes and implicates Tau-mediated mechanisms. *Hum Mol Genet* (2014) 23(4):870–7. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddt478
- Akhtar MW, Kim MS, Adachi M, Morris MJ, Qi X, Richardson JA, et al. In vivo analysis of MEF2 transcription factors in synapse regulation and neuronal survival. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(4):e34863. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034863
- Larsson M, Duffy DL, Zhu G, Liu JZ, Macgregor S, McRae AF, et al. GWAS findings for human iris patterns: associations with variants in genes that influence normal neuronal pattern development. *Am J Hum Genet* (2011) 89(2):334–43. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.07.011
- Chapuis J, Hansmannel F, Gistelinck M, Mounier A, Van Cauwenberghe C, Kolen KV, et al. Increased expression of BIN1 mediates Alzheimer genetic risk by modulating tau pathology. *Mol Psychiatry* (2013) 18(11):1225–34. doi:10.1038/mp.2013.1
- Zhao N, Liu CC, Qiao W, Bu G. Apolipoprotein E, receptors, and modulation of Alzheimer's disease. *Biol Psychiatry* (2017). doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2017.03.003
- De Jager PL, Shulman JM, Chibnik LB, Keenan BT, Raj T, Wilson RS, et al. A genome-wide scan for common variants affecting the rate of age-related cognitive decline. *Neurobiol Aging* (2012) 33(5):1017.e1–15. doi:10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2011.09.033
- Wisdom NM, Callahan JL, Hawkins KA. The effects of apolipoprotein E on non-impaired cognitive functioning: a meta-analysis. *Neurobiol Aging* (2011) 32(1):63–74. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.02.003
- Rantalainen V, Lahti J, Henriksson M, Kajantie E, Tienari P, Eriksson JG, et al. APOE and aging-related cognitive change in a longitudinal cohort of men. *Neurobiol Aging* (2016) 44:151–8. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.04.024
- Harris SE, Deary IJ. The genetics of cognitive ability and cognitive ageing in healthy older people. *Trends Cogn Sci* (2011) 15(9):388–94. doi:10.1016/j. tics.2011.07.004
- Laing KR, Mitchell D, Wersching H, Czira ME, Berger K, Baune BT. Brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene: a gender-specific role in cognitive function during normal cognitive aging of the MEMO-Study? *Age (Dordr)* (2012) 34(4):1011–22. doi:10.1007/s11357-011-9275-8
- Ward DD, Summers MJ, Saunders NL, Janssen P, Stuart KE, Vickers JC. APOE and BDNF Val66Met polymorphisms combine to influence episodic memory function in older adults. *Behav Brain Res* (2014) 271:309–15. doi:10.1016/j. bbr.2014.06.022
- Liu ME, Hong CJ, Liou YJ, Tsai YL, Hsieh CH, Tsai SJ. Association study of a functional catechol-O-methyltransferase polymorphism and executive function in elderly males without dementia. *Neurosci Lett* (2008) 436(2):193–5. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.03.018
- Papenberg G, Backman L, Nagel IE, Nietfeld W, Schroder J, Bertram L, et al. COMT polymorphism and memory dedifferentiation in old age. *Psychol Aging* (2014) 29(2):374–83. doi:10.1037/a0033225
- Dixon RA, DeCarlo CA, MacDonald SW, Vergote D, Jhamandas J, Westaway D. APOE and COMT polymorphisms are complementary biomarkers of status, stability, and transitions in normal aging and early mild cognitive impairment. Front Aging Neurosci (2014) 6:236. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00236
- Keenan BT, Shulman JM, Chibnik LB, Raj T, Tran D, Sabuncu MR, et al. A coding variant in CR1 interacts with APOE-epsilon4 to influence cognitive decline. *Hum Mol Genet* (2012) 21(10):2377–88. doi:10.1093/hmg/dds054
- Ribas-Latre A, Eckel-Mahan K. Interdependence of nutrient metabolism and the circadian clock system: importance for metabolic health. *Mol Metab* (2016) 5(3):133–52. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2015.12.006
- Buhr ED, Takahashi JS. Molecular components of the mammalian circadian clock. *Handb Exp Pharmacol* (2013) 217:3–27. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-25950-0\_1
- 42. Lin E, Kuo PH, Liu YL, Yang AC, Kao CF, Tsai SJ. Effects of circadian clock genes and environmental factors on cognitive aging in old adults in

a Taiwanese population. Oncotarget (2017) 8(15):24088-98. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.15493

- 43. Woon PY, Kaisaki PJ, Braganca J, Bihoreau MT, Levy JC, Farrall M, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like (BMAL1) is associated with susceptibility to hypertension and type 2 diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104(36):14412–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0703247104
- 44. Chen HF, Huang CQ, You C, Wang ZR, Si-qing H. Polymorphism of CLOCK gene rs 4580704 C > G is associated with susceptibility of Alzheimer's disease in a Chinese population. *Arch Med Res* (2013) 44(3):203–7. doi:10.1016/j. arcmed.2013.01.002
- Chen Q, Huang CQ, Hu XY, Li SB, Zhang XM. Functional CLOCK gene rs1554483 G/C polymorphism is associated with susceptibility to Alzheimer's disease in the Chinese population. *J Int Med Res* (2013) 41(2):340–6. doi:10.1177/0300060513476430
- 46. Yang YK, Peng XD, Li YH, Wang ZR, Chang-quan H, Hui W, et al. The polymorphism of CLOCK gene 3111T/C C>T is associated with susceptibility of Alzheimer disease in Chinese population. *J Investig Med* (2013) 61(7):1084–7. doi:10.2310/JIM.0b013e31829f91c0
- Duez H, Staels B. Rev-erb-alpha: an integrator of circadian rhythms and metabolism. J Appl Physiol (1985) (2009) 107(6):1972–80. doi:10.1152/ japplphysiol.00570.2009
- Jetten AM. Retinoid-related orphan receptors (RORs): critical roles in development, immunity, circadian rhythm, and cellular metabolism. *Nucl Recept Signal* (2009) 7:e003. doi:10.1621/nrs.07003
- 49. Kang HS, Okamoto K, Takeda Y, Beak JY, Gerrish K, Bortner CD, et al. Transcriptional profiling reveals a role for RORalpha in regulating gene expression in obesity-associated inflammation and hepatic steatosis. *Physiol Genomics* (2011) 43(13):818–28. doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00206.2010
- Kondratova AA, Kondratov RV. The circadian clock and pathology of the ageing brain. Nat Rev Neurosci (2012) 13(5):325–35. doi:10.1038/nrn3208
- Lin E, Tsai SJ, Kuo PH, Liu YL, Yang AC, Kao CF, et al. The ADAMTS9 gene is associated with cognitive aging in the elderly in a Taiwanese population. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(2):e0172440. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172440
- Gao L, Cui Z, Shen L, Ji HF. Shared genetic etiology between type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease identified by bioinformatics analysis. J Alzheimers Dis (2016) 50(1):13–7. doi:10.3233/JAD-150580
- Hao K, Di Narzo AF, Ho L, Luo W, Li S, Chen R, et al. Shared genetic etiology underlying Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes. *Mol Aspects Med* (2015) 4(3–44):66–76. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2015.06.006
- Craft S. Insulin resistance and Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis: potential mechanisms and implications for treatment. *Curr Alzheimer Res* (2007) 4(2):147–52. doi:10.2174/156720507780362137
- Watson GS, Craft S. Insulin resistance, inflammation, and cognition in Alzheimer's disease: lessons for multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci* (2006) 245(1-2):21-33. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2005.08.017
- Boesgaard TW, Gjesing AP, Grarup N, Rutanen J, Jansson PA, Hribal ML, et al. Variant near ADAMTS9 known to associate with type 2 diabetes is related to insulin resistance in offspring of type 2 diabetes patients – EUGENE2 study. *PLoS One* (2009) 4(9):e7236. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0007236
- 57. Trombetta M, Bonetti S, Boselli ML, Miccoli R, Trabetti E, Malerba G, et al. PPARG2 Pro12Ala and ADAMTS9 rs4607103 as "insulin resistance loci" and "insulin secretion loci" in Italian individuals. The GENFIEV study and the Verona Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Study (VNDS) 4. Acta Diabetol (2013) 50(3):401–8. doi:10.1007/s00592-012-0443-9
- Demircan K, Yonezawa T, Takigawa T, Topcu V, Erdogan S, Ucar F, et al. ADAMTS1, ADAMTS5, ADAMTS9 and aggrecanase-generated proteoglycan fragments are induced following spinal cord injury in mouse. *Neurosci Lett* (2013) 544:25–30. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2013.02.064
- Lemarchant S, Pruvost M, Montaner J, Emery E, Vivien D, Kanninen K, et al. ADAMTS proteoglycanases in the physiological and pathological central nervous system. *J Neuroinflammation* (2013) 10:133. doi:10.1186/ 1742-2094-10-133
- Reid MJ, Cross AK, Haddock G, Allan SM, Stock CJ, Woodroofe MN, et al. ADAMTS-9 expression is up-regulated following transient middle cerebral artery occlusion (tMCAo) in the rat. *Neurosci Lett* (2009) 452(3):252–7. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2009.01.058
- Fritsche LG, Chen W, Schu M, Yaspan BL, Yu Y, Thorleifsson G, et al. Seven new loci associated with age-related macular degeneration. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45(4):433–9, 439e1–2. doi:10.1038/ng.2578

- Lin E, Tsai SJ, Kuo PH, Liu YL, Yang AC, Kao CF, et al. The rs1277306 variant of the REST gene confers susceptibility to cognitive aging in an elderly Taiwanese population. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* (2017) 43(3–4):119–27. doi:10.1159/000455833
- Bahn S, Mimmack M, Ryan M, Caldwell MA, Jauniaux E, Starkey M, et al. Neuronal target genes of the neuron-restrictive silencer factor in neurospheres derived from fetuses with Down's syndrome: a gene expression study. *Lancet* (2002) 359(9303):310–5. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02) 07497-4
- Baldelli P, Meldolesi J. The transcription repressor REST in adult neurons: physiology, pathology, and diseases (1,2,3). *eNeuro* (2015) 2(4). doi:10.1523/ ENEURO.0010-15.2015
- Dallagnol KM, Remor AP, da Silva RA, Prediger RD, Latini A, Aguiar AS Jr. Running for REST: physical activity attenuates neuroinflammation in the hippocampus of aged mice. *Brain Behav Immun* (2017) 61:31–5. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.07.159
- Lu T, Aron L, Zullo J, Pan Y, Kim H, Chen Y, et al. REST and stress resistance in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* (2014) 507(7493):448–54. doi:10.1038/nature13163
- Nho K, Kim S, Risacher SL, Shen L, Corneveaux JJ, Swaminathan S, et al. Protective variant for hippocampal atrophy identified by whole exome sequencing. *Ann Neurol* (2015) 77(3):547–52. doi:10.1002/ana.24349
- Cheng D, Noble J, Tang MX, Schupf N, Mayeux R, Luchsinger JA. Type 2 diabetes and late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* (2011) 31(6):424–30. doi:10.1159/000324134
- Ronnemaa E, Zethelius B, Lannfelt L, Kilander L. Vascular risk factors and dementia: 40-year follow-up of a population-based cohort. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* (2011) 31(6):460–6. doi:10.1159/000330020
- Jun G, Naj AC, Beecham GW, Wang LS, Buros J, Gallins PJ, et al. Meta-analysis confirms CR1, CLU, and PICALM as Alzheimer disease risk loci and reveals interactions with APOE genotypes. *Arch Neurol* (2010) 67(12):1473–84. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2010.201
- 71. Wijsman EM, Daw EW, Yu X, Steinbart EJ, Nochlin D, Bird TD, et al. APOE and other loci affect age-at-onset in Alzheimer's disease families with PS2 mutation. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* (2005) 132B(1):14–20. doi:10.1002/ajmg.b.30087
- Pastor P, Roe CM, Villegas A, Bedoya G, Chakraverty S, Garcia G, et al. Apolipoprotein Eepsilon4 modifies Alzheimer's disease onset in an E280A PS1 kindred. Ann Neurol (2003) 54(2):163–9. doi:10.1002/ana.10636
- St George-Hyslop P, McLachlan DC, Tsuda T, Rogaev E, Karlinsky H, Lippa CF, et al. Alzheimer's disease and possible gene interaction. *Science* (1994) 263(5146):537. doi:10.1126/science.8290965
- Xu X. DNA methylation and cognitive aging. Oncotarget (2015) 6(16):13922– 32. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4215
- Mather KA, Kwok JB, Armstrong N, Sachdev PS. The role of epigenetics in cognitive ageing. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2014) 29(11):1162–71. doi:10.1002/ gps.4183
- Klose RJ, Bird AP. Genomic DNA methylation: the mark and its mediators. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2006) 31(2):89–97. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2005.12.008
- Jones PA. Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. Nat Rev Genet (2012) 13(7):484–92. doi:10.1038/nrg3230
- Chouliaras L, Kenis G, Visser PJ, Scheltens P, Tsolaki M, Jones RW, et al. DNMT3A moderates cognitive decline in subjects with mild cognitive impairment: replicated evidence from two mild cognitive impairment cohorts. *Epigenomics* (2015) 7(4):533–7. doi:10.2217/epi.15.22
- Bey K, Wolfsgruber S, Karaca I, Wagner H, Lardenoije R, Becker J, et al. No association of the variant rs11887120 in DNMT3A with cognitive decline in individuals with mild cognitive impairment. *Epigenomics* (2016) 8(5):593–8. doi:10.2217/epi-2015-0014
- Chen BF, Chan WY. The de novo DNA methyltransferase DNMT3A in development and cancer. *Epigenetics* (2014) 9(5):669–77. doi:10.4161/epi.28324
- Davies G, Harris SE, Reynolds CA, Payton A, Knight HM, Liewald DC, et al. A genome-wide association study implicates the APOE locus in nonpathological cognitive ageing. *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19(1):76–87. doi:10.1038/ mp.2012.159
- Gottschalk WK, Lutz MW, He YT, Saunders AM, Burns DK, Roses AD, et al. The broad impact of TOM40 on neurodegenerative diseases in aging. *J Parkinsons Dis Alzheimers Dis* (2014) 1(1). doi:10.13188/2376-922X. 1000003

- Guo AY, Sun J, Riley BP, Thiselton DL, Kendler KS, Zhao Z. The dystrobrevin-binding protein 1 gene: features and networks. *Mol Psychiatry* (2009) 14(1):18–29. doi:10.1038/mp.2008.88
- Burdick KE, Goldberg TE, Funke B, Bates JA, Lencz T, Kucherlapati R, et al. DTNBP1 genotype influences cognitive decline in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 89(1–3):169–72. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2006.09.008
- Hashimoto R, Noguchi H, Hori H, Nakabayashi T, Suzuki T, Iwata N, et al. A genetic variation in the dysbindin gene (DTNBP1) is associated with memory performance in healthy controls. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 11(2 Pt 2):431–8. doi:10.1080/15622970902736503
- Hashimoto R, Noguchi H, Hori H, Ohi K, Yasuda Y, Takeda M, et al. Association between the dysbindin gene (DTNBP1) and cognitive functions in Japanese subjects. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2009) 63(4):550–6. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2009.01985.x
- Kircher T, Markov V, Krug A, Eggermann T, Zerres K, Nothen MM, et al. Association of the DTNBP1 genotype with cognition and personality traits in healthy subjects. *Psychol Med* (2009) 39(10):1657–65. doi:10.1017/ S0033291709005388
- Neuner SM, Garfinkel BP, Wilmott LA, Ignatowska-Jankowska BM, Citri A, Orly J, et al. Systems genetics identifies Hp1bp3 as a novel modulator of cognitive aging. *Neurobiol Aging* (2016) 46:58–67. doi:10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2016.06.008
- Garfinkel BP, Melamed-Book N, Anuka E, Bustin M, Orly J. HP1BP3 is a novel histone H1 related protein with essential roles in viability and growth. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43(4):2074–90. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv089
- Wolosker H, Blackshaw S, Snyder SH. Serine racemase: a glial enzyme synthesizing D-serine to regulate glutamate-N-methyl-D-aspartate neurotransmission. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(23):13409–14. doi:10.1073/ pnas.96.23.13409
- Morita Y, Ujike H, Tanaka Y, Otani K, Kishimoto M, Morio A, et al. A genetic variant of the serine racemase gene is associated with schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 61(10):1200–3. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.07.025
- Turpin FR, Potier B, Dulong JR, Sinet PM, Alliot J, Oliet SH, et al. Reduced serine racemase expression contributes to age-related deficits in hippocampal cognitive function. *Neurobiol Aging* (2011) 32(8):1495–504. doi:10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2009.09.001
- Labrie V, Fukumura R, Rastogi A, Fick LJ, Wang W, Boutros PC, et al. Serine racemase is associated with schizophrenia susceptibility in humans and in a mouse model. *Hum Mol Genet* (2009) 18(17):3227–43. doi:10.1093/hmg/ ddp261
- Chen CH, Yang JH, Chiang CWK, Hsiung CN, Wu PE, Chang LC, et al. Population structure of Han Chinese in the modern Taiwanese population based on 10,000 participants in the Taiwan Biobank project. *Hum Mol Genet* (2016) 25(24):5321–31. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddw346
- Schaub MA, Boyle AP, Kundaje A, Batzoglou S, Snyder M. Linking disease associations with regulatory information in the human genome. *Genome Res* (2012) 22(9):1748–59. doi:10.1101/gr.136127.111
- Sheehan B. Assessment scales in dementia. Ther Adv Neurol Disord (2012) 5(6):349–58. doi:10.1177/1756285612455733

- Brodaty H, Low LF, Gibson L, Burns K. What is the best dementia screening instrument for general practitioners to use? *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2006) 14(5):391–400. doi:10.1097/01.JGP.0000216181.20416.b2
- Milne A, Culverwell A, Guss R, Tuppen J, Whelton R. Screening for dementia in primary care: a review of the use, efficacy and quality of measures. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2008) 20(5):911–26. doi:10.1017/S1041610208007394
- Wild K, Howieson D, Webbe F, Seelye A, Kaye J. Status of computerized cognitive testing in aging: a systematic review. *Alzheimers Dement* (2008) 4(6):428–37. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2008.07.003
- 100. Smith PJ, Need AC, Cirulli ET, Chiba-Falek O, Attix DK. A comparison of the Cambridge Automated Neuropsychological Test Battery (CANTAB) with "traditional" neuropsychological testing instruments. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol* (2013) 35(3):319–28. doi:10.1080/13803395.2013. 771618
- 101. Rockwood K, Fay S, Gorman M, Carver D, Graham JE. The clinical meaningfulness of ADAS-Cog changes in Alzheimer's disease patients treated with donepezil in an open-label trial. *BMC Neurol* (2007) 7:26. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-7-26
- 102. Thomas ML, Kaufmann CN, Palmer BW, Depp CA, Martin AS, Glorioso DK, et al. Paradoxical trend for improvement in mental health with aging: a community-based study of 1,546 adults aged 21–100 years. J Clin Psychiatry (2016) 77(8):e1019–25. doi:10.4088/JCP.16m10671
- Lin E, Lane HY. Machine learning and systems genomics approaches for multi-omics data. *Biomark Res* (2017) 5:2. doi:10.1186/s40364-017-0082-y
- Lin E, Lane HY. Genome-wide association studies in pharmacogenomics of antidepressants. *Pharmacogenomics* (2015) 16(5):555–66. doi:10.2217/ pgs.15.5
- Lin E, Tsai SJ. Genome-wide microarray analysis of gene expression profiling in major depression and antidepressant therapy. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2016) 64:334–40. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.02.008
- 106. Lin CH, Chen PK, Chang YC, Chuo LJ, Chen YS, Tsai GE, et al. Benzoate, a D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor, for the treatment of early-phase Alzheimer disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75(9):678–85. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.08.010
- 107. Lin CH, Huang YJ, Lin CJ, Lane HY, Tsai GE. NMDA neurotransmission dysfunction in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Pharm Des* (2014) 20(32):5169–79. doi:10.2174/1381612819666140110115603

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Lin, Lin and Lane. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Right Frontotemporal Cortex Mediates the Relationship between Cognitive Insight and Subjective Quality of Life in Patients with Schizophrenia**

Shenghong Pu<sup>1</sup>\*, Kazuyuki Nakagome<sup>2</sup>, Masashi Itakura<sup>1</sup>, Hiroaki Ohtachi<sup>1</sup>, Masaaki Iwata<sup>1</sup>, Izumi Nagata<sup>3</sup> and Koichi Kaneko<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Neuropsychiatry, Department of Brain and Neuroscience, Faculty of Medicine, Tottori University, Yonago, Japan, <sup>2</sup> National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Kodaira, Japan, <sup>3</sup> National Hospital Organization, Tottori Medical Center, Tottori-shi, Japan

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan

## Reviewed by:

Jonathan K. Wynn, University of California, Los Angeles, United States Feng Liu, Tianjin Medical University General Hospital, China

> \*Correspondence: Shenghong Pu pshh0517@yahoo.co.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 22 October 2017 Accepted: 17 January 2018 Published: 02 February 2018

#### Citation:

Pu S, Nakagome K, Itakura M, Ohtachi H, Iwata M, Nagata I and Kaneko K (2018) Right Frontotemporal Cortex Mediates the Relationship between Cognitive Insight and Subjective Quality of Life in Patients with Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 9:16. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00016 Although prior studies identified a relationship between cognitive insight and subjective quality of life (QOL) in patients with schizophrenia, the brain regions mediating this relationship remain unknown. Recent studies have shown that the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex may be particularly important for cognitive insight in individuals with schizophrenia. Here, we examined whether frontotemporal function mediates the relationship between cognitive insight and QOL in 64 participants, including 32 patients with schizophrenia and 32 healthy controls. Cognitive insight was measured using the Beck Cognitive Insight Scale (BCIS), while participants' subjective QOL was assessed using the Medical Outcomes Study 36-item Short-form Health Survey. Frontotemporal function was evaluated during a verbal fluency task using multichannel near-infrared spectroscopy. Consistent with previous findings, we found that frontotemporal function was impaired in patients with schizophrenia. Interestingly, our data also revealed that the right ventrolateral PFC and the right anterior part of the temporal cortex significantly mediated the relationship between the self-reflectiveness (SR) subscale of the BCIS and subjective QOL. These findings suggest that cognitive insight, particularly SR, is associated with subjective QOL in patients with schizophrenia via right frontotemporal function. The findings of this study provide important insight into a QOL model of schizophrenia, which may guide the development of cost-effective interventions that target frontotemporal function in patients with schizophrenia.

Keywords: cognitive insight, near-infrared spectroscopy, verbal fluency task, frontotemporal function, quality of life, schizophrenia

## INTRODUCTION

Previous research has demonstrated that individuals with schizophrenia tend to show a lack of insight that affects their symptom, psychosocial functioning, and treatment outcomes (1, 2). However, in 2004, the definition of insight was extended to include the cognitive processes that are involved in patients' re-evaluation of their anomalous experiences and misinterpretations (3, 4). Beck and colleagues (3, 5) referred to this as cognitive insight, and further identified two underlying components, namely self-reflectiveness (SR) and self-certainty (SC). To examine these factors, the Beck Cognitive

Insight Scale (BCIS) was developed (3), which revealed that when the scores for SR are low or when those for SC are high, then an individual's overall cognitive insight ability is likely impaired.

Since the development of the BCIS, many studies have evaluated the relationship between the BCIS scores and delusions (3, 5, 6), while others have examined the relationship between the BCIS scores and anxiety (7), depression (8), negative symptoms (9, 10), and functional outcome (11-13). However, recently, interest in research on the neural correlates of cognitive insight in patients with schizophrenia has been increasing (14). Studies on this topic suggest that the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC) may be particularly important for cognitive insight in individuals with schizophrenia (14). For instance, higher SR has been linked to increased neural activation in the right ventrolateral PFC of individuals with schizophrenia (15). Moreover, in a previous near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) study performed in our laboratory, we found that SR modulated right ventrolateral PFC and right temporal functions during verbal fluency task (VFT) in people with schizophrenia (16). Interestingly, we also revealed that the ventrolateral PFC and other PFC regions played a significant role in the subjective quality of life (QOL) of individuals with schizophrenia (17, 18). These findings suggest that ventrolateral PFC function may mediate the relationship between cognitive insight and subjective QOL in schizophrenia. However, this hypothesis has not been fully examined.

Near-infrared spectroscopy is a comparably new neuroimaging technique that has received increasing attention in the field of neuroscience and psychiatry. NIRS is a non-invasive, high time resolution (0.1 s) functional optical technique revealing the spatiotemporal characteristics of brain functioning by using near-infrared light (19, 20). In contrast to other neuroimaging methodologies such as functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and electroencephalography (EEG), NIRS can be measured under a more restraint-free environment that is especially suitable for psychiatric patients. This has made it feasible to perform NIRS in real-world clinical settings (21). In NIRS, typical cortical activation represents not only decreased concentration of deoxy-hemoglobin (deoxy-Hb), which is considered the main source of blood oxygenation level-dependent (BOLD) contrast increase in fMRI, but also a relatively larger increase in oxyhemoglobin concentration (oxy-Hb) (21). NIRS measurement during a VFT was recently approved by the Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare of Japan as an advanced medical technology for the aid of differential diagnosis of depressive state psychiatric illnesses and has been frequently applied in clinical settings in Japan (21). In addition, several reports suggest that the mean oxy-Hb changes induced by a VFT in patients with schizophrenia are significantly decreased compared with those observed in controls (22-26).

Cognitive insight has been found to predict positive gains in individuals undergoing psychotherapy for psychosis, and improvements in cognitive insight have been correlated with improvements in delusional beliefs (12, 27). However, better cognitive insight has also been linked to negative outcomes (8, 28, 29). Weintraub and Weisman de Mamani (30) recently suggested that cognitive insight might have a similarly equivocal relationship with subjective QOL in a subclinical sample, although the exact nature of the relationship between cognitive insight and subjective QOL for patients with schizophrenia has yet to be determined.

To examine these issues, we concurrently assessed frontotemporal function, cognitive insight, and subjective QOL in patients with schizophrenia. Our three hypotheses were as follows: (1) relative to healthy controls, patients with schizophrenia would have detectable abnormalities in VFT-related frontotemporal function; (2) cognitive insight would be related to the observed frontotemporal (specifically the right) function and subjective QOL; and (3) right frontotemporal function would mediate the relationship between cognitive insight and subjective QOL.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Participants**

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Tottori University Faculty of Medicine (approval No. 885), and the investigation was conducted in accordance with the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was obtained from each participant after the study procedures had been explained.

The participants included 32 patients with schizophrenia who were clinically stable enough to undergo the assessments and 32 age- and gender-matched healthy controls (Table 1). All the patients were receiving second-generation antipsychotic medication during the study, and their chlorpromazine-equivalent daily doses were calculated and are shown in Table 1 (monotherapy/ two drugs therapy: 28/4; 10 aripiprazole, 8 blonanserin, 8 olanzapine, 3 risperidone, 3 perospirone, 2 paliperidone, 2 quetiapine). The patients were recruited from the outpatient population of Tottori University Hospital and were diagnosed by the same experienced psychiatrists (Masaaki Iwata and Koichi Kaneko) using the criteria specified in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (31). On the day of the NIRS experiment, patients' psychiatric symptoms were evaluated by the same psychiatrists (Masaaki Iwata and Koichi Kaneko) using the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (32).

All participants were right-handed according to the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (33). The participants in this study partially overlapped with those in our previous studies (16–18), but were not identical.

#### Assessments

#### **Cognitive Insight**

Cognitive insight was assessed with the BCIS (3, 10), a 15-item self-report inventory. The BCIS consisted of the following two components: SR and SC. The former includes items measuring objectivity, reflectiveness, and openness to feedback, whereas the latter measures the certainty about one's own beliefs or judgment. The BCIS was administered to only the patients.

#### Subjective QOL Measurement

Allpatients completed a self-assessment of QOL using the Medical Outcomes Study 36-item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36)

#### TABLE 1 | Demographics and clinical characteristics of the participants.

	Patients with schizophrenia (mean $\pm$ SD)	Healthy controls (mean $\pm$ SD)	Comparison between groups
Sex, n (female/male)	32 (24/8)	32 (21/11)	$\chi^2 = 0.674, p = 0.412$
Age, years	$31.3 \pm 9.8$	$31.9 \pm 10.9$	t(df = 62) = 0.253, p = 0.801
Handedness	96.7 ± 13.0	97.7 ± 10.8	t(df = 62) = 0.334, p = 0.739
Education, years	$13.7 \pm 2.2$	$14.7 \pm 2.2$	t(df = 62) = 1.822, p = 0.073
Estimated premorbid IQ	$98.6 \pm 9.4$	$100.3 \pm 8.3$	t(df = 62) = 0.744, p = 0.460
Duration of illness, years	$9.7 \pm 6.8$	_	_
Chlorpromazine-equivalent dose, mg/day	488.9 ± 315.9	_	-
PANSS			
Positive	$13.8 \pm 4.0$	_	_
Negative	18.1 ± 5.3	-	-
General psychopathology	31.6 ± 9.1	_	_
Number of words generated	$11.9 \pm 3.7$	$14.3 \pm 3.8$	t(df = 62) = 2.496, p = 0.015
BCIS			
Self-reflectiveness	11.2 ± 3.7	_	_
Self-certainty	$5.3 \pm 3.1$	_	-
SF-36			
Physical functioning	46.8 ± 13.7	_	_
Role limitations-physical	$38.1 \pm 15.6$	-	_
Bodily pain	48.1 ± 12.7	_	_
General health	$40.6 \pm 12.8$	-	-
Vitality	41.6 ± 12.9	_	_
Social functioning	$42.9 \pm 14.6$	-	-
Role limitations-emotional	36.1 ± 15.2	_	_
Mental health	40.7 ± 12.6	-	-

df, degrees of freedom; IQ, intelligence quotient; PANSS, Positive and Negative Symptom Scale; BCIS, Beck Cognitive Insight Scale; SF-36, Medical Outcomes Study 36-item Short-Form Health Survey.

(34, 35). The SF-36 is scored such that 8 scale scores are given: physical functioning, role physical, bodily pain, general health perceptions, vitality, social functioning, role emotional, and mental health. The SF-36 Scoring Manual (36) does not provide support to calculate a single measure of health-related QOL, such as an "SF-36 Total/Global/Overall Score." Therefore, we only adopted the subscale scores, which were transformed to make a minimum and maximum possible score of between 0 and 100, where higher scores indicate better health and well-being.

#### NIRS Measurements (37)

The 52-channel NIRS machine measures relative changes in oxy-hemoglobin (oxy-Hb) and deoxy-hemoglobin (deoxy-Hb) using two wavelengths (695 and 830 nm) of infrared light based on the modified Beer–Lambert law (37, 38). The arrangement of the source-detector probes enabled us to measure the Hb values from both the PFC and temporal regions(39, 40).

#### **Cognitive Task**

The task procedure used in this study was similar to that described by Takizawa et al. (24) in that Hb changes were measured during a letter version of the VFT. When performing the task, the participant sat on a comfortable chair and was instructed to minimize movements, such as head movements, jaw clenching, and eye blinking, to avoid producing artifacts during the NIRS measurements. The 160-s block-design VFT was divided into the following three periods: 30-s pre-task period, 60-s task period, and 70-s post-task period. The total number of correct words generated during the VFT was adopted as a measure of task performance (16). The 160-s block-design VFT contains three different time periods: a 30-s pre-task period, a 60-s task period, and a 70-s post-task period (**Figure 1**). For the pre- and post-task baseline periods, the subjects were instructed to consecutively repeat the five Japanese vowels ("a," "i," "u," "e," and "o") aloud. As readout from NIRS, the contrast between the verbal fluency condition and the vocalization condition was used to increase specificity for the verbal fluency canceling out the vocalization effect. During the task period, they were instructed to generate as many Japanese words beginning with a designated syllable as possible. The three sets of initial syllables (A; /to/, /se/, /o/, B; /a/, /ki/, /ha/, C; /na/, /i/, /ta/) were presented in counterbalanced order among the subjects and each syllable changed every 20 s during the 60-s task.

The sampling frequency was 10 Hz. To examine VFT taskrelated activation, data were analyzed using the "integral mode" installed on the NIRS machine, in which the pre-task baseline was calculated as the mean over the 10-s period immediately prior to the task period, and the post-task baseline was calculated as the mean over the 5-s period that followed after the 50-s post-task period. Linear fitting was applied to the data recorded between these two baselines. A moving-average method, using a 5-s window, was applied to remove any short-term motion artifacts. In addition, we rejected noise related to body-movement artifacts (no signal, high frequency, and low frequency) using the algorithm published by Takizawa et al. (21).

#### **Regions of Interest**

We defined each measuring area between pairs of source-detector probes as "channel." It is supposed that the NIRS machine, in which the source-detector spacing is 3.0 cm, measures points at 2-3 cm depth from the scalp, i.e., the surface of the cerebral cortex



**FIGURE 1** | Channel positions on the brain surface. Right region 2 consists of the right 10 channels (22–24, 32–35, and 43–45) and is located approximately on the right ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC) and anterior part of the temporal cortex (aTC) region. Left region 2 consists of the left 10 channels (29–31, 39–42, and 50–52) and is located approximately on the left VLPFC and aTC region. Region 1 consists of the center 11 channels (25–28, 36–38, and 46–49) and is located approximately on the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) and frontopolar cortex (FPC) region (45).

(41–43). The probes of the NIRS machine were fixed with thermoplastic  $3 \times 11$  shells, with the lowest probes positioned along the Fp1–Fp2 line according to the international 10–20 system used in EEG. The 52 measuring areas are labeled ch1–ch52 from the right-posterior to the left-anterior.

Of the 52 NIRS channels, region 1 included channels 25–28, 36–38, and 46–49. The right side of region 2 included channels 22–24, 32–35, and 43–45, while the left side of region 2 included channels 29–31, 39–42, and 50–52 (**Figure 1**). The NIRS signal of region 1 consisted of the signals from channels located approximately in the dorsolateral PFC and frontopolar cortex (FPC) [dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC)/FPC; i.e., the superior and middle frontal gyrus]. Region 2 consisted of signals from channels located approximately in the ventrolateral PFC and the anterior part of the temporal cortex (VLPFC/aTC) (21, 44, 45).

## **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics 24.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Hemodynamic responses during the VFT in region 1 and left and right region 2 were assessed by the "integral value" of Hb changes. We used the integral value of the oxy-Hb (as opposed to deoxy-Hb) changes that occurred during the VFT, as an index of cortical activity, because oxy-Hb better reflects this activity and is better correlated with fMRI BOLD signals (46–48) compared with deoxy-Hb.

First, the integral value of the oxy-Hb changes that occurred during the task period were compared between the participant groups using Student's *t*-tests [with a Bonferroni-corrected alpha level of 0.0167 (0.05/3)]. When there was a significant betweengroup difference in the performance level, we performed additional analyses of covariance using the performance level as a covariate to the integral value of oxy-Hb changes. Next, Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficients adopting the false discovery rate (FDR) method were calculated to test the correlations between the integral value of oxy-Hb changes in each region of interest (ROI; region 1 and left and right region 2) and the BCIS subscale scores (SR and SC) and SF-36 subscale scores.

A mediation analysis was performed using Hayes' PROCESS macro, a regression-based path analysis technique (49). Using an ordinary least-squares framework, PROCESS estimates the direct and indirect effects in mediator models. To test the mediation hypotheses, PROCESS uses bootstrapping to construct confidence intervals (CIs) for indirect effects through repeated sampling of the data set. Findings are based on 5,000 bias-corrected bootstrapped samples. In the event that 0 does not lie within the 95% CI for the bootstrapped results for indirect effects, we can conclude that the indirect effect is significantly different from 0 and that mediation is demonstrated (50).

## RESULTS

The participants' demographic data are shown in **Table 1**. Patients with schizophrenia had a significantly lower performance level on the VFT (number of words generated) compared with healthy controls (t = 2.496, p = 0.015).

## **Frontotemporal Activation**

We used NIRS to evaluate our first hypothesis that patients with schizophrenia would have abnormalities in frontotemporal regions. The overall mean oxy-Hb change waveforms for the 52 channels and three ROIs in each group are shown in **Figure 2**. Compared with healthy controls, patients with schizophrenia exhibited

Next, we examined whether cognitive insight was related to frontotemporal function and subjective QOL in patients with

significantly smaller integral values of oxy-Hb changes (region

1: t = 4.177, p < 0.001; left region: t = 4.923, p < 0.001; right

region 2: t = 4.027, p < 0.001). The between-group differences in

the integral values of oxy-Hb changes remained significant after

correcting for the performance level in the three ROIs (region

1: *F* = 14.907, *p* < 0.001; left region: *F* = 21.261, *p* < 0.001; right

region 2: F = 14.327, p < 0.001), according to analyses of covari-

ance using performance on the VFT as a covariate to the integral

schizophrenia. To test this hypothesis, we extracted the integral values of oxy-Hb changes from the three ROIs (region 1 and left and right region 2), where patients with schizophrenia showed reduced VFT-related neural activity compared with healthy controls, and conducted Pearson's correlations with the cognitive insight and subjective QOL scores (**Table 2**).

In patients with schizophrenia, better cognitive insight, according to the SR subscale of the BCIS was related to a higher subjective QOL (vitality: r = 0.411, FDR-corrected p = 0.013; mental health: r = 0.508, FDR-corrected p = 0.006) and to increased right region 2 VFT-related activity (right VLPFC/ aTC; r = 0.506, FDR-corrected p = 0.017). A higher subjective QOL was also related to increased VFT-related activity in region

values of oxy-Hb changes.





	Cognitive i	nsight	Region 1 (DLPFC/FPC)	Left region 2 (left VLPFC/aTC)	Right region 2 (right VLPFC/aTC)
	Self-reflectiveness	Self-certainty			
Frontotemporal region					
Region 1 (DLPFC/FPC)	0.337	-0.100	-	-	-
Left region 2 (left VLPFC/aTC)	0.273	0.011	-	-	-
Right region 2 (right VLPFC/aTC)	0.506***	-0.163	-	-	-
Subjective QOL					
Physical functioning	-0.171	0.079	0.128	0.135	0.060
Role limitations-physical	0.043	-0.075	0.050	0.072	0.188
Bodily pain	0.020	-0.312	0.117	0.239	0.232
General health	0.121	-0.241	0.287	0.392*	0.378
Vitality	0.411*	-0.057	0.495***	0.492*	0.501***
Social functioning	0.226	-0.082	0.301	0.222	0.120
Role limitations-emotional	0.183	-0.094	0.213	0.168	0.080
Mental health	0.508***	-0.047	0.320	0.461**	0.509***

TABLE 2 | Correlations between the VFT-related hemodynamic responses and measures of cognitive insight and subjective QOL in patients with schizophrenia.

VFT, verbal fluency task; QOL, quality of life; DLPFC/FPC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and frontopolar cortex; VLPFC/aTC, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex and the anterior part of the temporal cortex.

\*p < 0.05.

\*\*p < 0.01.

\*\*\*p < 0.005.



**FIGURE 3** | The effect of cognitive insight on subjective quality of life (QOL) through right frontotemporal function. Path C represents the variance in the level of cognitive insight that is associated with the subjective QOL (**(A)** vitality or **(B)** mental health) level, and Path C' represents the association between the level of cognitive insight and subjective QOL after taking into account right frontotemporal function as a mediator. When right frontotemporal function was included in the model, the direct effect of cognitive insight (self-reflectiveness) on subjective QOL (dashed line) (left: vitality, right: mental health) was no longer significant, indicating a fully mediated effect. Path AB is the mediation effect and is significant at p < 0.05 based on confidence intervals from bias-corrected bootstrapping of 5,000 samples.

1 (DLPFC/FPC; vitality: r = 0.495, FDR-corrected p = 0.006), left region 2 (left VLPFC/aTC; vitality: r = 0.492, FDR-corrected p = 0.006; mental health: r = 0.461, FDR-corrected p = 0.013), and right region 2 (right VLPFC/aTC; vitality: r = 0.501, FDRcorrected p = 0.013; mental health: r = 0.509, FDR-corrected p = 0.006), but neither region 1 (r = 0.273, FDR-corrected p > 0.50) nor left region 2 (r = 0.337, FDR-corrected p > 0.05) were related to SR.

However, there were no significant correlations between the SC and other subscale of QOL or all ROIs VFT-related activity (FDR-corrected p > 0.05).

#### **Mediation Analyses**

Finally, we determined whether right frontotemporal function mediated the relationship between cognitive insight and subjective QOL. Because the vitality and mental health subscales were found to relate to both right region 2 (right VLPFC/aTC) VFT-related activity and our measure of cognitive insight (SR), to test our third hypothesis that right VLPFC/aTC function mediates the relationship between cognitive insight and subjective QOL, we entered right VLPFC/aTC VFT-related activity, SR, and vitality or mental health scores into a single mediator model. For the mediation analysis to be justified, the predictor, mediator, and outcome variables must all be inter-related (51, 52). Indeed, all four paths were in the predicted direction (Figure 3). Cognitive insight had a positive effect on subjective QOL (vitality:  $\beta = 1.456$ , p = 0.029; mental health:  $\beta = 1.757$ , p = 0.007) and right region 2 VFT-related activity ( $\beta = 7.920$ , p < 0.001), and right region 2 VFT-related activity had a positive effect on subjective QOL (vitality:  $\beta = 0.089$ , p = 0.034; mental health:  $\beta = 0.075$ , p = 0.062). Bootstrap analysis of the indirect

effect revealed bias-corrected CIs excluding 0 (vitality:  $\beta = 0.71$ , SE = 0.39, 95% CI = 0.071–1.59; mental health:  $\beta = 0.59$ , SE = 0.33, 95% CI = 0.03–1.37). Importantly, the direct effect of cognitive insight on subjective QOL, after controlling for right VLPFC/aTC function, was no longer significant (vitality:  $\beta = 0.75$ , 95% CI = -0.730 to 2.229; mental health:  $\beta = 1.17$ , 95% CI = -0.259 to 2.589), indicating that right VLPFC/aTC function fully mediated the relationship between cognitive insight in the SR domain and subjective QOL.

### DISCUSSION

This study had three main findings. First, we identified regions within our selected frontotemporal area (all ROIs) where participants with schizophrenia had reduced hemodynamic responses compared with healthy controls. This finding is consistent with those of prior studies (16, 22–26) and provides further evidence that patients with schizophrenia exhibit abnormalities in fronto-temporal regions. Second, the level of cognitive insight as well as the level of subjective QOL were related to neural activity in the right VLPFC/aTC regions, demonstrating a relationship between the neurobiological characteristics of schizophrenia and cognitive insight and subjective QOL. Third, VFT-related neural activity in the right VLPFC/aTC regions fully mediated the relationship between cognitive insight and subjective QOL, indicating that the disease-related level of cognitive insight may affect the subjective QOL through abnormalities in frontotemporal function.

Collectively, our findings have implications for understanding the specific role the cognitive insight level (particularly SR) plays in the level of subjective QOL in individuals with schizophrenia. Recent functional (fMRI and NIRS) (16, 53) and structural MRI (54) studies highlighted the relationship between SR and the right ventrolateral PFC. SR is defined as the ability to simultaneously consider various types of information, perspectives, and alternative hypotheses to generate judgments about the self, and this ability utilizes verbal working memory and decision-making processes (16, 54). High levels of SR may encourage patients to doubt their distorted and unrealistic perceptions or thoughts, leading them to have a more-objective attitude toward their illness (55). For instance, Phalen et al. (2) (p. 840) stated that "while engaged in treatment, those patients with higher cognitive insight may be better able to incorporate the feedback of mental health professionals and consider alternative ways of thinking" (56). Trials employing cognitive behavior therapy for psychosis support this theory, as they have consistently found that better cognitive insight is predictive of better responses to psychosocial treatments (2, 27). Moreover, in decision-making, the right ventrolateral PFC plays a role generating alternative perspectives in tasks requiring individuals to respond to a problem that has various potential answers (57, 58). In the context of SR, one's willingness to admit fallibility and corrigibility and to recognize dysfunctional reasoning may in part depend on the controlled retrieval of information from memory, which is mediated by the ventrolateral PFC (15, 53). In our prior NIRS studies, we identified a relationship between the ventrolateral PFC and other PFC areas and subjective QOL in patients with schizophrenia (17, 18). Here, we found that the

right VLPFC/aTC fully mediated the relationship between SR and subjective QOL, implying that this region is critical for both functions. This findings confirm our prior findings, while the results from the mediation analysis additionally demonstrate that right ventrolateral PFC function is one of the mechanisms underlying the relationship between cognitive insight (particularly SR) and subjective QOL.

Although cognitive insight is commonly considered an important factor in schizophrenia (2, 59), how cognitive insight relates to broader outcomes like QOL remains unknown. A wellreplicated pattern in schizophrenia research is that higher levels of cognitive insight are often associated with better outcomes [e.g., Ref. (30, 60)]. Our findings imply that higher SR levels may be generally associated with better subjective QOL. However, this association is not necessarily consistent. Some lines of evidence suggest that superior cognitive insight is related to positive outcomes for patents with psychotic disorders (8, 12, 27), while others imply that it is associated with negative outcomes (8, 28, 29). One possible explanation for these equivocal findings is that the effect of cognitive insight on QOL depends on the presence of other variables. Recently, Phalen et al. (2) found that SR had an unmoderated positive relationship with QOL and that the effect of SC on QOL was moderated by symptom severity. The authors suggested that cognitive insight is related to QOL, but that different aspects of cognitive insight may relate to QOL in different ways (2). According to their view, it is likely that symptom severity moderates the effects of cognitive insight on QOL because the flexible perspective shifting abilities associated with better cognitive insight may differ in patients with varying levels of symptom severity (2). For patients whose symptoms are severe and obvious to others, higher SC may serve as a protective factor against the social stigma that may harm the QOL (2). On the other hand, SR may generally be associated with better QOL as noted above. However, the meta-analysis by Palmer et al. (8) supports the alternative view of Kim et al. (4) that SR is negatively associated with the level of subjective QOL. Thus, further studies are needed to clarify the relationship between SR and QOL. Overall, our findings suggest that cognitive insight (SR) is related to subjective QOL; it is possible that SR contributes to improved subjective QOL (vitality, mental health) via the neural activity in the right VLPFC/aTC. Additional studies are necessary to explore other possible mediating and moderating factors and to evaluate the effects that various therapeutic interventions may have on the relationship between cognitive insight and QOL.

The two subscales that showed a positive association with oxy-Hb changes, vitality and mental health, were closely related to mental aspects of QOL, which was similar to the motivation/energy subscale showing a positive relationship with left frontal and temporal gray matter volume in Ubukata et al. (61). Interestingly, executive functioning, a cognitive process involved in VFT, has been reported to show a positive relationship with different aspects of subjective QOL from those found in this study, which are self-evaluation of side-effects and symptoms (62, 63). These findings suggest a possibility that oxy-Hb changes elicited by VFT may reflect the motivation and positive engagement of the task rather than cognitive ability *per se* (18). Our findings need to be interpreted within the context of the study limitations. First, multichannel NIRS has limited spatial resolution compared with fMRI (~1 mm). However, a recent MRI and NIRS combination study, which used a method for the probabilistic registration of NIRS data onto the Montreal Neurological Institute coordinate space, suggested that the errors of spatial estimation, expressed as SDs, were approximately 10 mm (40, 64). Second, the relationship among cognitive insight, QOL in the mental aspects and right frontotemporal activities was observed only in patients with schizophrenia, and therefore care must be taken that it cannot be applied generally to other populations.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that the level of cognitive insight (especially SR) affected the subjective QOL level in patients with schizophrenia owing to abnormalities in VFT-related frontotemporal function. These findings improve our understanding of how the cognitive insight indicators of schizophrenia are related to the clinical and behavioral presentations of the illness.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the ethics committee of the Faculty of Medicine of Tottori University (approval No. 885) and the investigation was conducted in accordance with the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent

### REFERENCES

- Lysaker PH, Vohs J, Hillis JD, Kukla M, Popolo R, Salvatore G, et al. Poor insight into schizophrenia: contributing factors, consequences and emerging treatment approaches. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2013) 13:785–93. doi:10.1586/ 14737175.2013.811150
- Phalen PL, Viswanadhan K, Lysaker PH, Warman DM. The relationship between cognitive insight and quality of life in schizophrenia spectrum disorders: symptom severity as potential moderator. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 230:839–45. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015.10.014
- Beck AT, Baruch E, Balter JM, Steer RA, Warman DM. A new instrument for measuring insight: the Beck Cognitive Insight Scale. *Schizophr Res* (2004) 68(2–3):319–29. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(03)00189-0
- Kim JH, Lee S, Han AY, Kim K, Lee J. Relationship between cognitive insight and subjective quality of life in outpatients with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2015) 11:2041–8. doi:10.2147/NDT.S90143
- Beck AT, Warman DM. Cognitive insight: theory and assessment. 2nd ed. In: Amador X, David A, editors. *Insight and Psychosis: Awareness of Illness in Schizophrenia and Related Disorders*. New York: Oxford University Press (2004). p. 79–87.
- Engh JA, Friis S, Birkenaes AB, Jonsdottir H, Klungsoyr O, Ringen PA, et al. Delusions are associated with poor cognitive insight in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2010) 36:830–5. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbn193
- Colis MJ, Steer RA, Beck AT. Cognitive insight in inpatients with psychotic, bipolar, and major depressive disorders. J Psychopathol Behav Assess (2006) 28:242–9. doi:10.1007/s10862-005-9012-7
- Palmer EC, Gilleen J, David AS. The relationship between cognitive insight and depression in psychosis and schizophrenia: a review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 166:261–8. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2015.05.032
- Bora E, Erkan A, Kayahan B, Veznedaroglu B. Cognitive insight and acute psychosis in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2007) 61:634–9. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01731.x
- Uchida T, Matsumoto K, Kikuchi A, Miyakoshi T, Ito F, Ueno T, et al. Psychometric properties of the Japanese version of the Beck Cognitive Insight Scale: relation of cognitive insight to clinical insight. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2009) 63:291–7. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2009.01946.x

was obtained from each participant after the study procedures had been explained.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SP, KN, and KK designed the study; SP acquired and analyzed the data; SP and KN wrote the first draft of the article; SP, KN, MSI, HO, MKI, IN, and KK contributed to the interpretation of the results and the writing of the manuscript. All authors have approved the final manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank all the participants in this study. The authors also thank the Hitachi Medical Corporation for providing technical advice.

### FUNDING

This study was supported by the following: Intramural Research Grant for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders of the NCNP (National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry) (23-10 and 26-3 to KK); Takeda Science Foundation (to SP); Suzuken Memorial Foundation (to SP); JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number JP15K09866 (to KK) and JP17K10330 (to SP).

- Favrod J, Zimmermann G, Raffard S, Pomini V, Khazaal Y. The Beck Cognitive Insight Scale in outpatients with psychotic disorders: further evidence from a French-speaking sample. *Can J Psychiatry* (2008) 53:783–7. doi:10.1177/070674370805301111
- Riggs SE, Grant PM, Perivoliotis D, Beck AT. Assessment of cognitive insight: a qualitative review. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 38:338–50. doi:10.1093/schbul/ sbq085
- O'Connor JA, Wiffen B, Diforti M, Ferraro L, Joseph C, Kolliakou A, et al. Neuropsychological, clinical and cognitive insight predictors of outcome in a first episode psychosis study. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 149:70–6. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2013.06.005
- Kuang C, Buchy L, Barbato M, Makowski C, Macmaster FP, Bray S, et al. A pilot study of cognitive insight and structural covariance in first-episode psychosis. Schizophr Res (2017) 179:91–6. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.09.036
- Buchy L, Hawco C, Joober R, Malla A, Lepage M. Cognitive insight in first-episode schizophrenia: further evidence for a role of the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 166:65–8. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2015. 05.009
- Pu S, Nakagome K, Yamada T, Itakura M, Satake T, Ishida H, et al. Association between cognitive insight and prefrontal function during a cognitive task in schizophrenia: a multichannel near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 150:81–7. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.048
- Pu S, Nakagome K, Yamada T, Yokoyama K, Itakura M, Satake T, et al. Association between subjective well-being and prefrontal function during a cognitive task in schizophrenia: a multi-channel near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 149:180–5. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.06.036
- Pu S, Nakagome K, Yamada T, Itakura M, Satake T, Ishida H, et al. Association between prefrontal hemodynamic responses during a cognitive task and subjective quality of life in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 152:319–21. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.11.008
- Boas DA, Dale AM, Franceschini MA. Diffuse optical imaging of brain activation: approaches to optimizing image sensitivity, resolution, and accuracy. *Neuroimage* (2004) 23(Suppl 1):S275–88.
- Strangman G, Boas DA, Sutton JP. Non-invasive neuroimaging using near-infrared light. *Biol Psychiatry* (2002) 52:679–93. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01550-0

- Takizawa R, Fukuda M, Kawasaki S, Kasai K, Mimura M, Pu S, et al. Neuroimaging-aided differential diagnosis of the depressive state. *Neuroimage* (2014) 85:498–507. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.126
- Suto T, Fukuda M, Ito M, Uehara T, Mikuni M. Multichannel near-infrared spectroscopy in depression and schizophrenia: cognitive brain activation study. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 55:501–11. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2003.09.008
- Ehlis A-C, Herrmann MJ, Plichta MM, Fallgatter AJ. Cortical activation during two verbal fluency tasks in schizophrenic patients and healthy controls as assessed by multi-channel near-infrared spectroscopy. *Psychiatry Res* (2007) 156:1–13. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2006.11.007
- Takizawa R, Kasai K, Kawakubo Y, Marumo K, Kawasaki S, Yamasue H, et al. Reduced frontopolar activation during verbal fluency task in schizophrenia: a multi-channel near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 99:250–62. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.10.025
- Chou P-H, Koike S, Nishimura Y, Satomura Y, Kinoshita A, Takizawa R, et al. Similar age-related decline in cortical activity over frontotemporal regions in schizophrenia: a multichannel near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41:268–79. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbu086
- Quan W, Wu T, Li Z, Wang Y, Dong W, Lv B. Reduced prefrontal activation during a verbal fluency task in Chinese-speaking patients with schizophrenia as measured by near-infrared spectroscopy. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 58:51–8. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2014.12.005
- Premkumar P, Peters ER, Fannon D, Anilkumar AP, Kuipers E, Kumari V. Coping styles predict responsiveness to cognitive behaviour therapy in psychosis. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) 187:354–62. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2010.12.029
- Granholm E, Mcquaid JR, Mcclure FS, Auslander LA, Perivoliotis D, Pedrelli P, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of cognitive behavioral social skills training for middle-aged and older outpatients with chronic schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162:520–9. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.3.520
- Mak WW, Wu CF. Cognitive insight and causal attribution in the development of self-stigma among individuals with schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Serv* (2006) 57:1800–2. doi:10.1176/ps.2006.57.12.1800
- Weintraub MJ, Weisman de Mamani A. Effects of sub-clinical psychosis and cognitive insight on psychological well-being: a structural equation model. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 226:149–55. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.12.039
- 31. American Psychiatric Association. *DSM-IV® Sourcebook*. New York: American Psychiatric Association (1994).
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opfer LA. The Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (1987) 13:261. doi:10.1093/ schbul/13.2.261
- Oldfield RC. The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. Neuropsychologia (1971) 9:97–113. doi:10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4
- Ware JE Jr, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36): I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Med Care* (1992) 30(6):473–83. doi:10.1097/00005650-199206000-00002
- Fukuhara S, Bito S, Green J, Hsiao A, Kurokawa K. Translation, adaptation, and validation of the SF-36 health survey for use in Japan. J Clin Epidemiol (1998) 51:1037–44. doi:10.1016/S0895-4356(98)00096-1
- 36. Saris-Baglama RN, Dewey CJ, Chisholm GB, Plumb E, King J, Rasicot P, et al. QualityMetric Health Outcomes<sup>TM</sup> Scoring Software 4.0. (Vol. 2010). Lincoln, RI: QualityMetric Incorporated (2010). 138 p.
- 37. Pu S, Nakagome K, Yamada T, Yokoyama K, Matsumura H, Mitani H, et al. The relationship between the prefrontal activation during a verbal fluency task and stress-coping style in major depressive disorder: a near-infrared spectroscopy study. *J Psychiatr Res* (2012) 46(11):1427–34. doi:10.1016/j. jpsychires.2012.08.001
- Yamashita Y, Maki A, Ito Y, Watanabe E, Mayanagi Y, Koizumi H. Noninvasive near-infrared topography of human brain activity using intensity modulation spectroscopy. *Opt Eng* (1996) 35:1046–9. doi:10.1117/1.600721
- Okamoto M, Dan H, Sakamoto K, Takeo K, Shimizu K, Kohno S, et al. Threedimensional probabilistic anatomical cranio-cerebral correlation via the international 10–20 system oriented for transcranial functional brain mapping. *Neuroimage* (2004) 21:99–111. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.08.026
- Tsuzuki D, Jurcak V, Singh AK, Okamoto M, Watanabe E, Dan I. Virtual spatial registration of stand-alone fNIRS data to MNI space. *Neuroimage* (2007) 34:1506–18. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.043
- 41. Hock C, Villringer K, Müller-Spahn F, Wenzel R, Heekeren H, Schuh-Hofer S, et al. Decrease in parietal cerebral hemoglobin oxygenation during performance of a verbal fluency task in patients with Alzheimer's disease monitored

by means of near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) – correlation with simultaneous rCBF-PET measurements. *Brain Res* (1997) 755:293–303. doi:10.1016/ S0006-8993(97)00122-4

- Okada E, Delpy DT. Near-infrared light propagation in an adult head model. II. Effect of superficial tissue thickness on the sensitivity of the near-infrared spectroscopy signal. *Appl Opt* (2003) 42:2915–22. doi:10.1364/AO.42.002915
- Toronov V, Webb A, Choi JH, Wolf M, Michalos A, Gratton E, et al. Investigation of human brain hemodynamics by simultaneous near-infrared spectroscopy and functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Med Phys* (2001) 28:521–7. doi:10.1118/1.1354627
- 44. Ohtani T, Nishimura Y, Takahashi K, Ikeda-Sugita R, Okada N, Okazaki Y. Association between longitudinal changes in prefrontal hemodynamic responses and social adaptation in patients with bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord (2015) 176:78–86. doi:10.1016/j. jad.2015.01.042
- Pu S, Nakagome K, Itakura M, Iwata M, Nagata I, Kaneko K. Association of fronto-temporal function with cognitive ability in schizophrenia. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:42858. doi:10.1038/srep42858
- Hoshi Y, Kobayashi N, Tamura M. Interpretation of near-infrared spectroscopy signals: a study with a newly developed perfused rat brain model. *J Appl Physiol* (2001) 90:1657–62. doi:10.1152/jappl.2001.90.5.1657
- Strangman G, Culver JP, Thompson JH, Boas DA. A quantitative comparison of simultaneous BOLD fMRI and NIRS recordings during functional brain activation. *Neuroimage* (2002) 17:719–31. doi:10.1006/nimg.2002.1227
- Sato H, Yahata N, Funane T, Takizawa R, Katura T, Atsumori H, et al. A NIRSfMRI investigation of prefrontal cortex activity during a working memory task. *Neuroimage* (2013) 83:158–73. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.043
- Hayes AF. Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York: Guilford Press (2013).
- Preacher KJ, Hayes AF. SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behav Res Methods* (2004) 36:717–31. doi:10.3758/BF03206553
- 51. MacKinnon DP. Introduction to Statistical Mediation Analysis. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum (2008).
- Tully LM, Lincoln SH, Liyanage-Don N, Hooker CI. Impaired cognitive control mediates the relationship between cortical thickness of the superior frontal gyrus and role functioning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 152(2–3):358–64. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.12.005
- Buchy L, Hawco C, Bodnar M, Izadi S, Dell'Elce J, Messina K, et al. Functional magnetic resonance imaging study of external source memory and its relation to cognitive insight in non-clinical subjects. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68:683–91. doi:10.1111/pcn.12177
- Orfei MD, Piras F, Macci E, Caltagirone C, Spalletta G. The neuroanatomical correlates of cognitive insight in schizophrenia. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci* (2013) 8:418–23. doi:10.1093/scan/nss016
- Orfei MD, Piras F, Banaj N, Di Lorenzo G, Siracusano A, Caltagirone C, et al. Unrealistic self-overconfidence in schizophrenia is associated with left presubiculum atrophy and impaired episodic memory. *Cortex* (2017) 86:132–9. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2016.10.017
- De Vos AE, Pijnenborg GH, Aleman A, Van Der Meer L. Implicit and explicit self-related processing in relation to insight in patients with schizophrenia. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry* (2015) 20:311–29. doi:10.1080/13546805.2015.1040151
- Goel V, Vartanian O. Dissociating the roles of right ventral lateral and dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex in generation and maintenance of hypotheses in setshift problems. *Cereb Cortex* (2005) 15(8):1170–7. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhh217
- Vartanian O, Goel V. Task constraints modulate activation in right ventral lateral prefrontal cortex. *Neuroimage* (2005) 27:927–33. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2005.05.016
- Warman DM, Lysaker PH, Martin JM. Cognitive insight and psychotic disorder: the impact of active delusions. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 90:325–33. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2006.09.011
- Sim K, Chan YH, Chua TH, Mahendran R, Chong SA, McGorry P. Physical comorbidity, insight, quality of life and global functioning in first episode schizophrenia: a 24-month, longitudinal outcome study. *Schizophr Res* (2006) 88(1–3):82–9. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2006.07.004
- Ubukata S, Miyata J, Yoshizumi M, Uwatoko T, Hirao K, Fujiwara H, et al. Regional gray matter reduction correlates with subjective quality of life in schizophrenia. *J Psychiatr Res* (2013) 47(4):548–54. doi:10.1016/j. jpsychires.2013.01.002

- Hwang SS, Lee JY, Cho SJ, Lee DW, Kim YS, Jung HY. The model of the relationships among the predictors of quality of life in chronic stage of schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 33(7):1113–8. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2009.06.006
- 63. Tomida K, Takahashi N, Saito S, Maeno N, Iwamoto K, Yoshida K, et al. Relationship of psychopathological symptoms and cognitive function to subjective quality of life in patients with chronic schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2010) 64(1):62–9. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2009.02033.x
- Okamoto M, Dan I. Automated cortical projection of head-surface locations for transcranial functional brain mapping. *Neuroimage* (2005) 26:18–28. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.01.018

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Pu, Nakagome, Itakura, Ohtachi, Iwata, Nagata and Kaneko. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Cognitive Function and Monoamine Neurotransmission in Schizophrenia: Evidence From Positron Emission Tomography Studies

#### Harumasa Takano\*

Department of Clinical Neuroimaging, Integrative Brain Imaging Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan

Positron emission tomography (PET) is a non-invasive imaging technique used to assess various brain functions, including cerebral blood flow, glucose metabolism, and neurotransmission, in the living human brain. In particular, neurotransmission mediated by the monoamine neurotransmitters dopamine, serotonin, and norepinephrine, has been extensively examined using PET probes, which specifically bind to the monoamine receptors and transporters. This useful tool has revealed the pathophysiology of various psychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia, and the mechanisms of action of psychotropic drugs. Because monoamines are implicated in various cognitive processes such as memory and executive functions, some PET studies have directly investigated the associations between monoamine neurotransmission and cognitive functions in healthy individuals and patients with psychiatric disorders. In this mini review, I discuss the findings of PET studies that investigated monoamine neurotransmission under resting conditions, specifically focusing on cognitive functions in patients with schizophrenia. With regard to the dopaminergic system, some studies have examined the association of dopamine D1 and D2/D3 receptors, dopamine transporters, and dopamine synthesis capacity with various cognitive functions in schizophrenia. With regard to the serotonergic system, 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A receptors have been studied in the context of cognitive functions in schizophrenia. Although relatively few PET studies have examined cognitive functions in patients with psychiatric disorders, these approaches can provide useful information on enhancing cognitive functions by administering drugs that modulate monoamine transmission. Moreover, another paradigm of techniques such as those exploring the release of neurotransmitters and further development of radiotracers for novel targets are warranted.

Keywords: cognitive function, schizophrenia, positron emission tomography, monoamine, dopamine, serotonin

## INTRODUCTION

Positron emission tomography (PET) is a non-invasive imaging technique used to assess various brain functions, including cerebral blood flow, glucose metabolism, and neurotransmission, in the living human brain. In particular, neurotransmission via the monoamine neurotransmitters dopamine, serotonin, and norepinephrine, has been extensively

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Jodi J. Weinstein, Stony Brook University, United States Yoshiro Okubo, Nippon Medical School, Japan

> \***Correspondence:** Harumasa Takano hrtakano@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 01 December 2017 Accepted: 09 May 2018 Published: 29 May 2018

#### Citation:

Takano H (2018) Cognitive Function and Monoamine Neurotransmission in Schizophrenia: Evidence From Positron Emission Tomography Studies. Front. Psychiatry 9:228. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00228

examined using PET probes, which specifically bind to the receptors, transporters, and other target molecules of these monoamines. PET provides various aspects of neurotransmission such as presynaptic and postsynaptic functions, along with anatomical information. This useful tool has revealed aspects of the pathophysiology of various psychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia, and the mechanisms of action of psychotropic drugs since monoamines are the primary targets for antipsychotic and antidepressant drugs (1). Specifically, the differences between patients and healthy controls, associations with symptomatology and psychopathology in patients, and receptor/transporter occupancy by psychotropic drugs have been reported, albeit the results have been inconsistent among studies. Since previous animal studies and human pharmacological studies have implicated monoamines in various cognitive functions, some PET studies have directly explored the associations between monoamine neurotransmission and cognitive functions in healthy individuals and patients with psychiatric disorders.

Schizophrenia, one of the most severe and complex psychiatric disorders, with a lifetime prevalence of approximately 1% worldwide, is characterized by psychosis (positive symptoms), negative symptoms, and cognitive dysfunction (2). In recent years, cognitive impairment has been considered a core feature of this disorder (3, 4), with the largest effect sizes reported in both verbal memory and executive function (5, 6). A number of functional neuroimaging studies that measured cerebral blood flow using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and PET have revealed a relationship between cognitive deficit and altered regional brain functions (5-9). However, not many studies have used PET to explore the relationship between monoamine neurotransmission and cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. In this mini review, I discuss the findings of monoamine PET studies, specifically focusing on neurocognitive functions in individuals with schizophrenia.

## PET TECHNIQUES FOR EVALUATION OF MONOAMINE TRANSMISSION

of the radiotracers used for Most neuroimagingbased quantification of receptors and transporters are pharmacologically antagonists that reversibly and specifically bind to these targets. The main outcome measure is the binding potential relative to the concentration of non-displaceable radiotracer in the brain  $(BP_{ND})$ , corresponding to the ratio of the density of receptors or transporters available to bind radiotracer in vivo (Bavail) to the dissociation constant of the radiotracer  $(K_D)$  (10, 11). The gold standard of kinetic analysis of brain PET measurements is a compartment analysis with arterial input function, which requires arterial blood sampling and metabolite analysis of the parent compound. However, simplified methods can be applied if a reference region that is devoid of the receptor/transporter, such as the cerebellum, is present. These simplified methods are less invasive and more suitable for clinical use. For this review, I have selected PET studies performed under resting conditions (mainly for unmedicated individuals), which evaluate receptor/transporter

**TABLE 1** | PET probes used for the measurement of central monoaminergic transmission.

Monoamine	Target	Name of PET probes
Dopamine	D1	[ <sup>11</sup> C]SCH23390, [ <sup>11</sup> C]NNC112
	D2/D3	[ <sup>11</sup> C]raclopride*, [ <sup>11</sup> C]FLB457*, [ <sup>18</sup> F]fallypride*
	Transporter	[ <sup>11</sup> C]CFT
	Synthesis	[ <sup>18</sup> F]DOPA, [ <sup>11</sup> C]DOPA
Serotonin	1A	[ <sup>11</sup> C]WAY100635
	2A	[ <sup>18</sup> F]altanserin
	Transporter	[ <sup>11</sup> C]DASB
Norepinephrine	Transporter	[ <sup>18</sup> F]FMeNER-D2

\*These probes can be used to measure dopamine release.

availability and neurotransmitter synthesis capacity. Single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) studies were not included because PET has a much higher sensitivity and spatial resolution than does SPECT, and more tracers have been developed for PET than for SPECT. The main PET tracers used for the measurement of central monoaminergic transmission are listed in **Table 1**. Some PET tracers have been reported to measure dopamine release, however, I did not include these challenge studies because my primary interest was to provide an overview of various monoamine transmissions in basic and simple conditions. A summary of studies that investigated both monoamine PET and cognitive functions in patients with schizophrenia and/or healthy subjects is listed in **Table 2**.

## DOPAMINE

Dopamine is the main neurotransmitter involved in the pathophysiology and treatment of schizophrenia (12). Dopamine pathways have been well illustrated by PET with different radiotracers (13) and these PET tracers have been used to elucidate various aspects of aberrant dopaminergic transmission in schizophrenia for review see (14–16).

## **D1 Receptors**

D1 receptors are densely localized in the striatum, and uniformly distributed in the neocortical regions (13). Evidence from animal and clinical research has suggested the presence of prefrontal dysfunctions in schizophrenia, and the D1 receptors in this brain region are considered to play crucial roles in various frontal lobe functions such as working memory (17–19).

Using the tracer  $[^{11}C]$ SCH23390, Okubo et al. showed that patients with schizophrenia had lower D1 availability in the prefrontal cortex (20). They examined 17 male patients with schizophrenia (10 antipsychotic-naïve and 7 antipsychotic-free) and 18 healthy male controls. Availability of the D1 receptor in the prefrontal cortex was negatively correlated with the severity of negative symptoms, and was also associated with poor performance on the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST), which assesses executive function and prefrontal function. In contrast, using the tracer  $[^{11}C]$ NNC112, Abi-Dargham et al. reported increased availability of the D1 receptor in the dorsolateral

TABLE 2	Summar	v of studies	that investigated b	oth monoamine PE	T and co	anitive functions	s in patients w	ith schizo	phrenia and/or h	ealthy subjects.
	O'di Ti Ti Ca	, 01 01000	and introotigatoa b			gradie de l'al locione	ni paaoino n	10110011120		ountry ounsjootor

Study	Year	Subjects	Cognitive tasks	PET probe	Findings
Okubo et al. (20)	1997	17 with Sch and 18 HV	WCST	[ <sup>11</sup> C]SCH23390	Reduced prefrontal D1RA was associated with poor WCST performance
Abi-Dargham et al. (21)	2002	16 with Sch and 16 HV	N-back	[ <sup>11</sup> C]NNC112	Increased prefrontal D1RA was associated with poor working memory
Takahashi et al. (22)	2008	23 HV	WCST, ROCFT, RAVLT	[ <sup>11</sup> C]SCH23390	An inverted U-shaped relationship between prefrontal D1RA and WCST performance
Hirvonen et al. (27)	2005	11 unaffected co-twins with Sch and 7 twin HV	WMS-R, CVLT	[ <sup>11</sup> C]raclopride	Higher D2RA in the caudate was associated with a poor performance on tasks related to schizophrenia vulnerability
Cervenka et al. (29)	2008	16 HV	Pair associative learning, delayed pattern recognition memory, word recognition, WAIS-R, category fluency	[ <sup>11</sup> C]raclopride	D2RA in the limbic striatum was related to episodic memory, D2RA in the associative and sensorimotor striatum showed associations with non-episodic tasks
Vyas et al. (35)	2017	25 with Sch and 19 HV	WCST, CVLT	[ <sup>18</sup> F]fallypride	In individuals with Sch, D2RA was negatively correlated with WCST and CVLT performance whereas positive correlation was observed in HV
Takahashi et al. (36)	2007	25 HV	RAVLT, ROCFT, WCST	[ <sup>11</sup> C]FLB457	Hippocampal D2RA was positively correlated with memory and also associated with frontal lobe functions
Yoder et al. (38)	2004	10 with Sch (most were medicated)	PANSS	[ <sup>11</sup> C]CFT	Striatal DAT availability was inversely correlated with scores on the cognitive subscale of PANSS
Velnaleken et al. (48)	2007	11 HV	CPT, Stroop, TMT, WCST	[ <sup>18</sup> F]DOPA	Positive correlations between DA synthesis capacity in the caudate nucleus, putamen, and midbrain with performance on TMT-B, CPT, and Stroop test
Meyer-Lindenberg et al. (41)	2002	6 with Sch and 6 HV	WCST	[ <sup>18</sup> F]DOPA	Decreased PFC activation measured with fMRI predicted exaggerated striatal DA synthesis capacity
McGowan et al. (49)	2004	16 medicated individuals with Sch and 12 HV	Stroop, VF, SDMT	[ <sup>18</sup> F]DOPA	Negative correlations between Stroop interference scores and DA synthesis capacity in the ACC in both individuals with Sch and HV
Howes et al. (43)	2009	24 prodromal individuals with Sch, 6 with Sch, and 12 HV	VF	[ <sup>18</sup> F]DOPA	Within the prodromal Sch group, performance on the semantic VF task was negatively correlated with striatal DA synthesis capacity
Yasuno et al. (58)	2003	16 HV	WMS-R	[ <sup>11</sup> C]WAY100635	Negative correlation between explicit memory function and 5-HT1ARA in hippocampus
Borg et al. (59)	2006	24 HV	Claeson–Dahl Learning and Memory Test, CPT, spatial working memory test, ROCFT, controlled oral assessment, WCST	[ <sup>11</sup> C]WAY100635	No correlation between performance on any of the cognitive tests and 5-HT1ARA in the raphe, hippocampus, and neocortex
Penttila et al. (60)	2016	24 HV	WCST, WMS-R	[ <sup>11</sup> C]WAY100635	Global 5-HT1ARA was positively correlated with verbal memory
Rasmussen et al. (61)	2010	30 with Sch and 30 HV	Spatial working memory, Stockings of Cambridge, Intra-Extradimensional set-shifting, rapid visual information processing	[ <sup>18</sup> F]altanserin	No correlation between neurocognitive measures and 5-HT2ARA in any region
Madsen et al. (63)	2011	32 HV	Stroop, TMT, RAVLT, ROCFT, Intelligenz-Struktur-Test 2000 R	[ <sup>11</sup> C]DASB	Positive associations between 5-HTT availability and Stroop test performance and logical reasoning. No association between 5-HTT availability and memory

Sch, schizophrenia; HV, healthy volunteer; RA, receptor availability; WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test; ROCFT, Rey-Osterrieth's Complex Figure Test; RAVLT, Rey's Auditory Verbal Learning Test; WMS-R, Wechsler Memory Scale-Revised; CVLT, California Verbal Learning Test; WAIS-R, Wechsler Adult Intelligent Scale-Revised; DLPFC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; DAT, dopamine transporter; CPT, Continuous Performance Test; TMT, Trail Making Test; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging; VF, verbal fluency; SDMT, Symbol-Digit Modality Test; ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; 5-HT1A, 5-hydroxytryptamine 1A; 5-HT2A, 5-hydroxytryptamine 2A; 5-HTT, 5-hydroxytryptamine transporter.

prefrontal cortex of 16 untreated patients with schizophrenia (7 antipsychotic-naïve and 9 antipsychotic-free) compared to that in 16 healthy subjects (21). The increased availability was related to n-back task performance, which represents working memory. The discrepancy in these results could arise owing to difference

in the background of patients (age, sex, and prior exposure to antipsychotics) and the different tracers used. Additionally, the results of a study by Takahashi et al. provide a potential explanation for this discrepancy. Using [ $^{11}$ C]SCH23390 PET in healthy subjects, they found a U-shaped relationship between

prefrontal D1 receptor availability and the performance on the WCST, indicating that too little or too much D1 receptor stimulation hampers working memory or set shifting (22, 23), which was also hypothesized from the results of animal studies (18, 19).

## **D2/D3 Receptors**

The striatum, which has dense dopamine innervation, is usually imaged using a moderate-affinity PET probe such as [<sup>11</sup>C]raclopride, and extrastriatal regions with very low levels of D2/D3 receptors, including the cortex, limbic regions, and thalamus, are imaged by high-affinity PET probes such as [<sup>11</sup>C]FLB457 and [<sup>18</sup>F]fallypride (**Table 1**). All these tracers are benzamide derivatives and antagonistically bind to both D2 and D3 receptors.

Dopamine D2 receptors are the primary target of currently available antipsychotic drugs owing to their potential to block these receptors (1, 2). Accordingly, several PET studies have investigated dopamine D2 receptors in schizophrenia beginning from the 1980's. However, previous reviews and meta-analyses PET and SPECT studies showed no difference or a small elevation in striatal D2/D3 receptor availability in unmedicated patients with schizophrenia compared to that in healthy controls under resting conditions (15, 24-26); however, the elevation was not evident in drug-naïve patients (26). Among these studies, a few evaluated cognitive functions because most studies focused on the psychopathology, particularly positive symptoms; therefore, less attention was given to cognitive impairment involving striatal dopamine D2 receptors in schizophrenia. Using PET and [<sup>11</sup>C]raclopride, Hirvonen and colleagues (27) examined 6 monozygotic and 5 dizygotic unaffected co-twins of patients with schizophrenia and 4 monozygotic and 3 dizygotic healthy control twins. They found that dopamine D2 receptor availability in the caudate was upregulated in unaffected monozygotic co-twins, and this upregulation was associated with poor performance on cognitive tasks such as a part of the Wechsler Memory Scale-Revised and the California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT).

The striatum can be divided into three functional subdivisions: the limbic, associative, and sensorimotor striatum (28). In healthy subject, using  $[^{11}C]$ raclopride PET, Cervenka et al. found a distinct pattern of correlations among the striatal subregions; D2 receptor availability in the limbic striatum was related to performance on episodic memory, while that in the associative and sensorimotor striatum showed associations to non-episodic tasks (29).

With regard to extrastriatal D2/D3 receptors, significant differences in their availability between schizophrenia and healthy controls have been reported particularly in the thalamus (30–33); a meta-analysis found the summary effect size for thalamic D2/D3 availability was d = -0.32, however, did not reach significance (34). In a very recent comprehensive study, Vyas et al. used [<sup>18</sup>F]fallypride to evaluate executive dysfunction and memory impairment in patients with schizophrenia (35). Twenty medication-naïve and 5 drug-free patients with schizophrenia underwent the WCST and CVLT. Patients with schizophrenia showed negative or low correlations between D2/D3 receptor availability and WCST performance, while

healthy subjects showed positive correlations, suggesting better performance with higher D2/D3 receptor availability; the difference was marked in the thalamus. Similarly, patients showed negative or very low correlations between D2/D3 receptor availability in the fronto-striatal-thalamic regions and performance on the CVLT, while healthy subjects showed a positive correlation. In another study in healthy subjects, Takahashi et al. reported a relationship between hippocampal dopamine D2 receptors and not only memory but also frontal functions such as executive functions and verbal fluency (36).

## **Dopamine Transporter (DAT)**

The majority of molecular imaging studies investigating striatal DAT availability failed to find any significant differences between healthy controls and untreated patients with schizophrenia (15), and this finding was supported by the results of recent metaanalyses that included PET and SPECT studies (26, 37). One study showed that schizophrenia patients with tardive dyskinesia had lower DAT availability than schizophrenia patients without tardive dyskinesia, and that striatal DAT availability was correlated with the severity of negative symptoms, and cognitive and depression/anxiety scores on the positive and negative syndrome scale (38). However, most of the subjects in the study were medicated and the medication effect needs to be considered. In addition, no MRI scans were available for all patients, and positive and negative syndrome scale scores were not assessed for some patients. To the best of my knowledge, measures of cognitive functions were not evaluated in any other PET studies on DAT in schizophrenia.

## L-DOPA Uptake (Dopamine Synthesis Capacity)

The endogenous dopamine synthesis rate is commonly measured using 6-[<sup>18</sup>F]fluoro-L-DOPA or L-[ $\beta$ -<sup>11</sup>C]DOPA, two radioactive analogs of the dopamine precursor L-DOPA, which are indicative of dopamine synthesis capacity in presynaptic terminals (13, 16). In schizophrenia compared to healthy controls, increased dopamine synthesis capacity has been consistently shown in the majority of previous studies (39–46) (for review see (15, 16)) and recent meta-analyses confirmed the findings with large effect sizes (26, 47).

In a study investigating the association between human cognitive function and dopamine synthesis capacity, Velnaleken et al. (48) found significant positive correlations in healthy subjects between the dopamine synthesis capacity in the striatum and performance on the trail-making test-B, continuous performance test, and Stroop test. In one study with unmedicated schizophrenia patients (41), PET with [<sup>18</sup>F]DOPA and [<sup>15</sup>O]H<sub>2</sub>O (which measures cerebral blood flow) revealed that patients with schizophrenia had higher dopamine synthesis capacity in the striatum than healthy controls did, indicating exaggerated presynaptic dopamine function. In patients with schizophrenia, the increase in cerebral blood flow in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex during the WCST task was tightly coupled with striatal dopamine synthesis capacity; this relationship was not found in healthy controls. In another study, [<sup>18</sup>F]DOPA PET in patients with schizophrenia on antipsychotic medication revealed that the dopamine synthesis capacity in the dorsal anterior cingulate was correlated with performance on the Stroop Color-Word Test (49).

During the manifestation of prodromal symptoms of schizophrenia before the onset of psychosis, patients showed elevated striatal dopamine synthesis capacity in the associative striatum (43). In that study, the at-risk mental state group showed a negative correlation between the dopamine synthesis capacity in the associative striatum and the performance on the semantic verbal fluency task, i.e., greater elevation in synthesis was associated with fewer correct responses and a similar negative correlation was observed for phonologic verbal fluency.

## SEROTONIN (5-HYDROXYTRYPTAMINE, 5-HT)

In the human brain, the serotonergic system has 14 diverse receptor subtypes and transporters (50). Because of the availability of suitable radiotracers, extensive PET studies have been performed to investigate the availability of 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A receptors and the 5-HT transporter in various neuropsychiatric disorders. These receptors and transporters are of interest because they are main targets of pharmacotherapy via psychotropic drugs (51, 52). However, the number of imaging studies investigating the central serotonergic system in schizophrenia is limited (53).

#### **5-HT1A Receptors**

5-HT1A receptors are widely distributed in the hippocampal regions, insula, neocortical regions, and dorsal raphe nucleus (54). In addition, because the 5-HT1A receptor modulates the entire serotonin system, it is one of the most important 5-HT receptor subtypes (55). Several lines of evidence from animal studies and pharmacological studies indicate that the 5-HT1A receptor plays an important role in cognitive function and is a promising target for the treatment of cognitive and affective symptoms in neuropsychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia (51, 52, 55).

Thus far, four studies have examined 5-HT1A availability in schizophrenia, using the same PET tracer [ $^{11}$ C]WAY100635. One study reported an increase in 5-HT1A availability in the medial temporal cortex of schizophrenia patients (56), whereas another reported a decrease in the amygdala (57); the remaining two reported no difference in 5-HT1A availability between schizophrenia patients and healthy controls, although a metaanalysis of postmortem studies found an elevation in prefrontal 5-HT1A in schizophrenia (53).

With regard to cognitive function in healthy subjects, Yasuno et al. found a negative correlation between explicit memory function and 5-HT1A receptor availability in the hippocampus (58), while Borg et al., who performed [<sup>11</sup>C]WAY100635 PET and used the same simplified reference model, found no correlation between regional 5-HT1A receptor availability in the raphe nuclei, hippocampus, and neocortex and various domains of cognitive performance (55, 59). However, a recent study by Penttila et al. found that global 5-HT1A receptor binding,

measured with the gold standard method based on kinetic modeling using arterial blood samples, was positively correlated with measures of verbal memory in healthy subjects (60). To date, no 5-HT1A PET data have been reported for patients with schizophrenia in relation to cognitive function.

## 5-HT2A Receptor

A large body of evidence from postmortem and pharmacological studies suggests that 5-HT2A receptors play an important role in schizophrenia and cognition (51, 52). A meta-analysis of postmortem studies found a reduction in prefrontal 5-HT2A receptors in patients with schizophrenia (53). However, only a few PET studies have been performed on first-episode antipsychotic-naïve patients with schizophrenia, and their results are inconsistent (53). In a recent study with the largest sample size to date, a total of 30 patients with schizophrenia and matched healthy controls underwent [<sup>18</sup>F]altanserin PET scans, which are highly selective for 5-HT2A receptors (61). Patients with schizophrenia showed lower 5-HT2A availability in the frontal cortex than healthy controls did. However, no correlations were found between 5-HT2A availability and cognitive functions such as working memory, attention, and executive functions, suggesting that 5-HT2A receptors are not involved in cognitive dysfunction, at least in the early stage of schizophrenia.

## Serotonin Transporter (5-HTT)

A previous PET study with the 5-HTT-selective tracer [ $^{11}$ C]DASB found no significant difference in 5-HTT availability between patients with schizophrenia and healthy control subjects, and no correlation between 5-HTT availability and schizophrenia symptoms (62). In contrast, another [ $^{11}$ C]DASB PET study with healthy subjects found that 5-HTT availability in the fronto-striatal regions was associated with better performance on executive function and logical reasoning (63). To date, however, no PET studies have investigated the association between 5-HTT availability and cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia.

## **Other Serotonergic System**

PET probes for 5-HT1B, 5HT4, 5-HT6, and 5-HT synthesis have been successfully used for human brain imaging (50); however, to date, no clinical studies have used these probes for imaging of the brains of patients with schizophrenia.

## NOREPINEPHRINE

The central norepinephrine system plays crucial roles in arousal and concentration, and the norepinephrine transporter is a target in pharmacotherapy for depression and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Despite this, few PET probes have been developed for norepinephrine transporter (NET) imaging (64). To date, there have been no reports of PET imaging of the NET in patients with schizophrenia.

## DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

PET provides a direct way of investigating the neurotransmission and neurobiology of schizophrenia. Numerous PET studies have revealed differences between the brains of patients with schizophrenia and those of healthy controls, and the association of these brain changes with symptom scales, suggesting the underpinnings of the pathophysiology of this disorder. As reviewed above, however, only a limited number of PET studies have directly investigated the relationship between cognitive dysfunctions, assessed using neuropsychological tests, and monoamine transmission in vivo, and found significant associations between them. Consequently, dysregulated striatal dopamine synthesis capacity, and prefrontal D1 receptor and extrastriatal D2/D3 receptor availability might be at least partly indicative of cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. However, studies are scarce and not systematic: differences in radiotracers used, methods of quantification, neurocognitive tests employed, and patient characteristics (such as phase of the illness, prior exposure to antipsychotics, age, and sex) could be confounders. This scarcity and lack of systematic approaches occurs largely because it is difficult to recruit many patients with unmedicated schizophrenia; therefore, multi-site studies with common protocols are needed. Moreover, different approaches such as measuring endogenous release of transmitters rather than focusing only on baseline receptor availability, could be useful for precise evaluation of neurotransmission (65, 66). In summary, pharmacological challenge techniques such as that with amphetamine and dopamine depletion using <sup>[11</sup>C]raclopride, which reflect presynaptic dopamine function, have been well replicated to detect dysregulated dopamine neurotransmission as a pathophysiology of schizophrenia (14, 67). Another approach is to measure changes in receptor binding of a radiotracer while performing a cognitive task as it accurately reflects the amount of neurotransmitter released

#### REFERENCES

- Zipursky RB, Meyer JH, Verhoeff NP. PET and SPECT imaging in psychiatric disorders. *Can J Psychiatry* (2007) 52:146–57. doi: 10.1177/070674370705200303
- van Os J, Kapur S. Schizophrenia. Lancet (2009) 374:635–45. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60995-8
- Fioravanti M, Carlone O, Vitale B, Cinti ME, Clare L. A meta-analysis of cognitive deficits in adults with a diagnosis of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychol Rev.* (2005) 15:73–95. doi: 10.1007/s11065-005-6254-9
- Szoke A, Trandafir A, Dupont ME, Meary A, Schurhoff F, Leboyer M. Longitudinal studies of cognition in schizophrenia: meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry (2008) 192:248–57. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.106.029009
- Reichenberg A, Harvey PD. Neuropsychological impairments in schizophrenia: integration of performance-based and brain imaging findings. *Psychol Bull.* (2007) 133:833–58. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.5.833
- Kircher TT, Thienel R. Functional brain imaging of symptoms and cognition in schizophrenia. *Prog Brain Res.* (2005) 150:299–308. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(05)50022-0
- Ragland JD, Laird AR, Ranganath C, Blumenfeld RS, Gonzales SM, Glahn DC. Prefrontal activation deficits during episodic memory in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2009) 166:863–74. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.08091307

during the task (68-70). Furthermore using agonist tracers such as [<sup>11</sup>C]-(+)-PHNO and [<sup>11</sup>C]MNPA, that can be more sensitive to endogenous transmitters, might help detect high affinity states of dopamine D2 receptors that could be more responsible for the pathophysiology based on a hypothesis from in vitro studies (71). Although studies on 5-HT1A receptors and 5-HT2A receptors have not demonstrated their involvement in cognition in schizophrenia, newer serotonergic targets, such as 5-HT4, might potentially be associated with cognitive functions (50). Regarding the norepinephrine system, one study reported a relationship between attention function and NET availability in patients with depression (72), which might be applicable to some patients with schizophrenia. Moreover, other neurotransmitter systems such as glutaminergic or cholinergic systems might also be involved in cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. Further development of optimal PET tracers and new techniques to measure more precise neurotransmission in human PET imaging will also provide new insights to the neurobiology of cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

#### FUNDING

HT has received grants from Biogen Japan, Eli Lilly Japan, Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim, Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma, Meiji Seika Pharma, Nihon Medi-Physics, Janssen Pharmaceutical, Tanabe Mitsubishi Pharma, and Mochida Pharmaceutical, and speaker's honoraria from Biogen Japan within the past 3 years. HT has also Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (16K10235) from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

- Minzenberg MJ, Laird AR, Thelen S, Carter CS, Glahn DC. Meta-analysis of 41 functional neuroimaging studies of executive function in schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2009) 66:811–22. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.91
- Carter CS, Barch DM. Imaging biomarkers for treatment development for impaired cognition: report of the sixth CNTRICS meeting: biomarkers recommended for further development. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:26–33. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr109
- Ito H, Naganawa M, Seki C, Takano H, Kanno I, Suhara T. Quantification of Neuroreceptors and Neurotransporters. In: Gründer G, editor. *Molecular Imaging in the Clinical Neurosciences*. 71. New York, NY: Springer (2012). p. 149–61.
- Innis RB, Cunningham VJ, Delforge J, Fujita M, Gjedde A, Gunn RN, et al. Consensus nomenclature for *in vivo* imaging of reversibly binding radioligands. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* (2007) 27:1533–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600493
- Howes OD, Kapur S. The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: version III-the final common pathway. *Schizophr Bull.* (2009) 35:549–62.doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp006
- Ito H, Takahashi H, Arakawa R, Takano H, Suhara T. Normal database of dopaminergic neurotransmission system in human brain measured by positron emission tomography. *Neuroimage* (2008) 39:555–65.doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.09.011

- Weinstein JJ, Chohan MO, Slifstein M, Kegeles LS, Moore H, Abi-Dargham A. Pathway-specific dopamine abnormalities in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 81:31–42. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.03.2104
- Dean B. Neurochemistry of schizophrenia: the contribution of neuroimaging postmortem pathology and neurochemistry in schizophrenia. *Curr Top Med Chem.* (2012) 12:2375–92. doi: 10.2174/1568026128052 89935
- Brunelin J, Fecteau S, Suaud-Chagny MF. Abnormal striatal dopamine transmission in schizophrenia. *Curr Med Chem.* (2013) 20: 397–404.
- Goldman-Rakic PS, Selemon LD. Functional and anatomical aspects of prefrontal pathology in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1997) 23:437–58. doi: 10.1093/schbul/23.3.437
- Goldman-Rakic PS, Muly EC III, Williams GV. D1 receptors in prefrontal cells and circuits. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev.* (2000) 31:295–301. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(99)00045-4
- Seamans JK, Yang CR. The principal features and mechanisms of dopamine modulation in the prefrontal cortex. *Prog Neurobiol.* (2004) 74:1–58. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2004.05.006
- Okubo Y, Suhara T, Suzuki K, Kobayashi K, Inoue O, Terasaki O, et al. Decreased prefrontal dopamine D1 receptors in schizophrenia revealed by PET. *Nature* (1997) 385:634–6. doi: 10.1038/385634a0
- Abi-Dargham A, Mawlawi O, Lombardo I, Gil R, Martinez D, Huang Y, et al. Prefrontal dopamine D1 receptors and working memory in schizophrenia. J Neurosci. (2002) 22:3708–19. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-09-03708.2002
- Takahashi H, Kato M, Takano H, Arakawa R, Okumura M, Otsuka T, et al. Differential contributions of prefrontal and hippocampal dopamine D1 and D2 receptors in human cognitive functions. *J Neurosci.* (2008) 28:12032–8. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3446-08.2008
- Takahashi H. PET neuroimaging of extrastriatal dopamine receptors and prefrontal cortex functions. J Physiol Paris (2013) 107:503–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jphysparis.2013.07.001
- 24. Salavati B, Rajji TK, Price R, Sun Y, Graff-Guerrero A, Daskalakis ZJ. Imagingbased neurochemistry in schizophrenia: a systematic review and implications for dysfunctional long-term potentiation. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) **41**:44–56. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu132
- Laruelle M. Imaging dopamine transmission in schizophrenia. A review and meta-analysis. Q J Nucl Med. (1998) 42:211–21.
- Howes OD, Kambeitz J, Kim E, Stahl D, Slifstein M, Abi-Dargham A, et al. The nature of dopamine dysfunction in schizophrenia and what this means for treatment. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2012) 69:776–86. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2012.169
- Hirvonen J, van Erp TG, Huttunen J, Aalto S, Nagren K, Huttunen M, et al. Increased caudate dopamine D2 receptor availability as a genetic marker for schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2005) 62:371–8. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.4.371
- Mawlawi O, Martinez D, Slifstein M, Broft A, Chatterjee R, Hwang DR, et al. Imaging human mesolimbic dopamine transmission with positron emission tomography: I. Accuracy and precision of D2 receptor parameter measurements in ventral striatum. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* (2001) 21:1034– 57. doi: 10.1097/00004647-200109000-00002
- Cervenka S, Backman L, Cselenyi Z, Halldin C, Farde L. Associations between dopamine D2-receptor binding and cognitive performance indicate functional compartmentalization of the human striatum. *Neuroimage* (2008) 40:1287–95. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.12.063
- Yasuno F, Suhara T, Okubo Y, Sudo Y, Inoue M, Ichimiya T, et al. Low dopamine D2 receptor binding in subregions of the thalamus in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2004) 161:1016–22. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.6.1016
- Kessler RM, Woodward ND, Riccardi P, Li R, Ansari MS, Anderson S, et al. Dopamine D2 receptor levels in striatum, thalamus, substantia nigra, limbic regions, and cortex in schizophrenic subjects. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 65:1024–31. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.12.029
- Takahashi H, Higuchi M, Suhara T. The role of extrastriatal dopamine D2 receptors in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 59:919–28. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.01.022
- Lehrer DS, Christian BT, Kirbas C, Chiang M, Sidhu S, Short H, et al. <sup>18</sup>F-fallypride binding potential in patients with schizophrenia

compared to healthy controls. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) **122**:43–52. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.03.043

- Kambeitz J, Abi-Dargham A, Kapur S, Howes OD. Alterations in cortical and extrastriatal subcortical dopamine function in schizophrenia: systematic review and meta-analysis of imaging studies. *Br J Psychiatry* (2014) 204:420–9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.113.132308
- 35. Vyas NS, Buchsbaum MS, Lehrer DS, Merrill BM, DeCastro A, Doninger NA, et al. D2/D3 dopamine receptor binding with [<sup>18</sup>F]fallypride correlates of executive function in medication-naive patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) **192**:442–56. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.05.017
- 36. Takahashi H, Kato M, Hayashi M, Okubo Y, Takano A, Ito H, et al. Memory and frontal lobe functions; possible relations with dopamine D2 receptors in the hippocampus. *Neuroimage* (2007) 34:1643–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.11.008
- Fusar-Poli P, Meyer-Lindenberg A. Striatal presynaptic dopamine in schizophrenia, Part I: meta-analysis of dopamine active transporter (DAT) density. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:22–32. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr111
- Yoder KK, Hutchins GD, Morris ED, Brashear A, Wang C, Shekhar A. Dopamine transporter density in schizophrenic subjects with and without tardive dyskinesia. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 71:371–5. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.03.015
- Hietala J, Syvalahti E, Vuorio K, Rakkolainen V, Bergman J, Haaparanta M, et al. Presynaptic dopamine function in striatum of neuroleptic-naive schizophrenic patients. *Lancet* (1995) 346:1130–1. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)91801-9
- Lindstrom LH, Gefvert O, Hagberg G, Lundberg T, Bergstrom M, Hartvig P, et al. Increased dopamine synthesis rate in medial prefrontal cortex and striatum in schizophrenia indicated by L-(beta-<sup>11</sup>C) DOPA and PET. *Biol Psychiatry* (1999) 46:681–8. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00109-2
- Meyer-Lindenberg A, Miletich RS, Kohn PD, Esposito G, Carson RE, Quarantelli M, et al. Reduced prefrontal activity predicts exaggerated striatal dopaminergic function in schizophrenia. *Nat Neurosci.* (2002) 5:267–71. doi: 10.1038/nn804
- Nozaki S, Kato M, Takano H, Ito H, Takahashi H, Arakawa R, et al. Regional dopamine synthesis in patients with schizophrenia using L-[beta-<sup>11</sup>C]DOPA PET. Schizophr Res. (2009) 108:78–84. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008. 11.006
- Howes OD, Montgomery AJ, Asselin MC, Murray RM, Valli I, Tabraham P, et al. Elevated striatal dopamine function linked to prodromal signs of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2009) 66:13–20. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2008.514
- 44. Kumakura Y, Cumming P, Vernaleken I, Buchholz H-G, Siessmeier T, Heinz A, et al. Elevated [<sup>18</sup>F]fluorodopamine turnover in brain of patients with schizophrenia: an [<sup>18</sup>F]fluorodopa/positron emission tomography study. J Neurosci. (2007) 27:8080–7. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0805-07.2007
- Dao-Castellana MH, Paillere-Martinot ML, Hantraye P, Attar-Levy D, Remy P, Crouzel C, et al. Presynaptic dopaminergic function in the striatum of schizophrenic patients. *Schizophr Res.* (1997) 23:167–74. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(96)00102-8
- Elkashef AM, Doudet D, Bryant T, Cohen RM, Li SH, Wyatt RJ. 6- <sup>18</sup>F-DOPA PET study in patients with schizophrenia. Positron emission tomography. *Psychiatry Res.* (2000) 100:1–11. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4927(00)0 0064-0
- Fusar-Poli P, Meyer-Lindenberg A. Striatal presynaptic dopamine in schizophrenia, part II: meta-analysis of <sup>[18</sup>F/<sup>11</sup>C]-DOPA PET studies. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:33–42. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr180
- Vernaleken I, Buchholz HG, Kumakura Y, Siessmeier T, Stoeter P, Bartenstein P, et al. 'Prefrontal' cognitive performance of healthy subjects positively correlates with cerebral FDOPA influx: an exploratory [18F]fluoro-L-DOPA-PET investigation. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2007) 28:931–9. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20325
- McGowan S, Lawrence AD, Sales T, Quested D, Grasby P. Presynaptic dopaminergic dysfunction in schizophrenia: a positron emission tomographic [<sup>18</sup>F]fluorodopa study. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2004) 61:134–42. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.61.2.134
- Paterson LM, Kornum BR, Nutt DJ, Pike VW, Knudsen GM. 5-HT radioligands for human brain imaging with PET and SPECT. *Med Res Rev.* (2013) 33:54–111. doi: 10.1002/med.20245
- Roth BL, Hanizavareh SM, Blum AE. Serotonin receptors represent highly favorable molecular targets for cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia and other disorders. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2004) 174:17–24. doi: 10.1007/s00213-003-1683-8
- Meltzer HY, Li Z, Kaneda Y, Ichikawa J. Serotonin receptors: their key role in drugs to treat schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 27:1159–72. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2003.09.010
- 53. Selvaraj S, Arnone D, Cappai A, Howes O. Alterations in the serotonin system in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of postmortem and molecular imaging studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 45:233–45. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.06.005
- 54. Takano H, Ito H, Takahashi H, Arakawa R, Okumura M, Kodaka F, et al. Serotonergic neurotransmission in the living human brain: a positron emission tomography study using [<sup>11</sup>C]DASB and [<sup>11</sup>C]WAY100635 in young healthy men. *Synapse* (2010) 65:624–33. doi: 10.1002/syn.20883
- Borg J. Molecular imaging of the 5-HT1A receptor in relation to human cognition. *Behav Brain Res.* (2008) 195:103–11. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008. 06.011
- Tauscher J, Kapur S, Verhoeff NP, Hussey DF, Daskalakis ZJ, Tauscher-Wisniewski S, et al. Brain serotonin 5-HT1A receptor binding in schizophrenia measured by positron emission tomography and [<sup>11</sup>C]WAY-100635. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2002) 59:514–20. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.59.6.514
- Yasuno F, Suhara T, Ichimiya T, Takano A, Ando T, Okubo Y. Decreased 5-HT1A receptor binding in amygdala of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 55:439–44. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2003.11.016
- Yasuno F, Suhara T, Nakayama T, Ichimiya T, Okubo Y, Takano A, et al. Inhibitory effect of hippocampal 5-HT1A receptors on human explicit memory. *Am J Psychiatry* (2003) 160:334–40. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.16 0.2.334
- Borg J, Andree B, Lundberg J, Halldin C, Farde L. Search for correlations between serotonin 5-HT1A receptor expression and cognitive functions– a strategy in translational psychopharmacology. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2006) 185:389–94. doi: 10.1007/s00213-006-0329-z
- Penttila J, Hirvonen J, Tuominen L, Lumme V, Ilonen T, Nagren K, et al. Verbal memory and 5-HT1A receptors in healthy volunteers-a PET study with [carbonyl-<sup>11</sup>C]WAY-100635. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2016) 26:570–7. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.12.028
- Rasmussen H, Erritzoe D, Andersen R, Ebdrup BH, Aggernaes B, Oranje B, et al. Decreased frontal serotonin2A receptor binding in antipsychotic-naive patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2010) 67:9–16. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.176
- Frankle WG, Narendran R, Huang Y, Hwang DR, Lombardo I, Cangiano C, et al. Serotonin transporter availability in patients with schizophrenia: a positron emission tomography imaging study with [<sup>11</sup>C]DASB. *Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 57:1510–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.02.028

- Madsen K, Erritzoe D, Mortensen EL, Gade A, Madsen J, Baare W, et al. Cognitive function is related to fronto-striatal serotonin transporter levels–a brain PET study in young healthy subjects. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2011) 213:573–81. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-1926-4
- Schou M, Pike VW, Halldin C. Development of radioligands for imaging of brain norepinephrine transporters *in vivo* with positron emission tomography. *Curr Top Med Chem.* (2007) 7:1806–16. doi: 10.2174/156802607782507411
- Laruelle M. Imaging synaptic neurotransmission with *in vivo* binding competition techniques: a critical review. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2000) 20:423–51. doi: 10.1097/00004647-200003000-00001
- Paterson LM, Tyacke RJ, Nutt DJ, Knudsen GM. Measuring endogenous 5-HT release by emission tomography: promises and pitfalls. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2010) 30:1682–706. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2010.104
- Slifstein M, Abi-Dargham A. Recent developments in molecular brain imaging of neuropsychiatric disorders. *Semin Nucl Med.* (2017) 47:54–63. doi: 10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2016.09.002
- Aalto S, Bruck A, Laine M, Nagren K, Rinne JO. Frontal and temporal dopamine release during working memory and attention tasks in healthy humans: a positron emission tomography study using the high-affinity dopamine D2 receptor ligand [<sup>11</sup>C]FLB 457. *J Neurosci.* (2005) 25:2471–7. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2097-04.2005
- Badgaiyan RD, Wack D. Evidence of dopaminergic processing of executive inhibition. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e28075. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028075
- Mizrahi R, Addington J, Rusjan PM, Suridjan I, Ng A, Boileau I, et al. Increased stress-induced dopamine release in psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 71:561–7. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.10.009
- Seeman P. Schizophrenia and dopamine receptors. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2013) 23:999–1009. doi: 10.1016/ j.euroneuro.2013.06.005
- Moriguchi S, Yamada M, Takano H, Nagashima T, Takahata K, Yokokawa K, et al. Norepinephrine transporter in major depressive disorder: a PET study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2016):appiajp201615101334. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.15101334

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Takano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Electrophysiological Evidence in Schizophrenia in Relation to Treatment Response

Kazuki Sueyoshi and Tomiki Sumiyoshi\*

Department of Preventive Intervention for Psychiatric Disorders, National Institute of Mental Health, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Kodaira, Japan

Several domains of cognitive function, e.g., verbal memory, information processing, fluency, attention, and executive function are impaired in patients with schizophrenia. Cognitive impairments in schizophrenia have attracted interests as a treatment target, because they are considered to greatly affect functional outcome. Electrophysiological markers, including electroencephalogram (EEG), particularly, event-related potentials, have contributed to psychiatric research and clinical practice. In this review, we provide a summary of studies relating electrophysiological findings to cognitive performance in schizophrenia. Electrophysiological indices may provide an objective marker of cognitive processes, contributing to the development of effective interventions to improve cognitive and social outcomes. Further efforts to understand biological mechanisms of cognitive disturbances, and develop effective therapeutics are warranted.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Roumen Kirov, Institute of Neurobiology (BAS), Bulgaria

#### Reviewed by:

Kesong Hu, DePauw University, United States Atsuhito Toyomaki, Hokkaido University, Japan

> \*Correspondence: Tomiki Sumiyoshi sumiyot@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 11 January 2018 Accepted: 25 May 2018 Published: 13 June 2018

#### Citation:

Sueyoshi K and Sumiyoshi T (2018) Electrophysiological Evidence in Schizophrenia in Relation to Treatment Response. Front. Psychiatry 9:259. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00259 Keywords: electroencephalogram, event related potentials, LORETA, cognition, schizophrenia

## INTRODUCTION

Cognitive impairments are considered as a fundamental feature of schizophrenia (1). Patients with the illness present disturbances across several cognitive domains, such as executive function, some types of memory, attention, fluency, and information processing/speed (2, 3). Cognitive function predicts social function more accurately than psychotic symptoms, and has been drawing attention as target of treatment (4, 5).

The Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia (MATRICS) Consensus Cognitive Battery (MCCB) (6) and the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS) (7) have been developed to evaluate disturbances of cognitive function in schizophrenia. Also, as an interview-based multidimensional assessment tool of social function, the Specific Level of Functioning Scale (SLOF) has been implemented (8). In fact, social functioning, as measured by the SLOF, has been shown to be correlated with cognitive function, as measured by the BACS in patients with schizophrenia (9).

There is evidence for the role of electrophysiological measures as an objective marker of neuropsychological performance (10-13). In fact, electrophysiological responses generally precede behavior-based cognitive performances, and are also useful to predict treatment outcome regarding cognitive disturbances (10, 14, 15). This paper provides selective reviews of studies on the relationships among cognitive function, electrophysiological findings, and treatment response in patients with schizophrenia.

37

# ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL EVIDENCE IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

## Spontaneous Electroencephalogram (EEG)

In general, functional neuroimaging techniques measuring blood flow and metabolism, such as functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), positron emission tomography (PET), and Single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) may not directly differentiate between activation and inhibition of a specific brain region (16). On the other hand, EEG consists of components of electrical activities that are inhibitory (e.g., slow "delta" frequencies), excitatory (e.g., fast "beta" frequencies) or steady-state (mid-range "theta" and "alpha" frequencies) in nature (16). Also, EEG has an advantage in terms of time resolution compared to other techniques to evaluate brain functions.

Imaging of electrophysiological activity, such as EEG, is feasible and cost-effective. For example, Pascual-Marqui et al. developed the low-resolution brain electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) (16), which is a source localization analytic estimator. The purpose of current source localization is to overcome the volume conductance problem in EEG analyses and cope with the reference confounding effects (16). Neuroleptic-naïve patients with first-episode schizophrenia have been reported to demonstrate hyperactivity of delta band in the frontal-prefrontal area and hypoactivity of middle range band (theta and alpha) in the left temporal parietal area by means of LORETA (16). These findings support the concept that cognitive disturbances of schizophrenia area generated by inhibition of frontal and left temporal areas (17).

Functional deviations of frontal lobes are reflected by disturbances of executive function and working memory in schizophrenia (18, 19). In fact, a meta-analysis of studies using fMRI and PET reports reduced activation in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex during executive functioning task performance in patients with schizophrenia (18). The dysfunction related to auditory verbal hallucinations (20) is consistent with the role for the left temporal lobe in auditory perception and language processing (21, 22).

Inhibited activities of the left temporal area in schizophrenia are also demonstrated by using PET (23). Further, dysfunction of fronto-temporal connectivity has been reported in schizophrenia (24), consistent with Fletcher et al. suggesting the role for this anatomical complex in the psychopathology of schizophrenia (17). Accordingly, an fMRI study reported the relation of fronto-temporal connectivity with cognitive functions, including working memory (25). The reduction of blood flow and metabolism in the frontal and left temporal areas in schizophrenia was supported by Pascual-Marqui et al. (16) who found inhibition of electrical activities in these brain regions.

On the other hand, there is a report that mid-fast band frequencies were not altered in medicated-free patients with schizophrenia (26), although delta band activities were increased. In this line, an increase in the delta activity was noted in frontal areas, left inferior temporal gyrus, and parahippocampal gyrus of neuroleptic-naïve patients with schizophrenia, as revealed by LORETA (27).

## **Event-Related Potentials**

Event-related potentials (ERPs) are linked in time with physical and mental events, and are typically extracted from the scalp-recorded EEG by means of signal averaging (28). ERP components, such as P50, mismatch negativity (MMN), and P300, provide neural activities associated with sensory-perceptual and cognitive events in the order of milli-seconds (29). P50 and MMN reflects attention-independent (pre-attentive) automatic information processes, while P300 has been used as a measure of attentive information processes (30).

P50 is a pre-attentional component recorded about 50 ms after the presentation of an auditory stimulus in the conditioningtesting paradigm. Its amplitude is suppressed when a second click sound is presented 500 ms after an initial click (31). The P50 suppression is thought to reflect a sensory gating mechanism aimed at protecting against information overload (32). A metaanalysis study has reported robust P50 suppression deficits in schizophrenia (33). Specifically, deficits of P50 suppression have been linked to poor performance on tests of cognitive domains, such as attention (34–36), working memory (11, 36), processing speed (11, 34), and executive function (35). These associations suggest that impaired P50 sensory gating provides a targets of interventions to alleviate cognitive disturbances of schizophrenia (11).

MMN is typically recorded in the condition where a subject is instructed to divert attention from stimuli generated by the auditory oddball task (37). MMN is generated when a stimulus violates the invariance or regularity of the recent auditory past. For example, MMN is recorded when an deviant stimulus that differs in frequency, duration, intensity, or location is presented among repeatedly presented standard stimuli (38). MMN is considered to provide an index of (1) auditory sensory or echoic memory, and (2) context-dependent information processing at the level of the primary and secondary auditory cortices (38). Parameters of MMN, e.g., amplitudes and latencies, are thought to reflect the first step in a chain of events leading to the conscious detection of differences between auditory stimuli and variance in the auditory environment (38).

Reduction of MMN amplitudes in patients with schizophrenia shows a large effect size as demonstrated by meta-analysis (38). Specifically, patients with chronic schizophrenia show a decrease in MMN current density in the right medial frontal gyrus, right cingulate gyrus, and right paracentral lobule (39). Altered MMN amplitudes have been associated with impairment of cognitive functions, such as attention (12, 40, 41), processing speed (41, 42), verbal learning (40, 43), verbal fluency (44), and executive function (42). Also, its amplitudes have been linked to functional outcomes (45-47). Overall, pre-attentive information processes serve as a gateway to higher cognitive and psychosocial functioning (12). Further, the ability of MMN to reflect functional outcomes have been reported to be better than those of behaviorbased cognitive performances and social cognition (15). These considerations further support the utility of MMN as a marker of treatment effects on social functioning.

P300 is typically recorded when a subject is required to pay attention to infrequent stimuli in an auditory oddball task (48). Amplitudes of P300 waveforms, thought to reflect cognitive processes such as directed attention and the contextual updating of working memory (31), are reduced, and the latency of P300 are delayed in patient with schizophrenia (33). Altered P300 activities have been reported to correlate with clinical symptoms of schizophrenia (37). By means of LORETA, current sources of P300 were estimated to reside in the bilateral medial frontal and medial parietal cortex, bilateral superior temporal gyrus, right temporo-parietal junction, and left lateral prefrontal cortex (37).

P300 amplitudes have been shown to positively correlate with performance on tests of verbal learning (49), organization and discriminability of memory (13), attention (50), verbal fluency (49), and executive function (49). Also, prolonged latency of P300 has been associated with performance on tests of verbal learning (13) and verbal fluency (51). It is important that these domains of cognition are related with functional capacity and real-world functions (9, 52). Further, a correlation has been reported between P300 amplitudes and functional capacity (53). These considerations support the potential utility of P300 as a biomarker to predict treatment response (53).

# ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES DURING TREATMENT

## **Spontaneous EEG**

Using above-mentioned electrophysiological markers, some studies have reported the effect of treatment on cognitive disturbances of schizophrenia. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation produced the following changes in patients with schizophrenia (54); (1) an increase in delta band activities in bilateral anterior cingulate gyrus, (2) a decrease in beta-1 and beta-3 band in the middle temporal lobe ipsilateral to the site of stimulation, and (3) an increase in beta-2 band in the middle temporal lobule on the right side. In the same study (54), brain metabolism using <sup>18</sup>FDG-PET was simultaneously measured. While the change of current density of beta bands activities was in accordance with the PET findings, that of delta band was not correlated with brain metabolism (54).

## **ERPs**

Using traditional ERP methods, some authors have investigated the effect of atypical antipsychotic drugs on cognitive function in schizophrenia. As to P50 suppression, treatment with quetiapine of antipsychotic-naïve first-episode patients improved the sensory gating deficits (55). In addition, some atypical antipsychotics, such as clozapine (56, 57) and risperidone (58), showed efficacy for the recovery of P50 suppression.

In treatment studies for the deficits of MMN in schizophrenia, aripiprazole has been reported to increase MMN amplitudes (59). On the other hand, other atypical antipsychotic drugs, such as clozapine (60), risperidone (61), and olanzapine (62) have been shown not to affect MMN amplitudes. Further study on the ability of medication to alleviate altered MMN parameters in the illness is warranted.

In the P300 study, a controlled double-blind trial investigated the effect of clozapine or haloperidol on ERPs, including P300 and MMN, in chronic schizophrenia (60). Treatment with clozapine, but not haloperidol was associated with an increase in P300 amplitudes (60). In another study, clozapine similarly increased P300 amplitudes, and also enhanced performance on working memory tasks (63). On the other hand, the effect of olanzapine on P300 has not been consistent (62, 64–66). Perospirone did not significantly affect P300 in schizophrenia (67).

Using three dimensional images of current density of ERPs in the brain, we reported the ability of treatment with olanzapine for 6 months to enhance P300 current density in the left STG, yielding a distribution pattern of the current density similar to that in healthy control subjects (68). A later study confirmed treatment with olanzapine was associated with increase of P300 current source density in the left STG (69). Importantly, the degree of increase of P300 in the left STG was positively correlated with improvement in negative symptoms and verbal learning memory, while improvement of quality of life was associated with an increase of P300 in the left prefrontal cortex (69). On the other hand, treatment with perospirone was found to improve P300 current density in the left prefrontal cortex, which was related with improvement of daily-living skills, as measured by the script task (70). These findings suggest LORETA imaging of P300 is a useful indicator of treatment response in some aspects of the psychopathology and functional outcomes of schizophrenia.

## **CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS**

Early intervention into schizophrenia and related conditions has been suggested to improve the prognosis of patients. Accordingly, shorter duration of untreated psychosis has been associated with better long term outcomes (71). Electrophysiological measures may be useful to evaluate the risk for developing psychosis. For example, P300 amplitudes are reduced in the prodromal stage (72, 73). Specifically, treatment with perospirone in an ultra-high risk case immediately before the onset of schizophrenia was shown to "normalize" cognitive function and social outcomes 3 years later. Importantly these neuropsychological and clinical events were preceded by improvement of P300 amplitudes (14). Also, MMN amplitudes have been shown to identify high-risk individuals who later develop overt schizophrenia (44, 74). Taken together, electrophysiological indices may provide a sensitive marker to evaluate treatment effects, including those related to cognitive function, and in some cases, predict the risk of psychosis.

## CONCLUSIONS

In this review, we have provided a summary of studies relating electrophysiological findings to cognitive performance in schizophrenia. Electrophysiological indices may provide an objective marker of cognitive processes, contributing to the development of effective treatment of cognitive and social outcomes. Further efforts to understand electrophysiological mechanisms of cognitive disturbances, and develop effective therapeutics are warranted.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

#### REFERENCES

- Keefe RS, Fenton WS. How should DSM-V criteria for schizophrenia include cognitive impairment? *Schizophr Bull.* (2007) 33:912–20. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm046
- Meltzer HY, Sumiyoshi T. Atypical antipsychotic drugs improve cognition in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 53:265–7. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01790-0
- Sumiyoshi T, Meltzer H. Pharmacological strategy for enhancement of social function and quality of life in patients with schizophrenia: considerations of the effect of melperone, an atypical antipsychotic drug, on cognitive function. *Seishin Igaku (Clinical Psychiatry)* (2003) 45:1279–84. doi: 10.11477/mf.1405100748
- Harvey PD. Pharmacological cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia. Neuropsychol Rev. (2009) 19:324–35. doi: 10.1007/s11065-009-9103-4
- Wykes T, Huddy V, Cellard C, McGurk SR, Czobor P. A metaanalysis of cognitive remediation for schizophrenia: methodology and effect sizes. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168:472–85. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010. 10060855
- Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Kern RS, Baade LE, Barch DM, Cohen JD, et al. The MATRICS consensus cognitive battery, part 1: test selection, reliability, and validity. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165:203–13. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07010042
- Keefe RSE, Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Gold JM, Poe MP, Coughenour L. The brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: reliability, sensitivity, and comparison with a standard neurocognitive battery. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 68:283–97. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2003.09.011
- 8. Schneider LC, Struening EL. SLOF: a behavioral rating scale for assessing the mentally ill. *Soc Work Res Abst.* (1983) 19:9–21.
- 9. Sumiyoshi T, Nishida K, Niimura H, Toyomaki A, Morimoto T, Tani M, et al. Cognitive insight and functional outcome in schizophrenia; a multicenter collaborative study with the specific level of functioning scale-Japanese version. *Schizophr Res Cogn.* (2016) 6:9–14. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2016.08.001
- Sumiyoshi T, Higuchi Y, Uehara T. Neural basis for the ability of atypical antipsychotic drugs to improve cognition in schizophrenia. Front Behav Neurosci. (2013) 7:140. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2013.00140
- Hamilton HK, Williams TJ, Ventura J, Jasperse LJ, Owens EM, Miller GA, et al. Clinical and cognitive significance of auditory sensory processing deficits in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2018) 175:275–83. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.16111203
- Rissling AJ, Park SH, Young JW, Rissling MB, Sugar CA, Sprock J, et al. Demand and modality of directed attention modulate "pre-attentive" sensory processes in schizophrenia patients and nonpsychiatric controls. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 146:326–35. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.01.035
- Shajahan PM, O'Carroll RE, Glabus MF, Ebmeier KP, Blackwood DHR. Correlation of auditory 'oddball' P300 with verbal memory deficits in schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (1997) 27:579–86.
- Higuchi Y, Sumiyoshi T, Ito T, Suzuki M. Perospirone normalized P300 and cognitive function in a case of early psychosis. *J Clin Psychopharmacol.* (2013) 33:263–6. doi: 10.1097/JCP.0b013e318287c527
- Lee SH, Sung K, Lee KS, Moon E, Kim CG. Mismatch negativity is a stronger indicator of functional outcomes than neurocognition or theory of mind in patients with schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 48:213–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.10.010

## FUNDING

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: Part of this work is supported by Intramural Research Grant for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders of NCNP (29-1, 30-1, 30-8), Japan Society for the Promotion of Science Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) No 17K10321, and AMED under Grant Number 18dk0307081.

- Pascual-Marqui RD, Lehmann D, Koenig T, Kochi K, Merlo MC, Hell D, et al. Low resolution brain electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) functional imaging in acute, neuroleptic-naive, first-episode, productive schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (1999) 90:169–79.
- Fletcher P, McKenna PJ, Friston KJ, Frith CD, Dolan RJ. Abnormal cingulate modulation of fronto-temporal connectivity in schizophrenia. *Neuroimage* (1999) 9:337–42. doi: 10.1006/nimg.1998.0411
- Minzenberg MJ, Laird AR, Thelen S, Carter CS, Glahn DC. Meta-analysis of 41 functional neuroimaging studies of executive function in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2009) 66:811–22. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.91
- Forbes NF, Carrick LA, McIntosh AM, Lawrie SM. Working memory in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2009) 39:889–905. doi: 10.1017/s0033291708004558
- Cui Y, Liu B, Song M, Lipnicki DM, Li J, Xie S, et al. Auditory verbal hallucinations are related to cortical thinning in the left middle temporal gyrus of patients with schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (2018) 48:115–22. doi: 10.1017/s0033291717001520
- Karnath HO. New insights into the functions of the superior temporal cortex. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2001) 2:568–76. doi: 10.1038/35086057
- Giraud AL, Kell C, Thierfelder C, Sterzer P, Russ MO, Preibisch C, et al. Contributions of sensory input, auditory search and verbal comprehension to cortical activity during speech processing. *Cereb Cortex* (2004) 14:247–55. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhg124
- Buchsbaum MS, Hazlett EA. Positron emission tomography studies of abnormal glucose metabolism in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1998) 24:343–64. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033331
- Ragland JD, Yoon J, Minzenberg MJ, Carter CS. Neuroimaging of cognitive disability in schizophrenia: search for a pathophysiological mechanism. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2007) 19:417–27. doi: 10.1080/09540260701 486365
- Cocchi L, Harding IH, Lord A, Pantelis C, Yucel M, Zalesky A. Disruption of structure-function coupling in the schizophrenia connectome. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2014) 4:779–87. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2014.05.004
- Mientus S, Gallinat J, Wuebben Y, Pascual-Marqui RD, Mulert C, Frick K, et al. Cortical hypoactivation during resting EEG in schizophrenics but not in depressives and schizotypal subjects as revealed by low resolution electromagnetic tomography (LORETA). *Psychiatry Res.* (2002) 116:95–111. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4927(02)00043-4
- Itoh T, Sumiyoshi T, Higuchi Y, Suzuki M, Kawasaki Y. LORETA analysis of three-dimensional distribution of delta band activity in schizophrenia: relation to negative symptoms. *Neurosci Res.* (2011) 70:442–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2011.05.003
- Picton TW, Bentin S, Berg P, Donchin E, Hillyard SA, Johnson R, Jr, et al. Guidelines for using human event-related potentials to study cognition: recording standards and publication criteria. *Psychophysiology* (2000) 37:127– 52. doi: 10.1111/1469-8986.3720127
- Rissling AJ, Makeig S, Braff DL, Light GA. Neurophysiologic markers of abnormal brain activity in schizophrenia. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2010) 12:572– 8. doi: 10.1007/s11920-010-0149-z
- Braff DL, Light GA. Preattentional and attentional cognitive deficits as targets for treating schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology* (2004) 174:75–85. doi: 10.1007/s00213-004-1848-0
- Turetsky BI, Calkins ME, Light GA, Olincy A, Radant AD, Swerdlow NR. Neurophysiological endophenotypes of schizophrenia: the viability

of selected candidate measures. *Schizophr Bull.* (2007) 33:69–94. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbl060

- Braff DL, Geyer MA. Sensorimotor gating and schizophrenia. Human and animal model studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1990) 47:181–8.
- Bramon E, Rabe-Hesketh S, Sham P, Murray RM, Frangou S. Meta-analysis of the P300 and P50 waveforms in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 70:315–29. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.01.004
- Erwin RJ, Turetsky BI, Moberg P, Gur RC, Gur RE. P50 abnormalities in schizophrenia: relationship to clinical and neuropsychological indices of attention. Schizophr Res. (1998) 33:157–67.
- Toyomaki A, Hashimoto N, Kako Y, Tomimatsu Y, Koyama T, Kusumi I. Different P50 sensory gating measures reflect different cognitive dysfunctions in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res Cogn.* (2015) 2:166–9. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2015.07.002
- Smith AK, Edgar JC, Huang M, Lu BY, Thoma RJ, Hanlon FM, et al. Cognitive abilities and 50- and 100-msec paired-click processes in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167:1264–75. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09071059
- Kawasaki Y, Sumiyoshi T, Higuchi Y, Ito T, Takeuchi M, Kurachi M. Voxel-based analysis of P300 electrophysiological topography associated with positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 94:164–71. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.04.015
- Umbricht D, Krljes S. Mismatch negativity in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Schizophr Res. (2005) 76:1–23. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.12.002
- 39. Takahashi H, Rissling AJ, Pascual-Marqui R, Kirihara K, Pela M, Sprock J, et al. Neural substrates of normal and impaired preattentive sensory discrimination in large cohorts of nonpsychiatric subjects and schizophrenia patients as indexed by MMN and P3a change detection responses. *Neuroimage* (2013) 66:594–603. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.09.074
- Kaur M, Battisti RA, Ward PB, Ahmed A, Hickie IB, Hermens DF. MMN/P3a deficits in first episode psychosis: comparing schizophreniaspectrum and affective-spectrum subgroups. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 130:203–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.03.025
- Hermens DF, Ward PB, Hodge MA, Kaur M, Naismith SL, Hickie IB. Impaired MMN/P3a complex in first-episode psychosis: cognitive and psychosocial associations. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 34:822–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.03.019
- Toyomaki A, Kusumi I, Matsuyama T, Kako Y, Ito K, Koyama T. Tone duration mismatch negativity deficits predict impairment of executive function in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 32:95–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2007.07.020
- Kawakubo Y, Kasai K, Kudo N, Rogers MA, Nakagome K, Itoh K, et al. Phonetic mismatch negativity predicts verbal memory deficits in schizophrenia. *Neuroreport* (2006) 17:1043–6. doi: 10.1097/01.wnr.0000221828.10846.ba
- 44. Higuchi Y, Sumiyoshi T, Seo T, Miyanishi T, Kawasaki Y, Suzuki M. Mismatch negativity and cognitive performance for the prediction of psychosis in subjects with at-risk mental state. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e54080. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054080
- 45. Friedman T, Sehatpour P, Dias E, Perrin M, Javitt DC. Differential relationships of mismatch negativity and visual p1 deficits to premorbid characteristics and functional outcome in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 71:521–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.10.037
- Kawakubo Y, Kasai K. Support for an association between mismatch negativity and social functioning in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 30:1367–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2006.03.003
- Light GA, Braff DL. Mismatch negativity deficits are associated with poor functioning in schizophrenia patients. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2005) 62:127–36. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.2.127
- Frank DW, Yee RB, Polich J. P3a from white noise. Int J Psychophysiol. (2012) 85:236–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2012.04.005
- Nieman DH, Koelman JH, Linszen DH, Bour LJ, Dingemans PM, Ongerboer de Visser BW. Clinical and neuropsychological correlates of the P300 in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2002) 55:105–13. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00184-0
- Heidrich A, Strik WK. Auditory P300 topography and neuropsychological test performance: evidence for left hemispheric dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (1997) 41:327–35. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(96)00030-3

- Souza VB, Muir WJ, Walker MT, Glabus MF, Roxborough HM, Sharp CW, et al. Auditory P300 event-related potentials and neuropsychological performance in schizophrenia and bipolar affective disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (1995) 37:300–10. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(94)00131-1
- 52. Higuchi Y, Sumiyoshi T, Seo T, Suga M, Takahashi T, Nishiyama S, et al. Associations between daily living skills, cognition, and real-world functioning across stages of schizophrenia; a study with the schizophrenia cognition rating scale japanese version. *Schizophr Res Cogn.* (2017) 7:13–8. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2017.01.001
- Turetsky BI, Dress EM, Braff DL, Calkins ME, Green MF, Greenwood TA, et al. The utility of P300 as a schizophrenia endophenotype and predictive biomarker: clinical and socio-demographic modulators in COGS-2. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 163:53–62. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.09.024
- Horacek J, Brunovsky M, Novak T, Skrdlantova L, Klirova M, Bubenikova-Valesova V, et al. Effect of low-frequency rTMS on electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) and regional brain metabolism (PET) in schizophrenia patients with auditory hallucinations. *Neuropsychobiology* (2007) 55:132–42. doi: 10.1159/000106055
- 55. Oranje B, Aggernaes B, Rasmussen H, Ebdrup BH, Glenthoj BY. P50 suppression and its neural generators in antipsychotic-naive first-episode schizophrenia before and after 6 months of quetiapine treatment. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:472–80. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr183
- Nagamoto HT, Adler LE, Hea RA, Griffith JM, McRae KA, Freedman R. Gating of auditory P50 in schizophrenics: unique effects of clozapine. *Biol Psychiatry* (1996) 40:181–8. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(95)00371-1
- Adler LE, Olincy A, Cawthra EM, McRae KA, Harris JG, Nagamoto HT, et al. Varied effects of atypical neuroleptics on P50 auditory gating in schizophrenia patients. *Am J Psychiatry* (2004) 161:1822–8. doi: 10.1176/ajp.161.10.1822
- Yee CM, Nuechterlein KH, Morris SE, White PM. P50 suppression in recentonset schizophrenia: clinical correlates and risperidone effects. J Abnorm Psychol (1998) 107:691–8.
- Zhou Z, Zhu H, Chen L. Effect of aripiprazole on mismatch negativity (MMN) in schizophrenia. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e52186. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052186
- Umbricht D, Javitt D, Novak G, Bates J, Pollack S, Lieberman J, et al. Effects of clozapine on auditory event-related potentials in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (1998) 44:716–25.
- Umbricht D, Javitt D, Novak G, Bates J, Pollack S, Lieberman J, et al. Effects of risperidone on auditory event-related potentials in schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (1999) 2:299–304. doi: 10.1017/s1461145799001595
- 62. Korostenskaja M, Dapsys K, Siurkute A, Maciulis V, Ruksenas O, Kahkonen S. Effects of olanzapine on auditory P300 and mismatch negativity (MMN) in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 29:543–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.01.019
- Galletly CA, Clark CR, McFarlane AC. Clozapine improves working memory updating in schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2005) 15:601–8. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2005.03.001
- Gallinat J, Riedel M, Juckel G, Sokullu S, Frodl T, Moukhtieva R, et al. P300 and symptom improvement in schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology* (2001) 158:55–65. doi: 10.1007/s002130100835
- Gonul AS, Suer C, Coburn K, Ozesmi C, Oguz A, Yilmaz A. Effects of olanzapine on auditory P300 in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 27:173–7. doi: 10.1016/S0278-5846(02)00349-4
- Molina V, Munoz F, Martin-Loeches M, Casado P, Hinojosa JA, Iglesias A. Long-term olanzapine treatment and p300 parameters in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychobiology* (2004) 50:182–8. doi: 10.1159/000079112
- Araki T, Kasai K, Rogers MA, Kato N, Iwanami A. The effect of perospirone on auditory P300 in schizophrenia: a preliminary study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 30:1083–90. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2006.04.009
- Sumiyoshi T, Higuchi Y, Kawasaki Y, Matsui M, Kato K, Yuuki H, et al. Electrical brain activity and response to olanzapine in schizophrenia: a study with LORETA images of P300. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 30:1299–303. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2006.04.028
- 69. Higuchi Y, Sumiyoshi T, Kawasaki Y, Matsui M, Arai H, Kurachi M. Electrophysiological basis for the ability of olanzapine to improve verbal memory and functional outcome in patients with schizophrenia:

a LORETA analysis of P300. *Schizophr Res.* (2008) 101:320–30. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.01.020

- Sumiyoshi T, Higuchi Y, Itoh T, Matsui M, Arai H, Suzuki M, et al. Effect of perospirone on P300 electrophysiological activity and social cognition in schizophrenia: a three-dimensional analysis with sloreta. *Psychiatry Res.* (2009) 172:180–3. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns. 2008.07.005
- 71. Woods SW, McGlashan TH, Walsh BC. *The Psychosis-Risk Syndrome Handbook for Diagnosis and Follow-Up.* New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2010).
- Ozgurdal S, Gudlowski Y, Witthaus H, Kawohl W, Uhl I, Hauser M, et al. Reduction of auditory event-related P300 amplitude in subjects with at-risk mental state for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2008) 105:272–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.05.017
- 73. Frommann I, Brinkmeyer J, Ruhrmann S, Hack E, Brockhaus-Dumke A, Bechdolf A, et al. Auditory P300 in individuals clinically at risk for psychosis.

Int J Psychophysiol. (2008) 70:192-205. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2008. 07.003

 Naatanen R, Shiga T, Asano S, Yabe H. Mismatch negativity (MMN) deficiency: a break-through biomarker in predicting psychosis onset. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2015) 95:338–44. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2014.12.012

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Sueyoshi and Sumiyoshi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Sensorimotor Gating in Depressed and Euthymic Patients with Bipolar Disorder: Analysis on Prepulse Inhibition of Acoustic Startle Response Stratified by Gender and State

Junko Matsuo, Miho Ota, Shinsuke Hidese, Toshiya Teraishi, Hiroaki Hori, Ikki Ishida, Moeko Hiraishi and Hiroshi Kunugi\*

Department of Mental Disorder Research, National Institute of Neuroscience, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Shuken Boku, Kobe University, Japan Yoji Hirano, Kyushu University, Japan

> \*Correspondence: Hiroshi Kunugi hkunugi@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 08 January 2018 Accepted: 23 March 2018 Published: 18 April 2018

#### Citation:

Matsuo J, Ota M, Hidese S, Teraishi T, Hori H, Ishida I, Hiraishi M and Kunugi H (2018) Sensorimotor Gating in Depressed and Euthymic Patients with Bipolar Disorder: Analysis on Prepulse Inhibition of Acoustic Startle Response Stratified by Gender and State. Front. Psychiatry 9:123. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00123 **Background:** Prepulse inhibition (PPI) of the acoustic startle reflex is an operational measure of sensorimotor gating. The findings on PPI deficits in bipolar disorder (BD) are inconsistent among studies due to various confounding factors such as gender. This study aimed to assess sensorimotor gating deficits in patients with BD stratified by gender and state (depressed/euthymic), and to explore related clinical variables.

**Methods:** Subjects were 106 non-manic BD patients (26 BD I and 80 BD II; 63 with depression and 43 euthymic) and 232 age-, gender-, and ethnicity-matched (Japanese) healthy controls. Depression severity was assessed using the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale-21. The electromyographic activity of the orbicularis oculi muscle was measured by a computerized startle reflex test unit. Startle magnitude, habituation, and PPI were compared among the three clinical groups: depressed BD, euthymic BD, and healthy controls. In a second analysis, patients were divided into four groups using the quartile PPI levels of controls of each gender, and a ratio of the low-PPI group (<1st quartile of controls) was compared. Effects of psychosis and medication status were examined by the Mann–Whitney *U* test. Clinical correlates such as medication dosage and depression severity with startle measurements were examined by Spearman's correlation.

**Results:** Male patients with depression, but not euthymic male patients, showed significantly lower PPI at a prepulse of 86 dB and 120 ms lead interval than did male controls. More than half of the male patients with depression showed low-PPI. In contrast, PPI in female patients did not differ from that in female controls in either the depressed or euthymic state. Female patients with active psychosis showed significantly lower PPI than those without psychosis. Female patients on typical antipsychotics had significantly lower PPI, than those without such medication. PPI showed a significant positive correlation with lamotrigine dosage in male patients and lithium dosage in female patients.

43

**Conclusion:** These findings suggest that sensorimotor gating is impaired in male BD patients with depression. However, we obtained no evidence for such abnormalities in female BD patients except for those with current psychosis. The observed associations between medication and startle measurements warrant further investigation.

Keywords: prepulse inhibition, bipolar disorder, habituation, depression, euthymic, gender difference, psychosis

## INTRODUCTION

Prepulse inhibition (PPI), an operational measure of sensorimotor gating, is defined as the attenuation of the startle reflex when the startle-eliciting stimulus—the pulse—is preceded by a weaker sensory stimulus—the prepulse (PP) (1). It is typically measured by electromyographic (EMG) recordings from the orbicularis oculi muscle and is a very robust function; it is conserved across many species (2). PPI deficits have been associated with multiple neuropsychiatric disorders characterized by inhibitory deficits in sensory, motor, and cognitive functions, including schizophrenia, psychotic mania, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and Tourette syndrome (3, 4). Our group demonstrated PPI deficits in Asian individuals with schizophrenia for the first time (5), and subsequently reported that PPI was impaired in female and male patients with schizophrenia using a large sample of single ethnicity patients and healthy individuals (Japanese) (6). Brain imaging studies have revealed common abnormalities in the cortico-striato-pallido-pontine and cortico-striatopallido-thalamic (CSPT) circuitries across these disorders; these circuits are considered to affect disease pathophysiology and PPI modulation (3, 7). Accumulating evidence from animal and human studies indicates that PPI is also modulated by top-down, higher-order cognitive regions, such as the hippocampus, medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), and basolateral amygdala (4, 8, 9). The amygdala, mPFC, and OFC, as well as the anterior cingulate gyrus and insula, have been consistently shown to be associated with emotional processing (10-12). These nuclei are dense in noradrenergic receptors and critical for the regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal and hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axes (13). Pharmacological studies in animal models of schizophrenia have also suggested the involvement of several neurotransmitter pathways, including dopaminergic, serotonergic, glutamatergic, and cholinergic pathways, in PPI deficiency (3, 14).

Prepulse inhibition deficits in patients with schizophrenia have been reported to be associated with positive symptoms (6,15–18), negative symptoms (15,18), disorganization symptoms (6), distractibility (19), thought disorder (20, 21), formal thought disorder and bizarre behavior (22), psychological discomfort (23), and general psychopathology (18, 24). A longitudinal study on patients with schizophrenia reported that PPI deficits in medicated patients were observed in acute illness, but not in an improved clinical state, which suggests that PPI deficits may be state dependent (22).

While PPI deficits in schizophrenia have been reported in many studies (3), little is known about gating differences in patients with BD (4), despite the occurrence of psychotic symptoms and cognitive impairments similar to schizophrenia patients (25, 26). Moreover, larger brain ventricle volumes and structural abnormalities in CSPT circuits have been detected in BD patients (27, 28). Genome-wide association studies (GWAS), human postmortem brain studies, and magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies have identified similar gene expression changes in glutamatergic neurotransmission and glutamate receptor (GluR) expression among patients with schizophrenia, BD, and major depressive disorder (MDD) (29-32). Since the glutamatergic N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDA) receptor antagonist, such as ketamine and phencyclidine, disrupt PPI (3), it is possible that the PPI may be impaired in BD. However, to our knowledge, there are only two studies that examined PPI in BD patients in manic states, and five studies in euthymic states, both with inconsistent findings. Perry et al. reported that PPI and habituation were exacerbated in acute psychotic mania, suggesting a possible association between PPI deficits, psychosis, and thought disturbance (33). A subsequent study by Carroll et al. failed to replicate these findings in manic and mixed episodic patients. Since almost all the patients in the latter study did not have psychosis (with only 1 exception), they concluded that acute psychosis might be necessary for the occurrence of BD-associated PPI deficits (34). In euthymic patients with BD, controversial results of both unimpaired (35, 36) and significantly lower PPI (37, 38) have been reported. Giakoumaki's study also found reduced PPI in unaffected siblings of BD patients, suggesting that such disruption may represent a trait deficit in BD. All the above studies were conducted with men and women included in the same group, although gender-related differences in PPI (men > women) have been well-replicated in healthy subjects (3, 39-42). It is known that women present fluctuations in PPI across the menstrual cycle, with the lowest PPI in the mid-luteal phase when ovarian hormones (estrogen and progesterone) are maximal (41, 43, 44). Thus, Gogos et al. examined PPI in euthymic patients with BD stratified by gender and reported sexually dimorphic differences: male patients showed reduced PPI, while female patients in the follicular phase had increased PPI compared to their healthy counterparts (45). No study has yet assessed the PPI in BD patients with depression and the association of PPI with depression severity. Thus, it is still unclear whether PPI deficits represent a state or trait feature of BD.

Prepulse inhibition in patients with MDD was generally considered unimpaired (46–48); however, Perry et al. (46) observed moderate effect size of difference (Cohen's d = 0.63) between patients with severe MDD and healthy controls. MRI examination of MDD patients revealed abnormalities in CSPT circuitry similar to those observed in patients with schizophrenia and BD (49–52), and two recent studies have found PPI deficits in MDD patients. One is ours reporting a significant negative correlation between PPI and depression severity in male, but not female, patients, suggesting that PPI impairment is state- rather than trait-dependence in male patients with MDD (53). The other

study found PPI deficits in women with postpartum depression compared to their non-depression counterparts, when effects of ovarian hormones were minimal in all subjects (54).

In addition to gender, there are other factors that may influence PPI, such as age (55–57), ethnicity (58), and smoking status (59–62). Ethnic differences in startle magnitude and PPI were reported between Caucasians and Asians, with Asians having lower startle magnitude and higher PPI compared to Caucasians (58, 63, 64). To control for these confounding factors, we matched for age, gender, smoking status, and ethnicity.

In this study, we examined the modulation of the startle reflex in non-manic BD patients with the following aims: (1) to investigate whether BD patients with depression show deficits in PPI, startle reactivity, and habituation compared to euthymic patients and healthy individuals, and (2) to examine whether such deficiencies, if any, are associated with symptoms and other clinical features. Data acquired from men and women were analyzed separately. Based on our previous findings of reduced PPI in male patients with MDD, we hypothesized that depressed patients with BD, especially men, may also present PPI deficits. Additionally, we hypothesized that PPI deficits, if any, may be associated with depression severity, the presence of current psychosis, and more severe psychopathology.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Subjects

Subjects included 338 volunteers, consisting of 106 non-manic BD patients (26 BD I and 80 BD II; 63 patients with depression and 43 euthymic patients, see definition below) and 232 healthy individuals (age: 18–64 years). Data from control subjects were age-, gender-, and ethnicity-matched (Japanese) with those acquired from BD patients. Participants were recruited for neurocognitive research studies between 2009 and 2017 at the National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry (NCNP), Tokyo, Japan, through notices posted in the NCNP Hospital, website announcements, and advertisements in a local free paper. Most healthy individuals used as controls overlapped with those from our previous studies (6, 53). The participants were either NCNP Hospital inpatients (14%) or outpatients from the NCNP Hospital or other local hospitals and clinics.

All subjects were interviewed by experienced psychiatrists using the Japanese version of the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (65, 66). Diagnoses were further confirmed through medical records and detailed interviews based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, text revision (DSM-IV-TR) (67). Individuals with a concurrent confirmed diagnosis of intellectual disability or organic brain disorder, ongoing thyroid gland malfunction, undergoing electroconvulsive therapy treatment or substance abuse history in the previous year were excluded from this study. Patients with concurrent psychiatric disorders, such as anxiety disorder, panic disorder, autism spectrum disorder (ASD), or attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder, were included in this study. Control subjects with a psychiatric history or family history of mental illness within second-degree relatives (schizophrenia, BD, and ASD) were excluded from this study. None of the subjects presented with hearing deficits as confirmed by audiometry (threshold: average hearing level of 500, 1,000, and 2,000 Hz to <40 dB). Premorbid intelligence quotient (IQ) was estimated from the Japanese Adult Reading Test scores (68) and only individuals with premorbid IQ  $\geq$  85 were included in this study.

The depression severity of subjects with BD was assessed using the 21-item version of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D21) (69). Manic symptoms of subjects with BD were assessed by the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) (70). Based on the definition of manic states, as determined by the International Society for Bipolar Disorders Task Force (71), those in a significant manic, hypomanic, or mixed state (i.e., YMRS score  $\geq$  8) were excluded. Subjects with BD were further categorized into either the depressed (HAM-D17  $\geq$  8 and YMRS < 8) or euthymic (HAM-D17 < 8 and YMRS < 8) group, according to the consensus definition for remission (72). A daily dose of antidepressants was calculated as imipramine equivalents, and antipsychotics as chlorpromazine equivalents in milligrams/day according to the published guidelines (73).

This study was conducted following the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki. The study design was reviewed and approved by the NCNP Ethics Committee. Written informed consent for participation in this study was obtained from every subject after the nature of the procedures had been fully explained.

#### Startle Reflex Measurement PPI Paradigm

The EMG activity of the orbicularis oculi muscle was measured by a computerized startle reflex test unit. All participants were requested to refrain from smoking at least 30 min prior to testing, based on a previous study reporting that the PPI-enhancing effect of smoking lasts only for a short period (less than 10 min) (61). The apparatus, procedures, stimuli, and PPI paradigm used have been described in detail elsewhere (5, 53). Briefly, each session consisted of three blocks with 70 dB background noise. Blocks 1 and 3 consisted of additional 115 dB pulse alone (PA; five times each) trials. Block 2 was a pseudo-randomized combination of the same PA together with PP trials under four conditions (lead interval, intensity: 60 ms, 86 dB; 60 ms, 90 dB; 120 ms, 86 dB; 120 ms, 90 dB; five times each). In total, 35 trials of startle reflex were carried out in one session, lasting for 15 min.

#### **Outcome Measures and Data Reduction**

Outcome measures for analysis were as follows: (1) mean PA startle reflex magnitude (digital unit) in block 1, defined as basic startle reflex (BSR), (2) startle reflex habituation (%), and (3) PPI (%) for each PP condition. Mean PPI calculation and habituation were performed as described elsewhere (5, 53). Non-responding subjects were excluded from any further analysis (n = 45; BSR < 0.05 digital unit). Therefore, viable habituation and PPI data were collected from 87 BD patients and 206 healthy controls (total n = 293).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Version 22.0 (SPSS Japan, Tokyo). Groups were compared based on demographic and clinical characteristics using independent Student's

t-tests or one-way analysis of variance for continuous variables and chi-squared test for categorical variables. Data from the left eye were selected for analysis because no sidedness was detected in any startle reflex measurements. According to the Shapiro-Wilk test, data from all startle measurements were not normally distributed (all p < 0.001); therefore, non-parametrical analyses were applied to these variables. We compared the startle measurements of three clinical groups (i.e., depressed BD, euthymic BD, and healthy control) with the Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by between-group comparisons with the Mann–Whitney U test. The findings were confirmed when patients with concurrent psychiatric disorders, such as anxiety disorder, panic disorder, ASD, and/or attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder, were excluded; therefore, they were retained in the analysis. Subjects were further subcategorized into four groups using the quartile PPI<sub>120ms 86dB</sub> levels of controls for each gender. Then, the incidence of the low-PPI (first quartile group) vs. high-PPI (second to fourth quartile groups) was compared between patients and controls by the chi-squared test and across the three clinical groups by the Fisher's exact test. Effects of active psychosis and medication status on habituation and PPI were examined by the Mann-Whitney U test. Spearman's rank correlation coefficients of habituation and PPI percentage with clinical variables were computed. Statistical significance was set at a two-tailed p < 0.05.

#### RESULTS

Demographic and clinical characteristics of the total subjects are presented in Table 1. Because of the a priori matching, the two diagnostic groups were similar concerning gender and age distribution. Education years, current smoker ratio, and estimated premorbid IQ were not significantly different between the diagnostic groups. However, when non-responders were excluded, age and premorbid IQ were significantly higher in male controls than male patients [t(77.1) = 2.018, p = 0.047 and t(104) = 2.068,p = 0.041, respectively] (Table S1 in Supplementary Material). Depression severity in responders was not significantly different between male and female patients either in the total [t(56.2) = 0.667, p = 0.508], depressed [t(53) = 1.560, p = 0.125]or euthymic group [t(30) = -0.543, p = 0.591]. Comparisons of startle reflex responses between the diagnostic groups and across the three clinical groups are shown in Figures 1 and 2, respectively, as well as in Table S2 in Supplementary Material. The same comparison was made excluding patients with concurrent psychiatric disorders, and the results are provided in Table S3 in Supplementary Material. The ratio of the number of individuals in the PPI quartile groups of depressed and euthymic patients is shown in Figure 3. Effects of active psychosis and medication status, and correlation of clinical variables with habituation and PPI are presented in Tables 2 and 3, respectively.

#### Startle Reflex and Habituation

Neither BSR magnitude nor habituation percentage significantly differed between the two diagnostic groups or among the three clinical groups. Neither BSR nor habituation correlated with the total HAM-D21 or YMRS, respectively. BSR negatively correlated with age in male patients ( $\rho = -0.481$ , p = 0.001), but significance

disappeared when non-responders were excluded ( $\rho = -0.270$ , p = 0.129). Female patients medicated with sodium valproate and/or atypical antipsychotics exhibited significantly lower habituation than did those without such medication. Habituation in female patients was significantly negatively correlated with lithium dosage ( $\rho = -0.570$ , p = 0.033). No other association with habituation was found.

#### **Prepulse Inhibition**

#### **Comparisons Between Clinical Groups**

Male patients showed significantly lower PPI than male controls at  $PPI_{120ms_{86dB}}$  (U = 913.0, p = 0.034); however, female patients did not show a significant difference from female controls at any PP condition. Stratified analysis across the three clinical groups detected significantly reduced PPI in depressed male patients compared to male controls at PPI<sub>120ms 86dB</sub> [ $\chi^2(2) = 6.456$ , p = 0.040], while there were no statistically significant differences between euthymic male patients and male controls or between euthymic and depressed male patients. PPI in female patients did not differ from that in female controls either in the depressed or the euthymic state. The results were virtually the same when we excluded patients with concurrent psychiatric disorders (Table S3 in Supplementary Material). When we examined the incidence of low-PPI (first quartile of controls) vs. high-PPI (second to fourth quartiles) across the three clinical groups, there was a significantly higher incidence of low-PPI among male patients with depression (55%) compared to their respective controls (p = 0.039; Figure 3; Table S2 in Supplementary Material). There was also a trend for a higher incidence of low-PPI in male patients with depression compared to euthymic male patients (p = 0.070).

#### Effects of Active Psychosis and Medication Status on PPI

Female patients with active psychosis showed significantly lower PPI than did those without psychosis. Female patients on typical antipsychotics had significantly lower PPI than those without such medication (**Table 2**).

#### **Correlation of Clinical Variables With PPI**

There was a trend for HAM-D21 total to correlate negatively with PPI in male ( $\rho = -0.309$ , p = 0.086 at PPI<sub>120ms\_86dB</sub>) and female patients ( $\rho = -0.253$ , p = 0.065 at PPI<sub>120ms\_90dB</sub>). YMRS score was not correlated with PPI. PPI was significantly positively correlated with lamotrigine dosage in male patients ( $\rho = 0.813$ , p = 0.002 at PPI<sub>120ms\_90dB</sub>), and lithium dosage in female patients ( $\rho = 0.691$ , p = 0.006 at PPI<sub>120ms\_86dB</sub>) (**Table 3**). No other association with PPI was found.

#### DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the largest PPI study in BD patients (n = 106), and the first study exploring PPI in BD patients with depression (n = 63). The large sample size enabled us to conduct the analyses stratified by gender and state (depressed/euthymic). This study aimed to clarify how a state (i.e., depressed/euthymic) is associated with PPI in non-manic BD patients. Our main

#### TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical data of the subjects stratified by gender (mean $\pm$ SD).

	В	Bipolar disorde	er	н	ealthy control	s		Statistical c	omparison
	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women
Gender ratio, N (%)ª	106	44 (42%)	62 (58%)	232	93 (40%)	139 (60%)	$x^{2}(l) = 0.061, p = 0.805$	_	_
Age (years)	39.3 ± 10.0	$40.5 \pm 9.9$	38.4 ± 10.2	41.6 ± 12.2	43.0 ± 13.1	40.7 ± 11.6	t(244.4) = 1.863, p = 0.064	t(109.1) = 1.232, p = 0.220	t(199) = 1.362, p = 0.175
Education (years)	15.1 ± 2.4	15.3 ± 2.1	14.6 ± 2.0	14.9 ± 2.1	15.7 ± 2.8	14.6 ± 2.1	t(336) = -0.739, p = 0.460	t(135) = -1.056, p = 0.293	t(199) = 0.018, p = 0.985
Current smoker, N (%) <sup>a,b</sup>	23 (22%)	14 (33%)	9 (15%)	46 (20%)	24 (26%)	22 (16%)	$x^{2}(l) = 0.179, p = 0.672$	$x^{2}(l) = 0.550, p = 0.458$	$x^{2}(l) = 0.045, p = 0.831$
Premorbid IQ <sup>c</sup>	$112 \pm 9$	$112 \pm 9$	$112 \pm 8$	$113 \pm 7$	$114 \pm 7$	$112 \pm 7$	t(330) = 0.530, p = 0.597	t(131) = 1.708, p = 0.090	t(197) = -0.764, p = 0.446
Range	85–126	88–125	85–126	92-127	92-127	93–124			
Clinical variables	Total	Men	Women	Men vs	. women				
Bipolar LN (%)ª	26 (25%)	9(21%)	17(27%)	$x^2(l) = 0.67$	4, $p = 0412$				
Inpatients, N (%) <sup>a,d</sup>	14(14%)	6(14%)	8(14%)	$x^{2}(l) = 0.00$	1, p = 0.972				
Age of onset (years)	$29.2 \pm 9.9$	30.8 ± 10.0	$28.0 \pm 9.7$	t(104) = 1.43	32, p = 0.155				
Duration of illness (years)	11.5 ± 8.1	11.2 ± 8.3	11.8 ± 8.1	t(104) = -0.	369, p = 713				
History of hospitalization, N (%) <sup>a,e</sup>	41 (40%)	18 (41%)	23 (40%)	$x^2(l) = 0.010$	6, p = 0.898				
Number of hospitalization <sup>e</sup>	0.95 ± 1.6	0.95 ± 1.5	0.95 ± 1.7	$t(100) = 0.0^{-1}$	19, <i>p</i> = 0.985				
Medication use									
Lithium use, N (%)ª	39 (37%)	23 (52%)	16(26%)	$x^{2}(l) = 7.752$	2, <b>p = 0.005</b>				
Valproic acid use, N (%) <sup>a</sup>	25 (24%)	8 (18%)	17 (27%)	$x^2(l) = 1.219$	9, p = 0.270				
Lamotrigine use, N (%) <sup>a</sup>	21 (20%)	13 (30%)	8 (13%)	$x^{2}(l) = 4.48$	7, <b>p</b> = 0.034				
Antidepressant use, N (%)ª	48 (45%)	24 (55%)	24 (39%)	$x^2(l) = 2.608$	5, $p = 0.107$				
Typical antipsychotics use, N (%) <sup>a</sup>	14(13%)	4 (9%)	10(16%)	$x^2(l) = 1.112$	2, p = 0.292				
Atypical antipsychotics use, N (%) <sup>a</sup>	42 (40%)	23 (52%)	19 (31%)	$x^2(l) = 5.032$	2, <b>p = 0.025</b>				
Anxiolytics/hypnotics use, N (%)ª	67 (63%)	31 (71%)	36 (58%)	$x^2(l) = 1.699$	9, <i>p</i> = 0.192				
Medication dosage (if any; mg/da	ay)								
Lithium	587 ± 276	552 ± 292	$638 \pm 253$	t(37) = -0.94	47, <i>p</i> = 0.350				
Sodium valproate	$476 \pm 260$	$450 \pm 302$	$488 \pm 247$	t(23) = -0.33	36, <i>p</i> = 0.740				
Lamotrigine	157 ± 62	$156 \pm 72$	159 ± 48	t(19) = -0.12	26, <i>p</i> = 0.901				
Antidepressant <sup>f</sup>	181 ± 138	192 ± 158	$169 \pm 116$	t(45) = 0.57	'9, <i>p</i> = 0.565				
Typical antipsychotics <sup>9</sup>	$24 \pm 22$	$35 \pm 36$	$20 \pm 16$	t(10) = 1.04	47, <i>p</i> = 0320				
Atypical antipsychotics <sup>g</sup>	$179 \pm 319$	$283 \pm 276$	$273 \pm 367$	t(42) = 0.09	95, <i>p</i> = 0.925				
Symptoms									
HAM-D21 total score	12.0 ± 8.4	12.2 ± 9.1	11.8 ± 8.0	t(104) = 0.24	42, <i>p</i> = 0.809				
YMRS total score <sup>h</sup>	1.7 ± 1.8	2.0 ± 1.7	1.5 ± 1.8	t(63) = 1.20	04, p = 0.233				

<sup>a</sup>Chi-square test was conducted.

<sup>b</sup>Information on current smoking status was missing in two (2%) patients and three (1%) controls.

Premorbid intelligence quotient (IQ) was estimated from the Japanese Adult Reading Test, which was administered on 100 (94%) subjects with bipolar disorder and all the control subjects.

<sup>d</sup>Information was missing in seven (7%) patients.

eInformation on the history of hospitalization was missing in four (4%) patients.

<sup>1</sup>Imipramine equivalent for those who received antidepressant medication.

<sup>g</sup>Chlorpromazine equivalent for those who received antipsychotic medication.

<sup>h</sup>Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) data for 19 (43%) male and 22 (35%) female patients were missing.

Statistical significance was set at a two-tailed p < 0.05. Bold figures represent significant p value.

HAM-D21, 21-item version of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; YMRS, Young Mania Rating Scale.

PPI in Depressed and Euthymic BD



(C) Prepulse inhibition (PPI) percentage at a prepulse of 120 ms at 86 dB. Bar indicates median. Habituation and PPI < 0% are shown as 0%. Between-group differences were examined by the Mann–Whitney U test. \*p < 0.05 uncorrected. HC, healthy control; BD, bipolar disorder.

findings are as follows. First, as hypothesized, male patients with BD, but not female patients, had significantly lower PPI than male controls at one of the PP conditions (PPI<sub>120ms\_86dB</sub>). More specifically, male patients with depression, but not euthymic male patients, had significantly lower PPI than male controls. More than half of the male patients with depression had low-PPI (< first quartile of male controls). In contrast, PPI in female patients did not differ from that in female controls, either in the depressed or the euthymic state. Female patients with active psychosis showed significantly lower PPI than those without psychosis. Female patients on typical antipsychotics had significantly lower PPI than those without such medication. PPI was significantly positively correlated with lamotrigine dosage in male patients and lithium dosage in female patients.

Few studies have investigated PPI in psychiatric disorders separately by gender and most reported that PPI deficits were found only in male patients, such as those with chronic schizophrenia (74), euthymic BD (45), and MDD (53). The present finding is in line with those studies but it contradicts with our previous study which found PPI deficits both in men and women with schizophrenia (6). The seemingly intact PPI in female BD in the present study is in line with the above report on euthymic BD by Gogos et al. (45), which tested female subjects who were all in the follicular phase and reported that PPI in female BD was significantly higher than that in female controls. Our study did not control the time of testing in the menstrual cycle; however, we have previously obtained similar results of seemingly intact PPI in female MDD and speculated that possible menstrual irregularity



in some female patients caused by psychotropic medication, insomnia, and psychological stress might have increased PPI in female patients (53). Future studies on women should be made in the follicular phase to minimize the effects of circulating ovarian hormones.

Our finding of impaired PPI in male BD patients with depression and seemingly intact PPI in euthymic males with BD suggests that PPI is state dependent in men with BD. We also found a trend for the HAM-D21 total to correlate negatively with PPI in male and female BD. However, since the number of euthymic male BD is limited (n = 13), the above finding may have the risk of type II error. Gogos et al. (45) reported the presence of PPI deficits in the euthymic male with BD; however, half of their male patients (10/18) had mild to severe depression and, therefore, may not be described as "euthymic" (45). Other studies which examined

PPI in euthymic BD in an equal mix of men and women found inconsistent results: two studies found normal PPI (35, 36), whereas the other two studies reported significant PPI deficits in euthymic BD (37, 38). A possible reason for such inconsistency may be that the latter two studies tested only patients with BD I, whereas there were only two euthymic and six depressed patients with BD I among the responders in our study. We conducted a sensitivity analysis excluding male patients with BD I and found that the results were virtually unchanged (median PPI<sub>120ms\_86dB</sub> was 66% in 11 euthymic male patients and 48% in 14 depressed male patients). Again, we found significant differences between depressed BD II patients and controls (U = 301.0, p = 0.009) and between depressed BD II patients and euthymic BD II patients (U = 36.0, p = 0.048), but no significant difference between euthymic BD II patients and controls, in men. Taken together, PPI in patients with BD II may be state dependent. To address this issue, further longitudinal studies are required.

Against our second hypothesis, we were unable to find a significant correlation between startle measurements (habituation and PPI) and variables related to the severity of psychopathology, such as the age of illness onset, duration of illness, and the number of hospitalization. Barret et al. found a significant correlation between PPI and these clinical variables, concluding



**FIGURE 3** | Ratio (%) of the PPI quartile groups in depressed and euthymic patients by gender. Patients were categorized into four groups using the PPI quartiles of healthy men and women. The incidence of the low-PPI (lowest quartile group) vs. high-PPI (second to fourth quartile groups) was compared across the three clinical groups by the Fisher's exact test. Statistical significance was set at a two-tailed p < 0.05. \*p < 0.05 against controls. PPI, prepulse inhibition.

that an early onset of illness has a detrimental effect on PPI levels (35). Gogos et al. also found a trend for a correlation between PPI and age of onset in male BD patients (45). Our finding that female BD patients with current psychosis had a significantly lower PPI than those without such psychosis is in line with the previous literature indicating the association of PPI deficits with the presence of psychosis and thought disorder (20, 33, 34). However, psychosis might not be a key determinant, considering that we were unable to find such an association in males.

Psychotropic medication may be a possible confounding factor that may have masked the direct association of depression with PPI. In the present study, we obtained tentative evidence of deteriorating effects of sodium valproate and/or atypical antipsychotics on habituation and typical antipsychotics on PPI in female patients. Some studies suggest that atypical antipsychotics may improve PPI deficits in schizophrenia (64); however, we were unable to find such an effect in BD patients. The imbalance in monoaminergic neurotransmission, changes in the activity of monoamine transporters, hyper- and hypo-dopaminergic function, and imbalance of excitatory/inhibitory neurotransmission by glutamate and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GAVA) systems have been posited as the neurobiological hypotheses of BD (30). In the present study, neither patients medicated with antipsychotics, antidepressants, nor mood stabilizers showed better PPI than those who were not medicated. On the other hand, we found a strong positive correlation of PPI with lamotrigine dosage in male and lithium in female patients. These findings may suggest

TABLE 2   Effects of acti	ive psychosis and	d medicatio	n use on ha	abituation	and PPI p	percentages	(median ±	SEM).					
	N		% Habit	uation			% PPI <sub>120n</sub>	ns_86dB			% PPI <sub>120ms_</sub>	90dB	
	Yes/no (%)	Yes	No	U	Р	Yes	No	U	Р	Yes	No	U	Р
Male patients ( $n = 33$ )													
Active psychosis <sup>a</sup>	5/28 (15%)	61 ± 8	57 ± 5	56.5	0.498	75 ± 32	59 ± 16	56.0	0.550	75 ± 50	79 ± 11	65.0	0.897
Medication use													
Lithium	17/16 (52%)	$58 \pm 5$	$57 \pm 6$	113.5	0.418	57 ± 26	64 ± 8	97.5	0.257	$63 \pm 21$	80 ± 7	111.0	0.533
Sodium valproate	6/27(18%)	55 ± 81	58 ± 5	71.0	0.641	57 ± 34	59 ± 16	59.0	0.659	$62 \pm 55$	79 ± 10	56.5	0.568
Lamotrigine	12/21 (36%)	$59 \pm 71$	$58 \pm 5$	124.5	0.955	68 ± 18	57 ± 20	91.5	0.341	$80 \pm 26$	64 ± 13	94.5	0.404
Antidepressants	21/12 (64%)	$58 \pm 51$	58 ± 5	113.5	0.640	59 ± 20	50 ± 17	104.0	0.648	82 ± 13	62 ± 25	86.0	0.241
Typical antipsychotics	3/30 (9%)	45 ± 18	$59 \pm 4$	17.5	0.085	59 ± 14	59 ± 16	30.0	0.382	83 ± 11	75 ± 13	27.0	0.317
Atypical antipsychotics	16/17 (48%)	$57 \pm 6$	$58 \pm 5$	130.5	0.843	$50 \pm 28$	64 ± 12	92.5	0.186	79 ± 17	75 ± 17	122	0.821
Anxiolytics/hypnotics	24/9 (73%)	57 ± 5	$59 \pm 6$	92.5	0.531	56 ± 19	83 ± 21	67.0	0.126	64 ± 12	83 ± 31	84.0	0.413
Female patients ( $n = 5$	i4)												
Active psychosis <sup>a</sup>	8/46 (15%)	65 ± 9	75 ± 4	152.0	0.436	25 ± 39	67 ± 8	94.5	0.029	$-19 \pm 100$	65 ± 10	103.0	0.048
Medication use													
Lithium	14/40 (26%)	67 ± 7	$74 \pm 4$	246.5	0.508	54 ± 20	67 ± 11	216.5	0.209	$31 \pm 41$	67 ± 21	238	0.401
Sodium valproate	15/39(28%)	44 ± 8	$76 \pm 4$	187.0	0.042	67 <u>+</u> 19	67 ± 11	267.5	0.628	44 ± 23	63 ± 24	249	0.395
Lamotrigine	6/48(11%)	67 ± 9	$74 \pm 4$	131.0	0.720	50 ± 14	67 ± 11	100.0	0.225	$-39 \pm 82$	62 ± 18	89.0	0.130
Antidepressants	19/35 (35%)	$70 \pm 7$	$73 \pm 4$	307.5	0.651	75 ± 13	57 ± 13	253.0	0.149	66 ± 14	46 ± 28	282.5	0.365
Typical antipsychotics	7/47 (13%)	$70 \pm 5$	$73 \pm 4$	154.0	0.787	50 ± 14	67 ± 11	120.5	0.256	$0 \pm 69$	67 ± 19	77.5	0.025
Atypical antipsychotics	16/38 (30%)	$61 \pm 7$	77 ± 4	190.5	0.031	71 ± 18	61 ± 11	263.5	0.442	$60 \pm 22$	56 ± 25	288	0.755
Anxiolytics/hypnotics	30/24 (56%)	$67 \pm 5$	78 ± 4	256.5	0.072	67 ± 12	63 ± 15	355.0	0.930	54 ± 22	$56 \pm 32$	352.0	0.889

<sup>a</sup>Active psychosis was defined as currently having either delusion of guilt, hypochondrias, or paranoia.

Group difference was examined with the Mann-Whitney U test.

Statistical significance was set at a two-tailed p < 0.05. p-Value was not corrected. Bold figures represent significant p value.

PPI120ms\_86dB, prepulse inhibition (PPI) at a prepuse 120 ms; 86 dB; PPI120ms\_90dB, PPI at a prepuse 120 ms, 90 dB.

#### TABLE 3 | Spearman's correlation of clinical variables with habituation and PPI percentages.

	Habit	tuation	PPI <sub>12</sub>	20ms_86dB	PPI <sub>120ms_90dB</sub>		
	ρ	p-Value	ρ	p-Value	ρ	<i>p</i> -Value	
Male patients ( $n = 33$ )							
Age	0.008	0.967	0.180	0.323	0.168	0.359	
Education	0.052	0.774	-0.010	0.959	-0.026	0.889	
Premorbid intelligence quotient (IQ) ( $n = 29$ )	0.325	0.085	-0.325	0.091	-0.256	0.189	
Age of onset	-0.089	0.623	0.168	0.359	0.196	0.282	
Duration of illness	0.247	0.166	-0.219	0.228	-0.208	0.253	
Number of hospitalization	0.002	0.990	0.176	0.335	0.291	0.106	
Lithium (if any, $n = 17$ )	-0.080	0.761	-0.195	0.452	0.304	0.235	
Sodium valproate (if any, $n = 6$ )	0.759	0.080	-0.671	0.215	-0.447	0.450	
Lamotrigine (if any, $n = 12$ )	-0.066	0.840	0.594	0.054	0.813	0.002	
Antipsychotics (if any, $n = 16)^a$	-0.056	0.836	-0.171	0.543	0.086	0.762	
Typical antipsychotics $(n = 2)$	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Atypical antipsychotics $(n = 16)$	-0.015	0.957	-0.257	0.354	0.007	0.980	
Antidepressant (if any, $n = 21$ ) <sup>b</sup>	-0.080	0.731	-0.113	0.625	0.118	0.611	
HAM-D21 total	0.077	0.668	-0.309	0.086	-0.240	0.186	
YMRS total ( $n = 19$ )	0.145	0.554	0.267	0.284	0.336	0.172	
Female patients ( $n = 54$ )							
Age	-0.070	0.62	-0.084	0.54	0.060	0.666	
Education	-0.025	0.857	0.076	0.586	0.153	0.269	
Premorid IQ ( $n = 52$ )	0.027	0.847	0.193	0.171	0.207	0.141	
Age of onset	0.081	0.564	-0.108	0.440	0.055	0.696	
Duration of illness	0.021	0.878	-0.061	0.659	-0.003	0.982	
Number of hospitalization ( $n = 50$ )	-0.131	0.365	0.113	0.435	0.117	0.419	
Lithium (if any, $n = 14$ )	-0.570	0.033	0.691	0.006	0.465	0.094	
Sodium valproate (if any, $n = 15$ )	0.070	0.805	0.101	0.720	0.136	0.629	
Lamotrigine (if any, $n = 6$ )	0.304	0.558	-0.257	0.623	-0.101	0.848	
Antipsychotics (if any, $n = 21$ ) <sup>a</sup>	-0.118	0.611	-0.028	0.904	0.061	0.794	
Typical antipsychotics $(n = 6)$	0.257	0.623	0.600	0.208	0.371	0.468	
Atypical antipsychotics $(n = 18)$	-0.220	0.380	-0.185	0.463	-0.100	0.694	
Antidepressant (if any, $n = 19$ ) <sup>b</sup>	-0.193	0.427	0.309	0.199	0.202	0.407	
HAM-D21 total	-0.017	0.906	-0.143	0.303	-0.253	0.065	
YMRS total ( $n = 34$ )	-0.044	0.806	0.010	0.957	-0.086	0.631	

<sup>a</sup>Chlorpromazine equivalent for those who received antipsychotic medication.

<sup>b</sup>Imipramine equivalent for those who received antidepressant medication.

Statistical significance was set at a two-tailed p < 0.05. Bold figures represent statistical significance.

HAM-D21, 21-item version of the Hamilton depression rating scale; YMRS, Young Mania Rating Scale; PPI<sub>120me,86dB</sub>, prepulse inhibition (PPI) at a prepuse 120 ms, 86 dB; PPI<sub>120me,90dB</sub>, PPI at a prepuse 120 ms, 90 dB.

that lamotrigine and lithium ameliorate the PPI deficits if sufficient dosage is prescribed. Our finding is in line with the previous studies reporting that lamotrigine and lithium were superior to placebo for the prevention of mood episodes in patients with BD I (75, 76). Lithium is suggested to increase inhibitory neurotransmission based on the finding that GAVA levels were increased after chronic lithium treatment (77). Alternatively, the results may have arisen by chance. Since most of the patients were treated by combined medication, interpretation of specific effects of each drug should be made with caution. Previous literature of the comparative trials on the effects of sodium valproate, haloperidol, aripiprazole, or other antipsychotics on BD patients are still limited (78-81). Some studies reported the potential ameliorating effect of a low dose of the NMDA receptor antagonist ketamine (3, 82) and L-theanine (N-ethyl-L-glutamine), a component of green tea, on PPI (83, 84). These findings may support a new treatment strategy on gene expression changes in glutamatergic neurotransmission and GluR expression commonly identified

among schizophrenia, BD, and MDD by GWAS, postmortem brain, and magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies (29–32).

This study includes the following limitations. First, this is a cross-sectional study. Longitudinal intra-individual studies are needed to confirm the present findings and examine whether the reduced PPI in BD patients with depression is normalized in remission. Second, our results include the effects of medication. Third, the number of patients with BD I in the present study is limited (17 depressed, 9 euthymic; 25% of total patients with BD), and therefore, we were unable to examine PPI deficits exclusively in patients with BD I. Finally, we did not collect information about the history of psychosis. Although we found no correlation of startle measurements with psychopathological severity such as the age of illness onset, duration of illness, and the number of hospitalization, we were unable to analyze the effect of psychotic episodes.

In conclusion, our findings suggest that sensorimotor gating is impaired in male BD patients with depression. However, we obtained no evidence for such abnormalities in female BD patients except for those with current psychosis. The observed associations between medication and startle measurements warrant further investigation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan. Written informed consent for participation in this study was obtained from every subject.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JM made statistical analysis, managed literature search, interpreted the data, and wrote the draft of the manuscript. MO and SH analyzed the EMG data. MO, SH, TT, and HH conducted clinical interviews. JM, II, and MH contributed for data collection. HK supervised the entire project and gave critical comments on the manuscript. All authors contributed substantially to this work and had approved the final manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- Graham F. The more or less startling effects of weak prestimulation. *Psychophysiology* (1975) 12:238–48. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8986.1975. tb01284.x
- Braff DL, Grillon C, Geyer MA. Gating and habituation of the startle reflex in schizophrenic patients. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1992) 49:206–15. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.1992.01820030038005
- Braff DL, Geyer MA, Swerdlow NR. Human studies of prepulse inhibition of startle: normal subjects, patient groups, and pharmacological studies. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2001) 156:234–58. doi:10.1007/s002130100810
- Kohl S, Heekeren K, Klosterkötter J, Kuhn J. Prepulse inhibition in psychiatric disorders – apart from schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Res (2013) 47:445–52. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.11.018
- Kunugi H, Tanaka M, Hori H, Hashimoto R, Saitoh O, Hironaka N. Prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle in Japanese patients with chronic schizophrenia. *Neurosci Res* (2007) 59:23–8. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2007.05.006
- Matsuo J, Ota M, Hori H, Hidese S, Teraishi T, Ishida I, et al. A large single ethnicity study of prepulse inhibition in schizophrenia: separate analysis by sex focusing on effect of symptoms. *J Psychiatr Res* (2016) 82:155–62. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.07.026
- Swerdlow NR, Caine SB, Braff DL, Geyer MA. The neural substrates of sensorimotor gating of the startle reflex: a review of recent findings and their implications. J Psychopharmacol (1992) 6:176–90. doi:10.1177/026988119200600210
- Du Y, Wu X, Li L. Differentially organized top-down modulation of prepulse inhibition of startle. *J Neurosci* (2011) 31:13644–53. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1292-11.2011
- Li L, Du Y, Li N, Wu X, Wu Y. Top-down modulation of prepulse inhibition of the startle reflex in humans and rats. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2009) 33:1157–67. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.02.001
- Murphy F, Nimmo-Smith I, Lawrence A. Functional neuroanatomy of emotions: a meta-anlysis. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci* (2003) 3:207–33. doi:10.3758/ CABN.3.3.207
- Phan K, Wager T, Taylor S, Liberzon I. Functional neuroimaging studies of human emotions. CNS Spectr (2004) 9:258–66. doi:10.1017/S1092852900009196
- Phan KL, Wager T, Taylor SF, Liberzon I. Functional neuroanatomy of emotion: a meta-analysis of emotion activation studies in PET and fMRI. *Neuroimage* (2002) 16:331–48. doi:10.1006/nimg.2002.1087
- Goldstein JM. Sex, hormones and affective arousal circuitry dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Horm Behav* (2006) 50:612–22. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2006. 06.029

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the volunteers for their participation.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by Intramural Research Grant (24-11 and 27-1) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders of NCNP (HK), and Funding for research to expedite effective drug discovery by Government, Academia and Private partnership [15ak0101043h0201; 16ak0101043h0202] from Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development, AMED (HK). These agencies had no role in study design, data acquisition, interpretation, or writing the report.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00123/ full#supplementary-material.

- Geyer MA, Krebs-Thomson K, Braff DL, Swerdlow NR. Pharmacological studies of prepulse inhibition models of sensorimotor gating deficits in schizophrenia: a decade in review. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2001) 156(2–3): 117–54. doi:10.1007/s002130100811
- Braff DL, Swerdlow NR, Geyer MA. Symptom correlates of prepulse inhibition deficits in male schizophrenic patients. *Am J Psychiatry* (1999) 156: 596–602. doi:10.1176/ajp.156.4.596
- Wang Z, Tan Y, Yang F, Zhang W, Zou Y, Tan S, et al. Impaired prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle in Chinese patients with first-episode, medicationnaïve schizophrenia. *Chin Med J (Engl)* (2013) 126:526–31.
- Weike AI, Bauer U, Hamm AO. Effective neuroleptic medication removes prepulse inhibition deficits in schizophrenia patients. *Biol Psychiatry* (2000) 47:61–70. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00229-2
- Xue YY, Wang HN, Xue F, Tan QR. Atypical antipsychotics do not reverse prepulse inhibition deficits in acutely psychotic schizophrenia. *J Int Med Res* (2012) 40:1467–75. doi:10.1177/147323001204000425
- Karper LP, Freeman GK, Grillon C, Morgan CA, Charney DS, Krystal JH. Preliminary evidence of an association between sensorimotor gating and distractibility in psychosis. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* (1996) 8:60–6. doi:10.1176/jnp.8.1.60
- Perry W, Braff DL. Information-processing deficits and thought disorder in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry (1994) 151:363–7. doi:10.1176/ajp.151.3.363
- Perry W, Geyer MA, Braff DL. Sensorimotor gating and thought disturbance measured in close temporal proximity in schizophrenic patients. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1999) 56:277–81. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.56.3.277
- Meincke U, Mörth D, Voss T, Thelen B, Geyer MA, Gouzoulis-Mayfrank E. Prepulse inhibition of the acoustically evoked startle reflex in patients with an acute schizophrenic psychosis – a longitudinal study. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2004) 254:415–21. doi:10.1007/s00406-004-0523-0
- Duncan EJ, Bollini AM, Lewison B, Keyes M, Jovanovic T, Gaytan O, et al. Medication status affects the relationship of symptoms to prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2006) 145:137–45. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2006.04.006
- Martinez-Gras I, Rubio G, del Manzano BA, Rodriguez-Jimenez R, Garcia-Sanchez F, Bagney A, et al. The relationship between prepulse inhibition and general psychopathology in patients with schizophrenia treated with long-acting risperidone. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 115:215–21. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2009.09.035
- Barch DM. Neuropsychological abnormalities in schizophrenia and major mood disorders: similarities and differences. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2009) 11:313–9. doi:10.1007/s11920-009-0045-6

- Bearden CE, Hoffman KM, Cannon TD. The neuropsychology and neuroanatomy of bipolar affective disorder: a critical review. *Bipolar Disord* (2001) 3:106–50. doi:10.1034/j.1399-5618.2001.030302.x
- Sheline Y. Neuroimaging studies of mood disorder effects on the brain. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 54:338–52. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00347-0
- Strakowski SM, DelBello MP, Adler CM. The functional neuroanatomy of bipolar disorder: a review of neuroimaging findings. *Mol Psychiatry* (2005) 10:105–16. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001585
- Ginsberg SD, Hemby SE, Smiley JF. Expression profiling in neuropsychiatric disorders: emphasis on glutamate receptors in bipolar disorder. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* (2013) 100:705–11. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2011.09.015.Expression
- Sigitova E, Fišar Z, Hroudová J, Cikánková T, Raboch J. Biological hypotheses and biomarkers of bipolar disorder. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2017) 71:77–103. doi:10.1111/pcn.12476
- Gigante A, Bond D, Lafer B, Lam R, Young L, Yatham L. Brain glutamate levels measured by magnetic resonance spectroscopy in patients with bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis. *Bipolar Disord* (2012) 14:478–87. doi:10.1111/j. 1399-5618.2012.01033.x
- Jun C, Choi Y, Lim SM, Bae S, Hong YS, Kim JE, et al. Disturbance of the glutamatergic system in mood disorders. *Exp Neurobiol* (2014) 23:28. doi:10.5607/en.2014.23.1.28
- Perry W, Minassian A, Feifel D, Braff DL. Sensorimotor gating deficits in bipolar disorder patients with acute psychotic mania. *Biol Psychiatry* (2001) 50:418–24. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01184-2
- Carroll CA, Vohs JL, O'donnell BF, Shekhar A, Hetrick WP. Sensorimotor gating in manic and mixed episode bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord* (2007) 9:221–9. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007.00415.x
- Barrett SL, Kelly C, Watson DR, Bell R, King DJ. Normal levels of prepulse inhibition in the euthymic phase of bipolar disorder. *Psychol Med* (2005) 35:1737–46. doi:10.1017/S0033291705005702
- Rich BA, Vinton D, Grillon C, Bhangoo RK, Leibenluft E. An investigation of prepulse inhibition in pediatric bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord* (2005) 7:198–203. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2005.00183.x
- Giakoumaki SG, Roussos P, Rogdaki M, Karli C, Bitsios P, Frangou S. Evidence of disrupted prepulse inhibition in unaffected siblings of bipolar disorder patients. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62:1418–22. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych. 2006.12.002
- Sánchez-Morla EM, Mateo J, Aparicio A, García-Jiménez MÁ, Jiménez E, Santos JL. Prepulse inhibition in euthymic bipolar disorder patients in comparison with control subjects. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2016) 134:350–9. doi:10.1111/ acps.12604
- Aasen I, Kolli L, Kumari V. Sex effects in prepulse inhibition and facilitation of the acoustic startle response: implications for pharmacological and treatment studies. *J Psychopharmacol* (2005) 19:39–45. doi:10.1177/ 0269881105048890
- Abel K, Waikar M, Pedro B, Hemsley D, Geyer M. Repeated testing of prepulse inhibition and habituation of the startle reflex: a study in healthy human controls. J Psychopharmacol (1998) 12:330–7. doi:10.1177/026988119801200402
- Kumari V. Sex differences and hormonal influences in human sensorimotor gating: implications for schizophrenia. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci* (2011) 8:141–54. doi:10.1007/7854\_2010\_117
- Swerdlow NR, Auerbach P, Monroe SM, Hartston H, Geyer MA, Braff DL. Men are more inhibited than women by weak prepulses. *Biol Psychiatry* (1993) 34:253–60. doi:10.1016/0006-3223(93)90079-S
- Swerdlow NR, Hartman PL, Auerbach PP. Changes in sensorimotor inhibition across the menstrual cycle: implications for neuropsychiatric disorders. *Biol Psychiatry* (1997) 41:452–60. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(96)00065-0
- 44. Swerdlow NR, Geyer MA, Hartman PL, Sprock J, Auerbach PP, Cadenhead K, et al. Sex differences in sensorimotor gating of the human startle reflex: all smoke? *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (1999) 146:228–32. doi:10.1007/ s002130051111
- Gogos A, Van Den Buuse M, Rossell S. Gender differences in prepulse inhibition (PPI) in bipolar disorder: men have reduced PPI, women have increased PPI. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol (2009) 12:1249–59. doi:10.1017/ S1461145709000480
- Perry W, Minassian A, Feifel D. Prepulse inhibition in patients with non-psychotic major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord (2004) 81:179–84. doi:10.1016/S0165-0327(03)00157-5

- Ludewig S, Ludewig K. No prepulse inhibition deficits in patients with unipolar depression. Depress Anxiety (2003) 17:224–5. doi:10.1002/da.10109
- Quednow BB, Westheide J, Kühn K-U, Werner P, Maier W, Hawellek B, et al. Normal prepulse inhibition and habituation of acoustic startle response in suicidal depressive patients without psychotic symptoms. J Affect Disord (2006) 92:299–303. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2006.01.022
- Bora E, Harrison BJ, Davey CG, Yücel M, Pantelis C. Meta-analysis of volumetric abnormalities in cortico-striatal-pallidal-thalamic circuits in major depressive disorder. *Psychol Med* (2012) 42:671–81. doi:10.1017/ S0033291711001668
- Kong L, Chen K, Womer F, Jiang W, Luo X, Driesen N, et al. Sex differences of gray matter morphology in cortico-limbicstriatal neural system in major depressive disorder. *J Psychiatr Res* (2013) 47:733–9. doi:10.1016/j.csda.2008. 07.034.Inferences
- Koolschijn PCMP, Van Haren NEM, Lensvelt-Mulders GJLM, Hulshoff Pol HE, Kahn RS. Brain volume abnormalities in major depressive disorder: a metaanalysis of magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2009) 30:3719–35. doi:10.1002/hbm.20801
- Price JL, Drevets WC. Neural circuits underlying the pathophysiology of mood disorders. *Trends Cogn Sci* (2012) 16:61–71. doi:10.1016/j.tics. 2011.12.011
- Matsuo J, Ota M, Hidese S, Hori H, Teraishi T, Ishida I, et al. Sexually dimorphic deficits of prepulse inhibition in patients with major depressive disorder and their relationship to symptoms: a large single ethnicity study. J Affect Disord (2017) 211:75–82. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2017.01.012
- Comasco E, Gulinello M, Hellgren C, Skalkidou A, Sylven S, Sundström-Poromaa I. Sleep duration, depression, and oxytocinergic genotype influence prepulse inhibition of the startle reflex in postpartum women. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2016) 26:767–76. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2016. 01.002
- Ellwanger J, Geyer MA, Braff DL. The relationship of age to prepulse inhibition and habituation of the acoustic startle response. *Biol Psychol* (2003) 62: 175–95. doi:10.1016/S0301-0511(02)00126-6
- Ludewig K, Ludewig S, Seitz A, Obrist M, Geyer MA, Vollenweider FX. The acoustic startle reflex and its modulation: effects of age and gender in humans. *Biol Psychol* (2003) 63:311–23. doi:10.1016/S0301-0511(03)00074-7
- Swerdlow NR, Filion D, Geyer MA, Braff DL. "Normal" personality correlates of sensorimotor, cognitive, and visuospatial gating. *Biol Psychiatry* (1995) 37:286–99. doi:10.1016/0006-3223(94)00138-S
- Swerdlow NR, Talledo JA, Braff DL. Startle modulation in Caucasian-Americans and Asian-Americans: a prelude to genetic/endophenotypic studies across the "Pacific Rim". *Psychiatr Genet* (2005) 15:61–5. doi:10.1097/00041444-200503000-00010
- Kumari V, Gray JA. Smoking withdrawal, nicotine dependence and prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle reflex. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (1999) 141:11–5. doi:10.1007/s002130050800
- Duncan E, Madonick S, Chakravorty S, Parwani A, Szilagyi S, Efferen T, et al. Effects of smoking on acoustic startle and prepulse inhibition in humans. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2001) 156:266–72. doi:10.1007/s002130100719
- Della Casa V, Höfer I, Weiner I, Feldon J. The effects of smoking on acoustic prepulse inhibition in healthy men and women. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (1998) 137:362–8. doi:10.1007/s002130050631
- Swerdlow NR, Light GA, Cadenhead KS, Sprock J, Hsieh MH, Braff DL. Startle gating deficits in a large cohort of patients with schizophrenia relationship to medications, symptoms, neurocognition, and level of function. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2006) 63:1325–35. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.63.12.1325
- 63. Swerdlow NR, Sprock J, Light GA, Cadenhead K, Calkins ME, Dobie DJ, et al. Multi-site studies of acoustic startle and prepulse inhibition in humans: initial experience and methodological considerations based on studies by the Consortium on the Genetics of Schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 92:237–51. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.01.012
- Swerdlow NR, Light GA, Sprock J, Calkins ME, Green MF, Greenwood TA, et al. Deficient prepulse inhibition in schizophrenia detected by the multi-site COGS. Schizophr Res (2014) 152:503–12. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.12.004
- Otsubo T, Tanaka K, Koda R, Shinoda J, Sano N, Tanaka S, et al. Reliability and validity of Japanese version of the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2005) 59:517–26. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2005.01408.x

- 66. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *J Clin Psychiatry* (1998) 59(Suppl 2):22–33.
- 67. American Psychiatric Association. *DSM-IV: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press (2000).
- Matsuoka K, Uno M, Kasai K, Koyama K, Kim Y. Estimation of premorbid IQ in individuals with Alzheimer's disease using Japanese ideographic script (Kanji) compound words: Japanese version of National Adult Reading Test. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2006) 60:332–9. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819. 2006.01510.x
- Hamilton M. Development of a rating scale for primary depressive illness. Br J Soc Clin Psychol (1967) 6:278–96. doi:10.1111/j.2044-8260.1967.tb00530.x
- Young RC, Biggs JT, Ziegler VE, Meyer DA. A rating scale for mania: reliability, validity and sensitivity. Br J Psychiatry J Ment Sci (1978) 133:429–35. doi:10.1192/bjp.133.5.429
- Tohen M, Frank E, Bowden CL, Colom F, Ghaemi SN, Yatham LN, et al. The International Society for Bipolar Disorders (ISBD) task force report on the nomenclature of course and outcome in bipolar disorders. *Bipolar Disord* (2009) 11(5):453–73. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00726.x
- Frank E, Prien R, Jarrett R, Keller M, Kupfer D, Lavori P, et al. Conceptualization and rationale for consensus definitions of terms in major depressive disorder. Remission, recovery, relapse, and recurrence. *Arch Gen Pshchiatry* (1991) 48:851–5. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1991.01810330075011
- Inada T, Inagaki A. Psychotropic dose equivalence in Japan. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci (2015) 69:440–7. doi:10.1111/pcn.12275
- Kumari V, Aasen I, Sharma T. Sex differences in prepulse inhibition deficits in chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2004) 69:219–35. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2003.09.010
- Calabrese JR, Bowden CL, Sachs G, Mehtonen O, Montgomery P, Pharm D, et al. A placebo-controlled 18-month trial of lamotrigine and lithium maintenance treatment in recently manic or hypomanic patients with bipolar I disorder—correction. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2004) 61:680. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.61.7.680
- Severus E, Taylor MJ, Sauer C, Pfennig A, Ritter P, Bauer M, et al. Lithium for prevention of mood episodes in bipolar disorders: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Bipolar Disord* (2014) 2:15. doi:10.1186/s40345-014-0015-8

- Lan MJ, Mcloughlin GA, Griffin JL, Tsang TM, Huang JTJ, Yuan P, et al. Metabonomic analysis identifies molecular changes associated with the pathophysiology and drug treatment of bipolar disorder. *Mol Psychiatry* (2009) 14:269–79. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4002130
- Brown R, Taylor M, Geddess J. Aripiprazole alone or in combination for acute mania. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2013) (12):CD005000. doi:10.1002/ 14651858.CD005000.pub2
- 79. Jm R, Hj G, Ms B, Goodwin G, Geddes J. Risperidone alone or in combination for acute mania. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2006) (1):CD004043.
- Cipriani A, Reid K, Ah Y, Macritchie K, Geddes J. Valproic acid, valproate and divalproex in the maintenance treatment of bipolar disorder. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2013) (10):CD003196. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003196. pub2
- Cipriani A, Rendell JM, Geddes J. Haloperidol alone or in combination for acute mania. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2006) (3):CD004362.
- Lener MS, Niciu MJ, Ballard, Park M, Park LT, Nugent AC, et al. Glutamate and gamma-aminobutyric acid systems in the pathophysiology of major depression and antidepressant response to ketamine. *Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 81:886–97. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.05.005
- Wakabayashi C, Numakawa T, Ninomiya M, Chiba S, Kunugi H. Behavioral and molecular evidence for psychotropic effects in l-theanine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2012) 219:1099–109. doi:10.1007/s00213-011-2440-z
- Ota M, Wakabayashi C, Matsuo J, Kinoshita Y, Hori H, Hattori K, et al. Effect of L-theanine on sensorimotor gating in healthy human subjects. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68:337–43. doi:10.1111/pcn.12134

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors have declared that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Matsuo, Ota, Hidese, Teraishi, Hori, Ishida, Hiraishi and Kunugi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Relationship of Handgrip Strength and Body Mass Index With Cognitive Function in Patients With Schizophrenia

Shinsuke Hidese<sup>1,2</sup>, Junko Matsuo<sup>1</sup>, Ikki Ishida<sup>1</sup>, Moeko Hiraishi<sup>1</sup>, Toshiya Teraishi<sup>1</sup>, Miho Ota<sup>1</sup>, Kotaro Hattori<sup>1</sup> and Hiroshi Kunugi<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mental Disorder Research, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, National Institute of Neuroscience, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Division of Cognitive and Behavioral Medicine, Department of National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry Brain Physiology and Pathology, Graduate School of Medical and Dental Sciences, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Tokyo, Japan

**Background:** The relationship between muscle strength and cognition in schizophrenia has not been well studied. We investigated the potential relationship of handgrip strength (HGS) score and body mass index (BMI) with cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Liang Gong, Harvard Medical School, United States Shuken Boku, Kobe University, Japan

> \*Correspondence: Hiroshi Kunugi

hkunugi@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 01 December 2017 Accepted: 09 April 2018 Published: 25 April 2018

#### Citation:

Hidese S, Matsuo J, Ishida I, Hiraishi M, Teraishi T, Ota M, Hattori K and Kunugi H (2018) Relationship of Handgrip Strength and Body Mass Index With Cognitive Function in Patients With Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 9:156. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00156 **Methods:** Participants included 153 patients with schizophrenia (age:  $36.9 \pm 9.4$  years; 82 males) and 328 healthy controls (age:  $36.4 \pm 10.7$  years; 150 males), matched for age, sex, and ethnicity (Japanese). HGS was measured using a digital handgrip dynamometer. Cognitive function was evaluated using the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS) test. A two-way multivariate analysis of covariance was used to compare HGS scores between the patient and control groups. Multiple regression analyses of BACS scores were performed in the patient and control groups using HGS and BMI scores as independent variables.

**Results:** In the intergroup comparison, significantly lower HGS scores were observed in patients with schizophrenia than in healthy controls (p < 0.05, corrected). In the patient group, there was a significantly positive correlation between HGS scores and BACS composite score (male, p = 0.0014; female, p = 0.0051). However, BMI scores were significantly negatively correlated with the BACS composite score (male, p = 0.0022; female, p = 0.018). Furthermore, the ratio of HGS/BMI was significantly positively correlated with the BACS composite score in the patient group (p = 0.0000018).

**Conclusions:** Cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia is correlated positively with HGS and negatively with BMI. HGS/BMI may thus be a good index for cognitive performance in schizophrenia.

#### Keywords: body mass index, cognitive function, handgrip strength, schizophrenia, physical activity

Abbreviations: ANCOVA, analysis of covariance; BACS, Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia; BMI, body mass index; CPeq, chlorpromazine-equivalent; HGS, handgrip strength; MANCOVA, multivariate analysis of covariance; M.I.N.I., mini-international neuropsychiatric interview.

## INTRODUCTION

Handgrip strength (HGS) is a concise measure used to evaluate muscle strength, and reference values have been published for healthy adults by age and sex [1, 2]. Lower HGS has been associated with sedentary lifestyle [3]. HGS is related to physical and cognitive abilities, particularly in elderly people. This relationship has been demonstrated in systematic reviews reporting that lower HGS is associated with increased risk of cognitive decline in elderly populations [4–7].

Patients with schizophrenia exhibit broad cognitive deficits in the early stages of the illness [8, 9], and physical exercise has been suggested to improve the deficits [10–13]. Light physical activity was positively correlated with cognitive performance [14], while moderate-to-vigorous physical activity was associated with greater cognitive disorganization symptoms in patients with schizophrenia [15]. Although studies regarding HGS remain scarce, lower HGS scores and exacerbated cognitive symptoms were observed in physically inactive patients with schizophrenia [16].

Body mass index (BMI) is a popular index for nutritional status [17] which has been negatively associated with moderateto-vigorous physical activity [18]. Therefore, BMI may be associated with HGS, which is possibly attributed to physical activity levels. It has been documented that weight gain in schizophrenia can be facilitated by psychotropic medications and unhealthy lifestyle habits [19]. In line with these findings, patients with schizophrenia exhibited more sedentary behavior, which was associated with increased BMI and cognitive symptom scores [20]. In contrast, participation in sports has been demonstrated to reduce BMI and ameliorate psychiatric symptoms in patients with schizophrenia [21].

Obesity (the state of abnormally increased BMI score, BMI  $\geq 27.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) has been reported to be associated with cognitive impairments in schizophrenia [22]. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery scores were correlated positively with aerobic fitness (an index of physical ability indicated by VO<sub>2</sub>max) and negatively with increased BMI scores in patients with schizophrenia [23]. Moreover, BMI scores correlated with Eurofit test battery scores, which are assessments of health-related fitness, but not with the HGS subtest score, in patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder [24]. In addition, [16] reported no correlation between HGS score and cognitive symptoms in a non-elderly sample of patients with schizophrenia (n = 80) and healthy adult controls (n = 40).

Based on the reported associations between physical and cognitive abilities, it is of particular interest to examine the possible relationship between HGS and cognitive performance in patients with schizophrenia. We aimed to assess this relationship by using the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS) in a relatively large sample of patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls. It was hypothesized that there would be a positive correlation between HGS score and cognitive function.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Participants**

Participants comprised 153 patients with schizophrenia (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation age: 36.9  $\pm$  9.4 years, 82 males) and 328 healthy controls ( $36.4 \pm 10.7$  years, 150 males), matched for age, sex, and ethnicity (Japanese). To exclude the possible effect of aging, only those who were <60 years old were registered. All the participants were self-reported right-handers, and were enrolled through recruitment forms at the National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, advertisements in free magazines, and our website announcement. The participants were screened for axis I psychiatric disorders by trained psychiatrists using the Japanese version of the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.) [25, 26]. The diagnosis was made in accordance with the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-4th edition criteria [27] based on the information from M.I.N.I. and medical records, if available. All healthy controls were confirmed to have no axis I psychiatric disorders and to have never received psychiatric services. Patients and controls with a medical history of neurological diseases, severe head injury, substance abuse, or mental retardation were excluded. All participants signed consent forms after the study explanation. The study protocol was approved by the ethics committee at the National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, and applied according to the Declaration of Helsinki [28].

## **Clinical and Psychological Assessments**

HGS was measured using a digital handgrip dynamometer (T.K.K.5401; Takei Co., Tokyo, Japan). Right (dominant) and left (non-dominant) HGSs were calculated for each participant by taking the mean of two records conducted for each hand. The average HGS was then calculated for each participant by taking the mean of the dominant and non-dominant HGSs. The severity of symptoms in the patients was evaluated by trained psychiatrists using the Japanese adaptation of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale [29, 30]. Cognitive functions were evaluated by trained psychologists using the Japanese version of the BACS [31, 32]. The BACS composite score was the mean z score calculated from each BACS score, based on the mean and standard deviation of the healthy controls. Daily doses of antipsychotics were converted to chlorpromazine-equivalent (CPeq) doses according to published guidelines [33].

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Continuous and categorical variables were compared between the patient and control groups using Welch's *t*- and chi-square tests, respectively. Correlations for continuous and categorical variables were calculated using Pearson's and Spearman's correlation coefficients, respectively. BACS scores were compared using a one-way (diagnostic) multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA), controlling for age, sex, and BMI. HGS scores were compared using a two-way (diagnosis x sex) MANCOVA, controlling for age and BMI. Comparisons of average HGS among BMI-based classification groups (underweight: BMI < 18.5, normal:  $18.5 \leq BMI < 25$ , overweight:  $25 \leq BMI <$ 30, obese: BMI  $\geq$  30) [34] were conducted using analysis of

covariance (ANCOVA), controlling for age and sex. CPeq and any psychotropic medication use were accounted for in the patient group. Multiple regression analyses were performed using the BACS scores as dependent variables and applying independent variables by the forced-entry method. Bonferroni corrections for multiple testing were performed for all the group comparisons, correlations, and multiple regression analyses. For instance, as correlations and multiple regression analyses were repeated with regard to all seven BACS scores, the statistical significance level was set to p < 0.05/7. Effect sizes were calculated by Cohen's d for the *t*-test,  $\phi$  for the chi-square test,  $\eta^2$  for the ANCOVA and MANCOVA, and adjusted  $R^2$  for the multiple regression analysis. Statistical analyses were conducted using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 24.0 (SPSS Japan, Tokyo, Japan). All statistical tests were two-tailed, and a *p*-value of <0.05 was deemed significant.

## RESULTS

## **Analyses of Clinical Variables**

Demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants are depicted in **Table 1**. Mean BMI was significantly higher in patients with schizophrenia than in healthy controls after correction for multiple testing. With regard to BMIbased classification, the proportion of normal participants was significantly lower (odds ratio = 0.45, 95% confidence interval: 0.30-0.68), while that of obese participants was significantly higher in the patient group than in the control group (odds ratio = 4.52, 95% confidence interval: 2.00-10.40; corrected). A MANCOVA analysis revealed that all of the BACS scores were significantly lower in the patient group than in the control group (corrected).

#### **Analyses of HGS Scores**

HGS scores of the participants are depicted in **Table 2**. A twoway MANCOVA revealed that all HGS scores were significantly lower in the patient group than in the control group, and were significantly higher in males than in females (corrected). The average HGS (i.e., the average of left and right HGS scores) was used as "the HGS score" in the following analyses. Correlations between HGS score and clinical variables are demonstrated in Table S1. Of note, BMI was significantly positively correlated with HGS score in both groups (patient: r = 0.27, p = 8.0.E-04; control: r = 0.40, p = 3.4.E-14). Comparisons of HGS scores by BMI-based classification are displayed in Figure S1.

# Correlation of HGS and BMI Scores With Cognitive Function

Multiple regression analysis for each sex involving BACS scores and forced-entry variables are documented in **Table 3**. BACS scores were used as dependent variables, while HGS scores, age, BMI, education (years), CPeq (for patients), and any psychotropic medication use (for patients) were used as independent variables. Attention ( $\beta = 0.47$ , p = 4.0.E-05) and composite ( $\beta = 0.36$ , p = 1.4.E-03) scores were significantly positively correlated with HGS scores in male patients (corrected). Motor speed ( $\beta = 0.34$ , p = 1.5.E-03),

attention ( $\beta = 0.36$ , p = 1.4.E-03), and composite ( $\beta = 0.30$ , p = 5.1.E-03) scores were significantly positively correlated with HGS scores in female patients (corrected). Motor speed ( $\beta = -0.40$ , p = 1.3.E-03) and composite ( $\beta = -0.36$ , p = 2.2.E-03) scores were significantly negatively correlated with BMI in male patients (corrected). Working memory was significantly negatively correlated with BMI in female patients ( $\beta = -0.34$ , p = 6.9.E-03, corrected). No significant correlations were observed between the HGS and BACS scores in male or female controls. However, working memory ( $\beta = -0.21$ , p = 5.8.E-03) and composite ( $\beta = -0.22$ , p = 2.8.E-03) scores were significantly negatively correlated with BMI in female controls.

Based on these results, further multiple regression analysis was conducted using a newly-defined index, namely the ratio of HGS to BMI (**Table 4**). BACS scores were used as dependent variables, while HGS/BMI, age, sex, education (years), CPeq (for patients), and any psychotropic medication use (for patients), were used as independent variables. In this case, working memory ( $\beta =$ 0.35, p = 9.7.E-04), motor speed ( $\beta = 0.47$ , p = 1.2.E-05), verbal fluency ( $\beta = 0.40$ , p = 2.3.E-04), attention ( $\beta = 0.56$ , p =2.9.E-08), and composite ( $\beta = 0.51$ , p = 1.8.E-07) scores were significantly positively correlated with HGS/BMI in the patient group (corrected). Composite score was significantly positively correlated with HGS/BMI in the control group ( $\beta = 0.20$ , p =2.6.E-03, corrected).

## **Correlation Between Cognitive Function** and Clinical Variables

Correlations between the BACS scores and clinical variables are documented in Table S2. In bivariate correlation analyses, attention (r = 0.23, p = 3.5.E-03) and composite (r = 0.25, p= 2.3.E-03) scores were significantly positively correlated with HGS score in the patient group (corrected). Verbal memory (r =-0.26, p = 1.5.E-03), working memory (r = -0.30, p = 2.2.E-04), motor speed (r = -0.28, p = 6.1.E-04), verbal fluency (r = -0.26, p = 1.1.E-03), attention (r = -0.27, p = 7.8.E-04), and composite (r = -0.33, p = 4.4.E-05) scores were significantly negatively correlated with BMI in the patient group (corrected). Notably, all of the BACS scores were significantly positively correlated with HGS/BMI in the patient group (Figure 1, corrected). In the control group, BACS scores were not significantly correlated with HGS score. However; verbal memory (r = -0.24, p = 7.9.E-06), working memory (r = -0.21, p = 1.6.E-04), attention (r= -0.27, p = 5.5.E-07), and composite (r = -0.28, p = 4.3.E-07) scores were significantly negatively correlated with BMI in the control group (corrected). By contrast, only working memory score showed a significantly positive correlation with HGS/BMI in the control group (Figure 2, corrected).

## DISCUSSION

The present study examined the association of HGS and BMI with cognitive function. HGS scores were significantly reduced in patients with schizophrenia compared to healthy controls. The HGS and BMI scores and the HGS/BMI were significantly associated with cognitive impairments in

#### TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants.

	Patients with schizo	phrenia ( <i>n</i> = 153)	Healthy controls	s (n = 328)	
	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Mean} \pm \text{Standard} \\ \text{deviation} \end{array}$	Range	Mean ± Standard deviation	Range	Statistical comparison
Age (years)	36.9 ± 9.4	18-58	36.4 ± 10.7	18–59	$t_{(334.7)} = -0.49, \rho = 0.63$ , Cohen's d = 0.05
Sex, male (%)	82 (53	.6)	150 (4	ō.7)	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 2.58, \rho = 0.11, \phi = -0.07$
Education (years)	14.0 ± 2.4	9–22	15.1 ± 2.1	9–22	<i>t</i> <sub>(267,1)</sub> = 5.02, <i>p</i> = 9.4.E-07, Cohen's d =0.51
Body mass idex (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$24.3 \pm 5.1$	14.3–45.2	$22.1\pm3.4$	15.8–34.3	$t_{(209.5)} = -4.68$ , <b>p = 5.0.E-06</b> , Cohen's d = 0.54
Underweight	15 (9.	8)	26 (7	9)	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 0.55, p = 0.46, \phi = 0.03$
Normal	85 (55	.5)	43 (74	1)	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 15.05, \mathbf{p} = 1.0.E-04, \phi = -0.18$ OR = 0.45, 95%CI:0.30-0.68
Overweight	32 (20	.9)	47 (14	.3)	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 3.62, p = 0.057, \phi = 0.09$
Obese	17 (11	.1)	9 (2.	7)	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 14.71, \mathbf{p} = 1.3.E-04, \phi = 0.18$ OR = 4.52, 95%CI:2.00-10.40
BACS					
Verbal memory	$40.6 \pm 12.8$	10–71	$51.5\pm9.6$	20–75	$F_{(1,468)} = 89.34$ , <b>p = 1.6.E-19</b> , $\eta^2 = 0.13$
Working memory	$18.7\pm4.5$	8–28	$22.1\pm3.7$	10–28	$F_{(1,468)} = 61.50, \mathbf{p} = 3.0.E-14, \eta^2 = 0.10$
Motor speed	$70.7 \pm 16.4$	22-100	$83.4 \pm 12.1$	40-100	$F_{(1,468)} = 70.17$ , <b>p = 6.4.E-16</b> , $\eta^2 = 0.12$
Verbal fluency	$43.5\pm12.3$	14–76	$51.8 \pm 10.3$	26–87	$F_{(1,468)} = 41.10$ , <b>p = 3.5.E-10</b> , $\eta^2 = 0.08$
Attention	$54.4 \pm 13.3$	19–86	$72.1 \pm 12.9$	37-100	$F_{(1,468)} = 174.18$ , <b>p = 4.9.E-34</b> , $\eta^2 = 0.22$
Executive function	$16.7 \pm 3.4$	4-22	$18.3 \pm 2.6$	3–22	$F_{(1,468)} = 26.64$ , <b>p = 3.6.E-07</b> , $\eta^2 = 0.05$
Composite	$-1.00\pm0.9$	-3.89-1.01	$0.00\pm0.6$	-1.94-1.50	$F_{(1,468)} = 168.50$ , <b>p = 4.0.E-33</b> , $\eta^2 = 0.22$
Age of onset (years)	$23.1\pm7.2$	5–54			
Duration of illness (years)	$13.7\pm8.9$	1–38			
CPeq (mg/day)					
Typical antipsychotics	$95.8 \pm 220.7$	0-1362.5			
Atypical antipsychotics	$349.3 \pm 375.7$	0–1860			
Total antipsychotics	445.2 ± 410.3	0–1960			
Antiparkinson medication use (%)	57 (37	.3)			
Minor tranquilizer use (%)	89 (58	.2)			
Any psychotropic medication use (%)	131 (85	5.6)			
PANSS					
Positive	$13.6 \pm 5.0$	7–32			
Negative	$15.8 \pm 6.1$	7–33			
General psychopathology	$29.9\pm8.3$	16–53			

BACS, Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia; CI, confidence interval; CPeq, chlorpromazine-equivalent dose; OR, odds ratio; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale. Significant p-values (p < 0.016 for the t-test, p < 0.01 for the chi-square test, and p < 0.007 for the multivariate analysis of covariance, corrected for multiple testing) are shown in bold exponents. There were 4 and 3 missing values of BMI scores in the patients and controls, respectively.

the patient group. However, the HGS/BMI was significantly associated with only the BACS composite score in the control group. Our findings suggest that HGS and BMI have positive and negative relationships, respectively, with cognitive function in both male and female patients with schizophrenia.

We found that patients with schizophrenia obtained lower HGS scores than in healthy controls, irrespective of sex or BMI. The HGS scores exhibited a positive correlation with the BACS motor speed, attention, and composite scores in the patient group. A previous study reported no correlation between HGS and cognitive scores measured by the psychosis evaluation tool for common use by caregivers [16]. In contrast, the current study demonstrates for the first time several correlations between HGS and cognitive measures using a comprehensive cognitive battery. Our results suggest a positive relationship between HGS and cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia under the age of 60 years. As reported with regard to elderly cognitive decline [4–7], HGS may be used as an additional index to reflect cognitive deficits in schizophrenia, particularly deficits of motor speed and

#### TABLE 2 | Handgrip strength scores of the participants.

		Ma	ale			Fem	nale		
	Patient (	n = 82)	Control (r	n = 150)	Patient (/	n = 71)	Control (n	i = 178)	Statistical comparison
	Mean $\pm$ SD	Range	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	Range	Mean $\pm$ SD	Range	Mean $\pm$ SD	Range	For diagnosis
Average hangrip strength (kg)	35.9 ± 7.4	16.4–52.0	38.0 ± 6.1	22.6–52.2	22.8 ± 4.7	9.5–41.9	$24.9\pm4.3$	13.8–39.2	$F_{(1,468)} = 27.0, \mathbf{p} = 3.0.\text{E-07},$ $\eta^2 = 0.023$
Right handgrip strength (kg)	37.0 ± 7.6	18.1–55.2	38.9 ± 6.4	24.7–55.0	$23.2\pm5.4$	8.0–45.3	$25.7\pm4.6$	10.9–41.7	$F_{(1,468)} = 24.2$ , <b>p</b> = <b>1.7.E-06</b> , $\eta^2 = 0.022$
Left handgrip strength (kg)	34.8 ± 7.7	13.0–48.8	37.1 ± 6.3	20.5–51.8	22.3 ± 4.4	10.9–38.6	$24.2\pm4.4$	12.5–36.8	$F_{(1,468)} = 25.2$ , <b>p</b> = <b>7.2.E-08</b> , $\eta^2 = 0.021$

SD, standard deviation. Significant p-values (p < 0.016; corrected for multiple testing) are shown in bold exponents.

There was no significant interaction between diagnosis and sex (p = 0.64 for the average, p = 0.35 for the right, and p = 0.96 for the left handgrip strength scores, respectively).

attention. These deficits may be influenced by physical activity levels [14, 15].

BMI was negatively correlated with the BACS working memory, motor speed, and composite scores in the patient group. These correlations agree with prior findings [22, 23], and with our recent study reporting that obesity is associated with poorer cognitive function in patients with major depressive disorder [35]. Increased BMI in schizophrenia may be associated with lower physical activity levels [20, 23], although our data did not take physical activity into account. In addition, we observed a positive correlation between BMI and HGS scores in both the patient and control groups. These findings are in contrast with previous findings in patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder [24]. However, similar results to ours have been obtained in healthy controls [2, 36]. In addition, our BMI-based comparisons showed that higher and lower HGS scores were observed in obese and underweight participants, respectively. Taking the relationships of both HGS and BMI scores into consideration, the optimal BMI range (i.e., normal) may be beneficial for cognitive function in schizophrenia.

The ratio of HGS/BMI is a newly-defined index based on the former regression analyses. This ratio positively correlated with the BACS working memory, motor speed, verbal fluency, attention, and composite scores in the patient group. Furthermore, in bivariate correlation analyses, the ratio positively correlated with all BACS scores in the patients. These results suggest that the HGS/BMI could be a concise and useful index to estimate the level of cognitive performance in schizophrenia. In this context, higher HGS and lower BMI scores may contribute to the promotion of schizophrenic cognitive function. With regard to treatment, interventions for HGS and BMI using physical exercise have the potential to ameliorate cognitive dysfunctions in patients with schizophrenia. Such effects have previously been reported in cases of dementia [37, 38] and schizophrenia [39-42]. Considering the positive correlation between HGS and BMI scores, it is highly plausible that the balance of high HGS and low BMI scores, namely a higher HGS relative to BMI may be preferable for cognitive performance in schizophrenia.

Multiple regression analyses revealed that there were no effects of HGS on cognitive function, while the HGS/BMI was positively correlated with only the composite score in healthy

controls. Notably, the HGS/BMI was positively associated with cognitive function in healthy controls, although the associations appeared to be weaker compared to patients with schizophrenia. Ceiling effects may contribute to the weaker association, as HGS and BACS scores were higher and BMI scores were lower in controls compared to patients. Moreover, specialized interactions between physical ability and cognitive function may be present in patients with schizophrenia, as suggested by previous studies [10–13]. Lifestyle factors observed in patients with schizophrenia [19], such as lower physical activity levels and higher BMI, may have influenced the difference between the patients and controls. Indeed, patients with schizophrenia were reported to be physically inactive compared to healthy controls [16], although data related to physical activity were not included in the present study.

This study had several limitations. First, the majority of the patients (85.7%) had taken psychotropic medications. These effects were accounted for by the ANCOVA and multiple regression analyses. Second, we conducted corrections for multiple testing using the Bonferroni method which may have resulted in type II errors due to the conservative nature of the analysis. Lastly, the cross-sectional approach of the current study cannot draw any conclusions concerning causal relationships. Given the correlational nature of the analysis, we cannot clarify whether cognitive dysfunction is the cause or result of low HGS in schizophrenia. It is possible that physical disabilities and cognitive deficits have individual and negative impacts on daily functioning in schizophrenia. This theory is supported by the therapeutic effects of aerobic exercise on brain structure and function via neuroplastic changes in patients with schizophrenia [43-46].

In conclusion, patients with schizophrenia showed lower HGS scores compared to healthy controls. In the patient group, HGS and BMI scores correlated positively and negatively with cognitive functions, respectively. Furthermore, the ratio of HGS/BMI positively correlated with the majority of the cognitive functions examined in the patient group. HGS/BMI may thus be a good index for cognitive performance in schizophrenia. These results suggest that a close relationship exists between physical status (muscle strength and BMI) and cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia.

		memory	Working	t memory	Motor	, speed	Verbal	fluency	Atte	ntion	Executiv	e function	Com	posite
	ß	d	β	ď	β	ď	đ	ď	β	ď	θ	d	β	ď
<male patients=""></male>	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.09	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.08	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.16	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.18	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.29	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.003	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.27
Handgrip strength (kg)	0.15	0.21	0.16	0.19	0.29	0.01	0.23	0.05	0.47	4.0E-05	0.10	0.44	0.36	1.4E-03
Age (years)	-0.13	0.29	-0.10	0.41	0.10	0.41	0.11	0.35	-0.14	0.21	0.08	0.51	-0.02	0.86
Education (years)	0.15	0.22	0.15	0.23	-0.04	0.72	-0.05	0.68	0.08	0.48	0.02	0.87	0.08	0.47
Body mass idex (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-0.22	0.09	-0.23	0.07	-0.40	1.3.E-03	-0.29	0.02	-0.26	0.02	-0.11	0.39	-0.36	2.2E-03
CPeq total antipsychotics (mg/day)	-0.11	0.36	-0.05	0.67	-0.19	0.12	0.01	0.91	-0.07	0.50	0.10	0.42	-0.07	0.50
Any psychotropic medication use (%)	-0.09	0.48	-0.11	0.40	0.09	0.47	-0.34	5.9.E-03	-0.14	0.20	-0.26	0.05	-0.21	0.06
<female patients=""></female>	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.25	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.22	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.35	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.13	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.30	R <sup>2</sup> .	= 0.16	Н2 =	= 0.37
Handgrip strength (kg)	0.16	0.16	0.10	0.36	0.34	1.5E-03	0.25	0.04	0.36	1.4E-03	0.16	0.18	0.30	5.1.E-03
Age (years)	-0.35	2.5.E-03	-0.19	0.10	0.05	0.61	-0.06	0.60	-0.14	0.19	-0.19	0.11	-0.20	0.05
Education (years)	0.26	0.03	0.17	0.16	0.21	0.05	0.25	0.04	0.14	0.21	0.00	0.98	0.22	0.04
Body mass idex (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-0.16	0.17	-0.34	6.9.E-03	-0.15	0.18	-0.25	0.05	-0.29	0.01	-0.05	0.69	-0.26	0.02
CPeq total antipsychotics (mg/day)	-0.09	0.45	-0.17	0.18	-0.17	0.14	0.02	0.89	-0.22	0.07	-0.37	6.9.E-03	-0.23	0.05
Any psychotropic medication use (%)	-0.11	0.38	-0.05	0.73	-0.32	0.01	-0.06	0.68	-0.06	0.65	-0.03	0.82	-0.14	0.25
<male controls=""></male>	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.24	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.24	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.13	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.08	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.32	R <sup>2</sup> .	= 0.04	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.28
Handgrip strength (kg)	0.01	0.89	0.01	0.89	0.03	0.70	-0.01	0.89	-0.01	0.93	0.12	0.14	0.04	0.63
Age (years)	-0.46	3.9.E-08	-0.46	3.9.E-08	-0.23	0.01	-0.06	0.48	-0.49	1.0.E-09	-0.16	0.08	-0.36	6.4.E-06
Education (years)	-0.11	0.16	0.03	0.72	0.19	0.01	0.24	3.5.E-03	0.16	0.02	0.13	0.11	0.27	2.9E-04
Body mass idex (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.03	0.72	-0.11	0.16	-0.16	0.07	-0.08	0.37	-0.09	0.23	-0.03	0.71	-0.15	0.06
<female controls=""></female>	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.10	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.08	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.00	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.08	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.17	R <sup>2</sup> :	= 0.05	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.19
Handgrip strength (kg)	0.04	0.60	0.04	0.58	0.07	0.39	0.14	0.06	0.15	0.04	0.06	0.46	0.14	0.06
Age (years)	-0.23	4.8.E-03	-0.10	0.23	0.00	0.97	0.10	0.25	-0.20	0.01	-0.02	0.77	-0.12	0.11
Education (years)	0.17	0.04	0.14	0.08	0.01	0.88	0.27	9.3.E-04	0.24	2.2.E-03	0.23	5.4.E-03	0.29	1.5E-04
Body mass idex (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-0.06	0.44	-0.21	5.8.E-03	-0.15	0.06	-0.12	0.11	-0.17	0.02	-0.07	0.38	-0.22	2.8.E-03

Hidese et al.

	Verba	memory	Workin	g memory	Moto	r speed	Verba	fluency	Atte	ention	Executiv	ve function	Com	posite
	β	ď	в	d	β	d	β	d	8	d	β	ď	β	d
<patients schizophrenia="" with=""></patients>	R <sup>2</sup>	= 0.19	R <sup>2</sup> .	= 0.19	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.23	Н2	= 0.15	R <sup>2</sup> .	= 0.32	R <sup>2</sup> :	= 0.09	Н2 .	= 0.35
Handgrip strength/body mass index (m <sup>2</sup> )	0.26	0.01	0.35	9.7.E-04	0.47	1.2E-05	0.40	2.3.E-04	0.56	2.9E-08	0.15	0.17	0.51	1.8E-07
Age (years)	-0.26	1.7.E-03	-0.14	0.08	0.06	0.47	0.01	0.91	-0.14	0.06	-0.07	0.39	-0.13	0.08
Sex	0.19	0.07	0.06	0.53	0.38	2.0.E-04	0.21	0.05	0.37	9.4E-05	-0.11	0.29	0.26	4.6.E-03
Education (years)	0.22	0.01	0.17	0.04	0.07	0.36	0.10	0.21	0.12	0.12	0.04	0.65	0.17	0.02
CPeq total antipsychotics (mg/day)	-0.10	0.24	-0.08	0.33	-0.17	0.04	0.01	0.91	-0.13	0.10	-0.10	0.27	-0.13	0.09
Any psychotropic medication use (%)	-0.10	0.25	-0.10	0.25	-0.09	0.30	-0.18	0.04	-0.07	0.37	-0.15	0.10	-0.16	0.04
<healthy controls=""></healthy>	R <sup>2</sup>	= 0.19	R <sup>2</sup> .	= 0.09	R <sup>2</sup> =	= 0.02	R <sup>2</sup>	= 0.08	R <sup>2</sup> -	= 0.25	R <sup>2</sup> :	= 0.06	В2 :	= 0.22
Handgrip strength / body mass index (m <sup>2</sup> )	0.10	0.15	0.14	0.04	0.10	0.19	0.13	0.08	0.17	0.01	0.12	0.10	0.20	2.6.E-03
Age (years)	-0.37	5.7.E-12	-0.20	3.7.E-04	0.00	0.98	00.0	0.93	-0.37	9.9.E-13	-0.09	0.12	-0.28	1.3.E-07
Sex	0.25	2.3.E-04	0.07	0.35	0.10	0.19	0.24	1.1.E-03	0.27	4.5.E-05	0.02	0.78	0.25	1.7.E-04
Education (years)	0.08	0.12	0.16	4.8.E-03	0.15	0.01	0.25	1.2.E-05	0.18	3.1.E-04	0.18	1.6.E-03	0.27	3.7.E-07

C	١V
5	Ð
- 0	σ
5	2
	D
- 4	-
3	S
- 5	5
	0
T	-
-	ΰ
	σ
- 5	5
	~
- i	π.
-	-
	ų,
-	Ψ.
2	Υ.
ò	5
	~
ò	H.
	Š.
	2
- 2	X.
ć	ž
0	0
0	ò
-	÷.
- 2	ī
6	Ľ
č	5
- è	ธ
	ź
- i	Ď
7	7
-	¥
- 5	2
4	2
	5
	2
- 5	Ś
-	ş
	2
	2
5	Ð
ō	6
_	~
6	5
	5
1	2
6	ñ
- +	2
	D
3	5
- 3	5
1	5
	~
	-
8	Ξ
-	1 1
- + 60 m	
and for m	
tod for m	THAT IN THE
and for m	ACIER IN IN
motor for m	In In In In
and for m	ILLACIENTIN IN IN
m not for mo	In In Internet in Internet
a not for more	CONFECTED ION IN
1. comoched for m	1. CUITECIEU IUI III
74. comochod for m	I I' CONECIED IOI III
071. comotod for m	הי ו' נהוופרופת והו ווו
0074. comotod for m	nov I' contected to III
0.0071. comoched for m	n'nni i' collected tol III
0.0074. comoched for m	C N'NNY I': CONECIEN ION III
0.0071. comoched for m	< 0.00/ 1; CUITECIEU IOI 111
0 0071. comotod for m	$\alpha < \alpha \cdot \alpha \alpha \cdot 1$ ; corrected to the
(~ . 0.0074. comoched for m	b  < 0.001  is contected for the
a /a . 0 0074. compated for m	s(h < n'n'n') contected for $m$
m - 0 0074. compated for m	a   b  < 0.000  i  contected for the
hine / 0 0074. compated for m	$\ln e_{\rm c}$ ( $b < n \cdot n n + 1$ ; contected for the
interior / 0 0074. compated for m	values $(p < 0.007 + $
month of the second for months of the second f	-values $(p < 0.001 + 0.001 + 0.001)$
a victoria 10 0074. comostad for m	p-values $(p < n, uur i; contected for million$
to victime / 0 0074. competed for m	b halves $(b < 0.001 i)$ corrected for $b$
at a victoria /a 00074. compated for an	m p-values $(p < 0.007 m)$ contected for $m$
and a victime /a . 0.0074. compared for m	and $p$ -values $(p < 0.007 + $
Toront a victime (a . 0 0071, commeted for an	calif.p-values.(p < 0.001.1; collected to 111)
different a victime /a . 0 0071. competed for m	incart p-values $(p < 0.007 +$
initionates incluse /s . 0 0074. compared for m	f(f(a)) = f(a)
Varificant a victime /a . 0 0074. compated for m	$ \beta    Carrest p-values  p < 0.007  ; corrected to rin$
Dismificant a visition /a . 0 0071. compared for m	Significant p-values $(p < 0.001 + 0.001)$ corrected for m
· Olanificant a riching /a · O 0071. compared for m	$f_{i}$ olymicant p-values $p < 0.001$ i; corrected for $m$
. Configurate a such see /a . 0 0074. compared for m	se. Significant p-values $(p < 0.007.1)$ contected for m
and Dismitionates with an 10 0074. and for m	Use. Significant p-values $(p < 0.0071)$ contected for m
door Diamificant a values (a . 0 0071. compated for m	dose. Significant p-values $(p < 0.0071)$ ; contected for m
t door Diamitionat a value (a 100074. commeted for a	1  abse. Significant p-values ( p < 0.007 1; contected 107 m
at door Diamitionat a riching to 100071. commeted for m	in able. Significant p-values $(p < 0.0071; contected to m$
lant door Divertioned a values /a . 0 0071. compated for an	Here use significant p-values $(p < 0.0071)$ contested for m
clout door . Diamitionat a rick and a . 0.0071. compated for a	aren uose. Significan p-varies ( $p < 0.007$ 1; confected for m
inclosed doors. Dismifiscent a such see (a - 0 0074), as most of far as	valeri uose. Sigrificari, p-values ( $p < 0.007$ 1; corrected 10 m
initialized door Divertificant a value /a . 0.0074. compated for a	u valent uose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.001$ ); confected for $m$
auticulant dana Pirmitianat a suduna (a 0.0071. aamaatad far aa	duivalent dose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.007$ 1; confected for m
activities and the Constituent of the Constitute for a	equivalent dose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.007$ 1; confected for m
a continuitate dana Pianifianat a tahina /a - 0.0074. aamaatad far a	$\beta$ -equivalent uose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.007$ i; confected for m
an aminiated door Piercificant a richica (a	n = equivalent cose. Significant p-values (p < 0.007.1; contected for $n$
aine ear inclead door - Pirailisead a rich ac /a - 0 0074. comacted for a	zine-equivalent dose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.007$ 1; confected for m
arian and inclast dana Pinnificant a value (a - 0 0074, and and for a	$a_{ZIII}$ ie-equivalent dose. Significant p-values (p < 0.007 1; confected for m
montion and included door Diamitianation in the inclusion in . 0.0074. and and for m	nazine-equivalent cose. Significant p-values (p < 0.007.1; corrected for m
amortina activitations dona Picuaisiaans a tialitaa (n. 100074). aamortaal far m	$0.111a_{III}$ be equivalent uose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.0011$ ; confected for $111$
unamonia on inclant door Diamilianat a richara (n ) 0074. aamontad far m	nonnazine-equivalent dose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.001$ i; corrected for $m$
and the second	p promiazine-equivalent cose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.007$ 1; corrected for m
internation of the second s	or promitiazime-equivarient uose. Significant p-variues ( $p < 0.007$ 1; contected for m
and the second	no promazine-equivalent dose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.0071$ ; contected for m
the formation and included done. Of mail for the state of	critior prominizing-equivalent cose. Significant p-values (p < 0.007 1; corrected for m
ablamananina ani intent dana Dimitikant a tahina (a 0.0074) ani ana farina	$\frac{1}{2}$ , child promazili e-equivalent dose. Significant p-values (p < 0.007.1; confected for m
a obtava manina and hard dara Dianifinant a tadi a 100071. Ananatad far an	ed, critici prorriazine-equivalent dose. Significant p-values ( $p < 0.007$ 1; corrected for m

#### Hidese et al.







## **AUTHORS CONTRIBUTIONS**

SH designed, and HK supervised the study; JM, II, and MH assessed cognitive function by the BACS. SH, TT, MO, and KH determined psychiatric diagnoses and evaluated symptoms by the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; SH performed the statistical analysis and wrote the draft of the manuscript. All authors have approved the final manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This study was supported by Intramural Research Grants (24-11, 27-1, and 27-6) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders at National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry (HK) and Strategic

## REFERENCES

- Luna-Heredia E, Martin-Pena G, Ruiz-Galiana J. Handgrip dynamometry in healthy adults. *Clin Nutr.* (2005) 24:250–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2004.10.007
- Budziareck MB, Pureza Duarte RR, Barbosa-Silva MC. Reference values and determinants for handgrip strength in healthy subjects. *Clin Nutr.* (2008) 27:357–62. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2008.03.008
- 3. De Lima TR, Silva DAS, De Castro JAC, Christofaro DGD. Handgrip strength and associated sociodemographic and lifestyle factors: a systematic review of the adult population. *J Bodyw Mov Ther.* (2017) **21**:401–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2016.08.017
- Cooper R, Kuh D, Cooper C, Gale CR, Lawlor DA, Matthews F, et al. Objective measures of physical capability and subsequent health: a systematic review. *Age Ageing* (2011) 40:14–23. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq117
- Clouston SA, Brewster P, Kuh D, Richards M, Cooper R, Hardy R, et al. The dynamic relationship between physical function and cognition in longitudinal aging cohorts. *Epidemiol Rev.* (2013) 35:33–50. doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxs004
- Rijk JM, Roos PR, Deckx L, van den Akker M, Buntinx F. Prognostic value of handgrip strength in people aged 60 years and older: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* (2016) 16:5–20. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12508
- Fritz NE, Mccarthy CJ, Adamo DE. Handgrip strength as a means of monitoring progression of cognitive decline - a scoping review. Ageing Res Rev. (2017) 35:112–23. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2017.01.004
- Heinrichs RW, Zakzanis KK. Neurocognitive deficit in schizophrenia: a quantitative review of the evidence. *Neuropsychology* (1998) 12:426–45. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.12.3.426
- Harvey PD, Rosenthal JB. Cognitive and functional deficits in people with schizophrenia: Evidence for accelerated or exaggerated aging? *Schizophr Res.* (2017). doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.05.009
- Malchow B, Reich-Erkelenz D, Oertel-Knochel V, Keller, K, Hasan A, Schmitt A, et al. The effects of physical exercise in schizophrenia and affective disorders. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 263:451–67. doi: 10.1007/s00406-013-0423-2
- Strassnig M, Signorile J, Gonzalez C, Harvey PD. Physical performance and disability in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res Cogn.* (2014) 1:112–21. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2014.06.002
- 12. Rimes RR, De Souza Moura AM, Lamego MK, De Sa Filho AS, Manochio J, Paes F, et al. Effects of exercise on physical and mental health, and cognitive and brain functions in schizophrenia: clinical and experimental evidence. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets (2015) 14:1244–54. doi: 10.2174/1871527315666151111130659
- Firth J, Cotter J, Carney R, Yung AR. The pro-cognitive mechanisms of physical exercise in people with schizophrenia. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2017 174:3161–72. doi: 10.1111/bph.13772
- Chen LJ, Steptoe A, Chung MS, Ku PW. Association between actigraphy-derived physical activity and cognitive performance in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:2375–84. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716000921

Research Program for Brain Sciences from Japan Agency for Medical Research and development, AMED (HK). These funding sources were involved only in the financial support.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This paper was proofread by a scientific editor at Editage, Tokyo, Japan.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2018.00156/full#supplementary-material

- Snethen GA, Mccormick BP, Lysaker PH. Physical activity and psychiatric symptoms in adults with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2014) 202:845–52. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000216
- Vancampfort D, Probst M, Scheewe T, De Herdt A, Sweers K, Knapen J, et al. Relationships between physical fitness, physical activity, smoking and metabolic and mental health parameters in people with schizophrenia. (2013) *Psychiatry Res.* 207:25–32. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012. 09.026
- Nuttall FQ. Body mass index: obesity, BMI, and health: a critical review. Nutr Today (2015) 50:117–28. doi: 10.1097/NT.00000000000092
- Van Dyck D, Cerin E, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Hinckson E, Reis RS, Davey R, et al. International study of objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time with body mass index and obesity: IPEN adult study. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39, 199–207. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.115
- Manu P, Dima L, Shulman M, Vancampfort D, De Hert M, Correll CU. Weight gain and obesity in schizophrenia: epidemiology, pathobiology, and management. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2015) 132:97–108. doi: 10.1111/acps.12445
- Vancampfort D, Probst M, Knapen J, Carraro A, and De Hert M. Associations between sedentary behaviour and metabolic parameters in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2012a) 200:73–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.03.046
- 21. Soundy A, Roskell C, Stubbs B, Probst M, Vancampfort D. Investigating the benefits of sport participation for individuals with schizophrenia: a systematic review. *Psychiatr Danub.* (2015) **27**:2–13.
- Guo X, Zhang Z, Wei Q, Lv H, Wu R, Zhao J. The relationship between obesity and neurocognitive function in Chinese patients with schizophrenia. *BMC Psychiatry* (2013) 13:109. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-13-109
- Kimhy D, Vakhrusheva J, Bartels MN, Armstrong HF, Ballon JS, Khan S, et al. Aerobic fitness and body mass index in individuals with schizophrenia: implications for neurocognition and daily functioning. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 220:784–91. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014. 08.052
- Vancampfort D, Probst M, Sweers K, Maurissen K, Knapen J, Willems JB, et al. Eurofit test battery in patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder: reliability and clinical correlates. *Eur Psychiatry* (2012b) 27:416–21. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2011.01.009
- Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *J Clin Psychiatry* (1998) **59**(Suppl. 20), 22–33; quiz 34–57.
- 26. Otsubo T, Tanaka K, Koda R, Shinoda J, Sano N, Tanaka S, et al. Reliability and validity of Japanese version of the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2005) 59:517–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2005.01408.x
- 27. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (1994).

- World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *JAMA* (2013) 310:2191–4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281053
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- 30. Igarashi Y, Hayashi N, Yamashina M, Otsuka N, Kuroki N, Anzai N, et al. Interrater reliability of the Japanese version of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale and the appraisal of its training effect. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (1998) 52:467–70. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1819.1998.00425.x
- Keefe RS, Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Gold JM, Poe MP, Coughenour L. The Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia: reliability, sensitivity, and comparison with a standard neurocognitive battery. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 68:283–97. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2003.09.011
- Kaneda Y, Sumiyoshi T, Keefe R, Ishimoto Y, Numata S, Ohmori T. Brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: validation of the Japanese version. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2007) 61:602–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01725.x
- Inada T, Inagaki A. Psychotropic dose equivalence in Japan. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2015) 69:440–7. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12275
- World Health Organization. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. (2000) 894:i-xii, 1–253.
- Hidese S, Ota M, Matsuo J, Ishida I, Hiraishi M, Yoshida S, et al. Association of obesity with cognitive function and brain structure in patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2018) 225:188–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.08.028
- 36. Alahmari KA, Silvian SP, Reddy RS, Kakaraparthi VN, Ahmad I, Alam MM. Hand grip strength determination for healthy males in Saudi Arabia: a study of the relationship with age, body mass index, hand length and forearm circumference using a hand-held dynamometer. *J Int Med Res.* (2017) 45:540–8. doi: 10.1177/0300060516688976
- Bernardo TC, Marques-Aleixo I, Beleza J, Oliveira PJ, Ascensao A, Magalhaes J. Physical exercise and brain mitochondrial fitness: the possible role against Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Pathol.* (2016) 26:648–63. doi: 10.1111/bpa. 12403
- Koscak Tivadar B. Physical activity improves cognition: possible explanations. Biogerontology (2017) 18:477–83. doi: 10.1007/s10522-017-9708-6
- 39. Kimhy D, Vakhrusheva J, Bartels MN, Armstrong HF, Ballon JS, Khan S, et al. The Impact of aerobic exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor and

neurocognition in individuals with schizophrenia: a single-blind, randomized clinical trial. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) **41**:859–68. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv022

- Kimhy D, Lauriola V, Bartels MN, Armstrong HF, Vakhrusheva J, Ballon JS, et al. Aerobic exercise for cognitive deficits in schizophrenia - the impact of frequency, duration, and fidelity with target training intensity. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 172:213–5. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.01.055
- Nuechterlein KH, Ventura J, Mcewen SC, Gretchen-Doorly D, Vinogradov S, Subotnik KL. Enhancing cognitive training through aerobic exercise after a first schizophrenia episode: theoretical conception and pilot study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42(Suppl. 1):S44–S52. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw007
- Su CY, Wang PW, Lin YJ, Tang TC, Liu MF, Chen MD. The effects of aerobic exercise on cognition in schizophrenia: a 3-month follow-up study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2016) 244:394–402. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.08.011
- Kandola A, Hendrikse J, Lucassen PJ, Yucel M. Aerobic exercise as a tool to improve hippocampal plasticity and function in humans: practical implications for mental health treatment. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2016) 10:373. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00373
- Vakhrusheva J, Marino B, Stroup TS, Kimhy D. Aerobic exercise in people with schizophrenia: neural and neurocognitive benefits. *Curr Behav Neurosci Rep.* (2016) 3:165–75. doi: 10.1007/s40473-016-0077-2
- 45. Campos C, Rocha NBF, Lattari E, Nardi AE, Machado S. Exercise induced neuroplasticity to enhance therapeutic outcomes of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia: analyzing the Role of Brai Nderived Neurotrophic Factor. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets (2017) 16:638–51. doi: 10.2174/1871527315666161223142918
- Falkai P, Malchow B, Schmitt A. Aerobic exercise and its effects on cognition in schizophrenia. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* (2017) 30:171–5. doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000326

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Hidese, Matsuo, Ishida, Hiraishi, Teraishi, Ota, Hattori and Kunugi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Early Intervention and a Direction of Novel Therapeutics for the Improvement of Functional Outcomes in Schizophrenia: A Selective Review

Masayoshi Kurachi<sup>1\*</sup>, Tsutomu Takahashi<sup>2</sup>, Tomiki Sumiyoshi<sup>3</sup>, Takashi Uehara<sup>4</sup> and Michio Suzuki<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Arisawabashi Hospital, Toyama, Japan, <sup>2</sup>Department of Neuropsychiatry, Graduate School of Medicine, University of Toyama, Toyama, Japan, <sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Translational Medical Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>4</sup>Department of Neuropsychiatry, Kanazawa Medical University, Kanazawa, Japan

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

frontiers

in Psychiatry

#### Edited by:

Mark A. Elliott, National University of Ireland Galway, Ireland

#### Reviewed by:

Joshua T. Kantrowitz, Columbia University, United States Joanne P. M. Kenney, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Ireland

> \*Correspondence: Masayoshi Kurachi kurachi.masa@outlook.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 November 2017 Accepted: 30 January 2018 Published: 19 February 2018

#### Citation:

Kurachi M, Takahashi T, Sumiyoshi T, Uehara T and Suzuki M (2018) Early Intervention and a Direction of Novel Therapeutics for the Improvement of Functional Outcomes in Schizophrenia: A Selective Review. Front. Psychiatry 9:39. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00039 **Background:** A recent review reported that the median proportion of patients recovering from schizophrenia was 13.5% and that this did not change over time. Various factors including the duration of untreated psychosis, cognitive impairment, negative symptoms, and morphological changes in the brain influence the functional outcome of schizophrenia. The authors herein reviewed morphological changes in the brain of schizophrenia patients, effects of early intervention, and a direction of developing novel therapeutics to achieve significant improvement of the functional outcome.

**Methods:** A selective review of the literature including studies from our department was performed.

Results: Longitudinal structural neuroimaging studies on schizophrenia revealed that volume reductions in the peri-Sylvian regions (e.g., superior temporal gyrus and insula), which are related to positive psychotic symptoms, progress around the onset (critical stage) of schizophrenia, but become stable in the chronic stage. On the other hand, morphological changes in the fronto-thalamic regions and lateral ventricle, which are related to negative symptoms, neurocognitive dysfunction, and the functional outcome, progress during both the critical and chronic stages. These changes in the peri-Sylvian and fronto-thalamic regions may provide a pathophysiological basis for Crow's twosyndrome classification. Accumulated evidence from early intervention trials suggests that the transition risk from an at-risk mental state (ARMS) to psychosis is approximately 30%. Differences in the cognitive performance, event-related potentials (e.g., mismatch negativity), and brain morphology have been reported between ARMS subjects who later developed psychosis and those who did not. Whether early intervention for ARMS significantly improves the long-term recovery rate of schizophrenia patients remains unknown. With respect to the development of novel therapeutics, animal models of schizophrenia based on the N-methyl-p-aspartate receptor hypofunction hypothesis successfully mimicked behavioral changes associated with cognitive impairments

characteristic of the disease. Furthermore, these animal models elicited histological changes in the brain similar to those observed in schizophrenia patients, i.e., decreased numbers of parvalbumin-positive interneurons and dendritic spines of pyramidal neurons in the frontal cortex. Some antioxidant compounds were found to ameliorate these behavioral and histological abnormalities.

**Conclusion:** Early intervention coupled with novel therapeutics may offer a promising approach for substantial improvement of the functional outcome of schizophrenia patients.

Keywords: schizophrenia, functional outcome, early intervention, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, structural MRI

## INTRODUCTION

The functional outcome of schizophrenia patients has been a major concern in psychiatry. A systematic review of 50 studies from 1921 to 2011 (1) demonstrated that the median proportion of patients recovering from schizophrenia was 13.5% and that this did not change over time despite the progress in treatment in recent decades.

Various factors have been reported to influence the course and outcome of schizophrenia patients. The predictors of the 2-year outcome in the WHO 10-country study (2) were the age, sex, marital status, mode of onset (acute or insidious), duration of untreated psychosis (DUP), premorbid psychosocial functioning, close friends, drug abuse, and sociocultural setting, i.e., a developing versus a developed country. However, most of these factors except DUP and drug abuse are beyond clinical control.

Other important factors include neurocognitive dysfunctions (3-6), negative symptoms (7, 8), and alterations in brain morphology (9-11). Although antipsychotic medications are effective for reducing positive psychotic symptoms, these symptoms including first-rank symptoms showed no significant correlation with the outcome of schizophrenia patients (2, 3). The improvements of cognitive impairment and negative symptoms are not satisfactory with the current treatment, and they may have pathophysiologies that differ from those of positive symptoms. It should be noted that there is compelling evidence that the progressive enlargement of the lateral ventricles is closely related to the outcome of schizophrenia patients (9-11). These morphological brain changes should be the target of novel therapeutics.

Duration of untreated psychosis, neurocognitive dysfunctions, negative symptoms, and brain morphology are potentially controllable by medicine. An effective method to substantially improve the functional outcome would be to develop a therapeutic strategy to control these factors. Therefore, the authors reviewed studies on morphological changes in the brain of schizophrenia patients, early intervention, and a direction of developing novel therapeutics.

## METHODS

The method was a selective review of the literature including studies from the authors' department. Concerning studies on morphological brain changes associated with functional outcome in schizophrenia patients, the authors searched PubMed using the keywords: "MRI," "functional outcome," and "schizophrenia." Combination with the author's previous manual list resulted in 15 publications relevant to the present theme as shown in **Table 1**. Some of these studies were the starting point of this review. In the section of novel therapeutics, potential candidate compounds are described, capable of ameliorating the histological brain changes in schizophrenia patients.

## STRUCTURAL MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING STUDIES ON SCHIZOPHRENIA

#### **Region of Interest Method**

Structural magnetic resonance imaging (sMRI) studies using the region of interest method have demonstrated significant volume reductions in schizophrenia patients mainly in three brain regions: the medial temporal lobe structures (hippocampus and amyg-dala), peri-Sylvian regions (superior temporal gyrus and insula), and prefrontal areas including fronto-thalamic connections, compared with healthy control subjects. We noted the difference in brain morphology between patients with schizophrenia and subjects with schizotypal (personality) disorder or first-degree relatives of the patients to differentiate the disease process from risk- or vulnerability-associated changes.

Among the three regions, volume reductions in the medial temporal lobe structures have been confirmed in schizophrenia patients (24). However, these changes may represent a risk of or vulnerability to the disease, as pointed out by Seidman et al. (25), since these changes were also seen to the same extent in schizotypal (personality) disorder and first-degree relatives of patients with schizophrenia (25–27). A meta-analysis of longitudinal sMRI studies on schizophrenia (28) showed no evidence to suggest progressive medial temporal lobe involvement.

Volume reductions in the superior temporal gyrus were seen in both schizophrenia and schizotypal disorder patients (29, 30). However, the changes in schizophrenia patients were more widespread than in schizotypal disorder patients: the changes extended to Heshcl's gyrus and the planum polare in schizophrenia, but not in schizotypal disorder (30). In longitudinal studies, progressive decreases in the gray matter volume in the left superior temporal gyrus were noted in first-episode schizophrenia patients (31, 32). During the chronic stage, however, no significant progressive changes of the superior temporal gyrus were seen in schizophrenia patients using the region of interest method (33, 34).

Study	Year	Subjects	Methods (intervals between scans)	Findings
Davis et al. (9)	1998	53 chronic patients (22 Kraepelinian and 31 non-Kraepelinian)	Longitudinal CT (mean intervals of 5 years)	The ventricles showed a bilateral increase in size over 4-year interval in the Kraepelinian subgroup, more marked in the left hemisphere than the right
Lieberman et al. (10)	2001	51 first-episode patients and 13 controls	Longitudinal MRI (at least 12 months)	Progressive ventricular enlargement in patients with poor outcome schizophrenia
Ho et al. (12)	2003	73 recent-onset patients and 23 controls	Longitudinal MRI (mean intervals of 3 years)	Patients with poor outcome had a greater lateral ventricular enlargement over time than patients with good outcome
Brickman et al. (13)	2004	106 chronic patients and 42 controls	MRI	Patients showed significantly smaller thalamic areas, and the effects were most marked in the patients with poor outcome
Mitelman et al. (14)	2005	37 chronic patients and 37 controls	MRI	Poor outcome subgroup exhibited significant bilateral gray matter deficits in posterior cingulate and retrosplenial cortices compared to good outcome patients
Cahn et al. (15)	2006	31 first-episode patients	Longitudinal MRI (1 year) and 5-year outcome	Progressive brain volume changes of gray matter during the first year of illness were significantly associated with clinical and functional outcome 5 years after the first episode
Mitelman et al. (16)	2006	104 chronic patients (51 good outcome and 53 poor outcome) and 41 controls	Diffusion tensor imaging	Overall white matter fractional anisotropy was reduced in patients with poor outcomes in both hemispheres
Wood et al. (17)	2006	46 patients with first-episode psychosis	Proton MRS	Low scores on the NAA/Cr ratio in the prefrontal cortex were related to poorer outcome
van Haren et al. (11)	2008	96 patients and 113 controls	Longitudinal MRI (over 5 years)	Poor outcome patients showed more brain tissue loss during the follow-up interval than good outcome patients
Wobrock et al. (18)	2009	45 first-episode patients	MRI, follow-up to 1 year	A significant reduced area of the left anterior limb of the internal capsule in patients with clinically relevant deterioration compared to those with stable psychopathology
Mitelman et al. (19)	2009	Chronic schizophrenia (26 poor outcome and 23 good outcome patients) and 16 controls	Longitudinal MRI (4 years)	The rate of decline in volumes of the putamen was greater in patients with poor outcome than in the good outcome group
Mitelman et al. (20)	2010	49 chronic patients and 16 controls	Longitudinal MRI (4 years)	Progressive enlargement of the posterior horn in the poor outcome (Kraepelinian) group
van Haren et al. (21)	2011	96 patients and 113 controls	Longitudinal MRI, vertex- by-vertex basis (5 years)	Frontal and temporal cortices showed excessive thinning over time, possibly related to outcome and medication intake
Tully et al. (22)	2014	26 patients and 29 controls	MRI, surface-based morphometry	Cognitive control fully mediated the relationship between cortical thickness in the superior frontal gyrus and role functioning
Dusi et al. (23)	2017	Chronic schizophrenia (35 poor outcome, 35 good outcome patients, and 76 controls)	Longitudinal MRI (3 years)	At baseline, poor outcome patients showed significantly decreased right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) white matter volumes compared to controls, with shrinkage of left DLPFC white matter volumes at follow-up

TABLE 1 | Morphological changes in the brain related to the functional outcome in schizophrenia patients.

Volume reduction in the insular cortex was noted in schizophrenia patients but not in schizotypal patients compared with healthy control subjects (35, 36). On longitudinal comparison, first-episode patients showed a significant gray matter reduction of the insular cortex over time compared with controls (37, 38). In chronic schizophrenia patients, however, no significant changes were found (38).

Thus, volume reductions in the superior temporal gyrus and insular cortex have been shown to progress during the first episode, but they may become stable in the chronic stage.

With regard to the prefrontal areas, schizophrenia patients showed reductions in the volume of the anterior cingulate gyrus, dorsolateral prefrontal areas (superior, middle, and inferior frontal gyri), and straight gyrus, while schizotypal patients had larger volumes of the bilateral middle frontal gyrus (26) or Brodmann area 10 (39) compared with healthy controls. Yamasue et al. (40) demonstrated that the effect size of volume reductions in schizophrenia patients was largest in the anterior cingulate gyrus among prefrontal and temporolimbic regions (superior temporal gyrus, amygdale– hippocampus complex, insula, and anterior cingulate gyrus).

In longitudinal studies, early schizophrenia patients showed a progressive reduction in the frontal lobe white matter volume, which was associated with more negative symptoms (12). A meta-analysis of 27 longitudinal volumetric studies (28) revealed that patients with schizophrenia showed significantly greater decreases over time in the frontal gray and white matter, parietal white matter, and temporal white matter volumes than healthy controls. Thus, frontal lobe alterations in schizophrenia may progress in patients, at least in part, through the first episode and chronic stage. Slight but significant enlargement of the lateral ventricle, especially in the left hemisphere, is one of the most consistent morphological brain changes in schizophrenia patients (41, 42). This enlargement is most likely due to the volume reductions of the adjacent white matter of the brain. With regard to this, Suzuki et al. (43) and Zhou et al. (44) reported white matter reductions in the anterior limb of the internal capsule in schizophrenia patients. It is interesting to note that bidirectional glutamatergic fronto-thalamic fibers pass through the anterior limb of the internal capsule. In longitudinal studies on first-episode schizophrenia, it was found that poor outcome patients showed an increase in the ventricle volume over time, whereas the ventricle volume of good outcome patients and controls did not change (10). In chronic schizophrenia, progressive ventricle enlargement has also been reported in poor outcome patients (9, 11).

#### Voxel-Based Morphometry (VBM)

The VBM method has the advantage of being able to explore local morphological changes in the whole brain. Suzuki et al. (43) using voxel-based analysis, reported that the gray matter in schizophrenia patients was significantly reduced in the medial temporal, left superior temporal, left middle and inferior frontal, right inferior frontal, and bilateral anterior cingulate areas compared with healthy controls.

Kawasaki et al. (45) studied gray matter changes in schizophrenia and schizotypal disorder patients compared with healthy controls by VBM of three-dimensional MRI. They found that the volume of the medial temporal lobe structure and superior temporal gyrus was reduced in both schizophrenia and schizotypal disorder patients compared with healthy controls, whereas volume reductions in the frontal gyri were prominent only in schizophrenia patients.

Subsequent meta-analyses of VBM studies (46, 47) revealed gray matter reduction in a network of frontal, temporal, thalamic, and striatal regions in schizophrenia patients relative to healthy comparison subjects. Despite some discrepancies (48), these results are consistent with those using the region of interest method and support the view of Siever and Davis (49) and Kurachi (50) that frontal lobe alterations play a crucial role in the development of schizophrenia.

Honea et al. (51), using the VBM method, demonstrated that schizophrenia patients showed volume reductions in the bilateral superior and middle frontal gyri, left inferior frontal gyrus, and right thalamus compared with their unaffected siblings with no history. Furthermore, Hao et al. (52), using voxel-based analysis of diffusion tensor imaging, demonstrated that both schizophrenia patients and their healthy siblings showed reduced white matter fractional anisotropy in the left prefrontal cortex and hippocampus in comparison with healthy controls, while only schizophrenia patients exhibited reduced white matter fractional anisotropy in the left anterior cingulate cortex in comparison with both siblings and controls.

Thus, cross-sectional region of interest as well as VBM sMRI studies showed volume reductions in medial temporal lobe structures, peri-Sylvian regions, and prefrontal areas including fronto-thalamic connections in schizophrenia patients compared with healthy controls. Longitudinally, volume reduction in the peri-Sylvian regions (e.g., superior temporal gyrus and insula) progressed during the first episode, but became stable in the chronic stage. On the other hand, morphological changes in the frontal lobe and lateral ventricle progressed through the first episode and chronic stage.

## CLINICAL CORRELATES OF MORPHOLOGICAL CHANGES IN SCHIZOPHRENIA AND A PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL MODEL

Several studies have reported clinical correlates of morphological changes in schizophrenia patients. Auditory hallucinations have been reported to be associated with gray matter volume reductions in the left (anterior) superior temporal gyrus and Heschl's gyri by the region of interest method (30, 53) and a subsequent VBM study (54).

Shenton et al. (55) reported that the severity of formal thought disorder was negatively correlated with the volume of the left posterior superior temporal gyrus, and a VBM study (56) also showed the correlation with the gray matter volume reduction within the left temporal lobe in addition to the right middle orbital and cuneus/lingual gyri.

According to the study by Takahashi et al. (38), the gray matter loss of the left insular cortex over time in first-episode patients was correlated with the severity of positive and negative symptoms on follow-up.

Thus, the structural alterations in the peri-Sylvian regions (e.g., superior temporal gyrus and insula) were related to positive psychotic symptoms such as auditory hallucinations, thought disorder, and possibly delusions.

With regard to negative symptoms, a correlation with functional and structural alterations in prefrontal areas and the medial thalamus has been reported (12, 57). This correlation was clearly evidenced by a VBM study (58) although insular gray matter volume may also be involved in negative symptoms (59).

In addition to positive and negative symptoms, neurocognitive dysfunctions, especially executive dysfunctions, are an important aspect of schizophrenia, since they are related to the functional outcome (3). A meta-analysis of 41 functional neuroimaging studies of the executive function in schizophrenia patients (60) revealed that patients with schizophrenia showed reduced activity in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus. Consistent with this, a sMRI study showed that the executive dysfunctions were correlated with volume reduction in the bilateral dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia patients (61). Regarding memory impairment, deficits in memory organization have been shown to be a characteristic feature in schizophrenia patients (62). Memory organization deficits were related to volume reduction in the prefrontal cortex (63).

Studies on the morphological brain changes related to the functional outcome in schizophrenia patients are summarized in **Table 1**. First, in accordance with the report by Keefe et al. (64), which suggested morphological brain changes, e.g., ventricle enlargement, in the Kraepelinian (most severely deteriorated) chronic schizophrenic patients, progressive enlargement of the

lateral ventricle has been one of the most consistent findings in poor outcome patients (9–12). This enlargement is at least in part derived from the volume reduction of the anterior limb of the internal capsule, through which the bidirectional fronto-thalamic fibers pass. Volume reductions in the anterior limb of the internal capsule in schizophrenia patients were related to verbal and spatial memory (65) and the social outcome (18). Furthermore, a marked reduction in sleep spindles in schizophrenia patients also suggests impairment of the thalamo-frontal circuitry in this disease (66–68).

Second, prefrontal alterations were reported to be related to a poor outcome in schizophrenia patients (17, 22, 23). Notably, Tully et al. (22) reported that the relationship between the prefrontal alterations and poor outcome were mediated by impaired cognitive control (category fluency).

Third, other brain areas were also mentioned (11, 16, 21). van Haren et al. (21) reported progressive decreases in the cortical thickness in the superior temporal cortex as well as anterior cingulate cortex in patients with poor outcomes based on the vertex-by-vertex method. These findings appear to disagree with the results using the region of interest method (33, 34). In addition, the study by van Haren et al. is characterized by a large sample with a wide ranging duration of illness.

With regard to outcome measures, clinical criteria by Keefe et al. (64) have been frequently used as well as the Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) score. In 2013, the American Psychiatric Association (69), instead of the GAF, adopted the WHO Disability Assessment Schedule (WHODAS 2.0) in Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-5.

To briefly summarize, volume reductions in the peri-Sylvian regions are mainly related to positive symptoms, whereas alterations in the regions composing the fronto-thalamic circuitry are mainly related to negative symptoms, executive functions, and the functional outcome. These two types may be called the peri-Sylvian type and fronto-thalamic type, respectively, and this model may provide a pathophysiological basis for Crow's (70) positive and negative syndrome classification (**Table 2**). Traditional simple

Туре	Peri-Sylvian type	Fronto-thalamic type
Brain regions involved	Superior temporal gyrus, insula	Anterior cingulate gyrus Dorsolateral prefrontal gyrus Dorsomedial thalamus
Chemical pathology	Excessive DA neurotransmission	Imbalance in glutamate-GABA system
Clinical manifestations	Positive symptoms (delusions, hallucinations, disorganized speech)	Negative symptoms (diminished emotional expression, avolition) Executive dysfunctions Disability in social functioning
Clinical course	Progressive during the prodromal and first-episode stages, but stable in the chronic stage	Progressive both in the first episode and chronic stages
Responsiveness to treatment	Responsive	Refractory

DA, dopamine; GABA, gamma-aminobutyric acid.

type schizophrenia is a good example of the fronto-thalamic type, as evidenced by Suzuki et al. (71). This model could explain why positive psychotic symptoms are not significantly correlated with the functional outcome, since it proposes that positive psychotic symptoms and the functional outcome have distinct underlying pathophysiologies.

From the viewpoint of this pathophysiological model, it is noteworthy that the morphological brain changes in schizophrenia patients of discordant and concordant twins are not identical. According to a VBM study (72), patients with schizophrenia of discordant twins showed volume reductions in peri-Sylvian regions as well as the fronto-thalamic circuitry, whereas patients with schizophrenia of concordant twins showed volume reductions in the fronto-thalamic circuitry, but not in the peri-Sylvian regions.

#### EARLY INTERVENTION

Early intervention consists of two parts: one is early intervention in first-episode psychosis, and the other is that toward the prodromal phase. The main aim of early intervention in firstepisode psychosis is to reduce the DUP. Hegelstad et al. (73) studied the effect of this reduction on the 10-year outcome. As a result, 30.7% of the patients from the early-detection area (a median DUP of 5 weeks) fulfilled recovery criteria, while only 15.1% of the patients from the usual-detection area (a median DUP of 16 weeks) did so. For the further improvement of the recovery rate, early intervention toward the prodromal phase would be required.

Since a prodrome is a retrospective concept, the term of "at-risk mental state (ARMS)" has been used in prospective trials (74). Early intervention for help-seeking individuals with ARMS will be necessary, since such subjects suffer the distress of symptoms and are liable to develop disability in functioning.

Importantly, in longitudinal studies, volume reductions in the planum temporale, caudal superior temporal gyrus, and insular cortex progressed in ultra-high-risk (UHR) subjects who later developed psychosis compared with controls or UHR subjects who did not develop it (32, 75). Hence, volume reductions in the peri-Sylvian regions (e.g., superior temporal gyrus and insula) have been shown to progress during the prodromal phase.

The transition risk from ARMS to psychosis was 29–36% over a 2- to 3-year follow-up (76). This figure is markedly higher than the incidence rate of psychosis in the general population, but it should be noted that two-thirds of subjects were false positive using these ARMS criteria.

Thus, for an indicated early intervention, it is necessary to diagnose those who are truly in the prodromal phase among ARMS patients. Effective examination would detect the subclinical pathophysiological process. In accordance with this, several candidate biomarkers have been reported, such as the neurocognitive function, event-related potential, and sMRI. In addition, the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory may be a useful tool to assess the risk of transition to psychosis.

The cognitive function is impaired in ARMS patients as well as in first-episode and chronic schizophrenia patients (6). In particular, the verbal memory and executive functions of ARMS subjects who later developed psychosis were reported to be lower than in those who did not develop psychosis (77–79). Notably, ARMS patients who developed psychosis or did not show remission during the 2-year follow-up showed a similar impairment in the global cognitive function at the baseline to that in first-episode psychosis patients (79). In addition, the disease transition was predicted by multivariate pattern recognition of the neurocognitive performance (78).

Mismatch negativity (MNN) is a component of event-related potentials that reflects preattentive auditory sensory memory. MMN amplitudes are likely to provide an index of *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor-mediated neurotransmissions (80–82). It has been reported that converters to psychosis elicit a reduced amplitude of duration MMN (dMMN), i.e., MMN in response to duration deviants, relative to non-converters (83–85). Hence, it may be possible to use dMMN to predict the conversion from ARMS to psychosis (86, 87).

Concerning the morphological changes in the brain, Koutsouleris et al. (88) revealed that ARMS patients with subsequent disease transition showed prefrontal alterations relative to those in ARMS patients without subsequent disease transition and healthy controls. Subsequently, Koutsouleris et al. (78) showed that the early prediction of psychosis may be reliably enhanced using neuroanatomical pattern recognition at the single-subject level.

A systematic review and meta-analysis (89) demonstrated decreased prefrontal, cingulate, insular, and cerebellar gray matter volumes in high-risk subjects with subsequent transition to psychosis compared with high-risk subjects without transition. In particular, the thickness of the anterior cingulate gyrus was significantly reduced in individuals with ARMS who later developed psychosis relative to healthy subjects (47, 90, 91). These findings, together with those by Yamasue et al. (40) and Hao et al. (52), described in the previous section, suggest the crucial role of the anterior cingulate gyrus in the emergence of schizophrenic symptoms, in which self-disturbance might be fundamental (92, 93).

With regard to the dorsolateral frontal cortex, Reniers et al. (94) reported that lower baseline gray matter densities in the middle and inferior frontal gyri were significantly correlated with a decline in the GAF score over the follow-up, regardless of the transition status or persistence of ARMS. These findings along with the Kopelowicz et al.'s report (5) that frontal lobe functioning (executive function, verbal fluency, and verbal working memory) was associated with recovery from schizophrenia suggest the significance of the prefrontal lobe in social functioning and recovery from this condition.

Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory, consisting of 550 questionnaires, is an established tool to assess personality and psychopathology (95). In our experience in the early intervention project, high scores on Scale 8 (schizophrenia) were associated with subsequent transition to psychosis (96). Subtle alterations of subjective experience may precede changes in objective measures as stated by Klosterkötter et al. (97) and Parnas and Handest (98).

Concerning the early intervention trials including antipsychotic medication or psychological intervention for ARMS patients, a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials revealed that the overall risk of transition to psychosis was reduced by 54% at the 12-month follow-up (99). In view of the report that cognitive remediation improved memory and psychosocial functioning in first-episode psychiatric outpatients (100) and functional connectivity in early-course schizophrenia patients (101), cognitive remediation may also be effective for ARMS patients.

Whether early intervention in the prodromal phase significantly improves the long-term recovery rate of schizophrenia patients remains elusive. To answer this question, follow-up studies of ARMS patients who subsequently developed psychosis are needed.

In the next section, potential candidate compounds are described, capable of ameliorating the subclinical pathophysiological process, particularly, the histological brain changes in schizophrenia patients.

## A DIRECTION OF NOVEL THERAPEUTICS

The understanding of the disease is composed of three levels: symptomatic, pathophysiological, and etiological. Therapeutics have been developed corresponding to these three levels. Current pharmacotherapy for schizophrenia remains at the symptomatic level, and so the long-term recovery rate has not changed, as described in the previous session. Owing to the recent development of technologies in neuroscience, our understanding of the pathophysiological disease process of schizophrenia has markedly progressed.

Olney and Farber (102) proposed that NMDA receptor hypofunction was a key mechanism that can help explain major clinical and pathophysiological aspects of schizophrenia, including the occurrence of structural brain changes, and stated that NMDA receptor hypofunction on GABAegic neurons would reduce inhibitory control over multiple downstream neurons.

Garey et al. (103). and Glantz and Lewis (104) reported a reduced dendritic spine density on pyramidal neurons in layer of the prefrontal and temporal cortex in postmortem brains of schizophrenia patients, and this was considered to explain the loss of cortical volume without the loss of neurons under this condition.

Furthermore, Reynolds et al. (105) and Zhang and Reynolds (106) reported a loss of parvalbumin–immunoreactive interneurons in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and hippocampus in schizophrenia patients. Chung et al. (107) demonstrated that the excitatory synapse density is selectively lower on parvalbumin interneurons in schizophrenia patients and that this may lead to the alterations of cortical gamma oscillations and working memory dysfunction.

Thus, a reduced dendritic spine density on pyramidal neurons and a loss of parvalbumin–immunoreactive interneurons in the cerebral cortex may be core features of histological changes in the brain of schizophrenia patients.

Importantly, animal models of schizophrenia, constructed on the basis of the NMDA receptor hypofunction hypothesis, successfully mimic these histological changes in the brain of schizophrenia.

Nakatani-Pawlak et al. (108) reported that mice neonatally treated with phencyclidine showed impairments of spatial working memory and social interaction behavior in adulthood, in
addition to decreases in the number of parvalbumin-positive cells and spine density in the frontal cortex, nucleus accumbens, and hippocampus. Uehara et al. (109, 110) also reported augmented MAP-induced hyperlocomotion, sensorimotor gating deficits, and a loss of GABAergic parvalbumin-positive neurons in rats neonatally exposed to MK-801, an antagonist of the NMDA receptor.

Thus, utilizing these rodent animal models, it became possible to explore or develop novel therapeutics to improve cognitive deficits and the histological changes in the brain of schizophrenia patients.

There may be at least two approaches to develop novel therapeutics. One is to stimulate the glycine/D-serine modulatory site on the NMDA receptor with glycine (111) or D-serine (112). Another strategy is to explore medicines that ameliorate dysfunctional GABAergic neurons. The latter strategy is based on the concept that the hypofunction of NMDA receptors located on GABAergic neurons leads to the attenuated activity of GABAergic neurons, and this, in turn, produces abnormal gamma oscillations and cognitive deficits in schizophrenia patients (113).

Based on these lines, several candidate compounds have been reported. First, the ketamine-induced loss of parvalbuminpositive interneurons has been reported by an increase in brain superoxide due to the activation of NADPH oxidase in neurons (114). Subsequently, Zhang et al. (115) reported that apocynin, an inhibitor of NADPH oxidase, attenuated the cognitive impairments and downregulation of parvalbumin and glutamic acid decarboxylase 67 in rats after repeated ketamine exposure during the neonatal period.

Second, Shirai et al. (116) reported that the antioxidant sulforaphane, found in cruciferous vegetables, significantly attenuated hyperlocomotion and the prepulse inhibition deficits in mice after phencyclidine administration. Furthermore, the dietary intake of sulforaphane-rich broccoli sprout extracts attenuated cognitive deficits and the decrease in parvalbumin-positive cells in the medial prefrontal cortex and hippocampus of these mice (117).

Third, Uehara et al. (110, 118) found that T-817MA, a novel neurotrophic agent, restores parvalbumin-positive GABAergic neurons in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus of the rat models described above. Haloperidol and risperidone showed no such effect. T-817MA is a newly synthesized agent that was developed for the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease, and it is markedly protective against A $\beta$ -induced or H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced neuronal death (119).

Furthermore, Nakamura et al. (120) reported that the oral administration of T-817MA ameliorated behavioral, histological, and neurophysiological changes, such as deficits in prepulse inhibition, reduced levels of parvalbumin-immunoreactive neurons in the medial prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and amygdala, and a deficit in the auditory phase-locked gamma oscillation in a mouse model of schizophrenia. The modulation of gamma band activity is noteworthy, because abnormal gamma band activity is thought to underlie the psychosis and cognitive deficits, and is considered a target for potential therapeutic interventions (113).

These compounds have antioxidant effects in common (114, 116, 119). In accordance with this, the antioxidant N-acetyl

cysteine was reported to prevent the reduction of prefrontal parvalbumin interneuron activity as well as electrophysiological and behavioral deficits in the animal models of schizophrenia (121).

Considering that the dysfunction of parvalbumin-positive GABAergic neurons by NMDA receptor antagonists was mediated by oxidative mechanisms (114), some antioxidants might be novel therapeutics or lead compounds to ameliorate the cognitive deficits and histological disease process in schizophrenia patients.

## CONCLUSION

Structural neuroimaging studies on schizophrenia revealed that volume reductions in the peri-Sylvian regions are mainly related to positive symptoms, whereas alterations in the fronto-thalamic regions are mainly related to negative symptoms, executive functions, and the functional outcome. These two types, i.e., the peri-Sylvian type and fronto-thalamic type, may provide a pathophysiological basis for Crow's (70) positive and negative syndrome classification. This model may explain why positive psychotic symptoms are not significantly correlated with the functional outcome, since it proposes that positive psychotic symptoms and functional outcomes are associated with distinct pathophysiology.

Accumulated evidence from early intervention trials suggests that the transition rate to psychosis is approximately 30% among individuals with ARMS. Differences in the cognitive performance, MNN, and brain morphology have been reported between ARMS patients who later develop psychosis and those who do not. The prefrontal lobe function may have a significant role in social functioning and recovery from schizophrenia. Whether early intervention for ARMS significantly improves the long-term recovery rate of schizophrenia patients remains elusive.

With respect to the development of novel therapeutics, animal models of schizophrenia based on the *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor hypofunction hypothesis showed histological changes in the brain that successfully mimicked those in the postmortem brains of schizophrenia patients, i.e., decreased numbers of parvalbumin-positive interneurons and dendritic spines of pyramidal neurons in the frontal cortex, in addition to behavioral abnormalities associated with cognitive impairment. Some anti-oxidant compounds, e.g., apocynin, sulforaphane, and T-817MA, have been found to ameliorate histological changes in the brain and cognitive dysfunction in these animal models.

In conclusion, early intervention coupled with novel therapeutics, herein reviewed, may provide a promising strategy to substantially improve the functional outcome of schizophrenia patients. However, further studies are needed to evaluate the functional outcome in relation to these therapeutic strategies, which is beyond the scope of this review.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK wrote the first draft of the manuscript. TT, TS, TU, and MS contributed to the cited studies and discussed the content of this manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- Jääskeläinen E, Juola P, Hirvonen N, McGrath JJ, Saha S, Isohanni M, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of recovery in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull (2013) 39:1296–306. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbs130
- Jablensky A. Course and outcome of schizophrenia and their prediction. 2nd ed. In: Gelder MG, Andreasen NC, López-Ibor JJ Jr, Geddes JR, editors. *New Oxford Textbook of Psychiatry*. (Vol. 1), Oxford: Oxford University Press (2009). p. 568–78.
- 3. Green MF. What are the functional consequences of neurocognition deficits in schizophrenia? *Am J Psychiatry* (1996) 153:321–30. doi:10.1176/ajp.153.3.321
- Green MF, Kern RS, Heaton RK. Longitudinal studies of cognition and functional outcome in schizophrenia; implication for MATRICS. *Schizophr Res* (2004) 72:41–51. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2004.09.009
- Kopelowicz A, Liberman RP, Ventura J, Zarate R, Mintz J. Neurocogntive correlates of recovery from schizophrenia psychol. *Psychol Med* (2005) 35:1165–73. doi:10.1017/S0033291705004575
- Higuchi Y, Sumiyoshi T, Seo T, Suga M, Takahashi T, Nishiyama S, et al. Associations between daily living skills, cognition, and real-world functioning across stages of schizophrenia; a study with the Schizophrenia Cognition Rating Scale Japanese version. *Schizophr Res Cognition* (2017) 7:13–8. doi:10.1016/j.scog.2017.01.001
- Milev P, Ho B-C, Arndt S, Andreasen NC. Predictive values of neurocognition and negative symptoms on functional outcome in schizophrenia; a longitudinal first-episode study with 7-year follow-up. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162:495–506. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.3.495
- Albert N, Bertelsen M, Thorup A, Petersen P, Le Quak P, Krarup G, et al. Predictors of recovery from psychosis. Analyses of clinical and social factors associated with recovery among patients with first-episode psychosis after 5 years. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 125:257–66. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2010.10.013
- Davis KL, Buchsbaum MS, Shihabuddin L, Spiegel-Cohen J, Metzger M, Frecska E, et al. Ventricular enlargement in poor-outcome schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (1998) 43:783–93. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(97)00553-2
- Lieberman J, Chakos M, Wu HJ, Alvir J, Hoffman E, Robinson D, et al. Longitudinal study of brain morphology in first episode schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2001) 49:487–99. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01067-8
- van Haren NE, Hulshoff Pol HE, Schnack HG, Cahn W, Brans R, Carati I, et al. Progressive brain volume loss in schizophrenia over the course of the illness: evidence of maturational abnormalities in early adulthood. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 63:106–13. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.01.004
- Ho BC, Andreasen NC, Nopoulos P, Arndt S, Magnotta V, Flaum M. Progressive structural brain abnormalities and their relationship to clinical outcome. A longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study early in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2003) 60:585–94. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.60.6.585
- Brickman AM, Buchsbaum MS, Shihabuddin L, Byne W, Newmark RE, Brand J, et al. Thalamus size and outcome in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2004) 71:473–84. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2004.03.011
- Mitelman SA, Shihabuddin L, Brickman AM, Hazlett EA, Buchsbaum MS. Volume of the cingulate and outcome in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2005) 72:91–108. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2004.02.011
- Cahn W, van Haren NE, Hushoff Pol HE, Shnack HG, Caspers E, Laponde DA, et al. Brain volume changes in the first year of illness and 5-year outcome of schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry* (2006) 169:381–2. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.105. 015701
- MitelmanSA,NeumarkRE,TorosJanY,ChuKW,BrickmanAM,HaznedarMM, et al. White matter fractional anisotropy and outcome in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2006) 87:138–59. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2006.06.016
- Wood SJ, Berger GE, Labert M, Conus P, Velakoulis D, Stuart GW, et al. Prediction of functional outcome 18 months after a first psychotic episode: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2006) 63:969–76. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.63.9.969
- Wobrock T, Gruber O, Schneider-Axmann T, Wölwer W, Gaebel W, Riesbeck M, et al. Internal capsule size associated with outcome in first-episode schizophrenia. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2009) 259:278–83. doi:10.1007/ s00406-008-0867-y
- Mitelman SA, Canfield EL, Chu KW, Brickman AM, Shihabuddin L, Hazlett EA, et al. Poor outcome in chronic schizophrenia is associated with progressive loss of volume of the putamen. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 113:241–5. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2009.06.022

- Mitelman SA, Canfield EL, Brickman AM, Shihabuddin L, Hazlett EA, Buchsbaum MS. Progressive ventricular expansion in chronic poor-outcome schizophrenia. *Cogn Behav Neurol* (2010) 23:85–8. doi:10.1097/ WNN.0b013e3181cfb52a
- van Haren NE, Schnack HG, Cahn W, van den Heuvel MP, Lepage C, Collins L, et al. Changes in cortical thickness during the course of illness in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2011) 68:871–80. doi:10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2011.88
- Tully LM, Lincoln SH, Liyanage-Don N, Hooker CI. Impaired cognitive control mediates the relationship between cortical thickness of the superior frontal gyrus and role functioning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 152:358–64. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.12.005
- Dusi N, Bellani M, Perlini C, Squarcina L, Marinelli V, Finos L, et al. Progressive disability and prefrontal shrinkage in schizophrenia patients with poor outcome: a 3-year longitudinal study. *Schizophr Res* (2017) 179:104–11. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.09.013
- Shepherd AM, Laurens KR, Matheson SL, Carr VJ, Green MJ. Systematic meta-review and quality assessment of the structural brain alterations in schizophrenia. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2012) 36:1342–56. doi:10.1016/j. neubiorev.2011.12.015
- Seidman LJ, Faraone SV, Goldstein JM, Kremen WS, Horton NJ, Makris N, et al. Left hippocampal volume as a vulnerability indicator for schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2002) 59:839–49. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.59.9.839
- Suzuki M, Zhou S-Y, Takahashi T, Hagion H, Kawasaki Y, Niu L, et al. Differential contributions of prefrontal and temporolimbic pathology to mechanisms of psychosis. *Brain* (2005) 128:2109–22. doi:10.1093/brain/ awh554
- Boos HB, Aleman A, Cahn W, Hulshoff Pol H, Kahn RS. Brain volumes in relatives of patients with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2007) 64:297–304. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.64.3.297
- Olabi B, Ellison-Wright I, Macintosh AM, Wood SJ, Bullmore E, Lawrie SM. Are there progressive brain changes in schizophrenia? A meta-analysis of structural magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 70:88–96. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.01.032
- Hirayasu Y, McCarley RW, Salisbury DF, Tanaka S, Kwon JS, Frumin M, et al. Planum temporale and Heschl gyrus volume reduction in schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance imaging study of first-episode patients. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2000) 57:692–9. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.57.7.692
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Zhou SY, Tanaino R, Hagino H, Kawasaki Y, et al. Morphologic alterations of the parcellated superior temporal gyrus in schizophrenia spectrum. *Schizophr Res* (2006) 83:131–43. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2006.01.016
- Kasai K, Shenton ME, Salisbury D, Hiyarasu Y, Lee CU, Ciszewski AA, et al. Progressive decrease of left superior temporal gyrus gray matter volume in patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2003) 160:156–64. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.160.1.156
- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Yung AR, Soulsby B, McGoorry PD, Suzuki M, et al. Progressive gray matter reduction of the superior temporal gyrus during transition to psychosis. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2009) 66:366–76. doi:10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2009.12
- 33. Yoshida T, McCarley RW, Nakamura M, Lee K, Koo MS, Bouix S, et al. A prospective longitudinal volumetric MRI study of superior temporal gyrus gray matter and amygdala-hippocampal complex in chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 113:84–94. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2009.05.004
- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Kawasaki Y, Suzuki M, Velakoulis D, Pantelis C. Lack of progressive gray matter reduction of the superior temporal subregions in chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 117:101–2. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2009.12.034
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Hagino H, Zhou SY, Kawasaki Y, Nohara S, et al. Bilateral volume reduction of the insular cortex in patients with schizophrenia: a volumetric MRI study. *Psychiatry Res* (2004) 132:187–96. doi:10.1016/j. pscychresns.2004.11.002
- Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Zhou S-Y, Hagino H, Tanino R, Kawasaki Y, et al. Volumetric MRI study of the short and long insular cortices in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Psychiatry Res* (2005) 138:209–20. doi:10.1016/j. pscychresns.2005.02.004
- 37. Lee SH, Niznikiewicz M, Asami T, Otsuka T, Salisbury DF, Shenton ME, et al. Initial and progressive gray matter abnormalities in insular gyrus and temporal pole in first-episode schizophrenia contrasted with first-episode

affective psychosis. Schizophr Bull (2016) 42:790-801. doi:10.1093/schbul/ sbv177

- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Soulsby B, McGorry PD, Tanino R, Suzuki M, et al. Follow-up MRI study of the insular cortex in first-episode psychosis and chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 108:49–56. doi:10.1016/j.schres. 2008.12.029
- Hazlett EA, Buchsbaum MS, Haznedar MM, Newmark R, Goldstein KE, Zelmanova Y, et al. Cortical gray and white matter volume in unmedicated schizotypal and schizophrenia patients. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 101:111–23. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.12.472
- Yamasue H, Iwanami A, Hirayasu Y, Yamada H, Abe O, Kuroki N, et al. Localized volume reduction in prefrontal, tempolimbic, and paralimbic regions in schizophrenia: an MRI parcellation study. *Psychiatry Res* (2004) 131:195–207. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2004.05.004
- Johnstone EC, Crow TJ, Frith CD, Husband J, Kreel L. Cerebral ventricular size and cognitive impairment in chronic schizophrenia. *Lancet* (1976) 2:924–6. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(76)90890-4
- 42. Yotsutsuji T, Saito O, Suzuki M, Hagino H, Mori K, Takahashi T, et al. Quantification of lateral ventricular subdivisions in schizophrenia by high-resolution there-dimensional magnetic resonance imaging. *Psychiatry Res* (2003) 122:1–12. doi:10.1016/S0925-4927(02)00105-1
- Suzuki M, Nohara S, Hagino H, Kurokawa K, Yotsutsuji T, Kawasaki Y, et al. Regional changes in brain gray and white matter in patients with schizophrenia demonstrated with voxel-based analysis of MRI. *Schizophr Res* (2002) 55:41–54. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00224-9
- 44. Zhou SY, Suzuki M, Hagino H, Takahashi T, Kawasaki Y, Nohara S, et al. Decreased volume and increased asymmetry of the anterior limb of the internal capsule in patients with schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 54:427–36. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00007-6
- 45. Kawasaki Y, Suzuki M, Nohara S, Hagino H, Takahashi T, Matsui M, et al. Structural differences in patients with schizophrenia and schizotypal disorder demonstrated by voxel-based morphometry. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2004) 254:406–14. doi:10.1007/s00406-004-0522-1
- Honea R, Crow TJ, Passingham D, Mackay CE. Regional deficits in brain volume in schizophrenia; a meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162:2233–45. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.12.2233
- Fornito A, Yücel M, Patti J, Wood SJ, Pantelis C. Mapping grey matter reductions in schizophrenia: an anatomical likelihood estimation analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 108:104–13. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2008.12.011
- Asami T, Whitford TJ, Bouix S, Dickey CC, Niznikiewicz M, Shenton ME, et al. Globally and locally reduced MRI gray matter volumes in neuroleptic-naïve men with schizotypal personality disorder. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70:361–72. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.665
- Siever LJ, Davis KL. The pathophysiology of schizophrenia disorders: perspectives from the spectrum. *Am J Psychiatry* (2004) 161:398–413. doi:10.1176/ appi.ajp.161.3.398
- Kurachi M. Pathogenesis of schizophrenia: part II. Temporo-frontal two-step hypothesis. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2003) 57:9–15. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1819. 2003.01073.x
- Honea RA, Meyer-Lindenberg A, Hobbs KB, Pezawas L, Mattay VS, Verhinski B, et al. Is gray matter volume an intermediate phenotype for schizophrenia? A voxel-based morphometry study of patients with schizophrenia and their healthy siblings. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 63:465–74. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych. 2007.05.027
- 52. Hao Y, Yan Q, Liu H, Xu L, Xue Z, Song X, et al. Schizophrenia patients and their healthy sibling share disruption of white matter integrity in the left prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus but not the anterior cingulated cortex. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 114:128–35. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2009.07.001
- Barta PE, Pearlson GD, Powers RE, Richards SS, Tune LE. Auditory hallucinations and smaller superior temporal gyral volume in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (1990) 147:1457–62. doi:10.1176/ajp.147.11.1457
- Modinos G, Costafreda SG, van Tol M-J, Mcguire PK, Aleman A, Allin P. Neuroanatomy of auditory verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: a quantitative meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. *Cortex* (2013) 49:1046–55. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2012.01.009
- 55. Shenton ME, Kirkinis R, Jolesz FA, Pollak SD, LeMay M, Wible CG, et al. Abnormalities of the left temporal lobe and thought disorder in schizophrenia.

A quantitative magnetic resonance imaging study. N Engl J Med (1992) 327:604–12. doi:10.1056/NEJM199208273270905

- Horn H, Federspiel A, Wirth M, Müller TJ, Wies R, Wang JJ, et al. Structural and metabolic changes in language areas linked to formal thought disorder. *Br J Psychiatry* (2009) 194:130–8. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.107.045633
- Ingvar DH, Franzén G. Distribution of cerebral activity in chronic schizophrenia. *Lancet* (1974) 2:1484–6. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(74)90221-9
- Nenadic I, Sauer H, Gaser C. Distinct pattern of brain structural deficits in subsyndromes of schizophrenia delineated by psychopathology. *Neuroimage* (2010) 49:1153–60. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.014
- Uwatoko T, Yoshizumi M, Miyata J, Ubukata S, Fujiwara H, Kawada R, et al. Insular gray matter volume and objective quality of life in schizophrenia. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0142018. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0142018
- Minzenberg MJ, Laird AR, Thelen S, Carter CS, Glahn DC. Meta-analysis of 41 functional neruoimaging studies of executive function in schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2009) 66:811–22. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.91
- Kawada R, Yoshizumi M, Hirao K, Fujiwara H, Miyata J, Shimizu M, et al. Brain volume and dysexecutive behavior in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 33:1255–60. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2009.07.014
- Koh SD, Kayton L, Berry R. Mnemonic organization in young nonpsychotic schizophrenics. J Abnorm Psychol (1973) 81:299–310. doi:10.1037/h0034525
- Matsui M, Suzuki M, Zhou S-Y, Takahashi T, Kawasaki Y, Yuuki H, et al. The relationship between prefrontal brain volume and characteristics of memory strategy in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 32:1854–62. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2008.08.018
- Keefe RSE, Mohs RC, Losonczy MF, Davidson M, Silverman JM, Kendler KS, et al. Characteristics of very poor outcome schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (1987) 144:889–95. doi:10.1176/ajp.144.7.889
- Levitt JJ, Kubick M, Nestor PG, Ersner-Hershfield H, Westin CF, Alvarado JL, et al. A diffusion tensor imaging study of the anterior limb of the internal capsule in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2010) 184:143–50. doi:10.1016/j. pscychresns.2010.08.004
- Ferrarelli F, Huber R, Peterson MJ, Massimini M, Murphy M, Riedner BA, et al. Reduced sleep spindle activity in schizophrenia patients. *Am J Psychiatry* (2007) 164:483–92. doi:10.1176/ajp.2007.164.3.483
- Buchmann A, Dentico D, Peterson MJ, Riedner BA, Sarasso S, Massimini M, et al. Reduced mediodorsal thalamic volume and prefrontal cortical spindle activity in schizophrenia. *Neuroimage* (2014) 102(Pt 2):540–7. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2014.08.017
- Ferrarelli F, Tononi G. Reduced sleep spindle activity point to a TRN-MD thalamus-PFC circuit dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2017) 180:36–43. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.05.023
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 5th ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association (2013).
- Crow TJ. Molecular pathology of schizophrenia: more than one disease process? Br Med J (1980) 280:66–8. doi:10.1136/bmj.280.6207.66
- Suzuki M, Nohara S, Hagino H, Takahashi T, Kawasaki Y, Yamashita I, et al. Prefrontal abnormalities in patients with simple schizophrenia: structural and functional brain-imaging studies in five cases. *Psychiatry Res* (2005) 140:157–71. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2005.06.005
- Borgwardt S, Piccioni MM, Ettinger U, Toulopoulou T, Murray R, McGuire PK. Regional gray matter volume in monozygotic twins concordant and discordant for schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 67:956–64. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2009.10.026
- Hegelstad WT, Larsen TK, Auestad B, Evensen J, Haahr U, Joa I, et al. Longterm follow-up of the TIPS early detection in psychosis study: effects on 10-year outcome. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) 169:374–80. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp. 2011.11030459
- Yung A, McGorry PD. The prodromal phase of first-episode psychosis: past and current conceptualizations. *Schizophr Bull* (1996) 22:353–70. doi:10.1093/ schbul/22.2.353
- Takahashi T, Wood SJ, Yung AR, Phillips LJ, Soulsby B, McGorry PD, et al. Insular cortex gray matter changes in individuals at ultra-high-risk of developing psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 111:94–102. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2009.03.024
- 76. Fusar-Poli P, Bonoldi I, Yung AR, Borgwardt S, Kempton MJ, Valmaggia L, et al. Predicting psychosis. Meta-analysis of transition outcomes in

individuals at high clinical risk. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2012) 69:220-9. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.1472

- Brewer WJ, Francey SM, Wood SJ, Jackson HJ, Pantelis C, Phillips LJ, et al. Memory impairments identified in people at ultra-high risk for psychosis who later develop first-episode psychosis. *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162:71–8. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.1.71
- Koutsouleris N, Davatzikos C, Bottlender R, Patschurek-Kliche K, Scheuerecker J, Decker P, et al. Early recognition and disease prediction in the at-risk mental states for psychosis using neurocognitive pattern classification. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 38:1200–15. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbr037
- Simon AE, Grädel M, Cattapan-Ludewig K, Gruber K, Ballinari ZP, Roth B, et al. Cognitive functioning in at-risk mental states for psychosis and 2-year clinical outcome. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 142:108–15. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2012.09.004
- Umbricht D, Koller R, Vollenweider FX, Schmid L. Mismatch negativity predicts psychotic experiences induced by NMDA receptor antagonist in healthy volunteers. *Biol Psychiatry* (2002) 51:400–6. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223 (01)01242-2
- Rosburg T, Kreitschmann-Andermahr I. The effects ketamine on the mismatch negativity (MMN) in humans – a meta-analysis. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2016) 127:1387–94. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2015.10.062
- Avissar M, Javitt D. Mismatch negativity: a simple and useful biomarker of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR)-type glutamate dysfunction in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res (2018) 191:1–4. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2017.11.006
- Bodatsch M, Ruhrmann S, Wagner M, Müller R, Schultze-Lutter F, Frommann I, et al. Prediction of psychosis by mismatch negativity. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 69:959–66. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.09.057
- Shaikh M, Valmaggia L, Broome MR, dutt A, Lappin J, Day F, et al. Reduced mismatch negativity predates the onset of psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 134:42–8. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2011.09.022
- Higuchi Y, Sumiyoshi T, Seo T, Miyanishi T, Kawasaki Y, Suzuki M. Mismatch negativity and cognitive performance for the prediction of psychosis in subjects with at-risk metal state. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(1):e54080. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0054080
- Nagai T, Tada M, Kirihara K, Araki T, Jinde S, Kasai K. Mismatch negativity as "translatable" brain marker toward early intervention for psychosis: a review. *Front Psychiatry* (2013) 4:115. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00115
- Näätänen R, Todd J, Schall U. Mismatch negativity (MMN) as biomarker predicting psychosis in clinically at-risk individuals. *Biol Psychiatry* (2016) 116:36–40. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2015.10.010
- Koutsouleris N, Schmitt GJE, Gaser C, Bottlender R, Scheuerecker J, McGuire P, et al. Neuroanatomical correlates of different vulnerability states for psychosis and their clinical outcomes. *Br J Psychiatry* (2009) 195:218–26. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.108.052068
- Smieskova R, Fusar-Poli P, Allen P, Bendfeldt K, Stieglitz RD, Drewe J, et al. Neuroimaging predictors of transition to psychosis – a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2010) 34:1207–22. doi:10.1016/j. neubiorev.2010.01.016
- Nakamura K, Takahashi T, Nemoto K, Furuichi A, Nishiyama S, Nakamura Y, et al. Gray matter changes in subjects at high risk for developing psychosis and first-episode schizophrenia: a voxel-based structural MRI study. *Front Psychiatry* (2013) 4:16. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00016
- Takayanagi Y, Kulason S, Sasabayashi D, Takahashi T, Katgiri N, Sakuma A, et al. Reduced thickness of the anteiror cingulate cortex in individuals with an at-risk mental state who later develop psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2017) 143:907–13. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbw167
- Nelson B, Fornito A, Harrison BJ, Yücel M, Sass LA, Yung AR, et al. A disturbed sense of self in the psychosis prodrome: linking phenomenology and neurobiology. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2009) 33:807–17. doi:10.1016/j. neubiorev.2009.01.002
- Nelson B, Thompson A, Yung AR. Basic self-disturbance predicts psychosis onset in the ultra high risk for psychosis "prodromal" population. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 38:1277–87. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbs007
- Reniers RL, Lin A, Yung AR, Koutsouleris N, Nelson B, Cropley VL, et al. Neuroanatomoical predictors of functional outcome in individuals at ultrahigh risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2017) 43:449–58. doi:10.1093/schbul/ sbw086
- 95. Graham JR. MMPI-2. 5th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2012).

- 96. Nishiyama S, Higuchi Y, Komori Y, Takahashi T, Suzuki M. Personality characteristics prior to the onset of overt psychosis in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *The 21st Annual Meeting of Japanese Society for Prevention* and Early Intervention in Psychiatry. Okinawa (2017) 12:9–10.
- Klosterkötter J, Schultze-Lutter F, Gross G, Huber G, Steinmeyer EM. Early self-experienced neuropsychological deficits and subsequent schizophrenic diseases: an 8-year average follow-up prospective study. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (1997) 95:396–404. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.1997.tb09652.x
- Parnas J, Handest P. Phenomenology of anomalous self-experience in early schizophrenia. *Compr Psychiatry* (2003) 44:121–34. doi:10.1053/ comp.2003.50017
- 99. van der Gaag M, Smit F, Bechdolf A, French P, Linszen DH, Yung AR, et al. Preventing a first episode of psychosis: meta-analysis of randomized controlled prevention trials of 12 month and longer-term follow-ups. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 149:56–62. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.004
- 100. Lee RS, Redoblado-Hodge MA, Naismith SL, Hermens DF, Porter MA, Hickie IB. Cognitive remediation improves memory and psychosocial functioning in first-episode psychotic out-patients. *Psychol Med* (2013) 43:1161–73. doi:10.1017/S0033291712002127
- 101. Eack SM, Newhill CE, Keshavan MS. Cognitive enhancement therapy improves resting-state functional connectivity in early course schizophrenia. *J Soc Soc Work Res* (2016) 7:211–30. doi:10.1086/686538
- Olney JW, Farber NB. Glutamate receptor dysfunction and schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1995) 52:998–1007. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1995. 03950240016004
- 103. Garey LJ, Ong WY, Patel TS, Kanani M, Davis A, Mortimer AM, et al. Reduced dendritic spine density on cerebral cortical pyramidal neurons in schziopohrenia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1998) 65:446–53. doi:10.1136/ jnnp.65.4.446
- Glantz LA, Lewis DA. Decreased dendritic spine density on prefrontal cortical pyramidal neurons in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2000) 57:65–73. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.57.1.65
- Reynolds GP, Beasley CL, Zhang ZJ. Understanding the neurotransmitter pathology of schizophrenia: selective deficits of subtypes of cortical GABAergic neurons. J Neural Transm (2002) 109:881–9. doi:10.1007/ s007020200072
- 106. Zhang ZJ, Reynolds GP. A selective decrease in the relative density of parvalbumin-immnoreactive neurons in the hippocampus in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2002) 55:1–10. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00188-8
- Chung DW, Fish KN, Lewis DA. Pathological basis for deficient excitatory drive to cortical parvalbumin interneurons in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2016) 173:1131–9. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.16010025
- Nakatani-Pawlak A, Yamaguchi K, Tatsumi Y, Mizoguchi H, Yoneda Y. Neonatal phencyclidine treatment in mice induces behavioral, histological and neurochemical abnormalities in adulthood. *Biol Pharm Bull* (2009) 32:1576–83. doi:10.1248/bpb.32.1576
- 109. Uehara T, Sumiyoshi T, Seo T, Matusoka T, Itoh H, Susuki M, et al. Neonatal exposure to MK-801, an N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, enhances methamphetamine-induced locomotion and disrupts sensorimoter gating in pre- and postpubertal rats. *Brain Res* (2010) 1352:223–30. doi:10.1016/j. brainres.2010.07.013
- 110. Uehara T, Sumiyoshi T, Hattori H, Itoh H, Matsuoka T, Iwakami N, et al. T-817, a novel neurotrophic agent, ameliorates loss of GABAergic parvalbumin-positive neurons and sensorimotor gating deficits in rats transiently exposed to MK-801 in the neonatal periods. *J Psychiatr Res* (2012) 46:622–9. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.01.022
- 111. Woods SW, Walsh BC, Hawkins KA, Miller TJ, Saksa JR, D'Souza DC, et al. Glysine treatment of the risk syndrome for psychosis: report of two pilot studies. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2013) 23:931–40. doi:10.1016/j. euroneuro.2012.09.008
- 112. Kantrowitz J, Woods SW, Petkova E, Cornblatt B, Corcoran CM, Chen H, et al. D-serine for the treatment of negative symptoms in individuals at clinical high risk of schizophrenia: a pilot, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised parallel group mechanistic proof-of-concept trial. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2:403–12. doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00098-X
- McNally JM, McCarley RW. Gamma band oscillations: a key to understanding schizophrenia symptoms and neural circuit abnormalities. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* (2016) 29:202–10. doi:10.1097/YCO.00000000000244

- 114. Behrens MM, Ali SS, Dao DN, Lucero J, Shekhtman G, Quick KL, et al. Ketamine-induced loss of phenotype of fast-spiking interneurons is mediated by NADPH-oxidase. *Science* (2007) 318:1645–7. doi:10.1126/ science.1148045
- 115. Zhang H, Sun XR, Wang J, Zhang ZZ, Zhao HT, Li HH, et al. Reactive oxygen species-mediated loss of phenotype of parvalbumin interneurons contributes to long-term cognitive impairments after repeated neonatal ketamin exposures. *Neurotox Res* (2016) 30:593–605. doi:10.1007/s12640-016-9653-1
- Shirai Y, Fujita Y, Hashimoto R. Effects of the antioxidant sulforaphane on hyperlocomotion and prepulse inhibition deficits in mice after phencyclidine administration. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci* (2012) 10:94–8. doi:10.9758/ cpn.2012.10.2.94
- 117. Shirai Y, Fujita Y, Hashimoto R, Ohi K, Yamamori H, Yasuda Y, et al. Dietary intake of sulforaphane-rich broccoli sprout extracts during juvenile and adolescence can prevent phencyclidine-induced cognitive deficits at adulthood. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(6):eO127244. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127244
- 118. Uehara T, Sumiyoshi T, Seo T, Matsuoka T, Itoh H, Kurachi M. T-817MA, but not haloperidol and risperidone, restores parvalbumin-positive γ-aminobutyric acid neurons in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus or rats transiently exposed to MK-801 at the neonatal period. *ISRN Psychiatry* (2012) 2012:947149. doi:10.5402/2012/947149
- 119. Hirata K, Yamaguchi H, Takamura Y, Takagi A, Fukushima T, Iwakami N, et al. A novel neurotrophic agent, T-817MA [1-{3-[2-(1-benzothophen-5-yl) ethoxy] propyl}-3-azetidinol maleated], attenuates amyoid- $\beta$ -induced

neurotoxicity and promotes neurite outgrowth in rat cultured central nervous system neurons. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (2005) 314:252–9. doi:10.1124/ jpet.105.083543

- 120. Nakamura T, Matsujoto J, Takamura Y, Ishii Y, Sasahra M, Ono T, et al. Relationships among parvalbumin-immunoreactive neuron density, phase-locked gamma oscillations, and autistic/schizophrenic symptoms in PDGFR-β knock-out and control mice. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(3):e0119258. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0119258
- 121. Cabungcal JH, Counotte DS, Lewis E, Tejeda HA, Piantadosi P, Pollock C, et al. Juvenile antioxidant treatment prevents adult deficits in a developmental model of schizophrenia. *Neuron* (2014) 83:1073–84. doi:10.1016/j. neuron.2014.07.028

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Kurachi, Takahashi, Sumiyoshi, Uehara and Suzuki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Semantic Memory Organization in Japanese Patients With Schizophrenia Examined With Category Fluency

Chika Sumiyoshi<sup>1</sup>\*, Haruo Fujino<sup>2</sup>, Tomiki Sumiyoshi<sup>3</sup>, Yuka Yasuda<sup>4</sup>, Hidenaga Yamamori<sup>4</sup>, Michiko Fujimoto<sup>4</sup> and Ryota Hashimoto<sup>4,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Human Development and Culture, Fukushima University, Fukushima, Japan, <sup>2</sup>Department of Special Needs Education, Oita University, Oita, Japan, <sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Translational Medical Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Kodaira, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Osaka University Graduate School of Medicine, Suita, Osaka, Japan, <sup>5</sup>Molecular Research Center for Children's Mental Development, United Graduate School of Child Development, Osaka University, Suita, Osaka, Japan

**Background:** Disorganization of semantic memory in patients with schizophrenia has been studied by referring to their category fluency performance. Recently, data-mining techniques such as singular value decomposition (SVD) analysis have been reported to be effective in elucidating the latent semantic memory structure in patients with schizophrenia. The aim of this study is to investigate semantic memory organization in patients with schizophrenia using a novel method based on data-mining approach.

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Roumen Kirov, Institute of Neurobiology (BAS), Bulgaria

#### Reviewed by:

Makiko Naka, Ritsumeikan University, Japan Aygun Ertugrul, Hacettepe University, Turkey

\*Correspondence: Chika Sumiyoshi sumiyoshi@educ.fukushima-u.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 December 2017 Accepted: 05 March 2018 Published: 21 March 2018

#### Citation:

Sumiyoshi C, Fujino H, Sumiyoshi T, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Fujimoto M and Hashimoto R (2018) Semantic Memory Organization in Japanese Patients With Schizophrenia Examined With Category Fluency. Front. Psychiatry 9:87. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00087 **Method:** Category fluency data were collected from 181 patients with schizophrenia and 335 healthy controls at the Department of Psychiatry, Osaka University. The 20 most frequently reported animals were chosen for SVD analysis. In the two-dimensional (2D) solution, item vectors (i.e., animal names) were plotted in the 2D space of each group. In the six-dimensional (6D) solution, inter-item similarities (i.e., cosines) were calculated among items. Cosine charts were also created for the six most frequent items to show the similarities to other animal items.

**Results:** In the 2D spatial representation, the six most frequent items were grouped in the same clusters (i.e., *dog, cat* as pet cluster, *lion, tiger* as wild/carnivorous cluster, and *elephant, giraffe* as wild/herbivorous cluster) for patients and healthy adults. As for 6D spatial cosines, the correlations (Pearson's *r*) between 17 items commonly generated in the two groups were moderately high. However, cosine charts created for the three pairs from the six most frequent animals (*dog–cat, lion–tiger, elephant–giraffe*) showed that pairwise similarities between other animals were less salient in patients with schizophrenia.

**Discussion:** Semantic memory organization in patients with schizophrenia, revealed by SVD analysis, did not appear to be seriously impaired in the 2D space representation, maintaining a clustering structure similar to that in healthy controls for common animals. However, the coherence of those animals was less salient in 6D space, lacking pairwise similarities to other members of the animal category. These results suggests subtle but structural differences between the two groups. A data-mining approach by means of SVD analysis seems to be effective in evaluating semantic memory in patients with schizophrenia, providing both a visual representation and an objective measure of the structural alterations.

Keywords: schizophrenia, cognition, semantic memory, category fluency, singular value decomposition analysis

## INTRODUCTION

Cognitive impairment in patients with schizophrenia is a cardinal feature of the disease and is generally independent of positive or negative psychiatric symptoms (e.g., hallucinations or with-drawal). This impairment disturbs favorable functional outcomes of patients, including daily living skills, social functioning, and work (1–4). Accordingly, comprehensive cognitive batteries have been developed to assess the cognitive function of patients with schizophrenia. Currently, the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS) (5) and MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery (MCCB) (6) are the most acknowledged batteries, and they have been used for research and clinical purposes.

Although those "gold-standard" cognitive batteries have been reported to be effective for predicting functional outcomes in patients with schizophrenia (7), the target domains are mainly executive aspects of cognition (i.e., attention, processing speed, and visual/verbal working memory). Higher order cognition, such as semantic memory, has received less attention, although disorganization of semantic memory has been considered as one of the intermediate cognitive phenotypes in patients with schizophrenia (8).

The paucity of studies seems to be largely due to the lack of powerful tools, such as the MCCB or BACS. For healthy subjects, cognitive experiments (e.g., semantic priming) have been frequently used to estimate the latent structure of semantic memory. However, an experimental setting is often too demanding for patients with mental disorders that attenuate attention or motivation.

Alternative methods have been developed to assess semantic memory in patients with schizophrenia. The aim of this study was to investigate semantic memory organization in patients with schizophrenia introducing a novel method based on data-mining approach. Earlier attempts in this line of research were also briefly reviewed.

## PREVIOUS APPROACH FOR ASSESSING SEMANTIC MEMORY IN PATIENTS WITH PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

Less demanding methods, compared to experimental settings, have been explored for evaluating semantic memory organization in patients with schizophrenia. Most of them utilized verbal outputs in the category fluency task (CFT), partly because the CFT is included in established cognitive batteries (e.g., the MCCB and BACS), and also because the task is simple both for testers and subjects. The CFT is a free recall task, asking a subject to produce as many items in a given category (e.g., animal) as possible in a designated time (typically 1 min).

There are two lines of research on the methods for estimating semantic structures using the CFT. They differ in terms of measurement of similarities; one uses on "adjacency" while another uses "co-occurrence" of outputs in the CFT.

The earlier approach focus on adjacency of the words produced in the CFT, assuming that it reflects semantic associations in memory. In some studies, specific formulas were modeled to convert the word order to dissimilarities (9–11) for submission to advanced statistical analyses to visualize the structures [e.g., multidimensional scaling (MDS) or hierarchical cluster analysis (HCA) (**Figure 1**)]. In another technique, cluster indices



(i.e., a cluster size or a switching score) are designated based on predefined clustering rules (12). Studies using either technique have successfully demonstrated aberrant structurers of semantic memory in patients with schizophrenia (10, 12–15).

Critical limitations for adjacency-based approach, as noted above, have been addressed. In studies using formulas for dissimilarities, the results were likely to be inaccurate if the sample size was small (16, 17). In studies using cluster indices, scoring tended to be arbitrary because the predefined clustering rules (e.g., farm animals, pet) were somewhat intuitive. In addition, the clustering rules may not be universal across cultures (e.g., *pig* was listed in a pet cluster, but it may not be true in other countries like Japan).

## NEW APPROACH TO ESTIMATE SEMANTIC MEMORY

Recently, data-mining techniques, such as singular value decomposition (SVD), have been applied to the CFT to examine the deeper structure of semantic memory (18–20). SVD is a general matrix factorization technique based on eigenvalue decomposition [**Figure 2**; for further information, see supplementary materials in Ref. (18–20)].

One notable difference between the data-mining approach and adjacency-based techniques is the basic measurement with "co-occurrence" of items across the participants rather than "adjacency," the latter of which has been used in previous techniques. For example, in the earlier techniques, *dog* and *cat* show higher proximity in a *dog*, *cat*, *pig* sequence than *dog*, *pig*, *cat*. In the new technique, the proximity would be the same as long as *dog* and *cat* are produced in a sequence of word outputs (i.e., "co-occur") by a subject. A strength of SVD analysis is that inter-item similarities can be estimated even if no subjects produce a particular pair (i.e., *dog-snake*), which can occur in small samples. Mathematical simplicity and clarity are also superior in SVD analysis. This established mathematical method has been used in many scientific fields, including genetics (21) as well as applied linguistics (22). In contrast, in adjacency-based techniques (9–11), formulas are presented to general high-end users without sufficient information for modeling.

Singular value decomposition analysis has already been applied to the CFT performance of patients with schizophrenia. Sung et al. (18) demonstrated subtle differences between patients with schizophrenia and healthy adults by looking at higher dimensional structures of semantic memory, which may not have been elucidated in studies using the previous techniques. In brief, patients with schizophrenia showed similar semantic clustering in the lower dimensional SVD solution, but it was less coherent in the higher dimensional solution, suggesting that semantic deterioration occurred in the latent structure.

## **PRELIMINARY STUDY**

Given a positive result from a previous study using SVD analysis (18), we aimed to investigate semantic structures in Japanese patients with schizophrenia by applying SVD analysis to the CFT. In particular, we were interested in whether this novel method could also be useful to show structural differences in semantic memory between Japanese patients with schizophrenia and healthy adults as has been reported in previous studies (18).



#### **Participants**

Data were collected from 181 patients with schizophrenia and 335 healthy controls at the Department of Psychiatry, Osaka University. Table 1 presents the characteristics of the participants. All patients met the DSM-IV criteria for schizophrenia (23). The diagnosis was made by experienced psychiatrists based on the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID) for schizophrenia. Healthy controls were recruited from the community through local advertisements at Osaka University. All participants provided written informed consents. The study protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of Osaka University, and the procedures were conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki.

### Assessment

#### Verbal Fluency Tasks

The CFT and letter fluency task (LFT) were administered following the normative method (24). In the CFT, an animal was used as a cue, while three hiragana letters ("fu," "a," and "ni") were used in the LFT. Subjects were asked to produce as many animal names (CFT) or words beginning with a specified letter (LFT) as possible in one minute. The CFT score represented the total outputs for animal category, while the LFT score represented the mean of outputs for three letters. Errors [i.e., repetitions, proper nouns, and intrusions (e.g., *apple* for an animal cue)] were excluded from outputs.

#### Intelligence

Current intelligence (full-scale intelligence quotient, FIQ) was assessed by the Japanese version of the Wechsler Memory Scale-Third edition (WAIS-3) (25) as part of a larger neuropsychological

#### TABLE 1 Characteristics of participant

assessment (26-30). The third edition was used because the fourth edition has not yet been released in Japan. Premorbid intelligence was estimated by the Japanese version of the Adult Reading Test (JART) (31). This test is composed of 50 Japanese kanjis (ideographic scripts), and the reading task is considered to be equivalent to irregular word reading employed in the National Adult Reading Test (31-33).

#### **Psychiatric Symptoms**

The patients were assessed with the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scales (34) to evaluate psychiatric symptoms. The evaluation was made following the five-factor model of the scale (i.e., positive, negative, cognition, excitement, and depression/ anxiety) (35, 36).

#### Analysis

#### **Characteristics of Participants**

Male-female ratio was tested by  $x^2$  test. Other demographic characteristics (age and years of education), IQ measures (FIQ and JART), and verbal fluency measures (CFT score and LFT score) were compared between patients and healthy controls using t-tests. In addition, effects sizes (Hedges's g) were calculated for relevant variables. The statistical significance was set at p < 0.05(two-tailed) in all analyses. SPSS ver. 22.0 was used for statistical analyses.

#### **SVD** Analysis

As noted in Assessment section, rule breaks (i.e., repetitions, intrusions, and proper nouns) were removed from the analysis. An item × subject matrix (ISM) was created for the patient group and healthy adult group (two matrices in total). Rows of the ISM

TABLE 1   Characteristics of	or participants.					
	нс	SCZ	<i>x</i> <sup>2</sup> / <i>t</i>	df	p	<b>g</b> <sup>e</sup>
N <sup>a</sup>	335 (154/181)	181 (107/74)	8.12 <sup>b</sup>	1	0.004	
Age	35.80 (11.90)	36.76 (12.16)	-0.87	514	0.383	-0.08
Education (years)	15.20 (2.20)	14.20 (2.49)	4.40	514	< 0.0001	0.19
Duration (years)	-	12.66 (10.46)	-	-	-	-
Onset	_	24.10 (8.80)	-	-	-	_
Neuroleptics (mg)°	_	182.65 (365.76)	-	-	-	_
PANSS positive	_	14.79 (4.93)	-	-	-	_
Negative	_	17.48 (6.35)	-	-	-	_
Cognition	_	11.87 (4.12)	-	-	-	_
Excitement	-	8.23 (3.22)	-	-	-	-
Depression/anxiety	_	9.88 (3.53)	-	-	-	_
Full IQ	108.67 (12.28)	86.93 (17.56)	15.68	479	<0.0001	1.55
Performance IQ	109.31 (12.15)	91.76 (16.94)	11.98	437	<0.0001	1.21
Verbal IQ	107.13 (13.11)	83.53 (17.08)	16.60	437	<0.0001	1.56
Premorbid IQ (JART)	107.09 (8.02)	101.48 (10.17)	6.88	514	<0.0001	0.51
LFT score <sup>d</sup>	10.07 (2.96)	7.43 (2.75)	9.90	514	<0.0001	0.91
CFT score	20.94 (4.51)	15.86 (4.67)	12.06	514	<0.0001	0.69

HC, healthy controls; SCZ, patients with schizophrenia; PANSS, The positive and negative syndrome scale; JART, Japanese Adult Reading Test; LFT, Letter fluency task; CFT, Category fluency task.

Male/female and SD are presented in parentheses.

<sup>a</sup>Several variables had missing values. Degree of freedom varied accordingly.

<sup>b</sup>Chi-squared test.

°CPZ equivalent.

dThe mean of the three letters.

eHedges's g (effect size).

contained animal items (e.g., *dog*, *cat*, etc.), while columns contained subjects, and each cell contained a co-occurrence of items (**Figure 2**, top). Each row (i.e., item) is treated as a vector in the space produced by SVD. Due to technical limitations in creating large-scaled ISMs, 20 of the most frequently reported animals in each group were chosen for SVD analysis (**Table 2**, above the line).

Item vectors in reduced dimensions were used to produce a visual representation and inter-item similarities. For visual interpretation, item vectors were plotted on the two-dimensional (2D) space, while inter-item similarities were calculated in a higher dimensional space. In SVD analysis, inter-item similarities were presented by the cosines between item vectors in SVD analysis, but not the Euclidian distance between items as presented in the MDS analysis. Accordingly, a cosine close to 1.0 indicates that two items are highly similar (two words frequently co-occur across subjects), while -1.0 implies that they are most dissimilar (two words are produced independently).

#### **TABLE 2** | Frequency ranks of animal items.

Rank	HC (N = 335)	Frequency	SCZ (N = 181)	Frequency
1	Dog	309	Dog	169
2	Cat	305	Cat	163
3	Lion	250	Lion	143
4	Giraffe	244	Elephant	119
5	Tiger	239	Giraffe	119
6	Elephant	235	Tiger	116
7	Monkey	234	Monkey	106
8	Horse	171	Cow	74
9	Sheep	163	Horse	74
10	Cow	155	Mouse	69
11	Mouse	152	Rabbit	64
12	Rabbit	148	Hippopotamus	63
13	Hippopotamus	143	Bird	62
14	Bear	122	Sheep	62
15	Rhinoceros	116	Pig	55
16	Bird	115	Bear	53
17	Panda	110	Leopard	49
18	Cheetah	102	Deer	46
19	Snake	102	Snake	43
20	Zebra	102	Zebra	40
21	Wildboar	101	Rhinoceros	39
22	Gorilla	96	Panda	37
23	Leopard	95	Wildboar	36
24	Whale	92	Fox	35
25	Koala	87	Cheater	32
26	Dolphin	83	Seaotter	32
27	Penguin	83	Whale	32
28	Chimpanzee	77	Goat	29
29	Deer	76	Squirrel	29
30	Orangutan	71	Dolphin	28
31	Pig	69	Raccoondog	28
32	Goat	68	Gorilla	27
33	Racoondog	68	Chimpanzee	25
34	Fox	67	Crocodile	25
35	Hen	65	Koala	25
36	Kangaroo	65	Hen	24
37	Sparrow	61	Penguin	24
38	Crocodile	56	Sparrow	24
39	Camel	52	Pigeon	23
40	Seaotter	52	Crow	21

HC, healthy controls, SCZ, patients with schizophrenia.

The most frequent 20 items were submitted to singular value decomposition analyses.

R ver. 3.2.2 (37) and its LSA package (38) were used for conducting SVD analysis and producing inter-item cosines.

#### Results

#### **Group Comparisons**

**Table 1** presents results from group comparisons. The verbal fluency performance was significantly better in healthy controls than patients with schizophrenia (LFT score: t = 9.90, df = 514, p < 0.001, CFT: t = 12.06, df = 514, p < 0.001). The same trend was found in intelligence measures (FIQ: t = 15.68, df = 479, p < 0.001, VIQ: t = 11.98, df = 437, p < 0.001 PIQ: t = 16.60, df = 437, p < 0.001, premorbid IQ: t = 6.88, df = 514, p < 0.001). Age did not significantly differ between the two groups (t = -0.87, df = 514, p = 0.38). Patients had less education than healthy adults (t = 4.40, df = 514, p = 0.001) although the difference was small as was indicate by the minor effect size (g = 0.19).

#### **SVD** Analysis

As previous studies have suggested (39), there is no statistical rules for choosing an appropriate number of singular values (dimensions) for the dimensionality reduction. Therefore, the number was determined at the point at which a fraction of the sum of the selected singular values to the sum of all singular values reached 0.5. A six-dimensional solution (6D) satisfied the criterion, and therefore, inter-item cosines were calculated in this dimension. As noted earlier, a 2D solution was also produced in which item vectors were plotted on the 2D space.

#### **Two-Dimensional Space Representations**

**Figure 3** presents the plots of the most frequently produced 20 items (**Table 2**) on 2D space. Dimensions 2 and 3 were used because the first dimension in SVD solutions is generally determined by the frequencies of items in the whole dataset, and it is not informative for showing semantic associations (18). Overall, the most frequent six items were grouped in the same clusters between patients and healthy adults: *dog, cat* as a pet cluster, *lion, tiger* as a wild/carnivorous cluster, and *elephant, giraffe* as a wild/herbivorous cluster (**Figures 3A,B**, circled items).

#### Cosines in Six-Dimensional Space

Table 3 shows the inter-item cosines of the 20 most frequent items in healthy adults (Table 3A) and patients (Table 3B). Cosine values were all positive probably because only the 20 most frequent items were used. Due to high frequency, those items necessarily co-occurred with each other; therefore, the cosine values tended to be non-negative. Similar trends were found in a previous study [see Figure 2 in Ref. (18)], where cosines of highly frequent items (e.g., cat) yielded almost all positive values to other items. In that study, negative values appeared as the item became less frequent (e.g., whale).

Of all the 20 items, 17 items were in common between healthy adults and patients (i.e., *bear*, *bird*, *cat*, *cow*, *dog*, *elephant*, *giraffe*, *hippopotamus*, *horse*, *lion*, *monkey*, *mouse*, *rabbit*, *sheep*, *snake*, and *tiger*). Thus, the correlation (Pearson's *r*) was calculated using those items to examine whether the cosine values were similar between the two groups. The correlation was moderately high (r = 0.78, p < 0.01), suggesting that a pattern of inter-item



similarities between frequent items in patients with schizophrenia is comparable to that in healthy adults.

To further examine structural similarities (or differences) between the two groups, cosine charts (**Figures 4A,B**) were created for the six most frequent animals (i.e., dog, cat, lion, tiger, elephant, and giraffe). The lines represent 6D cosine values between a particular animal (e.g., dog) and the other most frequent 20 items. Overall, cosine values fluctuated more in patients than in healthy controls. In healthy controls, the patterns of line charts were highly similar between dog-cat pair (red, pet items) and the rest of the items. Similar trends were also found for the *lion-tiger* pair (blue, wild/carnivorous items) and *elephant-giraffe* pair (green, wild/herbivorous items) (**Figure 4A**). However, those pair-wise similarities were less salient in patients with schizo-phrenia, except for the *dog-cat* pair (**Figure 4B**).

## DISCUSSION

We, first, reviewed the methods to evaluate semantic memory organization in patients with schizophrenia. Then, we reported the study that investigated the semantic memory structure in Japanese patients with schizophrenia by applying a newly developed data-mining technique (i.e., SVD analysis) to their category fluency data.

Semantic memory organization in patients with schizophrenia did not appear to be seriously disorganized in the 2D space representation, maintaining a similar clustering structure to that in healthy controls for highly frequent animals. However, the coherence of those animals was less salient in the 6D space, lacking pair-wise similarities to other members of the animal category. This result suggested that subtle but structural differences existed between the two groups.

## **Evaluation of SVD Analysis**

Although highly frequent animals were clustered in a similar manner in 2D space in patients with schizophrenia and heathy adults, the coherence of those items became weaker in 6D space in the patient group. The animal pair in the same cluster (i.e., dog-cat, lion-tiger, elephant-giraffe) yielded almost the same cosine values to the rest of items in healthy adults (**Figure 4A**). This pair-wise trend was less salient in patients with schizophrenia, except the dog-cat pair (**Figure 4B**). As suggested by a previous study (18), this result indicates that SVD analysis can reveal subtler structural differences in semantic memory between patients and healthy controls than are revealed by MDS or HCA.

Our results confirmed the findings from a previous study using English-speaking patients with schizophrenia (18). Thus, newly developed techniques based on a data-mining approach, such as SVD analysis, seems to be effective for elucidating the latent structure of semantic memory in patients with schizophrenia.

## Limitations

Several limitations of this study should be noted. First, we had to limit the number of items (i.e., the 20 most frequent items) due to technical reasons in creating ISM using our R program. If less frequent items were included, further differences, as reported in previous studies (18, 19), might have been observed.

Second, we did not address the issue of possible reasons for poor CFT performance in patients with schizophrenia. Some authors assume that this is due to an impoverished semantic structure (10, 40), while others explain the deterioration based on impairment of accessibility to category items (41-43).

Semantic Memory in Patients With Schizophrenia

#### A. Healthy controls

	Bear	Bird	Cat	Cow	Dog	Elephant	Giraffe	Hippopotamus	Horse	Lion	Monkey	Mouse	Rabbit	Sheep	Snake	Tiger	Zebra	Cheetah	Rhinoceros
Bear	0.47	0.71	0.58	0.71	0.69	0.79	0.51	0.55	0.70	0.56	0.59	0.62	0.43	0.56	0.71	0.52	0.33	0.39	0.95
Bird Cat		0.78	0.55 0.80	0.79 1.00	0.56 0.93	0.58 0.93	0.52 0.80	0.64 0.80	0.69 0.96	0.82 0.96	0.49 0.84	0.37 0.75	0.67 0.81	0.82 0.76	0.67 0.95	0.32 0.81	0.58 0.72	0.41 0.73	0.49 0.67
Cow Dog				0.79	0.75 0.92	0.74 0.93	0.49 0.80	0.97 0.79	0.74 0.96	0.78 0.96	0.87 0.83	0.65 0.74	0.94 0.80	0.46 0.77	0.77 0.95	0.56 0.80	0.50 0.72	0.47 0.72	0.62 0.67
Elephant						0.98	0.92	0.75	0.91	0.85	0.76	0.70	0.75	0.56	0.88	0.90	0.66	0.89	0.68
Giraffe							0.89	0.75	0.89	0.85	0.74	0.75	0.73	0.64	0.86	0.85	0.57	0.84	0.76
Hippopotamus Horse Lion								0.56	0.75 0.69	0.75 0.81 0.88	0.46 0.76 0.86	0.49 0.58 0.68	0.61 0.98 0.69	0.52 0.52 0.62	0.69 0.70 0.99	0.80 0.49 0.87	0.57 0.44 0.84	0.98 0.54 0.68	0.52 0.63 0.65
Monkey Mouse Rabbit Sheep Snake Tiger Zebra Cheetah											0.80	0.76 0.83	0.85 0.75 0.56	0.83 0.53 0.72 0.54	0.87 0.90 0.71 0.70 0.61	0.72 0.77 0.70 0.52 0.40 0.85	0.63 0.63 0.25 0.49 0.27 0.83 0.72	0.69 0.43 0.42 0.60 0.38 0.62 0.80 0.56	0.50 0.49 0.42 0.51 0.42 0.64 0.42 0.35
Rhinoceros																			0.43

#### B. Patients with schizophrenia

Items in gray columns are presented as line charts in Figure 4.

	Bear	Bird	Cat	Cow	Dog	Elephant	Giraffe	Hippopotamus	Horse	Lion	Monkey	Mouse	Rabbit	Sheep	Snake	Tiger	Zebra	Deer	Leopard
Bear	0.58	0.62	0.25	0.62	0.49	0.59	0.55	0.31	0.54	0.80	0.53	0.49	0.29	0.19	0.53	0.33	0.62	0.37	0.09
Bird		0.59	0.66	0.66	0.59	0.51	0.12	0.35	0.57	0.71	0.63	0.51	0.27	0.58	0.61	0.58	0.66	0.26	0.69
Cat			0.75	0.99	0.91	0.97	0.76	0.73	0.86	0.85	0.68	0.71	0.72	0.82	0.85	0.91	0.76	0.68	0.66
Cow				0.80	0.63	0.61	0.46	0.80	0.63	0.64	0.86	0.80	0.75	0.77	0.69	0.90	0.70	0.45	0.88
Dog					0.91	0.95	0.71	0.74	0.86	0.88	0.72	0.73	0.71	0.84	0.85	0.92	0.80	0.64	0.72
Elephant						0.96	0.68	0.44	0.84	0.66	0.54	0.64	0.42	0.84	0.81	0.88	0.50	0.74	0.61
Giraffe							0.76	0.56	0.81	0.76	0.53	0.61	0.55	0.79	0.77	0.85	0.64	0.65	0.58
Hippopotamus								0.46	0.58	0.48	0.65	0.79	0.48	0.38	0.56	0.69	0.34	0.69	0.17
Horse									0.62	0.75	0.64	0.54	0.99	0.67	0.66	0.69	0.84	0.38	0.67
Lion										0.79	0.58	0.59	0.64	0.85	0.99	0.77	0.60	0.87	0.50
Monkey											0.63	0.53	0.72	0.66	0.80	0.64	0.93	0.46	0.57
Mouse												0.96	0.59	0.47	0.66	0.77	0.59	0.53	0.55
Rabbit													0.51	0.47	0.65	0.81	0.44	0.64	0.47
Sheep														0.66	0.67	0.66	0.79	0.43	0.59
Snake															0.85	0.86	0.61	0.65	0.81
Tiger																0.78	0.61	0.87	0.53
Zebra																	0.60	0.66	0.80
Deer																		0.19	0.70
Leopard																			0.19

March 2018 | Volume 9 | Article 87



Although previous studies using SVD analysis took the latter view (18, 19), we are not certain whether semantic structure derived from SVD analysis, in which co-occurrence of items is the basic measurement, could support either the former or the latter view.

## CONCLUSION

The current study investigated the semantic structure of patients with schizophrenia and healthy adults by applying SVD analysis to their category fluency data. A data-mining approach, such as SVD analysis, seems to be effective for evaluating semantic memory in patients with schizophrenia, providing both a visual representation (e.g., 2D spatial representation) and an objective measure (e.g., cosine values) of the structural differences compared to healthy adults. Future studies should aim to address the mechanism of poor performance on the CFT in patients with schizophrenia, as well as the methodological problems surrounding the assessment for the deficits in semantic memory.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The Ethical Committee of Osaka University. All participants provided written informed consents. The study protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of Osaka University, and the procedures were conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CS designed the study, under the supervision of RH and TS. HF, HY, MF, and YY collected the data. CS conducted the analyses and wrote the initial draft. TS, FH, and RH critically revised the draft for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the manuscript writing.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank all individuals who participated in this study as well as Samantha Stark in British Council Tokyo who critically reviewed an earlier version of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was partially supported by the following funding: the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) KAKENHI Grant Number No. 22530691 to CS; JSPS KAKENHI Grant

## REFERENCES

- Fujino H, Sumiyoshi C, Sumiyoshi T, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Ohi K, et al. Predicting employment status and subjective quality of life in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2016) 3:20–5. doi:10.1016/j.scog. 2015.10.005
- Green MF. What are the functional consequences of neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia? *Am J Psychiatry* (1996) 153:321–30. doi:10.1176/ajp. 153.3.321
- Green MF. Cognitive impairment and functional outcome in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2006) 67(Suppl 9):3–8. doi:10.4088/ JCP.1006e12 discussion 36-42,
- Sumiyoshi C, Sumiyoshi T. Functional outcome in patients with schizophrenia: the concept and measurement. Act Nerv Super (2015) 57:1–11. doi:10.1007/ BF03379619
- Keefe RS, Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Gold JM, Poe MP, Coughenour L. The Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia: reliability, sensitivity, and comparison with a standard neurocognitive battery. *Schizophr Res* (2004) 68:283–97. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2003.09.011
- Nuechterlein KH, Green MF. MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery Manual. Los Angeles: MATRICS Assessment Inc. (2006).
- Sumiyoshi C, Harvey PD, Takaki M, Okahisa Y, Sato T, Sora I, et al. Factors predicting work outcome in Japanese patients with schizophrenia: role of multiple functioning levels. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2015) 2:105–12. doi:10.1016/j. scog.2015.07.003
- Nicodemus KK, Elvevag B, Foltz PW, Rosenstein M, Diaz-Asper C, Weinberger DR. Category fluency, latent semantic analysis and schizophrenia: a candidate gene approach. *Cortex* (2014) 55:182–91. doi:10.1016/j.cortex. 2013.12.004
- Chan AS, Butters N, Salmon DP, McGuire KA. Dimensionality and clustering in the semantic network of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Psychol Aging* (1993) 8:411–9. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.8.3.411
- Paulsen JS, Romero R, Chan A, Davis AV, Heaton RK, Jeste DV. Impairment of the semantic network in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (1996) 63:109–21. doi:10.1016/0165-1781(96)02901-0
- Prescott TJ, Newton LD, Mir NU, Woodruff PW, Parks RW. A new dissimilarity measure for finding semantic structure in category fluency data with implications for understanding memory organization in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychology* (2006) 20:685–99. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.20.6.685
- Troyer AK, Moscovitch M, Winocur G. Clustering and switching as two components of verbal fluency: evidence from younger and older healthy adults. *Neuropsychology* (1997) 11:138–46. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.11.1.138
- Aloia MS, Gourovitch ML, Weinberger DR, Goldberg TE. An investigation of semantic space in patients with schizophrenia. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (1996) 2:267–73. doi:10.1017/S1355617700001272
- Sumiyoshi C, Matsui M, Sumiyoshi T, Yamashita I, Sumiyoshi S, Kurachi M. Semantic structure in schizophrenia as assessed by the category fluency test: effect of verbal intelligence and age of onset. *Psychiatry Res* (2001) 105:187–99. doi:10.1016/S0165-1781(01)00345-6
- Sumiyoshi C, Sumiyoshi T, Nohara S, Yamashita I, Matsui M, Kurachi M, et al. Disorganization of semantic memory underlies alogia in schizophrenia: an analysis of verbal fluency performance in Japanese subjects. *Schizophr Res* (2005) 74:91–100. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2004.05.011

Number No. 17K10321 to TS; JSPS KAKENHI Grant No. J16H05375 to RH; Intramural Research Grant (27-1 and 29-1) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders of NCNP to TS; the Health and Labor Sciences Research Grants for Comprehensive Research on Persons with Disabilities, AMED to RH; and the Brain Mapping by Integrated Neurotechnologies for Disease Studies (Brain/MINDS) of the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development, AMED (JP18dm0207006) to RH. The funders had no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

- Rossell SL, Rabe-Hesketh S, Shapleske J, David AS. Is semantic fluency differentially impaired in schizophrenic patients with delusions? J Clin Exp Neuropsychol (1999) 21:629–42. doi:10.1076/jcen.21.5.629.865
- Storms G, Dirikx T, Saerens J, Verstraeten S, De Deyn PP. On the use of scaling and clustering in the study of semantic deficits. *Neuropsychology* (2003) 17:289–301. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.17.2.289
- Sung K, Gordon B, Vannorsdall TD, Ledoux K, Pickett EJ, Pearlson GD, et al. Semantic clustering of category fluency in schizophrenia examined with singular value decomposition. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2012) 18:565–75. doi:10.1017/S1355617712000136
- Sung K, Gordon B, Vannorsdall TD, Ledoux K, Schretlen DJ. Impaired retrieval of semantic information in bipolar disorder: a clustering analysis of category-fluency productions. *J Abnorm Psychol* (2013) 122:624–34. doi:10.1037/a0033068
- Sung K, Gordon B, Yang S, Schretlen DJ. Evidence of semantic clustering in letter-cued word retrieval. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol* (2013) 35:1015–23. doi:10.1080/13803395.2013.845141
- Alter O, Brown PO, Botstein D. Singular value decomposition for genomewide expression data processing and modeling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97:10101–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.18.10101
- Landauer TK, Dumais ST. A solution to Plato's problem: the latent semantic analysis theory of acquisition, induction, and representation of knowledge. *Psychol Rev* (1997) 104:211–40. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.104.2.211
- 23. American Psychiatric Association. *DSM-IV: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (1994).
- 24. Spreen OS, Strauss E. A Compendium of Neuropsychhological Tests. New York: Oxford University Press (1998).
- 25. Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Third Edition. New York: The Psychological Corporation (1997).
- Fujino H, Sumiyoshi C, Sumiyoshi T, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Ohi K, et al. Performance on the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III in Japanese patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68:534–41. doi:10.1111/pcn.12165
- Fujino H, Sumiyoshi C, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Fujimoto M, Fukunaga M, et al. Estimated cognitive decline in patients with schizophrenia: a multicenter study. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2017) 71:294–300. doi:10.1111/pcn.12474
- Hashimoto R, Ikeda M, Ohi K, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Fukumoto M, et al. Genome-wide association study of cognitive decline in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2013) 170:683–4. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12091228
- Morita K, Miura K, Fujimoto M, Yamamori H, Yasuda Y, Iwase M, et al. Eye movement as a biomarker of schizophrenia: using an integrated eye movement score. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2017) 71:104–14. doi:10.1111/pcn.12460
- Ohi K, Hashimoto R, Ikeda M, Yamamori H, Yasuda Y, Fujimoto M, et al. Glutamate networks implicate cognitive impairments in schizophrenia: genome-wide association studies of 52 cognitive phenotypes. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41:909–18. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbu171
- Matsuoka K, Uno M, Kasai K, Koyama K, Kim Y. Estimation of premorbid IQ in individuals with Alzheimer's disease using Japanese ideographic script (Kanji) compound words: Japanese version of National Adult Reading Test. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2006) 60:332–9. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2006.01510.x
- Nelson HE, O'Connell A. Dementia: the estimation of premorbid intelligence levels using the New Adult Reading Test. *Cortex* (1978) 14:234–44. doi:10.1016/S0010-9452(78)80049-5

- Nelson HE, Willison JR. The Revised National Adult Reading Test-Test Manual. Windsor, UK: NFER-Nelson (1991).
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler L. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (1987) 13:261–76. doi:10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- Lindenmayer JP, Bernstein-Hyman R, Grochowski S. Five-factor model of schizophrenia. Initial validation. J Nerv Ment Dis (1994) 182:631–8. doi:10.1097/00005053-199411000-00006
- Lindenmayer JP, Bernstein-Hyman R, Grochowski S. A new five factor model of schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Q* (1994) 65:299–322. doi:10.1007/BF02354306
- R version 3.2.2. The R Foundation for Statistical Computing Platform: x86\_ 64-w64-mingw32/x64 (64-bit) (2015).
- 38. Wild F. Latent Semantic Analysis (2015). Package: lsa Version: 0.73.71.
- Quesada J. Creating your own LSA spaces. In: Landauer TK, McNamara DS, Dennis S, Kintsch W, editors. *Handbook of Latent Semantic Analysis*. Mahwah, NJ: LEA (2007). p. 71–88.
- Bozikas VP, Kosmidis MH, Karavatos A. Disproportionate impairment in semantic verbal fluency in schizophrenia: differential deficit in clustering. *Schizophr Res* (2005) 74:51–9. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2004.05.001
- Allen HA, Liddle PF, Frith CD. Negative features, retrieval processes and verbal fluency in schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry* (1993) 163:769–75. doi:10.1192/ bjp.163.6.769

- Aloia MS, Gourovitch ML, Missar D, Pickar D, Weinberger DR, Goldberg TE. Cognitive substrates of thought disorder, II: specifying a candidate cognitive mechanism. *Am J Psychiatry* (1998) 155:1677–84. doi:10.1176/ajp.155.12.1677
- Joyce EM, Collinson SL, Crichton P. Verbal fluency in schizophrenia: relationship with executive function, semantic memory and clinical alogia. *Psychol Med* (1996) 26:39–49. doi:10.1017/S0033291700033705

**Disclaimer:** The views expressed in the submitted article are our own and do not reflect the official position of the institutions.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Sumiyoshi, Fujino, Sumiyoshi, Yasuda, Yamamori, Fujimoto and Hashimoto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Neuropsychological Profile of Specific Executive Dysfunctions in Patients with Deficit and Non-deficit Schizophrenia

Ernest Tyburski<sup>1</sup>, Justyna Pełka-Wysiecka<sup>2</sup>\*, Monika Mak<sup>3</sup>, Agnieszka Samochowiec<sup>1</sup>, Przemysław Bieńkowski<sup>4</sup> and Jerzy Samochowiec<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Psychology, Institute of Psychology, University of Szczecin, Szczecin, Poland, <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland, <sup>3</sup> Independent Clinical Psychology Unit, Department of Psychiatry, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

**Objectives:** Although it has been shown that there are more profound deficits present in deficit schizophrenia (DS) patients than in non-deficit schizophrenia (NDS) patients, there still remain some matters requiring further investigation. In this context, we formulated three research aims: (1) to compare executive functions between the investigated groups, (2) to determine the relationship between particular aspects of executive functions within the groups, and (3) to draw up a neuropsychological profile for executive functions.

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Diane Carol Gooding, University of Wisconsin–Madison, United States Maria Semkovska, University of Limerick, Ireland

\*Correspondence:

Justyna Pełka-Wysiecka justyna.pelka@pum.edu.pl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 16 June 2017 Accepted: 14 August 2017 Published: 30 August 2017

#### Citation:

Tyburski E, Pełka-Wysiecka J, Mak M, Samochowiec A, Bieńkowski P and Samochowiec J (2017) Neuropsychological Profile of Specific Executive Dysfunctions in Patients with Deficit and Non-deficit Schizophrenia. Front. Psychol. 8:1459. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01459 **Methods:** The study involved 148 schizophrenia patients divided into two groups on the basis of the Schedule for the Deficit Syndrome: DS (n = 70) and NDS (n = 78). Patients were matched for sex, age, years of education, and overall cognitive functioning. For assessing executive functions we used the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST), the Trail Making Test (TMT), the Phonemic Verbal Fluency Test (VFT P), the Stroop Color and Word Test (SCWT), and the Go/No Go task (GNG).

**Results:** Deficit schizophrenia patients scored lower on the WCST and TMT (relative flexibility) than did the NDS patients. There were no inter-group differences in the VFT P, SCWT (relative inhibition), or GNG. There were significant correlations between WCST and TMT scores in both groups. The general neuropsychological profiles were similar in both groups.

**Conclusion:** Deficit schizophrenia patients exhibited slightly greater interference with concept formation and non-verbal cognitive flexibility. Therefore, such problems may be specific to this particular type of schizophrenia. These results may be useful for the development of neuropsychological diagnostic methods for patients with schizophrenia.

Keywords: executive functions, concept formation, verbal cognitive flexibility, non-verbal cognitive flexibility, deficit schizophrenia

## INTRODUCTION

There is an ongoing discussion about whether different types of schizophrenia are associated with specific types of executive dysfunction (Brazo et al., 2002; Simon et al., 2009; Fioravanti et al., 2012; Hegde et al., 2013; Ventura et al., 2013). The heterogeneity of schizophrenia symptoms has led to a distinction between different clinical syndromes within a single disease. The term

87

'deficit schizophrenia' was first suggested by Carpenter et al. (1988) as a type of schizophrenia with dominant negative symptoms persisting for a long time. Among these are persistent and primary negative symptoms such as social withdrawal, poverty of speech, limited content of verbal expression, apathy, and blunting of affect (Strauss et al., 2010). Longitudinal analyses show that these symptoms are stable over time (Tek et al., 2001; Chemerinski et al., 2006; Strauss et al., 2010). There are numerous reports confirming the validity of deficit schizophrenia (DS) diagnoses (Tek et al., 2001; Arango et al., 2004; Messias et al., 2004; Dickerson et al., 2006; Cohen et al., 2007; Galderisi et al., 2008; Kirkpatrick and Galderisi, 2008; Pełka-Wysiecka et al., 2013). However, apart from negative/deficit symptoms, the basic symptomatic dimensions in schizophrenia include also reality distortion and disorganization (Liddle et al., 1992; Schröder et al., 1992). The occurrence of the two latter types of symptoms may also be associated with executive function impairments.

The construct of executive functions has enabled a more insightful understanding of the self-regulatory processes responsible for the management of one's thoughts, emotions, and behavior (Alvarez and Emory, 2006; Jurado and Rosselli, 2007; Diamond, 2013). In clinical neuropsychology, it has been assumed that they form a superordinate system which allows the implementation of purposeful action, and involves four domains: volition, planning, purposive action, and effective performance (Lezak, 1995; Jodzio, 2008). Many clinical and experimental studies have confirmed that these functions are carried out by a complex central executive network which includes a variety of brain structures, the most important of which are the prefrontal cortex, the anterior cingulate cortex, the subcortical nuclei, and the cerebellum (Stuss, 2011; Niendam et al., 2012; Yuan and Raz, 2014; Mak et al., 2016). Many studies suggest the presence of greater structural and functional disorders of the brain in DS patients than in their NDS counterparts (Liddle et al., 1992; Tamminga et al., 1992; DeQuardo et al., 1998; Heckers et al., 1999; Lahti et al., 2001). Based on these studies, Buchanan et al. (1994) and Kirkpatrick et al. (2001) asserted that malfunctioning of the loop created by the prefrontal cortex, the inferior parietal cortices, and the thalamus is implicated in the pathophysiology and executive dysfunctions of the deficit syndrome in schizophrenia.

As can be seen in **Table 1**, neuropsychological analyses of the executive functioning of patients with DS and non-deficit schizophrenia (NDS) yield somewhat inconsistent results. Polgár et al. (2010) showed that patients with DS achieved lower scores than those with NDS in specific measures of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST). In addition, a factor analysis was performed, showing that there are at least two factors relating to mental processes engaged in this test. The first is concept formation and flexibility, and it includes, inter alia, Perseverative Responses (PR), and Perseverative Errors (PE). The second is unsuccessful problem-solving with an ineffective hypothesistesting strategy and includes Non-perseverative Errors (NPE). Analysis of the results showed that only some DS patients obtained lower PE scores than did those with NDS (**Table 1**). Other reports found no inter-group differences (or differences in PR score, see Table 1). These particular scores are not considered at all in some papers. Furthermore, Wang et al. (2008) and Vogel et al. (2013) report some contradictory findings, as their subjects differed in terms of PE scores, but not PR scores. NPE scores were only considered in four papers, and only Réthelyi et al. (2012) found that patients with DS had lower scores than those with NDS. A review of research which used the Trail Making Test (TMT, version B) revealed that, in some papers, patients with DS scored lower than NDS patients. Unfortunately, only two papers reported patient scores for absolute non-verbal cognitive flexibility [time B - A], some independent of the speed of information processing (TMT AF, Chan et al., 2015). In the study of Wang et al. (2008), patients with DS obtained lower scores than those with NDS, while Galderisi et al. (2002) did not report any inter-group differences. A meta-analysis of research which used the Phonemic Verbal Fluency Test (VFT P) to measure verbal cognitive flexibility showed that DS patients scored lower than NDS patients in three studies, while in five others there were no reports of any inter-group differences. A review of studies which used the Stroop Color and Word Test (SCWT) showed that only in the study by Réthelyi et al. (2012) did DS patients score lower than NDS patients in the task of reading the names of colors printed in a color different (incongruent) to that denoted by the name. Cohen et al. (2007) found no inter-group differences. Buchanan et al. (1994) was the only study in which the interference index was applied, where reaction time was controlled for the congruent trial. The authors showed that DS patients exhibited higher (worse) scores than did the NDS patients. We could not find any available research on DS patients performing the Go/No Go task (GNG).

Furthermore, the specific relationship between the particular aspects of DS and NDS may prove important for understanding the nature of executive functions in DS/NDS patients, as demonstrated in research conducted on healthy persons (Miyake et al., 2000) and older subjects (McCabe et al., 2010; Brown et al., 2012). Unfortunately, such relationships have been very rarely examined in this group of patients. Only Yu et al. (2015) managed to demonstrate a significant correlation between scores on the TMT and VFT P in patients with DS. It may also be important to identify which aspects of executive function are most impaired in patients with DS and NDS. This is made possible by a profile analysis of neuropsychological function (Lezak et al., 2004; Voglmaier et al., 2005). Brazo et al. (2002) found the greatest disturbance in patients with DS in areas of concept formation (Modified Card Sorting Test, MCST) and verbal cognitive flexibility (VFT P), and their non-verbal cognitive flexibility (TMT) and cognitive inhibition (SCWT) were least affected. The aforementioned functions remained on a similar level in NDS patients. In turn, Cascella et al. (2008) demonstrated that DS patients exhibit the greatest difficulty with speed of information processing and verbal cognitive flexibility (VFT P), and they tend to do slightly better in concept formation (MCST), with a similar profile observed in both DS and NDS patients. However, Réthelyi et al. (2012) and Yu et al. (2015) showed that patients with

TABLE 1 | Survey of studies on PubMed which test executive functions in deficit schizophrenia (DS) and non-deficit schizophrenia (NDS) patients, and normal controls (CON).

Authors	Number of		WCST		т	мт	VFT P	SCWT	
	DS/NDS/CON	WCST PR/%	WCST PE/%	WCST NPE/%	TMA B	TMT AF		SCWTI	SCWT AI
Buchanan et al., 1994	18/21/30 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ns	ni	ni	< 0.05	ni	ns	ni	ni
Bryson et al., 2001	33/57/none <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ni	<0.05	ni	ni	ni	ni	ni	ni
Galderisi et al., 2002	58/54/26 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ni	ns	ni	ni	ns	ni	ni	ni
Horan and Blanchard, 2003	15/30/41 <sup>a,c</sup>	ni	< 0.05	ni	ni	ni	ni	ni	ni
Tiryaki et al., 2003	19/43/none <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ni	ni	ni	ns	ni	ns	ns	ni
Delamillieure et al., 2004	5/17/21 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ni	ni	ni	ni	ni	ni	ns	ni
Cohen et al., 2007	20/25/25 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ni	ns	ni	ns	ni	ns	ni	ns
Cascella et al., 2008	26/79/316 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ni	ns	ni	ns	ni	ns	ni	ni
Polgár et al., 2008	27/45/30 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ni	< 0.05	ni	< 0.05	ni	< 0.05	ni	ni
Wang et al., 2008	30/93/103 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ns	< 0.05	ns	< 0.01	< 0.01	ni	ni	ni
Polgár et al., 2010	154/121/130 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	< 0.05	< 0.05	< 0.05	ni	ni	ni	ni	ni
Réthelyi et al., 2012	143/123/none <sup>a,b</sup>	ni	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	ni	< 0.001	< 0.001	ni
Vogel et al., 2013	15/52/51 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ns	< 0.01	ns	ni	ni	ni	ni	ni
Csukly et al., 2014	30/28/29 <sup>a,b,c</sup>	ni	< 0.001	ni	ni	ni	ni	ns	ni
Scala et al., 2014	15/40/55 <sup>a,b,c,d</sup>	ns	ns	ns	ni	ni	ns	ni	ni
Yu et al., 2015	40/57/52 <sup>b</sup>	ni	ni	ni	< 0.001	ni	< 0.05	ns	ni

ni, no information; ns, no significant; WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test; PR, Perseverative Responses; PE, Perseverative Errors; NPE, Non-perseverative Errors; TMT, Trail Making Test; B, time; AF, Absolute Flexibility [time B – A]; VFT P, Phonemic Verbal Fluency Test; SCWT, Stroop Color and Word Test: I, Incongruent; AI, Absolute Inhibition [time incongruent – congruent].

<sup>a</sup>Deficit schizophrenia and non-deficit schizophrenia and normal controls matched for gender.

<sup>b</sup>Age.

<sup>c</sup>Years of education.

<sup>d</sup>Premorbid intelligence quotient.

DS and NDS have greater problems with regards to non-verbal flexibility (TMT), than with verbal cognitive flexibility (VFT P).

As can be seen in the above results, there are still a few unresolved issues concerning executive function in patients with DS. First of all, the precise nature of executive dysfunction in this group of patients has not been established. Secondly, it is not clear what is the relationship between various aspects of the executive function in those patients or whether there exists any at all. Also, it is not fully known which domains of the described processes suffer the greatest impairment within the group. Therefore, both the inconclusiveness of findings and the importance of executive functions for the performance of complex actions have led to formulation of three research aims: (1) to compare executive function performance between the investigated groups, (2) to determine the relationship between the particular aspects of executive functions within the groups, and (3) to draw up a neuropsychological profile for executive functions which takes into account the diversity of the different aspects of these processes.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Participants**

The patient group consisted of 148 right-handed Caucasians (74 female and 74 male) who had been diagnosed with schizophrenia

according to ICD-10 (World Health Organization [WHO], 1992) for a minimum of 18 months. Patient interviews were done by properly licensed psychiatrists. Among the inclusion criteria were the ability to understand the research procedure, being aged between 20 and 60, and having given informed consent. Exclusion criteria were other mental diseases, neurological diseases, dementia, a history of traumatic brain injury, and severe diseases of the parenchymal organs, a history of alcohol or drug misuse, or intellectual disability. With the construction of the study in mind, patients who exhibited clear symptoms of disorganization were also excluded. The patients were recruited from inpatient psychiatric wards, psychiatric daycare wards, and outpatient clinics in the Western Pomerania district of Poland. All subjects were fully informed about the aims and the protocol of the study and all gave written informed consent. The protocol was approved by the local bioethics committee.

#### Measures

#### **Clinical Assessment**

The presence of psychopathological symptoms was assessed using the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS, Kay et al., 1987), and the Clinical Global Impression – Schizophrenia scale (CGI-SCH, Haro et al., 2003), which assessed four groups of symptoms (positive, negative, depressive, and cognitive) during a psychiatric examination. To describe the severity and type of deficit symptoms, we used a Polish translation of the Schedule for the Deficit Syndrome (SDS, Kirkpatrick et al., 1989). DS was diagnosed by the presence of the following negative symptoms: restricted affect, diminished emotional range, poverty of speech, curbing of interests, diminished sense of purpose, and diminished social drive. All the above symptoms had to be primary, i.e., not caused by positive symptoms such as depression, cognitive dysfunction, psychopharmacotherapy, or poor general health, and had to have been present for the preceding 12 months.

The patients were in symptomatic remission, not acute psychosis. All subjects were treated according to the guidelines for the psychopharmacological treatment of schizophrenia. In both groups the patients received typical (perazine, zuclopenthixol, haloperidol) or atypical (risperidone, olanzapine, clozapine, quetiapine, aripiprazole, amisulpride) antipsychotics. The DS and NDS groups did not differ in terms of type of neuroleptics used.

#### Neuropsychological Assessment

In this study we used the WCST in its original computerized form (Heaton et al., 1993; Jaworowska, 2002). Based on data collected by Polgár et al. (2010), we decided to measure concept formation using two scores: PE and PR, and to assess problemsolving using NPE. The subject's task was to discover the rule that is currently in place (color, shape or number) and answer by pressing the right key on the keyboard, from 1 to 4 based on the feedback (correct or incorrect) displayed on a 15" screen. Before the test, each participant received instructions from a psychologist. For the assessment of non-verbal cognitive flexibility, we used the TMT (Reitan, 1958). However, bearing in mind that DS and NDS patients' speed of information processing is generally slower (Morrens et al., 2007), we decided to use the Relative Flexibility indicator (TMT), applying the formula:  $[(\text{time B} - \text{A}/\text{time B}) \times 100]$  (Stuss et al., 2001; Perianez et al., 2007). In TMT A, subjects had to connect 25 circles containing numbers from 1 to 25, which were irregularly placed on a white, A4 sheet, with a continuous line, as quickly as possible. TMT B consisted of connecting circles, going by turns from number to letter, while preserving the order of numbers and following alphabet (from 1 to A, from A to 2, etc.), finishing at number "13" and the letter "L." A practice trial was done before each task so that the investigator could be sure that the patient understood the instructions. Instructions were provided verbally by the investigator (psychologist) both before the practice task and the actual task. In turn, to assess verbal cognitive flexibility, we administered the VFT P (Lezak, 1995; Tyburski et al., 2015). Each individual was asked to list as many words as they can, as fast as possible, according to the given criterion (words beginning with k or p). The time for completing each trial was 60 s. The researcher wrote down each word on an answer sheet. Since it has been demonstrated that the number of correctly spoken words strongly correlates with the number of word switches, this indicator was considered to be a good measure of verbal cognitive flexibility (Ross, 2003). We also assessed cognitive inhibition (dominant verbal response) by means of the SCWT. However, because patients with DS exhibit slowing of information processing (Morrens et al., 2007), we decided to use the Relative Inhibition Indicator (SCWT RI) in the formula: [(time incongruent – congruent/time congruent)  $\times$  100] (Denney and Lynch, 2009). In the first task, the subject had to

read aloud as fast as possible the names of colors printed in a black font on a white A4 sheet. In the second task, the subject had to name the colors of words printed in a colored font, where the font color was incongruent with the word's meaning (e.g., the word "green" printed in red). Instructions were provided verbally each time by the investigator (psychologist) before the task. The computer version of the GNG was also used and motor inhibition was measured with the number of No Go type errors (Strauss et al., 2006; Wright et al., 2014). The subject's task was to press the spacebar on the keyboard when a green square appeared on the computer screen (15"), and to refrain from pressing the spacebar when a blue square appeared on the screen. Instructions were presented on the computer screen before the task.

## Procedure

At their first appointment, all patients were examined by one of four psychiatrists who carried out a structured interview and assessment based on clinical scales (each patient was evaluated using the PANSS, CGI-SCH, and SDS). The psychiatrists were members of the research team and had been trained in the research procedure, including the use of the psychiatric scales. The next appointment involved neuropsychological assessment, carried out by one of three trained psychologists. All patients were examined with the same neuropsychological battery. Administration of each tool was preceded by the standard instructions.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis of the results was done using the IBM SPSS 21 Statistical package. Continuous variables were presented as means (M) and standard deviations (SD) or standard errors (SE). The normality of the distribution was tested with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Before any analyses were conducted, square root transformation was used to transform the raw results of variables which were not normally distributed. Then selected scores were transformed into unitarized results using the formula  $x_u = [(x_i - min)/(max - min) \times 100]$  (ranges from 0 to 100, the higher the score, the more difficult the task). To check for differences between the groups, the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test (for demographic and clinical variables) or parametric Student's t-tests were used (for neuropsychological variables). The Wendt  $r_{\rm U}$  rank-biserial correlation method (Wendt, 1972; Rosenthal and Rubin, 2003) was used to determine the magnitude of effect size measures for the non-parametric tests and Cohen's d or  $\eta^2$  effect size (Cohen, 1992) was used to determine the magnitude of effect size measures for the parametric test and analysis of variance (ANOVA). For multiple comparisons the Bonferroni correction was used. To assess the strength of the relationship between different aspects of executive functioning, Pearson's r correlation coefficient was used. To draw up the executive function profile and compare the results from different neuropsychological tests, we used a repeated measures/mixed model ANOVA. We assumed the group type (DS or NDS) as the inter-object factor, and the aspect of executive function (the type of measure) as an intra-object 7-level factor scale.

## RESULTS

## **Subjects' Characteristics**

The patients' socio-demographic and clinical characteristics are shown in **Table 2**. Neither investigated group differed in terms of number of years of education, gender, length of time since diagnosis, level of general mental functioning (assessed with MMSE), or number of hospitalizations at psychiatric wards. DS patients had higher scores than non-deficit patients on all PANSS (p < 0.001) and SGI-SCH subscales (p < 0.001). The effect size ( $r_{\rm U}$ ) was found to be 0.25–0.74, i.e., a small to large effect size.

# Performance in Specific Aspects of Executive Functions

As shown in **Table 3**, DS patients scored lower in concept formation (WCST PR: p < 0.05; WCST PE: p < 0.05) and non-verbal cognitive flexibility (TMT RF: p < 0.05) in comparison to NDS patients. The effect size (*d*) of executive dysfunctions in WCST and TMT was found to be 0.38–0.39, indicating a small effect size. No differences were observed in verbal cognitive flexibility (VFT P) and cognitive (SCWT RI) or motor inhibition (GNG).

# Associations between Particular Aspects of Executive Functions

As can be seen in **Table 4**, there was a strong positive correlation between the two measures relating to concept formation (WCST PR and PE) in both groups, as well as a weak positive correlation between measures relating to concept formation (WCST PR and PE) and problem-solving (WCST NPE), and a small positive correlation between measures of concept formation (WCST PR and PE) and non-verbal cognitive flexibility (VFT P), as well as problem-solving and cognitive inhibition (SCWT RI). In addition, DS patients showed a slight positive correlation between measures relating to concept formation (WCST PR and PE) and cognitive inhibition (SCWT IR), as well as non-verbal (TMT RI) and verbal cognitive flexibility (VFT P). In turn, in patients with NDS, there was a positive correlation between measures relating to concept formation (WCST PR and PE), problemsolving (WCST NPE), and verbal cognitive flexibility (VFT P).

# Neuropsychological Profile of Executive Functions

**Figure 1** shows the profile of executive functions for both patient groups. ANOVA with repeated measures/mixed model showed significant differences between the different aspects of executive function in both patient groups [F(6,608) = 57.41; p = 0.000;  $\eta^2 = 2.82$ ]. There was no statistically significant interaction effect between group type and the nature of the executive domain [F(6,6.08) = 2.28; p = 0.057;  $\eta^2 = 0.02$ ]. Patients with DS (M = 42.87; SE = 1.43) had higher general scores than patients with NDS, which indicates more severe problems in terms of executive function [F(1,146) = 4.30; p = 0.040;  $\eta^2 = 0.03$ ]. Pairwise comparison showed that patients with DS scored highest, indicating their greatest difficulties, in the VFT P (M = 60.88; SE = 2.23), and scored lowest in the GNG

(M = 29.56; SE = 2.80), WCST NPE (M = 37.90; SE = 2.25), WCST PR (M = 37.31; SE = 2.74) and WCST EP (M = 39.39;SE = 2.80). It was similar in patients with NDS – the greatest problems occurred in the performance of VFT P (M = 63.16;SE = 2.11), and the least problematic were the WCST PR (M = 28.48; SE = 2.59), GNG (M = 30.02; SE = 2.66), WCST EP (M = 30.46; SE = 2.6), and WCST NPE (M = 33.46;SE = 2.13). In addition, patients with DS had similar results in TMT (M = 50.48; SE = 2.16) and SCWT RI (M = 44.57;SE = 1.90), which still differed significantly from the results obtained in the other measures. Patients with NDS also had similar results in TMT RF (M = 43.72; SE = 2.05) and SCWT RI (M = 42.28; SE = 1.80), which were also significantly different from the results in the other factors.

## DISCUSSION

The results partially confirmed the first hypothesis. It was found that DS patients had lower levels of concept formation than did patients with NDS. Other researchers report similar findings (Table 1). However, in most studies there were only differences in the WCST in the PE score. Only Polgár et al. (2010) report that patients with DS both gave more PR and committed more PE than did NDS patients. Therefore, patients with DS are more likely to have diminished ability to use positive and negative feedback in the learning process and to react optimally to new situations. However, differences in the performance of this test between patients from the two groups could be due to decreased working memory efficiency (working memory is important for holding information in temporary storage, manipulating it, and using it to guide subsequent behavior), which has been noted by, e.g., Park and Gooding (2014). In addition, we have demonstrated that patients with DS have lower levels of non-verbal cognitive flexibility than do NDS patients. However, it was difficult to relate our results to the findings of other researchers, as they did not assess patients' performance on the TMT (Relative Flexibility Indicator). Wang et al. (2008) found a significant difference between DS/NDS patients regarding their scores on the Absolute Flexibility task, but Galderisi et al. (2002) did not report such a difference. In some studies (Table 1), patients with DS had longer response times in this task (part B), but these results should be interpreted with great caution, as there is a strong dependence between this measure and speed of processing information.

There were no inter-group differences in terms of verbal cognitive flexibility, or cognitive or motor inhibition. Admittedly, there are several studies in which patients with DS got lower results in the VFT P (Polgár et al., 2008; Réthelyi et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2015), but other researchers report no intergroup differences (**Table 1**). To interpret these results it may be important to note that the ability to generate words is of a complex nature and requires the use of many mental processes, not only set shifting, but also language competence, psychomotor speed, as well as episodic, semantic, and working memory (Szepietowska and Gawda, 2011). Furthermore, its neural correlates include various cooperating brain regions (Amunts et al., 2004). Therefore, the extent to which this task may

	TABLE 2	Demographic and	I clinical characteristics	s of deficit schizophren	ia (DS) and non-defici	t schizophrenia (NDS) patients.
--	---------	-----------------	----------------------------	--------------------------	------------------------	---------------------------------

DS ( <i>n</i> = 70)	NDS ( <i>n</i> = 78)	<b>Ζ</b> /χ <sup>2</sup>	р
40.94 (9.95)	39.17 (11.24)	-1.07 <sup>a</sup>	0.284
12.23 (2.55)	12.88 (2.77)	-1.42 <sup>a</sup>	0.156
38/32	36/42	0.68 <sup>b</sup>	0.410
22/48	25/53	0.00 <sup>b</sup>	1.000
13.79 (7.08)	12.14 (8.10)	-1.82 <sup>a</sup>	0.068
7.54 (6.18)	6.55 (5.61)	-1.10 <sup>a</sup>	0.270
6.11 (4.35)	4.86 (5.41)	-2.58 <sup>a</sup>	0.010
15.67 (5.97)	6.55 (5.47)	-7.80 <sup>a</sup>	0.000
18.19 (8.75)	9.99 (8.45)	-5.52 <sup>a</sup>	0.000
3.17 (1.09)	1.97 (0.91)	-6.38 <sup>a</sup>	0.000
28.23 (1.48)	28.46 (1.74)	-1.50 <sup>a</sup>	0.137
	DS (n = 70) 40.94 (9.95) 12.23 (2.55) 38/32 22/48 13.79 (7.08) 7.54 (6.18) 6.11 (4.35) 15.67 (5.97) 18.19 (8.75) 3.17 (1.09) 28.23 (1.48)	DS (n = 70)NDS (n = 78) $40.94 (9.95)$ $39.17 (11.24)$ $12.23 (2.55)$ $12.88 (2.77)$ $38/32$ $36/42$ $22/48$ $25/53$ $13.79 (7.08)$ $12.14 (8.10)$ $7.54 (6.18)$ $6.55 (5.61)$ $6.11 (4.35)$ $4.86 (5.41)$ $15.67 (5.97)$ $6.55 (5.47)$ $18.19 (8.75)$ $9.99 (8.45)$ $3.17 (1.09)$ $1.97 (0.91)$ $28.23 (1.48)$ $28.46 (1.74)$	DS (n = 70)NDS (n = 78) $Z/\chi^2$ 40.94 (9.95)39.17 (11.24) $-1.07^a$ 12.23 (2.55)12.88 (2.77) $-1.42^a$ 38/3236/420.68^b22/4825/530.00^b13.79 (7.08)12.14 (8.10) $-1.82^a$ 6.11 (4.35)4.86 (5.41) $-2.58^a$ 15.67 (5.97)6.55 (5.47) $-7.80^a$ 18.19 (8.75)9.99 (8.45) $-5.52^a$ 3.17 (1.09)1.97 (0.91) $-6.38^a$ 28.23 (1.48)28.46 (1.74) $-1.50^a$

PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; P, Positive; N, Negative; G, General; CGI-SCH, Clinical Global Impression – Schizophrenia; MMSE, Mini Mental State Examination.

<sup>a</sup>Mann–Whitney U-test.

<sup>b</sup>Chi-square test.

TABLE 3 | Comparison of raw scores of executive performance for deficit schizophrenia (DS) versus non-deficit schizophrenia (NDS) patients.

Aspects of executive functions	Tests and index	DS ( <i>n</i> = 70)	NDS (n = 78)	t	р	d	Effect size
		M (SD)	M (SD)				
Concept formation	WCST PR	37.31 (23.58)	28.48 (22.26)	2.35	0.020	0.39	Small
	WCST PE	39.39 (24.16)	30.46 (22.66)	2.32	0.022	0.38	Small
Problem-solving	WCST NPE	37.90 (20.99)	33.46 (16.17)	1.43	0.154	-	None
Non-verbal cognitive flexibility	TMT RF	50.48 (18.41)	43.72 (17.83)	2.27	0.025	0.38	Small
Verbal cognitive flexibility	VFT P	60.88 (19.98)	63.16 (17.42)	-0.74	0.461	-	None
Cognitive inhibition	SCWT RI	44.57 (17.18)	42.28 (13.91)	-0.88	0.382	-	None
Motor inhibition	GNG NGE	29.56 (24.83)	30.02 (22.14)	-0.12	0.905	-	None

WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test; PR, Perseverative Responses; PE, Perseverative Errors; NPE, Non-perseverative Errors; TMT, Trail Making Test: RF, Relative Flexibility [(time B-A/time B-A/time A)× 100]; VFT P, Phonemic Verbal Fluency Test; SCWT, Stroop Color and Word Test; RI, Relative Inhibition [(time incongruent - congruent/time congruent)× 100]; GNG NGE, Go/No Go Task, No Go Errors.

TABLE 4	Correlation (	Pearsons'	) between	particular as	pects of e	executive	function fo	deficits :	schizophrenia	(DS	) and non	-deficits schize	ophrenia	(NDS)	patients.
---------	---------------	-----------	-----------	---------------	------------	-----------	-------------	------------	---------------	-----	-----------	------------------	----------	-------	-----------

		Group	Concept formation	Problem -solving	Non-verbal cognitive flexibility	Verbal cognitive flexibility	Cognitive inhibition	Motor inhibition
			WCST PE	WCST NPE	TMT RF	VFT P	SCWT RI	GNG NGE
Concept formation	WCST PR	DS	0.99**	0.26**	0.34**	0.18	0.25*	0.06
		NDS	0.99**	0.40**	0.28*	0.36**	0.17	0.09
	WCST PE	DS		0.31**	0.35**	0.17	0.25*	0.06
		NDS		0.44**	0.29*	0.39**	0.17	0.10
Problem-solving	WCST NPE	DS			0.24*	0.09	0.25*	0.17
		NDS			-0.02	0.42**	0.28*	0.09
Non-verbal cognitive flexibility	TMT FR	DS				0.27*	0.10	0.17
		NDS				0.02	0.18	-0.04
Verbal cognitive flexibility	VFT P	DS					-0.02	0.06
		NDS					0.18	0.08
Cognitive inhibition	SCWT RI	DS						0.22
		NDS						0.01

WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test; PR, Perseverative Responses; PE, Perseverative Errors; NPE, Non-perseverative Errors; TMT, Trail Making Test; RF, Relative Flexibility [(time B-A/time A)×100]; VFT P, Phonemic Verbal Fluency Test; SCWT, Stroop Color-Word Test; RI, Relative Inhibition [(time incongruent - congruent/time congruent)×100]; GNG NGE, Go/No Go Task, No Go Errors. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01.



be useful for differentiating between deficit and NDS remains a matter for further discussion. The SCWT has not been used with Relative Inhibition in previous research. Though, in the work of Buchanan et al. (1994), patients with DS obtained lower scores on the interference index, which was modified using statistical control of the reaction time in the congruent variant, than did patients with NDS. In addition, only the work by Réthelyi et al. (2012) found that patients with DS had longer response times in the incongruent variant of this task than patients with NDS, but these results may reflect a greater slowing of information processing, rather than large deficits in cognitive inhibition (Knowles et al., 2010). It was also observed that DS and NDS patients obtained similar results in motor response, based on their performance of the GNG. The groups did not differ in terms of inhibiting reactions to irrelevant stimuli (No Go). The existence of any larger deficits in patients with DS than those with NDS in the area of cognitive and motor inhibition requires further research, especially in the context of the assessment of brain activity using functional neuroimaging techniques (Egner and Hirsch, 2005; Aron et al., 2007; Gorfein and MacLeod, 2007; Yücel et al., 2014).

A partial confirmation of the second hypothesis was possible, as we have shown the presence of a relationship between certain aspects of executive function, both in patients with DS and NDS. There were, however, some discrepancies between the patient groups. In both groups there were associations between concept formation, problem-solving, and non-verbal cognitive flexibility. Only in patients with DS were there links between concept formation and cognitive inhibition. In turn, significant correlations between concept formation, problem-solving, and verbal cognitive flexibility were only present in patients with NDS. However, it was difficult to relate these results to the findings of other authors, as the relationship between various executive domains in patients with DS and NDS has not been studied very deeply. Admittedly, Yu et al. (2015) reported that there is an important correlation between performance on the TMT and VFT P in patients with DS. A similar relationship was observed in this study, since there was an association between the TMT Relative Flexibility Indicator and the VFT P.

The third hypothesis was confirmed, as we have demonstrated the presence of significant variation in terms of levels of the individual aspects of executive function in patients with DS and NDS. It was found that, in both groups, patients were weaker in the area of verbal cognitive flexibility than in other executive domains. In addition, patients of both groups performed at the same level in terms of concept formation, problem-solving, and motor inhibition. In turn, non-verbal cognitive flexibility and cognitive inhibition remained at a higher level than verbal cognitive flexibility, but still proved significantly more difficult than the rest of the executive domains. The fact that the executive function profiles in both groups were similar was shown by the small effect size (0.03) of differences in the comparison of overall scores in ANOVA, which means that the analysis explained only 3% of the variation of the general results of the two groups. Our results were consistent with the results obtained by Brazo et al. (2002) and Cascella et al. (2008). Réthelyi et al. (2012) and Yu et al. (2015) reported slightly different results - finding that DS patients exhibited greater difficulties with non-verbal than with verbal cognitive flexibility. The obtained results were partially in line with the results of Chen et al. (2014). They found modest differences between the neuropsychological profiles of first-episode drug naive patients with DS and NDS, as well as between medicated patients with DS and NDS. However, only in the case of the first-episode drug naive patients were differences found between particular cognitive domains - i.e., patients with DS scored lower than those with NDS in terms of speed of processing and attention. However, it was difficult to directly compare the results presented in this paper to those of Chen et al. (2014) because the latter authors used different measurement tools (i.e., the CogState battery) for evaluating cognitive functions.

## CONCLUSION

The results in this paper are in line with other research and require further empirical validation. An important strength of this study was the use of a neuropsychological test battery for assessing various aspects of executive function in a large patient group. With this data it was possible to consider a broader diagnostic context, which could inform the work of therapeutic teams (Mak et al., 2013). In particular, the ability to detect deficit patients early on in the course of their disease and identify specific executive domains which are impaired may facilitate the implementation of rehabilitation activities, which can help patients function in society (Semkovska et al., 2004; Zipursky, 2014). One limitation of this study would be the lack of control group (e.g., healthy subjects). However, the main goal was to examine the differences between the two types of schizophrenia, which the authors believe has been achieved. Due to the complex nature of the relationship between brain and behavior, the results

of neuropsychological assessment can only suggest a complex neural network dysfunction responsible for performing specific executive functions, which may be another potential limitation of this study (Alexander et al., 2012). Future projects might focus on the assessment of executive function and working memory in deficit patients, based on functional magnetic resonance imaging as well as the assessment of the consequences of impaired executive function on psychosocial functioning in deficit and NDS patients.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Bioethical Commission of the Pomeranian Medical University with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Bioethical Commission of the Pomeranian Medical University.

## REFERENCES

- Alexander, M. P., Gillingham, S., Schweizer, T., and Stuss, D. T. (2012). Cognitive impairments due to focal cerebellar injuries in adults. *Cortex* 48, 980–990. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2011.03.012
- Alvarez, J. A., and Emory, E. (2006). Executive function and the frontal lobes: a meta-analytic review. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 16, 17–42. doi: 10.1007/s11065-006-9002-x
- Amunts, K., Weiss, P. H., Mohlberg, H., Pieperhoff, P., Eickhoff, S., Gurd, J. M., et al. (2004). Analysis of neural mechanisms underlying verbal fluency in cytoarchitectonically defined stereotaxic space – the roles of Brodmann areas 44 and 45. *Neuroimage* 22, 42–56. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.12.031
- Arango, C., Buchanan, R. W., Kirkpatrick, B., and Carpenter, W. T. (2004). The deficit syndrome in schizophrenia: implications for the treatment of negative symptoms. *Eur. Psychiatry* 19, 21–26. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2003.10.004
- Aron, A. R., Durston, S., Eagle, D. M., Logan, G. D., Stinear, C. M., and Stuphorn, V. (2007). Converging evidence for a fronto-basal-ganglia network for inhibitory control of action and cognition. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 11860–11864. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.3644-07.2007
- Brazo, P., Marie, R. M., Halbecq, I., Benali, K., Segard, L., Delamillieure, P., et al. (2002). Cognitive patterns in subtypes of schizophrenia. *Eur. Psychiatry* 17, 155–162. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.786
- Brown, L. A., Brockmole, J. R., Gow, A. J., and Deary, I. J. (2012). Processing speed and visuospatial executive function predict visual working memory ability in older adults. *Exp. Aging Res.* 38, 1–9. doi: 10.1080/0361073X.2012.636722
- Bryson, G., Whelahan, H. A., and Bell, M. (2001). Memory and executive function impairments in deficit syndrome schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* 102, 29–37. doi: 10.1016/S165-1781(01)00245-1
- Buchanan, R. W., Strauss, M. E., Kirkpatrick, B., Holstein, C., Breier, A., and Carpenter, W. T. (1994). Neuropsychological impairments in deficit vs nondeficit forms of schizophrenia. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 51, 804–811. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1994.03950100052005
- Carpenter, W. T., Heinrich, D. W., and Wagman, A. M. (1988). Deficit and nondeficit forms of schizophrenia: the concept. Am. J. Psychiatry 145, 578–583. doi: 10.1176/ajp.145.5.578
- Cascella, N. G., Testa, S. M., Meyer, S. M., Rao, V. A., Diaz-Asper, C. M., Pearlson, G. D., et al. (2008). Neuropsychological impairment in deficit vs. non-deficit schizophrenia. J. Psychiatric Res. 42, 930–937. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2007. 10.002
- Chan, E., MacPherson, S. E., Robinson, G., Turner, M., Lecce, F., Shallice, T., et al. (2015). Limitations of the trail making test part-B in assessing frontal

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript. JP-W was the principal coordinator of the grant, was involved in the study design, and took part in patient recruitment. ET managed literature searches and analyses, performed statistical analysis, wrote the first draft of the manuscript and took part patient recruitment. JS was involved in conceptualization of the project, study design, and corrected the manuscript. MM took part in patient recruitment. AS took part in patient recruitment. PB took part in patient recruitment.

## FUNDING

This paper was supported by a grant from the Polish Ministry of Science and Higher Education no: NN 402456738. The funding agency had no role in the collection, analysis or interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; or in the decision to submit the paper for publication.

executive dysfunction. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 21, 169–174. doi: 10.1017/S135561771500003X

- Chemerinski, E., Reichenberg, A., Kirkpatrick, B., Bowie, C. R., and Harvey, P. D. (2006). Three dimensions of clinical symptoms in elderly patients with schizophrenia: prediction of six-year cognitive and functional status. *Schizophr. Res.* 85, 12–19. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.03.002
- Chen, C., Jiang, W., Zhong, N., Wu, J., Jiang, H., Du, J., et al. (2014). Impaired processing speed and attention in first-episode drug naive schizophrenia with deficit syndrome. *Schizophr. Res.* 15, 478–484. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.09.005
- Cohen, A. S., Saperstein, A. M., Gold, J. M., Kirkpatrick, B., Carpenter, W. T., and Buchanan, R. W. (2007). Neuropsychology of the deficit syndrome: new data and meta-analysis of findings to date. *Schizophr. Bull.* 33, 1201–1212. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbl066
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychol. Bull.* 112, 155–159. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Csukly, G., Polgár, P., Tombor, L., Benkovits, J., and Réthelyi, J. (2014). Theory of mind impairments in patients with deficit schizophrenia. *Compr. Psychiatry* 55, 349–356. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2013.08.025
- Delamillieure, P., Constans, J. M., Fernandez, J., Brazo, P., and Dollfus, S. (2004). Relationship between performance on the Stroop test and N-acetylaspartate in the medial prefrontal cortex in deficit and nondeficit schizophrenia: preliminary results. *Psychiatry Res.* 132, 87–89. doi: 10.1016/j.psychresns.2004.06.006
- Denney, D. R., and Lynch, S. G. (2009). The impact of multiple sclerosis on patients' performance on the Stroop test: processing speed versus interference. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 15, 451–458. doi: 10.1017/S1355617709090730
- DeQuardo, J. R., Buchanan, R. W., Kirkpatrick, B., Bookstein, F. L., and Tandon, R. (1998). Landmark-based shape analysis of deficit versus non-deficit schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* 29:77. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(97)88489-7
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 64, 135–168. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Dickerson, F., Kirkpatrick, B., Boronow, J., Stallings, C., Origoni, A., and Yolken, R. (2006). Deficit schizophrenia: association with serum antibodies to cytomegalovirus. *Schizophr. Bull.* 32, 396–400. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi054
- Egner, T., and Hirsch, J. (2005). The neural correlates and functional integration of cognitive control in a Stroop task. *Neuroimage* 24, 539–547. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2004.09.007
- Fioravanti, M., Bianchi, V., and Cinti, M. E. (2012). Cognitive deficits in schizophrenia: an updated metanalysis of the scientific evidence. *BMC Psychiatry* 12:64. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-12-64
- Galderisi, S., Maj, M., Mucci, A., Cassano, G. B., Invernizzi, G., Rossi, A., et al. (2002). Historical, psychopathological, neurological, and neuropsychological

aspects of deficit schizophrenia: a multicenter study. Am. J. Psychiatry 159, 983-990. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.6.983

- Galderisi, S., Quarantelli, M., Volpe, U., Mucci, A., Cassano, G. B., Invernizzi, G., et al. (2008). Patterns of structural MRI abnormalities in deficit and nondeficit schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 34, 393–401. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm097
- Gorfein, D. S., and MacLeod, C. M. (2007). *Inhibition in Cognition*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Haro, J. M., Kamath, S. A., Ochoa, S. O., Novick, D., Rele, K., Fargas, A., et al. (2003). The clinical global impression–schizophrenia scale: a simple instrument to measure the diversity of symptoms present in schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 107, 16–23. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0447.107.s416.5.x
- Heaton, R. K., Chelune, G. I., Talley, J. L., Kay, G. G., and Curtiss, G. (1993). Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Manual: Revised and Expanded. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Heckers, S., Goff, D., Schacter, D. L., Savage, C. R., Fischman, A. J., Alpert, N. M., et al. (1999). Functional imaging of memory retrieval in deficit vs nondeficit schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 56, 1117–1123. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.56. 12.1117
- Hegde, S., Thirthalli, J., Rao, S. L., Raguram, A., Philip, M., and Gangadhar, B. N. (2013). Cognitive deficits and its relation with psychopathology and global functioning in first episode schizophrenia. *Asian J. Psychiatry* 6, 537–543. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2013.07.002
- Horan, W. P., and Blanchard, J. J. (2003). Neurocognitive, social, and emotional dysfunction in deficit syndrome schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 65, 125–137. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(02)00410-3
- Jaworowska, A. (2002). WCST Test Sortowania Kart z Wisconsin. Warszawa: Pracownia Testów Psychologicznych Polskiego Towarzystwa Psychologicznego.
- Jodzio, K. (2008). Neuropsychologia Intencjonalnego Działania. Koncepcje Funkcji Wykonawczych. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo Naukowe Scholar.
- Jurado, M. B., and Rosselli, M. (2007). The elusive nature of executive functions: a review of our current understanding. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 17, 213–233. doi: 10.1007/s11065-007-9040-z
- Kay, S. R., Fiszbein, A., and Opfer, L. A. (1987). The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 13, 261–276. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/13.2.261
- Kirkpatrick, B., Buchanan, R. W., McKenny, P. D., Alphs, L. D., and Carpenter, W. T. (1989). The schedule for the deficit syndrome: an instrument for research in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* 30, 119–123. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89) 90153-4
- Kirkpatrick, B., Buchanan, R. W., Ross, D. E., and Carpenter, W. T. (2001). A separate disease within the syndrome of schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 58, 165–171. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.58.2.165
- Kirkpatrick, B., and Galderisi, S. (2008). Deficit schizophrenia: an update. World Psychiatry 7, 143–147. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2008.tb00181.x
- Knowles, E. E., David, A. S., and Reichenberg, A. (2010). Processing speed deficits in schizophrenia: reexamining the evidence. Am. J. Psychiatry 167, 828–835. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09070937
- Lahti, A. C., Holcomb, H. H., Medoff, D. R., Weiler, M. A., Tamminga, C. A., and Carpenter, W. T. Jr. (2001). Abnormal patterns of regional cerebral blood flow in schizophrenia with primary negative symptoms during an effortful auditory recognition task. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 158, 1797–1808. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.158. 11.1797
- Lezak, M. D. (1995). *Neuropsychological Assessment*, 3rd Edn. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Lezak, M. D., Howieson, D. B., and Loring, D. W. (2004). *Neuropsychological Assessment*, 4th Edn. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Liddle, P. F., Friston, K. J., Frith, C. D., Hirsch, S. R., Jones, T., and Frackowiak, R. S. (1992). Patterns of cerebral blood flow in schizophrenia. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 160, 179–186. doi: 10.1192/bjp.160.2.179
- Mak, M., Tybura, P., Bieńikowski, P., Karakiewicz, B., and Samochowiec, J. (2013). The efficacy of cognitive neurorehabilitation with RehaCom program in schizophrenia patients. *Psychiatr. Pol.* 47, 213–223.
- Mak, M., Tyburski, E., Madany, Ł., Sokołowski, A., and Samochowiec, A. (2016). Executive function deficits in patients after cerebellar neurosurgery. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 22, 47–57. doi: 10.1017/S1355617715001174
- McCabe, D. P., Roediger, H. L. III, McDaniel, M. A., Balota, D. A., and Hambrick, D. Z. (2010). The relationship between working memory capacity and

executive functioning: evidence for a common executive attention construct. *Neuropsychology* 24, 222–243. doi: 10.1037/a0017619

- Messias, E., Kirkpatrick, B., Bromet, E., Ross, D., Buchanan, R. W., Carpenter, W. T., et al. (2004). Summer birth and deficit schizophrenia: a pooled analysis from 6 countries. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 61, 985–989. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.61. 10.985
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., and Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: a latent variable analysis. *Cognit. Psychol.* 4, 49–100. doi: 10.1006/cogp.1999.0734
- Morrens, M., Hulstijn, W., and Sabbe, B. (2007). Psychomotor slowing in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 33, 1038–1053. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbl051
- Niendam, T. A., Laird, A. R., Ray, K. L., Dean, Y. M., Glahn, D. C., and Carter, C. S. (2012). Meta-analytic evidence for a superordinate cognitive control network subserving diverse executive functions. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 12, 241–268. doi: 10.3758/s13415-011-0083-5
- Park, S., and Gooding, D. C. (2014). Working memory impairment as an endophenotypic marker of a schizophrenia diathesis. *Schizophr. Res. Cogn.* 1, 127–136. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2014.09.005
- Pełka-Wysiecka, J., Wroński, M., Jasiewicz, A., Grzywacz, A., Tybura, P., Kucharska-Mazur, J., et al. (2013). BDNF rs 6265 polymorphism and COMT rs 4680 polymorphism in deficit schizophrenia in Polish sample. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 65, 1185–1193. doi: 10.1016/S1734-1140(13)71476-2
- Perianez, J. A., Rios-Lago, M., Rodriguez-Sanchez, J. M., Adrover-Roig, D., Sanchez-Cubillo, I., Crespo-Facorro, B. E., et al. (2007). Trail making test in traumatic brain injury, schizophrenia, and normal ageing: sample comparisons and normative data. Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 22, 433–447. doi: 10.1016/j.acn. 2007.01.022
- Polgár, P., Farkas, M., Nagy, O., Kelemen, O., Réthelyi, J., Bitter, I., et al. (2008). How to find the way out from four rooms? The learning of "chaining" associations may shed light on the neuropsychology of the deficit syndrome of schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 99, 200–207. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.06.027
- Polgár, P., Réthelyi, J. M., Bálint, S., Komlosi, S., Czobor, P., and Bitter, I. (2010). Executive function in deficit schizophrenia: what do the dimensions of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test tell us? *Schizophr. Res.* 122, 85–93. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2010.06.007
- Reitan, R. M. (1958). Validity of the Trail Making Test as an indicator of organic brain damage. *Percept. Mot. Skills* 8, 271–276. doi: 10.2466/pms.1958.8.3.271
- Réthelyi, J. M., Czobor, P., Polgár, P., Mersich, B., Bálint, S., Jekkel, É, et al. (2012). General and domain-specific neurocognitive impairments in deficit and non-deficit schizophrenia. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 262, 107–115. doi: 10.1007/s00406-011-0224-4
- Rosenthal, R., and Rubin, D. B. (2003). r equivalent: A simple effect size indicator. *Psychol. Methods* 8, 492–496. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.8.4.492
- Ross, T. P. (2003). The reliability of cluster and switch scores for the Controlled Oral Word Association Test. Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 18, 153–164. doi: 10. 1016/S0887-6177(01)00192-5
- Scala, S., Lasalvia, A., Seidman, L. J., Cristofalo, D., Bonetto, C., and Ruggeri, M. (2014). Executive functioning and psychopathological profile in relatives of individuals with deficit v. non-deficit schizophrenia: a pilot study. *Epidemiol. Psychiatric Sci.* 23, 85–97. doi: 10.1017/S2045796013000140
- Schröder, J., Geider, F. J., Binkert, M., Reitz, C., Jauss, M., and Sauer, H. (1992). Subsyndromes in chronic schizophrenia: do their psychopathological characteristics correspond to cerebral alterations? *Psychiatry Res.* 42, 209–220. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(92)90113-H
- Semkovska, M., Bédard, M. A., Godbout, L., Limoge, F., and Stip, E. (2004). Assessment of executive dysfunction during activities of daily living in schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 69, 289–300. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2003.07.005
- Simon, V., De Hert, M., Wampers, M., Peuskens, J., and van Winkel, R. (2009). The relation between neurocognitive dysfunction and impaired insight in patients with schizophrenia. *Eur. Psychiatry* 24, 239–243. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2008. 10.004
- Strauss, E., Sherman, E., and Spreen, O. (2006). A Compendium of Neuropsychological Tests: Administration, Norms, and Commentary. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Strauss, G. P., Harrow, M., Grossman, L. S., and Rosen, C. (2010). Periods of recovery in deficit syndrome schizophrenia: a 20-year multi-follow-up longitudinal study. *Schizophr. Bull.* 36, 788–799. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn167

- Stuss, D. T. (2011). Functions of the frontal lobes: relation to executive functions. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 17, 759–765. doi: 10.1017/S1355617711000695
- Stuss, D. T., Bisschop, S. M., Alexander, M. P., Levine, B., Katz, D., and Izukawa, D. (2001). The trail making test: a study in focal lesion patients. *Psychol. Assess.* 13, 230–239. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.13.2.230
- Szepietowska, E. M., and Gawda, B. (2011). Ścieżkami Fluencji Werbalnej. Lublin: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Marcii Curie-Skłodowskiej.
- Tamminga, C. A., Thaker, G. K., Buchanan, R., Kirkpatrick, B., Alphs, L. D., Chase, T. N., et al. (1992). Limbic system abnormalities identified in schizophrenia using positron emission tomography with fluorodeoxyglucose and neocortical alterations with deficit syndrome. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 49, 522–530. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1992.01820070016003
- Tek, C., Kirkpatrick, B., and Buchanan, R. W. (2001). A five-year followup study of deficit and nondeficit schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 49, 253–260. doi: 10.1016/ S0920-9964(00)00146-8
- Tiryaki, A., Anıl, A. E., Kabakçı, E., Karaağaoğlu, E., and Göğüş, A. (2003). Reexamination of the characteristics of the deficit schizophrenia patients. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 253, 221–227. doi: 10.1007/s00406-003-0434-5
- Tyburski, E., Sokołowski, A., Chęć, M., Pełka-Wysiecka, J., and Samochowiec, A. (2015). Neuropsychological characteristics of verbal and non-verbal fluency in schizophrenia patients. Arch. Psychiatr. Nurs. 29, 33–38. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu. 2014.09.009
- Ventura, J., Wood, R. C., Jimenez, A. M., and Hellemann, G. S. (2013). Neurocognition and symptoms identify links between facial recognition and emotion processing in schizophrenia: meta-analytic findings. *Schizophr. Res.* 151, 78–84. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.10.015
- Vogel, S. J., Strauss, G. P., and Allen, D. N. (2013). Using negative feedback to guide behavior: Impairments on the first 4 cards of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test predict negative symptoms of schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 151, 97–101. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.052
- Voglmaier, M. M., Seidman, L. J., Niznikiewicz, M. A., Dickey, C. C., Shenton, M. E., and McCarley, R. W. (2005). A comparative profile analysis of neuropsychological function in men and women with schizotypal personality disorder. *Schizophr. Res.* 74, 43–49. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.09.013
- Wang, X., Yao, S., Kirkpatrick, B., Shi, C., and Yi, J. (2008). Psychopathology and neuropsychological impairments in deficit and nondeficit schizophrenia

of Chinese origin. *Psychiatry Res.* 158, 195–205. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2006. 09.007

- Wendt, H. W. (1972). Dealing with a common problem in social science: a simplified rank-biserial coefficient of correlation based on the U statistic. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 2, 463–465. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420020412
- World Health Organization [WHO] (1992). The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wright, L., Lipszyc, J., Dupuis, A., Thayapararajah, S. W., and Schachar, R. (2014). Response inhibition and psychopathology: a meta-analysis of go/no-go task performance. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 123, 429–439. doi: 10.1037/a0036295
- Yu, M., Tang, X., Wang, X., Zhang, X., Zhang, X., Sha, W., et al. (2015). Neurocognitive impairments in deficit and non-deficit schizophrenia and their relationships with symptom dimensions and other clinical variables. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0138357. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138357
- Yuan, P., and Raz, N. (2014). Prefrontal cortex and executive functions in healthy adults: a meta-analysis of structural neuroimaging studies. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 42, 180–192. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.02.005
- Yücel, M., Pantelis, C., Stuart, G. W., Wood, S. J., Maruff, P., Velakoulis, D., et al. (2014). Anterior cingulate activation during Stroop task performance: a PET to MRI coregistration study of individual patients with schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 159, 251–254. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.2.251
- Zipursky, R. B. (2014). Why are the outcomes in patients with schizophrenia so poor? J. Clin. Psychiatry 75, 20–24. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13065su1.05

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Tyburski, Pełka-Wysiecka, Mak, Samochowiec, Bieńkowski and Samochowiec. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## A Brief Assessment of Intelligence Decline in Schizophrenia As Represented by the Difference between Current and Premorbid Intellectual Quotient

Kazutaka Ohi¹, Chika Sumiyoshi², Haruo Fujino³, Yuka Yasuda⁴, Hidenaga Yamamori⁴, Michiko Fujimoto⁴, Tomiki Sumiyoshi⁵ and Ryota Hashimoto⁴.6\*

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Roumen Kirov, Institute of Neurobiology (BAS), Bulgaria

#### Reviewed by:

Emily L. Casanova, University of South Carolina, United States Antonella Trotta, King's College London, United Kingdom Aygun Ertugrul, Hacettepe University, Turkey

\*Correspondence:

Ryota Hashimoto hashimor@psy.med.osaka-u.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 06 October 2017 Accepted: 11 December 2017 Published: 22 December 2017

#### Citation:

Ohi K, Sumiyoshi C, Fujino H, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Fujimoto M, Sumiyoshi T and Hashimoto R (2017) A Brief Assessment of Intelligence Decline in Schizophrenia As Represented by the Difference between Current and Premorbid Intellectual Quotient. Front. Psychiatry 8:293. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00293 <sup>1</sup> Department of Neuropsychiatry, Kanazawa Medical University, Uchinada, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Human Development and Culture, Fukushima University, Fukushima, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Graduate School of Education, Oita University, Oita, Japan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Osaka University Graduate School of Medicine, Suita, Japan, <sup>5</sup> Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Translational Medical Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Kodaira, Japan, <sup>6</sup> Molecular Research Center for Children's Mental Development, United Graduate School of Child Development, Osaka University, Suita, Japan

Patients with schizophrenia elicit several clinical features, such as psychotic symptoms, cognitive impairment, and subtle decline of intelligence. The latter two features become evident around the onset of the illness, although they may exist even before the disease onset in a substantial proportion of cases. Here, we review the literature concerning intelligence decline (ID) during the progression of schizophrenia. ID can be estimated by comparing premorbid and current intellectual quotient (IQ) by means of the Adult Reading Test and Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS), respectively. For the purpose of brief assessment, we have recently developed the WAIS-Short Form, which consists of Similarities and Symbol Search and well reflects functional outcomes. According to the degree of ID, patients were classified into three distinct subgroups; deteriorated, preserved, and compromised groups. Patients who show deteriorated IQ (deteriorated group) elicit ID from a premorbid level (≥10-point difference between current and premorbid IQ), while patients who show preserved or compromised IQ do not show such decline (<10-point difference). Furthermore, the latter patients were divided into patients with preserved and compromised IQ based on an estimated premorbid IQ score >90 or below 90, respectively. We have recently shown the distribution of ID in a large cohort of schizophrenia patients. Consistent with previous studies, approximately 30% of schizophrenia patients had a decline of less than 10 points, i.e., normal intellectual performance. In contrast, approximately 70% of patients showed deterioration of IQ. These results indicate that there is a subgroup of schizophrenia patients who have mild or minimal intellectual deficits, following the onset of the disorder. Therefore, a careful assessment of ID is important in identifying appropriate interventions, including medications, cognitive remediation, and social/community services.

Keywords: schizophrenia, intelligence decline, premorbid intellectual quotient, current intellectual quotient, Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale

97

## INTELLIGENCE DECLINE (ID) IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Schizophrenia is a common and complex psychiatric disorder with clinical and genetic heterogeneity (1). The lifetime risk of the disorder is approximately 0.5-1% (2). The disorder is characterized by a wide spectrum of symptoms, such as delusions, hallucinations, blunted affect and withdrawal, cognitive impairments, as well as subtle decline in intelligence. Cognitive impairments in numerous and diverse domains, including attention, working, verbal and visual memories, processing speed, social cognition, and general intelligence (i.e., a 1- to 2-SD decline in performance on neuropsychological tests compared with healthy individuals), are a core feature of the disorder and a reasonable target for treatment (3-9). These deficits contribute to social or occupational dysfunction and poor life outcomes (10-12). Cognitive impairments and psychotic symptoms are relatively independent dimensions of the disorder (13). Cognitive impairments are exhibited around or after the onset of schizophrenia, while, in a substantial proportion of cases, the impairments exist even before the disease onset (14-16). On the other hand, intelligence decline (ID) represents intra-individual differences in intellectual quotinent (IQ) at different time points, such as before and after the onset of morbidity (13, 17, 18). In this article, we review the literature concerning ID during the progression of schizophrenia.

## A BRIEF ASSESSMENT OF ID IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Intelligence decline is defined as a decrease in current intellectual quotient (IQ) from a premorbid level in patients with schizophrenia (13, 17, 18). ID can be estimated by comparing standard assessments of estimated premorbid and current IQ using the Adult Reading Test and the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS), respectively. The WAIS has been widely used to measure current intellectual performance in patients with psychiatric disorders as well as healthy subjects. The battery has been updated several times [WAIS (19); WAIS-R (20); WAIS-III (21); and WAIS-IV (22)]. To represent the intellectual construct in a healthy subjects, the four factors, Verbal Comprehension (VC), Working Memory (WM), Perceptual Organization (PO), and Processing Speed (PS), were established in the WAIS-III (Figure 1). VC and WM are components of verbal IQ (VIQ), while PO and PS are components of performance IQ (PIQ). In the updated WAIS-IV, the dual IQ (VIQ and PIQ) scoring system was eliminated, and the concept of index-based assessment of intelligence has been further enhanced. Furthermore, two subtests (Object Assembly and Picture Arrangement and) in the WAIS-III were replaced by newer subtests (Figure Weights and Visual Puzzles) in the WAIS-IV to enhance psychometric validity and user friendliness (23).

It takes 60–95 min to administrate the WAIS in healthy subjects. As it has been concerned about the lengthy administration time for the WAIS, it has been made efforts to develop the WAIS-Short Form (WAIS-SF) (23–26). The typical approach to developing the WAIS-SF was to select subtests to optimize the prediction of full-scale IQ (FIQ) and/or retain the representativeness of the IQ structure (26). However, it is presumed that the four-factor structure for healthy subjects does not need to be preserved in patients with schizophrenia (23, 26); e.g., if VC and WM were collapsed into a single factor in patients with schizophrenia, selecting a subtest from each of these domains would be redundant (26). Another problem for previous WAIS-SFs is the lack of association with real-world outcomes. The WAIS-SF for schizophrenia would be more useful if it reflected functional outcomes, such as activities of daily living or social functioning.

We have recently developed an optimal WAIS-III SF to assess current intellectual performance in patients with schizophrenia (23) according to the following five criteria: (i) prediction of FIQ,



(ii) representativeness of the IQ structure, (iii) consistency of subtests across versions (WAIS-III and IV), (iv) relation to functional outcomes (daily living skills and social functioning) assessed by the UCSD Performance-based Skills Assessment [UPSA; (27)] and the Social Functioning Scale [SFS; (28, 29)], and (v) conciseness in terms of administration time. To select subtests meeting (i) and (ii) criteria, we first conducted an exploratory factor and multiple regression analyses in patients with schizophrenia, and candidate subtests were nominated to produce a candidate SF. The coverage of VIQ and PIQ and the consistency of subtests across WAIS versions, according to (iii) criterion, were also considered in the nomination process. In terms of ability to explain the variance of FIQ, correlations with functional outcomes, and time saved in comparison to full administration of the WAIS, the candidate SFs were finally examined. We found that the dyad of Similarities from verbal intellectual ability and Symbol Search from performance intellectual ability showed the highest correlations with functional outcomes and allowed the shortest administration time (Figure 1). It takes approximately 10 min to administer the WAIS-SF (Similarities and Symbol Search). It is considered that variation in processing speed is the basis of individual differences in intellectual function (13). In addition, slow cognitive processing in patients with schizophrenia is essential to the clinical manifestation of the disorder (30). Symbol Search is a constituent of the PS factor of the WAIS (Figure 1); therefore, this item is useful on the WAIS-SF for schizophrenia.

## DISTRIBUTION OF ID IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

The National Adult Reading Test (NART), the Wechsler Test of Adult Reading (WTAR), and the Wide Range Achievement Test (WRAT) scores are correlated with cognitive ability in healthy subjects, and scores on the NART, the WTAR, and the WRAT had high stability overtime (31–33). The accuracy of IQ estimates using the NART is higher than that using the WTAR (31, 32), and the WTAR is a slightly more reliable test of IQ estimates than the WRAT in a more educated and higher-functioning population (33). The NART, the WTAR, and the WRAT are three tests developed to estimate premorbid IQ because reading ability is

measured as relatively intact in patients with schizophrenia (34), and its validity has been confirmed in English-speaking schizophrenia patients (13, 35, 36). The Japanese version of the NART [JART; (37)] is also widely used for Japanese-speaking patients to estimate premorbid IQ, as an equivalent to the NART (6, 7, 38–42). The stability of premorbid IQ assessed by the NART in patients with schizophrenia has been prospectively demonstrated in a longitudinal study (43). On the other hand, estimation of premorbid IQ retrospectively by these tests has a limitation. A longitudinal study design allowing long-term follow-up of high risk groups with baseline and follow-up IQ assessments is the only way to eliminate this limitation.

According to the categorization method described in previous studies (13, 44–51), patients with schizophrenia are typically classified by degree of ID into three distinct intellectual level subgroups: deteriorated, preserved, and compromised IQ.

- Deteriorated IQ: patients who show an ID as measured by a difference of 10 points or more between estimated premorbid and current IQ.
- (ii) Preserved IQ: patients with less than a 10-point difference between estimated premorbid and current IQ and with an estimated premorbid IQ score >90.
- (iii) Compromised IQ: patients with less than a 10-point difference between estimated premorbid and current IQ and with an estimated premorbid IQ below 90.

The frequencies of preserved, deteriorated, and compromised IQ in patients with schizophrenia are summarized in **Table 1** (13, 18, 44–51). For example, Weickert et al. (44) reported that 25% were categorized as having preserved IQ, 51% displayed deteriorated IQ, and 24% showed compromised IQ among 117 patients with schizophrenia. Badcock et al. (13) reported that 41% displayed preserved IQ, 43% were categorized as having deteriorated IQ, and 16% displayed compromised IQ among the 109 patients with schizophrenia. However, the distribution of ID in patients with schizophrenia was not examined in depth. Thus, we recently reported on the distribution of the ID in a large cohort of 446 patients with schizophrenia (18). Consistent with

**TABLE 1** | Frequencies of preserved, deteriorated, and compromised IQ in patients with schizophrenia.

Study name	n	Preserved IQ	Deteriorated IQ	Compromised IQ	Diagnostic criteria	Participants	Assessment of premorbid IQ
Weickert et al. (44)	177	24.8% (29)	51.3% (60)	23.9% (28)	DSM-III-R	SCZ	WRAT
Badcock et al. (13)	109	41.3% (45)	43.1% (47)	15.6% (17)	DSM-IV or ICD-10	SCZ	NART
Kremen et al. (46)	80	27.5% (22)	50.0% (40)	22.5% (18)	DSM-III-R	SCZ	WRAT
Potter and Nestor (49)	73	28.8% (21)	28.8% (21)	42.5% (31)	DSM-IV	SCZ or SD	WRAT
Leeson et al. (47)	129	31.0% (40)	44.2% (57)	24.8% (32)	DSM-III-R or ICD-10	first-episode SCZ or SD	WTAR
Mercado et al. (48)	149	26.8% (40)	39.6% (59)	33.6% (50)	DSM-IV	SCZ or SD	Information subtest of the WAIS-III
Ammari et al. (45)	72	44.4% (32)	36.1% (26)	19.4% (14)	DSM-IV	SCZ or SD	WRAT
Wells et al. (51)	534	29.4% (157)	44.8% (239)	25.8% (138)	DSM-IV	SCZ or SD	WTAR
Weinberg et al. (50)	96	26.0% (25)	62.5% (60)	11.5% (11)	DSM-IV	SCZ or SD	WTAR
Fujino et al. (18)	446	27.1% (121)	69.3% (309)	3.6% (16)	DSM-IV or ICD-10	SCZ	JART

SCZ, schizophrenia; SD, schizoaffective disorder; WRAT, Wide Range Achievement Test; NART, National Adult Reading Test; WTAR, Wechsler Test of Adult Reading; WAIS, Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale; JART, Japanese version of the NART; IQ, intellectual quotient.

previous studies (13, 44–51), approximately 30% of patients with schizophrenia had a decline of less than 10 points, i.e., normal performance. In contrast, approximately 70% of patients showed deteriorated IQ: a severe decline of 30 points or greater (13.5%), a moderate decline of 20–30 points (26.3%), a mild decline of 15–20 points (15.9%), or a borderline decline of 10–15 points (13.7%) (**Figure 2**). The estimated premorbid IQ in our study (mean  $\pm$  SE = 100.5  $\pm$  0.5) was higher than those in previous studies [Weickert et al. (44), 97.1  $\pm$  1.0: Badcock et al. (13), 95.0  $\pm$  0.7: Leeson et al. (47), 91.0  $\pm$  0.7]. This difference might be derived from the inclusion criteria, by which our study basically excluded schizophrenia patients who had lower estimated premorbid IQ, such as mental retardation (18), i.e., some patients with compromised IQ were initially excluded from the cohort.

## A "NEUROPSYCHOLOGICALLY NORMAL" SCHIZOPHRENIA GROUP

Social/occupational dysfunction that is remarkably below the level achieved prior to the onset is listed as a diagnostic hallmark for schizophrenia in the DSM-IV and 5 criteria (52); however, neuropsychological impairments were not included in the criteria. As mentioned in the above section, no more than approximately 30% of schizophrenia patients are entirely free of neuropsychological impairments, although there is heterogeneity in this proportion among studies (13, 18, 44, 46, 47, 53, 54). If cognitive impairments are a core feature of schizophrenia, it may be difficult to explain the presence of neuropsychologically normal function in schizophrenia patients who display the full clinical syndrome.

A cluster-analysis approach can group patients on the basis of profiles or patterns of cognitive impairments and produce more homogeneous groupings (1, 55), providing an opportunity to classify patients. Cluster-analysis studies of cognitive function



**FIGURE 2** | The distribution of intelligence decline (ID) in a large cohort of 446 patients with schizophrenia (18). The article by Fujino et al. (18) is published under the Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivatives (CC BY-NC-ND) Creative Commons license, and permissions of the modification have been obtained from publisher. Approximately 30% of patients had no evidence of ID (a decline less than 10 points), while approximately 70% of patients showed deteriorated intellectual quotient: a borderline decline of 10–15 points (14%), a mild decline of 15–20 points (16%), a moderate decline of 20–30 points (26%), or a severe decline of 30 points or greater (14%).

within schizophrenia patients have successfully created meaningful subgroups with at least three clusters: patients who are neuropsychologically normal, patients with intermediate cognitive deficits, and patients with widespread deficits (1, 54–60). One consideration is that schizophrenia patients who have mild ID or are neuropsychologically normal may be a unique subtype and may comprise a relatively benign subtype of schizophrenia in terms of prognosis. This type of patient may be better educated and/or have higher premorbid IQ than patients with impaired cognitive function. Indeed, some studies have indicated that patients with preserved IQ tended to be better educated and/ or show higher premorbid IQ than patients with deteriorated or compromised IQ (13, 44, 47), while other studies have not indicated such associations (46).

On the other hand, schizophrenia patients with preserved IQ exhibited specific deficits in at least some cognitive domains, especially executive function and attention, compared with healthy subjects who had similar IQ, even though that subset of patients had apparently normal current intellectual function (13, 44, 53, 61, 62). These studies suggest that ID, although typical of schizophrenia, is not universally characteristic and that executive function and attention deficits may be core features of schizophrenia, independent of intelligence variations (44). However, not only IQ decline but also executive function and attention deficits may be less than universally characteristic of patients with schizophrenia because the disorder is clinically heterogeneous. We suggest that it is necessary to make a detailed, personalized assessment of cognitive impairments, such as IQ decline and executive function and attention deficits, in order to treat functional impairments appropriately in schizophrenia patients. As shown in Figure 3, we additionally suggest an algorithm to be employed in the treatment of intellectual impairments in schizophrenia patients. First, we measure intellectual function in patients with schizophrenia using estimated premorbid and current IQ, and we assess whether the patient has intellectual impairment. According to the status of intellectual impairment, we assess employment-related problems in each patient and treat those problems. The ultimate goal is for the patient to work at a premorbid level.

## PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENTS IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Schizophrenia has a strong genetic basis with an estimated heritability of approximately 80% (63). Most cognitive functions also have a genetic component and are heritable ( $h^2 = 0.33-0.85$ ) (64–68). Impairments such as cognitive decline are stable, partly affected by antipsychotic medications (47, 69–71), and typically stronger in schizophrenia patients (72). Cognitive dysfunctions have also been shown in the unaffected relatives or twin siblings of people with schizophrenia (73). Previous genome-wide association studies (GWASs) on schizophrenia and cognitive functions have indicated that many genes or genetic variants mediate both cognitive function and the risk of schizophrenia (7, 17, 73–77). These previous GWASs on schizophrenia and cognitive function have explained up to approximately 20%



of the genetic architecture of risk for schizophrenia and poor cognitive function (74–77). In addition, a part of the phenotypic correlation between cognitive function and schizophrenia results from identical genetic effects (73, 77). Polygenic risk scores for cognitive dysfunction were associated with a higher risk of schizophrenia, whereas polygenic risk scores for schizophrenia were associated with lower cognitive ability (73, 77, 78). Thus, cognitive functions have been proposed as a useful intermediate phenotype (39, 79–82) to understand the genetic mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

We suggest that genetic variants related to cognitive impairments including ID might be associated with the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate network (7) or in delta(4)desaturase, sphingolipid 2 (DEGS2) gene expression (17, 83). Glutamate is the major excitatory neurotransmitter of the central nervous system (CNS) and is involved in basic neuronal functions and CNS processes, including memory, learning, and synaptic plasticity (84). Decreased function of glutamate transmission through NMDA receptors that are voltage-dependent ionotropic glutamate receptors has been involved in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (85). NMDA receptor antagonists, including phencyclidine and ketamine, can induce schizophrenia-like psychotic symptoms and cognitive impairments in individuals without schizophrenia and exacerbate symptoms in schizophrenia patients (86, 87). Schizophrenia patients have aberrant density and subunit composition of NMDA receptors in the postmortem brains (88, 89).

From birth onward, the *DEGS2* gene is most abundantly expressed in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) that is a major component of the high-order associative cortex related to both schizophrenia and cognitive functions (83,

90). Carriers of the ID-associated risk allele had lower *DEGS2* expression than subjects homozygous for the non-risk allele in the DLPFC (17, 83). The *DEGS2* enzyme is implicated in the biosynthesis of phytosphingolipids. Sphingomyelin is a type of sphingolipid, and abnormalities of the sphingomyelin can cause several CNS diseases, including schizophrenia (91, 92). The low expression pattern of *DEGS2* is correlated with the low distribution of phytosphingolipids (93, 94). The *DEGS2* risk polymorphism related to low *DEGS2* expression in the DLPFC may be associated with lower synthesis of sphingolipids in the brain because *DEGS2* mRNA expression regulates synthesis of phytosphingolipids during keratinocyte differentiation (93). Further research is needed to clarify the role of glutamate network and *DEGS2* gene expression in the pathogenesis of ID of schizophrenia.

# EFFECTS OF ANTIPSYCHOTICS ON ID IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Positive symptoms and negative symptoms have become targets for medication in patients with schizophrenia. However, based on the evidence that the functional disability accompanying schizophrenia is strongly associated with cognitive impairments and is not correlated with psychotic symptoms (12), we should focus on ID in patients with schizophrenia. The therapeutic effects of antipsychotics are predominantly limited to the positive and negative symptoms, and those drugs have substantially less impact on improvement of cognitive impairments. It has been reported that typical antipsychotics are applied without regard for cognitive impairments in patients with schizophrenia and do little to improve them (84, 95), whereas atypical antipsychotics have been reported to partly reduce cognitive impairment in schizophrenia patients (84, 95, 96). Atypical antipsychotics are superior to typical antipsychotics at improving cognitive impairment (effect size = 0.24), although there are no differences in improvement among atypical antipsychotics (97). Such improvements are also observed in specific studies of first-episode schizophrenia and early-onset schizophrenia (98–100).

To date, the mechanisms whereby antipsychotics act on ID have remained unclear. Atypical antipsychotics produce extensive blockade of serotonin (5-HT)<sub>2A</sub> receptors, direct or indirect stimulation of 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors, and, to a lesser extent, a reduction in dopamine D2 receptor-mediated neurotransmission (101–103). The serotonergic actions of the atypical antipsychotics are able to mitigate cognitive impairments in patients with schizophrenia (103). In addition, 5-HT<sub>6</sub> or 5-HT<sub>7</sub> receptor antagonists may also contribute to the beneficial effects of the antipsychotics on cognitive function (103).

Furthermore, anticholinergic load is related to lower cognitive function in schizophrenia patients (104, 105). The administration rate of anticholinergic medications is lower in patients who are prescribed atypical antipsychotics compared with those who are prescribed typical antipsychotics, supporting the idea that cognitive improvements would differ between users of typical and atypical antipsychotics. The discontinuation of long-term anticholinergic use would mitigate cognitive impairment in patients with schizophrenia (105, 106). In addition, the use of benzodiazepines is related to cognitive impairments in schizophrenia patients (107, 108). The reduction or discontinuation of long-term benzodiazepines with atypical antipsychotics ameliorates cognitive impairments in patients with schizophrenia (108). These findings suggest that the use of anticholinergics and long-term benzodiazepines would be related to cognitive impairments in patients with schizophrenia. Therefore, we suggest that physicians should prescribe only atypical antipsychotics, without anticholinergics or benzodiazepines, to reduce the cognitive impairments observed in schizophrenia. On the other hand, the use of benzodiazepines and anticholinergics would treat unwanted symptoms, such as anxiety and extrapyramidal symptoms, in schizophrenia. The development of novel antipsychotics that are unlikely to result in extrapyramidal symptom or treat anxiety symptom is warranted.

The cognitive impairments observed in schizophrenia may be affected by decreased activity of the M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor, dysfunction of NMDA glutamatergic neurotransmission, and serotonergic dysregulation. However, the effects of cholinesterase inhibitors, antidepressants, or 5-HT2 antagonists as adjunctive treatments to antipsychotics for cognitive impairments in schizophrenia have been limited (109–113). Approval of antipsychotic drugs with novel mechanisms of action has been rare in recent years despite extensive efforts by investigators. Further investigations are essential to address this issue by identifying new pharmacological targets related to ID in patients with schizophrenia. We suggest that patients without ID should be initially detected and excluded from putative clinical trials of drugs meant to mitigate ID in patients with schizophrenia.

## **COGNITIVE REMEDIATION**

Cognitive remediation or cognitive rehabilitation interventions are designed to improve cognitive impairments through repeated practice of cognitive tasks and/or strategy training. As the effects of antipsychotics on cognitive impairments in schizophrenia patients have been limited, a number of cognitive remediation programs have been increasingly examined to improve cognitive impairments (114). Randomized controlled studies have shown cognitive remediation to have positive effects on cognitive impairments in patients with first-episode psychosis as well as schizophrenia (114-118). The average effect size was small to moderate at approximately 0.40 (114, 115). Some types of cognitive remediation involve extensive use of computers, while others focus primarily on paper-and-pencil tasks. The Neuropsychological Educational Approach to Remediation (NEAR) is an evidencebased cognitive remediation approach (114). The NEAR program involves a combination of "drill and practice" exercises and teaching strategies to ameliorate cognitive impairments (114). NEAR utilizes commercially available educational software to create a rich learning environment that is intrinsically motivating and rewarding (114). Cognitive remediation interventions are conducted individually or in groups. Although the goal of cognitive remediation is to ameliorate cognitive impairments in patients with schizophrenia, more than 12.0% of participants dropped out at different points during the program (114, 115). Therefore, it may be difficult to generalize a cognitive remediation as a treatment for cognitive impairments in patients with schizophrenia. In addition, it remains unclear whether the improvements are sustained or temporary, although short-term effects of cognitive remediation on cognitive function have been indicated (115). Similar to our proposal regarding the composition of drug trials, we suggest that patients without ID should be initially detected and excluded from clinical trials to develop cognitive remediation programs for patients with schizophrenia.

## CONCLUSION

In this study, we reviewed the literature of ID in patients with schizophrenia. Although intellectual impairments are a core feature of schizophrenia, the effects of antipsychotics and cognitive remediation against those impairments have been limited. We have held several workshops on the brief assessment of ID in schizophrenia to promote the concept of monitoring ID in Japanese patients with schizophrenia. Further studies are warranted to develop novel antipsychotics and cognitive remediation for patients with ID.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

RH supervised the entire project and was critically involved in the design, analysis, and interpretation of the data. KO, CS, and TS collected the data, wrote the manuscript, and were responsible for performing the literature review. HF, YY, HY, and MF were heavily involved in the collection of the majority of the data and contributed intellectually to the interpretation of the data. All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research (B) (25293250, 16H05375) and Young Scientists (B) (16K19784) from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS); the Health and Labour Sciences Research Grants for Comprehensive

## REFERENCES

- Ohi K, Shimada T, Nemoto K, Kataoka Y, Yasuyama T, Kimura K, et al. Cognitive clustering in schizophrenia patients, their first-degree relatives and healthy subjects is associated with anterior cingulate cortex volume. *Neuroimage Clin* (2017) 16:248–56. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2017.08.008
- Simeone JC, Ward AJ, Rotella P, Collins J, Windisch R. An evaluation of variation in published estimates of schizophrenia prevalence from 1990 horizontal line 2013: a systematic literature review. *BMC Psychiatry* (2015) 15:193. doi:10.1186/s12888-015-0578-7
- Fujino H, Sumiyoshi C, Sumiyoshi T, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Ohi K, et al. Performance on the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III in Japanese patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68(7):534–41. doi:10.1111/pcn.12165
- Ohi K, Hashimoto R, Yasuda Y, Fukumoto M, Nemoto K, Ohnishi T, et al. The AKT1 gene is associated with attention and brain morphology in schizophrenia. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 14(2):100–13. doi:10.3109/15622975. 2011.591826
- Fukumoto M, Hashimoto R, Ohi K, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Umeda-Yano S, et al. Relation between remission status and attention in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68(3):234–41. doi:10.1111/ pcn.12119
- Ohi K, Hashimoto R, Yasuda Y, Fukumoto M, Yamamori H, Umeda-Yano S, et al. Influence of the NRGN gene on intellectual ability in schizophrenia. *J Hum Genet* (2013) 58(10):700–5. doi:10.1038/jbg.2013.82
- Ohi K, Hashimoto R, Ikeda M, Yamamori H, Yasuda Y, Fujimoto M, et al. Glutamate networks implicate cognitive impairments in schizophrenia: genome-wide association studies of 52 cognitive phenotypes. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(4):909–18. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbu171
- Horiguchi M, Ohi K, Hashimoto R, Hao Q, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, et al. Functional polymorphism (C-824T) of the tyrosine hydroxylase gene affects IQ in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68(6):456–62. doi:10.1111/pcn.12157
- Hashimoto R, Noguchi H, Hori H, Ohi K, Yasuda Y, Takeda M, et al. Association between the dysbindin gene (DTNBP1) and cognitive functions in Japanese subjects. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2009) 63(4):550–6. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2009.01985.x
- Kahn RS, Keefe RS. Schizophrenia is a cognitive illness: time for a change in focus. JAMA Psychiatry (2013) 70(10):1107–12. doi:10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2013.155
- Green MF, Kern RS, Braff DL, Mintz J. Neurocognitive deficits and functional outcome in schizophrenia: are we measuring the "right stuff"? Schizophr Bull (2000) 26(1):119–36. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033430
- Green MF. What are the functional consequences of neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia? *Am J Psychiatry* (1996) 153(3):321–30. doi:10.1176/ ajp.153.3.321
- Badcock JC, Dragovic M, Waters FA, Jablensky A. Dimensions of intelligence in schizophrenia: evidence from patients with preserved, deteriorated and compromised intellect. J Psychiatr Res (2005) 39(1):11–9. doi:10.1016/j. jpsychires.2004.05.002
- Kremen WS, Vinogradov S, Poole JH, Schaefer CA, Deicken RF, Factor-Litvak P, et al. Cognitive decline in schizophrenia from childhood to midlife: a 33-year longitudinal birth cohort study. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 118(1–3):1–5. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2010.01.009
- Meier MH, Caspi A, Reichenberg A, Keefe RS, Fisher HL, Harrington H, et al. Neuropsychological decline in schizophrenia from the premorbid to the postonset period: evidence from a population-representative longitudinal study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2014) 171(1):91–101. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2013. 12111438

Research on Persons with Disabilities from the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED); and a grant for Brain Mapping by Integrated Neurotechnologies for Disease Studies (Brain/MINDS) (AMED). The funders had no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

- Sheitman BB, Murray MG, Snyder JA, Silva S, Goldman R, Chakos M, et al. IQ scores of treatment-resistant schizophrenia patients before and after the onset of the illness. *Schizophr Res* (2000) 46(2–3):203–7. doi:10.1016/ S0920-9964(00)00034-7
- Hashimoto R, Ikeda M, Ohi K, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Fukumoto M, et al. Genome-wide association study of cognitive decline in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2013) 170(6):683–4. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12091228
- Fujino H, Sumiyoshi C, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Fujimoto M, Fukunaga M, et al. Estimated cognitive decline in patients with schizophrenia: a multicenter study. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2017) 71(5):294–300. doi:10.1111/pcn.12474
- 19. Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale. New York: The Psychological Corporation (1955).
- 20. Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Revised. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation (1981).
- 21. Wechsler D. *Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale.* 3rd ed. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation (1997).
- 22. Wechsler D. WAIS-IV: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale. 4th ed. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation (2008).
- Sumiyoshi C, Fujino H, Sumiyoshi T, Yasuda Y, Yamamori H, Ohi K, et al. Usefulness of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale short form for assessing functional outcomes in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2016) 245:371–8. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2016.08.018
- Girard TA, Axelrod BN, Wilkins LK. Comparison of WAIS-III short forms for measuring index and full-scale scores. *Assessment* (2010) 17(3):400–5. doi:10.1177/1073191110369763
- Blyler CR, Gold JM, Iannone VN, Buchanan RW. Short form of the WAIS-III for use with patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2000) 46(2–3): 209–15. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(00)00017-7
- Sumiyoshi C, Uetsuki M, Suga M, Kasai K, Sumiyoshi T. Development of brief versions of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for schizophrenia: considerations of the structure and predictability of intelligence. *Psychiatry Res* (2013) 210(3):773–9. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2013.08.024
- Patterson TL, Goldman S, McKibbin CL, Hughs T, Jeste DV. UCSD performance-based skills assessment: development of a new measure of everyday functioning for severely mentally ill adults. *Schizophr Bull* (2001) 27(2):235–45. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006870
- Birchwood M, Smith J, Cochrane R, Wetton S, Copestake S. The Social Functioning Scale. The development and validation of a new scale of social adjustment for use in family intervention programmes with schizophrenic patients. *Br J Psychiatry* (1990) 157:853–9. doi:10.1192/bjp.157.6.853
- Nemoto T, Fujii C, Miura Y, Chino B, Kobayashi H, Yamazawa R, et al. Reliability and validity of the Social Functioning Scale Japanese version (SFS-J). *Jpn Bull Soc Psychiatry* (2008) 17:188–95.
- Badcock JC, Williams RJ, Anderson M, Jablensky A. Speed of processing and individual differences in IQ in schizophrenia: general or specific cognitive deficits? *Cogn Neuropsychiatry* (2004) 9(4):233–47. doi:10.1080/ 13546800344000228
- Dykiert D, Deary IJ. Retrospective validation of WTAR and NART scores as estimators of prior cognitive ability using the Lothian Birth Cohort 1936. *Psychol Assess* (2013) 25(4):1361–6. doi:10.1037/a0033623
- Mathias JL, Bowden SC, Barrett-Woodbridge M. Accuracy of the Wechsler test of adult reading (WTAR) and national adult reading test (NART) when estimating IQ in a healthy Australian sample. *Aust Psychol* (2007) 42:49–56. doi:10.1080/00050060600827599
- Mullen CM, Fouty HE. Comparison of the WRAT4 reading subtest and the WTAR for estimating premorbid ability level. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult* (2014) 21(1):69–72. doi:10.1080/09084282.2012.727111
- Dalby JT, Williams R. Preserved reading and spelling ability in psychotic disorders. *Psychol Med* (1986) 16(1):171–5. doi:10.1017/S0033291700002609

- Amminger GP, Edwards J, Brewer WJ, Harrigan S, McGorry PD. Duration of untreated psychosis and cognitive deterioration in first-episode schizophrenia. Schizophr Res (2002) 54(3):223–30. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00278-X
- Schretlen DJ, Cascella NG, Meyer SM, Kingery LR, Testa SM, Munro CA, et al. Neuropsychological functioning in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62(2):179–86. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.09.025
- Matsuoka K, Uno M, Kasai K, Koyama K, Kim Y. Estimation of premorbid IQ in individuals with Alzheimer's disease using Japanese ideographic script (Kanji) compound words: Japanese version of National Adult Reading Test. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2006) 60(3):332–9. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2006.01510.x
- Ohi K, Shimada T, Nitta Y, Kihara H, Okubo H, Uehara T, et al. Specific gene expression patterns of 108 schizophrenia-associated loci in cortex. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 174(1–3):35–8. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.03.032
- Ohi K, Shimada T, Kihara H, Yasuyama T, Sawai K, Matsuda Y, et al. Impact of familial loading on prefrontal activation in major psychiatric disorders: a near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) study. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:44268. doi:10.1038/srep44268
- Ohi K, Kikuchi M, Ikeda M, Yamamori H, Yasuda Y, Fujimoto M, et al. Polygenetic components for schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and rheumatoid arthritis predict risk of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 175(1–3):226–9. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.04.009
- Ohi K, Hashimoto R, Yamamori H, Yasuda Y, Fujimoto M, Umeda-Yano S, et al. The impact of the genome-wide supported variant in the cyclin M2 gene on gray matter morphology in schizophrenia. *Behav Brain Funct* (2013) 9:40. doi:10.1186/1744-9081-9-40
- 42. Ohi K, Hashimoto R, Ikeda M, Yamashita F, Fukunaga M, Nemoto K, et al. Genetic risk variants of schizophrenia associated with left superior temporal gyrus volume. *Cortex* (2014) 58:23–6. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2014.05.011
- Morrison G, Sharkey V, Allardyce J, Kelly RC, McCreadie RG. Nithsdale schizophrenia surveys 21: a longitudinal study of national adult reading test stability. *Psychol Med* (2000) 30(3):717–20. doi:10.1017/S0033291799001920
- Weickert TW, Goldberg TE, Gold JM, Bigelow LB, Egan MF, Weinberger DR. Cognitive impairments in patients with schizophrenia displaying preserved and compromised intellect. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2000) 57(9):907–13. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.57.9.907
- Ammari N, Heinrichs RW, Pinnock F, Miles AA, Muharib E, McDermid Vaz S. Preserved, deteriorated, and premorbidly impaired patterns of intellectual ability in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychology* (2014) 28(3):353–8. doi:10.1037/ neu0000026
- Kremen WS, Seidman LJ, Faraone SV, Tsuang MT. IQ decline in crosssectional studies of schizophrenia: methodology and interpretation. *Psychiatry Res* (2008) 158(2):181–94. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2006.01.022
- Leeson VC, Sharma P, Harrison M, Ron MA, Barnes TR, Joyce EM. IQ trajectory, cognitive reserve, and clinical outcome following a first episode of psychosis: a 3-year longitudinal study. *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 37(4):768–77. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbp143
- Mercado CL, Johannesen JK, Bell MD. Thought disorder severity in compromised, deteriorated, and preserved intellectual course of schizophrenia. *J Nerv Ment Dis* (2011) 199(2):111–6. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3182083bae
- Potter AI, Nestor PG. IQ subtypes in schizophrenia: distinct symptom and neuropsychological profiles. J Nerv Ment Dis (2010) 198(8):580–5. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181ea4e43
- Weinberg D, Lenroot R, Jacomb I, Allen K, Bruggemann J, Wells R, et al. Cognitive subtypes of schizophrenia characterized by differential brain volumetric reductions and cognitive decline. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2016) 73(12):1251–9. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.2925
- Wells R, Swaminathan V, Sundram S, Weinberg D, Bruggemann J, Jacomb I, et al. The impact of premorbid and current intellect in schizophrenia: cognitive, symptom, and functional outcomes. *NPJ Schizophr* (2015) 1:15043. doi:10.1038/npjschz.2015.43
- Tandon R, Gaebel W, Barch DM, Bustillo J, Gur RE, Heckers S, et al. Definition and description of schizophrenia in the DSM-5. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 150(1):3–10. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.05.028
- Palmer BW, Heaton RK, Paulsen JS, Kuck J, Braff D, Harris MJ, et al. Is it possible to be schizophrenic yet neuropsychologically normal? *Neuropsychology* (1997) 11(3):437–46. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.11.3.437
- Allen DN, Goldstein G, Warnick E. A consideration of neuropsychologically normal schizophrenia. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2003) 9(1):56–63. doi:10.1017/ S135561770391006X

- Lewandowski KE, Sperry SH, Cohen BM, Ongur D. Cognitive variability in psychotic disorders: a cross-diagnostic cluster analysis. *Psychol Med* (2014) 44(15):3239–48. doi:10.1017/S0033291714000774
- Seaton BE, Goldstein G, Allen DN. Sources of heterogeneity in schizophrenia: the role of neuropsychological functioning. *Neuropsychol Rev* (2001) 11(1):45–67. doi:10.1023/A:1009013718684
- Heinrichs RW, Awad AG. Neurocognitive subtypes of chronic schizophrenia. Schizophr Res (1993)9(1):49–58. doi:10.1016/0920-9964(93)90009-8
- Hill SK, Ragland JD, Gur RC, Gur RE. Neuropsychological profiles delineate distinct profiles of schizophrenia, an interaction between memory and executive function, and uneven distribution of clinical subtypes. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol (2002) 24(6):765–80. doi:10.1076/jcen.24.6.765.8402
- Seaton BE, Allen DN, Goldstein G, Kelley ME, van Kammen DP. Relations between cognitive and symptom profile heterogeneity in schizophrenia. *J NervMentDis*(1999)187(7):414–9.doi:10.1097/00005053-199907000-00004
- Goldstein G, Allen DN, Seaton BE. A comparison of clustering solutions for cognitive heterogeneity in schizophrenia. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (1998) 4(4):353–62.
- Wilk CM, Gold JM, McMahon RP, Humber K, Iannone VN, Buchanan RW. No, it is not possible to be schizophrenic yet neuropsychologically normal. *Neuropsychology* (2005) 19(6):778–86. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.19.6.778
- Kremen WS, Seidman LJ, Faraone SV, Tsuang MT. Intelligence quotient and neuropsychological profiles in patients with schizophrenia and in normal volunteers. *Biol Psychiatry* (2001) 50(6):453–62. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01099-X
- Sullivan PF, Kendler KS, Neale MC. Schizophrenia as a complex trait: evidence from a meta-analysis of twin studies. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2003) 60(12):1187–92. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.60.12.1187
- 64. Swagerman SC, de Geus EJ, Kan KJ, van Bergen E, Nieuwboer HA, Koenis MM, et al. The computerized neurocognitive battery: validation, aging effects, and heritability across cognitive domains. *Neuropsychology* (2016) 30(1): 53–64. doi:10.1037/neu0000248
- Husted JA, Lim S, Chow EW, Greenwood C, Bassett AS. Heritability of neurocognitive traits in familial schizophrenia. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* (2009) 150B(6):845–53. doi:10.1002/ajmg.b.30907
- Berrettini WH. Genetic bases for endophenotypes in psychiatric disorders. Dialogues Clin Neurosci (2005) 7(2):95–101.
- Chen WJ, Liu SK, Chang CJ, Lien YJ, Chang YH, Hwu HG. Sustained attention deficit and schizotypal personality features in nonpsychotic relatives of schizophrenic patients. *Am J Psychiatry* (1998) 155(9):1214–20. doi:10.1176/ ajp.155.9.1214
- Posthuma D, de Geus EJ, Boomsma DI. Perceptual speed and IQ are associated through common genetic factors. *Behav Genet* (2001) 31(6):593–602. doi:10.1023/A:1013345411774
- Bilder RM, Goldman RS, Robinson D, Reiter G, Bell L, Bates JA, et al. Neuropsychology of first-episode schizophrenia: initial characterization and clinical correlates. *Am J Psychiatry* (2000) 157(4):549–59. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.157.4.549
- Hill SK, Schuepbach D, Herbener ES, Keshavan MS, Sweeney JA. Pretreatment and longitudinal studies of neuropsychological deficits in antipsychotic-naive patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2004) 68(1):49–63. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(03)00213-5
- Hoff AL, Sakuma M, Wieneke M, Horon R, Kushner M, DeLisi LE. Longitudinal neuropsychological follow-up study of patients with firstepisode schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry (1999) 156(9):1336–41.
- Green MF. Cognitive impairment and functional outcome in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2006) 67(Suppl 9):3–8. doi:10.4088/ JCP.1006e12
- Toulopoulou T, Goldberg TE, Mesa IR, Picchioni M, Rijsdijk F, Stahl D, et al. Impaired intellect and memory: a missing link between genetic risk and schizophrenia? *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2010) 67(9):905–13. doi:10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2010.99
- 74. Stefansson H, Ophoff RA, Steinberg S, Andreassen OA, Cichon S, Rujescu D, et al. Common variants conferring risk of schizophrenia. *Nature* (2009) 460(7256):744–7. doi:10.1038/nature08186
- O'Donovan MC, Craddock N, Norton N, Williams H, Peirce T, Moskvina V, et al. Identification of loci associated with schizophrenia by genome-wide association and follow-up. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40(9):1053–5. doi:10.1038/ng.201

- Ripke S, Sanders AR, Kendler KS, Levinson DF, Sklar P, Holmans PA, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies five new schizophrenia loci. *Nat Genet* (2011) 43(10):969–76. doi:10.1038/ng.940
- 77. Trampush JW, Yang ML, Yu J, Knowles E, Davies G, Liewald DC, et al. GWAS meta-analysis reveals novel loci and genetic correlates for general cognitive function: a report from the COGENT consortium. *Mol Psychiatry* (2017) 22(3):336–45. doi:10.1038/mp.2016.244
- Lencz T, Knowles E, Davies G, Guha S, Liewald DC, Starr JM, et al. Molecular genetic evidence for overlap between general cognitive ability and risk for schizophrenia: a report from the Cognitive Genomics consorTium (COGENT). *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19(2):168–74. doi:10.1038/mp.2013.166
- Weickert TW, Goldberg TE, Egan MF, Apud JA, Meeter M, Myers CE, et al. Relative risk of probabilistic category learning deficits in patients with schizophrenia and their siblings. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 67(10):948–55. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.12.027
- Hashimoto R, Ohi K, Yamamori H, Yasuda Y, Fujimoto M, Umeda-Yano S, et al. Imaging genetics and psychiatric disorders. *Curr Mol Med* (2015) 15(2):168–75. doi:10.2174/1566524015666150303104159
- Morita K, Miura K, Fujimoto M, Yamamori H, Yasuda Y, Iwase M, et al. Eye movement as a biomarker of schizophrenia: using an integrated eye movement score. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2017) 71(2):104–14. doi:10.1111/ pcn.12460
- 82. Yasuyama T, Ohi K, Shimada T, Uehara T, Kawasaki Y. Differences in social functioning among patients with major psychiatric disorders: interpersonal communication is impaired in patients with schizophrenia and correlates with an increase in schizotypal traits. *Psychiatry Res* (2017) 249:30–4. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2016.12.053
- Ohi K, Ursini G, Li M, Shin JH, Ye T, Chen Q, et al. DEGS2 polymorphism associated with cognition in schizophrenia is associated with gene expression in brain. *Transl Psychiatry* (2015) 5(14):e550. doi:10.1038/tp.2015.45
- Meltzer HY, Rajagopal L, Huang M, Oyamada Y, Kwon S, Horiguchi M. Translating the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist model of schizophrenia to treatments for cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2013) 16(10):2181–94. doi:10.1017/ S1461145713000928
- Coyle JT. Glutamate and schizophrenia: beyond the dopamine hypothesis. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* (2006) 26(4–6):365–84. doi:10.1007/s10571-006-9062-8
- Krystal JH, Anand A, Moghaddam B. Effects of NMDA receptor antagonists: implications for the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2002) 59(7):663–4. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.59.7.663
- Amitai N, Markou A. Disruption of performance in the five-choice serial reaction time task induced by administration of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists: relevance to cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 68(1):5–16. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010. 03.004
- Pilowsky LS, Bressan RA, Stone JM, Erlandsson K, Mulligan RS, Krystal JH, et al. First in vivo evidence of an NMDA receptor deficit in medication-free schizophrenic patients. *Mol Psychiatry* (2006) 11(2):118–9. doi:10.1038/ sj.mp.4001751
- Akbarian S, Sucher NJ, Bradley D, Tafazzoli A, Trinh D, Hetrick WP, et al. Selective alterations in gene expression for NMDA receptor subunits in prefrontal cortex of schizophrenics. *J Neurosci* (1996) 16(1):19–30.
- Wojtalik JA, Smith MJ, Keshavan MS, Eack SM. A systematic and metaanalytic review of neural correlates of functional outcome in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2017) 43(6):1329–47. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbx008
- Tessier C, Sweers K, Frajerman A, Bergaoui H, Ferreri F, Delva C, et al. Membrane lipidomics in schizophrenia patients: a correlational study with clinical and cognitive manifestations. *Transl Psychiatry* (2016) 6(10):e906. doi:10.1038/tp.2016.142
- Schmitt A, Wilczek K, Blennow K, Maras A, Jatzko A, Petroianu G, et al. Altered thalamic membrane phospholipids in schizophrenia: a postmortem study. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 56(1):41–5. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2004. 03.019
- Mizutani Y, Kihara A, Igarashi Y. Identification of the human sphingolipid C4-hydroxylase, hDES2, and its up-regulation during keratinocyte differentiation. *FEBS Lett* (2004) 563(1–3):93–7. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(04) 00274-1

- Omae F, Miyazaki M, Enomoto A, Suzuki M, Suzuki Y, Suzuki A. DES2 protein is responsible for phytoceramide biosynthesis in the mouse small intestine. *Biochem J* (2004) 379(Pt 3):687–95. doi:10.1042/bj20031425
- Stip E, Chouinard S, Boulay LJ. On the trail of a cognitive enhancer for the treatment of schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry (2005) 29(2):219–32. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.11.004
- Harvey PD, Keefe RS. Studies of cognitive change in patients with schizophrenia following novel antipsychotic treatment. Am J Psychiatry (2001) 158(2):176–84. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.158.2.176
- Woodward ND, Purdon SE, Meltzer HY, Zald DH. A meta-analysis of neuropsychological change to clozapine, olanzapine, quetiapine, and risperidone in schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2005) 8(3):457–72. doi:10.1017/ \$146114570500516X
- Remberk B, Namyslowska I, Rybakowski F. Cognition and communication dysfunctions in early-onset schizophrenia: effect of risperidone. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 39(2):348–54. doi:10.1016/j. pnpbp.2012.07.007
- Crespo-Facorro B, Rodriguez-Sanchez JM, Perez-Iglesias R, Mata I, Ayesa R, Ramirez-Bonilla M, et al. Neurocognitive effectiveness of haloperidol, risperidone, and olanzapine in first-episode psychosis: a randomized, controlled 1-year follow-up comparison. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2009) 70(5):717–29. doi:10.4088/JCP.08m04634
- Cuesta MJ, Jalon EG, Campos MS, Peralta V. Cognitive effectiveness of olanzapine and risperidone in first-episode psychosis. *Br J Psychiatry* (2009) 194(5):439–45. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.108.055137
- 101. Fujimoto M, Hashimoto R, Yamamori H, Yasuda Y, Ohi K, Iwatani H, et al. Clozapine improved the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion in a patient with treatment-resistant schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2016) 70(10):469. doi:10.1111/pcn.12435
- 102. Yamaki N, Hishimoto A, Otsuka I, Sasada T, Boku S, Saito T, et al. Optimizing outcomes in clozapine rechallenge following neutropenia using human leukocyte antigen typing: a case report. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2017) 71(4):289–90. doi:10.1111/pcn.12505
- Meltzer HY, Massey BW. The role of serotonin receptors in the action of atypical antipsychotic drugs. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2011) 11(1):59–67. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2011.02.007
- 104. Minzenberg MJ, Poole JH, Benton C, Vinogradov S. Association of anticholinergic load with impairment of complex attention and memory in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry (2004) 161(1):116–24. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.161.1.116
- 105. Ogino S, Miyamoto S, Tenjin T, Kitajima R, Ojima K, Miyake N, et al. Effects of discontinuation of long-term biperiden use on cognitive function and quality of life in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 35(1):78–83. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.08.030
- 106. Ogino S, Miyamoto S, Miyake N, Yamaguchi N. Benefits and limits of anticholinergic use in schizophrenia: focusing on its effect on cognitive function. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68(1):37–49. doi:10.1111/pcn.12088
- 107. Hindmarch I. Cognitive toxicity of pharmacotherapeutic agents used in social anxiety disorder. Int J Clin Pract (2009) 63(7):1085–94. doi:10.1111/j. 1742-1241.2009.02085.x
- 108. Kitajima R, Miyamoto S, Tenjin T, Ojima K, Ogino S, Miyake N, et al. Effects of tapering of long-term benzodiazepines on cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia receiving a second-generation antipsychotic. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 36(2):300–6. doi:10.1016/j. pnpbp.2011.11.008
- 109. Lee SW, Lee JG, Lee BJ, Kim YH. A 12-week, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of galantamine adjunctive treatment to conventional antipsychotics for the cognitive impairments in chronic schizophrenia. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol* (2007) 22(2):63–8. doi:10.1097/YIC.0b013e3280117feb
- 110. Akhondzadeh S, Gerami M, Noroozian M, Karamghadiri N,Ghoreishi A, Abbasi SH, et al. A 12-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of donepezil adjunctive treatment to risperidone in chronic and stable schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 32(8):1810–5. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2008.08.001
- 111. Ribeiz SR, Bassitt DP, Arrais JA, Avila R, Steffens DC, Bottino CM. Cholinesterase inhibitors as adjunctive therapy in patients with schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder: a review and meta-analysis of the literature. *CNS Drugs* (2010) 24(4):303–17. doi:10.2165/11530260-000000000-00000

- 112. Delle Chiaie R, Salviati M, Fiorentini S, Biondi M. Add-on mirtazapine enhances effects on cognition in schizophrenic patients under stabilized treatment with clozapine. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol* (2007) 15(6):563–8. doi:10.1037/1064-1297.15.6.563
- 113. Poyurovsky M, Koren D, Gonopolsky I, Schneidman M, Fuchs C, Weizman A, et al. Effect of the 5-HT2 antagonist mianserin on cognitive dysfunction in chronic schizophrenia patients: an add-on, double-blind placebocontrolled study. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2003) 13(2):123–8. doi:10.1016/ S0924-977X(02)00155-4
- 114. Hodge MA, Siciliano D, Withey P, Moss B, Moore G, Judd G, et al. A randomized controlled trial of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2010) 36(2):419–27. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbn102
- Wykes T, Huddy V, Cellard C, McGurk SR, Czobor P. A meta-analysis of cognitive remediation for schizophrenia: methodology and effect sizes. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(5):472–85. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10060855
- Wexler BE, Bell MD. Cognitive remediation and vocational rehabilitation for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2005) 31(4):931–41. doi:10.1093/schbul/ sbi038

- 117. Wykes T, Reeder C, Landau S, Everitt B, Knapp M, Patel A, et al. Cognitive remediation therapy in schizophrenia: randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry (2007) 190:421–7. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.106.026575
- Revell ER, Neill JC, Harte M, Khan Z, Drake RJ. A systematic review and meta-analysis of cognitive remediation in early schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 168(1–2):213–22. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2015.08.017

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Ohi, Sumiyoshi, Fujino, Yasuda, Yamamori, Fujimoto, Sumiyoshi and Hashimoto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Verbal Memory Impairment in Patients with Subsyndromal Bipolar Disorder

Tomiki Sumiyoshi<sup>1</sup>\*, Atsuhito Toyomaki<sup>2</sup>, Naoko Kawano<sup>3</sup>, Tomoko Kitajima<sup>4</sup>, Ichiro Kusumi<sup>2</sup>, Norio Ozaki<sup>3</sup>, Nakao Iwata<sup>4</sup>, Kazuki Sueyoshi<sup>1</sup> and Kazuyuki Nakagome<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Translational Medical Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neuropsychiatry, Graduate School of Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Nagoya University Graduate School of Medicine, Nagoya, Japan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Fujita Health University School of Medicine, Toyoake, Japan, <sup>5</sup> National Institute of Health, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan

**Backgrounds:** Several domains of cognitive function, including learning memory and executive function, are impaired in mood disorders. Also, the relationship between disturbances of these two cognitive domains has been suggested. In line with the recent initiative to establish a standard measure of cognitive decline in bipolar disorder, the present study was conducted to (1) test the criterion-related validity and test–retest reliability of the California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT)-II Japanese version, and (2) determine if type of word learning tasks (i.e., with or without a category structure) affects severity of verbal memory deficits in patients with subsyndromal bipolar disorder.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Roumen Kirov, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Bulgaria

#### Reviewed by:

Hikaru Hori, University of Occupational and Environmental Health Japan, Japan Myung-Sun Kim, Sungshin Women's University, South Korea

> \*Correspondence: Tomiki Sumiyoshi sumiyot@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 18 June 2017 Accepted: 25 August 2017 Published: 15 September 2017

#### Citation:

Sumiyoshi T, Toyomaki A, Kawano N, Kitajima T, Kusumi I, Ozaki N, Iwata N, Sueyoshi K and Nakagome K (2017) Verbal Memory Impairment in Patients with Subsyndromal Bipolar Disorder. Front. Psychiatry 8:168. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00168 **Methods:** Thirty-six patients with bipolar disorder with mild symptoms and 42 healthy volunteers participated in the study. We first compared effect sizes for memory deficits in patients among the CVLT-II, Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS), and Hopkins Verbal Memory Tests-Revised (HVLT-R). We next evaluated the correlations between scores of the CVLT-II vs. those of the BACS and HVLT-R. Bipolar patients were re-assessed with the same (standard) or alternate forms of the CVLT-II and HVLT-R 1 month later.

**Results:** Scores on the CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall and Long-delay Free Recall, as well as the HVLT-R Immediate Recall, but not the BACS List Learning were significantly lower for patients compared to control subjects. The effect sizes for cognitive decline due to the illness were comparable when measured by the CVLT-II and HVLT-R, ranging from 0.5 to 0.6. CVLT-II scores were significantly correlated with those of the HVLT-R and BACS. Test–retest reliability of the CVLT-II was acceptable, and no significant practice effect was observed when the alternate form was used. There was no consistent relationship between mood symptoms and performance on the CVLT-II.

**Conclusion:** These results suggest the CVLT-II Japanese version is able to discriminate between bipolar disorder patients and healthy controls with good sensitivity and validity. Data in this study also indicate that the degree of verbal memory deficits in bipolar disorder may be influenced by memory organizational strategy.

Keywords: bipolar disorder, verbal learning, California Verbal Learning Test-II, HVLT-R, Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia
## INTRODUCTION

Bipolar disorder is associated with poor psychosocial outcome not only in the manic or depressive state, but also in the subsyndromal state (1–3). Patients with the illness demonstrate impairments in several cognitive domains even during the euthymic phase (4). The profile of cognitive disturbances of bipolar disorder has been reported to be similar to that of schizophrenia (5–7), with less severity. Thus, the effect size of euthymic patients ranges from 0.4 to 0.7 compared to healthy controls (8). Specifically, Martínez-Arán et al. (9) demonstrated that duration of illness, a history of psychotic symptoms, number of hospitalizations, manic episodes, and suicide attempts were positively related to cognitive impairments. Importantly, cognitive impairments have been suggested to predict poor psychosocial outcome in bipolar disorder patients (10–12).

There may be interactions in the disturbances of key cognitive domains in bipolar disorder. For example, the contribution of executive function to learning memory has been reported in patients with the disease (13). Specifically, Deckersbach et al. (13) report that verbal learning memory deficits are mediated by semantic clustering encoding (memory organization) strategies. This finding may be important in understanding the nature of cognitive impairment of mood disorders.

To evaluate verbal memory in subjects with bipolar disorder, several tasks, including the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS) (14), Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised (HVLT-R) (15), and the California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT) (16, 17) have been used. For example, the CVLT has been recommended to assess verbal learning in bipolar disorder (16). In this line, the reliability of the CVLT-II has been reported to be acceptable with good internal consistency, whose normative data have been shown to be more representative of the general population than that for the CVLT (18).

The effect size of cognitive decline in euthymic patients ranges from 0.66 to 0.90 (19). As verbal (learning) memory provides one of the important domains of cognition in psychiatric diseases (20), it is worthwhile to explore which factors contribute to its impairment in bipolar patients whose mood symptoms are not so eminent. Since executive function, another pivotal domain of cognition related to frontal lobe function, is impaired in euthymic bipolar patients (21), it is hypothesized that verbal memory deficits become evident when assessed with word list tasks that require memory organizational strategy, but not those that do not require it.

The main purpose of this study was to investigate the impact of memory organizational strategies on verbal (learning) memory, as measured by performance on word list tasks, in patients with bipolar disorder. For this aim, we sought to determine whether the CVLT-II and HVLT-R, but not the BACS would be able to discriminate between patients with subsyndromal bipolar disorder and normal control subjects. This is based on the assumption that only the former two tasks require subjects to use memory organization. Additionally, we investigated the validity and reliability of the Japanese version of CVLT-II using the BACS List Learning and HVLT-R as reference measures of verbal learning and memory. Preliminary analyses of the present data have been reported (22, 23).

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Subjects**

This was a multi-center collaborative study, whose design, characteristics of participants, and other information have been registered (UMIN ID: 000013623). The sample consisted of 78 participants; 36 individuals with bipolar disorder and 42 healthy control participants who were native Japanese and had no history of psychiatric disorders (Table 1). Bipolar disorder patients were diagnosed by clinicians according to DSM-IV criteria and showed a subsyndromal or non-significant clinical level of severity of mood symptoms, i.e., ratings with the Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) ≤14 and the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS)  $\leq 14$  (24). The patients were recruited from the National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry Hospital, Fujita Health University Hospital, Nagoya University Hospital and Hokkaido University Hospital. Healthy volunteers as a control group were recruited from the local community. They were matched with bipolar disorder patients in terms of age and sex (Table 1). There were no between-group differences in educated years and premorbid IQ estimated using the Japanese Adult Reading Test (25). Patients with comorbid neurological illness, previous traumatic brain injury with any known cognitive consequences or loss of consciousness for more than 5 min, or alcohol/substance abuse or addiction (except nicotine) were excluded. Six patients had a history of suicide attempt and two received electroconvulsive therapy. The patients were taking lamotrigine (for 16 cases), lithium (15), aripiprazole (14), valproate (11), quetiapine (9), olanzapine (3), carbamazepine (2), risperidone (2), sertraline (2) and levomepromazine (2), chlorpromazine (1), duloxetine (1), and maprotiline (1).

Written consent was obtained from all participants, according to ethics guidelines set out by each participating site. The study protocol was approved by the ethics committees of participating institutions.

### The Study Design

The subjects were administered three verbal learning tests twice with an interval of approximately 1 month. Mood symptoms

	Bipolar disorder	Healthy controls
Sex (male:female)	12:24	17:25
Age (years)	$39.2 \pm 9.2$	36.9 ± 10.0
Type (A-A:A-B)	17:19	18:24
Educated years	$15.0 \pm 2.4$	$14.1 \pm 2.1$
JART	107.0 ± 9.2	106.9 ± 8.2
MADRS	$6.2 \pm 4.4$	-
YMRS	$2.3 \pm 3.1$	-
Subtype (BP1:BP2)	9:27	-
Non-remission patients	9	-
History of psychosis	8	-
Duration of illness (months)	92.0 ± 1.1	-
Number of hospitalization	$1.1 \pm 1.6$	-

A-A, standard–standard; A-B, standard–alternate; JART, Japanese Adult Reading Test; MADRS, Montgomery–Asberg Depression Rating Scale; YMRS, Young Mania Rating Scale. were also assessed each time using the MADRS and YMRS. The CVLT-II, BACS, and HVLT-R forms were switched to alternate forms in 43 subjects (from Nagoya University Hospital and Hokkaido University Hospital) at the follow-up (19 patients and 24 controls), whereas 35 subjects (from National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry Hospital and Fujita Health University Hospital) were administered the same standard form at the follow-up (17 patients and 18 controls) as at the baseline. The same raters performed these cognitive tests at baseline and the 1-month follow-up assessments.

# Development of the CVLT-II Japanese Version

To develop a Japanese version of the CVLT-II (26), one of the authors (Tomiki Sumiyoshi) translated the original CVLT-II from English to Japanese. Afterward, a person isolated from the translator performed a back-translation. Modifications of some terms were made to fit the local culture. The back-translation of the English version was approved by Pearson Education, Inc., the copyright owner.

## Measures of Verbal Learning

#### California Verbal Learning Test-II

The CVLT-II measures both recall and recognition abilities using two word lists. In the first five trials, immediately after presentation of List A, the subject is asked to recall the words of the list. List A contains 4 words from each of 4 semantic categories, for a total of 16 words. This procedure enables evaluation of semantic clustering ability, the most effective strategy for learning non-systemized verbal information. Subsequently, an interference list (List B) containing 16 words is presented, followed by a recall test. The interference test is followed by a short-delay free recall test and a short-delay cued recall test using List A. Then, following 20-min interval, a long-delay free recall test, long-delay cued recall test, and yes/no recognition test are administered using List A. After the yes/no recognition test, a new approximately 10-min forced-choice recognition test is arbitrarily administered. In the present study, data obtained in the immediate recall test after the first five trials of List A ("1-5 free recall") and a long-delay free recall test were adopted for analyses, which were the candidate measures to be incorporated in the International Society for Bipolar Disorders-Battery for Assessment of Neurocognition (4). We basically intended to use standardized measure for all cognitive tests; however, since it is not available only for the CVLT-II (Japanese version), we used raw scores for this test.

#### HVLT-R

The HVLT-R consists of a word list, containing 3 words from one of 4 semantic categories, for a total of 12 words. In the first three trials, immediately after presentation of the word list, the subject is asked to recall the words of the list. Subsequently, following a 20–25-min interval, a delayed recall test is administered. Immediately after the delayed recall test, a forced-choice recognition test is administered. In the present study, the delayed recall test and forced-choice recognition test were not included for brevity, and only a standardized measure in the immediate recall test after the first three trials was adopted for analyses, which is used in the MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery (the standardized measure was obtained by using the mean level of 28.2 and the SD of 4.3).

#### Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia

The BACS List Learning test consists of a word list, containing 15 words. The subject is asked to recall the words of the list immediately after presentation of the word list, which was repeated five times. The words in the list were not semantically organized unlike the case in the CVLT-II and HVLT-R. In the present study, a standardized measure in the immediate recall test after the first five trials was adopted for analyses. (The standardized measure was obtained by using the mean level of 49.2 and the standard deviation of 9.9.) (27).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Student's t-test was performed to explore between-group differences for CVLT-II 1-5 free recall scores and long-delay free recall scores, HVLT-R immediate recall scores, and BACS list learning scores at baseline. If a significant between-group difference in either measure was found, the effect size was calculated using a Cohen's *d* to explore its sensitivity. To examine the effect of mood symptoms, Spearman's rank correlation was performed between CVLT-II 1-5 free recall or long-delay free recall scores vs. MADRS and YMRS scores. Test-retest reliability was evaluated using intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) (28) between scores at baseline and 1-month follow-up for each measure. In addition, practice effect was evaluated using repeated measures ANOVA using "time" as an intra-individual factor and "Group" and "type (A-A, A-B)" as inter-individual factors. Secondary analyses were performed when a significant interaction between the factors was obtained.

To examine the criterion-related validity of the CVLT-II measures, Pearson's product-moment correlation among scores of the CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall and Long-Delay Free Recall, HVLT-R Immediate Recall, and BACS List Learning was calculated for patients.

### RESULTS

#### Between-Group Comparison of Verbal Learning Measures

Student's *t*-test revealed a significant between-group difference for the CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall (t = -2.28, P = 0.025) and Long-Delay Free Recall (t = -2.04, P = 0.035), and HVLT-R Immediate Recall (t = -2.47, P = 0.016), but not the BACS List Learning (t = -1.58, n.s.) (**Figure 1**). The effect sizes of performance on the measures that showed between-group differences were 0.52, 0.46, and 0.56, respectively. Significant positive correlations were noted between ratings with the MADRS vs. scores of the CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall (Rho = 0.36, P = 0.029), and Long-Delay Free Recall (Rho = 0.34, P = 0.044). On the other hand, performances on these CVLT measures were not correlated with YMRS scores (1–5 Free Recall, Rho = 0.12, n.s.; Long-Delay Free Recall, Rho = 0.03, n.s.).



# Test–Retest Reliability and Practice Effect of Verbal Learning Measures

The ICCs between the baseline and 1-month follow-up scores for the BACS List Learning, HVLT-R Immediate Recall, CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall and Long-Delay Free Recall are summarized in **Table 2**. Good to excellent test–retest reliability was noted in most of the measures.

### **Practice Effects**

A significant main effect of "group" (F[1, 74] = 6.58, P = 0.012) and "time" (F [1, 74] = 21.44, P < 0.0001) and a significant "type"  $\times$  "time" interaction (F[1, 74] = 8.26, P = 0.005) were found on scores of the BACS List Learning (Figure 2). Accordingly, a secondary analysis was performed for each "type," which revealed a significant main effect of "time" in type A-A (F [1, [33] = 49.60, P < 0.0001), but not type A-B (F[1, 41] = 1.23, n.s.). As for the HVLT-R, there was a significant main effect of "group" (F [1, 74] = 10.05, P = 0.002), while "time" effect did not reach a significant level (F[1, 74] = 3.94, P = 0.051). A secondary analysis for each "group" revealed no significant main effect of "time" or "time"  $\times$  "type" interaction in either healthy controls ("time": F [1, 40] = 0.84, n.s.; "time" × "type" interaction: F[1, 40] = 0.00, n.s.) or bipolar disorder patients ("time": F [1, 34] = 2.56, n.s.; "time"  $\times$  "type" interaction: F[1, 34] = 2.90, P = 0.097). Repeated measures ANOVA for CVLT-II 1-5 Free Recall revealed a significant effect of "group" (F [1, 74] = 8.24, P = 0.005) and "time" (F [1, 74] = 27.97, P < 0.0001). "Type" × "time" interaction was also significant (F[1, 74] = 28.42, P < 0.0001). Therefore, secondary analysis for each "type" was performed. There was a significant effect of "time" in type A-A (F [1, 33] = 67.71, P < 0.0001), but not type A-B (F[1, 41] = 0.00, n.s.). In addition, "group" × "time" interaction was not significant in either "type" (type A-A: F [1, 33] = 0.02, n.s.; type A-B: F [1, 41] = 1.94, n.s.). As for

**TABLE 2** | Intraclass correlation coefficients between the baseline and 1-month follow-up scores.

		Bipolar disorder	Healthy controls
Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia list learning		0.65	0.57
	A-A	0.84	0.52
	A-B	0.37	0.62
HVLT-R immediate recall		0.83	0.78
	A-A	0.88	0.82
	A-B	0.74	0.73
California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT)-II 1–5 free recall		0.62	0.65
	A-A	0.63	0.62
	A-B	0.64	0.70
CVLT-II long-delay free recall		0.67	0.63
с ,	A-A	0.58	0.82
	A-B	0.79	0.52

A-A, standard-standard; A-B, standard-alternate.

CVLT-II Long-Delay Free Recall, "group" effect (F [1, 74] = 6.76, P = 0.011) and "time" effect (F [1, 74] = 11.47, P = 0.001), as well as "type" × "time" interaction (F [1, 74] = 4.68, P = 0.034) were significant. Also, "group" × "type" × "time" interaction was significant (F [1, 74] = 6.37, P = 0.014). A secondary analysis revealed a significant effect of "time" in type A-A (F[1, 33] = 17.21, P = 0.0002), but not type A-B (F [1, 41] = 0.72, n.s.). Moreover, "group" × "time" interaction was not significant in either pattern (type A-A: F [1, 33] = 2.87, n.s.; type A-B: F [1, 41] = 3.72, n.s.).

#### **Criterion-Related Validity**

The criterion-related validity of the CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall and Long-Delay Free Recall tasks were examined using the HVLT-R Immediate Recall and BACS List Learning tasks in patients with



FIGURE 2 | Test-retest performance on (A) the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS) list learning and (B) HVLT-R immediate free recall (presented in *z*-score), and (C) CVLT-II 1–5 free recall and (D) delayed free recall (presented in raw score) in bipolar disorder patients and healthy controls. A-A, standard form–standard form–standard form pattern; A-B, standard form–alternate form pattern.

bipolar disorder. Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficients ranged from 0.68 to 0.81.

#### DISCUSSION

The CVLT-II Japanese version and HVLT-R, but not BACS were found to discriminate between bipolar disorder patients and healthy individuals with a sensitivity comparable to that of the HVLT-R. Strong correlations with performances on the BACS List Learning and HVLT-R Immediate Recall suggest a good criterion-related validity of the CVLT-II as a tool to detect cognitive disturbances in patients with bipolar disorder. There was no consistent relationship between mood symptoms and performance on the CVLT-II in the subsyndromal patients.

#### **Between-Group Differences**

Interestingly, between-group differences were significant in scores of the CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall and Long-Delay Free Recall, and HVLT-R Immediate Recall, but not BACS List Learning. One of the reasons may be that the word lists in the CVLT-II and HVLT-R are semantically organized while this is not the case with the BACS. It may be that bipolar disorder patients show impairment in semantic clustering, in agreement with previous suggestions that the impairment in verbal organizational strategies causes the difficulty in recalling words (13, 29).

The patient-control effect size of the CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall (0.52) was smaller than those previously reported using the

CVLT (0.73–0.82) (4). Meanwhile, the effect size for the HVLT-R Immediate Recall (0.56) was slightly larger than that reported in Schretlen et al. (30) for bipolar disorder patients (0.42) (30). The overall performance on the CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall at baseline (0.73 for the healthy controls and 0.65 for the bipolar disorder patients) were still worse than that in the HVLT-R Immediate Recall (0.76 and 0.69), suggesting a satisfactory level of cognitive demands of the CVLT-II.

## Test–Retest Reliability and Practice Effect of Verbal Learning Measures

We found moderate to good test–retest reliability in both CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall and Long-Delay Free Recall scores in bipolar disorder patients and healthy controls. In a previous investigation on the CVLT-II,<sup>17</sup> the reliability coefficients ranged from 0.72 to 0.79 in a sample of 288 healthy subjects, with a median interval of 21 days, similar to the ICC for the CVLT-II 1–5 free recall in healthy controls using an alternate form (0.70) in the present study (**Table 2**). Interestingly, the HVLT-R Immediate Recall generally showed greater ICC values than the other tests, attaining a good to excellent level.

#### **Criterion-Related Validity**

Both CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall and Long-Delay Free Recall scores showed strong correlation with either the BACS List Learning or HVLT-R Immediate Recall scores, suggesting good criterion-related validity.

# Relationship of Performance on the CVLT-II with Mood Symptoms

Meta-analytic studies generally report that bipolar patients with the more severe depressive or manic symptoms are likely to show the worse performance on tests of learning and memory [reviewed in Ref. (19)]. On the other hand, the lack of a significant relationship between manic symptoms, measured by the YMRS, and performance on the CVLT-II, reported here, may be related to the inclusion of subsyndromal patients. The *positive* correlations between ratings with the MADRS and CVLT-II scores, obtained in this study, seem somewhat contradictory and might be also due to the nature of the subjects studied.

#### Task-Specific Decline in Memory Performance in Bipolar Disorder

The CVLT-II is characterized by the (four category)/(four words per category) structure (26), while the HVLT-R consist of (three category)/(four words per category) (15). On the other hand, the BACS List Learning does not have such "internal category" structure. This difference may provide a major reason why only the former two tasks were able to discriminate between patients and control subjects. This concept may be partly supported by Deckersbach et al. (13), who found the contribution of memory organizational strategy to poor performance on the Long-Delay Free Recall Task of the CVLT. Further studies with data from other psychiatric conditions would help understand the nature of cognitive impairment of mood disorders.

#### Limitations

Unlike previous studies, patients with bipolar disorder studied here were not necessarily in the *euthymic* state, although all met the *subsyndromal* state criterion. There is a possibility that the patient-control effect sizes may have been overestimated due to residual depressive symptoms. However, a *positive* correlation between rating with the MADRS vs. CVLT-II 1–5 Free Recall and Long-Delay Free Recall scores may argue against this view.

### REFERENCES

- MacQueen GM, Youngm LT, Joffe RT. A review of psychosocial outcome in patients with bipolar disorder. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2001) 103:163–70. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0447.2001.00059.x
- Huxley N, Baldessarini RJ. Disability and its treatment in bipolar disorder patients. *Bipolar Disord* (2007) 9:183–96. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2007. 00430.x
- Carlson GA, Kotin J, Davenport YB, Adland M. Follow-up of 53 bipolar manic-depressive patients. Br J Psychiatry (1974) 124:134–9. doi:10.1192/ bjp.124.2.134
- Yatham LN, Torres IJ, Malhi GS, Frangou S, Glahn DC, Bearden CE, et al. The International Society for Bipolar Disorders-Battery for Assessment of Neurocognition (ISBD-BANC). *Bipolar Disord* (2010) 12:351–63. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2010.00830.x
- Seidman LJ, Kremen WS, Koren D, Faraone SV, Goldstein JM, Tsuang MT. A comparative profile analysis of neuropsychological functioning in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar psychoses. *Schizophr Res* (2002) 53:31–44. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00162-1
- Kuswanto CN, Sum MY, Sim K. Neurocognitive functioning in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: clarifying concepts of diagnostic dichotomy vs. continuum. *Front Psychiatry* (2013) 4:162. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00162

## CONCLUSION

The Japanese version of CVLT-II appeared to provide valid measures of verbal learning and memory function in bipolar disorder patients. The ability of the CVLT-II and HVLT-R, but not BACS List Learning, to discriminate between patients and control subjects may be related to the use of memory organization strategy specific to the CVLT-II and HVLT-R, which deserves further study.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of "name of guidelines, name of committee" with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by ethics committees of the National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry Hospital, Fujita Health University Hospital, Nagoya University Hospital, and Hokkaido University Hospital.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Contributions of each author are as follows: conception and design of the study (TS); acquisition of data (AT, NK, TK, IK, NO, and NI); analysis of data (KN and KS); and drafting of the manuscript (KN and TS).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was funded by the Labour Sciences Research Grants for Comprehensive Research on Disability, Health, and Welfare (H24-Seishin-Ippan-002 and H26-Seishin-Ippan-011), Intramural Research Grant for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders of NCNP (27-1), and Japan Society for the Promotion of Science Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) No 17K10321.

- Sánchez-Morla EM, Barabash A, Martínez-Vizcaíno V, Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Balanzá-Martínez V, Cabranes-Díaz JA, et al. Comparative study of neurocognitive function in euthymic bipolar patients and stabilized schizophrenic patients. *Psychiatry Res* (2009) 169:220–8. doi:10.1016/ j.psychres.2008.06.032
- Mann-Wrobel MC, Carreno JT, Dickinson D. Meta-analysis of neuropsychological functioning in euthymic bipolar disorder: an update and investigation of moderator variables. *Bipolar Disord* (2011) 13:334–42. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2011.00935.x
- Martínez-Arán A, Vieta E, Reinares M, Colom F, Torrent C, Sánchez-Moreno J, et al. Cognitive function across manic or hypomanic, depressed, and euthymic states in bipolar disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* (2004) 161:262–70. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.161.2.262
- Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Balanzá-Martínez V, Sánchez-Moreno J, Martinez-Aran A, Salazar-Fraile J, Selva-Vera G, et al. Neurocognitive and clinical predictors of functional outcome in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar I disorder at one-year follow-up. *J Affect Disord* (2008) 109:286–99. doi:10.1016/ j.jad.2007.12.234
- Mur M, Portella MJ, Martinez-Aran A, Pifarre J, Vieta E. Influence of clinical and neuropsychological variables on the psychosocial and occupational outcome of remitted bipolar patients. *Psychopathology* (2009) 42:148–56. doi:10.1159/000207456

- Laes JR, Sponheim SR. Does cognition predict community function only in schizophrenia? A study of schizophrenia patients, bipolar affective disorder patients, and community control subjects. *Schizophr Res* (2006) 84:121–31. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2005.11.023
- Deckersbach T, Savage CR, Reilly-Harrington N, Clark L, Sachs G, Rauch SL. Episodic memory impairment in bipolar disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder: the role of memory strategies. *Bipolar Disord* (2004) 6:233–44. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2004.00118.x
- Keefe RS, Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Gold JM, Poe MP, Coughenour L. The brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: reliability, sensitivity, and comparison with a standard neurocognitive battery. *Schizophr Res* (2004) 68:283–97. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2003.09.011
- Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Kern RS, Baade LE, Barch DM, Cohen JD, et al. The MATRICS consensus cognitive battery, part 1: test selection, reliability, and validity. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165:203–13. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.2007.07010042
- 16. Delis DC, Kramer JH, Kaplan E, Ober BA. *California Verbal Learning Test*. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation (1987).
- 17. Delis DC, Kramer JH, Kaplan E, Ober BA. *California Verbal Learning Test*. 2nd ed. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation (2000).
- Delis DC, Kramer JH, Kaplan E, Ober BA. CVLT-II, California Verbal Learning Test Second Edition-Adult Version Manual. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation (2000).
- Tsitsipa E, Fountoulakis KN. The neurocognitive functioning in bipolar disorder: a systematic review of data. Ann Gen Psychiatry (2015) 1:14–42. doi:10.1186/s12991-015-0081-z
- 20. Sumiyoshi T. Verbal memory. Handb Exp Pharmacol (2015) 228:237-47. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-16522-6\_8
- Oertel-Knöchel V, Reinke B, Alves G, Jurcoane A, Wenzler S, Prvulovic D, et al. Frontal white matter alterations are associated with executive cognitive function in euthymic bipolar patients. *J Affect Disord* (2014) 155:223–33. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.11.004
- Sumiyoshi T, Toyomaki A, Kawano N, Kitajima T, Kusumi I, Ozaki N, et al. Verbal memory impairments in bipolar disorder; effect of type of word learning tasks. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2017) 71:570–1. doi:10.1111/ pcn.12536
- Sumiyoshi T, Toyomaki A, Kawano N, Kitajima T, Kusumi I, Ozaki N, et al. Reliability and validity of the California verbal learning test-II – Japanese

version. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci (2017) 71:417-8. doi:10.1111/pcn. 12525

- 24. Tohen M, Frank E, Bowden CL, Colom F, Ghaemi SN, Yatham LN, et al. The International Society for Bipolar Disorders (ISBD) task force report on the nomenclature of course and outcome in bipolar disorders. *Bipolar Disord* (2009) 11:453–73. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00726.x
- Matsuoka K, Uno M, Kasai K, Koyama K, Kim Y. Estimation of premorbid IQ in individuals with Alzheimer's disease using Japanese ideographic script (Kanji) compound words: Japanese version of national adult reading test. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2006) 60:332–9. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2006. 01510.x
- 26. Sumiyoshi T. *California Verbal Learning Test.* 2nd ed. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation (2014).
- Kaneda Y, Sumiyoshi T, Nakagome K. Evaluation of cognitive functions in a normal population in Japan using the brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia Japanese version. *Clin Psychiatry* (2013) 55:167–75.
- Kenneth O, Wong SP. Forming inferences about some intraclass correlation coefficients. *Psychol Methods* (1996) 1:30–4. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.1.1.30
- Ha TH, Kim JS, Chang JS, Oh SH, Her JY, Cho HS, et al. Verbal and visual memory impairments in bipolar I and II disorder. *Psychiatry Investig* (2012) 9:339–46. doi:10.4306/pi.2012.9.4.339
- Schretlen DJ, Cascella NG, Meyer SM, Kingery LR, Testa SM, Munro CA, et al. Neuropsychological functioning in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62:179–86. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.09.025

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** There are no conflicts of interest for any of the authors of this paper. No author has any possible financial gain for the findings presented here.

Copyright © 2017 Sumiyoshi, Toyomaki, Kawano, Kitajima, Kusumi, Ozaki, Iwata, Sueyoshi and Nakagome. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Competence to Consent and Its Relationship With Cognitive Function in Patients With Schizophrenia**

Norio Sugawara<sup>1\*</sup>, Norio Yasui-Furukori<sup>2</sup> and Tomiki Sumiyoshi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Translational Medical Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Kodaira, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neuropsychiatry, Hirosaki University School of Medicine, Hirosaki, Japan

Decisional capacity to consent is an emerging ethical and legal concept, and is closely related to self-determination of patients facing important medical decisions or research participations. Recently, the MacArthur Competence Assessment Tool (MacCAT), a semi-structured interview consisting of four dimensions (Understanding, Appreciation, Reasoning, and Expression of a Choice), was developed to assess the decisional capacity. Decision-making capacity in a group of patients with schizophrenia, as measured by the MacCAT, has been shown to be impaired in comparison with healthy control people. However, this does not necessarily mean the presence of impaired decisional capacity in all cases. Considering the real-world practice of obtaining informed consent from patients with schizophrenia, it is important to evaluate the relationship between psychopathological features and decisional capacity of the illness. Negative symptoms of schizophrenia have been demonstrated to be related to the ability to understand information relevant to the decision, reason rationally, and appreciate a situation and its consequences. On the other hand, positive symptoms, such as delusions and hallucinations have been an inconsistent correlate of poor capacity. Furthermore, some studies indicate that impairment of cognitive function, a core symptom of schizophrenia, could be more largely associated with decisional capacity than positive and negative symptoms. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume cognitive enhancement would enlarge the capacity to consent and promote autonomy in medical treatment and research participation in patients with schizophrenia. Further studies are warranted to elucidate this and related issues.

Keywords: competence to consent, cognitive function, schizophrenia, MacArthur Competence Assessment Tools, decisional capacity

## **INTRODUCTION**

Competence to consent for individuals with psychiatric symptoms or impaired cognitive functioning has become central to the debate on the informed consent in clinical care and research settings. Clinicians and researchers bear the responsibilities to protect two aspects of human rights; the right of competent patients to make choices about their medical care and the right of incompetent patients to be protected from the potential harm of their decisions (1). However, in real-world clinical settings, some patients with capacity were detained in hospital by law, or other patients with incapacity were admitted to hospital on a voluntary basis (2). In terms of

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by: Renzo Bianchi.

Renzo Bianchi, University of Neuchâtel, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Julio Eduardo Armijo, Diego Portales University, Chile Christopher James Ryan, University of Sydney, Australia

> \*Correspondence: Norio Sugawara nsnga@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 30 November 2017 Accepted: 18 March 2019 Published: 12 April 2019

#### Citation:

Sugawara N, Yasui-Furukori N and Sumiyoshi T (2019) Competence to Consent and Its Relationship With Cognitive Function in Patients With Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 10:195. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00195

114

clinical research, some patients with incapacity might have participated in clinical trials with their own consent.

Although several decision-making tasks specifically assess decisional capacities (3, 4), the medical/psychiatric literature has commonly cited the following abilities as relevant to capacity for informed consent: (1) understanding information relevant to treatment decision making; (2) appreciating the personal significance of treatment information, especially concerning one's own illness and the probable consequences of one's treatment options; (3) reasoning with relevant information to engage in a logical process of weighting treatment options; and (4) expressing a choice (5). These are also the key elements of the MacArthur Competence Assessment Tool (MacCAT) (6) (Figure 1), which has been widely used for competence assessment (7). However, the MacCAT is not clearly designed to provide a total score for the assessment of decision-making capacity. Furthermore, the abilities assessed in the MacCAT do not necessarily equate to the abilities relevant to the assessment of decision-making capacity in many jurisdictions.

Schizophrenia is a severe mental disorder that generally appears in late adolescence or early adulthood. Epidemiological data indicates that prevalence of schizophrenia is approximately 1% in the worldwide population. Symptoms of schizophrenia are clinically divided into three main categories of positive symptoms (delusions, disordered thoughts, and hallucinations), negative symptoms (restricted affect and drive), and impairments in cognitive function (8, 9). When schizophrenia was first identified by Kraepelin, he noted the fundamental role of cognitive impairment in this disorder, and called this dementia praecox (10). Although patients with schizophrenia are more likely to lack the competence to consent than control groups (6, 11), the diagnosis of schizophrenia cannot be equated with decisional incapacity (12). Many researchers have investigated the associations of competence to consent with positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia (13-15). Although poor capacity has correlated with negative symptoms more consistently than positive symptoms, high levels of positive symptoms, including disorganization, may affect competence to consent. Furthermore, recent empirical data suggest that neurocognitive functioning could explain a larger proportion of the variance in competence to consent than positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia (14, 16, 17).

Therefore, the aim of this narrative review is to elucidate (1) the relationships between cognitive function and competence to consent, and (2) the interventions to compensate the decision-making capacity in patients with schizophrenia.

### COGNITIVE MEASURES OF MULTIPLE DOMAINS AND COMPETENCE TO CONSENT

Several studies investigated the association of competence to consent and cognitive measures such as the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (15, 17–19) and the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS) (13, 16). On the whole, poor understanding subscales of MacCAT have

been a more consistent correlate of poor cognitive functioning than have other subscales. However, all of above mentioned studies employed MacCAT-Clinical Research (MacCAT-CR) for assessing participants' decision-making abilities for clinical research. So, the potential range of understanding subscales being at least three times those of the other subscales might affect inconsistent results of other subscales.

A longitudinal assessment for capacity, in terms of understanding, was conducted among participants in the Clinical Antipsychotic Trials of Intervention Effectiveness (CATIE) schizophrenia study (20). Over 18 months treatment, poorer baseline neurocognitive composite scores consisting of processing speed, verbal memory, vigilance, reasoning, and working memory, predicted falling below the critical decisionmaking capacity threshold. In the same analysis, lower baseline scores of understanding subscale also were associated with falling below the threshold during follow-up period.

#### COGNITIVE MEASURES OF EACH DOMAIN AND COMPETENCE TO CONSENT

Verbal communication plays an important role in informed consent (21). Two studies demonstrated the relationship between understanding subscales and verbal cognitive functioning based on the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS)-Revised (WAIS-R) (22, 23). In addition, other studies showed that appreciation and reasoning subscales are associated with verbal comprehension composed of vocabulary, similarities, and information subtests from the WAIS–Third Edition (WAIS-III) (17, 24). Although previous studies indicated that verbal abilities may predict competence to consent, the relationship between specific dimensions of decisional capacity and individual verbal ability areas is still obscure.

Memory is a complex process, consisting of registration, storage, retainment, and retrieval of information (25). Previous studies from US revealed that the RBANS memory index had significant relationships to understanding, appreciation (13) and reasoning subscales (16). Another study from Hong Kong indicated an association of understanding subscales with immediate and delayed logical memory from the Wechsler Memory Scale (WMS) (5). Furthermore, some studies implicated that memory also underlies an aspect of learning outcome (17, 24). Palmer et al. showed the relationship of learning composite scores with three subscales of MacCAT (understanding, appreciation, and reasoning) (24). They also demonstrated that auditory and visual learning abilities could affect the competence to consent (17).

Working memory is a complex and multifaced construct to store and simultaneously manipulate a limited amount of information during short intervals. This capacity facilitates further cognitive processing, such as response selection relevant for a specific context. Working memory comprises two shortterm information storage systems, the visuospatial network for visual material and the phonologic loop for verbal-acoustic material (25). In the CATIE schizophrenia trial (14), this cognitive domain was assessed by a computerized test of



visuospatial working memory and letter number sequencing test of auditory working memory. Specifically, working memory performance showed considerable bivariate relationships with the understanding, appreciation, and reasoning subscale scores from the MacCAT-CR. Furthermore, similar results were reported in other studies employing the letter number sequencing test (5) and WAIS-III (17). A previous study indicated an association between language comprehension and working memory for sentences (26). Impairment of working memory in patients with schizophrenia might be consequent upon verbal comprehension deficits.

Information processing represents a cognitive process of taking information and encoding it to be understood and recalled when appropriately cued. Processing speed is the rapidity by which information processing occurs (25). Several studies showed bivariate correlation between processing speed composite scores and understanding, appreciation, and reasoning subscales of MacCAT (14, 17, 24), but only the relationship between processing speed composite scores and understanding subscales was replicated in a multiple regression model (14). In patients with schizophrenia, processing speed performance is strongly associated with global cognitive deficits (27). Thus, processing speed may contribute to the relationship between competence to consent and general cognitive performance.

Executive function involves the simultaneous use of information rather than the basic cognitive process, and governs goal-directed behaviors or adaptive responses to complex or novel situations. Generally, executive function is characterized by several complex mental abilities, including unique skills used for expansion, modulation, and implementation of goal-directed activities (25). This domain of cognitive function has been thought to rely on frontal lobe functions (28). A positive correlation has been reported between performance on the Frontal Assessment Battery and total scores of the MacCAT (29) in chronic schizophrenia patients. Specifically, scores on the understanding subscale were most consistently correlated with executive function (5, 24).

Cognitive underpinnings underlying the limited decisional capacity in psychiatric patients remain to be explored (30).

One intriguing study (31) showed that performance on a metacognition test was more closely related to decisional capacity compared to executive function. Metacognition focuses on the level of self-confidence of patients in comparison with actual performance, and predicts performance on the MacCAT-T (31).

# INTERVENTIONS TO COMPENSATE THE DECISION-MAKING CAPACITY

Although antipsychotic medication may improve decisional capacities (32, 33), clinicians and researchers should improve the informed consent process to maximize the decisionmaking capacities of patients with schizophrenia. Providing information repeatedly and discussing presented information with participants may strengthen the competence to consent (16, 34). Furthermore, consent procedures via multimedia may facilitate the understanding to decide on complex or high-risk protocols (35). Naughton et al. conducted a small uncontrolled study to evaluate the effect of metacognitive training (MCT) to improve a person's awareness of cognitive biases and thinking styles on decision-making capacities (36). MCT was found to elicit improvement in understanding and reasoning, but not appreciation abilities of patients. Furthermore, cognitive remediation may improve competence to consent (37), providing ethically adequate care, as well as clinical improvement.

## LIMITATIONS

Several limitations of this review should be acknowledged. The principal limitation is the relatively small sample sizes in most studies, mentioned here, on the relationship between cognitive function and competence to consent in patients of schizophrenia. Secondly, for ethical and legal reasons, only subjects who consented to participate in studies were included. Even among individuals who consented to participate, 10% were too agitated to complete the entire assessments (6), suggesting that generalization of previous findings should be considered with caution. Thirdly, the MacCAT does not have a specific cutoff to dichotomize competence vs. incompetence. This may obscure the associations between cognitive functions and decisional capacities (38). Finally, the MacCAT, which is based on not only medical literature but also existing case law and statutes, does not assess the emotional aspect of decisional capacities. Further studies investigating the relationship between cognitive function and decisional capacities, including both comprehensive emotional and legal aspects, are needed.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Neurocognitive functioning may explain competence to consent more accurately than positive and negative symptoms. Previous results have not indicated differential relationships between specific cognitive ability areas and decision-making capacity. Interventions with multimedia procedure, MCT, etc. likely enhance competence to consent. Cognitive remediation might provide ethically adequate care as well as clinical improvement. Clinicians and researchers are responsible for maximizing decision-making capacities of patients in the informed consent

#### REFERENCES

- Grisso T, Appelbaum P. Assessing Competence to Consent to Treatment. A Guide for Physicians and Other Health Professionals. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (1998).
- Owen GS, Szmukler G, Richardson G, David AS, Hayward P, Rucker J, et al. Mental capacity and psychiatric in-patients: implications for the new mental health law in England and Wales. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2009). 195:257–63. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108.059782.
- Toplak ME, Sorge GB, Benoit A, West RF, Stanovich KE. Decision-making and cognitive abilities: a review of associations between Iowa Gambling Task performance, executive functions, and intelligence. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2010). 30:562–81. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.04.002.
- Manes F, Torralva T, Ibáñez A, Roca M, Bekinschtein T, Gleichgerrcht E. Decision-making in frontotemporal dementia: clinical, theoretical and legal implications. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. (2011). 32:11–7. doi: 10.1159/000329912
- Wong JG, Cheung EP, Chen EY. Decision-making capacity of inpatients with schizophrenia in Hong Kong. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2005). 193:316–22. doi: 10.1097/01.nmd.0000161685.54077.e4
- Grisso T, Appelbaum PS, Hill-Fotouhi C. The MacCAT-T: a clinical tool to assess patients' capacities to make treatment decisions. *Psychiatr Serv.* (1997). 48:1415–9. doi: 10.1176/ps.48.11.1415
- Wang SB, Wang YY, Ungvari GS, Ng CH, Wu RR, Wang J, et al. The MacArthur competence assessment tools for assessing decision-making capacity in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2017). 183:56–63. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.11.020
- van Os J, Kapur S. Schizophrenia. Lancet. (2009). 374:635–45. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60995-8
- 9. Freedman R Schizophrenia. N Engl J Med. (2003). 349:1738–49. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra035458
- McGlashan TH. Eugen Bleuler: centennial anniversary of his 1911 publication of Dementia Praecox or the group of schizophrenias. *Schizophr Bull.* (2011). 37:1101–3. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr130
- Jeste DV, Depp CA, Palmer BW. Magnitude of impairment in decisional capacity in people with schizophrenia compared to normal subjects: an overview. Schizophr Bull. (2006). 32:121–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj001
- Okai D, Owen G, McGuire H, Singh S, Churchill R, Hotopf M. Mental capacity in psychiatric patients: Systematic review. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2007). 191:291–7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.106.035162

process. Further studies are warranted to elucidate competence to consent and related issues.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

NS, NY-F, and TS were involved in the study concept, interpretation of manuscript, critical revision of manuscript for intellectual content, literature review, and drafting of the manuscript.

#### **FUNDING**

Funding for this study was provided by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) (17K10347). The Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was well supported by staffs of Translational Medical Center.

- Moser DJ, Schultz SK, Arndt S, Benjamin ML, Fleming FW, Brems CS, et al. Capacity to provide informed consent for participation in schizophrenia and HIV research. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2002). 159:1201–7. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.7.1201
- 14. Stroup S, Appelbaum P, Swartz M, Patel M, Davis S, Jeste D, et al. Decision-making capacity for research participation among individuals in the CATIE schizophrenia trial. *Schizophr Res.* (2005). 80:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.08.007
- Lan TH, Wu BJ, Chen HK, Liao HY, Lee SM, Sun HJ. Validation of chinese version of the MacArthur competence assessment tool for clinical research (MacCAT-CR) in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (2013). 210:634–40. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013. 07.002
- Carpenter WT Jr., Gold JM, Lahti AC, Queern CA, Conley RR, Bartko JJ, et al. Decisional capacity for informed consent in schizophrenia research. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2000). 57:533–8. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.57.6.533
- Palmer BW, Dunn LB, Appelbaum PS, Jeste DV. Correlates of treatment-related decision-making capacity among middle-aged and older patients with schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (2004). 61:230–6. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.61.3.230
- Palmer BW, Dunn LB, Appelbaum PS, Mudaliar S, Thal L, Henry R, et al. Assessment of capacity to consent to research among older persons with schizophrenia, Alzheimer disease, or diabetes mellitus: comparison of a 3-item questionnaire with a comprehensive standardized capacity instrument. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2005). 62:726–33. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.7.726
- Wu BJ, Liao HY, Chen HK, Lan TH. Psychopathology, psychopharmacological properties, decision-making capacity to consent to clinical research and the willingness to participate among long-term hospitalized patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2016). 237:323–30. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.01.020
- Stroup TS, Appelbaum PS, Gu H, Hays S, Swartz MS, Keefe RS, et al. Longitudinal consent-related abilities among research participants with schizophrenia: results from the CATIE study. *Schizophr Res.* (2011). 130:47– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.04.012.
- Merz JF, Druzdzel MJ, Mazur DJ. Verbal expressions of probability in informed consent litigation. *Med Decis Making*. (1991). 11:273–81. doi: 10.1177/0272989X9101100405
- Grisso T, Appelbaum PS. The MacArthur treatment competence study. III: abilities of patients to consent to psychiatric and medical treatments. *Law Hum Behav.* (1995). 19:149–74.

- Kovnick JA, Appelbaum PS, Hoge SK, Leadbetter RA. Competence to consent to research among long-stay inpatients with chronic schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2003). 54:1247–52. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.54.9.1247
- Palmer BW, Jeste DV. Relationship of individual cognitive abilities to specific components of decisional capacity among middle-aged and older patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2006). 32:98–106. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj002
- Kar SK, Jain M. Current understandings about cognition and the neurobiological correlates in schizophrenia. J Neurosci Rural Pract. (2016). 7:412–8. doi: 10.4103/0976-3147.176185
- Condray R, Steinhauer SR, van Kammen DP, Kasparek A. Working memory capacity predicts language comprehension in schizophrenic patients. *Schizophr Res.* (1996). 20:1–13. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(95)0 0061-5
- Keefe RS, Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Gold JM, Poe MP, Coughenour L. The brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: reliability, sensitivity, and comparison with a standard neurocognitive battery. *Schizophr Res.* (2004). 68:283–97. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2003.09.011
- Eisenberg DP, Berman KF. Executive function, neural circuitry, and genetic mechanisms in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2010). 35:258–77. doi: 10.1038/npp.2009.111
- Linder M, Lev-Ari L, Kurs R, Melamed Y. Evaluation of the capacity of inpatients with chronic schizophrenia to provide informed consent for participation in clinical trials; use of the Hebrew version of the MacArthur competence assessment tool for clinical research (MacCAT-CR). *Isr Med Assoc J.* (2012). 14:470–4.
- Palmer BW, Savla GN. The association of specific neuropsychological deficits with capacity to consent to research or treatment. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. (2007). 13:1047–59. doi: 10.1017/S13556177070 71299
- Koren D, Poyurovsky M, Seidman LJ, Goldsmith M, Wenger S, Klein EM. The neuropsychological basis of competence to consent in first-episode schizophrenia: a pilot metacognitive study. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2005). 57:609–16. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.11.029
- 32. Dornan J, Kennedy M, Garland J, Rutledge E, Kennedy HG. Functional mental capacity, treatment as usual and time: magnitude of change in secure hospital patients with major mental illness. *BMC Res Notes*. (2015). 8:566. doi: 10.1186/s13104-015-1547-4

- Owen GS, Ster IC, David AS, Szmukler G, Hayward P, Richardson G, Hotopf M. Regaining mental capacity for treatment decisions following psychiatric admission: a clinico-ethical study. *Psychol Med.* (2011). 41:119–28. doi: 10.1017/S0033291710000383
- Palmer BW, Nayak GV, Dunn LB, Appelbaum PS, Jeste DV. Treatment-related decision-making capacity in middle-aged and older patients with psychosis: a preliminary study using the MacCAT-T and HCAT. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2002). 10:207–11. doi: 10.1097/00019442-200203000-00012
- 35. Jeste DV, Palmer BW, Golshan S, Eyler LT, Dunn LB, Meeks T, et al. Multimedia consent for research in people with schizophrenia and normal subjects: a randomized controlled trial. *Schizophr Bull.* (2009). 35:719–29. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm148
- 36. Naughton M, Nulty A, Abidin Z, Davoren M, O'Dwyer S, Kennedy HG. Effects of group metacognitive training (MCT) on mental capacity and functioning in patients with psychosis in a secure forensic psychiatric hospital: a prospective-cohort waiting list controlled study. *BMC Res Notes*. (2012). 5:302. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-5-302
- Vingerhoets WA, Bloemen OJ, Bakker G, van Amelsvoort TA. Pharmacological interventions for the MATRICS cognitive domains in schizophrenia: what's the evidence? *Front Psychiatry.* (2013). 4:157. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00157
- Dunn LB, Palmer BW, Appelbaum PS, Saks ER, Aarons GA, Jeste DV. Prevalence and correlates of adequate performance on a measure of abilities related to decisional capacity: differences among three standards for the MacCAT-CR in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2007). 89:110–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.08.005

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sugawara, Yasui-Furukori and Sumiyoshi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Medications Used for Cognitive Enhancement in Patients With Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder, Alzheimer's Disease, and Parkinson's Disease

Wen-Yu Hsu<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Hsien-Yuan Lane<sup>1,4</sup> and Chieh-Hsin Lin<sup>1,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Graduate Institute of Clinical Medical Science, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>2</sup> Changhua Christian Hospital, Changhua, Taiwan, <sup>3</sup> School of Medicine, Chung Shan Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>4</sup> Psychiatry, China Medical University and Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>5</sup> Psychiatry, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

**Background/aims:** Cognitive impairment, which frequently occurs in patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease, has a significant impact on the daily lives of both patients and their family. Furthermore, since the medications used for cognitive enhancement have limited efficacy, the issue of cognitive enhancement still remains a clinically unsolved challenge.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Yasushi Kajii, Novartis, Japan Takuma Inagawa, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan

> \*Correspondence: Chieh-Hsin Lin cyndi36@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 06 November 2017 Accepted: 06 March 2018 Published: 04 April 2018

#### Citation:

Hsu W-Y, Lane H-Y and Lin C-H (2018) Medications Used for Cognitive Enhancement in Patients With Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder, Alzheimer's Disease, and Parkinson's Disease. Front. Psychiatry 9:91. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00091 **Sampling and methods:** We reviewed the clinical studies (published between 2007 and 2017) that focused on the efficacy of medications used for enhancing cognition in patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease.

Results: Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and memantine are the standard treatments for Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Some studies have reported selective cognitive improvement in patients with schizophrenia following galantamine treatment. Newer antipsychotics, including paliperidone, lurasidone, aripiprazole, ziprasidone, and BL-1020, have also been reported to exert cognitive benefits in patients with schizophrenia. Dopaminergic medications were found to improve language function in patients with Parkinson's disease. However, no beneficial effects on cognitive function were observed with dopamine agonists in patients with schizophrenia. The efficacies of nicotine and its receptor modulators in cognitive improvement remain controversial, with the majority of studies showing that varenicline significantly improved the cognitive function in schizophrenic patients. Several studies have reported that N-methyl-p-aspartate glutamate receptor (NMDAR) enhancers improved the cognitive function in patients with chronic schizophrenia. NMDAR enhancers might also have cognitive benefits in patients with Alzheimer's disease or Parkinson's disease. Raloxifene, a selective estrogen receptor modulator, has also been demonstrated to have beneficial effects on attention, processing speed, and memory in female patients with schizophrenia.

**Conclusion:** Clinical trials with larger sample sizes evaluating comprehensive cognitive domains are warranted to examine the efficacy of medications in cognitive enhancement in patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease.

Keywords: cognitive impairment, medication, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease

## INTRODUCTION

Cognitive function, including neurocognition and social cognition, is associated with mental processes that lead to the acquisition of information and knowledge. It drives an individual's understanding and actions in his or her environment. Neurocognition and social cognition can predict the functional outcome in an individual with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder (1). Normal cognitive changes generally occur with aging, such as the decline in processing speed, memory, language, and visuospatial and executive function abilities (2). Therefore, elderly people require longer time to learn and recall information (3).

Cognitive impairment is the frequent symptom occurring in nonelderly patients with schizophrenia or other neurodegenerative disorders (4). Cognitive dysfunction in patients with schizophrenia was described by Kraepelin more than a century ago (5). Increased awareness and advancements in the area of neuropsychological assessment and neuroimaging techniques have now rendered cognitive impairment an important focus of theories on the etiology and treatment of schizophrenia.

A large-scale comprehensive quantitative meta-analysis study reported that patients with schizophrenia have moderately to severely impaired neurocognition, particularly in terms of global verbal memory functioning (6). Furthermore, multiple analyses in the Clinical Antipsychotic Trials of Intervention Effectiveness study on schizophrenia have suggested that patients with schizophrenia are characterized by a broad cognitive deficit (7). Another meta-analysis study reported that deficits across multiple social cognitive domains in patients with schizophrenia were clear and replicated, particularly in the domains of theory of mind (ToM) and emotion perception (8). Patients with schizophrenia are impaired in various cognitive functions, including both neurocognition and social cognition, which are associated with a functional outcome. Neurocognitive function was also found to be impaired in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder (9). In addition, a meta-analysis of patients with bipolar disorder in the euthymic stage reported the presence of deficits in emotion processing and ToM (10). Patients with bipolar disorder are also impaired in both neurocognition and social cognition. Moreover, neurocognitive impairment has been found to be similar among patients with bipolar disorder and patients with schizophrenia (11).

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and dementia are not a part of the normal aging process. MCI has been defined as a greater decline in cognition without significant daily life interference than that in normal aging considering the education and the age of an individual (12). In individuals with dementia, these symptoms involve mental decline that is sufficiently severe to disrupt their daily life activities (13).

The mechanisms of cognitive impairment are different among patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's dementia, and Parkinson's disease. Schizophrenia is a complex disorder. Cognitive deficit has been considered as one of the core symptoms of schizophrenia (14-16). The deficiency in proactive control is directly related to the impairment in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC). This impairment might be related to DLPFC dysfunction; impaired DLPFC connectivity with the striatum, the thalamus, and the parietal cortex; and alterations in the levels of neurotransmitters, including glutamate, y-aminobutyric acid (GABA), and dopamine (17). The mechanism of cognitive impairment in patients with bipolar disorder has not yet been clearly elucidated. Some researchers believe that cognitive decline is linked with the mechanisms of neuroinflammation and neuroprotection in bipolar disorder (18). Alzheimer's disease, a neurodegenerative disease with a progressive course, is characterized by two specific lesions, extracellular  $\beta$ -amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (19-21). The glutamate system has also been reported to play a crucial role in cognitive function (22). Synaptic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease has been presumed to be related to glutamate receptors. Synaptic transmission and synaptic plasticity can be damaged by the  $\beta$ -amyloid protein. Metabotropic and N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors (NMDARs) have also been reported to be involved in Alzheimer's disease (23). Cognitive deterioration in patients with Parkinson's disease occurs due to the dysmetabolism of both amyloid protein and  $\alpha$ -synuclein and cholinergic dysfunction (24, 25).

As mentioned earlier, although the mechanisms of cognitive impairment vary among different neurodegenerative disorders, cognitive impairment has been currently regarded as an important determinant of functional domains and is a potential treatment goal in patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease.

Cognitive enhancement still remains a clinically unresolved challenge. Till date, there is no effective treatment available for enhancing cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease. This review article systemically examines and presents an update on pharmacological cognitive enhancement in patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease.

#### **METHOD OF REVIEW**

We performed a search of studies related to our topic using PubMed Clinical Queries in July 2017. We searched for human clinical trials focusing on cognitive enhancement in patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease, excluding other cognitive disorders. The following search string was used: "(Cognitive function OR Cognitive enhancer OR Cognition improvement) AND medication AND (Schizophrenia OR Bipolar disorder OR Alzheimer disease OR Parkinson's disease)." We limited the search results to articles

Abbreviations: CATIE, clinical antipsychotic trials of intervention effectiveness; ToM, theory of mind; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; DLPFC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; GABA, glutamate,  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid; NMDARs, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; ADAS-cog, Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale-Cognitive Subscale; MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination; FAB, frontal assessment battery; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; RLAI, risperidone long-acting injection; BACS, Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia score; PP, paliperidone palmitate long-acting injection; CVLT, California Verbal Learning Test; MATRICS, measurement and treatment research to improve cognition in schizophrenia; MoCA-J, MoCA-Japanese version; GMLT, Groton Maze Learning Task; DAAO, D-amino acid oxidase; EPO, erythropoietin; DHEA, dehydroepiandrosterone; DHEAS, DHEA sulfated form.

published between January 1, 2007, and June 30, 2017, and those with "clinical trial" as the article type, which resulted in a total of 799 articles. We excluded the string "Alzheimer's disease OR dementia" from our search due to the availability of several lines of evidence indicating treatment efficacy and US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval (26–28). Several compounds for enhancing cognition in patients with schizophrenia and degenerative diseases were reported in the retrieved articles. We review and summarize these clinical trials in the present article.

#### ACETYLCHOLINESTERASE INHIBITORS

Three acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, donepezil, galantamine, and rivastigmine, have been approved by the US FDA for treating Alzheimer's disease (29–31). Treatment with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors resulted in higher concentrations of acetylcholine, leading to the inhibition of aggregation of  $\beta$ -amyloid and increased communication between neurons, which in turn decreases cognitive decline (13).

A total of 11 clinical trials pertained to treatment with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors for improving cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia, which included five studies on galantamine, four studies on donepezil, and one study each on rivastigmine and neuromidin (32-42). All the five small-sample, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled studies on galantamine adjunctive treatment reported no beneficial effects on cognitive function in the galantamine-treated patients with schizophrenia (32-36). Among the four clinical studies on donepezil adjunctive treatment, three randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials reported no significant improvement in neurocognitive function in the donepezil-treated patients with schizophrenia (37-39). The other open-label trial showed that donepezil adjunctive treatment in stable schizophrenic patients resulted in significant improvement in mental set-shifting ability (p < 0.05), long-term memory and learning ability (p < 0.05), and attention (p < 0.05) among 13 patients (40). The randomized crossover design study on rivastigmine adjunctive therapy reported no significant cognitive improvement in the rivastigmine-treated patients (41). Finally, the randomized controlled study on neuromidin, a nonselective acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, evaluated 55 marked neurocognitive deficits in patients with schizophrenia and demonstrated positive improvement in visuospatial memory, attention, retention and retrieval of data, and planning (42). Thus, the majority of these clinical studies have demonstrated no significant improvement in neurocognitive function in patients with schizophrenia treated with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors.

Three clinical trials pertained to treatment with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors for enhancing cognition in patients with bipolar I disorder (43–45). Iosifescu et al. (43) administered galantamine ER 8–24 mg daily to patients with bipolar disorder for 4 months in an open-label study. After treatment, these patients showed obvious improvement in verbal episodic memory (p < 0.05), attention (p < 0.05), and subjective cognitive scores (p < 0.01) (43). Gildengers et al. (44) conducted a small-scale, 12-week, open-label pilot study in elderly patients with bipolar I or II disorder. They observed that acute treatment with donepezil (5–10 mg/day) was not related to amelioration of cognition and daily life activities. Ghaemi et al. (45) performed a double-blind, placebo-controlled study to investigate the cognition efficacy of galantamine augmentation in patients with euthymic bipolar disorder. They reported improvement in California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT) Total Learning in the galantamine group from baseline and improvement in the category fluency and the Delis–Kaplan executive function system trail-making conditions in the placebo group from baseline. There was no significant difference between galantamine and placebo groups possibly due to small sample size. Hence, the efficacy of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors on cognition in patients with bipolar disorder remains uncertain due to the concerns of placebo effect, limited sample size, and the inconsistent results of previous studies. Further trials with larger sample sizes addressing the concern of placebo effect are warranted.

Five clinical studies evaluated the efficacies of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors on cognition in patients with Parkinson's disease, which included two clinical trials on galantamine and two on rivastigmine.

A small-sample, open-label, controlled trial on patients with Parkinson's dementia who received galantamine demonstrated higher scores on the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE), Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale-Cognitive Subscale (ADAS-cog), frontal assessment battery (FAB), and clock drawing test than those in the control group at the end of the study (46). Another double-blind, placebo-controlled study did not find improvement in visuospatial performance, memory, or attention/ execution in patients who received galantamine treatment among those with nondemented Parkinson's disease (47). Both clinical trials demonstrate the lack of evidence to confirm the cognitive benefits of galantamine in patients with Parkinson's disease.

A small-sample, 24-week, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, crossover, single-site study of MCI in patients with Parkinson's disease demonstrated a significant effect of rivastigmine transdermal patch in terms of the Everyday Cognition Battery Memory Test (p < 0.05); in contrast, no treatment effect was found in terms of Dementia Rating Scale-2, Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA), and NeuroTrax Computerized Cognitive Battery scores (48). Another 12-month observation study involving patients with Parkinson's disease having cognitive dysfunction reported that patients treated with rivastigmine showed significantly greater improvement in MoCA scores (p < 0.01) than that of the controls (49). Both clinical trials have demonstrated the evidence of cognitive benefits in patients with Parkinson's disease and cognitive impairment treated with rivastigmine.

Thus, the majority of clinical studies have demonstrated significant efficacy of acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, rivastigmine, in Parkinson's disease patients with MCI or dementia. These trials did not show effectiveness of acetylcholinesterase inhibitor on cognition in patients with Parkinson's disease. To gain generalizability, further large-scale double blinded trials are warranted.

#### MEMANTINE

Memantine, an antagonist of NMDARs, has been approved by the USFDA for treating moderate-to-severe Alzheimer's disease (50). It has been reported that memantine could provide both

neuroprotection and symptomatic improvement through rapid, moderate-affinity, voltage-dependent NMDAR channel blockade (51). It also has favorable effects on cognitive impairment in other neurodegenerative diseases. We identified seven clinical studies that evaluated the efficacy of memantine treatment on cognitive function in schizophrenic patients in our search. In three of these studies, a 6-week, open-label study; an 8-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled study; and a 12-week, placebo-controlled study, memantine (adjunctive therapy) showed no efficacy on cognition improvement (52–54). However, in the other 12-week, small-sample with 21 patients, double-blind, placebo-controlled study, patients with refractory schizophrenia who were treated with memantine showed a significantly greater MMSE improvement (p < 0.01) than the improvement of those who received placebo (55). A 26-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover study also demonstrated the efficacy of memantine on cognitive function, with a composite memory score comprising verbal recognition memory and paired associates learning task scores on the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (effect size = 0.30, p < 0.05), in 52 clozapine-refractory schizophrenic patients (56). However, the continued open-label 1-year extension study did not show the cognitive benefit at weeks 26 and 52 (57). Another 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial also reported significant improvement in the MMSE score in the memantine intervention group at week 6 (p < 0.05) and week 12 (p < 0.01) in patients with schizophrenia treated with risperidone (58). Although some of the aforementioned studies have reported positive effects of memantine intervention on cognitive function, the results were inconsistent possibly due to the variations in treatment duration. Thus, the effect of memantine on cognitive impairment in patients with schizophrenia remains uncertain. Further double-blind, placebo-controlled trials with longer treatment duration are needed to determine the efficacy of memantine on cognitive impairment in patients with schizophrenia.

We did not find any clinical trial on the effect of memantine on cognitive enhancement in patients with bipolar I disorder in our search. However, we identified one clinical study evaluating the effect of memantine on cognition in patients with Parkinson's disease complicated by dementia. This small-sample, long-term, open-label, controlled trial showed that patients with Parkinson's disease who received memantine exhibited significant improvement in the MMSE (p < 0.05), ADAS-cog (p < 0.05), clock drawing test (p < 0.05), and FAB scores (p < 0.01), compared to that in the controls at week 24 (59). At the end of 52 weeks, significant changes were observed in the 12-item Neuropsychiatric Inventory scale scores compared to those at baseline in the memantinetreated patients (p < 0.05) (59). This clinical trial showed that memantine appeared to be effective on cognition. The effects of memantine on cognition in Parkinson's disease have not yet been established because of the open-label study design and small sample size. Hence, further well-designed, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials with larger sample sizes are required to determine the efficacy of memantine on cognitive impairment in patients with Parkinson's disease.

## ANTIPSYCHOTICS

Antipsychotics are the major medications for schizophrenia or psychosis for controlling psychotic symptoms. In addition to psychotic symptoms, extensive evidence indicates the presence of cognitive impairment accompanying schizophrenia. The cognitive efficacy of antipsychotics has gained more research attention in the recent 10 years. Several clinical trials on secondgeneration antipsychotics have focused on cognition in patients with schizophrenia.

In a 24-week, non-randomized, open-label trial, the mean change in Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Keio Version in the number of categories achieved (p < 0.05) and the perseverative errors in Nelson (p < 0.05) from baseline at the second stage was found to be significantly greater in the risperidone long-acting injection (RLAI) group than that in haloperidol decanoate depot group (60). The mean changes from baseline in the individual St. Marianna University School of Medicine's Computerized Memory Test, including immediate verbal recall (p < 0.01), delayed verbal recall (p < 0.01), delayed verbal recognition (p < 0.01), memory scanning test (p < 0.05), and memory filtering test (p < 0.05), were found to be significantly greater in the group switched to RLAI than those in haloperidol decanoate depot group (60). In a 6-month, open-label, randomized, controlled study, 30 patients with schizophrenia who were treated with RLAI were randomly allocated to the RLAI-continued group or the paliperidone palmitate long-acting injection (PP) group. The Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia score (BACS) assessing the attention and processing speed item showed greater improvement in the PP group than that in the RLAI group (p < 0.05) (61). Another 12-week, small-sample, open-label study reported that the mean change from baseline in the z-score of the digit sequencing task was significantly improved after switching from risperidone to paliperidone in elderly schizophrenic patients (62). Furthermore, a 12-week, randomized, open-label study on schizophrenic patients demonstrated significantly greater improvements in recall after an interference phase in the verbal learning test in the paliperidone-switch group than those in the risperidone-continuation group, but not in the other six neurocognitive domains measured (63). A 6-week, placebo- and active-controlled study followed by a 6-month double-blind extension trial indicated that lurasidone 160 mg daily was superior to both placebo and quetiapine in terms of the neurocognitive composite at week 6 (p < 0.05), whereas there was no difference among lurasidone 80 mg daily, quetiapine XR 600 mg daily, and placebo. In the double-blind extension study, the lurasidone (40-160 mg daily) group showed significantly better cognitive performance than that in the quetiapine XR (200-800 mg daily) group at 6 months (p < 0.01) (64). Patients who received final doses of lurasidone 120 and 160 mg daily showed significantly greater improvement in the overall cognitive performance compared to that with quetiapine XR at 6 months, while 40 and 80 mg daily treatment showed a trend toward significance at 6 months (65). A 16-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial reported that adding ziprasidone to clozapine in patients with schizophrenia significantly improved semantic fluency (p < 0.01) (66). Another 18-week, randomized, double-blind trial that compared clozapine and ziprasidone showed improvement in the composite cognitive score from baseline in both groups, although the improvements were significantly greater in the ziprasidone-treated group (p < 0.05) (67). A prospective, 12-week, multicenter, noncomparative, open-label study of aripiprazole in schizophrenic patients showed a significant improvement in verbal cognition from week 4 in terms of the long-term free recall in the CVLT over the scheduled visits in the trial (p < 0.01) and a significant improvement in phonemic (letter) subtest of the verbal fluency test from baseline to week 12 (p < 0.05) (68).

BL-1020, a new GABA-enhanced antipsychotic compound, 20–30 mg daily demonstrated significantly greater improvements in cognitive functioning as measured by the BACS composite score when compared to those with placebo (p < 0.01), risperidone 2–8 mg daily (p < 0.05), and BL-1020 10 mg daily (p < 0.05) after 6 weeks in a 6-week, randomized, double-blind, controlled trial (69). These clinical trials support the importance of cognitive improvement in patients with schizophrenia as a new focus of antipsychotic treatment. To summarize the efficacy on cognition, RLAI may be more effective than haloperidol decanoate depot, PP may be more effective than RLAI, lurasidone may be more effective than quetiapine XR, ziprasidone may be more effective than clozapine, and BL-1020 seems to be more effective than placebo from current clinical trials.

We did not find any clinical trial on antipsychotics for improving cognition in patients with bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, or Parkinson's disease.

### DOPAMINE AGONISTS AND AGENTS FOR ENHANCING DOPAMINE ACTIVITY

Dopamine, a brain catecholamine originating from subcortical neurons, has been reported to supplement the activity of several neural circuitries belonging to both subcortical and neocortical structures (70). However, the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia suggests that dopamine agonist medication supposedly worsens the positive symptoms of schizophrenia (71). The D2-selective blockade by antipsychotics has provided strong support for the dopamine hypothesis. However, the roles of other dopamine receptors in schizophrenia remain unclear. D1 and D2 receptors have been reported to exert opposing actions on intracellular signaling molecules and often have different physiological effects (72). It is well known that the D1 receptors of the prefrontal cortex are involved in working memory (73). D3 receptors are predominantly found in the limbic regions that modulate memory, emotions, and motivation (74). The D3 receptors are presumed to be associated with cognitive functioning. In our search, we identified only few articles pertaining to the effect of dopamine agonists on cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia. In a randomized controlled trial, pramipexole, a dopamine D3 agonist, was added for up to 12 weeks to ongoing antipsychotic treatment (75). The trial found no differences in cognition between the pramipexole and the placebo groups (75). In another randomized controlled trial of DAR-0100A, a dopamine-1 receptor agonist, 3 weeks of intermittent treatment with 0.5 or 15 mg or placebo showed no significant treatment effects on working memory domains of the Measurement and Treatment Research

to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia (MATRICS) (76). Thus, there is a lack of evidence to support the efficacy of dopamine agonists or agents for cognitive enhancement in patients with schizophrenia.

Regarding bipolar disorder, we found only one clinical trial on a dopamine agonist that increases dopamine activity for cognition enhancement. An 8-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial involving 35 euthymic patients subgroup with bipolar disorder demonstrated a significant improvement by treatment with pramipexole, an agonist for the D2, D3, and D4 dopamine receptors, in terms of the WAIS Digits Backward (p < 0.05) and Stroop Color Word tests (p < 0.05) (77). Due to the small sample and the short duration in this study, the evidence of dopamine agonists for cognitive enhancement in patients with bipolar disorder is limited.

However, we did not find any study on dopamine agonists for cognitive enhancement in patients with dementia in our search. Dopamine agonists represent a valid therapeutic option in Parkinson's disease. However, the efficacy of dopamine agonists on cognitive function in Parkinson's disease has not been well studied. In a randomized crossover study, rotigotine, cabergoline, nor levodopa improved cognition in 40 patients with early, mild Parkinson's disease compared to that in the off-treatment group (78). An open-label study reported that cognitive improvements as assessed by the MoCA-Japanese version (MoCA-J) total score and the subscore of delayed recall were found with 4-7 months of dopaminergic medication (L-dopa, a dopamine agonist, selegiline) treatment among 27 drug-naive patients with Parkinson's disease (79). Thus, the effect of dopamine agonists on cognition in Parkinson's disease remains uncertain due to the limitation in study design (only one randomized crossover study and one open-label study) and the small sample size.

Due to the limited clinical trials on the medications of dopamine activity enhancement found in our search, further well-designed clinical trials on dopamine-related medications, especially D1 and D3 agonists, for cognitive enhancement are still needed.

#### NICOTINE AND ITS RECEPTOR MODULATORS

A large body of evidence derived from studies supports the notion that nicotine has cognitive-enhancing effects. Several clinical studies have investigated the effects of nicotine and relative medications on cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia. In a randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover design study, 28 schizophrenic and 32 healthy nonsmokers received transdermal nicotine (14 mg/24 h) or a placebo patch (80). It was observed that nicotine had beneficial effects on attention in both schizophrenic and healthy nonsmokers, with intermediate performance by ad libitum smoking (80). Nicotine was related to a greater improvement in the inhibition of impulsive responses in patients with schizophrenia 3 h after each patch application (80). Another double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover, 3-day pilot trial investigated the efficacy of intravenous nicotine on symptomatology and cognition in schizophrenic patients and reported no significant dose × time effects on the

Stroop Color-Word Test and continuous performance task (81). The efficacy of nicotine on cognition in patients with schizophrenia is still controversial based on both the aforementioned studies. Further well-designed, larger sample size, longer duration, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials are required to determine the efficacy of nicotine on cognition in patients with schizophrenia.

Varenicline, a partial agonist at the  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  receptor and also a full agonist at the  $\alpha$ 7 nicotine acetylcholine receptor, demonstrated significant improvement in several cognition domains related to verbal learning and memory, but not in domains related to attention or visuospatial learning or memory in a 6- to 9-week open-label study (82). However, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 8-week study reported that varenicline showed significant improvement in nonperseverative errors in the Digital Symbol Substitution Test (p < 0.05) and the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (p < 0.05) in subjects with schizophrenia (83). Varenicline was found to significantly reduce the Stroop Interference (p < 0.01) and the Continuous Performance Test hit reaction time (p < 0.01) compared to that with placebo among smokers but not among nonsmokers (83). In a phase 2, multicenter, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial involving patients with stable schizophrenia, AZD3480, another selective agonist of  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  and  $\alpha 2\beta 2$  nicotinic receptors, failed to improve cognition relative to placebo (84). These studies have thus reported the efficacy of varenicline on cognition improvement in patients with schizophrenia.

Encenicline is a novel selective  $\alpha$ 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist. In a phase 2, 12-week, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, parallel-design study, schizophrenic patients were randomized to receive either encenicline 0.27 or 0.9 mg or placebo daily (85). Patients who received 0.27 mg encenicline daily showed better Overall Cognition Index from the CogState computerized battery (p < 0.05) than that of patients who received placebo (85). Patients who received 0.9 mg encenicline daily showed greater improvement in Schizophrenia Cognition Rating Scale (p < 0.05) and in the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale cognition domain (p < 0.01) compared to those in patients who received placebo (85). Another 12-week, randomized exploratory trial of an α7 nicotinic receptor agonist (TC-5619) demonstrated that TC-5619 led to significant improvement in Groton Maze Learning Task (GMLT; executive function) of the CogState Schizophrenia Battery (p < 0.05) at week 4 in patients with schizophrenia, but not at weeks 8 and 12 (86). However, TC-5619 led to significant improvement in GMLT at weeks 4 and 12 in the tobacco-use subgroup as well (86). A yet another phase 2, 24-week, randomized, double-blind study on patients with schizophrenia demonstrated that TC-5619 did not support a benefit for cognitive impairment (87). RG3487, an α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist was reported to show no improvement in cognitive impairment in an 8-week, double-blind, randomized study on patients with schizophrenia (88). Thus, only encenicline demonstrated cognitive benefits in patients with schizophrenia patients in these clinical trials on a7 nicotinic receptor agonists.

We did not identify any clinical study evaluating the efficacy of nicotine and relative medications on cognition in patients with bipolar disorder in our search; however, we found two studies evaluating the effect of nicotine or relative medication in patients with Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. One was a phase 2, 12-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled study that reported that neither AZD3480 nor donepezil was significantly superior to placebo in terms of ADAS-Cog in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease (89). The other was a double-blind, placebocontrolled, crossover design study in which acute transdermal nicotine patches (7 mg for 24 h) were found to improve impaired controlled semantic processing (p < 0.001) in patients with Parkinson's disease (90). Nevertheless, due to the small sample size and the short duration of these trials, further well-designed trials with a larger sample size and a longer duration are needed to determine the efficacy of nicotine on cognition in patients with Parkinson's disease.

## *N*-METHYL-D-ASPARTATE RECEPTOR ENHANCERS

*N*-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors play an important role in learning and memory *via* neural plasticity, including long-term depression and potentiation. We identified five clinical studies evaluating the cognitive efficacy of NMDAR enhancers, including D-cycloserine, D-serine, sodium benzoate, sildenafil, and L-carnosine, in patients with schizophrenia in our search.

A 16-week, randomized, double-blind, double-dummy, parallel trial of adjuvant D-cycloserine, glycine, or placebo reported that glycine or D-cycloserine was not better than placebo in terms of cognitive performance (91). In another randomized, doubleblind, parallel-group, 8-week trial, add-on D-cycloserine 50 mg administered once-weekly showed no improvement in cognitive performance compared to that with placebo (92). In a 4-week, open-label study, there was no obvious change in MATRICS for a D-serine dose of 30 mg/kg; however, improvement with a large effect size in MATRICS was observed for D-serine 60 mg/kg (p < 0.01) or more, suggesting a dose-dependent effect (93). D-Serine doses of 60 mg/kg or more led to a significant change across all domains, except working memory (93).

D-Amino acid oxidase (DAAO), a flavoenzyme of peroxisomes, can metabolize D-serine and D-alanine and exists in the central nervous system. Sodium benzoate, a DAAO inhibitor, enhances NMDAR function by inhibiting DAAO activity and increases the levels of D-amino acids. In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 6-week study of 1 g daily sodium benzoate or placebo as an adjunctive to antipsychotics in patients with stabilized chronic schizophrenia, the benzoate group showed better performance than the placebo group in terms of processing speed (p < 0.05) and visual learning and memory (p < 0.05) (94).

Regarding sildenafil, a phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitor, Goff et al. (95) reported that it could increase the concentrations of cyclic guanosine monophosphate operated by NMDARs intracellularly, which has been presumed to be linked to memory consolidation and long-term potentiation. They administered a single oral dosage of sildenafil 50 or 100 mg or placebo in a randomized manner during a 48-h interval between prescriptions to 17 adult outpatients with schizophrenia who were under stable antipsychotic treatment; however, neither dosage of sildenafil showed any significant impact on cognitive performance compared to that with placebo.

L-Carnosine, an antioxidant and antiglycation agent, has been shown to exert protective effects on cultured neurons against the deprivation of oxygen and glucose and NMDArelated neurotoxicity. Furthermore, studies have reported that it can reduce glutamate excitotoxicity effect in wild-type and histidine-decarboxylase-knockout mice (96, 97). In a 3-month, double-blind study, 75 symptomatically stable patients with chronic schizophrenia were assigned to receive either adjuvant L-carnosine 2 g daily or placebo randomly (98). Patients who received L-carnosine showed better performance in nonreversal set-shifting test than that of patients who received placebo; however, there was no significant difference in reversal reaction times and errors between the two groups (98). In addition, patients who received L-carnosine displayed better strategic efficiency (p < 0.05) with less perseverative errors (p < 0.05) than that of the control group (98).

Therefore, our search for NMDAR enhancers suggests that D-serine, sodium benzoate, and L-carnosine showed possible benefits on cognition in patients with schiozophrenia.

Regarding the enhancing effect of NMDARs on cognition in patients with Alzheimer's disease, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 24-week trial demonstrated that patients with early-phase Alzheimer's disease who received sodium benzoate exhibited a greater improvement in ADAS-cog (p = 0.0021, 16 weeks; p = 0.0116, 24 weeks; p = 0.0031, end point) and additional cognitive score (p = 0.007 at end point) compared to the improvement of those patients who received placebo (99).

We identified another clinical study that evaluated the efficacy of NMDAR enhancers on cognitive function in patients with Parkinson's disease. This 8-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial showed that sarcosine, an NMDAR coagonist, did not show significant improvement in Cognitive Abilities Screening Instrument and MMSE scores compared to placebo (100).

However, we did not find any clinical trial on the efficacies of NMDAR enhancers on cognitive function in patients with bipolar disorder in our search.

#### **ERYTHROPOIETIN (EPO)**

Erythropoietin regulates red blood cell production or erythropoiesis. EPO improves oxygen capacity in the blood by boosting red blood cell production. Several animal model and cell studies have demonstrated that EPO exhibits a neuroprotective effect through antioxidant, antiapoptotic, anti-inflammatory, neurotrophic, angiogenic, and synaptogenic activities (101–103). In our search, we identified four clinical trials that evaluated the effect of EPO treatment on cognitive functions.

In a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 12-week, phase II trial, patients with schizophrenia who received 40,000 IU recombinant human EPO for 3 months with a weekly short (15 min) intravenous infusion were found to experience a significant benefit compared to that of controls in cognitive test package, including Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status subtests (delayed memory, language-semantic fluency, attention) and Wisconsin Card Sorting Test-perseverative errors (p = 0.010) (104). A threephase exploratory study involving 10 patients with Parkinson's disease receiving recombinant human EPO treatment reported that all the patients showed a favorable and significant increase in the total Dementia Rating Scale score over their baseline status (p < 0.01), with the attention subtest also contributing to this change (105). Another study reported that recombinant human EPO administration significantly improved the attention/memory domain score of the Non-Motor Symptoms Scale for Parkinson's disease (p < 0.01) and the cognitive domain score of the 39-item Parkinson's Disease Questionnaire (p < 0.01) at 12 months in 26 patients with Parkinson's disease (106). In another double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, phase II trial on bipolar disorder, EPO was shown to improve processing speed for learning, attention (p < 0.05), executive functions (p < 0.05), recognition of happy faces (p < 0.05), and sustained attention (p < 0.05) (107). However, owing to the small sample size or the short duration of these trials, further well-designed trials with a larger sample size and a longer duration are warranted to determine the efficacy of EPO on cognition in these diseases.

#### SELECTIVE ESTROGEN RECEPTOR MODULATOR

Estrogen receptors are widely distributed over the brain, particularly in the amygdala and the hippocampus that are associated with memory and learning. Some studies investigating the effects of estrogen on postmenopausal women have provided evidence for the efficacy of sex hormones on cognition (108, 109). In our search, we identified four clinical studies that had evaluated the efficacy of raloxifene, a selective estrogen receptor modulator, in patients with schizophrenia. In a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, parallel-design, 12-week study involving postmenopausal women with schizophrenia, significant differences were found in the executive (phonemic fluency task, p < 0.05) and memory domains (learning curve, p < 0.05) in 16 patients receiving 60-mg daily raloxifene treatment (110). This study demonstrated improvement in some cognitive domains following raloxifene treatment compared to that with placebo in postmenopausal female patients with schizophrenia. However, the sample size of this study is too small to demonstrate generalizability of this result.

Another study identified in our search evaluated the efficacy of raloxifene in patients with Alzheimer's disease. In that randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 12-month pilot study among women with late-onset Alzheimer's disease, it was observed that patients who had received raloxifene (120 mg/day) and placebo showed no significant differences in terms of ADAScog change scores at 12 months (111). However, our search yielded no clinical study in the recent decade that had investigated the efficacy of selective estrogen receptor modulators on cognitive enhancement in patients with bipolar disorder and Parkinson's disease. Further clinical studies are required to determine the efficacy of raloxifene on cognitive enhancement in these female patients.

## **DEHYDROEPIANDROSTERONE (DHEA)**

Dehydroepiandrosterone, an important corticosteroid, is a precursor for not only androgenic but also estrogenic steroids. DHEA and its sulfated form (DHEAS) have been reported to modulate the functioning of neurons (112). We found one clinical trial that investigated the efficacy of DHEA on cognition in patients with schizophrenia. It was a 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study that demonstrated no improvement in cognitive performance (most notably memory) following treatment with DHEA (113). However, in our search, we did not find any clinical study in the recent decade that had evaluated the efficacy of DHEA on cognition in patients with bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, or Parkinson's disease.

### CONCLUSION

Schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease are devastating brain disorders that are associated with lifetime disability and dysfunction in society. Improvement in cognitive function is critical for patients with these disorders. The acetylcholinesterase inhibitors donepezil and rivastigmine might have beneficial effects on cognitive deficits in patients with Parkinson's disease. The effects of memantine on cognition in patients with schizophrenia and Parkinson's disease still remain undetermined. Newer antipsychotics, including paliperidone, lurasidone, aripiprazole, ziprasidone, and BL-1020, have shown possible cognitive benefits than other antipsychotics or placebo in patients with schizophrenia in some clinical trials. Varenicline showed efficacy in terms of cognition improvement in schizophrenic patients, whereas nicotine did not. The a7 nicotinic receptor agonist, such as encenicline, might have cognitive benefits in patients with schizophrenia. Dopamine agonists or agents for enhancing dopamine activity showed little effect on cognitive improvement in patients with bipolar disorder or Parkinson's disease. The NMDAR enhancers, including D-serine,

#### REFERENCES

- Green MF. Cognitive impairment and functional outcome in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2006) 67(Suppl 9):3–8; discussion 36–42. doi:10.4088/JCP.1006e12
- Wisdom NM, Mignogna J, Collins RL. Variability in Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-IV subtest performance across age. Arch Clin Neuropsychol (2012) 27(4):389–97. doi:10.1093/arclin/acs041
- 3. Humes LE, Floyd SS. Measures of working memory, sequence learning, and speech recognition in the elderly. *J Speech Lang Hear Res* (2005) 48(1):224–35. doi:10.1044/1092-4388(2005/016)
- Heaton R, Paulsen JS, McAdams LA, Kuck J, Zisook S, Braff D, et al. Neuropsychological deficits in schizophrenics. Relationship to age, chronicity, and dementia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1994) 51(6):469–76. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.1994.03950060033003
- Jablensky A. The 100-year epidemiology of schizophrenia. Schizophr Res (1997) 28(2-3):111–25. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(97)85354-6
- Heinrichs RW, Zakzanis KK. Neurocognitive deficit in schizophrenia: a quantitative review of the evidence. *Neuropsychology* (1998) 12(3):426–45. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.12.3.426
- 7. Keefe RS, Bilder RM, Harvey PD, Davis SM, Palmer BW, Gold JM, et al. Baseline neurocognitive deficits in the CATIE schizophrenia trial.

sodium benzoate, and L-carnosine showed cognitive benefits in patients with schizophrenia. NMDAR enhancers might also have cognitive benefits in patients with Alzheimer's disease or Parkinson's disease. EPO demonstrated little evidence of cognitive benefits among patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or Parkinson's disease. The selective estrogen receptor modulator raloxifene might have cognitive benefits in postmenopausal female patients with schizophrenia. Although few multiyear, prospective, clinical studies evaluating cognitive enhancement following treatment have been conducted, the results of several compounds for the diseases described in this review remain inconsistent. Therefore, additional long-term, well-designed, and large-scale trials are warranted to determine the effects of these medications on cognition improvement in patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, Alzheimer's disease, or Parkinson's disease.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

W-YH, H-YL, and C-HL involved in conception, literature review and interpretation, and manuscript writing. All authors reviewed the manuscript.

### **FUNDING**

This work was supported by Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan (MOST 106-2622-B-182A-001-CC2), Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taiwan (CMRPG8E1041), China Medical University Hospital, Taiwan (DMR-106-099), and Taiwan Ministry of Health and Welfare Clinical Trial and Research Center of Excellence (MOHW106-TDU-B-212-113004). The aforementioned institutes had no further role in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication.

Neuropsychopharmacology (2006) 31(9):2033-46. doi:10.1038/sj.npp. 1301072

- Savla GN, Vella L, Armstrong CC, Penn DL, Twamley EW. Deficits in domains of social cognition in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of the empirical evidence. *Schizophr Bull* (2013) 39(5):979–92. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbs080
- Bourne C, Aydemir O, Balanza-Martinez V, Bora E, Brissos S, Cavanagh JT, et al. Neuropsychological testing of cognitive impairment in euthymic bipolar disorder: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2013) 128(3):149–62. doi:10.1111/acps.12133
- Samame C, Martino DJ, Strejilevich SA. Social cognition in euthymic bipolar disorder: systematic review and meta-analytic approach. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2012) 125(4):266–80. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2011.01808.x
- Daban C, Martinez-Aran A, Torrent C, Tabares-Seisdedos R, Balanza-Martinez V, Salazar-Fraile J, et al. Specificity of cognitive deficits in bipolar disorder versus schizophrenia. A systematic review. *Psychother Psychosom* (2006) 75(2):72–84. doi:10.1159/000090891
- 12. Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. J Intern Med (2004) 256(3):183–94. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2004.01388.x
- Lyketsos CG, Lopez O, Jones B, Fitzpatrick AL, Breitner J, DeKosky S. Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia and mild cognitive impairment: results from the cardiovascular health study. *JAMA* (2002) 288(12):1475–83. doi:10.1001/jama.288.12.1475

- Lesh TA, Westphal AJ, Niendam TA, Yoon JH, Minzenberg MJ, Ragland JD, et al. Proactive and reactive cognitive control and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex dysfunction in first episode schizophrenia. *Neuroimage Clin* (2013) 2:590–9. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2013.04.010
- Zandbelt BB, van Buuren M, Kahn RS, Vink M. Reduced proactive inhibition in schizophrenia is related to corticostriatal dysfunction and poor working memory. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 70(12):1151–8. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2011.07.028
- Eich TS, Nee DE, Insel C, Malapani C, Smith EE. Neural correlates of impaired cognitive control over working memory in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 76(2):146–53. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.09.032
- Barch DM, Ceaser A. Cognition in schizophrenia: core psychological and neural mechanisms. *Trends Cogn Sci* (2012) 16(1):27–34. doi:10.1016/j. tics.2011.11.015
- Bauer IE, Pascoe MC, Wollenhaupt-Aguiar B, Kapczinski F, Soares JC. Inflammatory mediators of cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder. *J Psychiatr Res* (2014) 56:18–27. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.04.017
- Rowe CC, Ackerman U, Browne W, Mulligan R, Pike KL, O'Keefe G, et al. Imaging of amyloid beta in Alzheimer's disease with 18F-BAY94-9172, a novel PET tracer: proof of mechanism. *Lancet Neurol* (2008) 7(2):129–35. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70001-2
- 20. Selkoe DJ. Toward a comprehensive theory for Alzheimer's disease. Hypothesis: Alzheimer's disease is caused by the cerebral accumulation and cytotoxicity of amyloid beta-protein. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2000) 924:17–25. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb05554.x
- Shoghi-Jadid K, Small GW, Agdeppa ED, Kepe V, Ercoli LM, Siddarth P, et al. Localization of neurofibrillary tangles and beta-amyloid plaques in the brains of living patients with Alzheimer disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2002) 10(1):24–35. doi:10.1097/00019442-200201000-00004
- Crimins JL, Pooler A, Polydoro M, Luebke JI, Spires-Jones TL. The intersection of amyloid beta and tau in glutamatergic synaptic dysfunction and collapse in Alzheimer's disease. *Ageing Res Rev* (2013) 12(3):757–63. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2013.03.002
- Hu NW, Ondrejcak T, Rowan MJ. Glutamate receptors in preclinical research on Alzheimer's disease: update on recent advances. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* (2012) 100(4):855–62. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2011.04.013
- Caballol N, Marti MJ, Tolosa E. Cognitive dysfunction and dementia in Parkinson disease. *Mov Disord* (2007) 22(Suppl 17):S358–66. doi:10.1002/ mds.21677
- Svenningsson P, Westman E, Ballard C, Aarsland D. Cognitive impairment in patients with Parkinson's disease: diagnosis, biomarkers, and treatment. *Lancet Neurol* (2012) 11(8):697–707. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(12) 70152-7
- Rosler M, Anand R, Cicin-Sain A, Gauthier S, Agid Y, Dal-Bianco P, et al. Efficacy and safety of rivastigmine in patients with Alzheimer's disease: international randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* (1999) 318(7184):633–8. doi:10.1136/bmj.318.7184.633
- Wilcock GK, Lilienfeld S, Gaens E. Efficacy and safety of galantamine in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease: multicentre randomised controlled trial. Galantamine International-1 Study Group. *BMJ* (2000) 321(7274):1445–9. doi:10.1136/bmj.321.7274.1445
- Rogers SL, Friedhoff LT. The efficacy and safety of donepezil in patients with Alzheimer's disease: results of a US Multicentre, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. The Donepezil Study Group. *Dementia* (1996) 7(6):293–303.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration Aricept ODT (Donepezil HCI) Orally Disintegrating Tablets approval letter. (2004). Available from: https://www. accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/nda/2004/021720\_s000\_AriceptTOC. cfm
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration Razadyne (Galantamine Hydrobromide) ER (Formerly Reminyl) approval letter. (2004). Available from: https://www. accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/nda/2004/021615s000\_RazadyneTOC.cfm
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration Exelon Patch (rivastigmine transdermal system) approval letter. (2007). Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda. gov/drugsatfda\_docs/nda/2007/022083\_exelon\_toc.cfm
- 32. Lee SW, Lee JG, Lee BJ, Kim YH. A 12-week, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of galantamine adjunctive treatment to conventional antipsychotics for the cognitive impairments in chronic schizophrenia. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol* (2007) 22(2):63–8. doi:10.1097/YIC.0b013e3280117feb

- Buchanan RW, Conley RR, Dickinson D, Ball MP, Feldman S, Gold JM, et al. Galantamine for the treatment of cognitive impairments in people with schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165(1):82–9. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.2007.07050724
- 34. Dyer MA, Freudenreich O, Culhane MA, Pachas GN, Deckersbach T, Murphy E, et al. High-dose galantamine augmentation inferior to placebo on attention, inhibitory control and working memory performance in nonsmokers with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 102(1–3):88–95. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.12.491
- Sacco KA, Creeden C, Reutenauer EL, George TP. Effects of galantamine on cognitive deficits in smokers and non-smokers with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 103(1–3):326–7. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2008.05.004
- Lindenmayer JP, Khan A. Galantamine augmentation of long-acting injectable risperidone for cognitive impairments in chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 125(2–3):267–77. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2010.08.021
- Akhondzadeh S, Gerami M, Noroozian M, Karamghadiri N, Ghoreishi A, Abbasi SH, et al. A 12-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of donepezil adjunctive treatment to risperidone in chronic and stable schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 32(8):1810–5. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2008.08.001
- Lee BJ, Lee JG, Kim YH. A 12-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of donepezil as an adjunct to haloperidol for treating cognitive impairments in patients with chronic schizophrenia. *J Psychopharmacol* (2007) 21(4):421–7. doi:10.1177/0269881106070996
- Fagerlund B, Soholm B, Fink-Jensen A, Lublin H, Glenthoj BY. Effects of donepezil adjunctive treatment to ziprasidone on cognitive deficits in schizophrenia: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Clin Neuropharmacol* (2007) 30(1):3–12. doi:10.1097/01.WNF.0000240940.67241.F6
- Chung YC, Lee CR, Park TW, Yang KH, Kim KW. Effect of donepezil added to atypical antipsychotics on cognition in patients with schizophrenia: an open-label trial. World J Biol Psychiatry (2009) 10(2):156–62. doi:10.1080/15622970701432551
- Chouinard S, Stip E, Poulin J, Melun JP, Godbout R, Guillem F, et al. Rivastigmine treatment as an add-on to antipsychotics in patients with schizophrenia and cognitive deficits. *Curr Med Res Opin* (2007) 23(3):575–83. doi:10.1185/030079906X167372
- 42. Morozova MA, Beniashvili AG, Rupchev GE, Lepilkina TA, Starostin DS, Brusov OS. [Effects of the anticholinesterase drug neuromidin in patients with schizophrenia with marked neurocognitive deficits]. *Zh Nevrol Psikhiatr Im S S Korsakova* (2008) 108(11):28–35.
- Iosifescu DV, Moore CM, Deckersbach T, Tilley CA, Ostacher MJ, Sachs GS, et al. Galantamine-ER for cognitive dysfunction in bipolar disorder and correlation with hippocampal neuronal viability: a proof-of-concept study. CNS Neurosci Ther (2009) 15(4):309–19. doi:10.1111/j.1755-5949.2009. 00090.x
- 44. Gildengers AG, Butters MA, Chisholm D, Reynolds CF, Mulsant BH. A 12-week open-label pilot study of donepezil for cognitive functioning and instrumental activities of daily living in late-life bipolar disorder. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2008) 23(7):693–8. doi:10.1002/gps.1962
- 45. Ghaemi SN, Gilmer WS, Dunn RT, Hanlon RE, Kemp DE, Bauer AD, et al. A double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study of galantamine to improve cognitive dysfunction in minimally symptomatic bipolar disorder. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* (2009) 29(3):291–5. doi:10.1097/JCP.0b013e3181a497d7
- 46. Litvinenko IV, Odinak MM, Mogil'naya VI, Emelin AY. Efficacy and safety of galantamine (reminyl) for dementia in patients with Parkinson's disease (an open controlled trial). *Neurosci Behav Physiol* (2008) 38(9):937–45. doi:10.1007/s11055-008-9077-3
- Grace J, Amick MM, Friedman JH. A double-blind comparison of galantamine hydrobromide ER and placebo in Parkinson disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2009) 80(1):18–23. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2008.144048
- Mamikonyan E, Xie SX, Melvin E, Weintraub D. Rivastigmine for mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease: a placebo-controlled study. *Mov Disord* (2015) 30(7):912–8. doi:10.1002/mds.26236
- Li Z, Yu Z, Zhang J, Wang J, Sun C, Wang P, et al. Impact of rivastigmine on cognitive dysfunction and falling in Parkinson's disease patients. *Eur Neurol* (2015) 74(1–2):86–91. doi:10.1159/000438824
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration Namenda (Memantine HCI) approval letter. (2003). Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_ docs/nda/2003/21-487\_namenda.cfm

- Parsons CG, Stoffler A, Danysz W. Memantine: a NMDA receptor antagonist that improves memory by restoration of homeostasis in the glutamatergic system – too little activation is bad, too much is even worse. *Neuro pharmacology* (2007) 53(6):699–723. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2007.07.013
- Krivoy A, Weizman A, Laor L, Hellinger N, Zemishlany Z, Fischel T. Addition of memantine to antipsychotic treatment in schizophrenia inpatients with residual symptoms: a preliminary study. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2008) 18(2):117–21. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2007.07.008
- Lieberman JA, Papadakis K, Csernansky J, Litman R, Volavka J, Jia XD, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled study of memantine as adjunctive treatment in patients with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2009) 34(5):1322–9. doi:10.1038/npp.2008.200
- Lee JG, Lee SW, Lee BJ, Park SW, Kim GM, Kim YH. Adjunctive memantine therapy for cognitive impairment in chronic schizophrenia: a placebo-controlled pilot study. *Psychiatry Investig* (2012) 9(2):166–73. doi:10.4306/ pi.2012.9.2.166
- 55. de Lucena D, Fernandes BS, Berk M, Dodd S, Medeiros DW, Pedrini M, et al. Improvement of negative and positive symptoms in treatmentrefractory schizophrenia: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial with memantine as add-on therapy to clozapine. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2009) 70(10):1416–23. doi:10.4088/JCP.08m04935gry
- Veerman SR, Schulte PF, Smith JD, de Haan L. Memantine augmentation in clozapine-refractory schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover study. *Psychol Med* (2016) 46(9):1909–21. doi:10.1017/S0033291716000398
- 57. Veerman SR, Schulte PF, Deijen JB, de Haan L. Adjunctive memantine in clozapine-treated refractory schizophrenia: an open-label 1-year extension study. *Psychol Med* (2017) 47(2):363–75. doi:10.1017/S0033291716002476
- Mazinani R, Nejati S, Khodaei M. Effects of memantine added to risperidone on the symptoms of schizophrenia: a randomized double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Psychiatry Res* (2017) 247:291–5. doi:10.1016/j. psychres.2016.09.028
- Litvinenko IV, Odinak MM, Mogil'naya VI, Perstnev SV. Use of memantine (akatinol) for the correction of cognitive impairments in Parkinson's disease complicated by dementia. *Neurosci Behav Physiol* (2010) 40(2):149–55. doi:10.1007/s11055-009-9244-1
- Suzuki H, Gen K. The influence of switching from haloperidol decanoate depot to risperidone long-acting injection on the clinical symptoms and cognitive function in schizophrenia. *Hum Psychopharmacol* (2012) 27(5):470–5. doi:10.1002/hup.2249
- Takekita Y, Koshikawa Y, Fabbri C, Sakai S, Sunada N, Onohara A, et al. Cognitive function and risperidone long-acting injection vs. paliperidone palmitate in schizophrenia: a 6-month, open-label, randomized, pilot trial. *BMC Psychiatry* (2016) 16:172. doi:10.1186/s12888-016-0883-9
- 62. Suzuki H, Gen K, Inoue Y, Hibino H, Mikami A, Matsumoto H, et al. The influence of switching from risperidone to paliperidone on the extrapyramidal symptoms and cognitive function in elderly patients with schizophrenia: a preliminary open-label trial. *Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract* (2014) 18(1):58–62. doi:10.3109/13651501.2013.845218
- 63. Kim SW, Chung YC, Lee YH, Lee JH, Kim SY, Bae KY, et al. Paliperidone ER versus risperidone for neurocognitive function in patients with schizophrenia: a randomized, open-label, controlled trial. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol* (2012) 27(5):267–74. doi:10.1097/YIC.0b013e328356acad
- 64. Harvey PD, Siu CO, Hsu J, Cucchiaro J, Maruff P, Loebel A. Effect of lurasidone on neurocognitive performance in patients with schizophrenia: a short-term placebo- and active-controlled study followed by a 6-month double-blind extension. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2013) 23(11):1373–82. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2013.08.003
- Harvey PD, Siu CO, Ogasa M, Loebel A. Effect of lurasidone dose on cognition in patients with schizophrenia: post-hoc analysis of a long-term, double-blind continuation study. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 166(1-3):334–8. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2015.06.008
- Muscatello MR, Pandolfo G, Mico U, Lamberti Castronuovo E, Abenavoli E, Scimeca G, et al. Augmentation of clozapine with ziprasidone in refractory schizophrenia: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* (2014) 34(1):129–33. doi:10.1097/JCP.0000000000000022
- 67. Harvey PD, Sacchetti E, Galluzzo A, Romeo F, Gorini B, Bilder RM, et al. A randomized double-blind comparison of ziprasidone vs. clozapine for cognition in patients with schizophrenia selected for resistance or intolerance

to previous treatment. Schizophr Res (2008) 105(1-3):138-43. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2007.11.014

- Bervoets C, Morrens M, Vansteelandt K, Kok F, de Patoul A, Halkin V, et al. Effect of aripiprazole on verbal memory and fluency in schizophrenic patients: results from the ESCAPE study. CNS Drugs (2012) 26(11):975–82. doi:10.1007/s40263-012-0003-4
- Geffen Y, Keefe R, Rabinowitz J, Anand R, Davidson M. Bl-1020, a new gamma-aminobutyric acid-enhanced antipsychotic: results of 6-week, randomized, double-blind, controlled, efficacy and safety study. J Clin Psychiatry (2012) 73(9):e1168–74. doi:10.4088/JCP.12m07642
- Cole DM, Oei NY, Soeter RP, Both S, van Gerven JM, Rombouts SA, et al. Dopamine-dependent architecture of cortico-subcortical network connectivity. *Cereb Cortex* (2013) 23(7):1509–16. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhs136
- Crow TJ. Positive and negative schizophrenic symptoms and the role of dopamine. Br J Psychiatry (1980) 137:383–6.
- Pezze MA, Dalley JW, Robbins TW. Differential roles of dopamine D1 and D2 receptors in the nucleus accumbens in attentional performance on the five-choice serial reaction time task. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2007) 32(2):273–83. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301073
- Sawaguchi T, Goldman-Rakic PS. D1 dopamine receptors in prefrontal cortex: involvement in working memory. *Science* (1991) 251(4996):947–50. doi:10.1126/science.1825731
- Murray AM, Ryoo HL, Gurevich E, Joyce JN. Localization of dopamine D3 receptors to mesolimbic and D2 receptors to mesostriatal regions of human forebrain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) 91(23):11271–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.91.23.11271
- Kelleher JP, Centorrino F, Huxley NA, Bates JA, Drake JK, Egli S, et al. Pilot randomized, controlled trial of pramipexole to augment antipsychotic treatment. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2012) 22(6):415–8. doi:10.1016/j. euroneuro.2011.10.002
- 76. Girgis RR, Van Snellenberg JX, Glass A, Kegeles LS, Thompson JL, Wall M, et al. A proof-of-concept, randomized controlled trial of DAR-0100A, a dopamine-1 receptor agonist, for cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia. *J Psychopharmacol* (2016) 30(5):428–35. doi:10.1177/ 0269881116636120
- Burdick KE, Braga RJ, Nnadi CU, Shaya Y, Stearns WH, Malhotra AK. Placebo-controlled adjunctive trial of pramipexole in patients with bipolar disorder: targeting cognitive dysfunction. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2012) 73(1):103– 12. doi:10.4088/JCP.11m07299
- Brusa L, Pavino V, Massimetti MC, Bove R, Iani C, Stanzione P. The effect of dopamine agonists on cognitive functions in non-demented early-mild Parkinson's disease patients. *Funct Neurol* (2013) 28(1):13–7.
- 79. Murakami H, Momma Y, Nohara T, Mori Y, Futamura A, Sugita T, et al. Improvement in language function correlates with gait improvement in drug-naive Parkinson's disease patients taking dopaminergic medication. *J Parkinsons Dis* (2016) 6(1):209–17. doi:10.3233/JPD-150702
- Barr RS, Culhane MA, Jubelt LE, Mufti RS, Dyer MA, Weiss AP, et al. The effects of transdermal nicotine on cognition in nonsmokers with schizophrenia and nonpsychiatric controls. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2008) 33(3):480–90. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301423
- Boggs DL, Ranganathan M, Sewell RA, Madonick S, D'Souza DC. Pilot study of intravenous nicotine effects on cognitive performance in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 150(1):323–4. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.045
- Smith RC, Lindenmayer JP, Davis JM, Cornwell J, Noth K, Gupta S, et al. Cognitive and antismoking effects of varenicline in patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 110(1–3):149–55. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2009.02.001
- Shim JC, Jung DU, Jung SS, Seo YS, Cho DM, Lee JH, et al. Adjunctive varenicline treatment with antipsychotic medications for cognitive impairments in people with schizophrenia: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2012) 37(3):660–8. doi:10.1038/ npp.2011.238
- Velligan D, Brenner R, Sicuro F, Walling D, Riesenberg R, Sfera A, et al. Assessment of the effects of AZD3480 on cognitive function in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 134(1):59–64. doi:10.1016/j.schres. 2011.10.004
- 85. Keefe RS, Meltzer HA, Dgetluck N, Gawryl M, Koenig G, Moebius HJ, et al. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of encenicline, an alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist, as a treatment for

cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2015) 40(13):3053-60. doi:10.1038/npp.2015.176

- Lieberman JA, Dunbar G, Segreti AC, Girgis RR, Seoane F, Beaver JS, et al. A randomized exploratory trial of an alpha-7 nicotinic receptor agonist (TC-5619) for cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2013) 38(6):968–75. doi:10.1038/npp.2012.259
- Walling D, Marder SR, Kane J, Fleischhacker WW, Keefe RS, Hosford DA, et al. Phase 2 trial of an alpha-7 nicotinic receptor agonist (TC-5619) in negative and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(2):335–43. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv072
- Umbricht D, Keefe RS, Murray S, Lowe DA, Porter R, Garibaldi G, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled study investigating the nicotinic alpha7 agonist, RG3487, for cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2014) 39(7):1568–77. doi:10.1038/npp.2014.17
- Frolich L, Ashwood T, Nilsson J, Eckerwall G, Sirocco I. Effects of AZD3480 on cognition in patients with mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease: a phase IIb dose-finding study. J Alzheimers Dis (2011) 24(2):363–74. doi:10.3233/ JAD-2011-101554
- Holmes AD, Copland DA, Silburn PA, Chenery HJ. Acute nicotine enhances strategy-based semantic processing in Parkinson's disease. *Int J Neuropsycho*pharmacol (2011) 14(7):877–85. doi:10.1017/S1461145710001665
- Buchanan RW, Javitt DC, Marder SR, Schooler NR, Gold JM, McMahon RP, et al. The cognitive and negative symptoms in schizophrenia trial (CONSIST): the efficacy of glutamatergic agents for negative symptoms and cognitive impairments. *Am J Psychiatry* (2007) 164(10):1593–602. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.2007.06081358
- Goff DC, Cather C, Gottlieb JD, Evins AE, Walsh J, Raeke L, et al. Once-weekly D-cycloserine effects on negative symptoms and cognition in schizophrenia: an exploratory study. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 106(2–3):320–7. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2008.08.012
- Kantrowitz JT, Malhotra AK, Cornblatt B, Silipo G, Balla A, Suckow RF, et al. High dose D-serine in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 121(1–3):125–30. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2010.05.012
- Lane HY, Lin CH, Green MF, Hellemann G, Huang CC, Chen PW, et al. Add-on treatment of benzoate for schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70(12):1267–75. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry. 2013.2159
- Goff DC, Cather C, Freudenreich O, Henderson DC, Evins AE, Culhane MA, et al. A placebo-controlled study of sildenafil effects on cognition in schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2009) 202(1–3):411–7. doi:10.1007/ s00213-008-1278-5
- 96. Shen Y, Hu WW, Fan YY, Dai HB, Fu QL, Wei EQ, et al. Carnosine protects against NMDA-induced neurotoxicity in differentiated rat PC12 cells through carnosine-histidine-histamine pathway and H(1)/H(3) receptors. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2007) 73(5):709–17. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2006.11.007
- 97. Shen Y, He P, Fan YY, Zhang JX, Yan HJ, Hu WW, et al. Carnosine protects against permanent cerebral ischemia in histidine decarboxylase knockout mice by reducing glutamate excitotoxicity. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2010) 48(5):727–35. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.12.021
- Chengappa KN, Turkin SR, DeSanti S, Bowie CR, Brar JS, Schlicht PJ, et al. A preliminary, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of L-carnosine to improve cognition in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 142(1–3):145–52. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.001
- Lin CH, Chen PK, Chang YC, Chuo LJ, Chen YS, Tsai GE, et al. Benzoate, a D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor, for the treatment of early-phase Alzheimer disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75(9):678–85. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.08.010
- 100. Tsai CH, Huang HC, Liu BL, Li CI, Lu MK, Chen X, et al. Activation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor glycine site temporally ameliorates neuropsychiatric symptoms of Parkinson's disease with dementia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68(9):692–700. doi:10.1111/pcn.12175

- 101. Siren AL, Fratelli M, Brines M, Goemans C, Casagrande S, Lewczuk P, et al. Erythropoietin prevents neuronal apoptosis after cerebral ischemia and metabolic stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(7):4044–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.051606598
- 102. Sakanaka M, Wen TC, Matsuda S, Masuda S, Morishita E, Nagao M, et al. In vivo evidence that erythropoietin protects neurons from ischemic damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95(8):4635–40. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.8. 4635
- Siren AL, Ehrenreich H. Erythropoietin a novel concept for neuroprotection. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci (2001) 251(4):179–84. doi:10.1007/ s004060170038
- Ehrenreich H, Hinze-Selch D, Stawicki S, Aust C, Knolle-Veentjer S, Wilms S, et al. Improvement of cognitive functions in chronic schizophrenic patients by recombinant human erythropoietin. *Mol Psychiatry* (2007) 12(2):206–20. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001907
- 105. Pedroso I, Bringas ML, Aguiar A, Morales L, Alvarez M, Valdes PA, et al. Use of Cuban recombinant human erythropoietin in Parkinson's disease treatment. *MEDICC Rev* (2012) 14(1):11–7.
- 106. Jang W, Park J, Shin KJ, Kim JS, Kim JS, Youn J, et al. Safety and efficacy of recombinant human erythropoietin treatment of non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Sci* (2014) 337(1–2):47–54. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2013.11.015
- 107. Miskowiak KW, Ehrenreich H, Christensen EM, Kessing LV, Vinberg M. Recombinant human erythropoietin to target cognitive dysfunction in bipolar disorder: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. J Clin Psychiatry (2014) 75(12):1347–55. doi:10.4088/JCP.13m08839
- Kampen DL, Sherwin BB. Estrogen use and verbal memory in healthy postmenopausal women. Obstet Gynecol (1994) 83(6):979–83. doi:10.1097/ 00006250-199406000-00017
- Resnick SM, Metter EJ, Zonderman AB. Estrogen replacement therapy and longitudinal decline in visual memory. A possible protective effect? *Neurology* (1997) 49(6):1491–7. doi:10.1212/WNL.49.6.1491
- 110. Huerta-Ramos E, Iniesta R, Ochoa S, Cobo J, Miquel E, Roca M, et al. Effects of raloxifene on cognition in postmenopausal women with schizophrenia: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2014) 24(2):223–31. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2013.11.012
- 111. Henderson VW, Ala T, Sainani KL, Bernstein AL, Stephenson BS, Rosen AC, et al. Raloxifene for women with Alzheimer disease: a randomized controlled pilot trial. *Neurology* (2015) 85(22):1937–44. doi:10.1212/WNL. 000000000002171
- 112. Rupprecht R, di Michele F, Hermann B, Strohle A, Lancel M, Romeo E, et al. Neuroactive steroids: molecular mechanisms of action and implications for neuropsychopharmacology. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* (2001) 37(1–3):59–67. doi:10.1016/S0165-0173(01)00123-0
- 113. Strous RD, Stryjer R, Maayan R, Gal G, Viglin D, Katz E, et al. Analysis of clinical symptomatology, extrapyramidal symptoms and neurocognitive dysfunction following dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) administration in olanzapine treated schizophrenia patients: a randomized, double-blind placebo controlled trial. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2007) 32(2):96–105. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2006.11.002

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer TI and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Hsu, Lane and Lin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Effects of Continuing Oral Risperidone vs. Switching from Risperidone to Risperidone Long-Acting Injection on Cognitive Function in Stable Schizophrenia Patients: A Pilot Study

#### Hikaru Hori\*, Asuka Katsuki, Kiyokazu Atake and Reiji Yoshimura

Department of Psychiatry, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, Kitakyushu, Japan

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Yasuhiro Kaneda, Iwaki Clinic, Japan Young-Chul Chung, Chonbuk National University, South Korea Hiroyoshi Takeuchi, Keio University, Japan

> \***Correspondence:** Hikaru Hori hori-h@med.uoeh-u.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 December 2017 Accepted: 22 February 2018 Published: 08 March 2018

#### Citation:

Hori H, Katsuki A, Atake K and Yoshimura R (2018) Effects of Continuing Oral Risperidone vs. Switching from Risperidone to Risperidone Long-Acting Injection on Cognitive Function in Stable Schizophrenia Patients: A Pilot Study. Front. Psychiatry 9:74. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00074 **Objectives:** Risperidone is the first new generation antipsychotic drug to become available as a long-acting injection (LAI). The purpose of this study was to evaluate the effects of switching from oral risperidone to risperidone LAI (RLAI) on cognitive function in stable schizophrenia patients compared with the effects of continuing oral risperidone.

**Methods:** Sixteen stable patients who had received risperidone monotherapy for at least 3 months were enrolled (the RLAI group). Before and 24 weeks after switching to RLAI, the Japanese-language version of the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS-J) and the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) were administered. To exclude the possibility of learning effects on the BACS-J results, 14 patients with stable schizophrenia who continued oral risperidone treatment were also assessed (the RIS group).

**Results:** The two groups did not differ with respect to changes in the PANSS score, and no emergent side effects, including extrapyramidal symptoms, were observed. The BACS-J score for verbal memory exhibited greater improvement in the RLAI group than in the RIS group (p = 0.047).

**Conclusion:** The results of this preliminary study suggest that switching from oral risperidone to RLAI may improve verbal capability more than continuing with oral risperidone. However, these findings must be replicated in a larger, double-blind study.

Keywords: schizophrenia, risperidone, risperidone long-acting injection, cognitive function, clinical symptoms

## INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a chronic disease with an intermittent course and numerous relapses over time (1). Relapses of schizophrenia are known to adversely affect many biosocial factors (2), and antipsychotic treatment is pivotal for preventing relapse (3). In clinical settings, patients with schizophrenia adherence is often worse and difficult to prevent relapse (4), which greatly impacts the risk of relapse (5).

Abbreviations: BACS, brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia; JART, Japanese Adult Reading Test; LAI, long-acting injection; RLAI, risperidone long-acting injection; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale.

Risperidone is one of the most widely used atypical antipsychotic drugs for acute schizophrenia treatment. We always continue with maintenance phase treatment after acute phase treatment. However, most patients experience relapse because of low medication adherence, high stress levels, and problems with the use of alcohol and/or drugs. Treatments that are deliverable as long-acting injections (LAIs) are among the more useful therapies in clinical settings.

Recent trends in the treatment of schizophrenia include providing recovery-oriented care, which emphasizes the need to improve cognitive and social functioning such that each patient can achieve his or her treatment goals. Therefore, psychiatrists regard cognitive function as an important treatment target. Recent some meta-analysis shows there were no significant different between LAI antipsychotics and oral antipsychotics regarding efficacy, and safety in schizophrenia (6–9). However, same drug head-to head, but different formulation, studies evaluating the cognitive function of antipsychotics in schizophrenia are lacking.

In this study, we evaluated the effects of switching from oral risperidone to risperidone LAI (RLAI) on cognitive function in stable schizophrenia patients compared with the effects of continuing oral risperidone.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sixteen patients with schizophrenia who had received risperidone monotherapy for at least 3 months were included in this study (the RLAI group). All patients had been receiving oral or liquid risperidone treatment for at least 3 months. Patients with a concomitant medical state were eligible to participate in the study if their condition had been stable for at least 3 months and they had been receiving standard therapy for the concomitant condition(s) for at least 1 month. Patients were excluded if they had an untreated or unstable clinically significant medical condition, any clinically significant abnormalities upon laboratory examination or physical examination or if they had a thyroid function abnormality. Other reasons for exclusion included a history of seizures, recent drug or alcohol abuse, a principal psychiatric condition other than schizophrenia, and a suicide attempt during the current psychotic episode. To exclude the possibility of learning effects on the cognitive function, 14 patients with stable schizophrenia who took oral risperidone were also evaluated as continuing group (the RIS group).

#### Japanese-Language Version of the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS-J)

Trained psychiatrists assessed cognitive function using the BACS-J (10). The BACS-J, which has well-established reliability and validity, is designed to measure cognitive function in individuals with schizophrenia. Results were adjusted for the influence of age by utilizing age-matched cohorts of controls to calculate BACS-J *z*-scores for each patient with schizophrenia in the present study.

#### Procedure

Patients in the RIS group continued their treatment with the same dose of risperidone. This dose had been determined based on each patient's clinical status, with an upper limit of 12 mg/day. Patients in the RLAI group received an initial 25-mg injection with overlap with oral risperidone for at least 3 weeks. The maintenance target dose for RLAI was 25 mg every 2 weeks, with an allowable dose range of 25–50 mg every 2 weeks based on the clinician's judgment. After the crossover period, oral supplementation was permitted for acute exacerbations of positive symptoms, but long-term use (>4 weeks) of an ongoing combination of oral antipsychotic and RLAI was not permitted. Injections were given at a treatment room onsite and were typically administered by a nurse practitioner.

Assessments were completed before and 24 weeks after the initial injection by independent raters. Symptoms were assessed using the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS), and cognitive function was assessed using the BACS-J. Daily dose of risperidone were converted to approximate chlorpromazine equivalents (CPZeq) using published article (11). Written informed consent was obtained from all of the participants of this study. The Ethics Committee of the University of Occupational and Environmental Health approved the study protocols, which included standard procedures for clinical research involving vulnerable participants in Japan.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Only data from patients who completed all 24 weeks of the study were evaluated. The raw data collected at baseline and at the study end point were used for statistical analysis. To ensure group comparability, baseline clinical characteristics were tested using *t*-tests or Pearson's chi-square test, as appropriate. Repeatedmeasures analysis of covariance was performed for each cognitive and social variable, with the baseline data serving as the covariate. For the primary analyses, the between-subjects factor was the group (the RLAI and RIS groups), and the within-subjects factor was time (before and 24 weeks after the initial injection). The effects of group, time, and group-by-time (the interaction effect) were examined. All statistical tests were two-tailed, and a *p*-value less than 0.05 was regarded as indicative of significance.

### RESULTS

# Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

Thirty patients were allocated into the two groups at the start of the study. No patients dropped out of the study. Therefore, the final analyses included the 30 patients who completed the study. Demographic data for these patients are shown in **Table 1**. At baseline, the two groups did not differ significantly with respect to age, onset, sex, total PANSS score, total antipsychotic dose (in CPZeq) or education.

# Clinical Symptoms and Dosage of Risperidone

Changes in the PANSS score from baseline to the study endpoint did not differ between the two groups (**Table 2**).

At baseline, the RLAI and RIS group did not differ with respect to dose of risperidone. Paired *t*-tests demonstrated that after 24 weeks, dose of the risperidone was significantly decreased in the RLAI group.

#### **Cognitive Function**

At baseline, the RIS and RLAI groups did not differ with respect to any of the BACS *z*-scores. Paired *t*-tests demonstrated that after 24 weeks of treatment, the *z*-scores for verbal memory, motor function, verbal fluency, attention and processing speed and executive function were significantly improved in the RLAI group, and the *z*-scores for working memory, motor function, verbal fluency, and executive function were significantly improved in the RIS group.

In an analysis of changes in BACS *z*-score from baseline to the study endpoint, the verbal memory *z*-score showed greater improvement in the RLAI group than in the RIS group (p = 0.047). There were no significant between-group differences in changes in other scores, including the total score for each scale (**Table 2**).

#### DISCUSSION

The most clinically relevant finding obtained in this preliminary study is that patients who switch from oral risperidone

TABLE 1   Demographic	and clinical characteristics	s of the participants at
baseline.		

	RLAI group	RIS group	<i>p</i> -Value
Sex (M/F)	7/9	7/7	n.s.
Age (years)	31.5 ± 5.3	$27.8 \pm 7.6$	n.s.
Education (years)	12.9 ± 2.7	$13.6 \pm 2.5$	n.s.
Smoking	12/4	10/4	n.s.
Onset	$24.3 \pm 4.6$	$21.9 \pm 3.3$	n.s.
PANSS-P	$16.5 \pm 3.6$	17.4 ± 4.5	n.s.
PANSS-N	18.7 ± 2.0	18.1 ± 2.9	n.s.
PANSS-G	32.4 + 6.3	36.0 + 4.8	n.s.
PANSS-T	$67.8 \pm 7.8$	71.4 + 8.6	n.s.
DIEPSS	$0.3 \pm 0.9$	$1.2 \pm 1.8$	n.s.

PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; P, positive scale score; N, negative scale score; G, general psychopathology subscale score; T, total score; DIEPSS, druginduced extrapyramidal symptoms scale.

TABLE 2	Cognitive	function	changes	in the	RLAI	and RIS	groups.
---------	-----------	----------	---------	--------	------	---------	---------

to RLAI might demonstrate greater improvement in verbal memory than patients who continue oral risperidone treatment. Although the observed between-group differences in the effects on cognitive function were extremely small, our results might have implications for the treatment of schizophrenia. However, the precise mechanism underlying these results remains unknown. In this study, dose of the risperidone was significantly decreased in the RLAI group. Recently report indicate that negative association was found between verbal memory function and dose of risperidone in schizophrenia (12). Moreover, another study reported that dose reduction of risperidone dosage improve the cognitive function in schizophrenia (13). We speculate that these dose reduction might contribute to significant improvement in RLAI group. Furthermore, our findings may be explained by more stable concentrations of risperidone LAI than of oral risperidone or some oral RIS group participants were low adherence than RLAI group.

In the present study, there were no differences between the two groups with respect to changes in the total PANSS score. This result suggests that continuing oral risperidone and switching from oral risperidone to RLAI exhibit similar efficacy.

This study has several limitations. First, the small sample size increased the risk of false-negative findings. A lack of multiple testing correction may also have resulted in type I errors; however, given the pilot nature of the present study, the results obtained in this investigation should be regarded as preliminary. Therefore, replicate studies are needed, possibly with larger samples and a randomized, double-blind design. Second, this study's open-label design might have impacted the results, since the expectations of patients or raters might have affected the assessments. Third, we did not consider blood levels of risperidone at the times of cognitive assessments or other assessments. These blood levels may have affected the outcomes of evaluations (14), although drug level fluctuations are considerably smaller for LAIs than for orally administered antipsychotics (15).

In conclusion, this pilot study suggests that relative to continuing oral risperidone treatment, switching from oral risperidone to RLAI may produce greater improvements in verbal memory.

	RLAI group			RIS group			Time-group interaction	
	0 W	26 W	p-Value	0 W	26 W	p-Value	F	p-Value
Chlorpromazine-equivalent of risperidone dosage (mg/day) <sup>a</sup>	278.1 ± 122.3	234.6 ± 64.0	0.015	275.0 ± 152.9	285.7 ± 135.1	0.53	2.58	0.11
PANSS score	67.8 ± 7.8	66.7 ± 7.3	0.049	71.4 ± 8.6	$70.3 \pm 7.3$	0.15	0	0.68
Verbal memory	$-1.24 \pm 0.91$	$-0.68 \pm 0.72$	<0.01	-1.12 ± 1.11	$-1.10 \pm 0.61$	0.92	3.91	0.047
Working memory	$-0.98 \pm 0.73$	$-0.84 \pm 0.64$	0.21	$-1.02 \pm 0.69$	$-0.93 \pm 0.77$	0.49	0.13	0.72
Motor function	$-0.82 \pm 0.96$	$-0.69 \pm 0.85$	0.048	$-0.96 \pm 0.98$	$-0.70 \pm 0.75$	<0.01	0.42	0.52
Verbal fluency	$-1.02 \pm 0.73$	$-0.83 \pm 0.54$	0.048	-1.01 ± 1.32	$-0.72 \pm 0.88$	<0.01	0.56	0.46
Attention and processing speed	$-1.60 \pm 1.30$	-1.21 ± 0.93	< 0.01	-1.51 ± 1.13	$-1.34 \pm 1.00$	0.09	1.40	0.25
Executive function	$-1.41 \pm 2.00$	-0.97 ± 1.19	0.02	$-1.38 \pm 1.96$	$-0.89 \pm 0.95$	0.01	0.02	0.89
Composite score	$-1.18 \pm 0.62$	$-0.87 \pm 0.36$	<0.01	$-1.17 \pm 0.45$	$-0.95 \pm 0.32$	<0.01	0.88	0.36

<sup>a</sup>"Time x group" interaction effect on analysis of variance with BACS-J when compared with the RLAI group.

However, this finding must be replicated in a larger, double-blind, randomized controlled trial.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from all of the participants of this study. The Ethics Committee of the University of Occupational and Environmental Health approved the study protocols, which included standard procedures for clinical research involving vulnerable participants in Japan.

## REFERENCES

- Lieberman JA. Atypical antipsychotic drugs as a first-line treatment of schizophrenia: a rationale and hypothesis. *J Clin Psychiatry* (1996) 57(Suppl 11): 68–71.
- Andreasen NC, Liu D, Ziebell S, Vora A, Ho BC. Relapse duration, treatment intensity, and brain tissue loss in schizophrenia: a prospective longitudinal MRI study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2013) 170(6):609–15. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12050674
- Leucht S, Tardy M, Komossa K, Heres S, Kissling W, Salanti G, et al. Antipsychotic drugs versus placebo for relapse prevention in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* (2012) 379(9831):2063–71. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60239-6
- Mojtabai R, Lavelle J, Gibson PJ, Sohler NL, Craig TJ, Carlson GA, et al. Gaps in use of antipsychotics after discharge by first-admission patients with schizophrenia, 1989 to 1996. *Psychiatr Serv* (2002) 53(3):337–9. doi:10.1176/ appi.ps.53.3.337
- Weiden PJ, Kozma C, Grogg A, Locklear J. Partial compliance and risk of rehospitalization among California Medicaid patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Serv* (2004) 55(8):886–91. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.55.8.886
- Kishimoto T, Robenzadeh A, Leucht C, Leucht S, Watanabe K, Mimura M, et al. Long-acting injectable vs oral antipsychotics for relapse prevention in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40(1):192–213. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbs150
- Kishi T, Matsunaga S, Iwata N. Mortality risk associated with long-acting injectable antipsychotics: a systematic review and meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(6):1438–45. doi:10.1093/ schbul/sbw043
- Misawa F, Kishimoto T, Hagi K, Kane JM, Correll CU. Safety and tolerability of long-acting injectable versus oral antipsychotics: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies comparing the same antipsychotics. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 176(2–3):220–30. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.07.018
- Ostuzzi G, Bighelli I, So R, Furukawa TA, Barbui C. Does formulation matter? A systematic review and meta-analysis of oral versus long-acting antipsychotic studies. Schizophr Res (2017) 183:10–21. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.11.010

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HH designed the study, performed the cognitive battery, collected the clinical data, performed the statistical analyses, wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and managed the literature searches. RY developed the study protocol and wrote the final manuscript. AK and KA collected the clinical data. All of the authors took part in either drafting the article it critically for important intellectual content, and approved the final manuscript.

- 10. Kaneda Y, Sumiyoshi T, Keefe R, Ishimoto Y, Numata S, Ohmori T. Brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: validation of the Japanese version. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2007) 61(6):602–9. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01725.x
- Inada T, Inagaki A. Psychotropic dose equivalence in Japan. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci (2015) 69(8):440–7. doi:10.1111/pcn.12275
- Hori H, Yoshimura R, Katsuki A, Hayashi K, Ikenouchi-Sugita A, Umene-Nakano W, et al. The cognitive profile of aripiprazole differs from that of other atypical antipsychotics in schizophrenia patients. *J Psychiatr Res* (2012) 46(6):757–61. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.02.013
- Takeuchi H, Suzuki T, Remington G, Bies RR, Abe T, Graff-Guerrero A, et al. Effects of risperidone and olanzapine dose reduction on cognitive function in stable patients with schizophrenia: an open-label, randomized, controlled, pilot study. *Schizophr Bull* (2013) 39(5):993–8. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbt090
- Sakurai H, Bies RR, Stroup ST, Keefe RS, Rajji TK, Suzuki T, et al. Dopamine D2 receptor occupancy and cognition in schizophrenia: analysis of the CATIE data. *Schizophr Bull* (2013) 39(3):564–74. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbr189
- Mannaert E, Vermeulen A, Remmerie B, Bouhours P, Levron JC. Pharmacokinetic profile of long-acting injectable risperidone at steady-state: comparison with oral administration. *Encephale* (2005) 31(5 Pt 1):609–15. doi:10.1016/S0013-7006(05)82420-0

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** HH has received speaker's honoraria from Dainippon Sumitomo, Eli Lilly, Janssen, Otsuka, Meiji, and Pfizer. AK has received speaker's honoraria from Dainippon Sumitomo and Meiji. KA has received speaker's honoraria from Eli Lilly. RY has received speaker's honoraria from Eli Lilly, Janssen, Otsuka, Meiji, Mochida, Yoshitomi, and Pfizer.

Copyright © 2018 Hori, Katsuki, Atake and Yoshimura. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Potential and Challenges for the Clinical Use of D-Serine As a Cognitive Enhancer

#### Gerson D. Guercio1\* and Rogerio Panizzutti1,2\*

<sup>1</sup> Instituto de Ciencias Biomedicas, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, <sup>2</sup>Global Brain Health Institute, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

After 25 years of its discovery in the rat brain, p-serine is a recognized modulator of synaptic plasticity and cognitive processes through its actions on the NMDA-glutamate receptor. Importantly, cognitive impairment is a core feature of conditions, such as schizophrenia, Alzheimer's disease, depression, and aging, and is associated to disturbances in NMDA-glutamate receptors. The p-serine pathway has been associated with cognitive deficits and these conditions, and, for this reason, p-serine signaling is subject of intense research to probe its role in aiding diagnosis and therapy. Nevertheless, this has not resulted in new therapies being incorporated into clinical practice. Therefore, in this review we will address many questions that need to be solved by future studies, regarding p-serine pharmacokinetics, possible side effects, other strategies to modulate its levels, and combination with other therapies to increase its efficacy.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Chieh-Hsin Lin, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taiwan Hsien-Yuan Lane, China Medical University, Taiwan

#### \*Correspondence:

Gerson D. Guercio gerson.biomed@gmail.com; Rogerio Panizzutti rpanizzutti@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 27 November 2017 Accepted: 17 January 2018 Published: 05 February 2018

#### Citation:

Guercio GD and Panizzutti R (2018) Potential and Challenges for the Clinical Use of *p*-Serine As a Cognitive Enhancer. Front. Psychiatry 9:14. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00014 Keywords: cognitive enhancer, biomarker, sodium benzoate, D-amino acid oxidase, glycine

### INTRODUCTION

In a landmark study, Hashimoto and colleagues (1) discovered the presence of a substantial amount of D-serine in the rodent brain. In the following year, they reported that D-serine is present in high concentration in the human brain as well (2). Interestingly, it was later shown that D-serine is enriched in brain regions that contain a high concentration of the *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), such as the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, and retina (3).

The source of D-amino acids in mammals used to be attributed to diet or intestinal bacteria (4), until Wolosker et al. (5) identified serine racemase (SR) as the endogenous source of D-serine through racemization of L-serine. SR was first described to be exclusively present in astrocytes (5–8), but subsequent work has shown that SR is also present in neurons. Kartvelishvily et al. (9) demonstrated robust SR staining in neurons of the rat forebrain, and synthesis of D-serine by primary neuronal cultures. Additionally, a study using *in situ* hybridization confirmed that SR mRNA is predominantly expressed in rat brain neurons (10). Confirming a predominant neuronal expression, another group found the presence of SR in glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons of the mouse forebrain, but not in astrocytes (11).

In a more recent study, Benneyworth and colleagues (12) observed a 60% reduction in SR expression when SR was knocked out specifically in glutamatergic neurons. On the other hand, the knockout in the astrocytes caused a  $\sim$ 10% decrease in SR expression, while the remaining SR

**Abbreviations:** AD, Alzheimer's disease; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; DAAO, D-amino acid oxidase; GlyT1, glycine uptake transporter 1; MDD, major depressive disorder; LTP, long-term potentiation; NMDAR, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor; SR, serine racemase.

(~30%) was ascribed to other types of neurons. Importantly, *in vivo* work with microdialysis showed that neurons release D-serine (13). Finally, D-serine and SR are localized to neurons but not astrocytes in mouse and human brains (14). D-serine degradation is achieved through D-amino acid oxidase (DAAO), a flavin-dependent oxidase, resulting in the production of hydrogen peroxide, hydroxypyruvate, and ammonia (15). DAAO is especially enriched in the hindbrain, but it can also be found in the cortex and hippocampus, and it is present in glial cells and neurons (15).

The overlap between D-serine and NMDAR localization in the brain spurred investigations into a possible functional relationship between them. The NMDAR act as a coincidencedetector, as it requires not only binding of agonists but also depolarization of the postsynaptic membrane, which suspends the receptor blockade by Mg<sup>2+</sup>. The NMDAR is a tetrameric ion channel that may be composed by many configurations of three subunits, GluN1, GluN2, and less commonly, GluN3 (16). To be activated, the NMDAR requires simultaneous binding of the agonist glutamate to the GluN2 subunit and co-agonist glycine to GluN1. This binding is crucial for NMDAR activation, but later findings showed that D-serine is more potent both at binding to the co-agonist site and stimulating the receptor (17). Moreover, depletion of D-serine diminishes NMDAR activity (18) and longterm potentiation (LTP), a form of synaptic plasticity associated to learning and memory (19), and the relevance of D-serine to synaptic plasticity has been demonstrated in different brain regions (7, 20, 21).

Given the contribution of D-serine to LTP, and the fact that LTP is considered a key mechanism underlying learning and memory (22), it was no surprise when studies confirmed the importance of D-serine to learning and memory processes. For example, genetic inactivation of SR (23) and an acute stress protocol that diminishes D-serine levels (24) results in cognitive deficits. Importantly, the finding that the glycine modulatory site was not saturated in vivo (25) prompted investigations on whether exogenous D-serine administration could act as a cognitive enhancer. Remarkably, D-serine given intraperitoneally to rats increases NMDAR activation in the hippocampus (26), improves social memory in rats (27) and recognition and working memory in mice (28). Several animal studies now have confirmed the potential of D-serine as a cognitive enhancer, as well as its therapeutic potential in preclinical models. Here, we will review the evidence for the usefulness of D-serine cognitive-enhancing properties in different brain disorders and in age-related cognitive decline, including potential side effects and strategies to increase its efficacy.

#### SCHIZOPHRENIA

Schizophrenia is a severe neuropsychiatric disorder characterized by positive symptoms (hallucinations and delusions) and negative symptoms (apathy and avolition). Less known is the fact that most patients with schizophrenia also present cognitive impairments (29). Importantly, the degree of cognitive impairment is the best predictor of the daily functioning of a patient (30–32). Interestingly, many neurotransmitter systems important for cognition were found to be altered in schizophrenia, such as the dopaminergic, glutamatergic, cholinergic, and serotoninergic. These neurotransmitter systems are the target of most of the compounds evaluated for cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia, though none has been approved for clinical use.

Accumulating evidence indicates that the glutamate NMDAR might be hypoactive in schizophrenia. Pioneering studies with healthy human volunteers showed that infusion of different types of NMDAR antagonists induces a schizophrenia-like phenotype (33, 34). In addition, the NMDAR antagonist phencyclidine causes positive symptoms and deteriorates cognition in medication-free patients with schizophrenia (35). Interestingly, Steiner et al. (36) found a higher prevalence of NMDAR antibodies in the serum of acutely ill patients with schizophrenia, and polymorphisms in NMDAR subunits have been associated with the disorder (37). Finally, a recent study showed reduced protein levels of NMDAR subunits in *postmortem* samples of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia (38).

As discussed before, D-serine is the most potent endogenous co-agonist of the NMDAR. Remarkably, genetic mice models that present diminished D-serine levels recapitulate many aspects of schizophrenia, including sensorimotor gating and memory deficits (23, 39), reduced expression of BDNF (40), and brain ventricular enlargement (41). Notably, lower D-serine levels were found in blood, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), and postmortem brain tissue of patients with schizophrenia (42-45). The decrease in D-serine levels in schizophrenia has been associated to increased levels of G72, a putative activator of DAAO (46-49). Accordingly, increased activity of DAAO has been found in postmortem samples of the cerebral cortex and the cerebellum in patients with schizophrenia (50, 51). Although negative findings have also been reported (52), a recent meta-analysis concluded that D-serine levels are reduced in the blood of patients with schizophrenia (53).

Considering that D-serine may be diminished in schizophrenia and its role in many brain processes affected in the disorder, several studies evaluated its efficacy as an add-on therapy to antipsychotic medication. Although generally safe, there are concerns about potential nephrotoxicity with D-serine (see Side Effects). Despite that, doses tested so far seem to converge to 30 and 60 mg/kg for historical reasons, as the first D-serine placebocontrolled trial for schizophrenia observed improvements in positive, negative, and cognitive symptoms with 30 mg/kg (54). However, while this dose has produced inconsistent results, 60 mg/kg or higher doses repeatedly resulted in therapeutic improvement, be it in chronic (55, 56) or prodromal patients (57). In fact, a recent meta-analysis showed that D-serine improved the positive and negative symptoms when added to antipsychotic drugs (53).

Another potential strategy to increase D-serine availability in the brain is reducing its degradation by DAAO. However, since DAAO is predominantly expressed in the midbrain, medulla, pons, and cerebellum and has relative low affinity for its substrates, some authors argue against a physiological role of DAAO in controlling D-serine availability in areas of the brain relevant for cognition and symptoms of schizophrenia (58). Yet several lines of evidence indicate that DAAO plays a role in controlling D-serine availability in the forebrain. Systemic administration of a DAAO inhibitor increased levels of D-serine in the rat cerebral cortex (59) and two different studies found increased levels of D-serine in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus of DAAO knockout mice (60, 61), although others studies did not replicate these findings (62, 63). Further evidence on a physiological role for DAAO in modulating cognition is provided by enhanced learning abilities of DAAO knockout mice (64, 65). Finally, in one clinical trial, the DAAO inhibitor sodium benzoate improved several symptoms and cognition in patients with chronic schizophrenia (66).

Other studies focused on glycine, the other endogenous NMDAR co-agonist. Initial studies with small samples found that very high doses of glycine (250 mg/kg or higher) reduced behavioral symptom severity in patients with schizophrenia (67, 68). Clinical use of glycine requires high doses because it does not readily cross the blood-brain barrier, which stimulated the study of drugs that could enhance extracellular glycine levels by inhibiting its reuptake. Accordingly, early studies with a small sample found that chronic treatment with sarcosine, an inhibitor of the glycine uptake transporter 1 (GlyT1), led to generalized improvements in symptoms of patients with schizophrenia (69, 70). Bitopertin is the first specific GlyT1 inhibitor, which showed potential in a Phase II trial (71), but a subsequent trial showed no significant improvements in primary outcomes (72). When interpreting the lack of effectiveness of the inhibition of GlyT in schizophrenia, it is important to highlight that electrophysiological data indicated that glycine, as opposed to D-serine, acts primarily at extra-synaptic NMDAR receptors, which are not required for LTP, and this might reduce the procognitive effect of enhancing glycine levels (73). We, therefore, believe that enhancement of D-serine levels poses a more suitable approach for development of new treatments for schizophrenia. In fact, a recent study compared the effect of chronic D-serine or bitopertin on mismatch negativity—an event-related potential to an odd stimulus in a sequence of similar stimuli-and on clinical symptoms. D-serine led to improvements on mismatch negativity, which correlated with changes in clinical symptoms. Bitopertin, on the other hand, did not change any of those measures (74).

An important question at this point is whether the improvements seen so far with the addition of D-serine will have real-life effects. This has not been generally investigated, but it would be a crucial finding to make the case for the use of D-serine in clinical practice. In contrast, increasing D-serine levels through DAAO inhibition with sodium benzoate was shown to improve quality of life and Clinical Global Impression (66). Interestingly, a recent study found that a combination of sodium benzoate and the GlyT1 inhibitor sarcosine improves cognition and global functioning of patients with schizophrenia, whereas sarcosine alone had no effect (75). However, because of the lack of a group of patients receiving sodium benzoate alone, we do not know whether there was a synergistic effect between the two compounds or the effects came from sodium benzoate only.

It is also important to consider which factors may or may not pair well with D-serine. For instance, there is evidence that D-serine is not effective when combined with clozapine compared to other antipsychotics (76), possibly because the mechanism of action of clozapine might include an increase in D-serine release (77). Indeed, clozapine treatment in patients with schizophrenia can increase plasma D-serine levels relative to L-serine (78). Conversely, it is reasonable to hypothesize that D-serine may lead to better outcomes when used in the subgroup of patients that have evidence of decreased D-serine signaling, a personalized approach not used so far.

D-Serine may also be useful in enhancing the effectiveness of other strategies to improve cognition in schizophrenia, such as cognitive or vocational training. To our knowledge, this has been tried only once, but the authors did not find any advantage of using D-serine along with 40 h of computerized cognitive training, as compared to training only (79). However, it is noteworthy that placebo produced pronounced effects, which may have obscured treatment-specific improvements, and the dose of 30 mg/kg D-serine used in the study has been previously shown to be ineffective to improve cognition in schizophrenia (55). Finally, the pharmacokinetics might play an important role, as D-serine has a short half-life of about 4 h (24, 55), and one can expect important fluctuations on blood levels after a single dose per day. Perhaps, it would be more advantageous to have an increase in D-serine concomitantly with the cognitive training. Animal studies could investigate this question specifically and provide valuable insight on how to increase D-serine effectiveness. An analogous approach has been tried with D-cycloserine, a partial NMDAR agonist. One study found that combined administration of D-cycloserine (once in a week) and a cognitive training (auditory discrimination training) led to better performance in the practiced training but failed to transfer its benefits to other untrained cognitive tasks (80). As the authors discuss, D-cycloserine has the disadvantage of being prone to cause tolerance, which may hinder its therapeutic effect in chronic treatments. However, this study is important because it shows that enhanced performance during training is not sufficient to enhance transfer of benefit to untrained cognitive tasks.

Furthermore, it is important to bear in mind that patients with schizophrenia generally live in an environment lacking sufficient cognitive stimulation, as they are typically unemployed and not pursuing education, partly because of untreated cognitive deficits. Merely stimulating the D-serine pathway to enhance neuroplasticity may be not enough to change maladaptive neural circuits formed throughout a patient's life. For this reason, we believe that in the case of schizophrenia, therapies aimed at increasing D-serine signaling might prove more useful when combined with therapies that expose patients to learning experiences, such as cognitive training, which may induce the formation of more adaptive neural circuits.

### AGE-RELATED COGNITIVE DECLINE

There has been a dramatic increase in the life expectancy of the world population in the last decades. Consequently, the rise of number of older adults is a global phenomenon that is becoming a challenge for public health. Aging is an important risk factor for many diseases, but even otherwise "healthy" older adults may present age-related cognitive decline (81). Aging is associated with declines in a number of cognitive domains, such as processing speed (82), memory (83), learning (84), working memory (85), executive function (86, 87). Importantly, declines have been found also in the primary processing of sensory input, such as visual processing (88), Gestalt detection (89), and speech processing (90). It is possible that declines in lower order processing of information (bottom-up) might contribute to declines in higher order processes (top-down), as degraded inputs may hamper the functioning of higher order circuits.

The age-related cognitive decline becomes important in older adults since it is associated with poorer quality of life, less independence (91), and higher incidence of falls (92, 93). Mobility is a crucial aspect of quality of life in older adults, and the cognitive decline can hamper the ability to drive, affecting social activities and independence, further contributing to depressive symptoms (94). As walking in our fast-paced and complex world requires attention, it is no surprise that cognitive deficits in older adults are associated to gait stability and falls (95). The association between cognition and different aspects of life makes it imperative to understand the underpinnings of the age-related cognitive decline and to develop new strategies for prevention.

In an effort to find molecular underpinnings associated to the age-related cognitive decline, studies in rodents revealed that aging is associated with reductions on the magnitude of LTP in the hippocampus, possibly because of alterations of NMDAR signaling (96). Several studies have revealed an age-related decline in the activation of NMDAR associated with a decrease in D-serine levels in the hippocampus (97, 98), possibly due to a decrease in SR expression (99). It is noteworthy that older LOU/C/Jall rats, which are resistant to age-related memory deficits (100), do not present a decrease in D-serine levels or SR expression with age (99). Finally, our group observed a negative association between plasma D-serine levels and age in healthy subjects (45). Putting together, these studies indicate that an age-related decrease in D-serine could contribute to the progression of the cognitive decline.

These findings raise the appealing possibility that increasing NMDAR activity might be of therapeutic value for the agerelated cognitive decline. Accordingly, D-serine administration has been shown to improve cognition in older rodents and to correct many, though not all, of age-related declines in synaptic plasticity (101). From a clinical perspective, it is important to highlight that in a recent double-blind placebo-controlled crossover study our group observed that an acute oral administration of 30 mg/kg of D-serine improved spatial learning and problem solving, but not working memory, visual attention or cognitive flexibility, in older adults (102). Future studies should investigate whether higher doses of D-serine have a higher efficacy, and, crucially, whether a chronic treatment is tolerable and results in real-life effects, such as improved quality of life and reduced number of falls.

### ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE (AD)

Alzheimer's disease is a chronic and progressive neurodegenerative disease that affects more than 6% of adults over 65 years of age worldwide (103), with an estimated global economic cost of \$818 billion in 2015 (104). The pathophysiology involves synaptotoxicity, accumulation of extracellular  $\beta$ -amyloid (A $\beta$ ) aggregates and intracellular neurofibrils, gliosis, loss of neurons, and brain atrophy (105). Synaptic loss is critically involved in AD pathophysiology, and evidence indicates a possible causal role for glutamatergic dysfunction.

Activation of NMDAR may have different effects depending on the cellular location of the receptor. While LTP depends on activation of synaptic NMDAR, excessive activation of the extra-synaptic or synaptic NMDAR leads to high intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels, which may cause cell death, a phenomenon termed excitotoxicity (73). For this reason, tight regulation of extracellular levels of glutamate is crucial. Astrocytes uptake glutamate from the extracellular space through different types of sodium-dependent excitatory amino acid transporters, and then glutamate is converted into glutamine by glutamine synthetase, transported back into the glutamatergic neuron, where it is hydrolyzed into glutamate by phosphate-activated glutaminase (106).

Evidence indicates that excessive NMDAR activation may contribute to AD pathology. Our group and others have shown that different forms of A $\beta$  aggregates increase glutamate release from neurons and astrocytes, which leads to synaptic loss *via* inhibition of synaptic NMDAR currents and stimulation of extrasynaptic NMDAR currents (107–109). As reviewed in Rudy et al. (110), there are a plethora of studies linking AD pathology and an excess of glutamatergic activity, and, in line with this, memantine is a noncompetitive NMDAR antagonist approved for the clinical treatment of moderate to advanced AD.

As a result, dysfunctional D-serine metabolism could be associated to the increased NMDAR activity in AD and perhaps be a target for drug development. In fact, one study found that  $SR^{-/-}$  mice, which showed marked decrease in D-serine levels, are protected from injection of A $\beta$  peptide, suggesting that D-serine could be a downstream element of A $\beta$  toxicity (111). On top of that, it was shown that A $\beta$  aggregates induce D-serine release, and D-serine levels are increased in animal models of AD (107, 112, 113). It could be the case that excess D-serine contributes to neuronal death in AD through excitotoxicity.

The question whether D-serine levels are altered in the brain in AD has been controversial. Studies in postmortem tissue found unaltered D-serine levels in different brain regions in AD, including the frontal, temporal, and parietal cortices (114–116). On the other hand, three different studies observed an increase in D-serine levels in the CSF of patients with AD, but the size of the differences between AD and controls varied greatly between studies (113, 117, 118).

It is tempting to speculate that the D-serine increase observed in the CSF of AD patients might be part of a protective mechanism to counter A $\beta$  signaling and prevent AD pathology. Importantly, D-serine has been shown to increase neurogenesis and survival of newborn neurons (119) and to regulate apoptosis in a biphasic way, being able to inhibit it during its early-phases or stimulate it on later phases (120). This implies that increasing D-serine levels in the early-phases of AD might be therapeutically useful [while the NMDAR antagonist memantine is not effective in this

early-phase of AD (121)]. The litmus test, then, is a clinical trial with patients with AD. Strikingly, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial showed that 6 weeks of daily treatment with the DAAO inhibitor sodium benzoate improved cognitive composite and Clinician Interview Based Impression of Change plus Caregiver Input scores in patients in early-phase of AD (114). On the other hand, the clinical benefit of DAAO inhibition in AD may be mediated by an antioxidant effect, since D-serine degradation by DAAO generates hydrogen peroxide, one of the reactive oxygen species. Interestingly, there is evidence of increased DAAO levels in the peripheral blood of patients with mild cognitive impairment or AD, and the peripheral DAAO levels are positively associated with the severity of cognitive impairment (115). Moreover, in an animal model of AD, sodium benzoate attenuated oxidative stress and protected memory and learning (116). It is important to note, though, that the therapeutic effect of sodium benzoate might arise not only from its antioxidant effects but also from its immunomodulatory effects (122). In any case, if those clinical findings are replicated, sodium benzoate might prove to be a breakthrough for the treatment of patients in early-phases of AD.

### DEPRESSION AND ANXIETY

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a multidimensional disorder characterized by at least one discrete depressive episode lasting at least 2 weeks and involving, among others, sleep disturbances, anhedonia, anxiety, feelings of worthlessness, and diminished ability to think and concentrate. In the US, MDD has a lifetime morbid risk of 29% (123), and its estimated annual cost is higher than US\$ 80 billion (124). Notably, MDD is the second leading contributor to global disease burden, expressed in disabilityadjusted years (125). Although cognitive impairment is a formal criterion item of a major depressive episode, its contribution to psychological suffering and functional outcome has been largely underappreciated. It is significant that the cognitive impairment persists after the resolution of an acute episode (126), and it is a predictor of functional outcome (127).

Animal models spurred the idea of an involvement of the NMDAR in the etiology of MDD, which gained momentum after the discovery that a single sub-anesthetic dose of ketamine elicits rapid and long-term antidepressant effects (128). Accordingly, preclinical and clinical work supports the idea of an overactivation of NMDAR in MDD (129), and different NMDAR antagonists show promise as potential antidepressants (130). However, a recent meta-analysis concluded that in adults with MDD ketamine has limited efficacy after 1 week of treatment, and the effects were even less pronounced after 2 weeks (131). Evidence was limited by risk for bias and the small number of participants and there were very limited data on issues like safety, tolerability, efficacy for cognition, quality of life, and costs to health-care services.

It is surprising that, in the same meta-analysis, the only other glutamate receptor modulators to show some efficacy in MDD was sarcosine, a glycine transporter inhibitor, that works by enhancing NMDAR activity (the opposite of ketamine) (131). Not only sarcosine, but also D-serine has shown antidepressant properties in both mice and humans (130, 132). In mice, acute D-serine administration has antidepressant and anxiolytic effect similar to ketamine (133), and chronic high levels of D-serine (through exogenous administration or overexpression of SR) reduced the proneness toward depression-related behavior (134). Accordingly, an acute single dose of D-serine improved mood in healthy human adults (135) and showed antidepressant-like effect in rats mediated by activation of AMPA-glutamate receptors and increased brain-derived neurotrophic factor, similar to that of ketamine (136). In addition, D-serine chronic administration can increase adult neurogenesis and survival of newborn neurons in mice (119) and regulate the functional synaptic integration of adult-born neurons (137), both processes that are associated to the therapeutic effect of antidepressants (138).

Consequently, despite our current incomplete understanding of the role of the NMDAR in MDD, data from rodents and humans warrants further research on the effect of D-serine administration in MDD patients. D-serine has a relatively safe profile, and its usefulness might be twofold, as it could improve both mood and cognition of the patients, hopefully giving them a better quality of life.

Interestingly, animal work has revealed that D-cycloserine can facilitate the extinction of fear memory, possibly because of the role of the NMDAR in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory (139). Building on this, many studies investigated whether D-cycloserine could facilitate the effectiveness of exposure-based therapy, which involves exposing the person to the feared context but in the absence of danger, so that relearning may occur (140). This effect was confirmed by a meta-analysis that showed that D-cycloserine can contribute to exposure-based therapy by increasing its efficiency, but the effects decrease over repeated sessions (141). More recently, D-cycloserine was shown to potentiate the effects of cognitive behavioral therapy in patients with anxiety disorders (142). Although results with D-cycloserine to promote the efficiency of behavior therapy are promising, this is a partial co-agonist of NMDAR with effects that diminish with the time. On the other hand, little is known about the effects of full co-agonists of NMDAR, such as D-serine or analogous agents, on the efficacy of behavior therapies in anxiety and depressive disorders.

## SIDE EFFECTS

Although the majority of people do not experience side effects with D-serine, there is a concern that D-serine might induce nephrotoxicity in humans, as is the case with rats (143). Evidence indicates that nephrotoxicity is due to D-serine metabolism by DAAO, as rats that lack the enzyme do not develop glycosuria nor polyuria after high doses of D-serine (144). Therefore, coadministration of a DAAO inhibitor with D-serine may be a strategy to not only increase oral bioavailability of D-serine but also to prevent nephrotoxicity (145). This synergism has been observed mice, as treatment with a DAAO inhibitor rendered a small dose of D-serine (30 mg/kg) effective to treat prepulse inhibition deficits caused by the NMDAR antagonist dizocilpine, as opposed to the same dose of D-serine alone (146). It is conceivable that a combination of D-serine and sodium benzoate in future clinical trials will allow the use of lower doses of both drugs while retaining a high efficacy.

Alternatively, because D-serine and sodium benzoate have different pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profiles, it is possible that each one of them might prove more effective and/or safe for different conditions. For instance, D-serine may be especially useful for depression because of its acute and chronic antidepressant effects, whereas sodium benzoate may be a safer approach in older adults with impaired renal function. In schizophrenia, a meta-analysis found that D-serine improves symptoms with small effect-sizes (d < 0.4), while one study found that higher doses of D-serine (60 mg/kg or higher) improve cognition with large effect-sizes (d > 1.0) (55). In contrast, in one study that warrants replication, twice daily administration of sodium benzoate (1 g/kg) improved cognition, symptoms and global functioning with large effect-sizes (all > 1.0) (66). Perhaps sodium benzoate had a higher efficacy because it not only inhibits DAAO but also modulates the immune system and has antioxidant properties, both of which may play a role in schizophrenia (147, 148). Future studies are needed to confirm the effectiveness of benzoate and its best doses for the treatment of schizophrenia.

#### REFERENCES

- Hashimoto A, Nishikawa T, Hayashi T, Fujii N, Harada K, Oka T, et al. The presence of free D-serine in rat brain. *FEBS Lett* (1992) 296:33–6. doi:10.1016/0014-5793(92)80397-Y
- Hashimoto A, Kumashiro S, Nishikawa T, Oka T, Takahashi K, Mito T, et al. Embryonic development and postnatal changes in free D-aspartate and D-serine in the human prefrontal cortex. *J Neurochem* (1993) 61:348–51. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.1993.tb03575.x
- Schell MJ, Brady RO Jr, Molliver ME, Snyder SH. D-serine as a neuromodulator: regional and developmental localizations in rat brain glia resemble NMDA receptors. J Neurosci (1997) 17:1604–15.
- 4. Corrigan JJ. D-amino acids in animals. *Science* (1969) 164:142–9. doi:10.1126/ science.164.3876.142
- Wolosker H, Blackshaw S, Snyder SH. Serine racemase: a glial enzyme synthesizing D-serine to regulate glutamate-N-methyl-D-aspartate neurotransmission. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96:13409–14. doi:10.1073/ pnas.96.23.13409
- Wolosker H, Sheth KN, Takahashi M, Mothet JP, Brady RO Jr, Ferris CD, et al. Purification of serine racemase: biosynthesis of the neuromodulator D-serine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1999) 96:721–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.2.721
- Panatier A, Theodosis DT, Mothet J-P, Touquet B, Pollegioni L, Poulain DA, et al. Glia-derived D-serine controls NMDA receptor activity and synaptic memory. *Cell* (2006) 125:775–84. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.051
- Henneberger C, Papouin T, Oliet SHR, Rusakov DA. Long-term potentiation depends on release of D-serine from astrocytes. *Nature* (2010) 463:232–6. doi:10.1038/nature08673
- Kartvelishvily E, Shleper M, Balan L, Dumin E, Wolosker H. Neuron-derived D-serine release provides a novel means to activate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J Biol Chem (2006) 281:14151–62. doi:10.1074/jbc.M512927200
- Yoshikawa M, Takayasu N, Hashimoto A, Sato Y, Tamaki R, Tsukamoto H, et al. The serine racemase mRNA is predominantly expressed in rat brain neurons. *Arch Histol Cytol* (2007) 70:127–34. doi:10.1679/aohc.70.127
- Miya K, Inoue R, Takata Y, Abe M, Natsume R, Sakimura K, et al. Serine racemase is predominantly localized in neurons in mouse brain. *J Comp Neurol* (2008) 510:641–54. doi:10.1002/cne.21822
- Benneyworth MA, Li Y, Basu AC, Bolshakov VY, Coyle JT. Cell selective conditional null mutations of serine racemase demonstrate a predominate localization in cortical glutamatergic neurons. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* (2012) 32:613–24. doi:10.1007/s10571-012-9808-4

#### **CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES**

Pharmacological modulation of the D-serine pathway presents promising therapeutic opportunities for treatment of a variety of conditions that have in common cognitive and emotional disturbances. Specifically, D-serine and sodium benzoate are cheap and relatively safe drugs that have been administered to people taking a variety of other drugs. We believe future studies must aim to identify predictors of response across different conditions, in order to maximize the therapeutic effect of these drugs.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GG and RP designed, wrote, and reviewed the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

GG is a recipient of a scholarship from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Cientifico e Tecnologico (CNPq). RP is an Atlantic Fellow of the Global Brain Health Institute. This work was supported by a grant from the Global Brain Health Institute and Alzheimer's Association (GBHI\_ALZ-18-544160) to RP.

- Rosenberg D, Kartvelishvily E, Shleper M, Klinker CMC, Bowser MT, Wolosker H. Neuronal release of D-serine: a physiological pathway controlling extracellular D-serine concentration. *FASEB J* (2010) 24:2951–61. doi:10.1096/ fj.09-147967
- Balu DT, Takagi S, Puhl MD, Benneyworth MA, Coyle JT. D-serine and serine racemase are localized to neurons in the adult mouse and human forebrain. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* (2014) 34:419–35. doi:10.1007/s10571-014-0027-z
- Sacchi S, Caldinelli L, Cappelletti P, Pollegioni L, Molla G. Structurefunction relationships in human D-amino acid oxidase. *Amino Acids* (2012) 43:1833–50. doi:10.1007/s00726-012-1345-4
- Tovar KR, Westbrook GL. Modulating synaptic NMDA receptors. Neuropharmacology (2017) 112:29–33. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.08.023
- Matsui T, Sekiguchi M, Hashimoto A, Tomita U, Nishikawa T, Wada K. Functional comparison of D-serine and glycine in rodents: the effect on cloned NMDA receptors and the extracellular concentration. *J Neurochem* (1995) 65:454–8. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.1995.65010454.x
- Mothet J-P, Parent AT, Wolosker H, Brady RO, Linden DJ, Ferris CD, et al. D-serine is an endogenous ligand for the glycine site of the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97:4926–31. doi:10.1073/ pnas.97.9.4926
- Yang Y, Ge W, Chen Y, Zhang Z, Shen W, Wu C, et al. Contribution of astrocytes to hippocampal long-term potentiation through release of D-serine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100:15194–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.2431073100
- Diniz LP, Almeida JC, Tortelli V, Vargas Lopes C, Setti-Perdigão P, Stipursky J, et al. Astrocyte-induced synaptogenesis is mediated by transforming growth factor β signaling through modulation of D-serine levels in cerebral cortex neurons. J Biol Chem (2012) 287:41432–45. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.380824
- Meunier CNJ, Dallérac G, Le Roux N, Sacchi S, Levasseur G, Amar M, et al. D-serine and glycine differentially control neurotransmission during visual cortex critical period. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0151233. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0151233
- 22. Kandel ER. The molecular biology of memory storage: a dialogue between genes and synapses. *Science* (2001) 294:1030–8. doi:10.1126/science.1067020
- Labrie V, Fukumura R, Rastogi A, Fick LJ, Wang W, Boutros PC, et al. Serine racemase is associated with schizophrenia susceptibility in humans and in a mouse model. *Hum Mol Genet* (2009) 18:3227–43. doi:10.1093/hmg/ ddp261
- Guercio GD, Bevictori L, Vargas-Lopes C, Madeira C, Oliveira A, Carvalho VF, et al. D-serine prevents cognitive deficits induced by acute stress. *Neuropharmacology* (2014) 86:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.06.021

- Bergeron R, Meyer TM, Coyle JT, Greene RW. Modulation of N-methyl-Daspartate receptor function by glycine transport. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95:15730–4. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.26.15730
- Panizzutti R, Rausch M, Zurbrügg S, Baumann D, Beckmann N, Rudin M. The pharmacological stimulation of NMDA receptors via co-agonist site: an fMRI study in the rat brain. *Neurosci Lett* (2005) 380:111–5. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2005.01.062
- Shimazaki T, Kaku A, Chaki S. D-serine and a glycine transporter-1 inhibitor enhance social memory in rats. *Psychopharmacology* (2010) 209:263–70. doi:10.1007/s00213-010-1794-y
- Bado P, Madeira C, Vargas-Lopes C, Moulin TC, Wasilewska-Sampaio AP, Maretti L, et al. Effects of low-dose D-serine on recognition and working memory in mice. *Psychopharmacology* (2011) 218:461–70. doi:10.1007/ s00213-011-2330-4
- Mesholam-Gately RI, Giuliano AJ, Goff KP, Faraone SV, Seidman LJ. Neurocognition in first-episode schizophrenia: a meta-analytic review. *Neuropsychology* (2009) 23:315–36. doi:10.1037/a0014708
- Nuechterlein KH, Subotnik KL, Green MF, Ventura J, Asarnow RF, Gitlin MJ, et al. Neurocognitive predictors of work outcome in recent-onset schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 37(Suppl 2):S33–40. doi:10.1093/ schbul/sbr084
- Kitchen H, Rofail D, Heron L, Sacco P. Cognitive impairment associated with schizophrenia: a review of the humanistic burden. *Adv Ther* (2012) 29:148–62. doi:10.1007/s12325-012-0001-4
- 32. Harvey PD, Howanitz E, Parrella M, White L, Davidson M, Mohs RC, et al. Symptoms, cognitive functioning, and adaptive skills in geriatric patients with lifelong schizophrenia: a comparison across treatment sites. *Am J Psychiatry* (1998) 155:1080–6. doi:10.1176/ajp.155.8.1080
- Luby ED, Cohen BD, Rosenbaum G, Gottlieb JS, Kelley R. Study of a new schizophrenomimetic drug – sernyl. AMA Arch Neurol Psychiatry (1959) 81:363–9. doi:10.1001/archneurpsyc.1959.02340150095011
- 34. Krystal JH, Karper LP, Seibyl JP, Freeman GK, Delaney R, Bremner JD, et al. Subanesthetic effects of the noncompetitive NMDA antagonist, ketamine, in humans. Psychotomimetic, perceptual, cognitive, and neuroendocrine responses. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1994) 51:199–214. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.1994.03950030035004
- Malhotra AK, Pinals DA, Adler CM, Elman I, Clifton A, Pickar D, et al. Ketamine-induced exacerbation of psychotic symptoms and cognitive impairment in neuroleptic-free schizophrenics. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (1997) 17:141–50. doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(97)00036-5
- 36. Steiner J, Walter M, Glanz W, Sarnyai Z, Bernstein H-G, Vielhaber S, et al. Increased prevalence of diverse N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor antibodies in patients with an initial diagnosis of schizophrenia: specific relevance of IgG NR1a antibodies for distinction from N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor encephalitis. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70:271–8. doi:10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.86
- Harrison PJ. Recent genetic findings in schizophrenia and their therapeutic relevance. J Psychopharmacol (2015) 29:85–96. doi:10.1177/ 0269881114553647
- Weickert CS, Fung SJ, Catts VS, Schofield PR, Allen KM, Moore LT, et al. Molecular evidence of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor hypofunction in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* (2013) 18:1185–92. doi:10.1038/ mp.2012.137
- Basu AC, Tsai GE, Ma C-L, Ehmsen JT, Mustafa AK, Han L, et al. Targeted disruption of serine racemase affects glutamatergic neurotransmission and behavior. *Mol Psychiatry* (2009) 14:719–27. doi:10.1038/ mp.2008.130
- Balu DT, Li Y, Puhl MD, Benneyworth MA, Basu AC, Takagi S, et al. Multiple risk pathways for schizophrenia converge in serine racemase knockout mice, a mouse model of NMDA receptor hypofunction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:E2400–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1304308110
- Puhl MD, Mintzopoulos D, Jensen JE, Gillis TE, Konopaske GT, Kaufman MJ, et al. In vivo magnetic resonance studies reveal neuroanatomical and neurochemical abnormalities in the serine racemase knockout mouse model of schizophrenia. *Neurobiol Dis* (2015) 73:269–74. doi:10.1016/j. nbd.2014.10.009
- 42. Hashimoto K, Fukushima T, Shimizu E, Komatsu N, Watanabe H, Shinoda N, et al. Decreased serum levels of D-serine in patients with schizophrenia: evidence in support of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor hypofunction

hypothesis of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2003) 60:572-6. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.60.6.572

- Hashimoto K, Engberg G, Shimizu E, Nordin C, Lindström LH, Iyo M. Reduced D-serine to total serine ratio in the cerebrospinal fluid of drug naive schizophrenic patients. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 29:767–9. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.04.023
- Bendikov I, Nadri C, Amar S, Panizzutti R, De Miranda J, Wolosker H, et al. A CSF and postmortem brain study of D-serine metabolic parameters in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 90:41–51. doi:10.1016/j.schres. 2006.10.010
- Calcia MA, Madeira C, Alheira FV, Silva TCS, Tannos FM, Vargas-Lopes C, et al. Plasma levels of D-serine in Brazilian individuals with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 142:83–7. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2012.09.014
- 46. Chumakov I, Blumenfeld M, Guerassimenko O, Cavarec L, Palicio M, Abderrahim H, et al. Genetic and physiological data implicating the new human gene G72 and the gene for D-amino acid oxidase in schizophrenia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99:13675–80. doi:10.1073/pnas.182412499
- Chang SL-Y, Hsieh C-H, Chen Y-J, Wang C-M, Shih C-S, Huang P-W, et al. The C-terminal region of G72 increases D-amino acid oxidase activity. *Int J Mol Sci* (2013) 15:29–43. doi:10.3390/ijms15010029
- Lin C-H, Chang H-T, Chen Y-J, Lin C-H, Huang C-H, Tun R, et al. Distinctively higher plasma G72 protein levels in patients with schizophrenia than in healthy individuals. *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19:636–7. doi:10.1038/ mp.2013.80
- Akyol ES, Albayrak Y, Aksoy N, Şahin B, Beyazyüz M, Kuloğlu M, et al. Increased serum G72 protein levels in patients with schizophrenia: a potential candidate biomarker. *Acta Neuropsychiatr* (2017) 29:80–6. doi:10.1017/neu.2016.34
- Madeira C, Freitas ME, Vargas-Lopes C, Wolosker H, Panizzutti R. Increased brain D-amino acid oxidase (DAAO) activity in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 101:76–83. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2008.02.002
- Burnet PWJ, Eastwood SL, Bristow GC, Godlewska BR, Sikka P, Walker M, et al. D-amino acid oxidase activity and expression are increased in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* (2008) 13:658–60. doi:10.1038/mp.2008.47
- 52. Fuchs SA, De Barse MMJ, Scheepers FE, Cahn W, Dorland L, de Sainvan der Velden MG, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid D-serine and glycine concentrations are unaltered and unaffected by olanzapine therapy in male schizophrenic patients. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2008) 18:333–8. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2007.12.002
- Cho S-E, Na K-S, Cho S-J, Kang SG. Low D-serine levels in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Lett* (2016) 634:42–51. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2016.10.006
- Tsai G, Yang P, Chung LC, Lange N, Coyle JT. D-serine added to antipsychotics for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (1998) 44:1081–9. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(98)00279-0
- Kantrowitz JT, Malhotra AK, Cornblatt B, Silipo G, Balla A, Suckow RF, et al. High dose D-serine in the treatment of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 121:125–30. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2010.05.012
- Kantrowitz JT, Epstein ML, Lee M, Lehrfeld N, Nolan KA, Shope C, et al. Improvement in mismatch negativity generation during D-serine treatment in schizophrenia: correlation with symptoms. *Schizophr Res* (2017) 191:70–9. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2017.02.027
- 57. Kantrowitz JT, Woods SW, Petkova E, Cornblatt B, Corcoran CM, Chen H, et al. D-serine for the treatment of negative symptoms in individuals at clinical high risk of schizophrenia: a pilot, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised parallel group mechanistic proof-of-concept trial. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2:403–12. doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00098-X
- Verrall L, Burnet PWJ, Betts JF, Harrison PJ. The neurobiology of D-amino acid oxidase and its involvement in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* (2010) 15:122–37. doi:10.1038/mp.2009.99
- Adage T, Trillat A-C, Quattropani A, Perrin D, Cavarec L, Shaw J, et al. In vitro and in vivo pharmacological profile of AS057278, a selective d-amino acid oxidase inhibitor with potential anti-psychotic properties. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2008) 18:200–14. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro. 2007.06.006
- Hashimoto A, Nishikawa T, Konno R, Niwa A, Yasumura Y, Oka T, et al. Free D-serine, D-aspartate and D-alanine in central nervous system and serum in mutant mice lacking D-amino acid oxidase. *Neurosci Lett* (1993) 152:33–6. doi:10.1016/0304-3940(93)90476-2

- Song Y, Feng Y, Lu X, Zhao S, Liu C-W, Liu Y-M. D-amino acids in rat brain measured by liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *Neurosci Lett* (2008) 445:53–7. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.08.058
- Morikawa A, Hamase K, Inoue T, Konno R, Niwa A, Zaitsu K. Determination of free D-aspartic acid, D-serine and D-alanine in the brain of mutant mice lacking D-amino acid oxidase activity. *J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl* (2001) 757:119–25. doi:10.1016/S0378-4347(01)00131-1
- 63. Wang L-Z, Zhu X-Z. Spatiotemporal relationships among D-serine, serine racemase, and D-amino acid oxidase during mouse postnatal development. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* (2003) 24:965–74.
- Maekawa M, Watanabe M, Yamaguchi S, Konno R, Hori Y. Spatial learning and long-term potentiation of mutant mice lacking D-amino-acid oxidase. *Neurosci Res* (2005) 53:34–8. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2005.05.008
- Labrie V, Duffy S, Wang W, Barger SW, Baker GB, Roder JC. Genetic inactivation of D-amino acid oxidase enhances extinction and reversal learning in mice. *Learn Mem* (2009) 16:28–37. doi:10.1101/lm.1112209
- Lane H-Y, Lin C-H, Green MF, Hellemann G, Huang C-C, Chen P-W, et al. Add-on treatment of benzoate for schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70:1267–75. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry. 2013.2159
- Rosse RB, Theut SK, Banay-Schwartz M, Leighton M, Scarcella E, Cohen CG, et al. Glycine adjuvant therapy to conventional neuroleptic treatment in schizophrenia: an open-label, pilot study. *Clin Neuropharmacol* (1989) 12:416–24. doi:10.1097/00002826-198910000-00006
- Heresco-Levy U, Javitt DC, Ermilov M, Mordel C, Silipo G, Lichtenstein M. Efficacy of high-dose glycine in the treatment of enduring negative symptoms of schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1999) 56:29–36. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.56.1.29
- Tsai G, Lane H-Y, Yang P, Chong M-Y, Lange N. Glycine transporter I inhibitor, N-methylglycine (sarcosine), added to antipsychotics for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 55:452–6. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2003.09.012
- Lane H-Y, Chang Y-C, Liu Y-C, Chiu C-C, Tsai GE. Sarcosine or D-serine add-on treatment for acute exacerbation of schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2005) 62:1196–204. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.11.1196
- Umbricht D, Alberati D, Martin-Facklam M, Borroni E, Youssef EA, Ostland M, et al. Effect of bitopertin, a glycine reuptake inhibitor, on negative symptoms of schizophrenia: a randomized, double-blind, proof-of-concept study. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2014) 71:637–46. doi:10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2014.163
- Bugarski-Kirola D, Blaettler T, Arango C, Fleischhacker WW, Garibaldi G, Wang A, et al. Bitopertin in negative symptoms of schizophrenia-results from the phase III FlashLyte and DayLyte studies. *Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 82:8–16. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.11.014
- Papouin T, Ladépêche L, Ruel J, Sacchi S, Labasque M, Hanini M, et al. Synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors are gated by different endogenous coagonists. *Cell* (2012) 150:633–46. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.029
- Kantrowitz JT, Nolan KA, Epstein ML, Lehrfeld N, Shope C, Petkova E, et al. Neurophysiological effects of bitopertin in schizophrenia. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* (2017) 37:447–51. doi:10.1097/JCP.000000000000722
- Lin C-Y, Liang S-Y, Chang Y-C, Ting S-Y, Kao C-L, Wu Y-H, et al. Adjunctive sarcosine plus benzoate improved cognitive function in chronic schizophrenia patients with constant clinical symptoms: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 18:357–68. doi:10.3109/15622975.2015.1117654
- Tsai GE, Yang P, Chung LC, Tsai IC, Tsai CW, Coyle JT. D-serine added to clozapine for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (1999) 156:1822–5.
- 77. Tanahashi S, Yamamura S, Nakagawa M, Motomura E, Okada M. Clozapine, but not haloperidol, enhances glial D-serine and L-glutamate release in rat frontal cortex and primary cultured astrocytes. *Br J Pharmacol* (2012) 165:1543–55. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01638.x
- Yamamori H, Hashimoto R, Fujita Y, Numata S, Yasuda Y, Fujimoto M, et al. Changes in plasma D-serine, L-serine, and glycine levels in treatment-resistant schizophrenia before and after clozapine treatment. *Neurosci Lett* (2014) 582:93–8. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2014.08.052

- 79. D'Souza DC, Radhakrishnan R, Perry E, Bhakta S, Singh NM, Yadav R, et al. Feasibility, safety, and efficacy of the combination of D-serine and computerized cognitive retraining in schizophrenia: an international collaborative pilot study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2013) 38:492–503. doi:10.1038/npp.2012.208
- Cain CK, McCue M, Bello I, Creedon T, Tang D-I, Laska E, et al. D-cycloserine augmentation of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 153:177–83. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2014.01.016
- Scafato E, Gandin C, Galluzzo L, Ghirini S, Cacciatore F, Capurso A, et al. Prevalence of aging-associated cognitive decline in an Italian elderly population: results from cross-sectional phase of Italian PRoject on Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease (IPREA). *Aging Clin Exp Res* (2010) 22:440–9. doi:10.1007/BF03337739
- Ebaid D, Crewther SG, MacCalman K, Brown A, Crewther DP. Cognitive processing speed across the lifespan: beyond the influence of motor speed. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2017) 9:62. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2017.00062
- Rönnlund M, Nyberg L, Bäckman L, Nilsson L-G. Stability, growth, and decline in adult life span development of declarative memory: cross-sectional and longitudinal data from a population-based study. *Psychol Aging* (2005) 20:3–18. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.20.1.3
- Davis HP, Klebe KJ, Guinther PM, Schroder KB, Cornwell RE, James LE. Subjective organization, verbal learning, and forgetting across the life span: from 5 to 89. *Exp Aging Res* (2013) 39:1–26. doi:10.1080/0361073X.2013.741956
- Salthouse TA, Mitchell DR, Skovronek E, Babcock RL. Effects of adult age and working memory on reasoning and spatial abilities. J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn (1989) 15:507–16. doi:10.1037/0278-7393.15.3.507
- Wecker NS, Kramer JH, Wisniewski A, Delis DC, Kaplan E. Age effects on executive ability. *Neuropsychology* (2000) 14:409–14. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.14.3.409
- Singh-Manoux A, Kivimaki M, Glymour MM, Elbaz A, Berr C, Ebmeier KP, et al. Timing of onset of cognitive decline: results from Whitehall II prospective cohort study. *BMJ* (2012) 344:d7622. doi:10.1136/bmj.d7622
- Sekuler AB, Bennett PJ, Mamelak M. Effects of aging on the useful field of view. *Exp Aging Res* (2000) 26:103–20. doi:10.1080/036107300243588
- Staudinger MR, Fink GR, Mackay CE, Lux S. Gestalt perception and the decline of global precedence in older subjects. *Cortex* (2011) 47:854–62. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2010.08.001
- Lee JY. Aging and speech understanding. J Audiol Otol (2015) 19:7–13. doi:10.7874/jao.2015.19.1.7
- Pan C-W, Wang X, Ma Q, Sun H-P, Xu Y, Wang P. Cognitive dysfunction and health-related quality of life among older Chinese. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:17301. doi:10.1038/srep17301
- Tinetti ME, Speechley M, Ginter SF. Risk factors for falls among elderly persons living in the community. N Engl J Med (1988) 319:1701–7. doi:10.1056/ NEJM198812293192604
- Liu-Ambrose TY, Ashe MC, Graf P, Beattie BL, Khan KM. Increased risk of falling in older community-dwelling women with mild cognitive impairment. *Phys Ther* (2008) 88:1482–91. doi:10.2522/ptj.20080117
- Karthaus M, Falkenstein M. Functional changes and driving performance in older drivers: assessment and interventions. *Geriatrics* (2016) 1:12. doi:10.3390/geriatrics1020012
- Lamoth CJ, van Deudekom FJ, van Campen JP, Appels BA, de Vries OJ, Pijnappels M. Gait stability and variability measures show effects of impaired cognition and dual tasking in frail people. *J Neuroeng Rehabil* (2011) 8:2. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-8-2
- Dieguez D Jr, Barea-Rodriguez EJ. Aging impairs the late phase of long-term potentiation at the medial perforant path-CA3 synapse in awake rats. *Synapse* (2004) 52:53–61. doi:10.1002/syn.20004
- Junjaud G, Rouaud E, Turpin F, Mothet J-P, Billard J-M. Age-related effects of the neuromodulator D-serine on neurotransmission and synaptic potentiation in the CA1 hippocampal area of the rat. *J Neurochem* (2006) 98:1159–66. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03944.x
- Potier B, Turpin FR, Sinet P-M, Rouaud E, Mothet J-P, Videau C, et al. Contribution of the d-serine-dependent pathway to the cellular mechanisms underlying cognitive aging. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2010) 2:1. doi:10.3389/ neuro.24.001.2010
- 99. Turpin FR, Potier B, Dulong JR, Sinet P-M, Alliot J, Oliet SHR, et al. Reduced serine racemase expression contributes to age-related deficits

in hippocampal cognitive function. *Neurobiol Aging* (2011) 32:1495–504. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.09.001

- 100. Kollen M, Stéphan A, Faivre-Bauman A, Loudes C, Sinet P-M, Alliot J, et al. Preserved memory capacities in aged Lou/C/Jall rats. *Neurobiol Aging* (2010) 31:129–42. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.03.010
- Billard J-M. D-serine in the aging hippocampus. J Pharm Biomed Anal (2015) 116:18–24. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2015.02.013
- Avellar M, Scoriels L, Madeira C, Vargas-Lopes C, Marques P, Dantas C, et al. The effect of D-serine administration on cognition and mood in older adults. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:11881–8. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.7691
- Qiu C, Kivipelto M, von Strauss E. Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease: occurrence, determinants, and strategies toward intervention. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* (2009) 11:111–28.
- 104. Wimo A, Guerchet M, Ali G-C, Wu Y-T, Prina AM, Winblad B, et al. The worldwide costs of dementia 2015 and comparisons with 2010. *Alzheimers Dement* (2017) 13:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2016.07.150
- 105. Danysz W, Parsons CG. Alzheimer's disease, β-amyloid, glutamate, NMDA receptors and memantine – searching for the connections. *Br J Pharmacol* (2012) 167:324–52. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.02057.x
- 106. Verkhratsky A, Nedergaard M, Hertz L. Why are astrocytes important? Neurochem Res (2015) 40:389–401. doi:10.1007/s11064-014-1403-2
- 107. Brito-Moreira J, Paula-Lima AC, Bomfim TR, Oliveira FB, Sepúlveda FJ, De Mello FG, et al. Aβ oligomers induce glutamate release from hippocampal neurons. *Curr Alzheimer Res* (2011) 8:552–62. doi:10.2174/ 156720511796391917
- 108. Talantova M, Sanz-Blasco S, Zhang X, Xia P, Akhtar MW, Okamoto S-I, et al. Aβ induces astrocytic glutamate release, extrasynaptic NMDA receptor activation, and synaptic loss. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:E2518–27. doi:10.1073/pnas.1306832110
- 109. Rush T, Buisson A. Reciprocal disruption of neuronal signaling and Aβ production mediated by extrasynaptic NMDA receptors: a downward spiral. *Cell Tissue Res* (2014) 356:279–86. doi:10.1007/s00441-013-1789-1
- Rudy CC, Hunsberger HC, Weitzner DS, Reed MN. The role of the tripartite glutamatergic synapse in the pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease. *Aging Dis* (2015) 6:131–48. doi:10.14336/AD.2014.0423
- 111. Inoue R, Hashimoto K, Harai T, Mori H. NMDA- and beta-amyloid1-42induced neurotoxicity is attenuated in serine racemase knock-out mice. *J Neurosci* (2008) 28:14486–91. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5034-08.2008
- 112. Wu S-Z, Bodles AM, Porter MM, Griffin WST, Basile AS, Barger SW. Induction of serine racemase expression and D-serine release from microglia by amyloid beta-peptide. *J Neuroinflammation* (2004) 1:2. doi:10.1186/ 1742-2094-1-2
- 113. Madeira C, Lourenco MV, Vargas-Lopes C, Suemoto CK, Brandão CO, Reis T, et al. D-serine levels in Alzheimer's disease: implications for novel biomarker development. *Transl Psychiatry* (2015) 5:e561. doi:10.1038/ tp.2015.52
- 114. Lin C-H, Chen P-K, Chang Y-C, Chuo L-J, Chen Y-S, Tsai GE, et al. Benzoate, a D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor, for the treatment of early-phase Alzheimer disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75:678–85. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.08.010
- Lin C-H, Yang H-T, Chiu C-C, Lane H-Y. Blood levels of D-amino acid oxidase vs. D-amino acids in reflecting cognitive aging. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:14849. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-13951-7
- 116. Modi KK, Roy A, Brahmachari S, Rangasamy SB, Pahan K. Cinnamon and its metabolite sodium benzoate attenuate the activation of p21rac and protect memory and learning in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0130398. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0130398
- 117. Fisher G, Lorenzo N, Abe H, Fujita E, Frey WH, Emory C, et al. Free D- and L-amino acids in ventricular cerebrospinal fluid from Alzheimer and normal subjects. *Amino Acids* (1998) 15:263–9. doi:10.1007/BF01318865
- 118. Biemans EALM, Verhoeven-Duif NM, Gerrits J, Claassen JAHR, Kuiperij HB, Verbeek MM. CSF D-serine concentrations are similar in Alzheimer's disease, other dementias, and elderly controls. *Neurobiol Aging* (2016) 42:213–6. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.03.017
- Sultan S, Gebara EG, Moullec K, Toni N. D-serine increases adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Front Neurosci (2013) 7:155. doi:10.3389/fnins.2013.00155
- 120. Esposito S, Pristerà A, Maresca G, Cavallaro S, Felsani A, Florenzano F, et al. Contribution of serine racemase/D-serine pathway to neuronal apoptosis. *Aging Cell* (2012) 11:588–98. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2012.00822.x

- 121. Schneider LS, Dagerman KS, Higgins JPT, McShane R. Lack of evidence for the efficacy of memantine in mild Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* (2011) 68:991–8. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2011.69
- 122. Piper J, Piper PW. Benzoate and sorbate salts: a systematic review of the potential hazards of these invaluable preservatives and the expanding spectrum of clinical uses for sodium benzoate. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf* (2017) 16:868–80. doi:10.1111/1541-4337.12284
- 123. Kessler RC, Petukhova M, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, Wittchen H-U. Twelve-month and lifetime prevalence and lifetime morbid risk of anxiety and mood disorders in the United States. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res* (2012) 21:169–84. doi:10.1002/mpr.1359
- 124. Greenberg PE, Kessler RC, Birnbaum HG, Leong SA, Lowe SW, Berglund PA, et al. The economic burden of depression in the United States: how did it change between 1990 and 2000? *J Clin Psychiatry* (2003) 64:1465–75. doi:10.4088/JCP.v64n1211
- 125. Vos T, Barber RM, Bell B, Bertozzi-Villa A, Biryukov S, Bolliger I, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet* (2015) 386:743–800. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60692-4
- Conradi HJ, Ormel J, de Jonge P. Presence of individual (residual) symptoms during depressive episodes and periods of remission: a 3-year prospective study. *Psychol Med* (2011) 41:1165–74. doi:10.1017/S0033291710001911
- 127. Buist-Bouwman MA, Ormel J, de Graaf R, de Jonge P, van Sonderen E, Alonso J, et al. ESEMeD/MHEDEA 2000 investigators. Mediators of the association between depression and role functioning. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2008) 118:451–8. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2008.01285.x
- Berman RM, Cappiello A, Anand A, Oren DA, Heninger GR, Charney DS, et al. Antidepressant effects of ketamine in depressed patients. *Biol Psychiatry* (2000) 47:351–4. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00230-9
- McCarthy DJ, Alexander R, Smith MA, Pathak S, Kanes S, Lee C-M, et al. Glutamate-based depression GBD. *Med Hypotheses* (2012) 78:675–81. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2012.02.009
- Chan SY, Matthews E, Burnet PWJ. ON or OFF? Modulating the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in major depression. *Front Mol Neurosci* (2016) 9:169. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2016.00169
- 131. Caddy C, Amit BH, McCloud TL, Rendell JM, Furukawa TA, McShane R, et al. Ketamine and other glutamate receptor modulators for depression in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2015):CD011612. doi:10.1002/14651858. CD011612.pub2
- 132. Huang C-C, Wei I-H, Huang C-L, Chen K-T, Tsai M-H, Tsai P, et al. Inhibition of glycine transporter-I as a novel mechanism for the treatment of depression. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74:734–41. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych. 2013.02.020
- 133. Malkesman O, Austin DR, Tragon T, Wang G, Rompala G, Hamidi AB, et al. Acute D-serine treatment produces antidepressant-like effects in rodents. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2012) 15:1135–48. doi:10.1017/ S1461145711001386
- Otte D-M, Barcena de Arellano ML, Bilkei-Gorzo A, Albayram O, Imbeault S, Jeung H, et al. Effects of chronic D-serine elevation on animal models of depression and anxiety-related behavior. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e67131. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0067131
- 135. Levin R, Dor-Abarbanel AE, Edelman S, Durrant AR, Hashimoto K, Javitt DC, et al. Behavioral and cognitive effects of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor co-agonist D-serine in healthy humans: initial findings. J Psychiatr Res (2015) 61:188–95. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.12.007
- 136. Wei I-H, Chen K-T, Tsai M-H, Wu C-H, Lane H-Y, Huang C-C. Acute amino acid D-serine administration, similar to ketamine, produces antidepressant-like effects through identical mechanisms. J Agric Food Chem (2017) 65:10792–803. doi:10.1021/acs.jafc.7b04217
- 137. Sultan S, Li L, Moss J, Petrelli F, Cassé F, Gebara E, et al. Synaptic integration of adult-born hippocampal neurons is locally controlled by astrocytes. *Neuron* (2015) 88:957–72. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.10.037
- 138. Santarelli L, Saxe M, Gross C, Surget A, Battaglia F, Dulawa S, et al. Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. *Science* (2003) 301:805–9. doi:10.1126/science.1083328
- Richardson R, Ledgerwood L, Cranney J. Facilitation of fear extinction by D-cycloserine: theoretical and clinical implications. *Learn Mem* (2004) 11:510–6. doi:10.1101/lm.78204

- 140. Difede J, Cukor J, Wyka K, Olden M, Hoffman H, Lee FS, et al. D-cycloserine augmentation of exposure therapy for post-traumatic stress disorder: a pilot randomized clinical trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2014) 39:1052–8. doi:10.1038/npp.2013.317
- 141. Norberg MM, Krystal JH, Tolin DF. A meta-analysis of D-cycloserine and the facilitation of fear extinction and exposure therapy. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 63:1118–26. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.01.012
- 142. Hofmann SG, Wu JQ, Boettcher H. D-cycloserine as an augmentation strategy for cognitive behavioral therapy of anxiety disorders. *Biol Mood Anxiety Disord* (2013) 3:11. doi:10.1186/2045-5380-3-11
- 143. Ganote CE, Peterson DR, Carone FA. The nature of D-serine induced nephrotoxicity. *Am J Pathol* (1974) 77:269–82.
- 144. Maekawa M, Okamura T, Kasai N, Hori Y, Summer KH, Konno R. D-aminoacid oxidase is involved in D-serine-induced nephrotoxicity. *Chem Res Toxicol* (2005) 18:1678–82. doi:10.1021/tx0500326
- 145. Williams RE, Lock EA. Sodium benzoate attenuates D-serine induced nephrotoxicity in the rat. *Toxicology* (2005) 207:35–48. doi:10.1016/j. tox.2004.08.008
- 146. Hashimoto K, Fujita Y, Horio M, Kunitachi S, Iyo M, Ferraris D, et al. Co-administration of a D-amino acid oxidase inhibitor potentiates the efficacy of D-serine in attenuating prepulse inhibition deficits after

administration of dizocilpine. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 65:1103-6. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2009.01.002

- 147. Khandaker GM, Cousins L, Deakin J, Lennox BR, Yolken R, Jones PB. Inflammation and immunity in schizophrenia: implications for pathophysiology and treatment. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2:258–70. doi:10.1016/ S2215-0366(14)00122-9
- Koga M, Serritella AV, Sawa A, Sedlak TW. Implications for reactive oxygen species in schizophrenia pathogenesis. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 176:52–71. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2015.06.022

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Guercio and Panizzutti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




# **Drugs Interfering with Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors and Their Effects on Place Navigation**

Jan Svoboda, Anna Popelikova and Ales Stuchlik\*

Institute of Physiology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czechia

Muscarinic acetylcholine receptors (mAChRs) have been found to regulate many diverse functions, ranging from motivation and feeding to spatial navigation, an important and widely studied type of cognitive behavior. Systemic administration of non-selective antagonists of mAChRs, such as scopolamine or atropine, have been found to have adverse effects on a vast majority of place navigation tasks. However, many of these results may be potentially confounded by disruptions of functions other than spatial learning and memory. Although studies with selective antimuscarinics point to mutually opposite effects of M1 and M2 receptors, their particular contribution to spatial cognition is still poorly understood, partly due to a lack of truly selective agents. Furthermore, constitutive knock-outs do not always support results from selective antagonists. For modeling impaired spatial cognition, the scopolamine-induced amnesia model still maintains some limited validity, but there is an apparent need for more targeted approaches such as local intracerebral administration of antagonists, as well as novel techniques such as optogenetics focused on cholinergic neurons and chemogenetics aimed at cells expressing metabotropic mAChRs.

Keywords: scopolamine, biperiden, acetylcholine, receptor, behavior, learning, memory, rodents

# INTRODUCTION

Acetylcholine (ACh) is one of the major neurotransmitters and modulators of the nervous system. Its receptors are abundantly expressed in a wide variety of tissues, from neuromuscular junctions and parasympathetic system to cortical regions involved in cognitive functions such as learning and memory (1). The cholinergic system has been shown to play an important role in processes such as circadian rhythmicity (2), addiction (3), motivation, pain, and reward (1), as well as cognitive flexibility (4), perceptual memory (5), spatial learning (6), and many more. It comes as no surprise that abnormalities in the function of the cholinergic system and its components underlie a multitude of pathologies, such as Parkinson's disease (7), Alzheimer's disease (AD) (8), schizophrenia, bipolar disorder (9, 10), and depression (11). For these reasons, the cholinergic system has been extensively studied in recent years; however, many mechanisms of its function still remain unclear.

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Istvan Hernadi, University of Pécs, Hungary Takashi Uehara, Kanazawa Medical University, Japan Otakar Raska, Charles University, Czechia

\*Correspondence:

Ales Stuchlik ales.stuchlik@fgu.cas.cz

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 30 May 2017 Accepted: 16 October 2017 Published: 09 November 2017

#### Citation:

Svoboda J, Popelikova A and Stuchlik A (2017) Drugs Interfering with Muscarinic Acetylcholine Receptors and Their Effects on Place Navigation. Front. Psychiatry 8:215. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00215

144

Abbreviations: ACh, acetylcholine; AChE, acetylcholine esterase; AChR, acetylcholine receptors; AD, Alzheimer's disease; Asn, asparagine; CNS, central nervous system; DMP, delayed matching to position; GPCRs, G-protein-coupled receptors; mAChR, muscarinic acetylcholine receptors; MDMA, 3,4-methylendioxy-metamphtamine; MWM, Morris water maze; nAChR, nicotinic acetylcholine receptors; QNB, quinuclidinyl benzilate.

# ACh SYSTEM IN THE BRAIN

There are two main types of ACh receptors, named historically after their naturally occurring alkaloid agonists: (1) nicotinic receptors (nAChRs), a family of ionotropic receptors which act as ligand-gated cation channels and (2) muscarinic Ach receptors (mAChRs), a metabotropic G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCRs) family whose activation may trigger various responses depending on the specific subtype and context of the signal (8). Nicotinic ACh receptors are named after nicotine, their prototypical agonist. Probably the most famous antagonist of the nAChRs is D-tubocurarine, a compound isolated from the curare poisons (12, 13). mAChRs are named after muscarine, a toxic alkaloid synthesized in the toadstool *Amanita muscaria*. Possibly the best known antagonist of the mAChRs is atropine, found in the deadly nightshade (*Atropa belladonna*) (14).

### **Nicotinic Receptors**

Despite being best known for their involvement in signal transduction at neuromuscular junctions, these receptors are also expressed throughout the central nervous system (CNS). As mentioned above, nicotinic ACh receptors are ionotropic, i.e., ligand-gated cation channels, whose activation by an agonist evokes a flux of K<sup>+</sup>, Ca<sup>2+</sup>, and Na<sup>+</sup> ions (however not all subtypes of nAChRs are permeable for Na<sup>+</sup>), which in turn triggers mechanisms of  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling (1). These receptors typically comprise five subunits: either a homomeric combination of  $\alpha$  subunits (for example  $\alpha$ 7) or a heterometric combination of  $\alpha$ (1–10),  $\beta(1-4)$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\varepsilon$  subunits. The specific combination of these subunits results in different pharmacological properties of the individual subtypes, such as ion selectivity and ligand affinity (14). The most common nAChR subtypes found in the brain are  $\alpha$ 7 and  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2 receptors. Located at both pre- and postsynaptic sites, they play a pivotal role in various processes, such as learning and cognition (15), decision-making (9), and regulation of the postnatal development of the visual cortex (16). Thus, nicotinic ACh receptors constituted of specific subunits appear to be suitable pharmacological target for cognitive enhancement.

# **Muscarinic Receptors**

Muscarinic receptors are abundantly expressed throughout the brain; however, they are also found in various other tissues in the body, such as the heart (17, 18), the bladder and pulmonary system (19), and the intestine (20). As mentioned above, mAChRs do not serve as cation channels like nicotinic receptors, but instead are coupled with G-proteins, which transmit signals into the cell by affecting the activity of certain enzymes (such as the adenylyl cyclase, phospholipase C, etc.) (14, 21).

Five subtypes of mAChRs have been described, M1–M5. They differ in their level of expression in various parts of the body and the signal cascades they trigger after binding an agonist. Located mostly postsynaptically, the M1, M3, and M5 receptors (sometimes referred to as "M1-like" receptors) activate phospholipase C *via*  $G_{q/11}$  protein, thus inducing a calcium influx into the cell. M2 and M4 on the other hand (the "M2-like" group), when activated lower the level of cyclic adenosine mono-phosphate in the cell by  $G_{0/i}$  protein-mediated

inhibition of adenylyl cyclase. They are found both pre- and postsynaptically (8, 21, 22).

The outputs of signaling through specific cholinergic receptor subtypes may vary tremendously depending on the subtype of the receptors and their pre- or postsynaptic localization. The specific tissue and the type of the cell that expresses the receptors is also of major importance, as well as the metabolic state of the neuron at the precise time of receiving the signal, i.e., a cell with high intracellular levels of calcium may react differently to a signal than one with low intracellular concentrations of calcium. To further complicate any predictions of outcomes of cholinergic signaling and behavioral analysis, many neurons corelease ACh and glutamate, or ACh and gamma-aminobutyric acid (4, 21).

One of the major characteristics of the molecular structure of mAChRs is the evolutionarily highly conserved orthosteric ACh binding site, with a key asparagine residue (Asn105). This results in great difficulty when developing direct agonists and antagonists selective for a specific receptor subtype, and nonselective agents such as scopolamine, an antiemetic drug, and 3-iodothyronamine are widely used in research on memory impairment (23–25). Researchers have rather focused on developing compounds acting as allosteric ant/agonists and positive allosteric modulators (8, 26).

### M1 mAChR

The M1 receptor is considered to be the most abundant subtype (50-60% of all mAChRs) of mAChRs in the brain. It plays an essential role in many cognitive functions such as learning and memory, and thus has become a target of research focusing on developing therapeutics for neurodegenerative diseases (8, 10, 27). For example, Ragozzino et al. (28) reported an enhancing effect of CDD-0102A, a partial M1 agonist, on working memory and strategy changing in rats. The compound improved the rats' performance in a spontaneous alteration task (designed to test working memory) and, under changed circumstances, their ability to deem a previously useful strategy irrelevant and to find and retain a new one. They demonstrated the involvement of M1 receptors in these processes, and further suggested the use of CDD-0102A as a potential therapeutic agent for disorders such as AD and schizophrenia, emphasizing its enhancing influence and the lack of observed adverse effects (28). The M1 receptor is also expressed in other tissues than the brain; for example it has been shown to participate in the regulation of non-quantal ACh release in neuromuscular junctions (29).

# ANTIMUSCARINIC DRUGS

Due to the diverse expression and functions of AChR in the brain, compounds affecting the cholinergic neurotransmission are employed in the treatment of a wide range of conditions and diseases. They are generally used for antiparkinsonian treatments, specifically targeting extrapyramidal symptoms such as rigidity, tremors, and bradykinesia. For example, it is generally accepted that an imbalance of cholinergic and dopaminergic transmission in the brain is one of the mechanisms underlying or accompanying schizophrenia, particularly in the negative symptoms and cognitive impairment. Anticholinergic drugs are often prescribed along with antipsychotics to alleviate their unwanted side effects. However, their usage has often been questioned as they themselves cause a range of side-effects, such as cognitive impairment, tardive dyskinesia, blurred vision, dry mouth, problems with urinary retention, psychosis, addiction, and many more (30–32). To give an example, Veselinović et al. (33) investigated the effect of the administration of anticholinergics on cognition in untreated patients with schizophrenia and healthy control subjects. Their results showed a marked impairment in both groups, which was however more pronounced in the schizophrenia patients, thus again casting doubt on the suitability of these drugs in the treatment of schizophrenia (33).

Interestingly, some antimuscarinic agents (namely scopolamine) also appear to possess antidepressant qualities, especially in treatment of those patients who are unresponsive to the standard therapy. Witkin et al. (11) reported that these antidepressant effects might be mediated specifically by the blockage of the M1 and M2 receptors (11).

The general consensus is that anticholinergics disrupt acquisition learning and long-term memory processing. As such, these compounds are often employed for inducing memory and cognitive impairments in laboratory animals in order to model pathological states observed in human diseases such as schizophrenia, AD and other dementias (5). Despite its popularity, such an approach has received a lot of criticism. For example, antimuscarinic agents provide only a limited predictive and face axes of validity, but low construct validity in AD research. Furthermore, it is sometimes very difficult to tease apart effects on memory and attention, or procedural deficits in general, that are separable from the cognitive deficits in many navigational tasks (34).

# **Mechanisms of Action**

As mentioned above, the ACh binding site is evolutionarily highly conserved across all five mAChR subtypes, which in turn complicates the search for subtype-selective ligands. However, there is an abundance of allosteric sites that facilitate receptor activity modulation and are specific for each receptor subtype. These have enabled the development of highly selective compounds (8).

Orthosteric subtype-selective agents are scarce, though some may be found; for example, a recent study reported a novel compound PCS1055 that exhibits high selectivity for the M4 receptor (35). Also, some ligands have been shown to bind at the orthosteric site as well as one of the allosteric sites, thus achieving relatively high selectivity for a specific mAChR subtype. An example may be seen in the work of Jakubík et al. (36), where the mechanism of action of the M2-selective antagonist methoctramine was put under scrutiny. The authors reported that methoctramine binds with high affinity to the orthosteric site and at the same time interacts with lower affinity with an allosteric site at the second and third extracellular loops. Interestingly, in the presence of another orthosteric-binding ligand (such as N-methyl-scopolamine), methoctramine may still bind to the allosteric site, thus preventing the other ligand from dissociating from the receptor. This antagonist occasionally binds the M3 receptor as well, but with a much lower affinity due to the lack of the allosteric site found on M2 (36). Also, the time that antagonists take to bind to the receptor has been shown to be of crucial importance for the efficacy of receptor blockage. For example, due to its relatively slow binding, tiotropium seems less effective at blocking the M3AChR (37).

As to the effects of antimuscarinic drugs on the organism, these naturally depend on the means and site of administration (which determines where the agent exerts its influence, such as the brain following an intracerebroventricular injection or the heart after a systemic application of a drug unable to cross the blood-brain barrier). Thus, as the M1 and M4 receptors are abundantly expressed in parts of the brain affected in neurode-generative diseases such as AD, it seems probable—and has been repeatedly reported—that stimulating cholinergic transmission *via* these receptors should enhance cognitive abilities, learning and memory, whereas blocking it would result in cognitive impairment (26).

# **Clinical Potential of Antimuscarinic Drugs**

In spite of the risk of various undesirable side-effects such as cognitive impairment, dry mouth, or even psychosis and addiction, if dosed with care, antimuscarinic drugs provide therapeutic effects in a number of conditions. For illustration, aclidinium and tiotropium are often prescribed in the treatment of chronic pulmonary disease, as well as asthma, overactive bladder, and irritable bowel syndrome (38–41).

Quite recently, scopolamine, a non-selective antagonist capable of crossing the blood-brain barrier, has been found to exhibit antidepressant properties (mediated probably by its binding to M1 and M2 receptors), even in patients unresponsive to standard therapy (11). This has proven beneficial not only to patients with major depressive disorder but also to those suffering from bipolar disorder (42). In addition, scopolamine is also used as an antiemetic, for example in treating postoperational nausea (23).

As mentioned previously, mAChR antagonists (e.g., biperiden, trihexyphenidyl) are also employed as prophylaxis and/or for the treatment of side-effects of antipsychotics prescribed in diseases such as schizophrenia. However, this method is currently on the decline due to the multitude of unwanted side-effects of the anticholinergic treatment (30, 33).

Biperiden, amongst other antimuscarinics, also acts as an antiparkinsonian agent and is thus sometimes prescribed to patients with Parkinson's disease, as well as other diseases manifesting with parkinsonian symptoms. However, even here the risks of addiction and detrimental side-effects still remain (43, 44).

Quite surprisingly, given the amount of criticism regarding the cognitive side-effects of muscarinic antagonists, a recent study investigating the properties of a new potential treatment for AD reported M1-antagonism for these agents. The tested drug candidate was developed using a newly proposed approach to treating multifactorial diseases such as AD, which aims to hit multiple therapeutic targets with a single drug comprising a series of compounds, in this case combining 7-methoxytacrine and memantine. As the results of other tests (such as successful prevention of  $\beta$ -amyloid fibrillization, AChE inhibition, etc.)

looked rather promising, the authors recommended the novel compound as a potential treatment, claiming that the observed M1-antagonism did not seem to exhibit noticeable effects (45). It is conceivable that muscarinic antagonism can act beneficially when it is a part of a broader spectrum of mechanisms of action.

# **Biperiden As a Prototype Drug**

Biperiden hydrochloride (or lactate) is an established M1-receptor selective antagonist. Approved for human usage and sold under the brand name of Akineton, it is prescribed for Parkinsonism (to improve motor abilities such as gait and tremor) and occasionally to suppress the side-effects of neuroleptics.

Apart from clinical practice, biperiden is also used in research as a cognitive impairer (46, 47). Biperiden has been shown to cross the blood-brain barrier without difficulties, thus enabling a simple administration of the drug, such as using intraperitoneal or subcutaneous injections (s.c.). The tissue distribution ( $V_d$ ) for biperiden has been reported to be relatively high: with a brain to plasma ratio of up to 7–12 (44). The uptake of the drug by the tissues is quite rapid, possibly also due to its substantial transport into lysosomes (48). This makes biperiden a useful candidate as a specific drug, contrarily to scopolamine or atropine.

# PLACE NAVIGATION

To increase their chances of survival, including successful foraging for food and other resources, as well as finding their nest or burrow, animals employ a variety of spatial navigation strategies. In principle, such strategies can be based on idiothesis or allothesis (or a combination of both). In the first case, an individual finds its way based on the information from vestibular receptors, muscle proprioceptors and tendon receptors complemented with efference copies of motor commands and/or optic and haptic flow, whereas in the second case, the spatial representation is established upon external cues (49). Three navigation strategies may be used to reach a goal:

- (1) *a praxis strategy*, when an animal follows a set of learned, usually stereotypic movements that lead to a known goal,
- (2) *a taxon strategy*, when the goal is clearly visible from a distance or marked by other cues,
- (3) *a spatial strategy or mapping*, when long-distance external cues become the spatial reference points, as the goal cannot be located otherwise (by sight or smell) (50–52).

To illustrate, a man waking up at night and finding his way to the bathroom in the dark employs a *praxis* strategy; he knows it takes approximately four steps to the door of the room and then he has to turn right in the hallway and walk five more steps. A *taxon* strategy is used for example by a man approaching a bank—a large conspicuous building bearing an easy-to-see "Bank" sign. Finally, the mapping strategy focuses on finding the correct configuration of distal external cues, such as a man searching for a buried treasure (after his unsuccessful trip to the bank): e.g., he has to stand at a place with the big pine tree to his left, the strangely shaped mountain on the horizon behind him, and the lake a short distance in front of him.

Spatial navigation is based on the so-called *place coding* (53). The key structure of the brain involved in these processes is generally thought to be the hippocampus (more specifically its dorsal part); however, other parts of the brain play important roles as well. The neuronal substrate consists of place cells, large hippocampal pyramidal neurons with characteristic complex spikes that fire only in a specific part (or parts) of a given environment [the so-called firing fields or place fields (54); for review see Ref. (55)]. Interestingly, their structural organization in the brain is not topological, i.e., it does not reflect the outside world. Groups of these cells constitute ensembles, which serve as representations of the environment (56). Apart from these, there are grid cells, located in the entorhinal cortex (57). The spatial pattern of their firing fields resembles a hexagonal grid. And the final type is represented by head direction cells, found in the Papez circuit, and whose activity is dependent on the inclination or direction of an individual's head (49, 53, 58-60). The specific roles and mechanisms of function of these cells are not yet fully understood. A recent study has proposed a model for spatial navigation based on cooperation between place cells and grid cells, in which place cells are responsible mainly for locating a goal, whereas grid cells are in charge of directing an individual toward that goal (60).

Other important aspects of effective spatial navigation are sets of spatial stimuli that yield so-called frames of reference. An individual often needs to distinguish and correctly assess conflicting information from several of these frames to solve a task. An example of a behavioral test specifically assessing this ability is active place avoidance (see Active Place Avoidance Tasks). The hippocampus has been shown to be the structure responsible for organizing this spatial information into representations correctly corresponding to the outside world (61–64). Behavioral tests based on spatial navigation are largely used by researchers in studying certain types of memory.

# ANTIMUSCARINIC AGENTS IN SPATIAL TASKS

### Morris Water Maze (MWM) Non-Specific Antagonists

Scopolamine is possibly one of the most frequently used antimuscarinic agents in the MWM. In spite of becoming something of a "gold standard" in research of cognitive impairment, its validity as a model has often been questioned because of its considerable side effects. As it lacks selectivity for any of the subtypes of mAChRs, apart from memory and cognition it also affects the sensorimotor functions of the treated subjects, thus sometimes compromising the results of the behavioral tests (65). However, Robinson et al. (66) reported impaired performance in the MWM in both rats and mice following scopolamine administration at a dose that exhibited no effect on visual acuity. This was studied in a variant of the MWM task specially adjusted to test for compromised visual perception, in which the animals were required to discriminate between two marginally differing cards in order to successfully find the hidden platform (66). A lack of effect on performance in a mainly vision-reliant task (the visible platform variant of the MWM) was also reported by Entlerova et al. (67) in their study focusing on a comparison of two commonly used rat strains (Wistar and Long-Evans) and their performance and sensitivity to anticholinergic blockade in the MWM and active place avoidance. Following scopolamine treatment, they found no marked differences in the MWM between the two strains, whereas in active place avoidance the Wistar rats exhibited significantly worse performance than the Long-Evans group, suggesting a higher sensitivity to scopolamine in the Wistar strain (67).

Furthermore, von Linstow Roloff et al. (68) set out to investigate whether the poor performance of scopolamine-treated rats in the MWM is in any part due to an effect on memory processes, or whether it is just the result of compromised sensorimotor abilities. In a series of experiments consisting of acquisition tasks combined with both spatial and non-spatial pretraining, as well as delayed-match-to-position (DMP) and a variant of the DMP with an on-demand platform [also called the Atlantis platform (69, 70)], they were able to show that although scopolamine undoubtedly causes side-effects leading to altered swimming speeds and higher levels of thigmotaxis, these can be eliminated by extensive spatial pretraining. In such a case however, scopolaminetreated animals still perform more poorly than controls, thus confirming that scopolamine does indeed affect spatial memory. In the Atlantis platform paradigm, the researchers were able to discriminate between the effects on procedural and spatial memory: scopolamine was found to impair the latter (68).

Navigating to a submerged platform requires a mapping strategy. As reviewed in Ref. (6), scopolamine disrupts forming a memory for platform location that is held constant across days (reference memory) or changes daily (working memory). When directly compared, working memory seems to be affected more than reference memory (71). Compromised navigation in the water maze can be explained in terms of the inaccurate positional information of place cells. Intraventricular or intrahippocampal infusions of scopolamine increase the firing of place cells outside of the usual place cell firing field of the neuron, leading to lesser place specificity (72, 73). Scopolamine seems to also affect other correlates of spatial memory. Its systemic administration flattens the typically robust positive correlation between running speed and theta frequency (74) and reduces spatial tuning of the grid cells (75). However, at least in the entorhinal cortex, scopolamine does not alter the tuning of head direction cells (75).

Water maze studies are able to provide some evidence regarding how scopolamine specifically affects particular stages of memory processing. There is general agreement on its effects on memory encoding [reviewed in Ref. (76)], while reports on consolidation or recall are mixed. Most studies report no or little effect on consolidation or recall (6, 77, 78) but a recent investigation demonstrated that systemic scopolamine administration in mice had a detrimental effect on the retrieval of platform location (79).

Scopolamine-induced cognitive impairment has also been shown to possess good validity as a translational model in

research. Laczó et al. (80) compared the effects of scopolamine administration (as well as its coadministration with donepezil, an AChE inhibitor) in rats and humans in the MWM and the Hidden Goal Task, an analog of the water maze fit for use in humans. The authors reported successful validation of the tasks and scopolamine, as no significant differences were found between the human volunteers and the animals. Donepezil was shown to exhibit some ameliorative effect; however, this was not clear in all cases (80).

Although mostly of an older date, studies examining the effects of other antimuscarinic agents may also be found. In one such report by Sutherland et al. (52) focused on atropine, atropine sulfate-treated rats were found to lack the ability to employ spatial mapping as means of learning the location of the hidden platform, thus turning to a combination of taxon and praxis strategies (i.e., not remembering the position of the platform but instead rather a way of finding it). No such deficit was observed in control animals and a group treated with atropine methylnitrate (a substance acting solely in the periphery as it is unable to cross the blood–brain barrier), hence confirming the hypothesis that the central cholinergic system underlies spatial mapping strategies (52). It has also been proposed that atropine may interfere with the ability to inhibit non-efficient spatial strategies that appear initially during water maze acquisition (81).

The use of the MWM also occurred in a report assessing the properties of 3-quinuclidinyl benzilate (QNB), a non-selective muscarinic antagonist that has been proposed as a potential agent for modeling cognitive deficits in rats. The study showed a significant detrimental effect of QNB on acquisition in the MWM, whereas no impairment was found in memory consolidation and retrieval. Apart from hyperlocomotion leading to higher swimming speeds, the authors observed no adverse side effects of QNB on vision and sensorimotor functions (82). A study on oxybutynin, an antagonist of M1, M2, and M3 receptors, further confirmed that non-selective antagonists exert detrimental effects on acquisition in the MWM (83).

#### M1-Like Family mAChR Antagonists

Due to their abundance, it has been suggested that the effects of non-selective antagonists may be exerted primarily through M1 receptors. However, it turned out that attempts to silence M1 receptors functioning have provided mixed results. Pirenzepine, a selective M1 antagonist, was evaluated in the studies of Hagan et al. (84) and Hunter and Roberts (85). Although less potent than scopolamine, it was nevertheless shown to impair spatial navigation in the MWM while preserving the taxon strategy (navigation to a visible platform). However, one of the major drawbacks of this drug is its inability to cross the blood-brain barrier, thus requiring intraventricular administration (84, 85). In contrast to that line of evidence, mice lacking M1 receptors display unimpaired performance in a water maze in spite of general hyperactivity (86). Furthermore, systemic administration of imidafecin, a selective M1 and M3 antagonist, appeared to have no significant effect on navigation in a water maze (83). These results therefore questioned the exclusive role of M1 receptors in scopolamine-induced deficits in water maze navigation. In an attempt to explain this discrepancy, Bubser et al.

concluded that M1 receptors seem to play a more significant role in mPFC-mediated tasks than in hippocampus-dependent tasks (87).

#### M2-Like Family Antagonists

An exception to the "rule" of muscarinic antagonists having detrimental effects on learning and memory are compounds selective for receptors expressed presynaptically (such as M2), which by blocking the presynaptically mediated inhibition of ACh release actually help to increase the levels of ACh in the synapse, and thus also cholinergic transmission (88, 89). For example, BIBN-99, a selective M2 antagonist, has been shown to improve the performance of aged rats in the MWM (88). Involvement of the M4 receptor in a water maze was assessed using M4 receptor knock-out mice. Despite elevated locomotion observed in the open field, knock-out mice displayed both unaltered acquisition and preference to a target location in probe trials in the water maze (90). It can be generally concluded that M2-like family muscarinic antagonists have weaker and sometimes even positive effects on place navigation tasks due to the different neuronal localization of respective receptors and the de facto different mechanistic mode of action, resulting in specific behavioral outcomes.

Results obtained with the MWM generally support the conclusion that antimuscarinic drugs adversely affect place navigation. On the other hand, this task also points to a number of non-cognitive confounding variables in the effects of antimuscarinic agents in place learning and memory. Importantly, muscarinic antagonists specific for particular receptor subtypes have been found to have only partial advantages over non-specific ligands, stressing the need for highly targeted approaches into the physiology of mAChR system with selective opto-and chemogenetic methods.

### **Radial Arm Maze**

The Radial arm maze presents another task used to test spatial cognition, namely working and reference memory, but the procedure may also be adjusted to assess acquisition and memory retrieval (91, 92). This task was used for example in the study of Kay et al. (93), which showed that scopolamine elicits a stronger effect on working memory, while 3,4-methylendioxy-metamphtamine administration affects reference memory more prominently (93). Similar results regarding scopolamine administration had also been reported by Pilcher et al. (91), who compared the effects of scopolamine on working memory, acquisition and memory retrieval, concluding that there was stronger impairment in working memory relative to the other types (91).

This task may also be used for investigating differences in the consequences of acute vs. chronic drug administration, as shown for example by Ortega-Alvaro et al. (94). In their study, the authors found a significant impairment in rats' performance in the radial arm maze following an acute injection of atypical antipsychotics (olanzapine and clozapine, used in the treatment of schizophrenia) and scopolamine, marked among others by a lower speed of movement. However, when following a chronic drug treatment, the observed deficits were absent, hence hinting at the ability to build a tolerance. The authors also concluded that chronic muscarinic antagonism may exert little or no influence over working memory (94).

One possible drawback of this task was raised in a study of Hodges et al. (95). The authors pointed out that the peripheral effects of scopolamine administration include "dry mouth," which can lead to disruption of a rat's ability to eat multiple food pellets and thus decrease their reward value.

# **Spatial Alternation Tasks**

The natural tendency of rodents to alternate between two choices in successive trials is exploited in a variety of simple T-shaped or Y-shaped mazes. Due to the simplicity of the task, alternation has been employed in the bulk of pharmacological studies using the scopolamine-induced amnesia model. Numerous studies [reviewed in Ref. (96)] have consistently shown that scopolamine treatment disrupts working memory both in discrete (97) and continuous versions of the alternation paradigm (98, 99). A article by Givens and Olton (100) demonstrated that intraseptal injections of scopolamine mimicked the detrimental dose-dependent effect of systemic scopolamine injections, indicating a critical contribution of the medial septal area. Further studies supported the central position of the septohippocampal pathway and revealed a more distributed network including a few other limbic and non-limbic structures (101).

Intraventricular administration of the M1 antagonist pirenzepine exerts similar effects as scopolamine, suggesting that M1 receptors may dominate in mediating spontaneous spatial alternation (102). On the other hand, M2 knockout mice were found to perform worse only under longer (20 s) but not short (5 s) delays in reinforced alternation in a T-maze compared to wild-type controls (103), suggesting a more complex contribution of particular mAChR types. M5 receptors seem to play a role in alternation as well, but the mechanism of action is likely indirect. As M5 receptors are expressed by endothelial cells and control cerebral vasodilatation, M5R-/- mice were found to exhibit a significantly reduced cerebral blood flow in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, basal ganglia, and thalamus. In consequence, the low blood supply led to impaired long-term potentiation and consequently to a deterioration of spatial alternation (104).

Despite being almost ubiquitous in pharmacological research, the spatial alternation paradigm has some drawbacks. Investigators do not usually configure the maze to enforce animals to use praxis, taxon, or mapping strategies, or any combination of these. Therefore authors cannot report, in contrast to the MWM, whether effects are due to impairment of a particular mode of place navigation. Furthermore, the variability and consistency of results have been disputed, particularly in the spontaneous alternation paradigm. However, this drawback can be counterbalanced by the fact that under some circumstances, spatial alternation has been found to be superb at detecting hippocampal dysfunction (105).

# **Active Place Avoidance Tasks**

Active place avoidance [(106–117), for review see Ref. (110, 111)] is a behavioral test specifically focusing on a rat's ability to

coordinate two conflicting frames of reference. An animal is placed into a slowly rotating arena where it needs to learn to locate a "to-be-avoided sector," upon which stepping into it receives a foot-shock. The position of this sector does not change relative to the room frame; i.e., the animal has to actively move to another place in the arena so as not to be carried into the sector. The arena's surroundings ought to contain distinct extramaze cues for the rats to navigate (110, 112–116).

The first study with scopolamine in this task (117) showed that a deficit induced by scopolamine at doses 1 and 2 mg/kg was not alleviated by intact spatial pretraining. A follow-up study (67) compared the performance of two rat strains obtained from the breeding colony of Institute of Physiology, CAS, Prague (Long-Evans and Wistar) in the MWM and active place avoidance following scopolamine treatment. As already mentioned, whereas in the MWM the disruption in learning and memory was similar, in active place avoidance the Wistar rats exhibited a higher sensitivity to scopolamine than the Long-Evans group (67). In general, active place avoidance tasks are sensitive to antimuscarinic action elicited by scopolamine, yet the effects are strain-specific and also present at relatively higher doses that can also affect procedural aspects. Unfortunately, no active place avoidance results on more selective antagonists, mAChR knockouts or other specific manipulations with the mAChR system are available, indicating the need for future research.

### **Barnes Maze**

In the Barnes maze, a rat is placed in the center of a circular platform with holes at the edges. An escape cylinder is placed under one of these holes; the animals are trained to locate the position of this cylinder based on distal external cues. The use of odor trails is eliminated by rotating the platform in between trials, and animals presumably use a mapping strategy to locate the target (118).

Evaluations of antimuscarinic agents employing this paradigm are scarce. Consistent with other cognitive mapping taxing tasks, scopolamine was found to impair performance (119). Seeger et al. (103) used this task for investigating changes in cognition and behavior in M2 knock-out mice, reporting a severe impairment in learning, accompanied with decreased short-term and long-term potentiation (103). Another example of the usage of this test is the study by Gawel et al. (120), in which the authors examined the potential of cholinesterase inhibitors (donepezil and rivastigmine) to alleviate ethanol-induced cognitive impairment. The results showed an improvement in both memory retention and cognitive flexibility, the latter being more pronounced for rivastigmine (120).

### **Cone-Field Test**

The cone-field task represents another experimental paradigm for testing spatial learning and memory. It consists of a dodecagonal field with a number of cones topped with un/baited food cups in the middle and four starting boxes on the borders, from which the animal is released into the field. The ability of the rat to learn and remember the position of the baited cones is assessed. A suggested advantage of this test over tasks like the MWM is that it is based on positive reward learning (whereas the MWM relies on aversive learning). This task was used for example by Van der Staay et al. (121) to investigate the effects of AChE inhibitors (donepezil and metrifonate) on scopolamineinduced learning deficits in rats. The results showed that metrifonate, but not donepezil, was able to alleviate the working memory disruption produced by scopolamine (121). Specific conclusions on the role of mAChRs in this task are impossible due to the limited data.

# **Hole-Board Task**

In the hole-board task, an animal is placed in a rectangular box with a number of holes in the floor. Some of these are baited with a food reward. An animal is evaluated in its ability to learn and remember the position (using a mapping strategy) of the baited holes as well as the holes it has already visited. Different variations and adaptions of this task have been used. For example, Post et al. (122) published a article on a holeboard paradigm specially designed for mice (COGITAT) and presented its validation as a tool for testing spatial learning and memory via a scopolamine-induced performance deficit and its alleviation by metrifonate (122). Regarding the involvement of particular types of receptors, M1 receptors were shown to be important for reference memory (for non-baited holes) in a study evaluating biperiden in pigs (47). On the other hand, M2 receptors were shown to be important for working memory (memory for already-visited holes) in a study using transgenic mice (123).

# GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUDING REMARKS

The muscarinic system of the brain plays a pivotal role in advanced cognitive processes such as spatial navigation and learning, an extensively studied ability, not only to gain insight into the way humans and animals orient themselves in both familiar and unfamiliar environments, but because spatial memory represents a rodent model of human perceptual memory. Research in this field provides new findings regarding the neurophysiology of higher cognitive processes, as well as pathologies such as those seen in AD and other neurodegenerative diseases, and indicates potential pathways for the therapy and treatment of these conditions.

However, as the muscarinic system is important not only for learning, memory and cognition but also takes parts in other processes such as attention, motivation, sensory perception, and other non-cognitive aspects of behavior, it is no surprise that the blockage of mAChRs also yields a wide range of noncognitive effects, thus hindering cognition-focused research and complicating interpretations of the effects observed in rodent behavioral experiments. There have been attempts to isolate the purely cognitive effects of muscarinic antagonism from the procedural and motivational aspects, and some have been relatively successful.

One of the more promising ways to study the effects of mAChRs in place navigation lies in the exploitation of local intracerebral administration of antagonists, which ensures no

	Non-selectives	M1 group antagonists	M1 knockout	M2 group antagonists	M2 knockout
Water maze	Negative (52, 65, 67, 68, 82, 83)	Negative (84, 85)	None (86)	Positive (88)	
Radial arm maze	Negative (91, 93)				
Alternation	Negative (97–99)	Negative (102)			Negative (103)
Active place avoidance	Negative (67, 117)				
Barnes maze	Negative (119, 120)				Negative (103)
Cone field	Negative (121)				
Hole board	Negative (47, 122)				Negative (123)

TABLE 1 | Summary of the overall effects (positive, negative, none) of particular groups of antimuscarinergic agents or transgenic manipulations on spatial performance.

M1, M2, muscarinic receptors. Blank cells indicate no data available.

peripheral effects, or the use of specific conditional mutations. Moreover, despite attempts to use more specific muscarininc ligands to eliminate the procedural adverse effect of non-selective antagonists such as scopolamine and atropine, they have often provided ambiguous results. However, Sambeth et al. (24) recently showed that biperiden elicits cognitive deficits extending to the spatial memory domain in humans. It seems that with some caution, a general recommendation of using either non-specific or highly specific antagonists can be provided in conditions with defined place learning strategies having known involvement of the mAChR system.

Nonetheless, the ultimate need and relevance lies in the exploitation of novel techniques such as optogenetics focused on cholinergic neurons, and chemogenetics aimed at cells expressing metabotropic mAChRs. As these methods provide a more precise way to target the mAChR in the CNS, it is conceivable that relatively soon the systemic or even focal application of non-specific antimuscarinic drugs may become a rather obsolete tool for this research. However, the pharmacological development of more specific ligands for mAChRs may yet bring a revival of this traditional neuropharmacology approach. Furthermore, the need for the development of new therapeutics acting on mAChRs will result in an ongoing requirement for testing place navigation as a "prototype" of cognitive functions under the influence of these drugs.

It should also be noted that the choice of a specific behavioral test plays an essential role in the research of cognition, as various tasks examine different aspects of learning and memory (e.g., *praxis* vs. spatial mapping) and may possess higher or lower

### REFERENCES

- VanPatten S, Al-Abed Y. The challenges of modulating the 'rest and digest' system: acetylcholine receptors as drug targets. *Drug Discov Today* (2016) 22(1):97–104. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2016.09.011
- Hut RA, Van der Zee EA. The cholinergic system, circadian rhythmicity, and time memory. *Behav Brain Res* (2011) 221:466–80. doi:10.1016/j. bbr.2010.11.039
- Leslie FM, Mojica CY, Reynaga DD. Nicotinic receptors in addiction pathways. *Mol Pharmacol* (2013) 83:753–8. doi:10.1124/mol.112.083659
- Prado VF, Janickova H, Al-Onaizi MA, Prado MAM. Cholinergic circuits in cognitive flexibility. *Neuroscience* (2017) 345:130–41. doi:10.1016/j. neuroscience.2016.09.013
- Robinson L, Platt B, Riedel G. Involvement of the cholinergic system in conditioning and perceptual memory. *Behav Brain Res* (2011) 221:443–65. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.01.055

sensitivity toward the observed phenomenon. Furthermore, not all tasks are hippocampus-dependent, and even among those which are not all employ M1 as a crucial part (**Table 1**). Careful attention should also be paid to the rodent strain used; for example, albino rats such as the Wistar strain have difficulty learning vision-reliant tasks. Well-planned rodent behavioral studies with carefully thought-out experimental designs will continue to provide a useful tool for research on the muscarinic system and its role in learning and memory.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JS, AP, and AS wrote major parts of the manuscript. JS and AS contributed to revisions of the manuscript. AS provided scientific leadership and student supervision. The article is based on the thesis of AP.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank laboratory technicians for their support and David W. Hardekopf for proofreading. This work was supported by GACR grant 17-04047S and AZV grant 17-30833A. Institutional support for IPHYS was provided by RVO: 67985823. It was also supported also by Academic CZ-PL bilateral mobility project PAN-17-07. Additional support came from ERDF project, OPPK Mikroskopický systém CZ.2.16/3.1.00/28.034, ERDF OPPK BrainView CZ.2.16/3.1.00/21544, and MEYS (LM2015062) Czech-BioImaging. All rights reserved.

- Deiana S, Platt B, Riedel G. The cholinergic system and spatial learning. Behav Brain Res (2011) 221:389–411. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2010.11.036
- Schliebs R, Arendt T. The cholinergic system in aging and neuronal degeneration. *Behav Brain Res* (2011) 221:555–63. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2010.11.058
- Jiang S, Li Y, Zhang C, Zhao Y, Bu G, Xu H, et al. M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Bull* (2014) 30:295–307. doi:10.1007/s12264-013-1406-z
- Pittaras E, Faure A, Leray X, Moraitopoulou E, Cressant A, Rabat A, et al. Neuronal nicotinic receptors are crucial for tuning of E/I balance in prelimbic cortex and for decision-making processes. *Front Psychiatry* (2016) 7:171. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00171
- Carruthers SP, Gurvich CT, Rossell SL. The muscarinic system, cognition and schizophrenia. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2015) 55:393–402. doi:10.1016/j. neubiorev.2015.05.011
- 11. Witkin JM, Overshiner C, Li X, Catlow JT, Wishart GN, Schober DA, et al. M1 and m2 muscarinic receptor subtypes regulate antidepressant-like

effects of the rapidly acting antidepressant scopolamine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (2014) 351:448–56. doi:10.1124/jpet.114.216804

- Malca Garcia GR, Hennig L, Shelukhina IV, Kudryavtsev DS, Bussmann RW, Tsetlin VI, et al. Curare alkaloids: constituents of a Matis dart poison. *J Nat Prod* (2015) 78:2537–44. doi:10.1021/acs.jnatprod.5b00457
- Role LW, Berg DK. Nicotinic receptors in the development and modulation of CNS synapses. *Neuron* (1996) 16:1077–85. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273 (00)80134-8
- Albuquerque EX, Pereira EFR, Alkondon M, Rogers SW. Mammalian nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: from structure to function. *Physiol Rev* (2009) 89:73–120. doi:10.1152/physrev.00015.2008
- He Q, Johnston J, Zeitlinger J, City K, City K. Heteromeric α7β2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the brain. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2015) 33:395–401. doi:10.1038/nbt.3121.ChIP-nexus
- Sadahiro M, Sajo M, Morishita H. Nicotinic regulation of experiencedependent plasticity in visual cortex. *J Physiol Paris* (2016) 110:29–36. doi:10.1016/j.jphysparis.2016.11.003
- Tomankova H, Valuskova P, Varejkova E, Rotkova J, Benes J, Myslivecek J. The M 2 muscarinic receptors are essential for signaling in the heart left ventricle during restraint stress in mice. *Stress* (2015) 3890: 208–20. doi:10.3109/10253890.2015.1007345
- De Sarno P, Shestopal SA, King TD, Zmijewska A, Song L, Jope RS. Muscarinic receptor activation protects cells from apoptotic effects of DNA damage, oxidative stress, and mitochondrial inhibition. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:11086–93. doi:10.1074/jbc.M212157200
- Dale PR, Cernecka H, Schmidt M, Dowling MR, Charlton SJ, Pieper MP, et al. The pharmacological rationale for combining muscarinic receptor antagonists and beta-adrenoceptor agonists in the treatment of airway and bladder disease. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2014) 16:31–42. doi:10.1016/j.coph. 2014.03.003
- Muise ED, Gandotra N, Tackett JJ, Bamdad MC, Cowles RA. Distribution of muscarinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes in the murine small intestine. *Life Sci* (2017) 169:6–10. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2016.10.030
- Picciotto MR, Higley MJ, Mineur YS. Acetylcholine as a neuromodulator: cholinergic signaling shapes nervous system function and behavior. *Neuron* (2012) 76:116–29. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.036
- Zhang W, Basile AS, Gomeza J, Volpicelli LA, Levey AI, Wess J. Characterization of central inhibitory muscarinic autoreceptors by the use of muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knock-out mice. *J Neurosci* (2002) 22:1709–17.
- 23. Pergolizzi JV, Philip BK, Leslie JB, Taylor R, Raffa RB. Perspectives on transdermal scopolamine for the treatment of postoperative nausea and vomiting. *J Clin Anesth* (2012) 24:334–45. doi:10.1016/j.jclinane.2011.07.019
- Sambeth A, Riedel WJ, Klinkenberg I, Kähkönen S, Blokland A. Biperiden selectively induces memory impairment in healthy volunteers: no interaction with citalopram. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2015) 232:1887–97. doi:10.1007/s00213-014-3822-9
- Laurino A, Matucci R, Vistoli G, Raimondi L. 3-iodothyronamine (T1AM), a novel antagonist of muscarinic receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2016) 793: 35–42. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2016.10.027
- Digby GJ, Shirey JK, Conn PJ. Allosteric activators of muscarinic receptors as novel approaches for treatment of CNS disorders. *Mol Biosyst* (2010) 6:1345–54. doi:10.1039/c002938f
- Foster DJ, Choi DL, Jeffrey Conn P, Rook JM. Activation of M1 and M4 muscarinic receptors as potential treatments for Alzheimer's disease and schizophrenia. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2014) 10:183–91. doi:10.2147/ NDT.S55104
- Ragozzino ME, Artis S, Singh A, Twose TM, Beck JE, Messer WS. The selective M1 muscarinic cholinergic agonist CDD-0102A enhances working memory and cognitive flexibility. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (2012) 340:588–94. doi:10.1124/jpet.111.187625
- 29. Malomouzh AI, Mukhtarov MR, Nikolsky EE, Vyskočil F. Muscarinic M1 acetylcholine receptors regulate the non-quantal release of acetylcholine in the rat neuromuscular junction via NO-dependent mechanism. *J Neurochem* (2007) 102:2110–7. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04696.x
- Desmarais JE, Beauclair L, Margolese HC. Anticholinergics in the era of atypical antipsychotics: short-term or long-term treatment? J Psychopharmacol (2012) 26:1167–74. doi:10.1177/0269881112447988

- Ogino S, Miyamoto S, Miyake N, Yamaguchi N. Benefits and limits of anticholinergic use in schizophrenia: focusing on its effect on cognitive function. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68:37–49. doi:10.1111/pcn.12088
- Vinogradov S, Fisher M, Warm H, Holland C, Kirshner MA, Pollock BG. The cognitive cost of anticholinergic burden: decreased response to cognitive training in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2009) 166:1055–62. doi:10.1176/ appi.ajp.2009.09010017
- Veselinović T, Vernaleken I, Janouschek H, Kellermann T, Paulzen M, Cumming P, et al. Effects of anticholinergic challenge on psychopathology and cognition in drug-free patients with schizophrenia and healthy volunteers. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2015) 232:1607–17. doi:10.1007/ s00213-014-3794-9
- Terry AV Jr. Muscarinic receptor antagonists in rats. In: Levin ED, Buccafusco JJ, editors. *Animal Models of Cognitive Impairment*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press/Taylor & Francis (2017). Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK2525/
- Croy CH, Chan WY, Castetter AM, Watt ML, Quets AT, Felder CC. Characterization of PCS1055, a novel muscarinic M4 receptor antagonist. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2016) 782:70–6. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2016.04.022
- Jakubík J, Zimčík P, Randáková A, Fuksová K, El-Fakahany EE, Doležal V. Molecular mechanisms of methoctramine binding and selectivity at muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *Mol Pharmacol* (2014) 86:180–92. doi:10.1124/ mol.114.093310
- Deng H, Wang C, Su M, Fang Y. Probing biochemical mechanisms of action of muscarinic M3 receptor antagonists with label-free whole cell assays. *Anal Chem* (2012) 84:8232–9. doi:10.1021/ac301495n
- Zhong J, Roth M. Clinical potential of aclidinium bromide in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Ther Clin Risk Manag* (2014) 10:449–53. doi:10.2147/TCRM.S39710
- Busse WW, Dahl R, Jenkins C, Cruz AA. Long-acting muscarinic antagonists: a potential add-on therapy in the treatment of asthma? *Eur Respir Rev* (2016) 25:54–64. doi:10.1183/16000617.0052-2015
- Callegari E, Malhotra B, Bungay PJ, Webster R, Fenner KS, Kempshall S, et al. A comprehensive non-clinical evaluation of the CNS penetration potential of antimuscarinic agents for the treatment of overactive bladder. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* (2011) 72:235–46. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2011. 03961.x
- Peretto I, Petrillo P, Imbimbo BP. Medicinal chemistry and therapeutic potential of muscarinic M3 antagonists. *Med Res Rev* (2009) 29:1292–327. doi:10.1002/med
- Jeon WJ, Dean B, Scarr E, Gibbons A. The role of muscarinic receptors in the pathophysiology of mood disorders: a potential novel treatment? *Curr Neuropharmacol*(2015)13:739–49.doi:10.2174/1570159X13666150612230045
- Espi Martinez F, Espi Forcen F, Shapov A, Martinez Moya A. Biperiden dependence: case report and literature review. *Case Rep Psychiatry* (2012) 2012:949256. doi:10.1155/2012/949256
- Brocks DR. Anticholinergic drugs used in Parkinson's disease: an overlooked class of drugs from a pharmacokinetic perspective. *J Pharm Pharm Sci* (1999) 2:39–46.
- 45. Gazova Z, Soukup O, Sepsova V, Siposova K, Drtinova L, Jost P, et al. Multi-target-directed therapeutic potential of 7-methoxytacrineadamantylamine heterodimers in the Alzheimer's disease treatment. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2016) 1863:607–19. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.11.020
- 46. Asth L, Lobão-Soares B, André E, Soares Vde P, Gavioli EC. The elevated T-maze task as an animal model to simultaneously investigate the effects of drugs on long-term memory and anxiety in mice. *Brain Res Bull* (2012) 87:526–33. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2012.02.008
- 47. Gieling E, Wehkamp W, Willigenburg R, Nordquist RE, Ganderup N-C, van der Staay FJ. Performance of conventional pigs and Göttingen miniature pigs in a spatial holeboard task: effects of the putative muscarinic cognition impairer Biperiden. *Behav Brain Funct* (2013) 9:4. doi:10.1186/ 1744-9081-9-4
- Ishizaki J, Yokogawa K, Nakashima E, Ohkuma S, Ichimura F. Influence of ammonium chloride on the tissue distribution of anticholinergic drugs in rats. *J Pharm Pharmacol* (1998) 50:761–6. doi:10.1111/j.2042-7158.1998. tb07137.x
- Bures J, Fenton AA, Kaminsky Y, Zinyuk L. Place cells and place navigation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94:343–50. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.1.343

- D'Hooge R, De Deyn PP. Applications of the Morris water maze in the study of learning and memory. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* (2001) 36(1):60–90. doi:10.1016/S0165-0173(01)00067-4
- Morris RGM. Spatial localization does not require the presence of local cues. *Learn Motiv* (1981) 12:239–60. doi:10.1016/0023-9690(81)90020-5
- Sutherland RJ, Whishaw IQ, Regehr JC. Cholinergic receptor blockade impairs spatial localization by use of distal cues in the rat. J Comp Physiol Psychol (1982) 96:563–73. doi:10.1037/h0077914
- Kitanishi T, Ito HT, Hayashi Y, Shinohara Y, Mizuseki K, Hikida T. Network mechanisms of hippocampal laterality, place coding, and goaldirected navigation. *J Physiol Sci* (2017) 67:247–58. doi:10.1007/s12576-016-0502-z
- O'Keefe J, Dostrovsky J. The hippocampus as a spatial map. Preliminary evidence from unit activity in the freely-moving rat. *Brain Res* (1971) 34:171–5. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(71)90358-1
- McNaughton BL, Battaglia FP, Jensen O, Moser EI, Moser M-B. Path integration and the neural basis of the "cognitive map". *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2006) 7:663–78. doi:10.1038/nrn1932
- Nicolelis MAL, Lebedev MA. Principles of neural ensemble physiology underlying the operation of brain-machine interfaces. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2009) 10:530–40. doi:10.1038/nrn2653
- Hafting T, Fyhn M, Molden S, Moser M-B, Moser EI. Microstructure of a spatial map in the entorhinal cortex. *Nature* (2005) 436:801–6. doi:10.1038/ nature03721
- Taube JS, Muller RU, Ranck JB Jr. Head-direction cells recorded from the postsubiculum in freely moving rats. II. Effects of environmental manipulations. J Neurosci (1990) 10:436–47.
- Burgess N. Spatial memory: how egocentric and allocentric combine. Trends Cogn Sci (2006) 10:551–7. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2006.10.005
- Yan C, Wang R, Qu J, Chen G. Locating and navigation mechanism based on place-cell and grid-cell models. *Cogn Neurodyn* (2016) 10:353–60. doi:10.1007/s11571-016-9384-2
- Fenton AA, Wesierska M, Kaminsky Y, Bures J. Both here and there: simultaneous expression of autonomous spatial memories in rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95:11493–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.19.11493
- 62. Cimadevilla JM, Wesierska M, Fenton AA, Bures J. Inactivating one hippocampus impairs avoidance of a stable room-defined place during dissociation of arena cues from room cues by rotation of the arena. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2001) 98:3531–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.051628398
- Wesierska M, Dockery C, Fenton AA. Beyond memory, navigation, and inhibition: behavioral evidence for hippocampus-dependent cognitive coordination in the rat. *J Neurosci* (2005) 25:2413–9. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 3962-04.2005
- Kubík S, Fenton AA. Behavioral evidence that segregation and representation are dissociable hippocampal functions. *J Neurosci* (2005) 25:9205–12. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1707-05.2005
- 65. Klinkenberg I, Blokland A. A comparison of scopolamine and biperiden as a rodent model for cholinergic cognitive impairment. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*) (2011) 215:549–66. doi:10.1007/s00213-011-2171-1
- Robinson L, Harbaran D, Riedel G. Visual acuity in the water maze: sensitivity to muscarinic receptor blockade in rats and mice. *Behav Brain Res* (2004) 151:277–86. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2003.09.001
- 67. Entlerova M, Lobellova V, Hatalova H, Zemanova A, Vales K, Stuchlik A. Comparison of Long-Evans and Wistar rats in sensitivity to central cholinergic blockade with scopolamine in two spatial tasks: an active place avoidance and the Morris water maze. *Physiol Behav* (2013) 120:11–8. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.06.024
- von Linstow Roloff E, Harbaran D, Micheau J, Platt B, Riedel G. Dissociation of cholinergic function in spatial and procedural learning in rats. *Neuroscience* (2007) 146:875–89. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007. 02.038
- Buresova O, Krekule I, Zahalka A, Bures J. On-demand platform improves accuracy of the Morris water maze procedure. J Neurosci Methods (1985) 15:63–72. doi:10.1016/0165-0270(85)90062-7
- Spooner RI, Thomson A, Hall J, Morris RG, Salter SH. The Atlantis platform: a new design and further developments of Buresova's on-demand platform for the water maze. *Learn Mem* (1994) 1:203–11.
- Bertrand F, Lehmann O, Galani R, Lazarus C, Jeltsch H, Cassel JC. Effects of MDL 73005 on water-maze performances and locomotor activity

in scopolamine-treated rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* (2001) 68:647–60. doi:10.1016/S0091-3057(01)00448-8

- Brazhnik ES, Muller RU, Fox SE. Muscarinic blockade slows and degrades the location-specific firing of hippocampal pyramidal cells. *J Neurosci* (2003) 23:611–21.
- Brazhnik E, Borgnis R, Muller RU, Fox SE. The effects on place cells of local scopolamine dialysis are mimicked by a mixture of two specific muscarinic antagonists. *J Neurosci* (2004) 24:9313–23. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 1618-04.2004
- Newman EL, Gillet SN, Climer JR, Hasselmo ME. Cholinergic blockade reduces theta-gamma phase amplitude coupling and speed modulation of theta frequency consistent with behavioral effects on encoding. *J Neurosci* (2013) 33:19635–46. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2586-13.2013
- Newman EL, Climer JR, Hasselmo ME. Grid cell spatial tuning reduced following systemic muscarinic receptor blockade. *Hippocampus* (2014) 24:643–55. doi:10.1002/hipo.22253
- Hasselmo ME. The role of acetylcholine in learning and memory. Curr Opin Neurobiol (2006) 16:710–5. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2006.09.002
- Cozzolino R, Guaraldi D, Giuliani A, Ghirardi O, Ramacci MT, Angelucci L. Effects of concomitant nicotinic and muscarinic blockade on spatial memory disturbance in rats are purely additive: evidence from the Morris water task. *Physiol Behav* (1994) 56:111–4. doi:10.1016/0031-9384(94) 90267-4
- Riekkinen M, Riekkinen P. Dorsal hippocampal muscarinic acetylcholine and NMDA receptors disrupt water maze navigation. *Neuroreport* (1997) 8:645–8. doi:10.1097/00001756-199702100-00013
- Huang Z-B, Wang H, Rao X-R, Zhong G-F, Hu W-H, Sheng G-Q. Different effects of scopolamine on the retrieval of spatial memory and fear memory. *Behav Brain Res* (2011) 221:604–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2010. 05.032
- Laczó J, Markova H, Lobellova V, Gazova I, Parizkova M, Cerman J, et al. Scopolamine disrupts place navigation in rats and humans: a translational validation of the Hidden Goal Task in the Morris water maze and a real maze for humans. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2016) 234(4):535–47. doi:10.1007/s00213-016-4488-2
- Day LB, Schallert T. Anticholinergic effects on acquisition of place learning in the Morris water task: spatial mapping deficit or inability to inhibit nonplace strategies? *Behav Neurosci* (1996) 110:998–1005. doi:10.1037/ 0735-7044.110.5.998
- Misik J, Vanek J, Musilek K, Kassa J. Cholinergic antagonist 3-quinuclidinyl benzilate – impact on learning and memory in Wistar rats. *Behav Brain Res* (2014) 266:193–200. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.03.001
- 83. Kobayashi F, Yageta Y, Yamazaki T, Wakabayashi E, Inoue M, Segawa M, et al. Pharmacological effects of imidafenacin (KRP-197/ONO-8025), a new bladder selective anti-cholinergic agent, in rats. Comparison of effects on urinary bladder capacity and contraction, salivary secretion and performance in the Morris water maze task. *Arzneimittelforschung* (2007) 57:147–54. doi:10.1055/s-0031-1296598
- Hagan JJ, Jansen JHM, Broekkamp CLE. Blockade of spatial learning by the M1 muscarinic antagonist pirenzepine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (1987) 93:470–6. doi:10.1007/BF00207237
- Hunter AJ, Roberts FF. The effect of pirenzepine on spatial learning in the Morris Water Maze. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* (1988) 30:519–23. doi:10.1016/0091-3057(88)90490-X
- Miyakawa T, Yamada M, Duttaroy A, Wess J. Hyperactivity and intact hippocampus-dependent learning in mice lacking the M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor. J Neurosci (2001) 21:5239–50.
- Bubser M, Byun N, Wood MR, Jones CK. Muscarinic receptor pharmacology and circuitry for the modulation of cognition. *Handb Exp Pharmacol* (2012) 208:121–66. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-23274-9\_7
- Rowe WB, O'Donnell J-P, Pearson D, Rose GM, Meaney MJ, Quirion R. Long-term effects of BIBN-99, a selective muscarinic M2 receptor antagonist, on improving spatial memory performance in aged cognitively impaired rats. *Behav Brain Res* (2003) 145:171–8. doi:10.1016/ S0166-4328(03)00116-5
- Greenlee W, Clader J, Asberom T, McCombie S, Ford J, Guzik H, et al. Muscarinic agonists and antagonists in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Farmaco* (2001) 56:247–50. doi:10.1016/S0014-827X(01)01102-8

- Koshimizu H, Leiter LM, Miyakawa T. M4 muscarinic receptor knockout mice display abnormal social behavior and decreased prepulse inhibition. *Mol Brain* (2012) 5:10. doi:10.1186/1756-6606-5-10
- Pilcher JJ, Sessions GR, McBride SA. Scopolamine impairs spatial working memory in the radial maze: an analysis by error type and arm choice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* (1997) 58:449–59. doi:10.1016/S0091-3057(97) 00297-9
- 92. Myhrer T. Neurotransmitter systems involved in learning and memory in the rat: a meta-analysis based on studies of four behavioral tasks. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* (2003) 41:268–87. doi:10.1016/S0165-0173(02)00268-0
- Kay C, Harper DN, Hunt M. Differential effects of MDMA and scopolamine on working versus reference memory in the radial arm maze task. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* (2010) 93:151–6. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2009.09.005
- 94. Ortega-Alvaro A, Gibert-Rahola J, Micó JA. Influence of chronic treatment with olanzapine, clozapine and scopolamine on performance of a learned 8-arm radial maze task in rats. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 30:104–11. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.08.020
- Hodges DB, Lindner MD, Hogan JB, Jones KM, Markus EJ. Scopolamine induced deficits in a battery of rat cognitive tests: comparisons of sensitivity and specificity. *Behav Pharmacol* (2009) 20:237–51. doi:10.1097/ FBP.0b013e32832c70f5
- Klinkenberg I, Blokland A. The validity of scopolamine as a pharmacological model for cognitive impairment: a review of animal behavioral studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2010) 34:1307–50. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010. 04.001
- Moran PM. Differential effects of scopolamine and mecamylamine on working and reference memory in the rat. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* (1993) 45:533–8. doi:10.1016/0091-3057(93)90502-K
- Newman LA, Gold PE. Attenuation in rats of impairments of memory by scopolamine, a muscarinic receptor antagonist, by mecamylamine, a nicotinic receptor antagonist. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2016) 233: 925–32. doi:10.1007/s00213-015-4174-9
- Spowart-Manning L, van der Staay FJ. The T-maze continuous alternation task for assessing the effects of putative cognition enhancers in the mouse. *Behav Brain Res* (2004) 151:37–46. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2003.08.004
- 100. Givens B, Olton DS. Bidirectional modulation of scopolamine-induced working memory impairments by muscarinic activation of the medial septal area. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* (1995) 63:269–76. doi:10.1006/nlme. 1995.1031
- Lalonde R. The neurobiological basis of spontaneous alternation. Neurosci Biobehav Rev (2002) 26:91–104. doi:10.1016/S0149-7634(01)00041-0
- 102. Ukai M, Shinkai N, Kameyama T. Cholinergic receptor agonists inhibit pirenzepine-induced dysfunction of spontaneous alternation performance in the mouse. *Gen Pharmacol* (1995) 26:1529–32. doi:10.1016/0306-3623 (95)00038-0
- 103. Seeger T, Fedorova I, Zheng F, Miyakawa T, Koustova E, Gomeza J, et al. M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knock-out mice show deficits in behavioral flexibility, working memory, and hippocampal plasticity. *J Neurosci* (2004) 24:10117–27. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3581-04.2004
- 104. Araya R, Noguchi T, Yuhki M, Kitamura N, Higuchi M, Saido TC, et al. Loss of M5 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors leads to cerebrovascular and neuronal abnormalities and cognitive deficits in mice. *Neurobiol Dis* (2006) 24:334–44. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2006.07.010
- Deacon RMJ, Rawlins JNP. T-maze alternation in the rodent. Nat Protoc (2006) 1:7–12. doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.2
- 106. Hatalova H, Radostova D, Pistikova A, Vales K, Stuchlik A. Spatial reversal learning in chronically sensitized rats and in undrugged sensitized rats with dopamine d2-like receptor agonist quinpirole. *Front Behav Neurosci* (2014) 8:122. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00122
- 107. Stuchlik A, Petrasek T, Vales K. Dopamine D2 receptors and alphaladrenoceptors synergistically modulate locomotion and behavior of rats in a place avoidance task. *Behav Brain Res* (2008) 189:139–44. doi:10.1016/j. bbr.2007.12.025
- 108. Stuchlik A, Vales K. Role of alpha1- and alpha2-adrenoceptors in the regulation of locomotion and spatial behavior in the active place avoidance task: a dose-response study. *Neurosci Lett* (2008) 433:235–40. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2008.01.013

- 109. Stuchlik A, Vales K. Systemic administration of MK-801, a noncompetitive NMDA-receptor antagonist, elicits a behavioural deficit of rats in the Active Allothetic Place Avoidance (AAPA) task irrespectively of their intact spatial pretraining. *Behav Brain Res* (2005) 159:163–71. doi:10.1016/j. bbr.2004.10.013
- 110. Stuchlík A, Petrásek T, Prokopová I, Holubová K, Hatalová H, Valeš K, et al. Place avoidance tasks as tools in the behavioral neuroscience of learning and memory. *Physiol Res* (2013) 62(Suppl 1):S1–19.
- Stuchlik A, Kubik S, Vlcek K, Vales K. Spatial navigation: implications for animal models, drug development and human studies. *Physiol Res* (2014) 63(Suppl 1):S237–49.
- 112. Bubenikova-Valesova V, Stuchlik A, Svoboda J, Bures J, Vales K. Risperidone and ritanserin but not haloperidol block effect of dizocilpine on the active allothetic place avoidance task. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:1061–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0711273105
- Bures J, Fenton AA, Kaminsky YU, Wesierska M, Zahalka A. Rodent navigation after dissociation of the allocentric and idiothetic representations of space. *Neuropharmacology* (1998) 37:689–99. doi:10.1016/S0028-3908(98) 00031-8
- 114. Czeh B, Stuchlik A, Wesierska M, Cimadevilla JM, Pokorny J, Seress L, et al. Effect of neonatal dentate gyrus lesion on allothetic and idiothetic navigation in rats. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* (2001) 75:190–213. doi:10.1006/ nlme.2000.3975
- 115. Kubik S, Stuchlik A, Fenton AA. Evidence for hippocampal role in place avoidance other than merely memory storage. *Physiol Res* (2006) 55:445–52.
- 116. Stuchlik A, Bures J. Relative contribution of allothetic and idiothetic navigation to place avoidance on stable and rotating arenas in darkness. *Behav Brain Res* (2002) 128:179–88. doi:10.1016/S0166-4328(01)00314-X
- 117. Vales K, Stuchlik A. Central muscarinic blockade interferes with retrieval and reacquisition of active allothetic place avoidance despite spatial pretraining. *Behav Brain Res* (2005) 161(2):238–44.
- Barnes CA. Memory deficits associated with senescence: a neurophysiological and behavioral study in the rat. *J Comp Physiol Psychol* (1979) 93:74–104. doi:10.1037/h0077579
- 119. Komater VA, Buckley MJ, Browman KE, Pan JB, Hancock AA, Decker MW, et al. Effects of histamine H3 receptor antagonists in two models of spatial learning. *Behav Brain Res* (2005) 159:295–300. doi:10.1016/j. bbr.2004.11.008
- 120. Gawel K, Labuz K, Gibula-Bruzda E, Jenda M, Marszalek-Grabska M, Filarowska J, et al. Cholinesterase inhibitors, donepezil and rivastigmine, attenuate spatial memory and cognitive flexibility impairment induced by acute ethanol in the Barnes maze task in rats. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* (2016) 389:1059–71. doi:10.1007/s00210-016-1269-8
- 121. Van Der Staay FJ, Bouger PC. Effects of the cholinesterase inhibitors donepezil and metrifonate on scopolamine-induced impairments in the spatial cone field orientation task in rats. *Behav Brain Res* (2005) 156:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2004.05.010
- 122. Post AM, Wultsch T, Popp S, Painsipp E, Wetzstein H, Kittel-Schneider S, et al. The COGITAT holeboard system as a valuable tool to assess learning, memory and activity in mice. *Behav Brain Res* (2011) 220:152–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.01.054
- 123. Bainbridge NK, Koselke LR, Jeon J, Bailey KR, Wess J, Crawley JN, et al. Learning and memory impairments in a congenic C57BL/6 strain of mice that lacks the M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor subtype. *Behav Brain Res* (2008) 190:50–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2008.02.001

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Svoboda, Popelikova and Stuchlik. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Dose Reduction/Discontinuation of Antipsychotic Drugs in Psychosis; Effect on Cognition and Functional Outcomes

### Yoshie Omachi<sup>1\*</sup> and Tomiki Sumiyoshi<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, National Center Hospital, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Preventive Intervention for Psychiatric Disorders, National Institute of Mental Health, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Roumen Kirov, Institute of Neurobiology (BAS), Bulgaria

#### Reviewed by:

Bong Ju Lee, Inje University Haeundae Paik Hospital, South Korea Satoru Ikezawa, Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development, Japan

> \*Correspondence: Yoshie Omachi yomachi@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 08 January 2018 Accepted: 29 August 2018 Published: 20 September 2018

#### Citation:

Omachi Y and Sumiyoshi T (2018) Dose Reduction/Discontinuation of Antipsychotic Drugs in Psychosis; Effect on Cognition and Functional Outcomes. Front. Psychiatry 9:447. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00447 **Backgrounds:** There is a debate regarding the optimal timing of discontinuation of antipsychotic drugs in patients with first episode psychosis (FEP) or schizophrenia. We aimed to provide a review of the literature on which strategy (medication maintenance vs. dose reduction/discontinuation) is more likely to maximize outcomes, such as cognition and social function.

**Methods:** Using PubMed, the Cochrane Library and systematic reviews, articles published between 2007 and 2018 were reviewed, which investigated the effect of dose reduction/discontinuation vs. maintenance treatment on measures of cognition and/or social function in FEP and schizophrenia.

**Results:** Six studies were identified; 2 studies reported on cognition while 4 studies concern social function. All studies except one reported that improvement of functional outcomes in remitted patients with FEP or schizophrenia allocated to a dose reduction/discontinuation arm was equal to or better than that in patients for whom medication doses were maintained. One trial of social function with a 1-year follow-up period found a greater improvement in the medication maintenance group, while no group difference was observed with 3-year and 10-year follow-up periods. On the other hand, a 7-year follow-up study found a superiority for the dose reduction/discontinuation regimen in terms of social outcome. Two studies on cognition with a short follow-up period reported a greater improvement for the dose reduction/discontinuation group.

**Conclusions:** Information on cognition and social function has been relatively sparse. These measures of functional outcome should be considered in deciding which strategy of antipsychotic treatments is beneficial in individual cases with FEP or schizophrenia.

Keywords: first episode psychosis, schizophrenia, discontinuation, maintenance, antipsychotics, cognition, social function, functional outcome

155

# INTRODUCTION

There is controversy about the continued use of antipsychotic drugs in patients with psychotic disorders, including schizophrenia. For example, treatment guidelines for first episode psychosis (FEP) recommend at least 1-year of antipsychotic treatment following remission (1). Antipsychotic medication may affect relapse and remission rates over time. In fact, randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have reported a considerably high relapse rate after dose reduction/discontinuation of antipsychotic treatment (2–5). From the clinical point of view, the maintenance/discontinuation debate should also encompass other aspects, such as functional outcome.

Functional outcome consists of several domains, such as psychosocial skill acquisition, instrument skills/social problemsolving ability, and community outcome/daily activities (6). A general consensus is that recovery in psychosis contains achievements of a personally acceptable quality of life and feeling of self-esteem (7). These outcome measures have been suggested to receive a higher priority than symptom management for young people with psychosis (8). Specifically, there is convincing evidence for an association between cognition and functional recovery in schizophrenia, as cognition may provide a better correlate of functional outcome than psychotic symptoms (6, 9). Accordingly, Sumiyoshi et al. (10) reported temporal associations between cognition and social function in patients with schizophrenia. Longitudinally, Fu et al. (11) found that performance on tests of attention, verbal learning, and verbal working memory are associated with social function throughout a 4-year observation period. Consequently, efforts have been made to develop therapeutics for disturbances of cognition (10).

To date, effects of antipsychotic drugs on cognition in patients with schizophrenia have been intensively examined. Initially, the second-generation antipsychotic drugs (SGAs) were suggested to ameliorate cognitive impairment more effectively than the first-generation antipsychotic drugs (FGAs). However, results from recent meta-analyses of RCTs on the effect of SGAs vs. FGAs, or SGAs vs. placebo indicate that only clozapine elicits cognitive benefits in patients with schizophrenia (12–14). So far, no consensus has been established as to an appropriate duration of antipsychotic treatments, particularly with regard to cognitive and social outcomes.

Some clinicians may feel that the quality of life (QOL) in patients with FEP would be better if antipsychotic medications are discontinued following remission (15). To our knowledge, there has been little information on the effects of maintenance vs. dose reduction/discontinuation of antipsychotic treatments on cognitive and social function in patients with FEP or schizophrenia. Therefore, the aim of this article is to provide an overview on which strategy is more beneficial for these outcomes.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Search Strategy and Selection Criteria

We searched PubMed, the Cochrane Library, and systematic reviews for randomized and non-randomized controlled trials published between 2007 and 2018, using the following search string; (schizophrenia OR psychosis OR first episode) AND (dose reduction OR discontinuation) AND (cognition OR social OR function OR relapse OR remission OR recovery). We also searched the reference lists of previous reviews, which compared the effects of medication maintenance vs. dose reduction/discontinuation on relapse, remission, cognition, and/or social function in FEP or schizophrenia (16–19). The searches were limited to English language articles and titles/abstracts. Due to the limited number of RCTs on functional outcome between the two groups (dose reduction/discontinuation vs. maintenance) in FEP, we included open-label randomized controlled trials and non-randomized prospective studies.

# RESULTS

### **Study Design**

We have identified five open-label and one double-blind studies comparing cognitive and/or social functional consequences between maintenance and dose reduction/discontinuation of antipsychotic treatments in patients with FEP or schizophrenia. Out of them, five were RCTs (3, 4, 20-23), whereas one was a non-randomized, prospective study (24). A summary of these studies, including the methodology and results, is presented in Table 1 (for comparisons between studies, relapse rates were calculated, where necessary, by diving the number of patients who relapsed during observation periods by the total number of patients in the corresponding group). Subjects included patients with schizophrenia, schizophrenia spectrum disorders, or FEP, with various regimens in terms of medication dose reduction/discontinuation, follow-up period, and outcome measures. Sample sizes ranged from 42 to 178, and the length of follow-up ranged from 28 weeks to 10-years.

# **Outcome Measures**

Two studies included measures of cognition, while 4 studies used measures of social function at follow-up.

Faber et al. (20) used a test battery consisting of the Stroop 2 (color naming) and 3 (color-word naming) tests, continuous performance test (CPT), digit span forward and backward, California Verbal Learning Test, Trail-Making A and B, verbal (category) fluency (animals and professions), Symbol Substitution Test, and Finger tapping (25, 26). These tests have been shown to represent attention, working memory, verbal memory, cognitive speed of processing, and motor speed.

Takeuchi et al. (22) assessed cognition with the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS) (27, 28). This battery yields scaled scores for 5 cognitive domains, i.e., immediate memory, visuospatial/constructional ability, language, attention, and delayed memory.

Gaebel et al. (4) assessed social function with the Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) (29). This scale measures symptom severity, as well as psychological, social, and occupational functioning during specified periods, on a continuum from mental health (score 100) to mental illness (score 0) (30). QOL was measured by the Lancashire Quality of Life Profile (LQLP) (31). The LQLP focuses on nine specific

Study and year	No. of subjects	Subject population	Study design	Follow-up period	Outcome measure	Relapse rate (%)	Cognition	Social function
Gaebel et al. (4)	MM 23 /MD 21	Clinically stable first-episode schizophrenia (ICD-10), aged 18–56, with antipsychotic treatment for 12 months and 8 weeks	RCT, OL, during the last 1-year of the 2-years and 8 weeks follow-up, comparison MM with MD (targeted intermittent treatment after stepwise drug discontinuation), risperidone or haloperidol	1-year	GAF	MM 0 < MD 19 <sup>a</sup>		GAF score (mean) MM (79.4) > MD (62.1) <sup>a</sup> LQLP (mean) MM 5.3: MD 4.8, NS
Faber et al. (20)	MM 20 /MD 22	FEP, having reached remission within 6 months of the start of second generation antipsychotics	RCT, OL, comparison MM with MD, risperidone, haloperidol or quettapine	2-3 months	Stroop test, CPT, digit span, CVLT, TMT, verbal fluency, Symbol Substitution, Finger tapping		Improvement on Symbol Substitution, verbal fluency, TMT B MM < MD <sup>a</sup>	
Wunderink et al. (21)	MM 52 /MD 51	FEP in remission for 6 months	RCT, OL, during the last 2-years of the follow-up, comparison MM with MD, doses below 1 mg of haloperidol equivalents	7-years	GSDS	MM 68.6:MD 61.5, NS Symptomatic remission; MM 66.7: MD 69.2, NS		% functional remission MM (19.6) $<$ MD (46.2) <sup>a</sup>
Takeuchi et al. (22)	MM 30 /MD 31	Schizophrenia (DSM-IV) in remission with respect to positive symptoms and treated with stable doses of olanzapine or risperidone	RCT, OL, comparison MM with MD (dose reduced by 50%), olanzapine or risperidone	28 weeks	RBANS	MM 3.0; MD 3.0, NS	Improvement in RBANS scale score (mean) MM $(-0.1) < MD (+7.0)^{a}$	
Mayoral-van Son et al. (24)	MM 22 /MD 46	FEP with antipsychotic treatment ≥ 18 months, stabilized at the lowest effective dose ≥ 3 months, clinical remission ≥ 12 months, functional recovery ≥ 6 months	Nonrandomized, prospective study, OL, comparison MM with MD (discontinuation), amisulpride, aripiprazole, haloperidol, olanzapine, quetiapine, risperidone,	3-years	DAS	MM 31.8 < MD 67.4 <sup>a</sup>		% functional recovery (DAS global score = 0) MM 90.9: MD 84.8, NS
Chen et al. (3) and Hui et al. (23)	MM 89 /MD 89	First-episode schizophrenia (DSM-IV) with full positive symptom resolution after about 2-years of antipsychotic treatment, aged 18–65	RCT, DB, comparison MM with MD (early discontinuation) for 12 months, quetiapine	10-years	SOFAS, RFS, SF-36	Relapse at 12 months MM 30 < MD 63 <sup>a</sup> Composite poor outcome at 10-years MM 21 < MD 39 <sup>a</sup>		SOFAS score (mean) MM 61.9: MD 64.0, NS RFS total score (mean) MM 21.3: MD 21.5, NS SF-36: MCS score (mean) MM 50.2: MD 51.0, NS SF-36: PCS score (mean) MM 56.6: MD 56.9, NS
CPT, continuous perfor. Schedule; LQLP, Lanca randomized controlled i Assessment Scale; TM <sup>a</sup> Statistically significant;	mance test; CV shire Quality o rial; RFS, the <i>I</i> r, Trail-Making NS, no signific	LT, California Verbal Learning Test; 1.LT, California Verbal Learning Test; Role Functioning Scale; SF-36, the Test.	: DAS, Disability Assessment Sche 9 reduction/discontinuation; MM, . 9 36-Item Short Form Health Surv.	adule; DB, double I medication mainte ey; MCS, mental c	blind; FEP, first episode mance; OL, open label; component summary; F	psychosis; GAF, Global As RBANS, Repeatable Batt CS, physical component.	seessment of Functioning; G <sup>4</sup> ery for the Assessment of N summary; SOFAS, the Socia	SDS, Groningen Social Disability leuropsychological Status; RCT, al and Occupational Functioning

domains; living situation, family, social relationships, leisure activities, work/education, finances, personal safety, health, and religion. The questions pertaining to the subjective QOL appraisal allow patients to rate their satisfaction on a seven-point scale (32).

Wunderink et al. (21) evaluated social function with the Groningen Social Disability Schedule (GSDS) (33), a semistructured investigator-based interview measuring disabilities in social function. Seven items from the GSDS were used; selfcare, housekeeping, family relationship, partner relationship, relationship with peers, community integration, and vocational functioning. A patient with functional remission should function adequately in all 7 domains with none or only a minimal disability in all of them (not allowing a score of 2 or 3).

Mayoral-van Son et al. (24) used the global disability item from the Spanish version of the Disability Assessment Schedule (DAS). This item has a score range from 0 (no disability) to 5 (gross disability). They dichotomized functional status into "functional recovery" and "functional deficits." The "functional recovery" status indicates that the patient is currently participating in part-time (paid and fewer than 35 h per week) or full-time work or study with the same or better level of performance as before the psychotic episode, and has no functional disability (score of 0 in the DAS).

Hui et al. (23) assessed social function with the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale (SOFAS) and the Role Functioning Scale (RFS), as well as health-related QOL with the 36-Item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36). The SOFAS assesses social and occupational functioning, whose scores are not directly influenced by overall severity of the individual's psychological symptoms (34, 35). The scores range from 1 to 100, with lower scores representing impaired functioning. The RFS measures the functioning level in patients with psychiatric disorders, focusing on four domains; working productivity, independent living and self-care, immediate social network relationships, and extended social network relationships (36). Each domain is rated on a 7-point scale, with lower scores representing lower functioning. The SF-36 consists of 36 questions on functional health and well-being (37), as summarized by two indices, i.e., the mental component summary (MCS) and physical component summary (PCS). The MCS includes four domains; vitality (energetic or fatigued), social functioning, role limitations because of emotional problems, and general mental health (psychological distress and well-being), while the PCS consists of four domains; physical functioning, role limitations because of physical health problems, bodily pain, and general health perceptions. SF-36 scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better functional health and well-being.

# **Relapse Rate**

In the reviewed studies, relapse rates range from 3.0 to 67.4% in dose reduction/discontinuation groups, and 0–68.6% in medication maintenance groups. Three trials (3, 4, 24) with a follow-up period less than 3-years reported a higher rate of relapse in the dose reduction/discontinuation groups, while a 7-year follow-up study (21) found that relapse rates of the two

groups (dose reduction vs. maintenance) were equal. In a 10year follow-up study (23), the incidence of persistent positive symptoms, requirement for clozapine, or death by suicide occurred in 39% in the discontinuation group and 21% in the maintenance group (risk ratio 1.84, 95% CI 1.15–2.96; p = 0.01).

# Cognition

Faber et al. (20) found that the medication discontinuation group showed a significantly greater improvement than the maintenance group on scores of the Symbol Substitution Test (F = 4.49, df = 1.40, P < 0.05), verbal fluency task (F = 6.11, df = 1.40, p < 0.05) and Trail-Making Test-B (F = 5.54, df = 1.40, p < 0.05) at 2–3 months after the start of dose reduction/discontinuation. Similarly, Takeuchi et al. (22) reported that the dose reduction group showed a significantly greater improvement in RBANS scores compared with the maintenance group [mean (SD), 7.0 (7.1) vs. -0.1 (8.0), p < 0.001].

# **Social Function**

Gaebel et al. (4) reported that the medication maintenance group showed a greater mean GAF score at 1-year follow-up point than that in the dose reduction/discontinuation group [79.4 (10.1) vs. 62.1 (16.7), p < 0.001]. On the other hand, no between-group difference was found for QOL [5.3 (1.2) vs. 4.8 (0.9), NS]. By contrast, Wunderink et al. (21) found that the functional remission rate after 7-years was significantly higher for the dose reduction/discontinuation group compared with the maintenance group (19.6 vs. 46.2%, p < 0.01). On the other hand, Mayoral-van Son et al. (24) did not find a difference in the functional status at the 3-year follow-up point between the two groups (90.9 vs. 84.8%, NS). Likewise, Hui et al. (23) did not observe a significant difference in the functional status at the 10year follow-up point between the two groups; [61.9 (9.6) vs. 64.0 (8.9), NS] on SOFAS [21.3 (3.4) vs. 21.5 (2.8), NS] on RFS Total, [50.2 (9.1) vs. 51.0 (8.4), NS] on SF-36 (MCS) and [56.6 (7.6) vs. 56.9 (6.6), NS] on SF-36 (PCS).

# DISCUSSION

The present review identified 2 studies reporting on cognition and 4 studies on social function, which compared functional outcomes between medication maintenance vs. dose reduction/discontinuation patients with FEP or schizophrenia. In spite of abundant information on relapse rates, only the limited number of studies have dealt with these outcomes, particularly, cognition. Of note, all studies except one (4) reported the advantage of the dose reduction/discontinuation method over the maintenance strategy in terms of functional outcomes.

In terms of social function, a trial with a 1-year follow-up period (4) found a greater improvement in the maintenance group, while there was no significant group difference 3-years and 10-years after the start of follow-up (23, 24). On the other hand, the study with a 7-year follow-up period (21) observed a superiority for the dose reduction/discontinuation regimen. The difference in study design may account for the discrepant results.

For example, social function was measured by the GAF in the 1year follow-up study (4). The GAF assesses psychotic symptoms and overall functional ability simultaneously; when symptom severity and level of functioning are discordant, clinicians are directed to use the rating that reflects the lower of the two levels (30, 38). In the 1-year follow-up study (4), the high relapse rate in the dose reduction/discontinuation group may have affected symptom severity, leading to worsening of GAF scores (assumed to represent "function" status). The use of standardized scale to assess real-world social function, independent of symptom severity, would be desired to circumvent this issue. Regarding the study with a 7-year follow-up period (2, 21), both groups were similar in their interventions, because about 80% in the dose reduction/discontinuation group failed to discontinue drug treatment (39). In addition, follow-up was generally naturalistic and unblinded, so there could be a difference in unmeasured psychosocial aspects, such as community care and number of visits (39). Furthermore, the differences in diagnostic categories in the 2 groups may be a plausible explanation toward the significantly better recovery and functional remission in the dose reduction/discontinuation group (40). Further study is warranted to determine the effect of length of observation periods on social function in patients who (dis)continue medications.

A greater improvement in cognition for the dose reduction/discontinuation group was reported in two studies (20, 22) with a relatively short follow-up period of less than 3 months. Fu et al. (11) found that performance on tests of attention and verbal working memory predicted social function, as measured by the Global Functioning (Social and Role) (11), in addition to temporal associations between social function vs. attention, verbal working memory, and verbal learning memory at baseline. Also, a longer observation period revealed that a greater cumulative lifetime antipsychotic use led to poorer cognitive performance in later life in patients with schizophrenia, which may be caused by disorganization symptoms (41). Future studies should consider type of cognitive domains and potential effects of key clinical features on cognitive and functional outcomes.

Part of the results from this review suggests that dose reduction/discontinuation of antipsychotic treatments after remission leads to better functional outcome in FEP and schizophrenia. In addition, Wunderink et al. (21) reported that milder negative symptoms, living together, and better social function at baseline are associated with better functional outcomes. Meanwhile, we often experience chronic patients exhibiting severe functional impairment as a result of repeated relapses after discontinuation of antipsychotic drugs. In fact, Mayoral-van Son et al. (24) found that relapsed patients showed more severe symptoms and poorer functional status at the end of follow-up periods. Further, Gaebel et al. (42) found that social function was significantly poorer in patients who relapsed after drug discontinuation compared to those without relapse. These observations indicate a need for the search of predicting factors to identify patients who need continued medications.

Previous studies have attempted to identify patients who will be benefitted or jeopardized by dose reduction/discontinuation of antipsychotic drugs. Accordingly, Wunderink et al. (21) found that a short duration of untreated psychosis was the strongly associated with achievements of symptom remission. Moreover, Alvarez-Jimenez et al. (16) noted that risk factors of relapse after discontinuation or dose reduction include diagnosis of schizophrenia, longer duration of illness, and poor pre-morbid functioning. They also reported that psychosocial interventions for FEP coupled with antipsychotic drugs were effective in preventing relapses (43). Furthermore, the guidelines devised by the International Early Psychosis Association (1) recommend that the minimal dose antipsychotic medication should be continued for preventing relapse and impairment of functions in FEP patients with risks of relapse.

In conclusion, although dose reduction/discontinuation of antipsychotic medication may be associated with higher relapse rates, this strategy may improve cognitive outcomes in some patients with FEP or schizophrenia. In this line, predictors for successful dose reduction/discontinuation deserve further explorations. So far, information on cognition and social function is relatively sparse. These measures of functional outcome should be considered in deciding which strategy of antipsychotic treatments is encouraged in individual cases.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TS planned and initiated this work. YO performed the literature search and drafted the first manuscript. Both authors revised the manuscript and approved the final version.

# FUNDING

Part of this work was supported by Japan Society for the Promotion of Science KAKENHI Grant Number No. 17K10321, Intramural Research Grant (29-1, 30-1, 30-8) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders of NCNP.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge discussions with Dr. Kazuyuki Nakagome.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Group IEPAW. International clinical practice guidelines for early psychosis. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl.* (2005) 48:s120–4. doi: 10.1192/bjp.187.48.s120
- Wunderink L, Nienhuis FJ, Sytema S, Slooff CJ, Knegtering R, Wiersma D. Guided discontinuation versus maintenance treatment in remitted

first-episode psychosis: relapse rates and functional outcome. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2007) 68:654–61. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v68n0502

 Chen EY, Hui CL, Lam MM, Chiu CP, Law CW, Chung DW, et al. Maintenance treatment with quetiapine versus discontinuation after one year of treatment in patients with remitted first episode psychosis: randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* (2010) 341:c4024. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c4024

- 4. Gaebel W, Riesbeck M, Wölwer W, Klimke A, Eickhoff M, von Wilmsdorff M, et al. Relapse prevention in first-episode schizophreniamaintenance vs intermittent drug treatment with prodrome-based early intervention: results of a randomized controlled trial within the German Research Network on Schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry (2011) 72:205–18. doi: 10.4088/JCP.09m05459yel
- Landolt K, Rössler W, Ajdacic-Gross V, Derks EM, Libiger J, Kahn RS, et al. Predictors of discontinuation of antipsychotic medication and subsequent outcomes in the European First Episode Schizophrenia Trial (EUFEST). Schizophr Res. (2016) 172:145–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016. 01.046
- Green MF, Kern RS, Braff DL, Mintz J. Neurocognitive deficits and functional outcome in schizophrenia: are we measuring the "right stuff"? *Schizophr Bull.* (2000) 26:119–36. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a0 33430
- Law H, Morrison AP. Recovery in psychosis: a Delphi study with experts by experience. Schizophr Bull. (2014) 40:1347–55. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu047
- Iyer SN, Mangala R, Anitha J, Thara R, Malla AK. An examination of patientidentified goals for treatment in a first-episode programme in Chennai, India. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2011) 5:360–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2011.0 0289.x
- Green MF, Harvey PD. Cognition in schizophrenia: past, present, and future. Schizophr Res Cogn. (2014) 1:e1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2014. 02.001
- Sumiyoshi T, Nishida K, Niimura H, Toyomaki A, Morimoto T, Tani M, et al. Cognitive insight and functional outcome in schizophrenia; a multicenter collaborative study with the specific level of functioning scale-Japanese version. *Schizophr Res Cogn.* (2016) 6:9–14. doi: 10.1016/j.scog.2016.08.001
- Fu S, Czajkowski N, Rund BR, Torgalsbøen AK. The relationship between level of cognitive impairments and functional outcome trajectories in first-episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 190:144–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.03.002
- Takeuchi H, Thiyanavadivel S, Fervaha G, Remington G. Neurocognitive benefits of second-generation antipsychotics versus placebo: insufficient evidence based on a systematic review. J Clin Psychopharmacol. (2017) 37:274– 6. doi: 10.1097/JCP.00000000000662
- Nielsen RE, Levander S, Kjaersdam Telléus G, Jensen SO, Østergaard Christensen T, Leucht S. Second-generation antipsychotic effect on cognition in patients with schizophrenia–a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. (2015) 131:185–96. doi: 10.1111/acps. 12374
- Hill SK, Bishop JR, Palumbo D, Sweeney JA. Effect of second-generation antipsychotics on cognition: current issues and future challenges. *Expert Rev Neurother.* (2010) 10:43–57. doi: 10.1586/ern.09.143
- Thompson A, Singh S, Birchwood M. Views of early psychosis clinicians on discontinuation of antipsychotic medication following symptom remission in first episode psychosis. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2016) 10:355–61. doi: 10.1111/eip.12244
- Alvarez-Jimenez M, O'Donoghue B, Thompson A, Gleeson JF, Bendall S, Gonzalez-Blanch C, et al. Beyond clinical remission in first episode psychosis: thoughts on antipsychotic maintenance vs. guided discontinuation in the functional recovery era. CNS Drugs (2016) 30:357–68. doi: 10.1007/s40263-016-0331-x
- Karson C, Duffy RA, Eramo A, Nylander AG, Offord SJ. Long-term outcomes of antipsychotic treatment in patients with first-episode schizophrenia: a systematic review. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. (2016) 12:57–67. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S96392
- Zhu Y, Krause M, Huhn M, Rothe P, Schneider-Thoma J, Chaimani A, et al. Antipsychotic drugs for the acute treatment of patients with a first episode of schizophrenia: a systematic review with pairwise and network metaanalyses. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2017) 4:694–705. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)3 0270-5
- Zipursky RB, Menezes NM, Streiner DL. Risk of symptom recurrence with medication discontinuation in first-episode psychosis: a systematic review. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 152:408–14. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.08.001
- 20. Faber G, Smid HG, Van Gool AR, Wiersma D, Van Den Bosch RJ. The effects of guided discontinuation of antipsychotics on neurocognition in first

onset psychosis. Eur Psychiatry (2012) 27:275-80. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2011. 02.003

- Wunderink L, Nieboer RM, Wiersma D, Sytema S, Nienhuis FJ. Recovery in remitted first-episode psychosis at 7 years of follow-up of an early dose reduction/discontinuation or maintenance treatment strategy: long-term follow-up of a 2-year randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70:913–20. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.19
- 22. Takeuchi H, Suzuki T, Remington G, Bies RR, Abe T, Graff-Guerrero A, et al. Effects of risperidone and olanzapine dose reduction on cognitive function in stable patients with schizophrenia: an open-label, randomized, controlled, pilot study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:993–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt090
- 23. Hui CLM, Honer WG, Lee EHM, Chang WC, Chan SKW, Chen ESM, et al. Long-term effects of discontinuation from antipsychotic maintenance following first-episode schizophrenia and related disorders: a 10 year follow-up of a randomised, double-blind trial. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2018) 5:432–42. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30090-7
- Mayoral-van Son J, de la Foz VO, Martinez-Garcia O, Moreno T, Parrilla-Escobar M, Valdizan EM, et al. Clinical outcome after antipsychotic treatment discontinuation in functionally recovered first-episode nonaffective psychosis individuals: a 3-year naturalistic follow-up study. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2016) 77:492–500. doi: 10.4088/JCP.14m09540
- Lezak MD. Neuropsychological Assessment. 3rd ed. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (1995).
- Wechsler D. WAIS-III: Wechsler adult intelligence scale. In: *Administration and Scoring Manual*, 3rd edn. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation (1997).
- Yamashima T, Yoshida M, Kumahashi K, Matsui M, Koshino Y, Higashima M, et al. [The Japanese version of RBANS (Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status)]. No To Shinkei (2002) 54:463–71.
- 28. Randolph C. Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation (1998).
- Frances A, Pincus HA, First MB. The global assessment of functioning scale (GAF). In: American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (1994). p. 32.
- Gold LH. DSM-5 and the assessment of functioning: the World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule 2.0 (WHODAS 2.0). J Am Acad Psychiatry Law (2014) 42:173–81.
- Oliver JP. The social care directive: development of a quality of life profile for use in community services for the mentally ill. Soc Work Soc Sci Rev. (1991) 3:5–45.
- van Nieuwenhuizen C, Schene AH, Koeter MW, Huxley PJ. The Lancashire quality of life profile: modification and psychometric evaluation. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2001) 36:36–44. doi: 10.1007/s0012700 50288
- Wiersma D, DeJong A, Ormel J. The Groningen social disabilities schedule: development, relationship with I.C.I.D.H., and psychometric properties. *Int J Rehabil Res.* (1988) 11:213–24. doi: 10.1097/00004356-198809000-00001
- Goldman HH, Skodol AE, Lave TR. Revising axis V for DSM-IV: a review of measures of social functioning. Am J Psychiatry (1992) 149:1148–56. doi: 10.1176/ajp.149.9.1148
- 35. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2000).
- Goodman SH, Sewell DR, Cooley EL, Leavitt N. Assessing levels of adaptive functioning: the role functioning scale. *Commun. Ment Health J.* (1993) 29:119–31. doi: 10.1007/BF00756338
- Ware JE, Kosinski M. SF-36 Physical and Mental Health Summary Scales: a User's Manual. Boston, MA: The Health Institute, New England Medical Center (1994).
- Gspandl S, Peirson RP, Nahhas RW, Skale TG, Lehrer DS. Comparing Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) and World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule (WHODAS) 2.0 in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 259:251–3. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.10.033
- 39. Undurraga J, Murru A, Vieta E. Early medication discontinuation on long-term recovery outcome in first-episode psychosis. JAMA

*Psychiatry* (2014) 71:206–7. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.201 3.2993

- Hui CL, Chen EY. Early medication discontinuation on long-term recovery outcome in first-episode psychosis. JAMA Psychiatry (2014) 71:207–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.3697
- Husa AP, Moilanen J, Murray GK, Marttila R, Haapea M, Rannikko I, et al. Lifetime antipsychotic medication and cognitive performance in schizophrenia at age 43 years in a general population birth cohort. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 247:130–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016. 10.085
- 42. Gaebel W, Riesbeck M, Wölwer W, Klimke A, Eickhoff M, von Wilmsdorff M, et al. Predictors for symptom re-exacerbation after targeted stepwise drug discontinuation in first-episode schizophrenia: results of the first-episode study within the German research network on schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 170:168–76. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.10.024
- Alvarez-Jiménez M, Parker AG, Hetrick SE, McGorry PD, Gleeson JF. Preventing the second episode: a systematic review and meta-analysis of psychosocial and pharmacological trials in first-episode psychosis. Schizophr Bull. (2011) 37:619–30. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp129

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Omachi and Sumiyoshi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Cognitive Remediation for Schizophrenia with Focus on NEAR**

#### Tamiko Mogami\*

Faculty of Medicine, Tottori University, Yonago, Japan

#### Keywords: cognition, cognitive remediation, schizophrenia, motivation, intervention

Cognitive remediation or CR is increasingly gaining attention in the field of psychiatry. CR is still a relatively new intervention method for persistent and severe psychiatric illness such as schizophrenia. This article purports to provide general overview of CR and refers to NEAR as its specific example, with the hope that the article will be of help to solicit interest of professionals in psychiatry.

Cognitive remediation has been reported to improve cognition such as attention (1) processing speed (2), immediate learning and memory (1), verbal working memory (3), and problemsolving (4).

In symptomatology of schizophrenia, symptoms are traditionally described in the three groups; positive symptoms, negative symptoms, and thought disorders. More recent literature describing the major symptom groups of schizophrenia might mention positive symptoms, negative symptoms, and cognitive dysfunction. Prevalence of cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia has been discussed (5). It is observed in more than 80% of people with schizophrenia (5). Cognitive dysfunction occurs as early as the first episode of the illness and persists through the late episodes. Its commonality and severity demand targeting intervention. Severity of the dysfunction varies depending on specific domain of cognition, and most common cognitive domains that are known to be seriously impaired include verbal learning, executive functions, vigilance, motor speed, and verbal fluency (5).

Cognitive dysfunction has been associated with social functioning, such as work, education, independent living, and leisure. More specifically, a study has pointed out that cognition such as vigilance, working memory, verbal memory, and executive functions are positively associated with functional outcomes including social function and occupational function (6). Another study showed that cognition such as working memory, attention, perceptual processing, verbal memory, and processing speed accounted for 52% of functional outcome variance including returning to work or school (7).

While cognitive dysfunction may be considered as a primary feature of schizophrenia, some myths may warrant clarification (5). Cognitive dysfunction is not caused by positive symptoms (5). Cognitive dysfunction is not primarily caused by medications, although there are some exceptions. Although cognitive dysfunction is associated with negative symptoms, it is not caused by negative symptoms. Cognitive dysfunction is not a reflection of overall cognitive decline.

Cognitive remediation was designed as a method of intervention to address cognitive dysfunction. CR may be considered as one of the rehabilitation tools for schizophrenia. As a relatively new method of treatment in psychiatry in Japan, CR is sometimes misunderstood as a choice of intervention for dementia, or as a subtype of cognitive-behavioral therapy. CR is unlike other treatment methods in that it targets neurocognition directly.

Cognitive remediation has several approaches and each has different characteristics, such as use of computer (8), inclusion of employment training (9), focus on a particular aspect such as social cognition (10), or emphasis of motivation (8). CR approaches differ from each other by training focus such as drill practice or strategy, by training model such as rehabilitation or compensation, and by perspectives on hierarchical order of cognition task such as bottom-up perspective or top-down perspective.

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Kee-Hong Choi, Korea University, South Korea

#### \*Correspondence:

Tamiko Mogami mogami@med.tottori-u.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 November 2017 Accepted: 19 December 2017 Published: 17 January 2018

#### Citation:

Mogami T (2018) Cognitive Remediation for Schizophrenia with Focus on NEAR. Front. Psychiatry 8:304. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00304

162

When new psychosocial intervention approach such as CR is introduced, its dissemination is often dependent upon practical issues. Effectiveness of CR is tested in a controlled laboratory setting, which is difficult to replicate in a real-world, clinical setting (11). Ease of delivery, clinician training, and clinician supervision, appear to affect which method of CR is selected by a site. Structured or manualized method of CR is generally preferred, as the presence of a structure in a psychosocial intervention tends to improve treatment or implementation fidelity (11).

Delivery of CR has challenges in some settings, such as non-English speaking countries. When CR uses computer software programs, finding appropriate ones may pose difficulty, as the same software programs mentioned in CR treatment manuals may not be available or usable due to language issues. Likewise health insurance system differs depending on a country where CR is delivered, and affects if and how CR may be offered.

NEAR is a form of CR and stands for Neurocognitive and Educational Approach to (Cognitive) Remediation. NEAR was developed by Medalia and her colleagues (12). In NEAR, two computerized sessions and one verbal session a week are typically offered. Sessions are offered in a small group format, which facilitates interpersonal aspect of rehabilitation. NEAR is based on educational principles and emphasizes intrinsic motivation (IM). NEAR has been effective in improving cognition and social functioning (13). The improvement has been maintained as long as 4-month follow-up (13).

NEAR is based on learning principles and views CR as a form of education (14), as CR asks individuals to do something in a new manner. In a traditional learning model, individuals' ability determined the learning outcome, leaving small room for change by intervention. However, in a more recent learning model, individuals' cognitive ability, motivation, and mode of instruction all affect one another, determining learning outcomes (15).

In NEAR, intake interview is conducted prior to a patient's enrollment in a group. Cognition is assessed prior to the beginning of NEAR, and relevant background information is gathered such as educational history, employment history, learning styles, and rehabilitation goals. In some instances, a neuropsychological testing may be conducted to measure cognition. Rehabilitation goals may be in the domains of education, employment, independent living, or leisure, and it is desirable that these goals are specific. Specific rehabilitation goals may be used to illustrate how mastering a specific cognitive task is helpful in real life.

People with severe psychiatric illness such as schizophrenia tend to have impairment in motivation, as noted in avolition or anhedonia. IM has been studied as a mediating factor between cognition and social functioning (16). The need for intervention for schizophrenia to enhance IM has been shown (17). It has been demonstrated that CR that enhances IM, compared to CR which does not, improves the sense of competence, and cognition more significantly (8).

There is a range of motivation from rather external to IM (18). Motivation has been linked to behaviors, and an externally motivated individual may engage in a particular behavior due to external forces or encouragement such as teacher, medical staff,

a high test score, or monetary reward. An intrinsically motivated individual may engage in a particular behavior because he/she may regard the behavior as interesting, enjoyable, valuable, or at which they are competent. Intrinsically motivated individuals may engage in a behavior when they consider that they are autonomously choosing the behavior, and it is not forced upon them.

Intrinsic motivation theoretically is based on self-determination theory or SDT (18). SDT posits the three needs that are associated with IM: competence, (personal) relatedness, and autonomy. SDT shows how behavior's regulatory style differs from external regulation to intrinsic regulation (IM). In NEAR, patients are encouraged to regulate behaviors in multiple ways (i.e., external vs. internal), in cognitive tasks and intervention techniques; it was shown that intervention that incorporated SDT improved cognition larger compared to intervention that did not (8).

Analogous to learning in an educational setting, people engage in tasks based on expectancy-value theory in psychiatric rehabilitation (19). It is said that people tend to engage in new behavior (and for most patients in CR, working on cognitive tasks is new behavior) when they feel in control, autonomous, competent, efficacious, and when they find the behavior interesting or meaningful. To address these issues and to ultimately enhance IM so that people with psychiatric illness can develop autonomous help-seeking behaviors, NEAR incorporates motivation enhancing components in cognitive tasks and intervention techniques.

NEAR uses both restorative and compensatory approaches. Intervention techniques include errorless learning, shaping, and prompting (12). Errorless learning introduces a task at a certain difficulty level only after easier levels are mastered, so that chances for making errors are limited. Shaping enables goal attainment as it presents with achievable, non-threatening, small goals. In prompting, facilitator may suggest what behaviors to take without giving the answers. The interventions are different from providing the answer, as it gives the patient a chance to solve the task themselves.

The techniques make it possible for patients to engage in tasks autonomously. NEAR facilitators act like a coach for athletes using these techniques: while they may show how to solve a problem, they typically do not provide the answers. NEAR cognitive tasks may be contextualized in life so that trained cognition may be easily transferred to real life situations.

NEAR facilitates a verbal session in addition to a cognitive session. Verbal session is also referred to as bridging session, as it bridges cognitive tasks to real life cognition, or life goals such as vocational goal. Bridging session purports to transfer of cognitive skills trained in cognitive sessions to real-life situations. Bridging session may take a form of a discussion that allows participants present or learn about types of cognitive tasks they are working on, or a group game which allows participants to use cognitive skills they are training, or a group session with emphasis on communication. For instance, a patient may recall a memory task from a cognitive session and make a connection to real life by stating that he/she must memorize item placements and pricing at work.

Cognitive remediation outcome has been reported from meta-analyses. Interested readers are suggested to refer to metaanalyses that compare the outcomes of different CR methods (19, 20). A meta-analysis of 26 CR outcome studies revealed improvement of cognition with medium effect size of 0.41 (21). NEAR has improved cognition such as attention (8), processing speed (21, 22), immediate learning and memory (1), and delayed verbal memory (22). NEAR outcome studies have been conducted at a variety of settings such as outpatient psychiatric facilities (1, 13), inpatient psychiatric units (4), intensive psychiatric rehabilitation (23), supportive housing facility (24), and its controlled trials have been conducted (3, 13): in these studies, computer sessions were provided once or twice a week, and the duration of the treatment differed from 4 to 15 weeks. Longer treatment duration is recommended to achieve clinically significant change (12). Outcome studies do not clarify whether verbal session was conducted.

Cognitive remediation has been known to be most effective when combined with a comprehensive psychiatric rehabilitation (25), and when drill-and-practice coaching is combined with strategy coaching (21). CR may be provided as a part of a more comprehensive psychiatric rehabilitation, such as psychiatric day treatment. Neurocognition may be trained in CR while the skills connected to the same domain may be practiced in other programs such as farming, cooking, or athletic sports. In a CR program such as NEAR, patients have a chance to practice certain skill repeatedly, just as one might practice striking a baseball, while they also have a chance to strategize their approach to a cognitive task.

Patient factors known to be associated with CR outcomes include baseline cognition, clinical stability (26), motivation (25), and phase of illness (27). Severity of positive or negative symptoms, provided pharmacological treatment is provided,

### REFERENCES

- Lee RSC, Redoblado-Hodge MA, Naismith SL, Hermens DF, Porter MA, Hickie IB. Cognitive remediation improves memory and psychosocial functioning in first-episode psychiatric out-patients. *Psychol Med* (2013) 3:1161–73. doi:10.1017/S0033291712002127
- Kurtz MM, Seltzer JC, Shagan DS, Thime WR, Wexler BE. Computer-assisted cognitive remediation in schizophrenia: what is the active ingredient? *Schizophr Res* (2007) 89:251–60. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2006.09.001
- Fiszdon JM, Choi KH, Bell MD, Choi J, Silverstein SM. Cognitive remediation for individuals with psychosis: efficacy and mechanisms of treatment effects. *Psychol Med* (2016) 46(16):3275–89. doi:10.1017/S0033291716001951
- Medalia A, Revheim N, Casey M. Remediation of problem-solving skills in schizophrenia: evidence of a persistent effect. *Schizophr Res* (2002) 57:165–71. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00293-6
- 5. Harvey PD, Sharma T. *Understanding and Treating Cognition in Schizophrenia*. London: Martin Dunitz (2002).
- Green MF, Nuechterlein KH. Should schizophrenia be treated as a neurocognitive disorder? *Schizophr Bull* (1999) 25:309–18. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033380
- Nuechterlein KH, Subotnik KL, Green MF, Ventura J, Asarnow RF, Gitlin MJ, et al. Neurocognitive predictors of work outcome in recent-onset schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 37:S33–40. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbr084
- Choi J, Medalia A. Intrinsic motivation and learning in a schizophrenia spectrum sample. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 118:12–9. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2009.08.001
- Bell M, Bryson G, Greig T, Corcoran C, Wexler BE. Neurocognitive enhancement therapy with work therapy. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2001) 58:763–8. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.58.8.763

does not seem to affect their eligibility for CR. It seems to stand for a reason that a strong motivation as measured by attendance rate was positively associated with improvement in cognition (25). Motivational interviewing has also been conducted prior to patients' enrollment in CR (28). CR outcome studies divided the patients depending on the phase of illness consisting of early course and chronic phase. Early-course patients, when compared to chronic patients, mostly showed larger improvement in cognition (27), but the reasoning behind the difference is yet to be determined.

Limitations of CR outcome studies are listed here, providing their future directions. Overlap of treatment providers and evaluators may crowd the outcome evaluation. Variability of control conditions makes it difficult to determine the effectiveness of intervention among different trials. CR treatment fidelity is not clearly established in some studies, making it difficult to know specificity of how CR was provided. Variability of outcome scales makes it difficult to compare effectiveness of CR among different trials. Providing a specific manner which ascertains treatment fidelity is needed to improve the quality of CR outcome studies, while also enhancing optimal CR in clinical settings.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author conceptualized and wrote this manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Drs. Kazuyuki Nakagome, Koichi Kaneko, Satoru Ikezawa, Tomiki Sumiyoshi, and Mr. Tatsuro Iwane's help with the author's work on this article is appreciated.

- Muller DR, Roder V. Integrated psychological therapy and integrated neuropsychological therapy. In: Roder V, Medalia A, editors. *Neurocognition and Social Cognition in Schizophrenia Patients*. Switzerland: Karger (2010). p. 118–44.
- Hayes SC. Getting to dissemination. Clin Psychol SciPract (2002) 9:410–5. doi:10.1093/clipsy.9.4.410
- Medalia A, Revheim N, Herlands T. Cognitive Remediation for Psychological Disorders. New York: Oxford University Press (2009).
- Hodge MAR, Siciliano D, Withey P, Moss B, Moore G, Judd G, et al. A randomized controlled trial of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2010) 36:419–27. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbn102
- Medalia A, Feilich B. The neuropsychological educational approach to cognitive remediation (NEAR) model: practice principles and outcome studies. *Am J Psychiatr Rehabil* (2008) 11:123–43. doi:10.1080/ 15487760801963660
- Medalia A, Choi J. Cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. Neurosychol Rev (2009) 19:353–64. doi:10.1007/s11065-009-9097-y
- Nakagami E, Xie B, Hoe M, Brekke JS. Intrinsic motivation, neurocognition and psychosocial functioning in schizophrenia: testing mediator and moderator effects. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 105:95–104. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2008.06.015
- Nakagami E, Hoe M, Brekke JS. The prospective relationships among intrinsic motivation, neurocognition, and psychosocial functioning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2010) 36:935–48. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbq043
- Ryan MR, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *Am Psychol* (2000) 55:68–78. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68
- Wigfield A, Eccles JS. Expectancy-value theory of achievement motivation. *Contemp Educ Psychol* (2000) 25:68–81. doi:10.1006/ceps.1999.1015
- 20. Bryce S, Sloan E, Lee S, Ponsford J, Rossell S. Cognitive remediation in schizophrenia: a methodological appraisal of systematic reviews

and meta-analysis. J Psychiatr Res (2016) 75:91-106. doi:10.1016/j. jpsychires.2016.01.004

- McGurk SR, Twamley EW, Sitzer DI, McHugo GJ, Mueser KT. A metaanalysis of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2007) 164: 1791–802. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07060906
- 22. Rogers P, Redoblado-Hodge A. A multi-site trial of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia: an Australian sample. *Paper Presented at the 9th Annual Conference on Cognitive Remediation in Psychiatry*. New York (2006).
- Revhim N, Kamnitzer D, Casey M, Medalia A. Implementation of a cognitive rehabilitation in an IPRT setting. *Psychiatr Rehabil Skills* (2001) 5:403–25. doi:10.1080/15487760108415443
- Medalia A, Herlands T, Baginsky C. Cognitive remediation in the supportive housing setting. *Psychiatr Serv* (2003) 54:1219–20. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.54.9.1219
- Choi J, Medalia A. Factors associated with a positive response to cognitive remediation in a community psychiatric sample. *Psychiatr Serv* (2005) 56:602–4. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.56.5.602
- Twamley EW, Burton CZ, Vella L. Compensatory cognitive training for psychosis: who benefits? Who stays in treatment? *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 37:S55–62. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbr059

- Bowie CR, Grossman M, Gupta M, Oyewumi KL, Harvey PD. Cognitive remediation for schizophrenia: efficacy and effectiveness in patients with early versus long-term course of illness. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2014) 8:32–8. doi:10.1111/eip.12029
- Fiszdon JM, Kurtz MM, Choi J, Bell MD, Martino S. Motivational interviewing to increase cognitive rehabilitation adherence in schizophrenia. Shizophr Bull (2016) 42:327–34. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv143

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Mogami. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Cognitive Remediation in Middle-Aged or Older Inpatients with Chronic Schizophrenia: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Korea**

Kee-Hong Choi<sup>1</sup>, Jinsook Kang<sup>1</sup>, Sun-Min Kim<sup>1</sup>, Seung-Hwan Lee<sup>2</sup>, Seon-Cheol Park<sup>3</sup>, Won-Hye Lee<sup>4</sup>, Sun Choi<sup>5</sup>, Kiho Park<sup>1</sup> and Tae-Yeon Hwang<sup>6\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychology, Korea University, Seoul, South Korea, <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Inje University College of Medicine and Ilsan Paik Hospital, Goyang, South Korea, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Inje University College of Medicine and Haeundae Paik Hospital, Busan, South Korea, <sup>4</sup> Department of Clinical Psychology, National Center for Mental Health, Seoul, South Korea, <sup>5</sup> Department of Clinical Psychology, Yongin Mental Hospital, Yongin, South Korea, <sup>6</sup> Division of Mental Health Service and Planning, National Center for Mental Health and Yongin WHO Collaborating Center for Psychosocial Rehabilitation and Community Mental Health, Seoul, South Korea

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry (Japan), Japan

### Reviewed by:

Satoru Ikezawa, Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development, Japan Mahesh Menon, University of British Columbia, Canada

> \*Correspondence: Tae-Yeon Hwang lilymh@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 20 October 2017 Accepted: 27 December 2017 Published: 06 February 2018

#### Citation:

Choi K-H, Kang J, Kim S-M, Lee S-H, Park S-C, Lee W-H, Choi S, Park K and Hwang T-Y (2018) Cognitive Remediation in Middle-Aged or Older Inpatients with Chronic Schizophrenia: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Korea. Front. Psychol. 8:2364. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02364 **Background:** Accumulating evidence indicates that cognitive remediation (CR) is effective for improving various cognitive deficits in adult patients with schizophrenia. Although reports of brain plasticity in older adults and the service needs for chronic patients with schizophrenia are increasing, very few randomized controlled trials of CR have been conducted in middle-aged or older inpatients with chronic schizophrenia. We investigated the efficacy of individualized CR on the cognitive impairments of middle-aged or older inpatients with chronic schizophrenia within the context of comprehensive psychiatric rehabilitation (PR) by comparing the results obtained with PR only and treatment as usual (TAU).

**Method:** Fifty-seven middle-aged and older individuals with chronic schizophrenia and mild to moderate cognitive deficits were enrolled. Thirty-eight who were undergoing PR were randomly assigned to CR + PR (N = 19) or PR-only (N = 19) groups. Nineteen participants who were undergoing TAU without CR or PR were evaluated pre- and post-treatment.

**Results:** CR was easily provided and well received (drop-out rates = 5.3%) by middle-aged or older psychiatric inpatients. Compared to the PR-Only or TAU patients, patients in the CR + PR group showed greater improvement in executive functioning. Compared to TAU patients, CR + PR and PR-only patients showed greater improvement in logical memory. More patients in the CR + PR group improved clinically significantly in executive functioning and logical memory, compared with the PR-only and TAU patients.

**Conclusions:** These results suggested that CR improved some cognitive deficits in middle-aged or older inpatients with chronic schizophrenia and that it was effective as an adjunctive treatment to the usual PR services provided in inpatient settings.

### Clinical Registration: KCT0002609

Keywords: cognitive remediation, older patients, brain plasticity, schizophrenia, inpatient psychiatric rehabilitation

# INTRODUCTION

Cognitive deficits have been identified as a key predictor of the functioning of patients with schizophrenia across various phases of the illness from the first episode to chronic illness, even after considering the patients' psychiatric symptoms (Green, 1996; Green and Nuechterlein, 1999; Green et al., 2004; Kurtz et al., 2005; Keefe et al., 2006; Rund et al., 2007). Cognitive functioning has critical therapeutic implications in diverse contexts, including treatment (Smith et al., 1999; Lysaker and Buck, 2007), and vocational rehabilitation (Bell et al., 2007, 2014; McGurk et al., 2015).

Given the therapeutic and functional importance of cognitive deficits in this population (Keefe and Harvey, 2012), cognitive remediation (CR) has received substantial attention as an adjunct treatment option for psychiatric rehabilitation (PR) (Wykes and Spaulding, 2011). In recent decades, randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have demonstrated the efficacy of CR on psychiatric symptoms, cognition, and functioning (Krabbendam and Aleman, 2003; McGurk et al., 2007a; Grynszpan et al., 2011; Wykes et al., 2011).

With the recent increases in life expectancy, the service needs for chronic mid-aged or older adults with chronic schizophrenia are growing (Granholm et al., 2005; Bartels et al., 2014; Schoepf et al., 2014). Cognitive function is responsible for functional competence even after considering key demographic information, such as age and education, and the anticholinergic burden of medications, in older adults with schizophrenia (Tsoutsoulas et al., 2016).

Even though older adults have brain plasticity (Willis et al., 2006; Boron et al., 2007), it is unclear whether CR is effective in middle-aged or older adults with or without schizophrenia (Kontis et al., 2013) or the benefits of CR are also produced by untrained cognitive tasks (Owen et al., 2010).

Even though CR has been reported as more beneficial to younger patients with schizophrenia compared to mid-aged or older patients with schizophrenia (McGurk and Mueser, 2008; Kontis et al., 2013), several studies have indicated that CR still has benefits for in mid-aged or older patients. Wykes and colleagues (Wykes et al., 2007) have reported that, after approximately 30 h of cognitive training, patients who were 40 or older had similar improvements in their memory as those shown by patients younger than 40. Bowie et al. (2014) have reported that older patients (mean age, 45.4) showed improvements in verbal memory and verbal fluency as younger patients (mean age, 28.1) did, while only the younger patients had improvements in processing speed and executive functioning. Most recently, Corbera et al. (2017) conducted a secondary analysis of the results of three different RCTs to investigate the responses of patients with three different age ranges (i.e., <26, between 26 and 39, and over 40) to CR treatment, and they reported that the younger

Abbreviations: CL, Conceptual level; CR, Cognitive remediation; LM, Logical memory; PANSS, Positive and negative syndrome scale; PR, Psychiatric rehabilitation; RCI, Reliable change index; RCTs, Randomized controlled trials; TAU, Treatment as usual; WAIS-IV, Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Fourth edition; WCST, Wisconsin card sorting test; WMS-IV, Wechsler Memory Scale-Fourth Edition.

patients benefited more (trend level of significance) compared with the older patient group.

Because promising findings have been reported in non-RCTs, a RCT of the role of CR in the treatment of the cognitive functioning of middle-aged or older patients with schizophrenia is still needed. Sharma et al. (2016) highlighted in their review that controlled studies are needed to better understand whether CR benefits older adults with severe mental illness within the context of broad PR treatments, even though CR appears to have therapeutic benefits for older adults with various health conditions, such as mild cognitive impairment, brain injury, and severe mental illness (Bartels and Pratt, 2009).

To the best of our knowledge, only one RCT study has been conducted to date in middle-aged or older out-patients with schizophrenia (mean age, 46.9 and 48.5 for CR and Control, respectively), and it reported null effects in the neuropsychological assessments of the outpatients compared to active control groups (Dickinson et al., 2010). Since Spaulding et al. (1999a)'s seminal work on CR for inpatients with schizophrenia during intensive PR, numerous RCT trials have demonstrated its clinical effectiveness and functional importance for recovery of relatively younger inpatients with schizophrenia (Medalia et al., 1998, 2000, 2001; Sartory et al., 2005; Silverstein et al., 2005, 2009; Ueland and Rund, 2005; Vauth et al., 2005; Wykes et al., 2007). Despite the growing number of chronic and older inpatients with schizophrenia, only one RCT has been conducted on CR in relatively older in-patients (mean age, 43.46), and its findings suggested that CR results in additional benefits within the context of vocational rehabilitation (Lindenmayer et al., 2008). Previous meta-analyses (McGurk et al., 2007b; Wykes et al., 2011) have emphasized that investigations of whether CR has additive benefits in older patients with schizophrenia within the context of PR are of great interest (Bartels and Pratt, 2009; Sharma et al., 2016).

To examine the effects of CR and PR together and PR only on neurocognitive functioning and psychiatric symptoms in this study, we included a treatment-as-usual (TAU) group (without PR) as another control group. Importantly, to the best of our knowledge, no RCTs have been conducted on non-western inpatients within the context of comprehensive PR, even though inpatient clinics, in conjunction with community-based PR, are important settings for PR.

Thus, in the current study, we employed a RCT design (CR + PR vs. PR only) to evaluate the efficacy of a CR program for middle-aged or older inpatients with chronic schizophrenia within a PR context compared to TAU. We hypothesized that CR + PR treatment would result in the greatest improvements, followed by PR only and TAU, in untrained neurocognitive domains and psychiatric symptoms in middle-aged or older inpatients with chronic schizophrenia.

# METHODS

# **Clinical Trial Design**

Of the 79 inpatients with schizophrenia who were referred to this clinical trial (53 from the PR unit and 26 from the TAU unit), eight did not meet the inclusion criteria and 14 declined

to participate. A final total of 38 inpatients with schizophrenia from the PR unit who met the inclusion criteria of the study and who gave consent were randomly assigned to the CR + PR or PRonly groups (Figure 1). Nineteen inpatients with schizophrenia from the TAU unit were allocated to the TAU group (Figure 1). The participants from the PR unit who met the study criteria and consented to the current trial were informed that they were assigned to CR in addition to the usual PR programs or the usual PR program only. The TAU group was informed that they would be assessed two different times. All participants were interviewed and assessed before starting the trial and immediately after the trial. Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) and neurocognitive assessments were conducted by master-level pretrained research assistants. The administration and scoring procedures were supervised by licensed clinical psychologists (K. H. Choi, W. H. Lee, and S. Choi). The current study has been registered with Clinical Research Information Service (CRIS) registry, number KCT0002609.

# **Participants**

The diagnoses of the 57 inpatients with schizophrenia (32 males and 25 females) were confirmed by the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 1994). Prior to the very recent reform in "Acts on the Improvement of Mental Health and the Support for Welfare Services for Mental Patients" in Korea, the average percentage of involuntary hospitalization to mental health units in Korea has been very high from 67.9 to 93.3% (Ministry of Health Welfare, 2016). All participants

in this study were involuntarily admitted to the long stay close unit of the hospital. The mean age of the patients was 50.07, with a range of 36–59, and their number of years of education was 10.93. All patients had been on stable medication regimens for the previous 30 days, with no groups differed for psychotropic medication dose equivalents (Inada and Inagaki, 2015) and maintained their medication dosages during the current 3-month long outcome trial, except for PRN medications. Participants were excluded if they had any of the following: substance use, serious traumatic brain injury or other neurological disorder, or acute psychiatric symptoms. Four patients were dropped due to discharge. All participants in this research voluntarily participated and provided written informed consent.

# Measures

### **Psychiatric Symptoms**

Psychiatric symptoms were measured by using the PANSS (Kay et al., 1987), which includes five subscales: negative, excitement, cognitive, positive, and depressive (Bell et al., 1994). The internal consistency coefficients of the original version of each subscale were the following: negative ( $\alpha = 0.86$ ), excitement ( $\alpha = 0.76$ ), cognitive ( $\alpha = 0.79$ ), positive ( $\alpha = 0.80$ ), and depressive ( $\alpha = 0.69$ ). In the current study, the internal consistency coefficients were of each subscale were the following: negative ( $\alpha = 0.92$ ), excitement ( $\alpha = 0.45$ ), cognitive ( $\alpha = 0.43$ ), positive ( $\alpha = 0.74$ ), and depressive ( $\alpha = 0.67$ ). In the current study, the inter-rater reliability coefficient was 0.96.



### Motivation

Participants' overall motivation was measured by the BIS/BAS scale (Carver and White, 1994; Kim and Kim, 2001).

# Premorbid IQ

Premorbid IQ was estimated by using the Information subtest score from the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Fourth edition (WAIS-IV) (Wechsler, 2008) and demographic variables, including years of education, age, gender, and ethnicity (Kim et al., 2015).

### Neurocognition

Attention/processing speed was assessed by using the Trail Making Test A, which requires the examinee to draw a line between numbers in order within 360 s (Arbuthnott and Frank, 2000). Processing speed was also assessed by using the symbol-coding test, which is a subtest of the WAIS-IV (Wechsler, 2008) and which requires the conversion of numbers to matched symbols in a limited amount of time. Patients with schizophrenia exhibit decreased processing speed and working memory (Kreiner and Ryan, 2001).

Working memory was assessed by using the letter-number sequencing test, which is a subtest of the WAIS-IV (Wechsler, 2008) and which requires the manipulation or visualization of orally presented words and numbers and the recitation of the numbers first in numerical order and then letters in alphabetical order. Verbal logical memory (LM) was assessed by using the LM (I and II) tests, which are subtests of the Wechsler Memory Scale-Fourth Edition (WMS-IV) (Wechsler, 2009). The test is comprised of immediate recall, delayed recall, and recognition tasks for two stories. The stories are read with clear pronunciation by the examiner. The LM tests measure the examinees' verbal memory capacity, which is the ability to recall organized and meaningful linguistic information components.

Executive functioning was assessed by using the Trail Making Test B (Trails B), Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) 64, and Verbal Fluency Test. The Trails B requires the examinee to draw a line between numbers and letters that are scattered on paper following the given rules within 360s (Arbuthnott and Frank, 2000). The WCST evaluates executive function, which is the essential cognitive function that enables goal setting, planning, and goal-directed behaviors. The WCST 64 consists of four stimulus cards and 64 response cards that have three different dimensions (i.e., form, color, and number), with each having four components. The examinee is required to place each response card under a stimulus card that they consider a match. After matching the cards, (s)he gets feedback on whether they were right or wrong. Because they are not given any instructions on the pairing rules, the examinees have to determine the rules from the feedback. The verbal fluency test requires the examinees to find as many words as possible that begin with a given consonant in a limited amount of time (60 s) (Lee et al., 2000).

# CR

The CR treatment consisted of 24 sessions that occurred twice a week for 1 h/session for over 3 months. The PSSCogRehab software program (version 12.0; Psychological Software Services,

Inc., Indianapolis, IN, USA) was translated in Korean by K. H. Choi's research group and then used for CR training (Bracy, 2012). The CR training was formulated to include practicing attention, memory, and executive functioning (Figure 2). The starting level and initial training schedules were determined for each individual by a therapist according to their pretreatment assessment. The training schedules (e.g., targeted neurocognitive domains, difficulty levels, etc.) were individualized and updated based on the participants' preferences and levels of performance. CR games from Lumosity.com were also employed to supplement the CR training for spatial memory (e.g., tile matrix and treasures on the beach) and executive functioning (e.g., color match and world of illusion). Because most participants in the current study were not familiar with using computers, the therapists introduced the basic skills (e.g., using a mouse) of computer usage at the initial session and then gradually moved to the CR tasks. The CR sessions consisted of computer-based CR training (50 min) and a bridging group session (10 min) (Medalia et al., 2009). To increase motivation, the participants were reminded at the beginning of each session of their goals for joining the CR program, and they were given the opportunity to link their personal goals with the CR training. In addition, the participants were able to choose tasks that they wanted to practice in each session with the clinician's assistance and monitor their progress. After about 50 min of computer-based CR training, the group members gathered for a bridging group (Medalia et al., 2009), in which they discussed the connections between their goals and the cognitive training and exchanged strategies. The therapists used motivational interviewing techniques to enhance the participants' intrinsic motivation toward the CR (Fiszdon et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2017). All CR sessions were reviewed by K. H. Choi in a weekly supervision meeting or in vivo training sessions to confirm the consistency of the CR protocol.

# PR

The participants who were randomized to the CR + PR and PR-only groups received comprehensive inpatient PR, including optimal pharmacotherapy, vocational rehabilitation, social skills training, daily living skills training, illness management, independent living skills training, and patient empowerment program. The PR did not include specific training on neurocognitive functioning.

# TAU

The participants who were recruited from the TAU unit received optimal pharmacotherapy, psychoeducation, socialization and recreational programs. The TAU group did not receive specific training on neurocognitive functioning or PRspecific components, such as vocational rehabilitation or skills training.

# **Data Analysis**

A series of repeated-measures analyses of variance [withinsubjects factor, time; between-subjects factor, group (CR + PR, PR only, or TAU)] were conducted to examine the effects of CR on the neurocognitive measures, psychiatric symptoms, and clinic unit behaviors. The effect sizes were calculated with the Choi et al

First Session	<ul> <li>Engagement and rapport</li> <li>Program and computer orientation</li> <li>Motivation enhancement</li> <li>Mouse skills training</li> </ul>	
Attention Training	<ul> <li>Engagement and rapport (cont.)</li> <li>Motivation enhancement (cont.)</li> <li>Focused attention</li> <li>Divided attention</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Simple Visual/Auditory Reaction: Click the screen when the visual/auditory stimulus is presented</li> <li>Simple Choice Visual Reaction: Click the screen only when the target visual/auditory stimulus is presented, with random distracters presented</li> </ul>
Memory Training	<ul> <li>Spatial memory</li> <li>Working memory</li> <li>Concentration</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Digit &amp; Graphic: Memorize the presented sequential stimuli (digits or graphics) and recall them in order after pause. The order of recall can be forward or backward.</li> <li><i>Tile matrix</i>*: Remember the colorized cells on 4x4 to 16x16 matrix. The number of cell on matrix increases when the colorized cells were identified correctly.</li> <li><i>Treasures on the beach</i>*: Watch and memorize the graphics (treasures) on screen, and after the graphics are gone, distinguish items whether they were presented or not.</li> </ul>
Executive Function Training	<ul> <li>Planning</li> <li>Principle learning &amp; applying</li> <li>Effective performance</li> <li>Inhibit responses</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Color match*: Two colored words are presented on the screen and the participant have to respond whether the meaning of the word on left side refers to the color of the word on right side or not.</li> <li>Pyramid: There are three rods and a number of disks of different sizes. The participant have to move the disks from a rod to another with minimum movement. Only one disk can be moved at a time, and no disk can be placed over a smaller disk.</li> <li>World of Illusion*: Puzzle game that each piece has a colored symbol on it. The horizontal pieces have to be put by the pieces with the same colored symbol.</li> </ul>

Time-by-Group interaction. *Post-hoc* analyses were conducted to compare the group means at each time point. To estimate the clinical significance, the reliable change index (RCI) was calculated and compared among the groups (Wise, 2004). The RCI was calculated as  $\frac{X_1-X_2}{SE}$  (X<sub>1</sub> = pretest score; X<sub>2</sub> = post-test score; SE =  $s_1\sqrt{1-r_{xx}}$ ;  $s_1$  = the standard deviation of the control group, normal population, or pretreatment group; and  $r_{xx}$  = the test-retest reliability). RCI scores that were equal or >1.96 are considered reliable changes (Wise, 2004).

# **Power Analysis**

Using G\*Power (version 3.1.9.2, Heinrich Heine University, Düsseldorf, Germany) (i.e., repeated measures analyses of variance, measures at two-time points for three groups, p < 0.05, correlations = 0.5–0.8, and Cohen's d = 0.58 in the context of PR) (Faul et al., 2009), moderate effects were found in 45 participants. Considering the potential for missingness, we assigned 19 participants to each group.

# **Ethical Standards**

The study was approved by both Yongin Mental Hospital Institutional Review Board and Korea University Institutional Review Board. The authors assert that all procedures contributing to this work comply with the ethical standards of the relevant national and institutional committees on human experimentation and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008.

# RESULTS

As shown in **Table 1**, 38 participants were randomized to either the CR + PR or PR-only groups, and an additional 19 participants from the TAU unit were allocated to the TAU group. No group differences were found in key demographical variables (e.g., age, education, and gender ratio), premorbid IQ, psychiatric characteristics (e.g., age of onset, duration of illness, number of hospitalizations, BIS/BAS scores and PANSS

#### TABLE 1 | Demographic information.

	CR + PR	PR Only	TAU	F-value	Significance
	<i>n</i> = 19	<i>n</i> = 19	<i>n</i> = 19	Or $\chi^2$	(p-value)
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)		
Age (years)	49.58 (6.19)	49.74 (6.07)	50.89 (6.00)	0.26	0.77
Education (years)	11.11 (3.14)	11.26 (3.72)	10.42 (2.69)	0.37	0.69
Gender, male (percentage)	63.16	52.63	52.63	0.57	0.75
Premorbid IQ estimate	94.37 (9.05)	97.55 (10.57)	93.92 (9.15)	0.80	0.45
Age of Onset	27.81 (7.31)	25.87 (6.84)	23.45 (6.86)	1.80	0.17
Duration of Illness	22.19 (10.66)	23.87 (7.94)	27.45 (5.89)	1.93	0.16
Number of Hospitalizations	5.05 (4.01)	4.67 (3.31)	6.37 (7.22)	0.59	0.58
PSYCHIATRIC SYMPTOMS					
PANSS					
Cognition	23.11 (6.26)	21.32 (3.96)	23.53 (5.58)	0.91	0.41
Depression/Anxiety	11.58 (5.23)	10.11 (4.19)	8.89 (2.98)	1.91	0.16
Excitement/Hostility	5.74 (1.88)	5.84 (1.68)	6.74 (2.21)	1.53	0.22
Negative	16.58 (5.43)	15.37 (5.96)	17.37 (7.22)	0.49	0.61
Positive	13.32 (6.28)	12.16 (5.04)	12.21 (4.39)	0.29	0.75
COGNITIVE FUNCTIONS (T SC	CORES)				
Processing Speed					
Coding	37.72 (11.11)	39.12 (13.19)	34.21 (10.71)	0.89	0.42
Attention					
TMT-A	52.67 (10.34)	55.02 (7.52)	48.67 (21.27)	0.96	0.39
Verbal Working Memory					
LNS	37.89 (14.19)	36.67 (9.36)	32.63 (12.75)	0.96	0.39
Verbal Memory					
LMI	32.98 (9.42)	36.67 (11.39)	31.93 (6.88)	1.33	0.27
LM II	31.4 (9.05)	33.33 (11.86)	28.07 (5.59)	1.59	0.21
Executive Function					
TMT-B	37.12 (14.1)	34.22 (12.96)	28.73 (10.19)	2.20	0.12
VFT	10.63 (3.53)	10.21 (3.05)	9.32 (2.87)	0.86	0.43
WCST TE	36.84 (11.3)	35.58 (12.33)	34.95 (10.11)	0.14	0.87
WCST %PE	40.13 (20.31)	34.52 (22.44)	35.78 (23.81)	0.33	0.72
WCST %CL	25.76 (22.78)	29.86 (22.23)	29.79 (18.19)	0.23	0.79
CPZ Equivalents	1243.79 (2772.51)	2517.99 (6048.33)	510.43 (487.78)	1.32	0.28
BIS/BAS					
Reward Responsiveness	14.16(2.77)	14.47(2.53)	13.74(2.79)	0.36	0.70
Drive	11.47(2.29)	10.89(2.23)	10.68(2.69)	0.55	0.58
Fun Seeking	9.89(2.38)	10.89(1.78)	9.26(2.49)	2.56	0.09
Behavioral Inhibition	18.63(2.85)	19.42(2.06)	19.21(3.19)	0.42	0.66

CR, Cognitive remediation; PR, Psychiatric rehabilitation; TAU, Treatment as usual; M, mean; SD, standard deviation; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; TMT-A, Trail Making Test-A; LNS, Letter-Number Sequencing; LM I, Logical Memory I; LM II, Logical Memory II; TMT-B, Trail Making Test-B; VFT, Verbal fluency test; WCST TE, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Total Errors; WCST %PE, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Perseveration errors; WCST %CL, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Conceptual level responses; CPZ, chlorpromazine.

scores), or baseline neurocognitive functioning (Table 1). The drop-out rates were low for the CR + PR (5.3%) and PR (0.0%) participants, while it was 15.8% for the TAU participants (Figure 1).

# Effects of CR on Neurocognition

The data for all neurocognitive variables are presented in **Table 2**. The time (i.e., pre- and post-treatment)  $\times$  group (i.e., CR + PR, PR only, and TAU) interactions were significant for

both immediate recall (p < 0.001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.21$ ) and delayed recall (p = 0.03,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.13$ ), with medium to large effect sizes. The total errors, perseverative errors, and conceptual level (CL) responses (%) were analyzed to observe abstract thinking, learning strategies, and cognitive flexibility. The time × group interactions were significant for WCST total errors (p = 0.02,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.15$ ) and CL responses (p = 0.004,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.20$ ), with medium to large effect sizes (**Table 2**). No group differences were found for processing speed (WAIS-IV)

#### **TABLE 2** | Effects of cognitive remediation on neurocognition.

			CR + PR		PR Only		TAU		LU
		<i>n</i> =	: 18	n =	: 19	n =	: 16	p-value	$(\eta_p^2)$
		Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post		
		M (SD)							
PROCESSING SPEED									
	Coding	38.70 (10.55)	39.44 (11.73)	39.12 (13.19)	41.58 (14.20)	32.92 (10.81)	31.46 (8.52)	0.13	0.08
ATTENTION									
	TMT-A	52.81 (10.62)	55.58 (12.03)	55.02 (7.52)	57.76 (6.51)	47.98 (22.79)	46.00 (22.94)	0.52	0.03
VERBAL WORKING MI	EMORY								
	LNS	38.89 (13.91)	41.30 (10.91)	36.67 (9.36)	39.12 (10.23)	31.25 (13.44)	29.38 (10.63)	0.16	0.07
VERBAL MEMORY									
	LM I	33.15 (9.67)	41.30 (13.19)	36.67 (11.39)	37.02 (11.49)	32.08 (7.39)	29.79 (9.23)	< 0.01	0.21
	LM II	31.85 (9.09)	40.37 (13.52)	33.33 (11.86)	35.61 (13.43)	27.71 (5.67)	28.75 (7.59)	0.03	0.13
EXECUTIVE FUNCTION	N								
	TMT-B	37.28 (14.49)	37.16 (14.36)	34.22 (12.96)	40.08 (9.31)	29.53 (10.33)	33.31 (11.15)	0.14	0.07
	VFT	10.83 (3.52)	10.83 (3.4)	10.21 (3.05)	10.79 (2.49)	9.00 (2.97)	9.69 (3.16)	0.59	0.02
	WCST TE	36.17 (11.23)	30.67 (12.33)	35.58 (12.33)	38.53 (8.74)	36.81 (9.57)	39.63 (9.79)	0.02	0.15
	WCST %PE	40.48 (20.84)	34.11 (21.99)	34.52 (22.44)	39.14 (20.94)	39.07 (24.56)	44.14 (24.07)	0.17	0.07
	WCST %CL	27.19 (22.54)	36.46 (25.62)	29.86 (22.23)	19.98 (16.15)	26.98 (17.69)	20.21 (17.38)	< 0.01	0.20

CR, Cognitive remediation; PR, Psychiatric rehabilitation; TAU, Treatment as usual; ES, Effect size;  $\eta_p^2$ , Partial eta square; M, mean; SD, standard deviation; TMT-A, Trail Making Test-A; LNS, Letter-Number Sequencing; LM I, Logical Memory I; LM II, Logical Memory II; TMT-B, Trail Making Test-B; VFT, Verbal fluency test; WCST TE, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Total Errors; WCST %PE, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Perseveration errors; WCST %CL, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Conceptual level responses.

Coding), attention (TMT-A), verbal working memory (WAIS-IV Letter-Number Sequencing), or cognitive flexibility (WCST perseveration errors).

### RCI

perseveration errors). Least Significant Difference *post-hoc* tests were conducted on the variables with significant time × group interactions (i.e., LM I & II, WCST total errors, and WCST %CL) to investigate whether the groups differed at post-treatment (Supplemental Tables 1, 2). The CR + PR group showed greater post-treatment performance on both LM I and II compared with the performance of the TAU group (LM I: mean difference = 11.50, p = 0.005; LM II: mean difference = 11.62, p = 0.007), while the CR + PR and PR-only groups did not differ in both LM I and II. The PR-only group showed greater performance at a trend level of significance compared with the TAU group (LM I: mean difference = 7.23,

p = 0.070; LM II: mean difference = 6.86, p = 0.098).

In addition, the CR + PR group showed greater posttreatment performance on both WCST total errors and WCST %CL compared with the PR-only group (WCST total errors: mean difference = 12.28, p = 0.026; WCST %CL: mean difference = 16.47, p = 0.017) and TAU group (WCST total errors: mean difference = 14.00, p = 0.015; WCST %CL: mean difference = 16.24, p = 0.023). However, no group differences were found on WCST total errors and WCST %CL between the PR-only and TAU groups (**Figure 3**).

# Effects of CR in Psychiatric Symptoms

No significant group differences were observed for psychiatric symptoms (PANSS scores) (**Table 3**).

The RCIs were calculated for LM I and II, WCST total errors, and WCST %CL, which showed significant time × group interactions. As recommended by Wise (Wise, 2004), RCI scores  $\geq$ 1.96 were considered reliable changes. As shown in **Figure 4**, more participants in the CR + PR group showed clinically significant improvements for the LM I (CR + PR: 7 participants; PR only: 1 participant; TAU: 2 participants) and LM II (CR + PR: 6 participants; PR only: 2 participants; TAU: 2 participants) (LM I:  $\chi^2 = 8.35$ , p = 0.02; LM II:  $\chi^2 = 6.92$ , p = 0.03). Differences with trend levels of significance were found for WCST total errors (CR + PR: 4 participants; PR only: 0 participants; TAU: 1 participants; TAU: 0 participants) (WCST total errors:  $\chi^2 = 5.18$ , p = 0.08; WCST %CL:  $\chi^2 = 5.67$ , p = 0.06).

# DISCUSSION

The current study aimed to investigate whether CR treatment within the context of PR treatment (CR + PR) would produce meaningful improvements in neurocognition and psychiatric symptoms in middle-aged or older inpatients with chronic schizophrenia compared to either the PR-only or TAU group. For the CR, we employed a highly personalized and computerized CR protocol with motivational enhancements through a bridging group and motivational interviewing. To the best of our knowledge, the current study is the first RCT of middle-aged or older inpatients with chronic schizophrenia compared with



TABLE 3 | Effects of cognitive remediation on psychiatric symptoms.

Psychiatric symptoms	CR + PR		PR	PR Only		TAU		ES
	<i>n</i> =	= 18	<i>n</i> =	= 19	<b>n</b> :	= 16	p-value	$(\eta_p^2)$
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post		
	M (SD)							
PANSS								
Cognition	23.11 (6.26)	22.79 (8.03)	21.32 (3.96)	22.42 (4.57)	23.53 (5.58)	21.58 (11.98)	0.56	0.02
Depression/Anxiety	11.58 (5.23)	9.42 (4.82)	10.11 (4.19)	9.84 (3.2)	8.89 (2.98)	8.26 (4.93)	0.44	0.03
Excitement/Hostility	5.74 (1.88)	5.95 (2.44)	5.84 (1.68)	6.05 (1.9)	6.74 (2.21)	6.95 (4.36)	1.00	0.00
Negative	16.58 (5.43)	15.58 (7.43)	15.37 (5.96)	19.05 (6.07)	17.37 (7.22)	17.68 (10.07)	0.12	0.08
Positive	13.32 (6.28)	12.26 (6.13)	12.16 (5.04)	12.53 (5.49)	12.21 (4.39)	11.05 (6.32)	0.58	0.02

CR, Cognitive remediation; PR, Psychiatric rehabilitation; TAU, Treatment as usual; ES, Effect size; n<sup>2</sup><sub>p</sub>, Partial eta square; M, mean; SD, standard deviation; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale.

PR-only and TAU groups, especially conducted in a non-western country.

The results of the current study partially supported our primary hypothesis. Specifically, compared with the PR-only and TAU groups, the CR + PR group showed greater improvement in executive functioning (e.g., abstract thinking and learning strategies). In addition, the CR + PR group showed greater improvements in immediate and delayed LM compared with the TAU group but not the PR-only group. The PR-only group also showed greater improvements in immediate and delayed LM compared with the TAU group. The PR-only group also showed greater improvements in immediate and delayed LM compared with the TAU group. The PR group improved more in executive functioning than the TAU did, but the difference was not reach significant. Importantly, the RCIs indicated that more participants in the CR + PR group had clinically meaningful improvements in

LM and executive functioning compared with participants in the PR-only and TAU groups. However, since TAU group was not randomly assigned, the differences between "CR+PR vs. TAU" or "PR-only vs. TAU" should not be interpreted as causation.

These findings suggest that CR has additional treatment benefits for executive-level operation when it is delivered within a larger context of PR compared with PR only. Inpatient PR has nonspecific treatment effects on neuropsychological functioning, even without explicit CR training (Spaulding et al., 1999b). In addition to the nonspecific treatment effects of PR, CR effectively stimulates neurocognition to synergistically accelerate the benefits of PR.

No group differences were found in other neurocognitive domains or psychiatric symptoms. The pattern of treatment



gains found in the current study was somewhat similar to the results of a previous controlled outcome trial that targeted younger patients in a comprehensive and intensive inpatient PR setting (Spaulding et al., 1999a) and that reported significant treatment gains in Card Sort random errors but not perseverative errors, Trails B, and PANSS total and subscales. The null effects of CR in other neurocognitive domains and psychiatric symptoms could be interpreted in several ways. All participants in the current trial received optimal pharmacotherapy, supportive therapies, and case management, which resulted in nonspecific treatment gains in neurocognition and/or psychiatric symptoms. In addition, the relatively low dose of CR (i.e., 24 sessions, twice per week) and small sample (i.e., 19 per group) in the current study might have resulted in insufficient power for detecting any potential treatment gains.

Comparing the current findings with the results of a previous RCT that was conducted in outpatients with similar ages (Dickinson et al., 2010) shows that, unlike the previous study, the current study found treatment gains in untrained neuropsychological assessments (i.e., executive functioning). Important differences between these two studies need to be acknowledged when interpreting the results. First, the patients examined in the current study were chronic inpatients who participated in the usual inpatient PR-only (without CR) and TAU units. Compared to outpatient clinics, inpatient settings have less cognitive stimulation. Thus, the addition of CR to inpatient PR might result in additional improvements in neuropsychological assessments compared with control conditions. Second, unlike Dickinson et al. (2010), we did not include active computer skills training as a control condition, and this might have resulted in greater differences between the CR + PR and PR-only groups in our study compared with those in the study by Dickinson et al. (2010).

The effects of CR on the neuropsychological assessments in the middle-aged or older inpatients with chronic schizophrenia

in the current study were in line with the outcomes of previous CR studies. Bowie et al. have reported that both younger (early-course group) and older outpatients (longer-course group) with schizophrenia improved in working memory (digit sequencing) and executive functioning (Tower of London), but only the improvements in the early-course group in executive functioning were statistically significant and the improvements in working memory trended to significance. These findings suggested that older inpatients with schizophrenia maintain neuronal plasticity. Thus, CR should be considered as an adjunct treatment to usual PR services.

This study had several limitations. The CR training sessions were designed to have a relatively low dose (i.e., 24 sessions, twice per week for about 3 months) due to the durations of inpatient hospitalizations. Even though the low CR dose was similar to those used in previous studies (van der Gaag et al., 2002; Lindenmayer et al., 2008), more intense CR training might have produced better treatment outcomes. We did not have follow-up assessments also because of the durations of inpatient hospitalizations. Thus, the durability of the treatment gains should be explored in an inpatient PR setting in a longer future study. We should also acknowledge that the half of our evaluators were not blinded completely in measuring psychiatric symptoms or neurocognition in this study. To minimize potential evaluators' bias, all evaluators were trained intensively to approximate a great inter-rater reliability. During the administration and scoring process, they were observed and supervised with verbatim process by licensed psychologists (KHC, WHL, SC). Nevertheless, the evaluators' bias cannot be negated. Importantly, even though our sample size was modest for detecting medium effects, the statistical power of this study might have been insufficient for detecting small to moderate treatment gains. Thus, additional studies with more patients and longer CR sessions should be conducted to attempt to replicate the current findings. Finally, the effects of such improvements in cognitive function on daily function or social functioning in the actual ward need further investigation.

Despite the limitations noted above, the results of the current study highlight the importance of delivering CR within a PR context to middle-aged or older inpatients with chronic schizophrenia, especially to improve their executive functioning, which is a critical factor for learning in PR and treatment (Green, 1996; Spaulding et al., 1999a; Bowie and Harvey, 2006).

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

K-HC, S-HL, and T-YH designed the study. K-HC wrote the first draft of the manuscript and supervised cognitive remediation sessions, S-MK and JK administered cognitive remediation. S-MK, JK, and KP undertook the statistical analysis. S-CP supervised participants' recruitment and administration of psychotropic medications during trials. W-HL and SC supervised neurocognitive and clinical assessments. All the authors commented on the manuscript. All the authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

# **FUNDING**

This study was funded by a Yongin Mental Hospital Research and Development Grant to T-YH. The sponsor had no role in

# REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association (1994). Task Force on DSM-IV. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-IV, 4th Edn. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association. xxvii, 886.
- Arbuthnott, K., and Frank, J. (2000). Trail making test, part B as a measure of executive control: validation using a set-switching paradigm. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 22, 518–528. doi: 10.1076/1380-3395(200008)22:4;1-0;FT518
- Bartels, S. J., and Pratt, S. (2009). Psychosocial rehabilitation and quality of life for older adults with serious mental illness: recent findings and future research directions. *Curr. Opin. Psychiatry* 22, 381–385. doi: 10.1097/YCO.0b013e32832c9234
- Bartels, S. J., Pratt, S. I., Mueser, K. T., Forester, B. P., Wolfe, R., Cather, C., et al. (2014). Long-term outcomes of a randomized trial of integrated skills training and preventive healthcare for older adults with serious mental illness. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 22, 1251–1261. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2013.04.013
- Bell, M. D., Choi, K.-H., Dyer, C., and Wexler, B. E. (2014). Benefits of cognitive remediation and supported employment for schizophrenia patients with poor community functioning. *Psychiatr. Serv.* 65, 469–475. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201200505
- Bell, M. D., Fiszdon, J., Greig, T., Wexler, B., and Bryson, G. (2007). Neurocognitive enhancement therapy with work therapy in schizophrenia: 6-month followup of neuropsychological performance. J. Rehabil. Res. Dev. 44, 761–770. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2007.02.0032
- Bell, M. D., Lysaker, P. H., Beam-Goulet, J. L., Milstein, R. M., and Lindenmayer, J.-P. (1994). Five-component model of schizophrenia: assessing the factorial invariance of the positive and negative syndrome scale. *Psychiatry Res.* 52, 295–303. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(94)90075-2
- Boron, J. B., Willis, S. L., and Schaie, K. W. (2007). Cognitive training gain as a predictor of mental status. J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 62, 45–52. doi: 10.1093/geronb/62.1.P45
- Bowie, C. R., Grossman, M., Gupta, M., Oyewumi, L., and Harvey, P. D. (2014). Cognitive remediation in schizophrenia: efficacy and effectiveness in patients with early versus long-term course of illness. *Early Interv. Psychiatry* 8, 32–38. doi: 10.1111/eip.12029
- Bowie, C. R., and Harvey, P. D. (2006). Cognitive deficits and functional outcome in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 2, 531–536. doi: 10.2147/nedt.2006.2.4.531
- Bracy, O. (2012). PSSCogRehab 2012. Indianapolis, IN: Psychological Software Services, Inc.,.
- Carver, C. S., and White, T. L. (1994). Behavioral inhibition, behavioral activation, and affective responses to impending reward and punishment: the BIS/BAS Scales. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 67, 319–333. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.67.2.319
- Corbera, S., Wexler, B. E., Poltorak, A., Thime, W. R., and Kurtz, M. M. (2017). Cognitive remediation for adults with schizophrenia: does age matter? *Psychiatry Res.* 247, 21–27. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.10.084
- Dickinson, D., Tenhula, W., Morris, S., Brown, C., Peer, J., Spencer, K., et al. (2010). A randomized, controlled trial of computer-assisted cognitive remediation for schizophrenia. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 167, 170–180. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09020264
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., and Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\* Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav. Res. Methods* 41, 1149–1160. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41. 4.1149

the planning or conduct of the study or in the interpretation of the study results.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2017.02364/full#supplementary-material

- Fiszdon, J. M., Kurtz, M. M., Choi, J., Bell, M. D., and Martino, S. (2016). Motivational interviewing to increase cognitive rehabilitation adherence in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 42, 327–334. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv143
- Granholm, E., McQuaid, J. R., McClure, F. S., Auslander, L. A., Perivoliotis, D., Pedrelli, P., et al. (2005). A randomized, controlled trial of cognitive behavioral social skills training for middle-aged and older outpatients with chronic schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 162, 520–529. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.3.520
- Green, M. F. (1996). What are the functional consequences of neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia? Am. J. Psychiatry 153, 321–330.
- Green, M. F., Kern, R. S., and Heaton, R. K. (2004). Longitudinal studies of cognition and functional outcome in schizophrenia: implications for MATRICS. Schizophr. Res. 72, 41–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.09.009
- Green, M. F., and Nuechterlein, K. H. (1999). Should schizophrenia be treated as a neurocognitive disorder? *Schizophr. Bull.* 25, 309–319.
- Grynszpan, O., Perbal, S., Pelissolo, A., Fossati, P., Jouvent, R., Dubal, S., et al. (2011). Efficacy and specificity of computer-assisted cognitive remediation in schizophrenia: a meta-analytical study. *Psychol. Med.* 41, 163–173. doi: 10.1017/S0033291710000607
- Inada, T., and Inagaki, A. (2015). Psychotropic dose equivalence in Japan. *Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 69, 440–447. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12275
- Kay, S. R., Fiszbein, A., and Opler, L. A. (1987). The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 13, 261–276. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- Keefe, R. S. E., and Harvey, P. D. (2012). "Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia," in *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology: Vol. 213, Novel Antischizophrenia Treatments*, eds M. A. Geyer and G. Gross (Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag), 11–37.
- Keefe, R. S., Perkins, D. O., Gu, H., Zipursky, R. B., Christensen, B. K., and Lieberman, J. A. (2006). A longitudinal study of neurocognitive function in individuals at-risk for psychosis. *Schizophr. Res.* 88, 26–35. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2006.06.041
- Kim, K.-H., and Kim, W.-S. (2001). Korean-BAS/BIS Scale. Korean J. Health Psychol. 6, 19–37.
- Kim, S.-G., Lee, E.-H., Hwang, S.-T., Park, K., Chey, J., Hong, S.-H., et al. (2015). Estimation of K-WAIS-IV Premorbid Intelligence in South Korea: development of the KPIE-IV. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 29, 19–29. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2015.1072248
- Kontis, D., Huddy, V., Reeder, C., Landau, S., and Wykes, T. (2013). Effects of age and cognitive reserve on cognitive remediation therapy outcome in patients with schizophrenia. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 21, 218–230. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2012.12.013
- Krabbendam, L., and Aleman, A. (2003). Cognitive rehabilitation in schizophrenia: a quantitative analysis of controlled studies. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 169, 376–382. doi: 10.1007/s00213-002-1326-5
- Kreiner, D. S., and Ryan, J. J. (2001). Memory and motor skill components of the WAIS-III Digit Symbol-Coding subtest. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 15, 109–113. doi: 10.1076/clin.15.1.109.1906
- Kurtz, M. M., Moberg, P. J., Ragland, J. D., Gur, R. C., and Gur, R. E. (2005). Symptoms versus neurocognitive test performance as predictors of psychosocial status in schizophrenia: a 1-and 4-year prospective study. *Schizophr. Bull.* 31, 167–174. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi004
- Lee, H., Jang, S., Lee, G., Park, S., Medalia, A., and Choi, K. (2017). Informationally administered reward enhances intrinsic motivation in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* 256, 290–297. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.06.049

- Lee, J. H., Lee, K. U., Lee, D. Y., Jhoo, J. H., Kim, K. W., and Woo, J. I. (2000). Korean version of the consortium to establish a registry for Alzheimer's disease assessment packet (CERAD-K): clinical and neuropsychological assessment batteries. *Neurobiol. Aging* 21:32. doi: 10.1016/S0197-4580(00)82818-3
- Lindenmayer, J.-P., McGurk, S. R., Mueser, K. T., Khan, A., Wance, D., Hoffman, L., et al. (2008). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive remediation among inpatients with persistent mental illness. *Psychiatr. Serv.* 59, 241–247. doi: 10.1176/ps.2008.59.3.241
- Lysaker, P. H., and Buck, K. D. (2007). Neurocognitive deficits as a barrier to psychosocial function in schizophrenia: effects on learning, coping, and self-concept. *J. Psychosoc. Nurs. Ment. Health Serv.* 45, 24–30.
- McGurk, S. R., and Mueser, K. T. (2008). Response to cognitive rehabilitation in older versus younger persons with severe mental illness. Am. J. Psychiatr. Rehabil. 11, 90–105. doi: 10.1080/15487760701853136
- McGurk, S. R., Mueser, K. T., Feldman, K., Wolfe, R., and Pascaris, A. (2007a). Cognitive training for supported employment: 2-3 year outcomes of a randomized controlled trial. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 164, 437–441. doi: 10.1176/ajp.2007.164.3.437
- McGurk, S. R., Mueser, K. T., Xie, H., Welsh, J., Kaiser, S., Drake, R. E., et al. (2015). Cognitive enhancement treatment for people with mental illness who do not respond to supported employment: a randomized controlled trial. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 172, 852–861. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.14030374
- McGurk, S. R., Twamley, E. W., Sitzer, D. I., McHugo, G. J., and Mueser, K. T. (2007b). A meta-analysis of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 164, 1791–1802. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07060906
- Medalia, A., Aluma, M., Tryon, W., and Merriam, A. E. (1998). Effectiveness of attention training in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 24, 147–152. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033306
- Medalia, A., Revheim, N., and Casey, M. (2000). Remediation of memory disorders in schizophrenia. *Psychol. Med.* 30, 1451–1459. doi: 10.1017/S0033291799002913
- Medalia, A., Revheim, N., and Casey, M. (2001). The remediation of problem-solving skills in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 27, 259–267. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006872
- Medalia, A., Revheim, N., and Herlands, T. (2009). *Cognitive Remediation for Psychological Disorders: Therapist Guide*. Newyork: Oxford University Press.
- Ministry of Health and Welfare (2016). *Mental Health Statistics: Pilot Study*. Seoul: National Mental Health Center.
- Owen, A. M., Hampshire, A., Grahn, J. A., Stenton, R., Dajani, S., Burns, A. S., et al. (2010). Putting brain training to the test. *Nature* 465, 775–778. doi: 10.1038/nature09042
- Rund, B. R., Melle, I., Friis, S., Johannessen, J. O., Larsen, T. K., Midbøe, L. J., et al. (2007). The course of neurocognitive functioning in first-episode psychosis and its relation to premorbid adjustment, duration of untreated psychosis, and relapse. *Schizophr. Res.* 91, 132–140. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.11.030
- Sartory, G., Zorn, C., Groetzinger, G., and Windgassen, K. (2005). Computerized cognitive remediation improves verbal learning and processing speed in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 75, 219–223. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.10.004
- Schoepf, D., Uppal, H., Potluri, R., and Heun, R. (2014). Physical comorbidity and its relevance on mortality in schizophrenia: a naturalistic 12-year follow-up in general hospital admissions. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 264, 3–28. doi: 10.1007/s00406-013-0436-x
- Sharma, I., Srivastava, J., Kumar, A., and Sharma, R. (2016). Cognitive remediation therapy for older adults. J. Geriatr. Mental Health 3, 57–65. doi: 10.4103/2348-9995.181919
- Silverstein, S. M., Hatashita-Wong, M., Solak, B. A., Uhlhaas, P., Landa, Y., Wilkniss, S. M., et al. (2005). Effectiveness of a two-phase cognitive rehabilitation intervention for severely impaired schizophrenia patients. *Psychol. Med.* 35, 829–837. doi: 10.1017/S0033291704003356
- Silverstein, S. M., Spaulding, W. D., Menditto, A. A., Savitz, A., Liberman, R. P., Berten, S., et al. (2009). Attention shaping: a reward-based learning method to

enhance skills training outcomes in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 35, 222–232. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm150

- Smith, T. E., Hull, J. W., Goodman, M., Hedayat-Harris, A., Willson, D. F., Israel, L. M., et al. (1999). The relative influences of symptoms, insight, and neurocognition on social adjustment in schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder. J. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 187, 102–108. doi: 10.1097/00005053-199902000-00006
- Spaulding, W. D., Reed, D., Sullivan, M., Richardson, C., and Weiler, M. (1999a). Effects of cognitive treatment in psychiatric rehabilitation. *Schizophr. Bull.* 25, 657–676. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033409
- Spaulding, W. D., Fleming, S. K., Reed, D., Sullivan, M., Storzbach, D., and Lam, M. (1999b). Cognitive functioning in schizophrenia: implications for psychiatric rehabilitation. *Schizophr. Bull.* 25, 275–289. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033378
- Tsoutsoulas, C., Mulsant, B. H., Kalache, S. M., Kumar, S., Ghazala, Z., Voineskos, A. N., et al. (2016). The influence of medical burden severity and cognition on functional competence in older community-dwelling individuals with schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 170, 330–335. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.12.009
- Ueland, T., and Rund, B. (2005). Cognitive remediation for adolescents with early onset psychosis: a 1-year follow-up study. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 111, 193–201. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2004.00503.x
- van der Gaag, M., Kern, R. S., van den Bosch, R. J., and Liberman, R. P. (2002). A controlled trial of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Bull.* 28, 167–176. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006919
- Vauth, R., Corrigan, P. W., Clauss, M., Dietl, M., Dreher-Rudolph, M., Stieglitz, R. -D., et al. (2005). Cognitive strategies versus self-management skills as adjunct to vocational rehabilitation. *Schizophr. Bull.* 31, 55–66. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi013
- Wechsler, D. (2008). WAIS-IV Technical and Interpretation Manual. San Antonio, TX: Pearson.
- Wechsler, D. (2009). Wechsler Memory Scale, Fourth Edition (WMS-IV). New York, NY: Pearson: Psychological Corporation.
- Willis, S. L., Tennstedt, S. L., Marsiske, M., Ball, K., Elias, J., Koepke, K. M., et al. (2006). Long-term effects of cognitive training on everyday functional outcomes in older adults. *JAMA* 296, 2805–2814. doi: 10.1001/jama.296.23.2805
- Wise, E. A. (2004). Methods for analyzing psychotherapy outcomes: a review of clinical significance, reliable change, and recommendations for future directions. J. Pers. Assess. 82, 50–59. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa8201\_10
- Wykes, T., Huddy, V., Cellard, C., McGurk, S. R., and Czobor, P. (2011). A meta-analysis of cognitive remediation for schizophrenia: methodology and effect sizes. Am. J. Psychiatry 168, 472–485. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10 060855
- Wykes, T., Newton, E., Landau, S., Rice, C., Thompson, N., and Frangou, S. (2007). Cognitive remediation therapy (CRT) for young early onset patients with schizophrenia: an exploratory randomized controlled trial. *Schizophr. Res.* 94, 221–230. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.03.030
- Wykes, T., and Spaulding, W. D. (2011). Thinking about the future cognitive remediation therapy—what works and could we do better? *Schizophr. Bull.* 37, S80–S90. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr064

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Choi, Kang, Kim, Lee, Park, Lee, Choi, Park and Hwang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Neural Correlates for Intrinsic Motivational Deficits of Schizophrenia; Implications for Therapeutics of Cognitive Impairment

Kazuyoshi Takeda<sup>1\*</sup>, Tomiki Sumiyoshi<sup>2</sup>, Madoka Matsumoto<sup>3</sup>, Kou Murayama<sup>4,5</sup>, Satoru Ikezawa<sup>1</sup>, Kenji Matsumoto<sup>6</sup> and Kazuyuki Nakagome<sup>7</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, National Center Hospital, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Preventive Intervention for Psychiatric Disorders, National Institute of Mental Health, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Department of Neuropsychiatry, The University of Tokyo Hospital, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>4</sup> School of Psychology and Clinical Language Sciences, University of Reading, Reading, United Kingdom, <sup>5</sup> Research Institute, Kochi University of Technology, Kochi, Japan, <sup>6</sup> Brain Science Institute, Tamagawa University, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>7</sup> National Institute of Mental Health, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Błazej Misiak, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Jean Marc Guile, University of Picardie Jules Verne, France Emily Treichler, Mental Illness Research, Education and Clinical Centers MIRECC (VA), United States

\*Correspondence:

Kazuyoshi Takeda ktakeda@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 February 2018 Accepted: 17 April 2018 Published: 05 June 2018

### Citation:

Takeda K, Sumiyoshi T, Matsumoto M, Murayama K, Ikezawa S, Matsumoto K and Nakagome K (2018) Neural Correlates for Intrinsic Motivational Deficits of Schizophrenia; Implications for Therapeutics of Cognitive Impairment. Front. Psychiatry 9:178. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00178

The ultimate goal of the treatment of schizophrenia is recovery, a notion related to improvement of cognitive and social functioning. Cognitive remediation therapies (CRT), one of the most effective cognition enhancing methods, have been shown to moderately improve social functioning. For this purpose, intrinsic motivation, related to internal values such as interest and enjoyment, has been shown to play a key role. Although the impairment of intrinsic motivation is one of the characteristics of schizophrenia, its neural mechanisms remain unclear. This is related to the lack of feasible measures of intrinsic motivation, and its response to treatment. According to the self-determination theory (SDT), not only intrinsic motivation, but extrinsic motivation has been reported to enhance learning and memory in healthy subjects to some extent. This finding suggests the contribution of different types of motivation to potentiate the ability of the CRT to treat cognitive impairment of schizophrenia. In this paper, we provide a review of psychological characteristics, assessment methods, and neural correlates of intrinsic motivation in healthy subjects and patients with schizophrenia. Particularly, we focus on neuroimaging studies of intrinsic motivation, including our own. These considerations are relevant to enhancement of functional outcomes of schizophrenia.

Keywords: intrinsic motivation, cognitive remediation therapy, schizophrenia, lateral prefrontal cortex, striatum, self-determination theory, neuroimaging, social functioning

# INTRODUCTION

The ultimate goal of the treatment of schizophrenia (SCZ) is recovery, a notion related to improvement of social functioning, such as employment, independent living, and interpersonal relations (1). Patients with SCZ generally show impairments of cognitive functions, e.g., verbal memory, verbal fluency, motor function, attention, working memory, and executive function. Importantly, cognitive impairments have been reported to deteriorate social functioning (1-3).

177

Although antipsychotic medications exert limited effects on cognitive functions (4, 5), cognitive remediation therapies (CRTs) (6, 7) and neuromodulation, such as repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (8) and transcranial direct current stimulation (9), have been reported to moderately improve them. CRTs represent a psychosocial intervention that aim to directly improve cognitive functions by inducing neuroplasticity (6, 7). To attain certain improvement in social functioning, it is recommended to include CRT in a comprehensive rehabilitation program along with other psychosocial treatments, such as social skills training and cognitive behavioral therapy. Recent evidence shows the importance of integrating intermediate factors, such as social cognitive function and motivation, with CRT to effectively promote social functioning (10). Motivation is generally subdivided into intrinsic and extrinsic ones. Intrinsic motivation is subject to internal values, such as interest and enjoyment (10, 11), whereas extrinsic motivation is generated by external factors, such as reward and punishment. Intrinsic, rather than extrinsic motivation is considered to play a key role in enhancing the effect of psychiatric rehabilitation.

Among several types of CRT, the Neuropsychological Educational Approach to Cognitive Remediation (NEAR), developed by Medalia and Choi (12), focuses on enhancing intrinsic motivation. The program includes a group session, which bridges the cognitive training with daily life (12, 13). To evaluate intrinsic motivation for the intervention, selfreport measures of intrinsic motivation, such as the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (IMI), have been developed based on the self-determination theory (SDT) (14). Previous studies indicate that the IMI modified for SCZ patients (IMI-SR) (15) reflects internal value of a specific task or activity (16-18). Monitoring intrinsic motivation during the CRT is critical to determine whether the intervention is effective for each patient and/or whether a modification is necessary. For example, Silverstein (19) reported that the increase in intrinsic motivation was positively correlated with improvement in social functioning. However, examinations of intrinsic motivation using a selfreport scale, such as IMI, may not be accurate, because participants' answers may be influenced by response bias caused by social desirability and self-monitoring capacity. In fact, cognitive deficits of SCZ have been associated with decreased activity in the lateral prefrontal cortex (LPFC) (20, 21), which may lead to a poor self-monitoring capacity. Therefore, it is essential to develop objective scales to monitor intrinsic motivation, which are feasible in clinical settings. For this purpose, understanding the neural basis of intrinsic motivation is necessary.

In healthy subjects, not only intrinsic motivation, but also autonomous types of extrinsic motivation are important for enhancing learning and memory (22). This is based on the SDT, suggesting that motivation comprises of several steps in a continuum of relative autonomy. Most autonomous types of motivation are intrinsic in nature, while extrinsic motivation varies from autonomous to controlled ones. In the psychosocial therapy of patients with SCZ, enhancing autonomous types of extrinsic motivation may lead to greater improvement of cognitive and social functioning. In this paper, we reviewed the literature on the following topics: (1) the definition of intrinsic motivation based on the SDT, (2) the assessment of intrinsic motivation, (3) the role for intrinsic motivation in the therapeutics of cognitive impairment and (4) the neural basis of intrinsic motivation. Specifically, we summarize some findings on the neural correlates of intrinsic motivation estimated by neuroimaging in healthy subjects and patients with SCZ.

# DEFINITION OF INTRINSIC MOTIVATION BASED ON SELF-DETERMINATION THEORY

Ryan and Deci (22) defined intrinsic motivation as "the inherent tendency to seek out novelty and challenge, to explore and investigate, and to stretch and extend one's capacities." On the other hand, extrinsic motivation is affected by external control, such as acquisition of reward or avoidance of a punishment. Among several theories to explain intrinsic motivation, such as the empirical drive theory, psychodynamic drive theory, and effectance motivation (23), the SDT (22, 24) is considered comprehensive for understanding intrinsic motivation. The SDT, based on organismic and humanistic principles, proposes a multidimensional theory of motivation. It has been developed out of the idea that intrinsic and extrinsic reasons for behaving lead to differential levels of performance and wellbeing for individuals (14, 24). Specifically, intrinsic motivation is suggested to be more closely associated with better performance, persistence, and well-being, and more accurately predict the adjustment of behavior, compared to extrinsic motivation (22, 24).

Previous studies have reported that intrinsic motivation varies under different conditions (14). Events such as the provision of positive feedback (25-27) and choice (28) enhance intrinsic motivation, whereas negative feedback (29, 30), deadlines (31), extrinsic motivation (32, 33) and other external impositions (34) generally diminish intrinsic motivation. Particularly, the undermining effect is known to exist between intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. The SDT indicates it is essential to satisfy three basic psychological needs: autonomy, competence, and relatedness for enhancement of intrinsic motivation (22). The need for autonomy is the sense that one's behavior should be self-determined, and includes the desire to take responsibility for one's own actions. On the other hand, the need for competence means the desire to feel the confidence that "I could do it if I tried," and to prove oneself to others. Finally, the need for relatedness refers to the desire to build and maintain a good relationship with other people in the community, and to attain a sense of solidarity (22).

Although, motivation is traditionally subdivided into intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, it has been suggested that motivation is not fully explained by this dichotomy (22). For example, when a student studies a foreign language because it is a required course, his action is extrinsically motivated based on external control. When a student studies a foreign language for preparation to study abroad, it is also extrinsically motivated because the action is desirable as a means of achieving goal, not solely for interest or enjoyment. These two examples are considered to illustrate different types of extrinsic motivation in terms of the degree of autonomy. In this way, extrinsic motivation can dynamically shift according to the degree of internalization, or the process of taking in a value.

Based on this background, the SDT proposes a dimensional representation of motivation that is comprised of several steps along a continuum of relative autonomy (22). Figure 1A illustrates six types of motivation in the continuum of SDT. Among them, intrinsic motivation is the most self-determined and autonomous motivation. Extrinsic motivation is subdivided into four types, according to the degree of autonomy. Of the four types, external regulation is considered the most controlled type (22) in which a behavior is motivated by external control (acquisition of a reward or avoidance of a punishment). For example, when a student is rated by the academic self-regulation questionnaire (SRQ-A) (35), "Why do I do my homework?", the answer "Because I'll get in trouble if I don't" exemplifies external regulation. Introjected regulation is also considered a controlled type whereby a person's behavior is motivated by goals such as avoiding shame or anxiety or to maintain pride (22). For example, a student would answer "Because I want the teacher to think I'm a good student" in the same question. On the other hand, the stage of "identified regulation" categorized as more autonomous, whereby an action is motivated because of its value toward a goal, not because it is enjoyable or interesting (22). For example, students answer "Because it's important for me to do my homework" in the same question. Finally, integrated regulation is considered to be the most autonomous among the extrinsic motivation subtypes. In this type, a person's action is motivated because it is desirable and natural to do it, not necessarily because it is enjoyable or interesting (22). For example, students would answer "Because I want to do my homework" in the same question. Identified regulation and integrated regulation are known to improve performance, decrease dropout, and enhance learning, relative to more controlled types of regulation (36). Moreover, as Deci and Ryan (22) noted, the autonomous types of extrinsic motivation have been associated with the greater task engagement, better performance, and more learning.

Although studies of SCZ have focused on the impairment of intrinsic motivation (16, 37), little is known about continuous motivation deficits based on the SDT. In this respect, Gard et al. (38) examined whether each type of motivation in patients with SCZ was different from that in healthy subjects using the Ecological Momentary Assessment, a semi-structured interview. Goal-driving motivation in each individual was rated on a scale of specific anchors (0-3), based on the participant's response to "What goal do you have in the coming few hours?" and "What is the most important reason for having this goal?" (38). They assessed intrinsic motivation on the basis of three psychological needs, and also analyzed extrinsic motivation by separating the requirements of a reward and avoidance of a punishment. They found that the need for relatedness and extrinsic motivation based on punishment was not different between SCZ patients and healthy subjects, although the former showed less need for autonomy and competency, and extrinsic motivation based on reward (38). Figure 1B summarize the continuum in the SDT.


Thus, people with SCZ may want to attain a good relationship with other people, which is hindered by impairment in social cognition, leading to the difficulty to link extrinsic reward to their actions (39, 40). This suggests that SCZ patients, perhaps due to repeated negative experiences, tend not to require extrinsic rewards and are sensitive to punishment (41).

In summary, it is important to develop treatment that enhances autonomy, competence, and sensitivity to extrinsic reward (38). Future studies will be required to understand which level of extrinsic motivation is impaired in SCZ, and how this relates to social functioning.

## BEHAVIORAL ASSESSMENTS OF INTRINSIC MOTIVATION IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

The free-choice paradigm is known as a representative measurement of intrinsic motivation. In this paradigm, people can freely try different tasks, including a target task for a brief period when they believe nobody is observing their behavior. The number of trials during the free-choice period is used as an index of intrinsic motivation (32, 33). For example, Murayama et al. (42) developed the stopwatch (SW) task (Figure 2A). In this task, a SW appears on the monitor, and starts automatically; subjects are required to stop the SW within 50 ms of the 5-s time point by pressing a button (42). As a control task, they also used the watch-stop (WS) task, in which subjects press a button after the SW automatically stopped. A computer and a few booklets were set on the table in the room and participants could freely spend three minutes in this room (42). They could either play the SW or WS task, or read booklets as they like. Although subjects believed that nobody observed their behavior during this period, the number of trials was recorded by the computer program (42). By comparing the number of trials between the SW and WS tasks, the intrinsic motivation level was evaluated. The IMI is a self-report measurement of intrinsic motivation derived from the SDT (14). The IMI (27) comprises of 6 subscales (interest/enjoyment, effort, value/usefulness, pressure/tension, relatedness, and choice) and 54 items, and is effective for evaluating the level of intrinsic motivation for various activities, such as sports, school, medical procedures, and laboratory tasks (43 - 46).

Both measures described above have limitations (47). The results obtained from the free-choice paradigm may not always reflect intrinsic motivation because it is difficult to distinguish this from other processes such as persistence and preparing for future trials (47). Likewise, the self-report measures may not accurately capture the dynamic aspect of intrinsic motivation. Since participants are usually unable to report the intrinsic motivation during performance on a task, they are likely to report it afterwards on the basis of their memory (47). Based on these limitations, relatively few studies have measured both of them.

As discussed, little has been reported on the assessment of intrinsic motivation using the free-choice paradigm. On the other hand, Tobe et al. (48) used the General Causality Orientations Scale (GCOS) to examine the property of motivation in SCZ

patients. This scale evaluates the degree of three types of orientation (autonomy, control, impersonal orientations) based on the SDT. Although scores on the control and impersonal orientations were not different between SCZ and healthy control groups, those on autonomy was significantly lower for the SCZ group compared to the control group. These findings suggest that the GCOS provides a valid measure to evaluate a declined of intrinsic motivation in SCZ patients. On the other hand, Choi et al. (15) modified the original IMI to assess the interventional effect of various psychosocial therapies in patients with SCZ, and named it IMI-SR. The IMI-SR consists of three subscales (interest and enjoyment, values, and choice) and a total of 21 questions (15). Previous studies indicate that the scale is effective to evaluate intrinsic motivation not only in association with the CRT, but also other trainings (15-18). However, participants' answers may be influenced by response bias caused by self-monitoring capacity.

# ROLE OF INTRINSIC MOTIVATION IN THE THERAPEUTICS OF COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

In psychosocial therapies such as CRT, the balance of intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation to maximize the therapeutic effects is the critical issue. In SCZ, it has been shown that rewardbased learning is ineffective because patients are less sensitive to positive feedback than are healthy controls (20, 49-51). On the other hand, when patients are intrinsically motivated to engage in a treatment program, they actively participate because they feel the activity itself is interesting and enjoyable (15). Therefore, it is critical to heighten the level of autonomy and self-efficacy, which support intrinsic motivation. Accordingly, Nakagami et al. (52) examined whether or not intrinsic motivation affects functional outcomes. They found that intrinsic motivation directly enhanced the neurocognitive improvement after CRT, and is an essential factor to improve social functioning (52). Moreover, they (53) showed that intrinsic motivation dynamically improves through the intervention, which was closely correlated with improvement in social functioning.

It is essential to enhance intrinsic motivation during the CRT. To enhance motivation, the bridging session is implemented, in which we try to link the training session to everyday activities. For example, the patients' group would discuss what benefit does training of spatial memory brings, and finally reach a conclusion that it is useful when we need to remember the location of an item on the shelf while working as a clerk. As this process aims to improve understanding the usefulness of the training, it does provoke autonomous types of extrinsic motivation, which are identified and/or integrated. Also, Silverstein (19) reported that extrinsic motivation is related to the improvement of cognitive impairment, and both intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation are essential for desirable outcomes in CRT. This finding is in line with the suggestion that extrinsic motivation may be critical to enhance the initiation of behavior, and to produce intrinsic motivation for maintaining it (19). Previous studies reported that extrinsic motivation, such as reward, are used in supportive interpersonal relations to promote



main effect of Post-Overshoot (Success vs. Undershoot vs. Overshoot) (p < 0.001), and a significant interaction between Post-Overshoot and Group (SCZ vs. HC) (p = 0.01). The secondary analysis for each Post-Overshoot trial revealed a significant main effect of group for Success (p = 0.01) and Undershoot (p = 0.01). These figures modified from Takeda et al. (54).

the needs for competence and autonomy (55, 56). These items can be an integral component of cognitive enhancement techniques based on self-identified goals (57). In fact, positive outcomes related to extrinsic motivation are observed in learning (58) and treatment response (59). In addition, neural activity in

brain areas related to cognitive function has been suggested to be modulated by anticipation and appearance of reward (49). Moreover, the undermining effect is observed if people are fully and intrinsically motivated to perform a specific activity and task, and adequately expect extrinsic reward. Since SCZ patients tend

to have relatively low intrinsic motivation, data from studies of the undermining effect in healthy subjects may be absent in SCZ patients (19). These considerations suggest that it may be worth incorporating extrinsic motivation such as reward into the CRT.

In summary, it will be essential to assess to what extent different types of extrinsic motivation, and intrinsic motivation are impaired in each patient for enhancing cognitive and social functioning.

## NEURAL BASIS FOR INTRINSIC MOTIVATION IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

It is challenging to set up situations that lead participants to experience a sense of competence, i.e., manipulation of intrinsic motivation (60, 61). In recent neuroimaging studies, intrinsic motivation has been examined in various ways (**Table 1**).

Some studies have compared neural activity in intrinsically enjoyable game-like tasks and less enjoyable tasks. For example, Murayama et al. (42) observed that participants played the SW task more frequently than the WS task during the freechoice period, and found greater neural activity in the anterior striatum and LPFC during the SW task than the WS task. This finding suggests that these two areas constitute a neural system related to intrinsic motivation. Moreover, Murayama et al. (62) examined the neural mechanism related to selfdetermination by comparing neural activity during the SW task in two conditions. One was a self-determined-choice condition in which participants were freely required to select one of two SWs with different appearances, and the other was a forcedchoice condition in which they were required to perform the SW task using an automatically designated SW (62). Whereas the activity of ventromedial prefrontal cortex (VMPFC) was markedly reduced in response to failure feedback compared to success feedback in the forced-choice trials, the activity levels were similarly high in the responses to the feedback between success and failure in the self-determined-choice trials. This suggests the neural activity in VMPFC is closely related to information processing regarding self-determination (62).

Kang et al. (63) investigated the neural mechanism related to curiosity by examining the relationship between neural activity when participants processed the trivia questions and the degree of curiosity about them. They found that activities in the caudate nucleus and LPFC were increased when participants experienced a higher level of curiosity, and that the increase of the activity in these brain areas was associated with improvement of memory (63). They pointed out that the caudate nucleus and LPFC are involved in memory encoding, and that intrinsic motivation is associated with enhanced learning (63). To assess more directly the relation between curiosity and learning, Gruber et al. (64) examined whether memory for task-relevant or for task-irrelevant information was improved depending on the level of curiosity by using trivia questions similar to those used by Kang (63). In this study, face stimuli were used as taskirrelevant information. When the level of curiosity was high, the recalls of both task-relevant and task-irrelevant information were improved. Moreover, they found that increased activation in the substantia nigra/ventral tegmental area (SN/VTA) and the hippocampus was related to the enhancement of memory (64). These findings indicate that the neural activity related to motivation that includes the striatum and LPFC (64, 65) may enhance the learning potential (60, 62–64, 66).

To determine whether the neural system of intrinsic motivation is different from that of extrinsic motivation, Lee's group (61, 67) proposed unique neural mechanisms related to intrinsic motivation. The authors compared neural activities when subjects imagined an action based on intrinsic motivation vs. those when they imagined the same action based on extrinsic motivation. They found that the anterior insular cortex (AIC) was activated to a greater extent in the intrinsic motivation situation compared to that of extrinsic motivation, suggesting that the AIC plays a role in intrinsic motivation (61, 67). Moreover, Lee and Reeve (68) examined neural activities when subjects actually performed the action based on intrinsic motivation in different levels of autonomy. They found that not only AIC but also the striatum was activated and that the functional connectivity between these brain areas was enhanced, suggesting that both brain regions are important for generating intrinsic motivation (68). The insular cortex plays a major role in processing emotion and feeling regardless of valence and integrating emotionally salient information and forming subjective emotional feelings (69, 70). The activity of the insular cortex was increased in performing self-generated behaviors compared with other behaviors (71, 72). In addition, its activity is related not only to who initiates and regulates certain behavior but also whether the behavior is generated from the "pure self" rather than from social influence (61, 67, 68).

In an electroencephalogram (EEG) study, Meng and Ma (73) examined the effect of autonomy using two time-estimation tasks with equal difficulty. In the choice condition, participants freely selected a time-estimation task, which requires subjects to indicate the end of the prespecified interval by pressing a button. In the no-choice condition, they performed the task automatically selected by a computer. They found a larger feedback-related negativity (FRN) in the choice condition compared to the no-choice condition. Moreover, Jin et al. (74) investigated the neural basis of intrinsic motivation by examining the neural disparity between the SW and WS tasks using eventrelated potentials. In the task cue period, the N2 amplitude in the SW task was smaller than that in the WS task. In the outcome period, smaller FRN amplitudes and lager P300 amplitudes were observed in the SW task compared to those in the WS task. Although the findings about the FRN in the two studies somewhat contradict with each other, they suggest that intrinsic motivation is measurable by means of event-related potentials, such as N2, FRN, and P300.

To clarify the neural mechanism of intrinsic motivation impairment in people with SCZ, we studied the neural activity in the striatum and LPFC of SCZ patients while they performed the SW task (**Figure 2A**) (54). Specifically, we compared the brain activity measured by fMRI and behavioral data between SCZ patients and healthy control (HC) participants (54). Firstly, scores of IMI-SR in the two tasks showed a significant betweengroup difference, so that people with SCZ were less intrinsically

(nnio	Subjects	Sources of intrinsic motivation	Task	Paradigm and data detection	Related brain area
*(42)	HC: 28	Interest and enjoymen	t Game like task (i.e., stopwatch task)	In the stopwatch (SW) task, subjects are required to stop the SW by pressing a button by myself. In the control task, subjects only need to press a button after a SW automatically stopped. The SW task is more interesting than the control task. They compared the activity during task cue period that indicates which of the two tasks will be displayed.	Striatum LPFC
(62)	HC: 35	Self-determination	Game like task (i.e., stopwatch task)	In self-determined-choice condition, participants performed the SW task by selecting freely one of two SWs with different appearances. In forced-choice condition, participants performed the SW task using an automatically designated SW. They compared the activity during the feedback period after the button press between success and failure in each condition.	MPFC
(63)	HC:19	Curiosity	Game like task (i.e., trivia questions)	Participants was presented the trivia questions. After they read them, they reported the level of curiosity of them. Authors examined the activity during the presentation period of the trivia questions by the difference of the level of curiosity.	Striatum LPFC
(64)	HC:24	Curiosity	Game like task (i.e., trivia questions)	After the trivia question was presented, participants anticipated the presentation of the answer. They investigated the activity during the anticipation period by the difference of the level of curiosity	Substantia nigra/ventral tegmental area
(67)	HC:10	Interest and enjoymen	t Game like task (i.e. reading situation regarding IM and EM)	One of three phases (IM, EM, and Neutral) was selected. Participants read the selected phase of situation and replied by pressing a button whether they want to do it. Authors compared the activity during the presentation of the situation between IM and EM phase.	AIC
(61)	HC:16	Interest and enjoymen	<ul> <li>t. Game like task</li> <li>(i.e. reading situation regarding IM and EM)</li> </ul>	One of three phases (IM, EM, and Neutral) was selected. Participants read the selected phase of situation and reported how much they want to engage in it. Authors compared the activity during the presentation of the situation between IM and EM phase.	AIC
(68)	HC:22	Curiosity	Game like task (i.e., curiosity-inducing questions)	Participants were presented randomly selected question, and was asked to think of the correct answer, and reported how interesting the question or anagram was. Authors compared the activity during the presentation of the question between curiosity-inducing question.	Striatum AIC
(54)	SCZ:18 HC	:17Interest and enjoymen	t Game like task (i.e., stopwatch task)	In the stopwatch (SW) task, subjects are required to stop the SW by pressing a button by myself. In the control task, subjects only need to press a button after a SW automatically stopped. The SW task is more interesting than the control task. We examined the activity during task cue period that indicates which of the two tasks will be displayed.	LPFC

motivated for the SW task (Figure 2B) (54). Similarly, cue-related activity in the striatum was lower in SCZ compared to HC. Secondly, a positive relationship was noted between the cueperiod activity in LPFC and the level of intrinsic motivation in HC subjects was absent in SCZ patients (Figure 2C) (54). Thirdly, although the performance level per se was not significantly different between the two groups, the capacity of correction after error trials was somewhat different. To analyze it, we first distinguished the error trials into two types; "Undershoot" stands for the error when the button press is too fast (<4.95 s)while "Overshoot" stands for the error when the button press is too slow (>5.05 s). For example, in the trial after Overshoot, participants were required to regulate button press speed so as not to press the button too soon for success. As a result, the Success and Undershoot rates following Overshoot showed a significant between-group difference (Figure 2D), whereas those following Undershoot were not different. These results suggest that the regulation of button press after Overshoot, which is considered as a form of cognitive control, is impaired in SCZ patients (54). In addition, a positive relationship between the cue-period activity in LPFC and the Success rate after Overshoot was observed in healthy control subjects, but not in SCZ patients (54).

The lack of relationship between intrinsic motivation and LPFC activity suggests that SCZ patients do not adequately regulate actions because of impaired prefrontal activity (54). This is also supported by the absence of associations between the capacity to regulate response and LPFC activities. These observations are consistent with previous findings about reward processing. Despite the argument that SCZ patients exhibit a hedonic response comparable to that of HC subjects (75-77), these patients elicit lower motivation to initiate and retain an action (40, 78). Our finding suggests a failure to mediate between prediction of reward and action in people with SCZ (79, 80). In addition, it is suggested that information processing related to reward expectation is processed in the striatum and PFC (81), and the LPFC is a central brain area for enhancing actions related to reward expectations (82, 83). The PFC and the striatum are closely linked via the frontostriatal loops (84-87). Previous studies indicated that the neural activity in the ventral striatum to the reward expectation was impaired in SCZ patients (88-90). Based on these findings, it appears that SCZ patients have difficulty generating adequate action control in response to reward because of LPFC impairment.

Taken together, SCZ patients show motivation disturbances due to a weakened link between the reward expectation and goaldirected behavior which is associated with altered functions of LPFC and the striatum. Of particular importance is the difficulty of SCZ patients to adequately regulate actions on the basis of intrinsic motivation because of impaired prefrontal activity. Whether the neural system related to intrinsic motivation is different from that of extrinsic motivation remains unclear, which requires further research. For the greater chance of the success for CRT treatments, it will be beneficial to further explore the biological basis of intrinsic motivation and develop the methods to detect its individual differences.

# **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Based on neuroimaging data from our studies, we are interested in discovering the ways to restore reduced neural activities in the striatum and LPFC. This strategy may lead to enhancement of intrinsic motivation and improvement of social functioning in people receiving a psychosocial treatment such as CRT. On the other hand, it has been reported that neural activity in LPFC and performance on cognitive tasks with high demands are impaired in SCZ patients (20, 21). These findings suggest that decreased activity of LPFC contributes to the impairment of both cognition and intrinsic motivation, leading to the difficulty in effectively improving cognitive impairment and social functioning. In electroencephalogram studies, enhanced frontal gamma-band oscillations have been associated with better performance in healthy subjects, while both reduced and excessive gamma-band oscillations have been suggested in patients with SCZ (91-93). Interestingly, rTMS has been reported to reduce abnormal gamma oscillations in patients with SCZ, whereas it increases gamma activity in healthy subjects during a cognitive task, which may be related to homeostatic plasticity (94). As this finding suggests that impaired prefrontal function can be modified by neuromodulation, the combination of CRT and neuromodulation may be one of the options to enhance social functioning.

At present, we have no objective and feasible scales of intrinsic motivation. However, by focusing on neural activity in LPFC evaluated in our recent studies (54) we may be able to develop a biological tool that can be applied in the clinical field. Nearinfrared spectroscopy (NIRS) can be one of such techniques. It is non-invasive and can be measured under a restraint-free environment, thus suitable for psychiatric patients. The validity of NIRS has been indicated by significant correlations between fMRI BOLD signals and NIRS oxygenated hemoglobin (oxy-Hb) concentrations in the frontal area (95, 96). Using multichannel NIRS, Pu et al. (97) reported that an increase in oxy-Hb concentrations in DLPFC is positively correlated with the interest and motivation scores in the Social Adaptation Self-Evaluation Scale in healthy subjects. This finding suggests that the NIRS signal in LPFC may provide an objective scale of intrinsic motivation in SCZ.

Although intrinsic motivation is considerably important to alleviate cognitive impairment, it is not easy to enhance intrinsic motivation of SCZ patients. Some studies report that extrinsic motivation induced by monetary rewards is useful to enhance the effect of CRT. According to the SDT, autonomous types of extrinsic motivation may switch to intrinsic motivation through the practice of CRT. The assessment of the construct of motivation in terms of levels of autonomy may provide useful information to achieve the maximum effect of CRT on cognition in patients with schizophrenia.

# CONCLUSIONS

We reviewed putative neural correlates of intrinsic motivation revealed by neuroimaging data. In spite of previous attempts, we have not yet established objective tools to monitor the degree of intrinsic motivation in each patient, which requires further investigations. Moreover, the development of CRT incorporating enhancement of intrinsic motivation, as well as autonomous types of extrinsic motivation, may be important, depending on the tendency for intrinsic motivation. These efforts are likely to enhance cognitive and social functioning in patients with SCZ.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KT drafted the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript and approved the final manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- Green MF, Kern RS, Braff DL, Mintz J. Neurocognitive deficits and functional outcome in schizophrenia: are we measuring the "right stuff"? *Schizophr Bull.* (2000) 26:119–36. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033430
- Green MF, Nuechterlein KH, Gold JM, Barch DM, Cohen J, Essock S, et al. Approaching a consensus cognitive battery for clinical trials in schizophrenia: the NIMH-MATRICS conference to select cognitive domains and test criteria. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 56:301–7. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.06.023
- 3. Green MF. What are the functional consequences of neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia? *Am J Psychiatry* (1996) **153**:321–30. doi: 10.1176/ajp.153.3.321
- Marder SR. Initiatives to promote the discovery of drugs to improve cognitive function in severe mental illness. J Clin Psychiatry (2006) 67:e03. doi: 10.4088/JCP.0706e03
- Keefe RS, Bilder RM, Davis SM, Harvey PD, Palmer BW, Gold JM, et al. Neurocognitive effects of antipsychotic medications in patients with chronic schizophrenia in the CATIE Trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2007) 64:633–47. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.64.6.633
- McGurk SR, Twamley EW, Sitzer DI, McHugo GJ, Mueser KT. A metaanalysis of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2007) 164:1791–802. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07060906
- Wykes T, Huddy V, Cellard C, McGurk SR, Czobor P. A meta-analysis of cognitive remediation for schizophrenia: methodology and effect sizes. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168:472–85. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10060855
- Dedoncker J, Brunoni AR, Baeken C, Vanderhasselt MA. The effect of the interval-between-sessions on prefrontal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) on cognitive outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Neural Transm* (2016) 123:1159–72. doi: 10.1007/s00702-016-1558-x
- Hasan A, Strube W, Palm U, Wobrock T. Repetitive noninvasive brain stimulation to modulate cognitive functions in schizophrenia: a systematic review of primary and secondary outcomes. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:S95– 109. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv158
- Gard DE, Fisher M, Garrett C, Genevsky A, Vinogradov S. Motivation and its relationship to neurocognition, social cognition, and functional outcome in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2009) 115:74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.08.015
- Brekke J, Kay DD, Lee K, Green MF. Biosocial pathways to functional outcome in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2005) 80:213–25. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.07.008
- Medalia A, Choi J. Cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. Neuropsychol Rev. (2009) 19:353–64. doi: 10.1007/s11065-009-9097-y
- Medalia A, Freilich B. The neuropsychological educational approach to cognitive remediation (NEAR) model: practice principles and outcome studies. *Am J Psychiatric Rehabil.* (2008) 11:123–143. doi: 10.1080/15487760801963660

# FUNDING

This study was partially supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number JP15K09878 to KT and JP17K10321 to TS, and Intramural Research Grants (29-1, 30-1, and 30-8) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, as well as AMED under Grant Number 18dk0307081 to KN and TS. This research was supported in part by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number JP16H06406 (K Murayama); F. J. McGuigan Early Career Investigator Prize from American Psychological Foundation (K Murayama); and Leverhulme Trust Research Project Grant and Research Leadership Awards, Award Numbers RPG-2016-146 and RL-2016-030 (K Murayama).

- 14. Deci EL, Ryan RM. Intrinsic Motivation and Self-determination in Human Behavior. New York, NY: Plenum (1985).
- Choi J, Mogami T, Medalia A. Intrinsic motivation inventory: an adapted measure for schizophrenia research. *Schizophr Bull.* (2010) 36:966–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp030
- Choi J, Medalia A. Intrinsic motivation and learning in a schizophrenia spectrum sample. Schizophr Res. (2010) 118:12–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.08.001
- Choi J, Choi KH, Felice RL, Fiszdon JM. Measuring motivation in schizophrenia: is a general state of motivation necessary for task-specific motivation? *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 153:209–13. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.01.027
- Tas C, Brown EC, Esen-Danaci A, Lysaker PH, Brune M. Intrinsic motivation and metacognition as predictors of learning potential in patients with remitted schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Res. (2012) 46:1086–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.04.027
- Silverstein SM. Bridging the gap between extrinsic and intrinsic motivation in the cognitive remediation of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2010) 36:949–56. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp160
- Barch DM. The cognitive neuroscience of schizophrenia. In: Cannon T, Mineka S, Editors. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, Vol. 1.* Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2005). p. 321–53.
- Minzenberg MJ, Laird AR, Thelen S, Carter CS, Glahn DC. Meta-analysis of 41 functional neuroimaging studies of executive function in schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2009) 66:811–22. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry. 2009.91
- Ryan RM, Deci EL. Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: classic definitions and new directions. *Contemp Educ Psychol.* (2000) 25:54–67. doi: 10.1006/ceps.1999.1020
- Di Domenico SI, Ryan RM. The emerging neuroscience of intrinsic motivation: a new frontier in self-determination research. Front Hum Neurosci. (2017) 11:145. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00145
- Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-determination Theory: Basic Psychological Needs in Motivation Development and Wellness. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2017).
- Fisher CD. The effects of personal control, competence and extrinsic reward systems on intrinsic motivation. Organ Behav Hum Perform. (1978) 21:273– 88. doi: 10.1016/0030-5073(78)90054-5
- Boggiano AK, Ruble DN. Competence and the overjustification effect: a developmental study. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1979) 37:1462–8. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.37.9.1462
- Ryan RM. Control and information in the intrapersonal sphere: an extension of cognitive evaluation theory. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1982) 43:450–61. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.43.3.450
- Zuckerman M, Porac J, Lathin D, Smith R, Deci EL. On the importance of self-determination for intrinsically-motivated behavior. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull.* (1978) 4:443–6. doi: 10.1177/014616727800400317

- 29. Deci E L, Cascio WF. Changes in intrinsic motivation as a function of negative feedback and threats. In *Paper Presented at the Meeting of the Eastern Psychological Association* (Boston, MA) (1972).
- Vallerand RJ, Reid G. On the causal effects of perceived competence on intrinsic motivation: a test of cognitive evaluation theory. J Sport Psychol. (1984) 6:94–102. doi: 10.1123/jsp.6.1.94
- Amabile TM, DeJong W, Lepper M. Effects of externally imposed deadlines on subsequent intrinsic motivation. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1976) 34:92–8. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.34.1.92
- Deci EL. Effects of externally mediated rewards on intrinsic motivation. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1971) 18:105–55. doi: 10.1037/h0030644
- Deci EL, Koestner R, Ryan RM. A meta-analytic review of experiments examining the effects of extrinsic rewards on intrinsic motivation. *Psychol Bull.* (1999) 125:627–68. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.125.6.627
- Lepper MR, Greene D. Turning play into work: effects of adult surveillance and extrinsic rewards on children's intrinsic motivation. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1975) 31:479–486. doi: 10.1037/h0076484
- Ryan RM, Connell JP. Perceived locus of causality and internalization: examining reasons for acting in two domains. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1989) 57:749–61. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.57.5.749
- Deci EL, Ryan RM. The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychol Inq.* (2000) 11:227–68. doi: 10.1207/S15327965PLI1104\_01
- Barch DM. Emotion, motivation, and reward processing in schizophrenia spectrum disorders: what we know and where we need to go. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:816–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn092
- Gard DE, Sanchez AH, Starr J, Cooper S, Fisher M, Rowlands A, et al. Using self-determination theory to understand motivation deficits in schizophrenia: the 'why' of motivated behavior. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 156:217-22. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.04.027
- Gard DE, Kring AM, Gard MG, Horan WP, Green MF. Anhedonia in schizophrenia: distinctions between anticipatory and consummatory pleasure. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 93:253–60. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.03.008
- Heerey EA, Gold JM. Patients with schizophrenia demonstrate dissociation between affective experience and motivated behavior. J Abnorm Psychol. (2007) 116:268–78. doi: 10.1037/0021-843x.116.2.268
- Beck AT, Grant PM, Huh GA, Perivoliotis D, Chang NA. Dysfunctional attitudes and expectancies in deficit syndrome schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:43–51. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr040
- Murayama K, Matsumoto M, Izuma K, Matsumoto K. Neural basis of the undermining effect of monetary reward on intrinsic motivation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:20911–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1013305107
- McAuley E, Duncan T, Tammen VV. Psychometric properties of the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory in a competitive sport setting: a confirmatory factor analysis. *Res Q Exerc Sport* (1989) 60:48–58. doi: 10.1080/02701367.1989.10607413
- Markland D, Hardy L. On the factorial and construct validity of the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory: conceptual and operational concerns. *Res Q Exerc Sport* (1997) 68:20–32. doi: 10.1080/02701367.1997.10608863
- Williams GC, Freedman ZR, Deci EL. Supporting autonomy to motivate patients with diabetes for glucose control. *Diabetes Care* (1998) 21:1644–51.
- Plant RW, Ryan RM. Intrinsic motivation and the effects of selfconsciousness, self-awareness, and ego-involvement: an investigation of internally controlling styles. J Personality (1985) 53:435–49. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1985.tb00375.x
- Lee W. Insular cortex activity as the neural base of intrinsic motivation. Recent Developments in Neuroscience Research on Human Motivation Advances in Motivation and Achievement (2016) 19:127–48. doi: 10.1108/s0749-742320160000019016
- Tobe M, Nemoto T, Tsujino N, Yamaguchi T, Katagiri N, Fujii C, et al. Characteristics of motivation and their impacts on the functional outcomes in patients with schizophrenia. *Compr Psychiatry* (2016) 65:103–9. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2015.10.006
- Gold JM, Waltz JA, Prentice KJ, Morris SE, Heerey EA. Reward processing in schizophrenia: a deficit in the representation of value. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:835–47. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn068
- 50. Waltz JA, Frank MJ, Robinson BM, Gold JM. Selective reinforcement learning deficits in schizophrenia support predictions from computational

models of striatal-cortical dysfunction. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) **62**:756-64. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.09.042

- Heerey EA, Bell-Warren KR, Gold JM. Decision-making impairments in the context of intact reward sensitivity in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 64:62–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.02.015
- Nakagami E, Xie B, Hoe M, Brekke JS. Intrinsic motivation, neurocognition and psychosocial functioning in schizophrenia: testing mediator and moderator effects. *Schizophr Res.* (2008) 105:95–104. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.06.015
- Nakagami E, Hoe M, Brekke JS. The prospective relationships among intrinsic motivation, neurocognition, and psychosocial functioning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2010) 36:935–48. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq043
- Takeda K, Matsumoto M, Ogata Y, Maida K, Murakami H, Murayama K, et al. Impaired prefrontal activity to regulate the intrinsic motivationaction link in schizophrenia. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2017) 16:32–42. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.07.003
- Silverstein SM, Hatashita-Wong M, Wilkniss S, Bloch A, Smith T, Savitz A, et al. Behavioral rehabilitation of the "treatment-refractory" schizophrenia patient: conceptual foundations, interventions, and outcome data. *Psychol Serv.* (2006) 3:145–69. doi: 10.1037/1541-1559.3.3.145
- Silverstein SM, Spaulding WD, Menditto AA, Savitz A, Liberman RP, Berten S, et al. Attention shaping: a reward-based learning method to enhance skills training outcomes in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2009) 35:222–32. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm150
- 57. Skinner CH, Skinner AL, Armstrong KJ. Analysis of a client-staffdeveloped shaping program designed to enhance reading persistence in an adult diagnosed with schizophrenia. *Psychiatric Rehabil J.* (2000) **24**:52–7. doi:10.1037/h0095123
- Eisenberger R, Cameron J. Detrimental effects of reward. Reality or myth? Am Psychol. (1996) 51:1153–66.
- Silverstein SM, Menditto AA, Stuve P. Shaping attention span: an operant conditioning procedure to improve neurocognition and functioning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2001) 27:247–57. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006871
- Lee W, Kim SI. Effects of achievement goals on challenge seeking and feedback processing: behavioral and FMRI evidence. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e107254. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107254
- Lee W, Reeve J. Self-determined, but not non-self-determined, motivation predicts activations in the anterior insular cortex: an fMRI study of personal agency. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2013) 8:538–45. doi: 10.1093/scan/nss029
- Murayama K, Matsumoto M, Izuma K, Sugiura A, Ryan RM, Deci EL, et al. How self-determined choice facilitates performance: a key role of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex. *Cereb Cortex* (2015) 25:1241–51. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bht317
- Kang MJ, Hsu M, Krajbich IM, Loewenstein G, McClure SM, Wang JT, et al. The wick in the candle of learning: epistemic curiosity activates reward circuitry and enhances memory. *Psychol Sci.* (2009) 20:963–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02402.x
- Gruber MJ, Gelman BD, Ranganath C. States of curiosity modulate hippocampus-dependent learning via the dopaminergic circuit. *Neuron* (2014) 84:486–96. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.08.060
- Braver TS, Krug MK, Chiew KS, Kool W, Westbrook JA, Clement NJ, et al. Mechanisms of motivation-cognition interaction: challenges and opportunities. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci.* (2014) 14:443–72. doi: 10.3758/s13415-014-0300-0
- Legault L, Inzlicht M. Self-determination, self-regulation, and the brain: autonomy improves performance by enhancing neuroaffective responsiveness to self-regulation failure. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2013) 105:123–38. doi: 10.1037/a0030426
- Lee W, Reeve J, Xue Y, Xiong J. Neural differences between intrinsic reasons for doing versus extrinsic reasons for doing: an fMRI study. *Neurosci Res.* (2012) 73:68–72. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2012.02.010
- Lee W, Reeve J. (2017). Identifying the neural substrates of intrinsic motivation during task performance. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci.* (2017) 17:939–53. doi: 10.3758/s13415-017-0524-x
- Critchley HD, Mathias CJ, Dolan RJ. Fear conditioning in humans: the influence of awareness and autonomic arousal on functional neuroanatomy. *Neuron* (2002) 33:653–63. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00588-3

- 70. Morris JS. How do you feel? *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2002) **6**:317–9. doi: 10.1016/S1364-6613(02)01946-0
- Farrer C, Franck N, Georgieff N, Frith CD, Decety J, Jeannerod M. Modulating the experience of agency: a positron emission tomography study. *Neuroimage* (2003) 18:324–33. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(02)00041-1
- Farrer C, Frith CD. Experiencing oneself vs another person as being the cause of an action: the neural correlates of the experience of agency. *Neuroimage* (2002) 15:596–603. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.1009
- Meng L, Ma Q. Live as we choose: The role of autonomy support in facilitating intrinsic motivation. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2015) 98:441–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.08.009
- 74. Jin J, Yu L, Ma Q. Neural basis of intrinsic motivation: evidence from event-related potentials. *Comput Intell Neurosci.* (2015) 698725. doi: 10.1155/2015/698725
- Cohen AS, Minor KS. Emotional experience in patients with schizophrenia revisited: meta-analysis of laboratory studies. *Schizophr Bull.* (2010) 36:143–50. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn061
- Llerena K, Strauss GP, Cohen AS. Looking at the other side of the coin: a meta-analysis of self-reported emotional arousal in people with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 142:65–70. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.09.005
- Taylor SF, Kang J, Brege IS, Tso IF, Hosanagar A, Johnson TD. Metaanalysis of functional neuroimaging studies of emotion perception and experience in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 71:136–45. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.09.007
- Myin-Germeys I, Delespaul PA, deVries MW. Schizophrenia patients are more emotionally active than is assumed based on their behavior. *Schizophr Bull.* (2000) 26:847–54. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul. a033499
- Barch DM, Dowd EC. Goal representations and motivational drive in schizophrenia: the role of prefrontal-striatal interactions. *Schizophr Bull.* (2010) 36:919–34. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq068
- Strauss GP, Waltz JA, Gold JM. A review of reward processing and motivational impairment in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40(Suppl. 2):S107–116. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt197
- Botvinick M, Braver T. Motivation and cognitive control: from behavior to neural mechanism. *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2015) 66:83–113. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015044
- Miller EK, Cohen JD. An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. Annu Rev Neurosci. (2001) 24:167–202. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.167
- Fuster, J.M. *The Prefrontal Cortex, 4th Edn.* London: Academic Press (2008).
   Alexander GE, DeLong MR, Strick PL. Parallel organization of functionally
- segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (1986) 9:357–81. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ne.09.030186.002041
- Middleton FA, Strick PL. Basal ganglia and cerebellar loops: motor and cognitive circuits. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. (2000) 31:236–50. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(99)00040-5
- Miller EK. The prefrontal cortex and cognitive control. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2000) 1:59–65. doi: 10.1038/35036228
- Haber SN, Knutson B. The reward circuit: linking primate anatomy and human imaging. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2010) 35:4–26. doi: 10.1038/npp.2009.129

- Juckel G, Schlagenhauf F, Koslowski M, Filonov D, Wustenberg T, Villringer A, et al. Dysfunction of ventral striatal reward prediction in schizophrenic patients treated with typical, not atypical, neuroleptics. *Psychopharmacology* (2006) 187:222–8. doi: 10.1007/s00213-006-0405-4
- Schlagenhauf F, Juckel G, Koslowski M, Kahnt T, Knutson B, Dembler T, et al. Reward system activation in schizophrenic patients switched from typical neuroleptics to olanzapine. *Psychopharmacology* (2008) 196:673–84. doi: 10.1007/s00213-007-1016-4
- Radua J, Schmidt A, Borgwardt S, Heinz A, Schlagenhauf F, McGuire P, et al. Ventral striatal activation during reward processing in psychosis: a neurofunctional meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2015) 72:1243–51. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2196
- Cho RY, Konecky RO, Carter CS. Impairments in frontal cortical gamma synchrony and cognitive control in schizophrenia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:19878–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0609440103
- Basar-Eroglu C, Brand A, Hildebrandt H, Karolina Kedzior K, Mathes B, Schmiedt C. Working memory related gamma oscillations in schizophrenia patients. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2007) 64:39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2006.07.007
- Barr MS, Farzan F, Tran LC, Chen R, Fitzgerald PB, Daskalakis ZJ. Evidence for excessive frontal evoked gamma oscillatory activity in schizophrenia during working memory. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 121:146–52. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.05.023
- 94. Barr MS, Farzan F, Arenovich T, Chen R, Fitzgerald PB, Daskalakis ZJ. The effect of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on gamma oscillatory activity in schizophrenia. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e22627. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022627
- Sato H, Yahata N, Funane T, Takizawa R, Katura T, Atsumori H, et al. A NIRSfMRI investigation of prefrontal cortex activity during a working memory task. *Neuroimage* (2013) 83:158–173. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.043
- 96. Moriguchi Y, Noda T, Nakayashiki K, Takata Y, Setoyama S, Kawasaki S, et al. Validation of brain-derived signals in near-infrared spectroscopy through multivoxel analysis of concurrent functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2017) 38:5274–91. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23734
- 97. Pu S, Nakagome K, Yamada T, Yokoyama K, Matsumura H, Terachi S, et al. Relationship between prefrontal function during a cognitive task and social functioning in male Japanese workers: a multi-channel near-infrared spectroscopy study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2013) 214:73–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2013.05.011

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Takeda, Sumiyoshi, Matsumoto, Murayama, Ikezawa, Matsumoto and Nakagome. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Pharmacological Augmentation of Psychosocial and Remediation Training Efforts in Schizophrenia

#### Philip D. Harvey1\* and Michael Sand<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, United States, <sup>2</sup> Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Ridgefield, CT, United States

Pharmacological approaches to cognitive enhancement have received considerable attention but have not had considerable success in improving their cognitive and functional targets. Other intervention strategies, such as cognitive remediation therapy (CRT), have been shown to enhance cognitive performance but have not been found to improve functional outcomes without additional psychosocial interventions. Recently, several studies have attempted to enhance the effects of CRT by adding pharmacological interventions to the CRT treatments. In addition, as CRT has been shown to synergistically improve the effects of psychosocial interventions, the combination of pharmacological therapies aimed at cognition and psychosocial interventions may itself provide a promising strategy for improving functional outcomes. This review and commentary examines the current state of interventions combining CRT and psychosocial treatments with pharmacological augmentation. Our focus is on the specific level of effect of the pharmacological intervention, which could be enhancing motivation, training efficiency, or the consolidation of therapeutic gains. Different pharmacological strategies (e.g., stimulants, plasticity-inducing agents, or attentional or alertness enhancers) may have the potential to lead to different types of gains when combined with CRT or psychosocial interventions. The relative potential of these different mechanisms for immediate and durable effects is considered.

Keywords: schizophrenia, cognition, disability, everyday functioning, pharmacological cognitive enhancement, combination therapy

## INTRODUCTION

Cognitive impairments are prominent in several neuropsychiatric conditions (1). These impairments are functionally relevant and persistent over time and are minimally related to treatments for the illness (2). These impairments have spurred multiple treatment efforts spanning pharmacological, psychosocial, psychotherapeutic, and rehabilitation-based treatments. The rehabilitation-based treatments have used both in-person and computer-delivered cognitive remediation therapy (CRT) interventions (3). Furthermore, it has been suggested recently that combined pharmacological and cognitive remediation approaches may have the most promise for improving cognitive impairments in severe mental illness generally, and in schizophrenia specifically (4). However, much less attention has been paid to the potential combination of pharmacological treatments with psychosocial interventions. Pharmacological interventions may have the combination of these treatments with learning-based psychosocial treatments, much like the combination of these treatments with CRT training.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Chika Sumiyoshi, Fukushima University, Japan Junghee Lee, University of California, Los Angeles, United States Mahesh Menon, University of British Columbia, Canada

> \*Correspondence: Philip D. Harvey pharvey@miami.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 28 June 2017 Accepted: 06 September 2017 Published: 25 September 2017

#### Citation:

Harvey PD and Sand M (2017) Pharmacological Augmentation of Psychosocial and Remediation Training Efforts in Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 8:177. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00177 Previous reviews have analyzed the outcomes of both CRT and pharmacological interventions in schizophrenia and have demonstrated that the former is the more successful of the two. Clearly, cognitive remediation studies have demonstrated greater success, with several different studies finding effect sizes in the moderate to large range (3). In contrast, only a few studies have shown benefit for pharmacological treatments (5) and there is a lack of successful replication of these data and, to date, no positive phase III results have not been confirmed with larger samples in phase III studies (6). Thus, current research with pharmacological interventions have not demonstrated convincing ability to improve cognition as a monotherapy approach.

As the overarching goal of cognition-enhancing treatments is disability reduction, additional treatment approaches are needed to help achieve this. There have been multiple attempts to combine psychosocial interventions with CRT in order to enhance rehabilitation outcomes, but relatively fewer attempts to use the potential parallel strategy of combining targeted cognition-enhancing pharmacological therapies with psychosocial interventions. Most psychopharmacological and disability-targeted treatment data concern the pharmacological factors affecting interfere with the results of psychosocial interventions; however, this review focuses on the possibilities of additional therapeutic intervention.

In this article, we will focus on the combination interventions that could enhance cognitive performance and everyday functioning in people with schizophrenia. Encouraged by several very recent studies, we will examine the characteristics of CRT approaches that are suitable for combination with pharmacological interventions, as well as evaluating pharmacological interventions for their potential for combination with CRT, evaluating a model previously referred to as Pharmacologically Augmented Cognitive Training (PACT) (7). In addition to reviewing the possible benefits of combined CRT and pharmacological interventions, we also consider the possibility that combined pharmacological and psychosocial or psychotherapeutic interventions will have additional benefits when compared to either medication or behavioral intervention alone. The rationale for combining pharmacological cognitive enhancement with a psychosocial intervention is similar to that for adding CRT to a psychosocial intervention: using a synergistic therapeutic approach to enhance cognition through multiple strategies may enhance skill learning.

The evaluation of pharmacological strategies focuses on the mechanism of action, duration of effect, and potential impact on learning-based interventions such as cognitive remediation or behavioral interventions. This evaluation also necessitates a task analysis of CRT interventions, in terms of which cognitive processes are potentially important at different stages of the CRT participation process. Furthermore, available pharmacological interventions may interact with different stages of the CRT engagement process, which will refer to as performance-side variables.

An additional consideration when evaluating pharmacological augmentation of CRT is the fact that some augmentations may also increase the efficacy of CRT. For instance, if the rate of efficiency of training and gains across CRT levels was increased, it might also be the case that near transfer to neuropsychological test performance would be increased as well. There are several different ways that this increase could happen, including increased neuroplasticity (8) which could lead to greater beneficial brain changes with similar levels of effort and achievement.

## FACTORS INFLUENCING THE EFFICACY OF CRT: PERFORMANCE-SIDE VARIABLES

Cognitive remediation therapy has been shown in multiple studies to improve performance on neuropsychological tests, although the efficacy of interventions varies across individuals (9). Several predictive factors for response to CRT have been identified, some of which may also be amenable to benefits from pharmacological interventions, as evaluated below.

There are several factors that can impact on the ability to perform in the training setting, and any of these factors can also influence gains during training. CRT differs from purely pharmacological interventions in that sustained effort-related participation on the part of the trainee is required. This level of effort is sustained for a training session that spans  $\geq$ 30 min and thus, willingness and ability on the part of the trainee to participate in the training procedure is a prerequisite for training-related gains. While adherence to medication is clearly a participatory activity, the amount of effort expended, particularly in clinical treatment studies where medication is prepacked and delivered to the participant, seems less than that required to train for  $\geq$ 30 min on a cognitively demanding task,  $\geq$ 2 times/week.

### **MOTIVATION**

Motivation has been shown to exert an influence on cognitive changes associated with CRT (10). There are different types of motivation, including motivation induced or maintained by extrinsic factors and motivation arising from intangible and self-generated factors, which is often referred to as "intrinsic" motivation. For instance, several studies by Medalia et al. have documented a positive relationship between intrinsic motivation and CRT outcomes (10-13). Intrinsic motivation refers to the willingness to perform the task because of the perception of benefit, rather than external rewards. The perception of intrinsic benefits is often augmented by certain elements of the CRT training process, such as bridging and discussion groups. It has been hypothesized that provision of external rewards for participating in CRT, such as financial compensation for training sessions, may lead to reduced transfer to other outcomes; however, it has recently been shown in a large-scale study that financial incentives to engage in behavioral rehabilitation programs do not lead to increases in clinician-rated engagement in treatment (14). In this study, individuals who showed high levels of motivation prior to treatment engagement demonstrated the greatest gains, while less motivated individuals did not show increased motivation, even with a potential to obtain considerable financial gain for increased treatment engagement.

#### **Components of Motivation** Global Motivation to Participate in Therapeutic Activities

There are both global and specific components of motivation. Global motivation is the willingness to engage in an activity with the expectation that some benefit will be received. Thus, global motivation may require the ability to understand the means-ends relationships between engagement in remediation interventions and possible real-world gains. Individuals who are unaware that they have either cognitive or everyday functional deficits could therefore be expected to be less likely to be motivated to engage in treatment.

In several previous studies, it has been shown that individuals with schizophrenia who are unaware of their clinical symptoms, or functional or cognitive limitations, are also most likely to report that they have high quality of life and no mood symptoms. For instance, in the large-scale CATIE study, patients who reported that they were "pleased" or "delighted" with their quality of life were rated clinically as having less awareness of their illness (15). Those same patients also reported minimal depressive symptoms, but performed more poorly on tests of executive functioning than patients who had less positive self-assessment of their quality of life.

A recent study has shown the connection between insight and cognitive performance in patients with schizophrenia, as well as improvements in their cognitive performance with treatment. In this study, clinically unstable patients with schizophrenia were recruited as inpatients and treated with lurasidone, quetiapine, or placebo (16, 17). The outcomes measured included ratings of their clinical symptoms as well as performance-based assessments of cognition. At baseline, approximately 33% of patients had performance-based cognition scores that were invalid, presumably because of lack of adequate engagement or effort made in the assessment process. Interestingly, clinical ratings of poor insight into illness were more severe in patients whose test performance was invalid. After antipsychotic treatment, clinical insight improved, and there was a statistically significant improvement in cognitive performance in the trial which was found to be correlated with improvements in insight. Furthermore, patients who provided invalid test performance at baseline were able to generate valid scores after pharmacological treatment.

These data suggest that lack of awareness of impairment may be associated with the inability or unwillingness to engage in cognitive testing. CRT is considerably more demanding than a one-time cognitive assessment, and thus unawareness of impairment clearly has the potential to reduce global motivation to engage in a therapeutic activity. Although there is little research on this topic, these findings also suggest that clinical stability, including the presence of the awareness of clinical, cognitive, and functional status may be a prerequisite for success CRT. As a result, one pharmacological intervention strategy to combine with CRT may be the administration of adequate levels of antipsychotic medications in order to maintain clinical stability and thus potentially augment CRT results.

# Specific Components of Motivation to Engage in Computerized Training

Cognitive remediation therapy also requires the willingness to interact repeatedly with technology, either in the form of computers or tablet devices. One of the reasons for the success of contemporary CRT interventions is the continuous feedback delivered to the trainee. As most CRT interventions use titrated difficulty, the feedback is positive about 80% of the time on a trial by trial basis. Furthermore, most programs also deliver prizes, messages, and other tokens of achievement, with the goal of feedback being to have the participant find the experience rewarding, hence increasing their level of engagement and motivation to continue to participate. Receipt of tokens and other awards can be considered an extrinsic reward; however, performance feedback also aims to increase the intrinsic motivation to continue to improve in performance.

A further form of encouragement is offered in the form of in-person activities associated with many CRT programs. These activities often take the form of bridging groups, which are meetings designed to make the CRT experience meaningful and useful in real-world cognitively demanding situations. These interventions further aim to offer social support for engagement in a largely technology-oriented intervention. The inclusion of these groups has been argued to be necessary for successful gains in CRT treatment (18). However, it may be the case that, in order to achieve real-world functional gains, the additional intervention needs to be highly relevant to everyday functionality and targeted at those skills. At least two recent studies have shown that CRT combined with bridging groups did not improve performance on either everyday outcomes or on measures of the acquisition of everyday functional skills (19, 20). In one of them (19), CRT plus bridging improved cognitive performance, but not functional capacity or everyday outcomes, whereas CRT plus bridging plus functional skills training improved cognitive performance, functional capacity, and everyday outcomes (20).

There are some illness-specific challenges in schizophrenia, for example, deficits in sensitivity to rewards, both extrinsic and intrinsic, are commonly reported in patients with schizophrenia and may underlie some of the "anhedonic" features of the condition (21). Deficits in social motivation, including active social avoidance, are also common in schizophrenia (22). These motivational deficits have been shown to be more closely tied to social outcomes than neurocognition, social cognition, or even social competence (23-25). Thus, people with schizophrenia may not be sufficiently sensitive to rewards as unaffected individuals, and their social amotivation may also decrease their interest in bridging groups. In terms of extrinsic reward, it has been shown in several recent studies, reviewed by Gold et al. (26), that patients with schizophrenia are less responsive to financial reward for performing tasks than healthy comparison individuals, suggesting that reduced reward sensitivity applies to both tangible and intangible (i.e., social) reward systems.

It has been reported that self-administered CRT training has adherence rates of approximately 70% in both first episode psychosis, and the prodromal phases of the schizophrenia (27, 28). In these two studies, near transfer cognitive gains also appeared to be similar to previous studies that used in-person delivery of CRT, but not formal psychosocial interventions. Assessments to determine whether an individual with schizophrenia has high enough levels of active social avoidance to make coming in for treatment challenging may therefore be appropriate.

# WHAT IS THE MECHANISM OF PHARMACOLOGICAL AUGMENTATION OF CRT?

Pharmacological interventions have the potential to change motivation through modifying perceived reinforcement. For instance, stimulant medications such as amphetamine and related compounds (e.g., methylphenidate) have the potential to increase sensitivity to reward. As compounds that directly influence the dopamine-mediated reward system, they may increase the reward salience of CRT tokens and awards (29), as well as potentially increasing the sensitivity to treatment gains of an intrinsic nature. They may also increase intrinsic motivation through changing the salience of social interactions, but this is less well-studied than reward augmentation. These compounds also have the potential to improve attentional performance, which has the face-valid implication of increasing the ability to concentrate on training tasks. Further, processing speed may be augmented by these interventions, which can make it easier to make more rapid early gains and solidify motivation to perform.

# PACT RESULTS WITH STIMULANT MEDICATIONS: IS ATTENTION AUGMENTED?

A very recent study has suggested that single-dose amphetamine treatment immediately prior to CRT training leads to increased gains in performance on the training test. Swerdlow et al. treated patients with schizophrenia with 10 mg of amphetamine or placebo in a double blind cross-over design (30). A test for auditory attention processing was administered around before and after 60 min of auditory training. Compared to placebo, these data suggested that amphetamine treatment had a substantial benefit on gains during auditory training, suggesting that session by session administration of cognition-enhancing compounds can lead to greater attentional gains with CRT. Furthermore, the benefit of treatment persisted one week after a single 1-h training session, an effect not seen with placebo.

However, this study does not address the other hypothesis mentioned above; that stimulant treatment may enhance the reward salience of CRT tokens and awards, which could lead to sustained motivation to engage in the task. Also, the motivation to engage in treatment due to perception of long-term gains might also be changed through interventions that increase potential sensitivity to the need to engage in productive activities such as work. This is clearly an important research topic and would require additional research efforts.

Other compounds related to stimulants have also been examined for their augmentation potential. Most commonly, modafinil, an alertness promoting agent, has been studied for both direct cognitive benefits and for augmentation of PACT. The results from modafinil studies have been complex, in that several single-dose studies have reported positive effects of treatment with modafinil as a monotherapy (31), while several multiple dose studies did not find similar efficacy. In a recent 10-session PACT study comparing a standard dose of 200 mg of modafinil to placebo, with the MATRICS consensus cognitive battery (MCCB) as the outcome measure, there was no augmentation effect on CRT (32). Both groups improved in performance, but the performance of the group receiving only CRT was not so substantial that it could have led to a ceiling effect that obscured the effects of modafinil augmentation.

It is of interest, therefore, whether the results of Swerdlow et al. (30), which examined a single dose of amphetamine vs. placebo, would result in the same lack of efficacy if a multiple dose strategy was employed. If the single-dose effect habituates over time, then this would not be an effective intervention. Similarly, no studies have yet examined the consequences of daily dosing with stimulant-like medications on response to CRT interventions. Clearly, this is an area where more research would be important, particularly in terms of the relative benefit of single-dose, multidose day of training, and daily dosing regimens.

# OTHER PHARMACOLOGICAL AUGMENTATION STRATEGIES

Cognitive remediation therapy has often been described as an intervention which promotes neuroplasticity. Changes in both brain structure and function are commonly noted after CRT interventions, with changes in white matter structure and cognitive activation in response to cognitive stimuli (33). In addition, changes in serum levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) have been detected following CRT interventions (34). These changes approach full normalization of BDNF in cases treated with active CRT, while cases who participated in video game control treatment did not show these changes, despite equivalent levels of cognitive activity during the treatment period.

Pharmacological compounds too have the potential to lead to changes consistent with neuroplasticity. Compounds affecting the glutamatergic system have been cited as increasing brain plasticity response to various cognitive interventions in animal models (35). These interventions include increases in the rate of learning new information and the extent to which new information is rapidly consolidated in an adaptive manner. Much of this research has focused on facilitation of novel object recognition and maze learning paradigms (36). Both of these processes are also affected by antagonists at glutamatergic sites, including PCP and ketamine (37).

Importantly for this review, glutamatergic agents have been studied extensively in humans in other conditions because of their potential for modifying the learning process. In particular, D-cycloserine (DCS), initially used to consolidate fear extinction gains (38), has been studied for its potential to modify the memory consolidation process (39). This process is hypothesized to occur as a result of partial agonistic effects of DCS on *N*-methyl-D-aspartate glutamatergic receptors. This area of investigation has been challenging because, as DCS causes memory consolidation, it can cause consolidation of both the extinction of the older memories and consolidation of memory recurrence as well (40). Thus, DCS seems at present to have a role in exposure interventions, but the treatment needs to be carefully administered.

There have been multiple studies of the direct effects of various glutamatergic agents on cognition. These results have been consistently negative when using DCS, cycloserine, glycine, and glycine transport inhibitors to improve cognition directly (41, 42). However, this does not mean that these compounds would not have a beneficial effect when combined with CRT interventions.

To date, there has been one study that used DCS in concert with CRT (43), which treated patients with schizophrenia with 50 mg of DCS vs. placebo once weekly, 60 min prior to receiving a CRT session. There was a target of 3 CRT sessions per week over a planned 8-week trial and participants completed an average of 26 training sessions. The results of the trial indicated that participants who were treated with DCS showed improvement on the tasks in the CRT training procedure, but not on external cognitive outcomes, as measured by MCCB, which improved in the placebo group but not the active treatment group. Furthermore, DCS improved negative symptoms in patients who had clinically significant symptoms of this type at baseline, although there was no connection between cognitive gains and negative symptom improvements. Thus, the results of this study are complex; DCS appeared to enhance performance on the training tests, but the fact that patients treated with placebo had greater near transfer of training to cognitive test performance suggests that DCS may interfere with the commonly found transfer of CRT gains to cognitive performance. While improving negative symptoms is an important goal of treatment, this study suggests that improving motivation-related symptoms does not necessarily lead to better ability to engage in cognitive training procedures. The interference with transfer to untrained tests also suggests that DCS may not be the optimal strategy to promote transfer, in terms of both near transfer to cognitive test performance, and far transfer to real world functioning.

An additional study examined the effects of a related pharmacological compound, d-serine, on augmentation of CRT in schizophrenia (44). In this study, it was found that augmentation of CRT treatment did not lead to incremental benefits. However, the authors reported good safety outcomes and suggested that a higher dose may be required.

## CONCLUSION ON PACT

Pharmacological augmentation of CRT has been attempted and some success has been reported for certain study designs, primarily those using stimulant-like drugs. However, daily dosing studies have not yet been published yet, and studies of interventions aimed at increasing the potential neuroplasticity effect of CRT have been less successful to date. Furthermore, all of the possible dosing strategies and augmentation possibilities have not been explored. At this interim stage of the research process, the reasonable conclusion is therefore that this is a developing research area and more studies will most likely be reported in the immediate future which will hopefully enable firmer conclusions to be drawn.

# PSYCHOSOCIAL REHABILITATION AND THE INTERFACE WITH COGNITIVE ENHANCEMENT

Psychosocial rehabilitation efforts can be targeted at multiple domains of disability. The two main areas of focus in the past have been social skills (often referred to as social competence) and vocational outcomes, which have both reported some success with psychosocial rehabilitation. For instance, supported employment programs using an individualized placement and support (IPS) model have found that participants who received high quality services had a rate of obtaining competitive employment of approximately 40%, compared to 10-15% for patients who received standard psychiatric rehabilitation services (45). For social skills training, a Cochrane systematic review suggested that average intervention was not more effective than discussion groups for improving social functioning, relapse rates, mental state or quality of life (46). As social cognition is a critical component of social outcomes, there have been multiple attempts to train social skills. These interventions have had several forms, including training focused on social interactions [Social Cognition Intervention Training (SCIT)] and computerized training interventions. Results of studies of SCIT have suggested that there is some moderate benefit on performance-based measures of social cognition, particularly measures of hostile interpersonal interactions, but minimal effects on real-world social outcomes (47-50). Computerized interventions have also shown some promise in terms of improving performance on social cognition measures. For instance, training on the Mind Reading: An Interactive Guide to Emotions (MRIGE) program improved social cognitive performance in individuals with an autism spectrum condition (51).

However, it is clear from the results of psychosocial interventions aimed at social functioning and vocational outcomes that, at most, half of the patients treated show benefit. Interestingly, it has also been shown that when compared to psychosocial interventions alone, patients who receive combined cognitive remediation and psychosocial interventions make more substantial and rapid gains. For instance, McGurk et al. (52) added approximately 20 sessions of CRT to an IPS model vocational intervention and found employment gains that were persistent for 3 years. In a follow-up study, McGurk et al. (53) also found that adding CRT to IPS in IPS non-responders led to a rapid and sustained improvement in employment outcomes, this demonstrating that augmenting cognitive functioning can lead improve the response to ongoing psychosocial intervention.

This CRT enhancement effect appears robust across various psychosocial interventions. Bowie et al. (20) compared monotherapy with skills training using the Functional Adaptation Skills Training (FAST) model developed by Patterson et al. (54) or CRT alone to a combined FAST and CRT intervention, finding that the combined group had significantly greater gains in everyday functioning outcomes than both other treatments, as rated by blinded observers. FAST or CRT as a monotherapy led to domain-specific gains (functional skills and cognition, respectively) but no psychosocial improvements. These results suggest that CRT interventions can successfully combine with skills training interventions that are broadly aimed at functional skills in social, residential, and vocational domains.

Finally, Lindenmayer et al. (55) examined the combination of computerized social cognition training (MRIGE) and CRT compared with CRT alone on changes in performance-based assessments of social cognition and clinician ratings of clinical symptoms and social outcomes in patients with schizophrenia. Their study did not include a monotherapy social cognition arm, as their interest was in whether CRT improved social cognition. Their results indicated that the combined therapy lead to greater gains in performance on social cognitive tests as well as more gains in everyday social functioning without having a symptomatic benefit. Combining MRIGE and CRT did not dilute the effects of CRT on composite cognitive performance, which was significantly improved from baseline in both groups.

# COGNITIVE BEHAVIOR THERAPY (CBT) AS AN AUGMENTATION TARGET

Another domain of psychosocial interventions aimed at improving symptoms of schizophrenia is that of CBT. CBT interventions are commonly targeted at treatment-refractory delusions or hallucinations. By their definition, CBT interventions require cognitive capacity for efficacy, and as a result, the substantial cognitive impairments seen in schizophrenia, even more salient in patients with evidence of clinical treatment resistance that would lead to CBT intervention, would seem to mitigate against the benefits of a learning-based therapy in patients with major learning problems. In fact, despite evidence of efficacy and considerable enthusiasm for CBT on the part of many proponents, the number needed to treat is higher than that for many pharmacological interventions (56).

Given that CBT interventions are targeted at populations selected for treatment-resistance and increased cognitive impairments, augmentation with CRT aimed at cognition would seem a viable strategy. Interestingly, there seems to be only one published study where CRT was combined with CBT in patients with severe mental illness (57). In that study, patients randomized to CRT prior to treatment with CBT had a more rapid response to CBT than cases randomized to other psychosocial interventions. A similar strategy could also be employed with pharmacological interventions. It would be straightforward to perform a randomized trial combining potential cognition-enhancing medications with CBT in order to see whether there was either faster response or increased benefit.

# AUGMENTATION OF PSYCHOSOCIAL TRAINING WITH PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS

The substantial successes recorded from the combination of CRT and psychosocial interventions raise the question as to whether pharmacological augmentation strategies could lead to similar gains. While most pharmacological strategies have not had success on their own in terms of enhancement of cognitive performance, the combination of pharmacological interventions with CRT described above has led to incremental gains in some studies. Psychosocial interventions are themselves cognitively active and the possibility exists that synergistic effects could be seen with the combination of pharmacological augmentation of psychosocial interventions.

One interesting study has suggested that pharmacological factors may be critical for skills training interventions (58). It has been known for years that anticholinergic treatment of patients with schizophrenia is correlated with memory impairments. Memory impairments are functionally relevant, being one of the impairments most strongly correlated with everyday functional deficits. Even more important is the finding that anticholinergic medication levels correlate with the efficacy of CRT interventions. Specifically, Vinogradov et al. reported that serum levels of anticholinergic medications shared 20% of the variance with improvements in cognitive performance associated with CRT training. Thus, higher levels of anticholinergic medication can lead to more than just cross-sectional cognitive impairments, they can actually constrain the extent to which CRT provides a beneficial effect.

In another, recent study, similar effects were found for the influence of anticholinergic treatment and psychosocial treatments. Seventy patients with schizophrenia enrolled in psychosocial interventions were followed for 3 years (59). Total anticholinergic burden was assessed and patients were examined for cognitive performance and for progress in their psychosocial intervention programs. Anticholinergic burden predicted cognitive performance on the MCCB, which in turn predicted progress in rehabilitation. Clinical symptoms, antipsychotic treatments, and baseline level of functioning did not add variance to the MCCB scores for prediction of rehabilitation outcome. These data provide convincing evidence for the direct adverse effects on skills training of anticholinergic medications.

# PROCHOLINERGIC TREATMENTS FOR AUGMENTATION OF SKILLS TRAINING

Directly in line with the idea that that the cholinergic system may be critical for successful CRT and psychosocial intervention is the idea that procholinergic treatments may be a reasonable pharmacological enhancement strategy. There are two different approaches to procholinergic treatment: treatment with compounds that affect the muscarinic cholinergic system and others that target the nicotinic cholinergic system. Muscarinic targets have included M1 agonists and, much more commonly, acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEIs). Nictonic targets have included a variety of partial agonist strategies aimed at the  $\alpha$ -7 receptor with a smaller number of studies targeting a different receptor complex the  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2.

Results from studies of the direct effect of cognitive enhancement with AChEI have been consistent and disappointing. Three different AChEI (donepezil, galantamine, and rivastigmine) have shown preliminary success in small scale studies, but larger studies have been consistently negative (60–62). In fact, in one study, placebo treatment was superior to active treatment with donepezil (62). Another large-scale study examining galantamine (61) showed some that there were some domains of cognition that were potentially beneficially affected, but the overall effects of treatment on the predetermined cognitive outcomes were negative.

There have been other studies in patient with schizophrenia using the M1 agonist xanomeline (63). Although the compound appears to have efficacy for cognitive performance, its original manufacturer stopped its development because of significant gastrointestinal distress which lead to a substantial rate of discontinuation. At the present time, there are efforts to bypass the toxic effects of M1 agonist compounds by attempting to deactivate the mechanisms responsible for some of the side effects of the treatment.

Results with  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  treatments have also been reported. In a substantially powered randomized trial, the  $\alpha 4\beta 2$  compound varenicline was found to work as an effective smoking-cessation treatment, but did not have any detectable cognitive benefits, as measured by MCCB (64).

There has been much a more substantial effort in the domain of α-7 receptor agonists; however, results have been inconsistent. Several different treatments have failed to show differences from placebo in studies on patients with schizophrenia (65, 66). A short-term study of the  $\alpha$ -7 receptor agonist DMXB-A found separation between active and placebo treatment in a cross-over design (67). However, a longer study with more participants found no beneficial effects of treatment (68). There were reports of substantial successes in a phase II clinical trial, which also had suitable coprimary measures (69). However, this drug also failed to separate from placebo in a much larger-scale phase III study of patients with schizophrenia (Hilts et al., in preparation). Finally, in a much smaller study, the mixed  $\alpha$ -7/ $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 2 receptor agonist tropisetron was reported to improve cognition in three different samples of 10 patients with schizophrenia compared with placebo (70). However, given the repeated failures of larger studies in this research area to replicate the results of smaller studies and the fact that tropisetron has been in clinical use for two decades for smoking cessation, a much larger confirmatory study will be needed.

The failures of procholinergic agents as monotherapy for cognition in schizophrenia do not necessarily mean that they would not be effective in improving the efficacy of either CRT or psychosocial interventions. Indeed, there is a precedent for a specified combination of a pharmacological agent and a psychosocial intervention: varenicline as an adjunct to clinical interventions for smoking cessation. Although varenicline may lead to reduced smoking in some populations, it has not been approved as a monotherapy. Thus, it is entirely possible that a combination of a pharmacological agent not approved on its own and either a CRT or psychosocial intervention could happen in the future.

Testing such interventions would seem to be a priority but may be challenging while funding agencies insist that all interventions targeted at severe mental illness have an identifiable, separable, and discretely measurable target to engage. In fact, the most recent developments in the "precision medicine" initiative of the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) have argued for an identifiable, single target and clear specifications of what constitutes a negative result. While neuropsychological tests can be easily specified as the targets for both pharmacological agents and CRT, the "target" for skills training may be more difficult to define. While Bowie et al. (20) used performance on a measure of functional capacity (the UPSA-B) as the index of treatment gains associated with a highly specific skills training program, vocational interventions are more challenging. While no one would argue that increases in hours worked or money earned is not important, it easy to criticize on the basis that there are multiple potential mechanisms of influence that could move these outcomes in a positive direction. Thus, the combination of pharmacological interventions with broader psychosocial interventions such as IPS is outside the realm of NIMH support at this time. A test of whether pharmacological mechanisms combined with IPS may therefore have to wait for the approval of a medication for cognitive impairment associated with schizophrenia and funding by the owner of the medication.

## OTHER PHARMACOLOGICAL AUGMENTATION STRATEGIES

There have been several other domains of pharmacological interventions aimed at cognition in the schizophrenia spectrum, including interventions targeted at subclasses of monoamines, including dopamine D1 receptors and norepinephrine. D1 receptors have been an interesting target since animal work conducted by Patricia Goldman-Rakic et al. in the 1990s. Specifically, the D1 receptor agonist SKF 38393 was shown in several studies to have a direct beneficial effect on cognition in several animal models (71), although this compound does not cross the blood brain barrier in adequate concentrations to be useful for pharmacological augmentation. Other D1 agents, including dihydrexadine (DHX), have been tested in clinical trials. Although DHX did not lead to significant improvement in cognition in patients with schizophrenia (72), it was found to lead to significant improvements in working memory in patients with schizotypal personality disorder who had never been treated with antipsychotic medications (73). Broad spectrum dopamine agents such as pergolide (74) and pramipexole (75) have been examined in patients with schizotypal personality disorder and schizophrenia, respectively. However, pergolide has since been removed from the market because of adverse events, and pramipexole did not show remarkable efficacy in schizophrenia although it does not appear to have been tested in schizotypal personality disorder.

Similar findings were reported for the noradrenergic alpha-II agonist guanfacine, a currently approved treatment for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder found to improve cognition in animal models (76). In a clinical trial for schizophrenia, guanfacine did not improve cognition (77), but when used to treat patients with schizotypal personality disorder there was a significant positive treatment effect (78). Other noradrenergic interventions have also provided promising data, but have shown limited clinical efficacy in schizophrenia. For example, Friedman et al. (79) found that atomoxetine, a norepinephrine transport inhibitor, improved regional blood flow in critical areas compared to placebo in patients with schizophrenia; however, the cognitive benefits of the treatment did not achieve statistical significance. Kelly et al. (80) performed a 32-patient randomized trial and also did not find separation from placebo. However, all of these interventions have been tested only as monotherapy, without additional CRT or psychosocial interventions. The fact that cognition did not improve with these treatments does not mean that they would not manifest an incremental efficacy boost to these other learning-based interventions. As all of these treatments have demonstrated safety and tolerability, studies of combined therapy with these pharmacological strategies and CRT or psychosocial interventions would be able to proceed without many concerns about safety.

### CONCLUSION

Combining pharmacological interventions with CRT has been suggested as a promising way forward for improving cognition in schizophrenia and has been previously tested in randomized research trials. There are several different levels at which cognition-enhancing drugs could beneficially impact on the results of CRT, including making it easier for participants to engage in CRT (performance-side variables) as well as augmenting the extent to which these interventions have a benefit (increasing plasticity). Furthermore, a larger cognitive gain with combined therapy might also be more likely to lead to functional gains without the requirement for psychosocial interventions. Despite the substantial gains seen with some CRT interventions, including average effect sizes of d = 0.8, patients in those trials still have substantial cognitive deficits at the end of the study. If those effect sizes could be doubled, then cognitive performance could be normalized, which might have implications for whether additional skills training would necessarily be required.

The results of studies combining pharmacological and CRT interventions have been mixed, as a function of the mechanism of the pharmacological add-on strategy. It is possible that the research designs employed in unsuccessful studies were not optimal, such as those including single-dose treatments, medications that may actually impair learning or transfer of information, or concerns regarding the dosing of the CRT interventions delivered.

Much less mixed are the results of combining cognitive enhancement induced by CRT with psychosocial interventions.

## REFERENCES

- Harvey PD, Reichenberg A, Bowie CR. Cognition and aging in psychopathology: focus on schizophrenia and depression. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol* (2006) 2:389–409. doi:10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.2.022305.095206
- Bowie CR, Harvey PD. Cognition in schizophrenia: impairments, determinants, and functional importance. *Psychiatr Clin North Am* (2005) 28(3):613–33, 26. doi:10.1016/j.psc.2005.05.004
- Wykes T, Huddy V, Cellard C, McGurk SR, Czobor P. A meta-analysis of cognitive remediation for schizophrenia: methodology and effect sizes. *Am* J Psychiatry (2011) 168(5):472–85. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10060855
- 4. McGurk SR, Mueser KT, Watkins MA, Dalton CM, Deutsch H. The feasibility of implementing cognitive remediation for work in community based psychiatric

These studies have consistently found augmented rates of acquisition of psychosocial target outcomes in cases who received also CRT interventions. Finally, although in its infancy, another area where cognition-enhancing interventions could be explored is their potential ability to facilitate clinical gains in CBT, as per the single study that suggested CRT may lead to an incremental benefit for CBT. This would obviously be an area where a combined trial design could employ a pharmacological cognitive enhancer instead of CRT as a cognitive enhancement strategy to boost the efficacy of CBT.

We suggest that similar research strategies could also be employed with pharmacological augmentation, using a research design where a putative cognition-enhancing compound was added to psychosocial interventions in a randomized trial. There are currently limited data regarding this, but there are many promising agents to test. The pragmatics of pharmacological augmentation by-pass the effort and motivation-related limitations associated with some CRT interventions. This is a largely unexplored area, but the synergistic effect of psychosocial interventions and pharmacological treatment strategies seems worthy of exploration.

A final consideration is whether the triple combination of pharmacological, CRT, and psychosocial interventions would be superior to the results of combining CRT and psychosocial interventions alone. If pharmacological augmentation of CRT is actually beneficial and increases gains compared to CRT alone, then this combination might lead to even greater functional gains when combined with psychosocial interventions. This is, of course, a research question that can be addressed directly.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Both authors contributed equally to this article.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Editorial assistance was provided by Michelle Marvel of Fishawack Communications, funded by Boehringer Ingelheim.

## FUNDING

Boehringer Ingelheim paid the open-access fee for this article. No other funding was involved.

rehabilitation programs. *Psychiatr Rehabil J* (2017) 40(1):79–86. doi:10.1037/prj0000257

- Harvey PD. Pharmacological cognitive enhancement in schizophrenia. Neuropsychol Rev (2009) 19(3):324–35. doi:10.1007/s11065-009-9103-4
- Keefe RS, Davis VG, Spagnola NB, Hilt D, Dgetluck N, Ruse S, et al. Reliability, validity and treatment sensitivity of the Schizophrenia Cognition Rating Scale. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2015) 25(2):176–84. doi:10.1016/j. euroneuro.2014.06.009
- Swerdlow NR. Beyond antipsychotics: pharmacologically-augmented cognitive therapies (PACTs) for schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2012) 37(1):310–1. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.195
- Goff D. The therapeutic role of D-cycloserine in schizophrenia. Adv Pharmacol (2016) 76:39–66. doi:10.1016/bs.apha.2016.02.001

- Scheu F, Aghotor J, Pfueller U, Moritz S, Bohn F, Weisbrod M, et al. Predictors of performance improvements within a cognitive remediation program for schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2013) 209(3):375–80. doi:10.1016/ j.psychres.2013.04.015
- Saperstein AM, Medalia A. The role of motivation in cognitive remediation for people with schizophrenia. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci* (2016) 27:533–46. doi:10.1007/7854\_2015\_373
- Choi J, Medalia A. Intrinsic motivation and learning in a schizophrenia spectrum sample. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 118(1–3):12–9. doi:10.1016/j.schres. 2009.08.001
- Medalia A, Revheim N, Casey M. Remediation of memory disorders in schizophrenia. *Psychol Med* (2000) 30(6):1451–9. doi:10.1017/ S0033291799002913
- Medalia A, Saperstein A. The role of motivation for treatment success. Schizophr Bull (2011) 37(Suppl 2):S122–8. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbr063
- Kotwicki RJ, Balzer AM, Harvey PD. Measuring and facilitating client engagement with financial incentives: implications for improving clinical outcomes in a mental health setting. *Community Ment Health J* (2017) 53:501–9. doi:10.1007/s10597-016-0053-z
- Siu CO, Harvey PD, Agid O, Waye M, Brambilla C, Choi WK, et al. Insight and subjective measures of quality of life in chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2015) 2(3):127–32. doi:10.1016/j.scog.2015.05.002
- Harvey PD, Siu CO, Hsu J, Cucchiaro J, Maruff P, Loebel A. Effect of lurasidone on neurocognitive performance in patients with schizophrenia: a short-term placebo- and active-controlled study followed by a 6-month double-blind extension. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2013) 23(11):1373–82. doi:10.1016/j. euroneuro.2013.08.003
- Agid O, Siu C, Harvey PD, Zipursky Z, Fervaha G, Foussias G, et al. Treatment outcomes, insight, and recovery in first episode schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 153:S165–6.
- Bowie CR, Medalia A. Bridging groups. In: Medalia A, Bowie CR, editors. *Cognitive Remediation to Improve Functional Outcomes*. New York, NY: Oxford (2016). p. 24–46.
- Keefe RS, Vinogradov S, Medalia A, Buckley PF, Caroff SN, D'Souza DC, et al. Feasibility and pilot efficacy results from the multisite cognitive remediation in the schizophrenia trials network (CRSTN) randomized controlled trial. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2012) 73(7):1016–22. doi:10.4088/JCP. 11m07100
- Bowie CR, McGurk SR, Mausbach B, Patterson TL, Harvey PD. Combined cognitive remediation and functional skills training for schizophrenia: effects on cognition, functional competence, and real-world behavior. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) 169(7):710–8. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.11091337
- Strauss GP, Waltz JA, Gold JM. A review of reward processing and motivational impairment in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40(Suppl 2): S107–16. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbt197
- 22. Wolf DH, Satterthwaite TD, Kantrowitz JJ, Katchmar N, Vandekar L, Elliott MA, et al. Amotivation in schizophrenia: integrated assessment with behavioral, clinical, and imaging measures. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40(6): 1328–37. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbu026
- Strassnig MT, Raykov T, O'Gorman C, Bowie CR, Sabbag S, Durand D, et al. Determinants of different aspects of everyday outcome in schizophrenia: the roles of negative symptoms, cognition, and functional capacity. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 165(1):76–82. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2015.03.033
- Robertson BR, Prestia D, Twamley EW, Patterson TL, Bowie CR, Harvey PD. Social competence versus negative symptoms as predictors of real world social functioning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 160(1–3):136–41. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2014.10.037
- Kalin M, Kaplan S, Gould F, Pinkham AE, Penn DL, Harvey PD. Social cognition, social competence, negative symptoms and social outcomes: interrelationships in people with schizophrenia. *J Psychiatr Res* (2015) 68:254–60. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.07.008
- Gold JM, Waltz JA, Frank MJ. Effort cost computation in schizophrenia: a commentary on the recent literature. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 78(11):747–53. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.05.005
- Fisher M, Loewy R, Carter C, Lee A, Ragland JD, Niendam T, et al. Neuroplasticity-based auditory training via laptop computer improves cognition in young individuals with recent onset schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(1):250–8. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbt232

- Loewy R, Fisher M, Schlosser DA, Biagianti B, Stuart B, Mathalon DH, et al. Intensive auditory cognitive training improves verbal memory in adolescents and young adults at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(Suppl 1):S118–26. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbw009
- Wood S, Sage JR, Shuman T, Anagnostaras SG. Psychostimulants and cognition: a continuum of behavioral and cognitive activation. *Pharmacol Rev* (2014) 66(1):193–221. doi:10.1124/pr.112.007054
- Swerdlow NR, Tarasenko M, Bhakta SG, Talledo J, Alvarez AI, Hughes EL, et al. Amphetamine enhances gains in auditory discrimination training in adult schizophrenia patients. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 43(4):873–80. doi:10.1093/ schbul/sbw148
- Michalopoulou PG, Lewis SW, Drake RJ, Reichenberg A, Emsley R, Kalpakidou AK, et al. Modafinil combined with cognitive training: pharmacological augmentation of cognitive training in schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2015) 25(8):1178–89. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015. 03.009
- 32. Gilleen J, Michalopoulou PG, Reichenberg A, Drake R, Wykes T, Lewis SW, et al. Modafinil combined with cognitive training is associated with improved learning in healthy volunteers a randomised controlled trial. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2014) 24(4):529–39. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014. 01.001
- Popova P, Popov TG, Wienbruch C, Carolus AM, Miller GA, Rockstroh BS. Changing facial affect recognition in schizophrenia: effects of training on brain dynamics. *Neuroimage Clin* (2014) 6:156–65. doi:10.1016/j. nicl.2014.08.026
- Fisher M, Mellon SH, Wolkowitz O, Vinogradov S. Neuroscience-informed auditory training in schizophrenia: a final report of the effects on cognition and serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2016) 3:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.scog.2015.10.006
- Rebola N, Srikumar BN, Mulle C. Activity-dependent synaptic plasticity of NMDA receptors. *J Physiol* (2010) 588(Pt 1):93–9. doi:10.1113/ jphysiol.2009.179382
- Nabeshima T, Mouri A, Murai R, Noda Y. Animal model of schizophrenia: dysfunction of NMDA receptor-signaling in mice following withdrawal from repeated administration of phencyclidine. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2006) 1086:160–8. doi:10.1196/annals.1377.003
- Hashimoto K, Malchow B, Falkai P, Schmitt A. Glutamate modulators as potential therapeutic drugs in schizophrenia and affective disorders. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2013) 263(5):367–77. doi:10.1007/ s00406-013-0399-y
- Ressler KJ, Rothbaum BO, Tannenbaum L, Anderson P, Graap K, Zimand E, et al. Cognitive enhancers as adjuncts to psychotherapy: use of D-cycloserine in phobic individuals to facilitate extinction of fear. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2004) 61(11):1136–44. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.61.11.1136
- Goff DC, Cather C, Gottlieb JD, Evins AE, Walsh J, Raeke L, et al. Once-weekly D-cycloserine effects on negative symptoms and cognition in schizophrenia: an exploratory study. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 106(2–3):320–7. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2008.08.012
- Otto MW, Kredlow MA, Smits JA, Hofmann SG, Tolin DF, de Kleine RA, et al. Enhancement of psychosocial treatment with D-cycloserine: models, moderators, and future directions. *Biol Psychiatry* (2016) 80(4):274–83. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.09.007
- Buchanan RW, Javitt DC, Marder SR, Schooler NR, Gold JM, McMahon RP, et al. The cognitive and negative symptoms in schizophrenia trial (CONSIST): the efficacy of glutamatergic agents for negative symptoms and cognitive impairments. *Am J Psychiatry* (2007) 164(10):1593–602. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.2007.06081358
- Goff DC, Keefe R, Citrome L, Davy K, Krystal JH, Large C, et al. Lamotrigine as add-on therapy in schizophrenia: results of 2 placebo-controlled trials. *J ClinPsychopharmacol*(2007)27(6):582–9.doi:10.1097/jcp.0b013e31815abf34
- Cain CK, McCue M, Bello I, Creedon T, Tang DI, Laska E, et al. D-cycloserine augmentation of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 153(1–3):177–83. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2014.01.016
- 44. D'Souza DC, Radhakrishnan R, Perry E, Bhakta S, Singh NM, Yadav R, et al. Feasibility, safety, and efficacy of the combination of D-serine and computerized cognitive retraining in schizophrenia: an international collaborative pilot study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2013) 38(3):492–503. doi:10.1038/ npp.2012.208

- Cook JA, Leff HS, Blyler CR, Gold PB, Goldberg RW, Mueser KT, et al. Results of a multisite randomized trial of supported employment interventions for individuals with severe mental illness. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2005) 62(5):505–12. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.5.505
- Almerie MQ, Okba Al Marhi M, Jawoosh M, Alsabbagh M, Matar HE, Maayan N, et al. Social skills programmes for schizophrenia. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2015) (6):CD009006. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009006.pub2
- Roberts DL, Combs DR, Willoughby M, Mintz J, Gibson C, Rupp B, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of social cognition and interaction training (SCIT) for outpatients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Br J Clin Psychol* (2014) 53(3):281–98. doi:10.1111/bjc.12044
- Penn DL, Roberts DL, Combs D, Sterne A. Best practices: the development of the social cognition and interaction training program for schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Psychiatr Serv* (2007) 58(4):449–51. doi:10.1176/ ps.2007.58.4.449
- Tan BL, Lee SA, Lee J. Social cognitive interventions for people with schizophrenia: a systematic review. *Asian J Psychiatr* (2016). doi:10.1016/j. ajp.2016.06.013
- Kurtz MM, Richardson CL. Social cognitive training for schizophrenia: a meta-analytic investigation of controlled research. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 38(5):1092–104. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbr036
- LaCava PG, Rankin A, Mahlios E, Cook K, Simpson RL. A single case design evaluation of a software and tutor intervention addressing emotion recognition and social interaction in four boys with ASD. *Autism* (2010) 14(3):161–78. doi:10.1177/1362361310362085
- McGurk SR, Mueser KT, Feldman K, Wolfe R, Pascaris A. Cognitive training for supported employment: 2-3 year outcomes of a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Psychiatry* (2007) 164(3):437–41. doi:10.1176/ ajp.2007.164.3.437
- McGurk SR, Mueser KT, Xie H, Welsh J, Kaiser S, Drake RE, et al. Cognitive enhancement treatment for people with mental illness who do not respond to supported employment: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Psychiatry* (2015) 172(9):852–61. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.14030374
- Patterson TL, Mausbach BT, McKibbin C, Goldman S, Bucardo J, Jeste DV. Functional adaptation skills training (FAST): a randomized trial of a psychosocial intervention for middle-aged and older patients with chronic psychotic disorders. *Schizophr Res* (2006) 86(1–3):291–9. doi:10.1016/j. schres.2006.05.017
- Lindenmayer JP, McGurk SR, Khan A, Kaushik S, Thanju A, Hoffman L, et al. Improving social cognition in schizophrenia: a pilot intervention combining computerized social cognition training with cognitive remediation. *Schizophr Bull* (2013) 39(3):507–17. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbs120
- Turkington D, Sensky T, Scott J, Barnes TR, Nur U, Siddle R, et al. A randomized controlled trial of cognitive-behavior therapy for persistent symptoms in schizophrenia: a five-year follow-up. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 98(1–3):1–7. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.09.026
- 57. Drake RJ, Day CJ, Picucci R, Warburton J, Larkin W, Husain N, et al. A naturalistic, randomized, controlled trial combining cognitive remediation with cognitive-behavioural therapy after first-episode non-affective psychosis. *Psychol Med* (2014) 44(9):1889–99. doi:10.1017/S0033291713002559
- Vinogradov S, Fisher M, Warm H, Holland C, Kirshner MA, Pollock BG. The cognitive cost of anticholinergic burden: decreased response to cognitive training in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2009) 166(9):1055–62. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09010017
- O'Reilly K, O'Connell P, Donohoe G, Coyle C, O'Sullivan D, Azvee Z, et al. Anticholinergic burden in schizophrenia and ability to benefit from psychosocial treatment programmes: a 3-year prospective cohort study. *Psychol Med* (2016) 46(15):3199–211. doi:10.1017/S0033291716002154
- Sharma T, Reed C, Aasen I, Kumari V. Cognitive effects of adjunctive 24-weeks rivastigmine treatment to antipsychotics in schizophrenia: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind investigation. *Schizophr Res* (2006) 85(1–3):73–83. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2006.03.037
- 61. Buchanan RW, Conley RR, Dickinson D, Ball MP, Feldman S, Gold JM, et al. Galantamine for the treatment of cognitive impairments in people with schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165(1):82–9. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.2007.07050724
- 62. Keefe RS, Malhotra AK, Meltzer HY, Kane JM, Buchanan RW, Murthy A, et al. Efficacy and safety of donepezil in patients with

schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder: significant placebo/practice effects in a 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2008) 33(6):1217–28. doi:10.1038/sj.npp. 1301499

- Shekhar A, Potter WZ, Lightfoot J, Lienemann J, Dube S, Mallinckrodt C, et al. Selective muscarinic receptor agonist xanomeline as a novel treatment approach for schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165(8):1033–9. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2008.06091591
- Smith RC, Amiaz R, Si TM, Maayan L, Jin H, Boules S, et al. Varenicline effects on smoking, cognition, and psychiatric symptoms in schizophrenia: a double-blind randomized trial. *PLoS One* (2016) 11(1):e0143490. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0143490
- Walling D, Marder SR, Kane J, Fleischhacker WW, Keefe RS, Hosford DA, et al. Phase 2 trial of an alpha-7 nicotinic receptor agonist (TC-5619) in negative and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(2):335–43. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv072
- 66. Haig G, Wang D, Othman AA, Zhao J. The alpha7 nicotinic agonist ABT-126 in the treatment of cognitive impairment associated with schizophrenia in nonsmokers: results from a randomized controlled phase 2b study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2016) 41(12):2893–902. doi:10.1038/ npp.2016.101
- Olincy A, Harris JG, Johnson LL, Pender V, Kongs S, Allensworth D, et al. Proof-of-concept trial of an alpha7 nicotinic agonist in schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2006) 63(6):630–8. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.63.6.630
- Freedman R, Olincy A, Buchanan RW, Harris JG, Gold JM, Johnson L, et al. Initial phase 2 trial of a nicotinic agonist in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165(8):1040–7. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2008.07071135
- Keefe RS, Meltzer HA, Dgetluck N, Gawryl M, Koenig G, Moebius HJ, et al. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of encenicline, an alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist, as a treatment for cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2015) 40(13):3053–60. doi:10.1038/npp.2015.176
- Zhang XY, Liu L, Liu S, Hong X, Chen DC, Xiu MH, et al. Short-term tropisetron treatment and cognitive and P50 auditory gating deficits in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) 169(9):974–81. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.2012.11081289
- Arnsten AF, Cai JX, Murphy BL, Goldman-Rakic PS. Dopamine D1 receptor mechanisms in the cognitive performance of young adult and aged monkeys. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (1994) 116(2):143–51. doi:10.1007/BF02245056
- George MS, Molnar CE, Grenesko EL, Anderson B, Mu Q, Johnson K, et al. A single 20 mg dose of dihydrexidine (DAR-0100), a full dopamine D1 agonist, is safe and tolerated in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 93(1–3):42–50. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.03.011
- Rosell DR, Zaluda LC, McClure MM, Perez-Rodriguez MM, Strike KS, Barch DM, et al. Effects of the D1 dopamine receptor agonist dihydrexidine (DAR-0100A) on working memory in schizotypal personality disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2015) 40(2):446–53. doi:10.1038/npp. 2014.192
- McClure MM, Harvey PD, Goodman M, Triebwasser J, New A, Koenigsberg HW, et al. Pergolide treatment of cognitive deficits associated with schizotypal personality disorder: continued evidence of the importance of the dopamine system in the schizophrenia spectrum. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2010) 35(6):1356–62. doi:10.1038/npp.2010.5
- Kelleher JP, Centorrino F, Huxley NA, Bates JA, Drake JK, Egli S, et al. Pilot randomized, controlled trial of pramipexole to augment antipsychotic treatment. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2012) 22(6):415–8. doi:10.1016/j. euroneuro.2011.10.002
- Arnsten AF, Cai JX, Goldman-Rakic PS. The alpha-2 adrenergic agonist guanfacine improves memory in aged monkeys without sedative or hypotensive side effects: evidence for alpha-2 receptor subtypes. *J Neurosci* (1988) 8(11):4287–98.
- Friedman JI, Adler DN, Temporini HD, Kemether E, Harvey PD, White L, et al. Guanfacine treatment of cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2001) 25(3):402–9. doi:10.1016/ S0893-133X(01)00249-4
- McClure MM, Barch DM, Romero MJ, Minzenberg MJ, Triebwasser J, Harvey PD, et al. The effects of guanfacine on context processing abnormalities

in schizotypal personality disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 61(10):1157–60. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.06.034

- Friedman JI, Carpenter D, Lu J, Fan J, Tang CY, White L, et al. A pilot study of adjunctive atomoxetine treatment to second-generation antipsychotics for cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* (2008) 28(1):59–63. doi:10.1097/jcp.0b013e318161318f
- Kelly DL, Buchanan RW, Boggs DL, McMahon RP, Dickinson D, Nelson M, et al. A randomized double-blind trial of atomoxetine for cognitive impairments in 32 people with schizophrenia. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2009) 70(4):518–25. doi:10.4088/JCP.08m04358

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** In the past year, PH has served as a consultant to Allergan, Boehringer Ingelheim, Lundbeck, Otsuka Digital Health, Sanofi, Sunovion, and Takeda. MS is a full-time employee of Boehringer Ingelheim.

Copyright © 2017 Harvey and Sand. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Enhancing Neuroplasticity to Augment Cognitive Remediation in Schizophrenia

#### Carol Jahshan<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Yuri Rassovsky<sup>2,3</sup> and Michael F. Green<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> VISN-22 Mental Illness Research, Education and Clinical Center (MIRECC), VA Greater Los Angeles Healthcare System, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Biobehavioral Sciences, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychology, Gonda Multidisciplinary Brain Research Center, Bar-Ilan University, Ramat-Gan, Israel

There is a burgeoning need for innovative treatment strategies to improve the cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. Cognitive remediation (CR) is effective at the group level, but the variability in treatment response is large. Given that CR may depend on intact neuroplasticity to produce cognitive gains, it is reasonable to combine it with strategies that harness patients' neuroplastic potential. In this review, we discuss two non-pharmacological approaches that can enhance neuroplasticity and possibly augment the effects of CR in schizophrenia: physical exercise and transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). Substantial body of evidence supports the beneficial effect of physical exercise on cognition, and a handful of studies in schizophrenia have shown that physical exercise in conjunction with CR has a larger impact on cognition than CR alone. Physical exercise is thought to stimulate neuroplasticity through the regulation of central growth factors, and current evidence points to brain-derived neurotrophic factor as the potential underlying mechanism through which physical exercise might enhance the effectiveness of CR. tDCS has emerged as a potential tool for cognitive enhancement and seems to affect the cellular mechanisms involved in long-term potentiation (LTP). A few reports have demonstrated the feasibility of integrating tDCS with CR in schizophrenia, but there are insufficient data to determine if this multimodal approach leads to incremental performance gain in patients. Larger randomized controlled trials are necessary to understand the mechanisms of the combined tDCS-CR intervention. Future research should take advantage of new developments in neuroplasticity paradigms to examine the effects of these interventions on LTP.

Keywords: schizophrenia, cognitive training, remediation, physical exercise, transcranial direct current stimulation, neuromodulation, neuroplasticity, brain-derived neurotrophic factor

# INTRODUCTION

Antipsychotic medications are useful in ameliorating positive symptoms of schizophrenia, but they have little effect on cognitive deficits (1, 2). Efforts to improve cognitive deficits in schizophrenia are of paramount importance as they are among the strongest predictors of patients' functional outcome (3). Most of the efforts for cognition enhancement have used pharmacological approaches (i.e., drugs that enhance learning and memory in animal models) (4). However, the results in larger trials have

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Zui Narita, Tokyo Regional Correction Headquarters, Japan Satoru Ikezawa, Japan Agency for Medical Research Promotion, Japan

> \*Correspondence: Carol Jahshan carol.jahshan@ucla.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 05 July 2017 Accepted: 15 September 2017 Published: 27 September 2017

#### Citation:

Jahshan C, Rassovsky Y and Green MF (2017) Enhancing Neuroplasticity to Augment Cognitive Remediation in Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 8:191. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00191 been disappointing, and currently, there is no drug approved for cognition enhancement in schizophrenia (5). Therefore, treatment studies in this population have started to shift to cognitive remediation (CR) strategies. Although CR in schizophrenia is effective at the group level (6, 7), there is substantial individual variability in treatment response, and many patients exhibit little benefit (8). Moreover, the training effects resulting from CR alone do not always generalize to improvements in real-life functioning (9). Thus, as the best validated treatment for the cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia, CR only leads to a moderate effect-size improvement in cognition (0.45), with an even lower impact on daily functioning (0.36) (6, 9). It is, therefore, critical to consider ways of enhancing the impact of CR.

Recently, "neuroplasticity-based" interventions have been developed to train perceptual processes in schizophrenia, while also engaging attentional and working memory operations (10). These interventions are explicitly designed to drive adaptive plastic changes throughout distributed prefrontal-temporoparietal systems (11). Many studies in schizophrenia patients have demonstrated that this neuroscience-informed approach to training generates meaningful restoration of prefrontal functions and higher-order cognition (12-14), with associated improvements in community functioning (15). Thus, neuroplasticity may be an important mechanism underlying effective intervention approaches. However, this CR method requires lengthy hours of repetitive, intensive practice to induce significant changes. Combining CR with strategies that promote neuroplasticity may not only lead to larger and longer-lasting improvements, but also require shorter training protocols. Although there have been efforts to combine CR with cognitive-enhancing medications that affect neuroplasticity, such as D-cycloserine (16) and modafinil (17), less attention has been devoted to non-pharmacological approaches that could potentially augment CR effects and maximize improvements in functional outcomes. In this brief review, we will discuss two recent non-pharmacological approaches that are thought to enhance neuroplasticity in schizophrenia: physical exercise and transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). It should be noted that there are many other neurostimulation techniques that have been discussed in the literature, such as transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), transcranial electrical stimulation (TES), magnetic seizure therapy, vagus nerve stimulation, and deep brain stimulation. However, only tDCS has been combined with CR.

## REVIEW OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE AND tDCS STUDIES

#### **Physical Exercise and Cognition**

The beneficial effects of physical exercise on cognition are well documented in healthy individuals, as well as across many medical and psychiatric illnesses (18–20). Accumulating evidence suggests that exercise reduces pro-inflammatory processes and peripheral risk factors (i.e., obesity and diabetes) that are associated with cognitive decline (21). Furthermore, it stimulates hippocampal neuroplasticity and promotes angiogenesis, neurogenesis, and synaptogenesis through the regulation of central growth factors

(22). The mechanisms of exercise-induced cognitive improvements seem, to a large extent, to be related to an increased production of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which plays a pivotal role in synaptic plasticity and is particularly important for learning and memory (18, 23, 24). Similar to CR (25), exercise (26) has been shown to increase peripheral BDNF levels.

As the two approaches could potentially enhance cognition through overlapping neurobiological mechanisms, adding exercise to a CR program may further harness patients' neuroplastic potential and lead to cognitive gains beyond that achieved by CR alone. The evidence from animal research suggests some benefit from combining these approaches. Fabel et al. (27), for example, showed that a combination of aerobic exercise and cognitive enrichment for rodents had beneficial effects on neurogenesis, leading to a 30% greater increase in new neurons than either activity alone. Several reports in healthy older adults have compared the separate vs. combined effects of CR and exercise and shown superior effects of the combined intervention on verbal/working memory (28, 29), divided attention (30), as well as global cognitive performance and everyday functioning (31). Studies in children (32) have also shown that training programs that integrate physical exercise with computer-based training games improved learning and increased gains on school-administered math and reading achievement tests.

### Physical Exercise in Schizophrenia

Physical activity has been shown to ameliorate the psychotic and negative symptoms of schizophrenia and improve patients' quality of life by reducing health problems often associated with the illness (33, 34). Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have been published recently demonstrating that physical exercise, especially aerobic exercise, improves cognitive functioning in schizophrenia patients, with corresponding increases in white matter integrity and structural connectivity (35), hippocampal volume (36), and BDNF signaling (37). A recent meta-analysis (38) identified 10 trials (7 RCTs and 3 non-randomized studies) evaluating the cognitive effects of exercise in schizophrenia. Pooled effect sizes across all outcomes showed that exercise significantly improved cognition (particularly attention, working memory, and social cognition) more than the control conditions. The treatment effect size of 0.33 (95% CI = 0.13-0.53, p = 0.001) across all studies and 0.43 (95% CI = 0.21-0.66, p < 0.001) in RCTs suggests that the beneficial effect of exercise on cognition in schizophrenia is comparable to that of CR.

# Physical Exercise plus CR in Schizophrenia

We are aware of three published studies that have combined CR and exercise in schizophrenia. In one study (39), 29 patients were randomly assigned to either CR and exercise or CR and mental relaxation. The interventions were 4-week long and consisted of three weekly sessions (30 min of CR and 45 min of either aerobic exercise or relaxation). Both groups showed cognitive gains in the domains of processing speed, working memory, and visual learning, improvement in subjective well-being, and reduction

in negative symptoms. However, the effects were superior for the combined cognitive and physical training group.

In another study (40), 22 patients were enrolled in a 12-week endurance-training program augmented with CR and compared to a matched control group. Patients in the endurance training group exercised on bicycle ergometers, while those in the control group played table soccer for 30 min three times a week. After 6 weeks of the intervention period, CR was added in each group, for two 30 min-sessions a week. Results showed that, compared to the control condition, endurance training and CR significantly improved short- and long-term verbal memory, cognitive flexibility, global and social functioning, and negative symptoms. Unfortunately, the lack of random assignment, baseline differences between the groups, and the fact that the cognitive and clinical improvement in the combined training group was only seen after CR was added to the intervention make the findings difficult to interpret.

Last, a pilot study of recent-onset schizophrenia patients randomly assigned participants to 10 weeks of CR and exercise (n = 7) or CR alone (n = 9) (41). The CR intervention consisted of 2 h of auditory and social cognitive training twice/week, and exercise consisted of 30–45 min of aerobic conditioning 4 days/ week. Results showed that the differential gains in global cognition and functional outcome were larger in the combined intervention group relative to the CR group, with Cohen's *f* effect sizes of 0.48 for the MCCB overall composite and 0.88 for independent living skills.

#### tDCS and Cognition

In recent years, neurostimulation has been developed as a non-invasive tool for cognitive enhancement (42, 43), with a primary advantage of having fewer side effects than pharmacological treatment (44). Unlike other brain stimulation techniques (e.g., TMS, TES), tDCS uses a weak electrical current (1–2 mA) to alter spontaneous neuronal network activity by shifting membrane potentials in a hyperpolarizing or depolarizing direction without inducing neuronal firing (45–47). tDCS changes the excitability of neurons in a polarity-dependent manner (48), such that anodal stimulation enhances cortical excitability, whereas cathodal stimulation decreases it (49). Various electrode montages can be applied to the scalp to modulate different areas of activity in the brain. Although tDCS has coarse spatial targeting, a few minutes of stimulation can lead to changes in cortical excitability lasting for over an hour (50).

The therapeutic effect of tDCS is thought to stem from its impact on the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in long-term potentiation (LTP) (51, 52), and its after effects seem to be NMDA-receptor dependent (53). Thus, similar to physical exercise (21) and CR (54), tDCS appears to increase cortical plasticity (55) and could have additive or synergistic effects with CR, allowing for better cognitive outcomes.

A handful of studies in healthy samples have administered tDCS during specialized cognitive training and shown a performance-enhancing effect on the trained task (56) and generalization to untrained tasks (57). For instance, Martin et al. (56) demonstrated increased accuracy on a dual-working memory task during concurrent active tDCS vs. sham, but the effect was

only present during the stimulation period and did not result in greater subsequent learning. This short-lived "online" effect has also been observed during combined tDCS and behavioral inhibition training (58). Additionally, Andrews et al. (57) found that completing an n-back task while receiving tDCS resulted in greater improvement in performance on Digit Span Forward compared to either tDCS or the cognitive activity alone. Similarly, the simultaneous administration of tDCS and computerized CR in healthy older adults significantly improved working memory compared with CR alone (59). The superiority in performance with this integrated approach was also evident in studies combining multiple repeated tDCS sessions with training on a motor skill task (52) and artificial numerical learning task (60).

#### tDCS in Schizophrenia

Most studies examining the effects of tDCS in schizophrenia have administered the stimulation at rest, while the subject is engaged in a passive activity, such as watching a movie, followed by an "offline" assessment of interest. In different randomized shamcontrolled trials, tDCS was found to enhance working memory (61), probabilistic association learning (62), and composite scores on measures of cognition (63), when applied to the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. More specifically, Hoy et al. (61) reported significantly better performance over time on a working memory task following a single tDCS session compared to sham (p = 0.027). Although Vercammen et al. (62) found no significant effect at the group level, a subgroup of patients with adequate learning at baseline improved with active tDCS. In Smith et al.'s RCT (63), active compared to sham tDCS subjects showed significant improvements after the fifth tDCS session in the MCCB overall composite (p = 0.008) and the working memory (p = 0.002) and attention-vigilance (p = 0.027) domain scores, with large effect sizes (Cohen's d values ranged from 0.84 to 1.25). There is also evidence that tDCS can ameliorate auditory hallucinations (64, 65) and negative symptoms (66) in patients, as well as modulate the amplitude of the mismatch negativity, an EEG index of basic auditory processing (67).

#### tDCS plus CR in Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia researchers have recently begun to investigate the feasibility and efficacy of integrating tDCS and CR. There are currently four published reports in this area, mostly piloting this procedure in small clinical samples. In one study (68), two patients received a neuroplasticity-based CR intervention combined with tDCS and showed cognitive improvements that were maintained at 1-month follow-up. The 4-week intervention consisted of five 45-min auditory training sessions a week with active tDCS administered concurrently with CR on three sessions per week. In another pilot study (69), patients (n = 10) received three working memory training sessions a week for 16 weeks, with active or sham tDCS applied during two of the CR sessions each week starting in week 3. The authors reported enhanced cognitive performance on word and picture N-back tasks and MCCB overall composite when CR was paired with tDCS. In a negative findings study (70), 10 patients were randomized to either active or sham tDCS (10 consecutive sessions over 5 days), with cognitive training (administration of n-back and sequence

learning tasks) randomly applied during one of the tDCS sessions. The combined approach failed to improve clinical symptoms and cognitive performance.

In the largest study to date (71), investigators randomly assigned 49 patients to CR (training on a working memory and implicit learning task) and either active (n = 24) or sham tDCS (n = 25). The intervention was relatively short and consisted of four cognitive training days (day 1, day 2, day 14, and day 56), with two sessions on each day. tDCS was administered concomitantly with CR during the second session of days 1 and 14. Results showed significantly better working memory performance in the CR and active tDCS group relative to the CR and sham tDCS group. Surprisingly, the improved performance was evident on days 2 and 56, suggesting that tDCS had no enhancing effects during the acute stimulation but rather long-term effects on consolidation and learning.

## **CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Based on the aforementioned review, it appears that both physical exercise and tDCS are intriguing candidates for augmenting the therapeutic effects of CR in schizophrenia. Current evidence suggests that a multimodal intervention that combines CR with physical exercise has a larger impact on cognitive functioning than CR alone. Moreover, there is strong evidence implicating BDNF as the mechanism underlying the cognitive-physical training approach (30, 41). Nonetheless, despite the promise that exercise has shown in augmenting CR in schizophrenia, there are several methodological issues that remain unresolved. For example, the literature is not consistent regarding the type, frequency, intensity, and duration of physical training necessary to produce the beneficial effects. Aerobic exercise has been the most studied and has produced the most consistent effects on cognition. However, other types of physical activity, such as yoga (72, 73), high-intensity interval training (74), and high-velocity circuit resistance training (75) deserve further attention. Furthermore, although Firth et al. (38) showed that a greater amount of exercise is associated with larger cognitive improvement, Kimhy et al. (76) found that it is the fidelity with target training intensity, rather than the frequency and duration of exercise, which correlates with changes in cognition. Some review studies (23, 72, 77) suggest a minimum of three sessions per week (at least 30 min/ session) of moderate-intensity aerobic training for schizophrenia patients, administered in a supervised group setting for a minimum of 12 weeks, which is in line with recommendations by the American College of Sports Medicine (78).

In addition to refining optimal exercise training parameters, it is also essential to consider the timing of exercise with respect to CR when combining the two approaches. For instance, it might be more beneficial to start a treatment session with aerobic exercise followed by CR, as some studies have shown that engaging in physical activity before or while performing a cognitively demanding task improves learning or performance on the task (40). In a recent review (79), the authors proposed that aerobic exercise preceding CR may create a state of neuroplastic readiness in the brain through BDNF upregulation, which can potentiate the effectiveness of CR.

As far as the concurrent administration of tDCS and CR, emerging data support the feasibility and tolerability of this approach, but additional studies are needed to determine if it leads to performance gain in schizophrenia patients. Although the duration of stimulation of around 20 min has been consistently employed across studies, the therapeutic dose (i.e., number of sessions per day or week) has yet to be established. A host of parameters may moderate the effects of tDCS on cognitive outcomes, including placement and size of anodal/ cathodal electrodes, unilateral vs. bilateral stimulation, amplitude of stimulation, and selection of training tasks during stimulation. Although it has been suggested that neuromodulation in combination with memory training may enhance the effects of training via LTP (80), the underlying mechanisms of tDCS have been mainly explored within the motor cortex and not memory-related regions. Therefore, beyond methodological research to identify a standard montage and the parameters required for therapeutic tDCS administration, larger RCTs are necessary to establish efficacy and relevant mechanisms of the combined tDCS-CR intervention.

Both approaches seem to have the potential to enhance the impact of CR by affecting functions that underlie neuroplasticity (55, 81). Fortunately, it is now possible to measure neuroplasticity in vivo in humans using neuroimaging techniques (e.g., EEG and fMRI). New paradigms have been recently developed to assess LTP non-invasively using repetitive sensory stimulation. Similar to electrical stimulation in animals (82), repetitive high-frequency stimulation (HFS) can induce LTP-like effects in humans (83-87). Some studies have measured LTP-like plasticity using a paradigm in which visual-evoked potentials (VEPs) to visual stimuli are recorded before and after the same stimulus is presented at a high frequency. Enhancement (increase in amplitude) of the VEPs after HFS is thought to reflect experience-dependent neuroplasticity of the visual cortex (84, 86-88). So far, two studies have been published using this EEG paradigm in schizophrenia (88, 89). Future treatment studies in schizophrenia should take advantage of these novel, non-invasive methods of assessing neuroplasticity to directly test whether physical exercise or tDCS affect LTP. For example, we are currently conducting an RCT in which a visual LTP paradigm is an outcome measure to examine changes in neuroplasticity following cognitive training.

In the absence of any robust pharmacological treatments for cognitive deficits in schizophrenia, physical exercise and tDCS are feasible and intriguing adjunctive treatments to enhance neuroplasticity and augment the effects of CR. While showing promise, their efficacy still needs to be demonstrated in more rigorously controlled studies.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CJ performed the literature search and drafted the manuscript. YR and MG critically reviewed the manuscript. All the authors read and approved the final manuscript.

## FUNDING

Writing of this manuscript was supported by a Career Development Award (IK2 CX000844) to the first author from the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, Clinical Sciences Research and Development Service.

### REFERENCES

- Marder SR. Initiatives to promote the discovery of drugs to improve cognitive function in severe mental illness. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2006) 67(7):e03. doi:10.4088/JCP.0706e03
- Keefe RS, Bilder RM, Davis SM, Harvey PD, Palmer BW, Gold JM, et al. Neurocognitive effects of antipsychotic medications in patients with chronic schizophrenia in the CATIE Trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2007) 64(6):633–47. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.64.6.633
- Green MF, Kern RS, Heaton RK. Longitudinal studies of cognition and functional outcome in schizophrenia: implications for MATRICS. *Schizophr Res* (2004) 72(1):41–51. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2004.09.009
- Buchanan RW, Keefe RS, Umbricht D, Green MF, Laughren T, Marder SR. The FDA-NIMH-MATRICS guidelines for clinical trial design of cognitive-enhancing drugs: what do we know 5 years later? *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 37(6):1209–17. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbq038
- Goff DC, Hill M, Barch D. The treatment of cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* (2011) 99(2):245–53. doi:10.1016/j. pbb.2010.11.009
- McGurk SR, Twamley EW, Sitzer DI, McHugo GJ, Mueser KT. A meta-analysis of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2007) 164(12):1791–802. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07060906
- Twamley EW, Jeste DV, Bellack AS. A review of cognitive training in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull (2003) 29:359–82. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul. a007011
- Corbera S, Wexler BE, Poltorak A, Thime WR, Kurtz MM. Cognitive remediation for adults with schizophrenia: does age matter? *Psychiatry Res* (2017) 247:21–7. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2016.10.084
- Wykes T, Huddy V, Cellard C, McGurk SR, Czobor P. A meta-analysis of cognitive remediation for schizophrenia: methodology and effect sizes. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(5):472–85. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10060855
- Vinogradov S, Fisher M, de Villers-Sidani E. Cognitive training for impaired neural systems in neuropsychiatric illness. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2012) 37(1):43–76. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.251
- Keshavan MS, Vinogradov S, Rumsey J, Sherrill J, Wagner A. Cognitive training in mental disorders: update and future directions. *Am J Psychiatry* (2014) 171(5):510–22. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13081075
- Adcock RA, Dale C, Fisher M, Aldebot S, Genevsky A, Simpson GV, et al. When top-down meets bottom-up: auditory training enhances verbal memory in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2009) 35(6):1132–41. doi:10.1093/ schbul/sbp068
- Dale CL, Findlay AM, Adcock RA, Vertinski M, Fisher M, Genevsky A, et al. Timing is everything: neural response dynamics during syllable processing and its relation to higher-order cognition in schizophrenia and healthy comparison subjects. *Int J Psychophysiol* (2010) 75(2):183–93. doi:10.1016/j. ijpsycho.2009.10.009
- Subramaniam K, Luks TL, Garrett C, Chung C, Fisher M, Nagarajan S, et al. Intensive cognitive training in schizophrenia enhances working memory and associated prefrontal cortical efficiency in a manner that drives long-term functional gains. *Neuroimage* (2014) 99:281–92. doi:10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2014.05.057
- Fisher M, Holland C, Subramaniam K, Vinogradov S. Neuroplasticity-based cognitive training in schizophrenia: an interim report on the effects 6 months later. *Schizophr Bull* (2010) 36(4):869–79. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbn170
- Cain CK, McCue M, Bello I, Creedon T, Tang DI, Laska E, et al. d-Cycloserine augmentation of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 153(1–3):177–83. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2014.01.016
- Michalopoulou PG, Lewis SW, Drake RJ, Reichenberg A, Emsley R, Kalpakidou AK, et al. Modafinil combined with cognitive training: pharmacological augmentation of cognitive training in schizophrenia. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2015) 25(8):1178–89. doi:10.1016/j. euroneuro.2015.03.009
- Gomez-Pinilla F, Hillman C. The influence of exercise on cognitive abilities. *Compr Physiol* (2013) 3(1):403–28. doi:10.1002/cphy.c110063
- Marzolini S, Oh P, McIlroy W, Brooks D. The effects of an aerobic and resistance exercise training program on cognition following stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* (2013) 27(5):392–402. doi:10.1177/1545968312465192
- Nagamatsu LS, Chan A, Davis JC, Beattie BL, Graf P, Voss MW, et al. Physical activity improves verbal and spatial memory in older adults with probable

mild cognitive impairment: a 6-month randomized controlled trial. J Aging Res (2013) 2013:861893. doi:10.1155/2013/861893

- Cotman CW, Berchtold NC, Christie LA. Exercise builds brain health: key roles of growth factor cascades and inflammation. *Trends Neurosci* (2007) 30(9):464–72. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2007.06.011
- Lista I, Sorrentino G. Biological mechanisms of physical activity in preventing cognitive decline. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* (2010) 30(4):493–503. doi:10.1007/ s10571-009-9488-x
- Malchow B, Reich-Erkelenz D, Oertel-Knochel V, Keller K, Hasan A, Schmitt A, et al. The effects of physical exercise in schizophrenia and affective disorders. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2013) 263(6):451–67. doi:10.1007/ s00406-013-0423-2
- 24. Voss MW, Vivar C, Kramer AF, van Praag H. Bridging animal and human models of exercise-induced brain plasticity. *Trends Cogn Sci* (2013) 17(10):525–44. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2013.08.001
- Fisher M, Mellon SH, Wolkowitz O, Vinogradov S. Neuroscience-informed auditory training in schizophrenia: a final report of the effects on cognition and serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2016) 3:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.scog.2015.10.006
- Szuhany KL, Bugatti M, Otto MW. A meta-analytic review of the effects of exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor. J Psychiatr Res (2015) 60:56–64. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.10.003
- Fabel K, Wolf SA, Ehninger D, Babu H, Leal-Galicia P, Kempermann G. Additive effects of physical exercise and environmental enrichment on adult hippocampal neurogenesis in mice. *Front Neurosci* (2009) 3:50. doi:10.3389/ neuro.22.002.2009
- Eggenberger P, Schumacher V, Angst M, Theill N, de Bruin ED. Does multicomponent physical exercise with simultaneous cognitive training boost cognitive performance in older adults? A 6-month randomized controlled trial with a 1-year follow-up. *Clin Interv Aging* (2015) 10:1335–49. doi:10.2147/ CIA.S87732
- Shah T, Verdile G, Sohrabi H, Campbell A, Putland E, Cheetham C, et al. A combination of physical activity and computerized brain training improves verbal memory and increases cerebral glucose metabolism in the elderly. *Transl Psychiatry* (2014) 4:e487. doi:10.1038/tp.2014.122
- Rahe J, Petrelli A, Kaesberg S, Fink GR, Kessler J, Kalbe E. Effects of cognitive training with additional physical activity compared to pure cognitive training in healthy older adults. *Clin Interv Aging* (2015) 10:297–310. doi:10.2147/CIA. S74071
- Oswald WDG, Rupprecht R, Hagen B. Differential effects of single versus combined cognitive and physical training with older adults: the SimA study in a 5-year perspective. *Eur J Ageing* (2006) 3:179–92. doi:10.1007/ s10433-006-0035-z
- Wexler BE, Iseli M, Leon S, Zaggle W, Rush C, Goodman A, et al. Cognitive priming and cognitive training: immediate and far transfer to academic skills in children. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:32859. doi:10.1038/srep32859
- Rosenbaum S, Tiedemann A, Sherrington C, Curtis J, Ward PB. Physical activity interventions for people with mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2014) 75(9):964–74. doi:10.4088/ JCP.13r08765
- Acil AA, Dogan S, Dogan O. The effects of physical exercises to mental state and quality of life in patients with schizophrenia. *J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs* (2008) 15(10):808–15. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2850.2008.01317.x
- Svatkova A, Mandl RC, Scheewe TW, Cahn W, Kahn RS, Hulshoff Pol HE. Physical exercise keeps the brain connected: biking increases white matter integrity in patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(4):869–78. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv033
- Pajonk FG, Wobrock T, Gruber O, Scherk H, Berner D, Kaizl I, et al. Hippocampal plasticity in response to exercise in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2010) 67(2):133–43. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.193
- Kimhy D, Vakhrusheva J, Bartels MN, Armstrong HF, Ballon JS, Khan S, et al. The impact of aerobic exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurocognition in individuals with schizophrenia: a single-blind, randomized clinical trial. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(4):859–68. doi:10.1093/schbul/ sbv022
- Firth J, Stubbs B, Rosenbaum S, Vancampfort D, Malchow B, Schuch F, et al. Aerobic exercise improves cognitive functioning in people with schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull* (2017) 43(3):546–56. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbw115

- Oertel-Knochel V, Mehler P, Thiel C, Steinbrecher K, Malchow B, Tesky V, et al. Effects of aerobic exercise on cognitive performance and individual psychopathology in depressive and schizophrenia patients. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 264(7):589–604. doi:10.1007/s00406-014-0485-9
- MalchowB, KellerK, HasanA, DorflerS, Schneider-AxmannT, Hillmer-VogelU, et al. Effects of endurance training combined with cognitive remediation on everyday functioning, symptoms, and cognition in multiepisode schizophrenia patients. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(4):847–58. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv020
- Nuechterlein KH, Ventura J, McEwen SC, Gretchen-Doorly D, Vinogradov S, Subotnik KL. Enhancing cognitive training through aerobic exercise after a first schizophrenia episode: theoretical conception and pilot study. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(Suppl 1):S44–52. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbw007
- Dedoncker J, Brunoni AR, Baeken C, Vanderhasselt MA. The effect of the interval-between-sessions on prefrontal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) on cognitive outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)* (2016) 123(10):1159–72. doi:10.1007/s00702-016-1558-x
- Hasan A, Strube W, Palm U, Wobrock T. Repetitive noninvasive brain stimulation to modulate cognitive functions in schizophrenia: a systematic review of primary and secondary outcomes. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(Suppl 1):S95–109. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv158
- Dresler M, Sandberg A, Ohla K, Bublitz C, Trenado C, Mroczko-Wasowicz A, et al. Non-pharmacological cognitive enhancement. *Neuropharmacology* (2013) 64:529–43. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.07.002
- Nitsche MA, Cohen LG, Wassermann EM, Priori A, Lang N, Antal A, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation: state of the art 2008. *Brain Stimul* (2008) 1(3):206–23. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2008.06.004
- Priori A, Hallett M, Rothwell JC. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation or transcranial direct current stimulation? *Brain Stimul* (2009) 2(4):241–5. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2009.02.004
- Zaghi S, Acar M, Hultgren B, Boggio PS, Fregni F. Noninvasive brain stimulation with low-intensity electrical currents: putative mechanisms of action for direct and alternating current stimulation. *Neuroscientist* (2010) 16(3):285–307. doi:10.1177/1073858409336227
- Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *J Physiol* (2000) 527(Pt 3):633–9. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.t01-1-00633.x
- Wagner T, Fregni F, Fecteau S, Grodzinsky A, Zahn M, Pascual-Leone A. Transcranial direct current stimulation: a computer-based human model study. *Neuroimage* (2007) 35(3):1113–24. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.01.027
- Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. *Neurology* (2001) 57(10):1899–901. doi:10.1212/WNL.57.10.1899
- Stagg CJ, Best JG, Stephenson MC, O'Shea J, Wylezinska M, Kincses ZT, et al. Polarity-sensitive modulation of cortical neurotransmitters by transcranial stimulation. *J Neurosci* (2009) 29(16):5202–6. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4432-08.2009
- Reis J, Schambra HM, Cohen LG, Buch ER, Fritsch B, Zarahn E, et al. Noninvasive cortical stimulation enhances motor skill acquisition over multiple days through an effect on consolidation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(5):1590–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0805413106
- Liebetanz D, Nitsche MA, Tergau F, Paulus W. Pharmacological approach to the mechanisms of transcranial DC-stimulation-induced after-effects of human motor cortex excitability. *Brain* (2002) 125(Pt 10):2238–47. doi:10.1093/brain/awf238
- Fisher M, Loewy R, Hardy K, Schlosser D, Vinogradov S. Cognitive interventions targeting brain plasticity in the prodromal and early phases of schizophrenia. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol* (2013) 9:435–63. doi:10.1146/ annurev-clinpsy-032511-143134
- Player MJ, Taylor JL, Weickert CS, Alonzo A, Sachdev PS, Martin D, et al. Increase in PAS-induced neuroplasticity after a treatment course of transcranial direct current stimulation for depression. *J Affect Disord* (2014) 167:140–7. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2014.05.063
- Martin DM, Liu R, Alonzo A, Green M, Player MJ, Sachdev P, et al. Can transcranial direct current stimulation enhance outcomes from cognitive training? A randomized controlled trial in healthy participants. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2013) 16(9):1927–36. doi:10.1017/S1461145713000539
- 57. Andrews SC, Hoy KE, Enticott PG, Daskalakis ZJ, Fitzgerald PB. Improving working memory: the effect of combining cognitive activity and anodal

transcranial direct current stimulation to the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *Brain Stimul* (2011) 4(2):84–9. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2010.06.004

- Ditye T, Jacobson L, Walsh V, Lavidor M. Modulating behavioral inhibition by tDCS combined with cognitive training. *Exp Brain Res* (2012) 219(3):363–8. doi:10.1007/s00221-012-3098-4
- Park SH, Seo JH, Kim YH, Ko MH. Long-term effects of transcranial direct current stimulation combined with computer-assisted cognitive training in healthy older adults. *Neuroreport* (2014) 25(2):122–6. doi:10.1097/ WNR.0000000000000080
- Cohen Kadosh R, Soskic S, Iuculano T, Kanai R, Walsh V. Modulating neuronal activity produces specific and long-lasting changes in numerical competence. *Curr Biol* (2010) 20(22):2016–20. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2010.10.007
- Hoy KE, Arnold SL, Emonson MR, Daskalakis ZJ, Fitzgerald PB. An investigation into the effects of tDCS dose on cognitive performance over time in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 155(1–3):96–100. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2014.03.006
- Vercammen A, Rushby JA, Loo C, Short B, Weickert CS, Weickert TW. Transcranial direct current stimulation influences probabilistic association learning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 131(1–3):198–205. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2011.06.021
- Smith RC, Boules S, Mattiuz S, Youssef M, Tobe RH, Sershen H, et al. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) on cognition, symptoms, and smoking in schizophrenia: a randomized controlled study. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 168(1–2):260–6. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2015.06.011
- 64. Brunelin J, Mondino M, Gassab L, Haesebaert F, Gaha L, Suaud-Chagny MF, et al. Examining transcranial direct-current stimulation (tDCS) as a treatment for hallucinations in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) 169(7):719–24. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.11071091
- 65. Mondino M, Jardri R, Suaud-Chagny MF, Saoud M, Poulet E, Brunelin J. Effects of fronto-temporal transcranial direct current stimulation on auditory verbal hallucinations and resting-state functional connectivity of the left temporo-parietal junction in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(2):318–26. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv114
- 66. Palm U, Keeser D, Hasan A, Kupka MJ, Blautzik J, Sarubin N, et al. Prefrontal transcranial direct current stimulation for treatment of schizophrenia with predominant negative symptoms: a double-blind, sham-controlled proofof-concept study. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(5):1253–61. doi:10.1093/schbul/ sbw041
- Dunn W, Rassovsky Y, Wynn JK, Wu AD, Iacoboni M, Hellemann G, et al. Modulation of neurophysiological auditory processing measures by bilateral transcranial direct current stimulation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 174(1–3):189–91. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.04.021
- Tarur Padinjareveettil AM, Rogers J, Loo C, Martin D. Transcranial direct current stimulation to enhance cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Brain Stimul* (2015) 8(2):307–9. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2014.11.012
- Nienow TM, MacDonald AW III, Lim KO. TDCS produces incremental gain when combined with working memory training in patients with schizophrenia: a proof of concept pilot study. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 172(1–3):218–9. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.01.053
- Shiozawa P, Gomes JS, Ducos DV, Akiba HT, Dias AM, Trevizol AP, et al. Effect of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) over the prefrontal cortex combined with cognitive training for treating schizophrenia: a sham-controlled randomized clinical trial. *Trends Psychiatry Psychother* (2016) 38(3):175–7. doi:10.1590/2237-6089-2015-0043
- Orlov ND, Tracy DK, Joyce D, Patel S, Rodzinka-Pasko J, Dolan H, et al. Stimulating cognition in schizophrenia: a controlled pilot study of the effects of prefrontal transcranial direct current stimulation upon memory and learning. *Brain Stimul* (2017) 10(3):560–6. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2016.12.013
- Dauwan M, Begemann MJ, Heringa SM, Sommer IE. Exercise improves clinical symptoms, quality of life, global functioning, and depression in schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(3):588–99. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv164
- Bhatia T, Mazumdar S, Wood J, He F, Gur RE, Gur RC, et al. A randomised controlled trial of adjunctive yoga and adjunctive physical exercise training for cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Acta Neuropsychiatr* (2017) 29(2):102–14. doi:10.1017/neu.2016.42
- 74. Robinson MM, Dasari S, Konopka AR, Johnson ML, Manjunatha S, Esponda RR, et al. Enhanced protein translation underlies improved metabolic and physical

adaptations to different exercise training modes in young and old humans. *Cell Metab* (2017) 25(3):581–92. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2017.02.009

- 75. Strassnig MT, Signorile JF, Potiaumpai M, Romero MA, Gonzalez C, Czaja S, et al. High velocity circuit resistance training improves cognition, psychiatric symptoms and neuromuscular performance in overweight outpatients with severe mental illness. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 229(1–2):295–301. doi:10.1016/j. psychres.2015.07.007
- Kimhy D, Lauriola V, Bartels MN, Armstrong HF, Vakhrusheva J, Ballon JS, et al. Aerobic exercise for cognitive deficits in schizophrenia – the impact of frequency, duration, and fidelity with target training intensity. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 172(1–3):213–5. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.01.055
- Stanton R, Happell B. A systematic review of the aerobic exercise program variables for people with schizophrenia. *Curr Sports Med Rep* (2014) 13(4):260–6. doi:10.1249/JSR.00000000000069
- Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee IM, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* (2011) 43(7):1334–59. doi:10.1249/ MSS.0b013e318213fefb
- 79. Campos C, Rocha NB, Nardi AE, Lattari E, Machado S. Exercise induced neuroplasticity to enhance therapeutic outcomes of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia: analyzing the role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets (2017) 16(6):638–51. doi:10.2174/187152731566 6161223142918
- Floel A, Cohen LG. Contribution of noninvasive cortical stimulation to the study of memory functions. *Brain Res Rev* (2007) 53(2):250–9. doi:10.1016/j. brainresrev.2006.08.006
- Kandola A, Hendrikse J, Lucassen PJ, Yucel M. Aerobic exercise as a tool to improve hippocampal plasticity and function in humans: practical implications for mental health treatment. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2016) 10:373. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00373
- Heynen AJ, Bear MF. Long-term potentiation of thalamocortical transmission in the adult visual cortex in vivo. J Neurosci (2001) 21(24):9801–13.
- 83. Clapp WC, Hamm JP, Kirk IJ, Teyler TJ. Translating long-term potentiation from animals to humans: a novel method for noninvasive assessment of

cortical plasticity. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 71(6):496–502. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2011.08.021

- McNair NA, Clapp WC, Hamm JP, Teyler TJ, Corballis MC, Kirk IJ. Spatial frequency-specific potentiation of human visual-evoked potentials. *Neuroreport* (2006) 17(7):739-41. doi:10.1097/01. wnr.0000215775.53732.9f
- Mears RP, Spencer KM. Electrophysiological assessment of auditory stimulus-specific plasticity in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 71(6):503–11. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.12.016
- Ross RM, McNair NA, Fairhall SL, Clapp WC, Hamm JP, Teyler TJ, et al. Induction of orientation-specific LTP-like changes in human visual evoked potentials by rapid sensory stimulation. *Brain Res Bull* (2008) 76(1–2):97–101. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2008.01.021
- Teyler TJ, Hamm JP, Clapp WC, Johnson BW, Corballis MC, Kirk IJ. Longterm potentiation of human visual evoked responses. *Eur J Neurosci* (2005) 21(7):2045–50. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04007.x
- Cavus I, Reinhart RM, Roach BJ, Gueorguieva R, Teyler TJ, Clapp WC, et al. Impaired visual cortical plasticity in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 71(6):512–20. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.01.013
- Jahshan C, Wynn JK, Mathalon DH, Green MF. Cognitive correlates of visual neural plasticity in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2017). doi:10.1016/j. schres.2017.03.016

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewers SI and ZN and handling editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2017 Jahshan, Rassovsky and Green. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Possible Facilitative Effects of Repeated Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Functional Outcome 1 Month Later in Schizophrenia: An Open Trial

Zui Narita1\*, Takuma Inagawa1, Kazuki Sueyoshi2, Crystal Lin2 and Tomiki Sumiyoshi2

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, National Center Hospital, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Translational Medical Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan

Recent research on neuromodulation techniques, such as transcranial direct current stimu-

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Roumen Kirov, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Bulgaria

#### Reviewed by:

Qinghua He, Southwest University, China Aurora D'Atri, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Zui Narita zuinarita@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 03 July 2017 Accepted: 11 September 2017 Published: 29 September 2017

#### Citation:

Narita Z, Inagawa T, Sueyoshi K, Lin C and Sumiyoshi T (2017) Possible Facilitative Effects of Repeated Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Functional Outcome 1 Month Later in Schizophrenia: An Open Trial. Front. Psychiatry 8:184. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00184 lation (tDCS), for the treatment of schizophrenia has mainly focused on psychotic symptoms. We aimed to determine whether repetitive tDCS is efficacious in improving determinants of outcome, such as cognitive function, daily living skills, and depressive mood in patients with schizophrenia. Twenty-eight patients underwent tDCS (2 mA × 20 min) two times per day for 5 consecutive days. The anodal electrode was placed over the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex while the cathodal electrode was placed over the right supraorbital region. One month after the last stimulation, there was a significant improvement on cognitive function, measured by the brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia (d = 0.49). Significant effects were also shown on daily living skills (functional capacity), measured by the UCSD performance-based skills assessment-brief (d = 0.70). Depressive symptoms, measured by the Calgary depression rating scale, as well as psychotic symptoms measured by on the positive and negative syndrome scale positive and general psychopathology subscales also responded to the treatment (d = 0.38, d = 0.48, and d = 0.50, respectively). This is the first study to suggest that tDCS with the anodal electrode on the left prefrontal cortex improves functional capacity and depressive symptoms in patients with schizophrenia. These results may add to the concept that tDCS provides a strategy to enhance functional outcomes in patients with schizophrenia.

**Trial Registration:** https://upload.umin.ac.jp/cgi-open-bin/ctr/ctr\_view.cgi?recpt-no=R000018556, UMIN000015953.

Keywords: brain stimulation, cognition, daily living skills, tDCS, functional outcome

# INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia patients elicit psychotic symptoms, mood symptoms, and cognitive impairment (1-3). Specifically, cognitive function, such as learning memory, working memory, executive function, verbal fluency, and attention/information processing, are impaired in patients with the illness (4, 5). Functional capacity is defined as the potential to perform everyday living activities, which require financial competence, communication skills, and so on (6). By contrast, real-world functional outcomes (social function) are greatly affected by several factors, such as opportunities and incentives

that influence functioning in everyday situations (7). These levels of functional outcomes (cognitive function, functional capacity, social function) have been reported to be associated with each other (8, 9).

In patients with schizophrenia, functional connectivity of the frontoparietal control network and inter-hemispheric connectivity are decreased, which may play an important role in the pathophysiology of impairment of higher order cognitive task-related activities (10–12). The dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) is reported to be related to these circuits, and shows functional changes of cognitive function in schizophrenia (13, 14). Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a feasible and safe method, using weak and direct electrical current to the brain through electrodes (15, 16). tDCS changes cortical excitability, modulated by glutamatergic activity *via* actions on catecholamine, acetylcholine and serotonin receptors (17–19). With this mechanism, tDCS over the left DLPFC has been suggested to modulate corticosubcortical/corticocortical pathways (20, 21).

The beneficial effect of tDCS on cognitive function has been reported. For example, Vercammen et al. observed that a subset of patients with schizophrenia, with greater variance in the active relative to the sham conditions, may respond to tDCS over the DLPFC (22). In addition, Schretlen et al. reported facilitative effects of tDCS over the left DLPFC on measures of working memory and aspects of verbal fluency relevant to word retrieval (18). Moreover, Hoy et al. found that repeated tDCS over the left DLPFC may enhance working memory in schizophrenia by restoring normal gamma oscillatory function (23). Furthermore, a sham-controlled randomized study demonstrated that repeated tDCS over the left DLPFC improved performance on the MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery (24). Thus, the DLPFC has been a target for studies investigating tDCS on cognitive function in schizophrenia (18, 22–24).

Although these studies indicate the facilitative effect of tDCS over the DLPFC on some domains of cognitive function, there is little information on whether tDCS would improve a higher level of functional outcome, e.g., daily living skill linked to cognitive function (functional capacity), in schizophrenia. We hypothesized that tDCS may also be effective in improving functional capacity in schizophrenia, since this level of functional outcome is associated with cognitive function, as mentioned above (8, 9). To our knowledge, no study has been attempted to determine whether tDCS directly improves functional capacity, or the improvement on other symptoms, such as psychosis, depression, would indirectly improves it. Based on these considerations, the primary aim of present study was to evaluate the effect of anodal tDCS over the left DLPFC on functional capacity in schizophrenia. Also, we sought to determine whether or not a putative improvement of functional capacity by tDCS would be related to changes of other clinical factors, such as cognition, psychotic symptoms, and depressive symptoms.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Participants**

Inpatients or outpatients treated at National Center Hospital, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, were enrolled. Participants were recruited by psychiatrists' referrals. They provided written informed consent before starting the trial. Subjects met the following inclusion criteria:

- (1) Meeting DSM-5 criteria for schizophrenia.
- (2) Being 20 through 60 years old.
- (3) Being able to sign and give consent.

Patients with any of the following diagnoses in accordance with clinical interview by psychiatrists were excluded from the study:

- (1) Alcohol or substance disorder
- (2) Traumatic brain injury
- (3) Epilepsy

Twenty-eight subjects were enrolled, and completed the study without any dropout. Baseline characteristics of patients are shown in **Table 1**. The mean and standard deviation of premorbid IQ assessed by the Japanese Adult Reading Test (25) was 99.6 (12.0). The mean standard deviation of the global assessment of functioning (26) was 38.6 (6.9). Antipsychotics taken by participants were as follows: risperidone (eight patients), paliperidone, quetiapine, aripiprazole (seven for each), olanzapine (six), haloperidol (three), chlorpromazine, levomepromazine, zotepine (two for each), perospirone, blonanserin, sulpiride (one for each). No medication was modified during the study period. No severe side effect was observed throughout the trial. All participants tolerated the treatment well.

#### Intervention

We used a Soterix Medical  $1 \times 1$  Transcranial Direct Current Low-Intensity Stimulator Model 1,300 A. For each session, the tDCS montage comprised placement of the anode over the left DLPFC and the cathode over the right supraorbital area (corresponding to F3 and FP2, according to the International 10–20 electroencephalography system), as previously investigated (27). Rubber electrodes were inserted in 35-cm<sup>2</sup> saline-soaked sponges, and were fixed with headband. We applied direct current of 2 mA for 20 min per session. Subjects underwent 10 tDCS sessions in 5 consecutive days, twice per day. On each day, tDCS intervention was performed approximately at 10 a.m. and 2 p.m.

Trained psychiatrists administered tDCS intervention. In order to maximize adherence, we provided all included patients and

Variables	Mean $\pm$ SD or <i>n</i>
Inpatient/outpatient	22/6
Male/female	16/12
Age, year	$40.9 \pm 9.8$
Age at onset, year	$23.6 \pm 6.7$
Duration of present illness, year	17.3 ± 9.9
Chlorpromazine equivalent dose of antipsychotics, mg/day	889.0 ± 587.1
Duration of education, year	13.8 ± 1.7
Premorbid IQ	99.6 ± 12.0
Global assessment of functioning	$38.6 \pm 6.9$

their study partners with costs of transportation, and reminded and rescheduled all of the patients' visits if necessary.

Criteria for discontinuing interventions were as follows:

- (1) In case patients withdraw informed consent to participate.
- (2) In case severe adverse effects are observed.
- (3) In case patients fail to undergo three consecutive sessions of tDCS.

Adjusting drugs were considered as a protocol deviation during the trial.

#### **Outcome Measures**

Subjects were assessed at baseline and 1 month after the last stimulation. Each evaluation was performed by experienced psychologists (Kazuki Sueyoshi and Crystal Lin). They were trained at a workshop.

#### Cognition

Cognitive function was assessed by the BACS. It is used to evaluate cognitive domains that are typically impaired in patients with schizophrenia, including verbal memory (Verbal Memory Task), verbal working memory (Digit Sequencing Task), motor/speed (Token Motor Task), verbal fluency (Verbal Fluency Task), attention/information processing (Symbol Coding Task), and executive function (Tower of London Task) (28). The higher scores represent better cognition. To provide a standard metric for combining test scores into domains and comparing performance over time, BACS scores were converted to *z*-scores (continuous variables) which show performances relative to those of healthy people (5). Alternative forms were used for the Verbal Memory Task and Tower of London Task at baseline and follow-up assessments.

#### Functional Capacity (Daily Living Skills)

Functional capacity was assessed by the UPSA-B (29). It is one of the measures most frequently used to evaluate daily living skills linked to cognitive function in schizophrenia (9, 29). Patients performed worse on the UPSA-B than do healthy individuals, a finding pertinent to some of the non-Western countries including Japan (9, 29). The UPSA-B consists of finance and communication subscales, which are continuous variables. Subscale scores of the two domains of the UPSA-B were converted into standard scores ranging from 0 to 50, so that the maximum of the total score was 100 (30). The higher scores represent better functional capacity. The validity of its Japanese version was confirmed (29).

#### **Psychotic Symptoms**

Psychotic symptoms were evaluated by the positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS), commonly used for the assessment of psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia (31). The PANSS is a structured interview, consisting of positive, negative, and general psychopathology subscales (with scores ranging from 7 to 49, from 7 to 49, and from 16 to 112, respectively), whose scores are regarded as continuous variables. The higher scores represent more severe psychotic symptoms.

#### Depression

The Calgary depression scale for schizophrenia (CDSS), recommended as a brief and reliable tool for the assessment of severity of depression in schizophrenia (32), was used to assess depressive symptoms. The CDSS is a structured interview, consisting of items for depression, hopelessness, self-depreciation, guilty ideas of reference, pathological guilt, morning depression, early wakening, suicide, and observed depression. The score of each item ranges from 0 to 3 (i.e., discrete variable) (32). The higher scores represent more severe depressive state.

This study was approved by Ethical Committee of National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan. This was a single-arm, open-label study in which outcome measures were carried out before and after tDCS intervention (UMIN000015953). The patients first underwent a baseline assessment of the BACS, UPSA-B, PANSS, and CDSS; then they participated in the stimulation protocol consisting in twice-daily (10 a.m. and 2 p.m.) anodal tDCS over the left DLPFC and cathodal tDCS on the right superorbital area for 5 days, and were assessed again 1 month after the last stimulation. The study schedule is summarized in **Table 2**.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Correlations between baseline values and their changes from baseline of BACS, UPSA-B, PANSS, and CDSS scores, were evaluated. Correlations were also examined for chlorpromazine equivalent dose of antipsychotics vs. changes from baseline of BACS, UPSA-B, PANSS, and CDSS scores, as well as change from baseline of UPSA-B scores vs. changes from baseline of BACS, PANSS, and CDSS scores.

Statistical analysis was conducted using STATA 14, created by StataCorp in TX, USA. We performed a per protocol approach for subjects who were followed-up until the end of study point. For continuous variables in the BACS, UPSA-B, PANSS, we used Student's *t*-test. For a discrete variable in the CDSS, we performed

TABLE 2 | Study schedule.

	Study period			
	Enrollment	Intervention	Follow-up	
Time point	Week 1	Week 2 (5 consecutive days)	Week 7	
Enrollment				
Eligibility screen	Х			
Informed consent	Х			
Sociodemographic	Х			
characteristics				
Intervention				
tDCS (twice/day)		4	•	
Assessments				
BACS	Х		Х	
UPSA-B	Х		Х	
PANSS	Х		Х	
CDSS	Х		Х	
Adverse events	Х	+	★ X	

BACS, the brief assessment for cognition in schizophrenia; UPSA-B, the UCSD performance-based skills assessment-brief; PANSS, positive and negative syndrome scale; CDSS, Calgary depression scale for schizophrenia.

Wilcoxon signed-rank test. Pearson's product moment correlation coefficient was used for the relationship between clinical variables.

#### Monitoring

A systematic review revealed that the most common adverse events were itching, tingling, headache, burning sensation, and discomfort (33). A trained psychiatrist evaluated the safety with a semistructured checklist of these symptoms after each intervention. An independent safety monitoring committee ran an interim analysis for safety every week.

# RESULTS

**Table 3** shows outcome measures at baseline and 1 month afterthe last administration of tDCS.

### Cognition

Significant improvement was found on BACS composite scores (t = 4.23, p < 0.001), as well as on verbal memory (t = 4.53, p < 0.001), motor/speed (t = 2.47, p = 0.020), and verbal fluency (t = 2.10, p = 0.046) subtests. Improvement of verbal memory was associated with a largest effect size (d = 0.55), while small to medium effect sizes were noted for motor/speed (d = 0.44), verbal fluency (d = 0.36), and composite scores (d = 0.49). No significant

improvement was found on working memory, attention/information processing, and executive function.

## **Functional Capacity (Daily Living Skills)**

Significant improvement was noted on UPSA-B finance (t = 3.35, p = 0.002) and communication (t = 3.57, p = 0.001) subscale scores, as well as on total scores (t = 5.89, p < 0.001), with medium to large effect sizes (d = 0.61, d = 0.59, and d = 0.70, respectively).

#### **Psychotic Symptoms**

Significant improvement was found on PANSS positive (t = 2.31, p = 0.029) and general psychopathology (t = 2.35, p = 0.027) subscale scores, with medium effect sizes (d = 0.48 and d = 0.58, respectively). On the other hand, no significant improvement was found for negative syndrome subscale scores.

#### Depression

Significant improvement was demonstrated on self-depreciation (z = 2.46, p = 0.014), morning depression (z = 2.12, p = 0.034), early wakening (z = 3.11, p = 0.002), and suicide (z = 1.99, p = 0.046) item scores, as well as total scores (z = 2.83, p = 0.005) of the CDSS, with small to medium effect sizes (r = 0.33, r = 0.28, r = 0.42, r = 0.27, and r = 0.38, respectively). On the other hand, depression, hopelessness, guilty ideas of reference, pathological guilt, and observed depression items were not significantly changed.

**TABLE 3** | Outcome measures at baseline and 1 month after the treatment.

	Baseline, mean $\pm$ SD	Follow-up, mean $\pm$ SD	t-Value (degree of freedom) or z-value	p-Value	Effect size
BACS (Z-SCORE)					
Composite score	$-1.86 \pm 0.92$	$-1.40 \pm 0.93$	t = 4.23 (27)	<0.001	<i>d</i> = 0.49
Verbal memory	$-1.67 \pm 1.06$	$-1.06 \pm 1.14$	t = 4.53 (27)	<0.001	d = 0.55
Digit sequencing	$-1.16 \pm 1.38$	$-0.95 \pm 1.37$	t = 1.52 (27)	0.14	d = 0.15
Token motor	$-3.27 \pm 1.25$	$-2.73 \pm 1.23$	t = 2.47 (27)	0.020	<i>d</i> = 0.44
Verbal fluency	$-1.19 \pm 1.05$	$-0.84 \pm 0.89$	<i>t</i> = 2.10 (27)	0.046	<i>d</i> = 0.36
Symbol coding	$-2.25 \pm 1.22$	$-2.21 \pm 1.44$	t = 0.25 (27)	0.80	d = 0.03
Tower of London	$-1.76 \pm 2.03$	$-1.12 \pm 2.16$	t = 1.88 (27)	0.071	d = 0.31
UPSA-B					
Total	$68.4 \pm 14.8$	79.0 ± 15.5	t = 5.89 (27)	<0.001	<i>d</i> = 0.70
Finance	$41.4 \pm 8.1$	$45.8 \pm 6.2$	t = 3.35 (27)	0.002	<i>d</i> = 0.61
Communication	$27.1 \pm 9.6$	$33.2 \pm 11.1$	t = 3.57 (27)	0.001	<i>d</i> = 0.59
PANSS					
Positive syndrome	15.7 ± 5.7	13.1 ± 4.8	<i>t</i> = 2.31 (27)	0.029	<i>d</i> = 0.48
Negative syndrome	$14.9 \pm 8.0$	$13.6 \pm 6.7$	t = 1.24 (27)	0.23	d = 0.17
General psychopathology	$32 \pm 8.1$	$28.3 \pm 7.1$	t = 2.35 (27)	0.027	<i>d</i> = 0.50
CDSS					
Total	$8.00 \pm 4.97$	$5.36 \pm 3.89$	z = 2.83	0.005	<i>r</i> = 0.38
Depression	$0.79 \pm 0.79$	$0.89 \pm 0.92$	z = 0.79	0.43	r = -0.11
Hopelessness	$0.86 \pm 0.93$	$0.57 \pm 0.74$	<i>z</i> = 1.58	0.11	<i>r</i> = 0.21
Self-depreciation	1.21 ± 1.17	$0.71 \pm 0.85$	z = 2.46	0.014	<i>r</i> = 0.33
Guilty ideas of reference	$0.75 \pm 1.04$	$0.50 \pm 0.64$	z = 0.39	0.39	r = 0.11
Pathological guilt	$0.82 \pm 0.90$	$0.57 \pm 0.88$	<i>z</i> = 1.58	0.11	r = 0.21
Morning depression	$0.82 \pm 0.72$	$0.61 \pm 0.63$	z = 2.12	0.034	<i>r</i> = 0.28
Early wakening	$1.68 \pm 1.25$	$1.00 \pm 0.86$	z = 3.11	0.002	<i>r</i> = 0.42
Suicide	$0.61 \pm 0.83$	$0.25 \pm 0.52$	<i>z</i> = 1.99	0.046	<i>r</i> = 0.27
Observed depression	$0.46 \pm 0.51$	$0.25 \pm 0.44$	<i>z</i> = 1.90	0.058	<i>r</i> = 0.25

BACS, The Brief Assessment for Cognition in Schizophrenia; UPSA-B, The UCSD Performance-based Skills Assessment-Brief; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; CDSS, Calgary Depression Scale for Schizophrenia.

## Correlation

No significant correlation was noted between baseline values and their changes from baseline of BACS and UPSA-B scores. In contrast, significant negative correlations were demonstrated between baseline values vs. their changes from baseline of PANSS positive subscales (r = -0.65, p < 0.001, **Figure 1**), negative subscales (r = -0.64, p < 0.002, **Figure 2**), general psychopathology subscales (r = -0.64, p < 0.001, **Figure 3**), and CDSS total scores (r = -0.66, p < 0.001, **Figure 4**). No significant correlation was found between chlorpromazine equivalent dose of antipsychotics vs. changes from baseline of BACS, UPSA-B, PANSS, and CDSS scores. The same applied to correlations between change from baseline of UPSA-B scores vs. changes from baseline of BACS, PANSS, and CDSS scores.

# DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this study was the first to suggest the ability of tDCS to improve daily living skills linked to cognition (functional



**FIGURE 1** | Correlation between the baseline and change from baseline of positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) positive subscales (r = -0.65,  $\rho < 0.001$ ).



capacity, measured by UPSA-B), as well as depressive symptoms (measured by the CDSS) in patients with schizophrenia. Also, this study was the first to indicate the improvement of functional capacity after 5-day administration of tDCS, which was not correlated with the change of cognition, psychosis, and depression. At the same time, tDCS was found to enhance cognition in these subjects.

The results obtained in this trial are consistent with those from other studies indicating that tDCS may be effective to improve cognition in healthy controls (34–36) and patients with schizophrenia (18, 22, 23, 37). In a previous study, five sessions of tDCS in consecutive days, with the anode over F3 and the cathode over FP2, enhanced working memory and attention/vigilance to a greater extent than did sham-treatment in patients with schizophrenia (24). In our study, significant effects of tDCS were noted in the domains of verbal memory



**FIGURE 3** | Correlation between the baseline and change from baseline of positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) general psychopathology subscales (r = -0.64, p < 0.001).



**FIGURE 4** | Correlation between the baseline and change from baseline of Calgary depression scale for schizophrenia (CDSS) total scores (r = -0.66, p < 0.001).

(with different versions of word lists at baseline and follow-up), with a small to medium effect size, which suggests that tDCS moderately promotes cognitive function in schizophrenia. On the other hand, no significant improvement was demonstrated in working memory. This discrepancy may be due to the difference in the study design, treatment regimen (5 session of tDCS in consecutive days in the previous study, while 10 sessions of tDCS in 5 consecutive days in our study), and/or sample size. It is also possible that an effect on working memory might have vanished in 1-month follow-up period. In this sense, the inclusion of data on the cognitive outcomes immediately after the last stimulation could have provided more detailed information. While a previous study evaluated working memory immediately after the last tDCS (24, 38), the measurement of the BACS and UPSA-B at this time-point were not included in our protocol. This was because evaluating the BACS and UPSA-B just 1 week after baseline assessments with the same tests could produce learning effects.

The mechanisms by which tDCS affects cognitive function in schizophrenia may be explained in several ways. Functional connectivity of the frontoparietal control network and interhemispheric connectivity are decreased in schizophrenia patients, likely to be related to impairment of higher order cognitive task-related activities and disruption of the default mode network (10-12). Several studies demonstrated that tDCS alters functional connectivity in, for example, the default mode network and the frontoparietal control network, in healthy subjects (39, 40). Also, a case study reported that tDCS changed functional brain connectivity in the anterior part of the default mode network (41). Furthermore, Kim et al. reported neurophysiological evidence that tDCS modulates sensory gating in schizophrenia (42). Neurochemically, the after-effects of anodal tDCS are considered to depend on modulation of both GABAergic and glutamatergic synaptic transmissions (17). Further investigations of biological measures are warranted to elucidate the mechanisms by which tDCS exerts pro-cognitive effects.

tDCS was also found to improve daily living skills linked to cognition (functional capacity), measured by the UPSA-B with medium to large effect sizes, in schizophrenia. To our knowledge, there has been no attempt to elucidate the effect of tDCS on this level of functional outcomes in psychiatric conditions. In view of the association between performance on the UPSA-B and real-world functional outcomes (43), the result reported here suggests the ability of tDCS to enhance social outcome in schizophrenia.

Data from this study also suggest the ability of tDCS to ameliorate depressive mood, evaluated objectively by the CDSS (32), in patients with schizophrenia. Results from a meta-analysis indicate that tDCS is effective in treating patients with major depressive disorder, with an effect size comparable with those reported for repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation and antidepressant drugs (44). Some domains in depressive symptoms were improved with small to medium effect sizes, similar to the case in patients with major depressive disorder (44). The antidepressant effect of tDCS may be related to hypoactivity of the left DLPFC, which is likely to be restored by anodal tDCS (45). The results presented in the current study are consistent with this hypothesis, and may provide a strategy to ameliorate treatment-resistant depressive symptoms in patients with schizophrenia.

tDCS was found to improve positive symptoms and general psychopathology with medium effect sizes, which is advantageous for patients suffering from psychotic symptoms. So far, two studies have attempted to see the effect of tDCS on psychopathology, as measured by the PANSS. Brunelin et al. did not find a significant effect on either positive or negative symptoms. These authors placed the anodal electrode over a point midway between F3 and FP1 and the cathodal electrode over a point midway between T3 and P3 (46). On the other hand, Smith et al. observed significant improvement only in negative symptoms. These investigators placed the anode over F3 and the cathode over FP2 (24). Taken together, further studies to seek optimal methods of tDCS to ameliorate psychotic symptoms are needed.

Changes of cognition and daily living skills were not correlated with their baseline scores. In contrast, the improvements of positive symptoms, negative symptoms, general psychopathology, and depression were correlated with their baseline scores. These observations suggest the lack of ceiling effects of tDCS on cognition and daily living skills. Also, the lack of significant correlation between chlorpromazine equivalent dose of antipsychotics vs. the improvement of cognition, functional outcome, psychotic symptoms, and depression suggests that tDCS may improve these outcome measures regardless of the dose of antipsychotics. Furthermore, the lack of significant correlation between the improvement of functional capacity vs. cognition, positive symptoms, and depression, indicates that the observed change of functional capacity was independent of these clinical variables. However, the possibility of unobserved confounders cannot be ruled out completely with the current study design.

The limitations of this study should be noted here. The lack of blinding might have produced practice (repeated-measure) effect in some measures used. To circumvent this issue, alternate forms were used for verbal memory (word list learning task) and executive function (Tower of London task) in the BACS at the follow-up assessment. Therefore, the pro-cognitive effect of tDCS on verbal memory may not be attributable to repeatedmeasure effect. In addition, a small sample of this study may raise caution in concluding that these results represent effects in the population. Also, the lack of randomization, controlled group, and blinding might have produced placebo effects. Inclusion of a sham-controlled group could have provided a definitive conclusion. Accordingly, we are initiating a randomized shamcontrolled trial with a larger sample (Narita, et al. submitted; UMIN000028224).

In conclusion, the results of the present study suggest the efficacy of tDCS on cognition, daily living skills, and depression. These results may add to the concept that tDCS provides a strategy to enhance functional outcomes in patients with schizophrenia.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Ethical Guideline for Clinical Researches, Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ZN managed the literature searches, undertook the statistical analysis, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. TI, TS, and ZN administered tDCS. TS designed the study and wrote the protocol. CL and KS conducted clinical assessments. All authors made substantial contribution, drafted the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript.

### REFERENCES

- Kremen WS, Vinogradov S, Poole JH, Schaefer CA, Deicken RF, Factor-Litvak P, et al. Cognitive decline in schizophrenia from childhood to midlife: a 33-year longitudinal birth cohort study. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 118(1–3):1–5. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2010.01.009
- Kurtz MM. Neurocognitive impairment across the lifespan in schizophrenia: an update. Schizophr Res (2005) 74(1):15–26. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2004.07.005
- Micallef J, Fakra E, Blin O. [Use of antidepressant drugs in schizophrenic patients with depression]. *Encephale* (2006) 32(2 Pt 1):263–9. doi:10.1016/ S0013-7006(06)76153-X
- Saykin AJ, Shtasel DL, Gur RE, Kester DB, Mozley LH, Stafiniak P, et al. Neuropsychological deficits in neuroleptic naive patients with first-episode schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1994) 51(2):124–31. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.1994.03950020048005
- Saykin AJ, Gur RC, Gur RE, Mozley PD, Mozley LH, Resnick SM, et al. Neuropsychological function in schizophrenia. Selective impairment in memory and learning. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1991) 48(7):618–24. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.1991.01810310036007
- Green MF, Nuechterlein KH, Kern RS, Baade LE, Fenton WS, Gold JM, et al. Functional co-primary measures for clinical trials in schizophrenia: results from the MATRICS psychometric and standardization study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165(2):221–8. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07010089
- Harvey PD, Velligan DI. International assessment of functional skills in people with schizophrenia. *Innov Clin Neurosci* (2011) 8(1):15–8.
- Harvey PD, Raykov T, Twamley EW, Vella L, Heaton RK, Patterson TL. Validating the measurement of real-world functional outcomes: phase I results of the VALERO study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(11):1195–201. doi:10.1176/ appi.ajp.2011.10121723
- Sumiyoshi T, Nishida K, Niimura H, Toyomaki A, Morimoto T, Tani M, et al. Cognitive insight and functional outcome in schizophrenia; a multi-center collaborative study with the specific level of functioning scale – Japanese version. Schizophr Res Cogn (2016) 6:9–14. doi:10.1016/j.scog.2016.08.001
- Baker JT, Holmes AJ, Masters GA, Yeo BTT, Krienen F, Buckner RL, et al. Disruption of cortical association networks in schizophrenia and psychotic bipolar disorder. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2014) 71(2):109–18. doi:10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2013.3469
- Guo W, Xiao C, Liu G, Wooderson SC, Zhang Z, Zhang J, et al. Decreased resting-state interhemispheric coordination in first-episode, drug-naive paranoid schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 48:14–9. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.09.012
- Hoptman MJ, Zuo X-N, D'Angelo D, Mauro CJ, Butler PD, Milham MP, et al. Decreased interhemispheric coordination in schizophrenia: a resting state fMRI study. Schizophr Res (2012) 141(1):1–7. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2012.07.027
- Sheffield JM, Repovs G, Harms MP, Carter CS, Gold JM, MacDonald AW, et al. Fronto-parietal and cingulo-opercular network integrity and cognition in health and schizophrenia. *Neuropsychologia* (2015) 73:82–93. doi:10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2015.05.006

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Yuma Yokoi, Dr. Satoru Ikezawa, Dr. Harumasa Takano, Dr. Mitsutoshi Okazaki, Dr. En Kimura, and Dr. Kazuyuki Nakagome for fruitful discussions, Dr. Haruka Matsuda, Dr. Naonori Yasuma, Dr. Aiichiro Nakajima, Dr. Takaaki Nakayama, Dr. Yusuke Toguchi, and Dr. Naoki Yoshimura for recruitment of participants.

#### FUNDING

This study was funded by Kakenhi (kiban-C) No.26461761 and 17K10321, Japan Society for the Promotion of Science. Intramural Research Grant (27-1,29-1,27-6-2) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry.

- Sheffield JM, Barch DM. Cognition and resting-state functional connectivity in schizophrenia. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2016) 61:108–20. doi:10.1016/ j.neubiorev.2015.12.007
- 15. Yokoi Y, Narita Z, Sumiyoshi T. Transcranial direct current stimulation in depression and psychosis: a systematic review. *Clin EEG Neurosci* (2017) (in press).
- Yokoi Y, Sumiyoshi T. Application of transcranial direct current stimulation to psychiatric disorders: trends and perspectives. *Neuropsychiatr Electrophysiol* (2015) 1:10. doi:10.1186/s40810-015-0012-x
- Stagg CJ, Nitsche MA. Physiological basis of transcranial direct current stimulation. *Neuroscientist* (2011) 17(1):37–53. doi:10.1177/1073858410386614
- Schretlen DJ, van Steenburgh JJ, Varvaris M, Vannorsdall TD, Andrejczuk MA, Gordon B. Can transcranial direct current stimulation improve cognitive functioning in adults with schizophrenia? *Clin Schizophr Relat Psychoses* (2014) 3:1–27. doi:10.3371/CSRP.SCST.103114
- Sumiyoshi T, Higuchi Y. Facilitative effect of serotonin(1A) receptor agonists on cognition in patients with schizophrenia. *Curr Med Chem* (2013) 20(3):357–62. doi:10.2174/092986713804870846
- Stagg CJ, Lin RL, Mezue M, Segerdahl A, Kong Y, Xie J, et al. Widespread modulation of cerebral perfusion induced during and after transcranial direct current stimulation applied to the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *J Neurosci* (2013) 33(28):11425–31. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3887-12.2013
- Lorenz J, Minoshima S, Casey KL. Keeping pain out of mind: the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in pain modulation. *Brain* (2003) 126(Pt 5): 1079–91. doi:10.1093/brain/awg102
- Vercammen A, Rushby JA, Loo C, Short B, Weickert CS, Weickert TW. Transcranial direct current stimulation influences probabilistic association learning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 131(1–3):198–205. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2011.06.021
- Hoy KE, Bailey NW, Arnold SL, Fitzgerald PB. The effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on gamma activity and working memory in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 228(2):191–6. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015. 04.032
- Smith RC, Boules S, Mattiuz S, Youssef M, Tobe RH, Sershen H, et al. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) on cognition, symptoms, and smoking in schizophrenia: a randomized controlled study. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 168(1–2):260–6. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2015.06.011
- Fukue T, Fukue M, Ishizuka Y. Relationship between Japanese adult reading test (JART) and cognitive dysfunction. Jpn J Gen Hosp Psychiatry (2013) 25(1):55–62.
- Hall RC. Global assessment of functioning. A modified scale. *Psychosomatics* (1995) 36(3):267–75. doi:10.1016/S0033-3182(95)71666-8
- Boggio PS, Rigonatti SP, Ribeiro RB, Myczkowski ML, Nitsche MA, Pascual-Leone A, et al. A randomized, double-blind clinical trial on the efficacy of cortical direct current stimulation for the treatment of major depression. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*(2008)11(2):249–54. doi:10.1017/S1461145707007833
- Segarra N, Bernardo M, Gutierrez F, Justicia A, Fernadez-Egea E, Allas M, et al. Spanish validation of the brief assessment in cognition in schizophrenia (BACS) in patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Eur Psychiatry* (2011) 26(2):69–73. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2009.11.001

- Sumiyoshi C, Takaki M, Okahisa Y, Patterson TL, Harvey PD, Sumiyoshi T. Utility of the UCSD performance-based skills assessment-brief Japanese version: discriminative ability and relation to neurocognition. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2014) 1(3):137–43. doi:10.1016/j.scog.2014.08.002
- Mausbach BT, Harvey PD, Goldman SR, Jeste DV, Patterson TL. Development of a brief scale of everyday functioning in persons with serious mental illness. *Schizophr Bull* (2007) 33(6):1364–72. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbm014
- Kay SR, Opler LA, Lindenmayer JP. Reliability and validity of the positive and negative syndrome scale for schizophrenics. *Psychiatry Res* (1988) 23(1):99–110. doi:10.1016/0165-1781(88)90038-8
- Bernard D, Lançon C, Auquier P, Reine G, Addington D. Calgary depression scale for schizophrenia: a study of the validity of a French-language version in a population of schizophrenic patients. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (1998) 97(1):36–41. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.1998.tb09960.x
- Brunoni AR, Amadera J, Berbel B, Volz MS, Rizzerio BG, Fregni F. A systematic review on reporting and assessment of adverse effects associated with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2011) 14(8):1133–45. doi:10.1017/S1461145710001690
- Brasil-Neto JP. Learning, memory, and transcranial direct current stimulation. Front Psychiatry (2012) 3:80. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00080
- Jeon SY, Han SJ. Improvement of the working memory and naming by transcranial direct current stimulation. Ann Rehabil Med (2012) 36(5):585–95. doi:10.5535/arm.2012.36.5.585
- Nelson JT, McKinley RA, Golob EJ, Warm JS, Parasuraman R. Enhancing vigilance in operators with prefrontal cortex transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). *Neuroimage* (2014) 85(Pt 3):909–17. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2012.11.061
- Tarur Padinjareveettil AM, Rogers J, Loo C, Martin D. Transcranial direct current stimulation to enhance cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Brain Stimulat* (2015) 8(2):307–9. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2014.11.012
- Fröhlich F, Burrello TN, Mellin JM, Cordle AL, Lustenberger CM, Gilmore JH, et al. Exploratory study of once-daily transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) as a treatment for auditory hallucinations in schizophrenia. *Eur Psychiatry* (2016) 33:54–60. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.11.005
- Keeser D, Meindl T, Bor J, Palm U, Pogarell O, Mulert C, et al. Prefrontal transcranial direct current stimulation changes connectivity of resting-state networks during fMRI. *J Neurosci* (2011) 31(43):15284–93. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.0542-11.2011

- Peña-Gómez C, Sala-Lonch R, Junqué C, Clemente IC, Vidal D, Bargalló N, et al. Modulation of large-scale brain networks by transcranial direct current stimulation evidenced by resting-state functional MRI. *Brain Stimulat* (2012) 5(3):252–63. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.08.006
- Palm U, Keeser D, Blautzik J, Pogarell O, Ertl-Wagner B, Kupka MJ, et al. Prefrontal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) changes negative symptoms and functional connectivity MRI (fcMRI) in a single case of treatment-resistant schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 150(2–3):583–5. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.08.043
- Kim M, Yoon YB, Lee TH, Lee TY, Kwon JS. The effect of tDCS on auditory hallucination and P50 sensory gating in patients with schizophrenia: a pilot study. *Schizophr Res* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.schres.2017.04.023
- Sumiyoshi C, Harvey PD, Takaki M, Okahisa Y, Sato T, Sora I, et al. Factors predicting work outcome in Japanese patients with schizophrenia: role of multiple functioning levels. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2015) 2(3):105–12. doi:10.1016/j. scog.2015.07.003
- 44. Brunoni AR, Moffa AH, Fregni F, Palm U, Padberg F, Blumberger DM, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation for acute major depressive episodes: meta-analysis of individual patient data. *Br J Psychiatry* (2016) 208(6):522–31. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.115.164715
- 45. Brunoni AR, Teng CT, Correa C, Imamura M, Brasil-Neto JP, Boechat R, et al. Neuromodulation approaches for the treatment of major depression: challenges and recommendations from a working group meeting. Arq Neuropsiquiatr (2010) 68(3):433–51. doi:10.1590/S0004-282X2010000300021
- Brunelin J, Mondino M, Gassab L, Haesebaert F, Gaha L, Suaud-Chagny M-F, et al. Examining transcranial direct-current stimulation (tDCS) as a treatment for hallucinations in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) 169(7):719–24. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.11071091

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Narita, Inagawa, Sueyoshi, Lin and Sumiyoshi. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Effect of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Functional Capacity in Schizophrenia: A Study Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial

Zui Narita1\*, Takuma Inagawa1, Kazushi Maruo2, Kazuki Sueyoshi2 and Tomiki Sumiyoshi2

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, National Center Hospital, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Translational Medical Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan

Schizophrenia patients elicit a wide range of psychopathology, including psychotic symptoms, mood symptoms, and cognitive impairment. Functional capacity is defined as the ability to perform everyday living skills, which is linked to cognition and real-world functional outcome. In a previous open trial, we demonstrated that transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), one of the neuromodulation methods, improved cognition and functional capacity in 28 patients with schizophrenia. However, since it was a pilot study, a controlled trial is needed. Therefore, we present a study protocol for a randomized controlled trial designed to evaluate the effect of tDCS on functional capacity in patients with schizophrenia. This is a two-arm, parallel-design, randomized controlled trial, in which patients and assessors will be blinded. Patients meeting DSM-5 criteria for schizophrenia will be enrolled and randomized to receive either active or sham stimulation (with 10 sessions in five consecutive days). Functional capacity will be evaluated by the UCSD Performance-based Skills Assessment-Brief as primary outcome. Cognition, as measured by the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia, and psychotic symptoms, as measured by the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale, will also be evaluated. Data will be collected at baseline, immediately after the last stimulation, and 1 and 2 months thereafter. If active stimulation elicits greater effects compared with those of sham stimulation, it may add to the efforts to improve functional outcomes by neuromodulation in patients with schizophrenia.

**Trial registration**: UMIN000028224; https://upload.umin.ac.jp/cgi-open-bin/ctr/ ctr\_view.cgi?recptno=R000032305.

Keywords: neuromodulation, daily-living skills, cognition, transcranial direct current stimulation, functional outcome, randomized controlled trial

# INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia patients elicit a wide range of psychopathology, including psychotic symptoms, mood symptoms, and cognitive impairment (1-3). Several domains of cognitive function such as some types of memory, executive function, verbal fluency, and attention/information processing are impaired in schizophrenia (1, 2). Functional capacity is defined as the ability to perform everyday living skills, such as financial competence and communication in controlled and observational settings (3). By contrast, social function is influenced by several factors, such as opportunities and incentives in daily

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Bahar Güntekin, Istanbul Medipol University, Turkey

#### Reviewed by:

Natália Bezerra Mota, Federal University of Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil Hadj Boumediene Meziane, University of Lausanne, Switzerland

> \*Correspondence: Zui Narita zuinarita@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 29 July 2017 Accepted: 31 October 2017 Published: 13 November 2017

#### Citation:

Narita Z, Inagawa T, Maruo K, Sueyoshi K and Sumiyoshi T (2017) Effect of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Functional Capacity in Schizophrenia: A Study Protocol for a Randomized Controlled Trial. Front. Psychiatry 8:233. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00233

214

life (4). These levels of outcomes (cognitive function, functional capacity, and social function) have been reported to be related to each other (5, 6).

The UCSD Performance-based Skills Assessment-Brief (UPSA-B) is a scale of functional capacity linked to cognitive functioning in schizophrenia (5, 7). Patients with the illness demonstrate significantly lower scores on this scale compared with healthy controls, a finding pertinent to some of the non-Western countries, including Japan (5, 7).

Neuromodulation is defined as alterations of neural activity with targeted delivery of a stimulus, such as electrical stimulation or chemical agents, to specific neurological sites in the body. Neuromodulation techniques range from non-invasive approaches, e.g., transcranial magnetic stimulation, to invasive (implanted) devices, e.g., spinal cord stimulation and deep brain stimulation. For instance, transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a feasible and safe method, using weak and direct electrical current to the brain through electrodes (8, 9). Typically, two electrodes are placed over the scalp, through which anodal and cathodal stimulation increases and decreases cortical excitability, respectively. With this mechanism, tDCS has been suggested to modulate corticosubcortical/corticocortical pathways (10, 11).

tDCS has been shown to improve several domains of cognitive function in healthy subjects, stroke patients, and elderly individuals (12–17). Also, some studies reported facilitative effects of tDCS on learning memory, working memory, and verbal fluency in schizophrenia (18–20). Moreover, one sham-controlled randomized study has revealed that tDCS improved performance on the MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery in schizophrenia (21). On the other hand, little information is available about the effect of tDCS on functional capacity, as evaluated by a specific assessment tools, such as the UPSA-B.

In a previous open trial, we demonstrated the ability of tDCS to improve functional capacity, as well as depressive symptoms, in patients with schizophrenia (22). However, since this was a pilot study with a single arm, conducting a controlled trial is desirable. Therefore, we present a study protocol for a randomized controlled trial designed to evaluate the efficacy of tDCS on functional capacity in patients with schizophrenia.

### MATERIAL AND EQUIPMENT

#### **Study Design**

This is a single-center trial at Nacional Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan (**Figure 1**). A two-arm, parallel-design, randomized controlled trial is planned, in which patients and raters will be blinded. Participants will be randomized with 1:1 ratio to either active or sham tDCS group with computer-generated sequence in the Electronic Data Capture (EDC) system. The superiority of active tDCS to sham tDCS will be investigated. Subjects will receive 10 sessions of active/sham tDCS in five consecutive days (twice per day). A participant's allocation will be revealed by the principle investigator after the study endpoint. Results of the trial will be communicated by the study coordinators when requested.

#### **Participants**

Inpatients or outpatients treated at National Center Hospital, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry will be enrolled. Subjects will be recruited by referrals from treating psychiatrists.


They must provide written informed consent before starting the trial.

Subjects must meet the following inclusion criteria:

- (1) DSM-5 criteria for schizophrenia
- (2) Being 18 through 70 years old

Patients with any of the following conditions will be excluded from the study:

- (1) Alcohol or substance disorder
- (2) Past history of traumatic brain injury
- (3) Past history of epilepsy
- (4) Contraindicated to electroconvulsive therapy or tDCS
- (5) Scoring higher than 80 on the UPSA-B at baseline

The dose of neuroleptics will not be changed during the study period. In our pilot study (22), mean and SD of change from baseline of the UPSA-B was 11.68 (9.84) in patients scoring lower than 80 at baseline. We conservatively hypothesized that 9.00, the lower limit of 50% confidence interval of mean change from baseline in the pilot study, would be the mean difference between two groups in this study. In addition, Pearson correlation coefficient between the change and baseline value of the UPSA-B was estimated as -0.340. In these conditions, with a power of 0.9 for the primary analysis, an approximate number of 24 per group were estimated. Thus, considering study dropouts, a total sample of 50 was determined to be included.

#### Intervention

Direct current will be transferred by 35-cm<sup>2</sup> saline-soaked sponge electrodes and delivered by Soterix Medical  $1 \times 1$  Transcranial Direct Current Low-Intensity Stimulator Model 1300A. For each session, the tDCS montage will comprise placement of the anode over the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and the cathode over the contralateral supraorbital area, which corresponds to F3 and FP2 area, according to the International 10–20 electroencephalography system. We will apply 10 sessions of direct current of 2 mA for 20 min in five consecutive days (twice per day, 10:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m.). The dose and frequency of stimulation were determined based on the pilot study (22).

For the sham group, the device will be turned off after 1 min of active stimulation. The electrode position and all the other procedures, including electrode moisture and checking the contact, will be identical to the conditions for the active-stimulation group. The display of the device will be kept outside participants' vision field, and the device will be turned off blinded to subjects. A controlled study reports blinding integrity of tDCS and pharmacological treatment was comparable (23). The assessors and patients will be blinded to the treatment, and the contact between participants will be avoided to enhance the effect of study blinding.

Trained psychiatrists will administer tDCS. Since they will not be blinded, his or her interaction with participants will be minimized. Also, the experimenters will not participate in the assessment of outcome measures or any other aspects of the trial. To improve adherence, we will provide all consenting participants with costs of transportation and will remind and reschedule the visits of participants if necessary.

#### **Outcome Measures**

Patients will be assessed after being informed of the objectives of the study and providing their informed consent to participate. Data will be collected following an assessment that will be implemented at baseline, immediately after the last stimulation, and 1 and 2 months thereafter (see **Table 1**). Baseline and follow-up evaluations will be performed by experienced psychologists blinded to group allocation.

#### Functional Capacity (Daily-Living Skills)

The primary outcome is functional capacity evaluated by the UPSA-B (7), which consists of Finance and Communication subscales.

#### Cognition

Cognitive function will be assessed by the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS), which includes tests of verbal memory (Verbal Memory Task), verbal working memory (Digit Sequencing Task), motor/speed (Token Motor Task), verbal fluency (Verbal Fluency Task), attention/information processing (Symbol Coding Task), and executive function (Tower of London Task). To provide a standard metric for combining test scores into domains and comparing performance over time, BACS scores will be converted to *z*-scores, which shows relative outcomes compared with those of healthy people (1). Alternative forms will be used for Verbal Memory Task and Tower of London Task at baseline and follow-up assessments.

#### **Psychotic Symptoms**

Psychotic symptoms will be evaluated by the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS), commonly used for the assessment of psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia (24). It consists of Positive Syndrome, Negative Syndrome, and General Psychopathology subscales.

To ensure the success of blinding, we will ask patients to guess whether the treatment was active or sham after the stimulation procedure has been completed.

#### STEPWISE PROCEDURES

This protocol is presented in accordance with the 2013 SPIRIT (Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials) Statement, which was developed to provide guidance in the form of a checklist of recommended items to include in a clinical trial protocol to help improve the content and quality (25). This study was approved by Ethical Committee of National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry.

The schedule of enrollment, interventions, and assessments is summarized in **Table 1**. Participants will be recruited mainly by referrals from psychiatrists in National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan. We expect that two patients can be recruited per month on average, and that it will be possible to recruit 50 participants in 25 months.

All raters are well trained. All data will be administered in the EDC system, HOPE eACReSS, created by Fujitsu, Tokyo, Japan. Allocation and other identifiable data of subjects will be stored in a computer disconnected from Internet.

#### TABLE 1 | Study schedule.

				Study	/ period			
	Enrollment			Intervention	n		Follow-up 1	Follow-up 2
Time point	Week 1			Week 2			Week 6	Week 10
		Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5		
Enrollment								
Eligibility screen	Х							
Informed consent	Х							
Sociodemographic characteristics	Х							
Intervention								
Transcranial direct current stimulation (twice/day)		←				$\rightarrow$		
Assessments								
UPSA-B	Х					Х	Х	Х
BACS	Х					Х	Х	Х
PANSS	х					Х	Х	Х
Adverse events	Х	←				<b>→</b>	Х	Х

UPSA-B, the UCSD Performance-based Skills Assessment-Brief; BACS, the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale.

A review of previous studies indicates that most common adverse events included itching, tingling, headache, burning sensation, and discomfort (26). Experienced psychiatrists will check adverse effects before/immediately after every session, and evaluate the safety at every visit during the intervention. Data supervision using the EDC system will be conducted by an independent team of data managers and monitors.

#### ANTICIPATED RESULTS

As discussed earlier, we anticipate that 9.00 will be the mean difference in the UPSA-B between two groups. Statistical analysis will be conducted using SAS 9.4, created by SAS Institute Inc., NC, USA. We will handle missing data with last observation carried forward method as an intention-to-treat analysis for all participants allocated. We will also perform a per protocol approach as a sensitivity analysis for the comparison of the results. For the UPSA-B, BACS, and PANSS, we will use analysis of covariance regarding each value at baseline as a covariate.

Functional capacity, or daily-living skills, has been reported to provide one of the most important factors affecting social consequences in patients with schizophrenia (6, 27). As stated before, tDCS is a safe method of brain stimulation and has been reported to improve several domains of cognition in schizophrenia (18–22). In addition, our pilot open study (22) demonstrated tDCS improved functional capacity, as measured by the UPSA-B. So far, no controlled trial has been performed to investigate the effect of tDCS on this level of functional outcome. Therefore, the randomized controlled trial described in this article is expected to provide a strategy to enhance social consequences in patients with schizophrenia.

The topic of adherence might be regarded as a potential pitfall in this protocol. However, as mentioned before, by adding costs of transportation for all included patients to the study budget, we plan to compensate for this issue. Also, the study coordinator will remind and reschedule all visits of participants as needed.

We believe that this is a well-designed controlled trial to test the ability of tDCS to improve an important determinant of outcome in patients with psychiatric disorders. Even if the results do not prove our hypothesis, the gathered data will contribute to a field that has not been widely studied.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The protocol was presented to an institutional review board for approval (National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry Ethics Committee). The principal investigator (TS) will be responsible for conducting the informed consent process with all the study participants. All subjects must give consent to participate in the trial. Any relevant changes in the study protocol and/or the informed consent will be sent to the institutional review board as a protocol amendment. Identities of all subjects will be protected with an individual code. The protocol was registered in UMIN before starting the trial.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TS initiated the study. KM, TS, and ZN designed it and wrote the protocol. ZN and KS managed the literature searches and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. TI, TS, and ZN will administer tDCS. All the authors made substantial contribution, drafted the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This study was funded by Kakenhi (No. 17K10321) from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science and Intramural Research Grants (27-1, 29-1, 27-6-2) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry.

#### REFERENCES

- Saykin AJ, Gur RC, Gur RE, Mozley PD, Mozley LH, Resnick SM, et al. Neuropsychological function in schizophrenia. Selective impairment in memory and learning. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1991) 48(7):618–24. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.1991.01810310036007
- Saykin AJ, Shtasel DL, Gur RE, Kester DB, Mozley LH, Stafiniak P, et al. Neuropsychological deficits in neuroleptic naive patients with first-episode schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1994) 51(2):124–31. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.1994.03950020048005
- Green MF, Nuechterlein KH, Kern RS, Baade LE, Fenton WS, Gold JM, et al. Functional co-primary measures for clinical trials in schizophrenia: results from the MATRICS Psychometric and Standardization Study. Am J Psychiatry (2008) 165(2):221–8. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07010089
- Harvey PD, Velligan DI. International assessment of functional skills in people with schizophrenia. *Innov Clin Neurosci* (2011) 8(1):15–8.
- Harvey PD, Raykov T, Twamley EW, Vella L, Heaton RK, Patterson TL. Validating the measurement of real-world functional outcomes: phase I results of the VALERO study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(11):1195–201. doi:10.1176/ appi.ajp.2011.10121723
- Sumiyoshi T, Nishida K, Niimura H, Toyomaki A, Morimoto T, Tani M, et al. Cognitive insight and functional outcome in schizophrenia; a multi-center collaborative study with the specific level of functioning scale – Japanese version. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2016) 6:9–14. doi:10.1016/j.scog.2016.08.001
- Sumiyoshi C, Takaki M, Okahisa Y, Patterson TL, Harvey PD, Sumiyoshi T. Utility of the UCSD performance-based skills assessment-brief Japanese version: discriminative ability and relation to neurocognition. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2014) 1(3):137–43. doi:10.1016/j.scog.2014.08.002
- Yokoi Y, Narita Z, Sumiyoshi T. Transcranial direct current stimulation in depression and psychosis: a systematic review. *Clin EEG Neurosci* (2017) 1:1550059417732247. doi:10.1177/1550059417732247
- Yokoi Y, Sumiyoshi T. Application of transcranial direct current stimulation to psychiatric disorders: trends and perspectives. *Neuropsychiatr Electrophysiol* (2015) 1:10. doi:10.1186/s40810-015-0012-x
- Stagg CJ, Lin RL, Mezue M, Segerdahl A, Kong Y, Xie J, et al. Widespread modulation of cerebral perfusion induced during and after transcranial direct current stimulation applied to the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *J Neurosci* (2013) 33(28):11425–31. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3887-12.2013
- Lorenz J, Minoshima S, Casey KL. Keeping pain out of mind: the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in pain modulation. *Brain J Neurol* (2003) 126(Pt 5):1079–91. doi:10.1093/brain/awg102
- Berryhill ME, Peterson DJ, Jones KT, Stephens JA. Hits and misses: leveraging tDCS to advance cognitive research. *Front Psychol* (2014) 5:800. doi:10.3389/ fpsyg.2014.00800
- Brunoni AR, Vanderhasselt M-A. Working memory improvement with non-invasive brain stimulation of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain Cogn* (2014) 86:1–9. doi:10.1016/j. bandc.2014.01.008
- Jeon SY, Han SJ. Improvement of the working memory and naming by transcranial direct current stimulation. Ann Rehabil Med (2012) 36(5):585–95. doi:10.5535/arm.2012.36.5.585
- Park S-H, Koh E-J, Choi H-Y, Ko M-H. A double-blind, sham-controlled, pilot study to assess the effects of the concomitant use of transcranial direct current stimulation with the computer assisted cognitive rehabilitation to the prefrontal cortex on cognitive functions in patients with stroke. *J Korean Neurosurg Soc* (2013) 54(6):484–8. doi:10.3340/jkns.2013.54.6.484

- Narita Z, Yokoi Y. Transcranial direct current stimulation for depression in Alzheimer's disease: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* (2017) 18(1):285. doi:10.1186/s13063-017-2019-z
- Narita Z, Yokoi Y. Commentary: transcranial direct current stimulation for depression in Alzheimer's disease: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *J Neurol Neuromedicine* (2017) 2(7):21–3.
- Hoy KE, Bailey NW, Arnold SL, Fitzgerald PB. The effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on gamma activity and working memory in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 228(2):191–6. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015.04.032
- Schretlen DJ, van Steenburgh JJ, Varvaris M, Vannorsdall TD, Andrejczuk MA, Gordon B. Can transcranial direct current stimulation improve cognitive functioning in adults with schizophrenia? *Clin Schizophr Relat Psychoses* (2014) 3:1–27. doi:10.3371/CSRP.SCST.103114
- Vercammen A, Rushby JA, Loo C, Short B, Weickert CS, Weickert TW. Transcranial direct current stimulation influences probabilistic association learning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 131(1–3):198–205. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2011.06.021
- Smith RC, Boules S, Mattiuz S, Youssef M, Tobe RH, Sershen H, et al. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) on cognition, symptoms, and smoking in schizophrenia: a randomized controlled study. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 168(1–2):260–6. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2015.06.011
- 22. Narita Z, Inagawa T, Sueyoshi K, Crystal L, Sumiyoshi T. Possible facilitative effects of repeated anodal transcranial direct current stimulation on functional outcome 1 month later in schizophrenia: an open trial. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:184. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00184
- Brunoni AR, Schestatsky P, Lotufo PA, Benseñor IM, Fregni F. Comparison of blinding effectiveness between sham tDCS and placebo sertraline in a 6-week major depression randomized clinical trial. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2014) 125(2):298–305. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2013.07.020
- 24. Kay SR, Opler LA, Lindenmayer JP. Reliability and validity of the positive and negative syndrome scale for schizophrenics. *Psychiatry Res* (1988) 23(1):99–110. doi:10.1016/0165-1781(88)90038-8
- Chan A-W, Tetzlaff JM, Gøtzsche PC, Altman DG, Mann H, Berlin JA, et al. SPIRIT 2013 explanation and elaboration: guidance for protocols of clinical trials. *BMJ* (2013) 346:e7586. doi:10.1136/bmj.e7586
- Brunoni AR, Amadera J, Berbel B, Volz MS, Rizzerio BG, Fregni F. A systematic review on reporting and assessment of adverse effects associated with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2011) 14(8):1133–45. doi:10.1017/S1461145710001690
- Higuchi Y, Sumiyoshi T, Seo T, Suga M, Takahashi T, Nishiyama S, et al. Associations between daily living skills, cognition, and real-world functioning across stages of schizophrenia; a study with the Schizophrenia Cognition Rating Scale Japanese version. *Schizophr Res Cogn* (2017) 7:13–8. doi:10.1016/j.scog.2017.01.001

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Narita, Inagawa, Maruo, Sueyoshi and Sumiyoshi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Brain Stimulation in Alzheimer's Disease

Chun-Hung Chang<sup>1,2</sup>, Hsien-Yuan Lane<sup>1,2,3,4</sup> and Chieh-Hsin Lin<sup>1,3,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Clinical Medical Science, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychiatry & Brain Disease Research Center, China Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>3</sup> Graduate Institute of Biomedical Sciences, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychology, College of Medical and Health Sciences, Asia University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>5</sup> Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Chang Gung University College of Medicine, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

Brain stimulation techniques can modulate cognitive functions in many neuropsychiatric diseases. Pilot studies have shown promising effects of brain stimulations on Alzheimer's disease (AD). Brain stimulations can be categorized into non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS) and invasive brain stimulation (IBS). IBS includes deep brain stimulation (DBS), and invasive vagus nerve stimulation (VNS), whereas NIBS includes transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS), electroconvulsive treatment (ECT), magnetic seizure therapy (MST), cranial electrostimulation (CES), and non-invasive VNS. We reviewed the cutting-edge research on these brain stimulation techniques and discussed their therapeutic effects on AD. Both IBS and NIBS may have potential to be developed as novel treatments for AD; however, mixed findings may result from different study designs, patients selection, population, or samples sizes. Therefore, the efficacy of NIBS and IBS in AD remains uncertain, and needs to be further investigated. Moreover, more standardized study designs with larger sample sizes and longitudinal follow-up are warranted for establishing a structural guide for future studies and clinical application.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Rogerio Panizzutti, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Chau-Shoun Lee, Mackay Medical College, Taiwan

> \*Correspondence: Chieh-Hsin Lin cyndi36@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 11 November 2017 Accepted: 30 April 2018 Published: 22 May 2018

#### Citation:

Chang C-H, Lane H-Y and Lin C-H (2018) Brain Stimulation in Alzheimer's Disease. Front. Psychiatry 9:201. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00201 Keywords: brain stimulation, Alzheimer's disease (AD), transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS), electroconvulsive treatment (ECT), magnetic seizure therapy (MST), cranial electrostimulation (CES)

# INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder and accounts for most of dementia in the elderly (1, 2). The prevalence of dementia due to AD in adults aged more than 60 years was 4.02% (3). 35.6 million adults were victims of dementia in the world in 2010, and the number is estimated to be 65.7 million in 2030 (4). AD is costly, with worldwide spending estimated to be US \$422 billion in 2009 (5). Currently, cholinesterase inhibitors and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor partial antagonist, memantine, are the main pharmacologic treatments for patients with AD. However, these treatments are accompanied by adverse effects and the response is limited (6). Therefore, alternative treatments require urgent development.

The use of brain stimulation has recently garnered considerable clinical and academic interest. In this review, we explore invasive brain stimulation (IBS), non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS), and their potential applications in the AD field. IBS includes deep brain stimulation (DBS) and invasive VNS. NIBS includes transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS), electroconvulsive treatment (ECT), magnetic seizure therapy (MST), cranial electrostimulation (CES), and non-invasive vagus nerve stimulation (VNS).

#### **INVASIVE STIMULATION METHODS**

#### **Deep Brain Stimulation**

A deep brain stimulation (DBS) system includes electrode leads, wires, and a pulse generator. Neurosurgeons implant electrode leads in the brain and pulse generator below the collar bone. Both are connected by wires which are tunneled underneath the skin. To date, DBS is the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved for the management of Parkinson's disease, and essential tremor. In addition, this device has also been approved for refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder and dystonia symptoms as a humanitarian device exemption (7–10).

The first DBS trial for AD was performed in 1984, and the targeted brain region was the nucleus basalis of Meynert (NBM). Turnbull and colleagues found no improvement in memory or cognition, but the researchers noted preserved cortical glucose metabolic activity in the left parietal and left temporal lobes as well as the partial arrest of deterioration in the left frontal area (11). However, no subsequent trials of DBS for AD were performed for 26 years. When using DBS of the fornix to treat obesity in 2008, Hamani et al. discovered "deja vu-like" sensations during surgery. The researchers also found improvements in spatial associative learning and verbal learning after 3 weeks of DBS treatment (12). Therefore, in 2010, a Phase I trial was implemented to investigate DBS treatment of the fornix/hypothalamus in six adults with early AD. Two patients experienced autobiographical experiential phenomena during surgery. Moreover, after 12-month DBS treatment, the patients exhibited improved memory, reduced cognitive decline, reversed glucose metabolism (13), and increased hippocampal volume (14).

Because the Phase I trial demonstrated the promising effects of DBS of the fornix, the same group enrolled 42 participants with mild, probable AD for Phase II study (15). In this randomized double-blind trial, 21 participants in "off stimulation group" did not receive stimulation, whereas 21 participants in "on stimulation group" underwent continuous DBS stimulation for 12 months. Subsequently, all participants receive stimulation for 12 months. However, the first year of this trial revealed no significant differences of cognitive scores between these two groups. Moreover, this trial revealed that the cognitive function of patients aged <65 years significantly worsened after 1 year of DBS, whereas patients aged  $\geq 65$  exhibited a slight improvement in cognitive function. In terms of safety, the authors observed four acute serious safety events and three long-term serious events, and suggested DBS was well-tolerated (15).

In addition to the Phase I (13) and Phase II trials (15) of fornix DBS in North America, DBS for AD studies have also been conducted in Europe. In France, Fontaine et al. reported that after 12 months of fornix DBS, a patient with mild cognitive decline showed stabilized cognitive performance and

increased mesial temporal lobe metabolism (16). In Germany, Kuhn and colleagues delivered bilateral DBS over the NBM of 6 participants with mild to moderate AD (17). The authors used the Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale-Cognitive subscale (ADAS-Cog) to evaluate the patients' cognition. Four of the six patients were considered responders 12 months after surgery. Moreover, several participants exhibited increased temporal and amygdalohippocampal glucose metabolism after stimulation for almost 1 year. Based on these promising findings, Kuhn et al. performed continuous DBS of the NBM in two patients of an average age younger than that of the patients in the aforementioned Phase I trial, and who both had lower baseline ADAS-Cog scores (18). One patient's cognition had worsened after 26 months according to ADAS-Cog and Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) scores, whereas the other patient had a stable ADAS-Cog score and improved MMSE score after 28 months. Hardenacke et al. (19) evaluated the findings of the Phase I trial (17) and 2 new patients and suggested that performing DBS of the NBM at a younger age and earlier disease stage may favorably influence cognitive function and disease progression.

#### **Invasive Vagus Nerve Stimulation**

Vagus nerve stimulation (VNS) modulates brain network activity by stimulating tenth cranial nerve. The stimulation of tenth cranial nerve (vagus nerve) can be performed using two methods: direct invasive stimulation and indirect transcutaneous non-invasive stimulation. The invasive VNS (iVNS) system includes a pulse generator and electrodes. Surgeons attach electrodes to the left-side vagus nerve and connect them to the pulse generator which is implanted in the left thoracic region. The pulse generator delivers programmable electrical stimulation to the vagus nerve (20, 21).

Two studies have investigated the relationship between iVNS and AD (21, 22). In Sweden, researchers enrolled 10 patients with AD (22). Each patient received surgery to implant a pulse generator, which deliver programmable signals to the left-side tenth cranial nerve. The initial settings were frequency 20 Hz, pulse width 500  $\mu$ s, and current 0.25 mA. The stimulation was on for 30 s followed by a pause for 5 min. After 3 months of treatment, they found the response rates were 70% (seven of 10 patients) on the ADAS-Cog and 90% (nine of 10 patients) on the MMSE. The response rates remained similar after 6 months of the iVNS treatment. Adverse effects of iVNS were transient and mild.

Therefore, based on these promising findings, the same research team recruited another seven patients with AD. The researchers followed up these total 17 patients for at least 1 year (21). They found that 1 year after iVNS treatment, the score of the ADAS-Cog in seven patients did not decline or even increase, while the score of the MMSE in 12 patients did not decline or even improve compared with baseline. These two small trials revealed that invasive VNS was well-tolerated and improved specific cognitive functions in MMSE and ADAS-Cog after 1 year and 3 months of treatment, respectively.

# NON-INVASIVE STIMULATION METHODS

### **Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation**

In 1985, Barker and colleagues first reported transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) on motor cortex (23). TMS delivers a rapidly changing current through a coiled wire encased in plastic above the scalp. Based on Faraday's law of electromagnetic induction, this results in a magnetic field across the skull, and subsequently generate an electric current in the targeted brain regions (24, 25). The stimulation intensity determines the dosage according to the individual's motor-evoked potential threshold, and modulates the cortical neurons (26). Repetitive TMS (rTMS) delivers trains of several pulses at the same intensity over a period of time. rTMS protocols comprises high frequency (> 5 Hz) and low-frequency ( $\leq 1$  Hz) as well as various types of stimulation bursts such as theta-burst stimulation (TBS) (25).Generally, higher frequencies (e.g., 20 Hz) may increase cortical excitability, whereas lower frequencies (approximately 1 Hz) may inhibit cortical excitability (24-26). However, low-frequency TMS may not always result in inhibition (27). Moreover, in the motor cortex, continuous TBS causes inhibitory aftereffects, whereas intermittent TBS causes excitatory aftereffects (28). Different stimulation protocols produce different aftereffects of different durations. For example, TBS protocols yield the longest aftereffects of up to 8 h, whereas long or multiple rTMS trains yield aftereffects of less than 1 h (29, 30).

Several trials and reviews have suggested that rTMS may be beneficial for various cognitive functions in patients with AD (31-41). In Italy, Cotelli and colleagues recruited 15 patients with AD and reported that rTMS administered to the bilateral dorsolateral prefrontal cortexes (DLPFCs) enhanced accuracy in action naming (31). Based on this promising finding, this research team launched another trial of 24 adults with AD of varying severity (a mild AD group and moderate-to-severe AD group) (32). Similar to previous findings, the researchers revealed that rTMS over bilateral DLPFCs enhanced action naming in these two groups. Moreover, they noted significantly improved object naming accuracy in participants with moderate-to-severe AD but not in participants with mild AD. However, these two studies have adopted only single rTMS sessions to evaluate the immediate cognitive effects on patients with AD. The longterm cognitive effect on patients with AD remains unknown. Therefore, they further conducted a multiple-baseline trial of 10 patients with AD divided into two groups (33). The first group underwent high-frequency (20 Hz) rTMS over the left DLPFC, five times a week for 4 weeks, whereas the second group received placebo rTMS for 2 weeks, followed by high-frequency rTMS for 2 weeks. After 2-week therapy, the authors observed participants receiving real rTMS had significant higher rates of correct responses than those receiving placebo rTMS. In addition, the researchers noted that 8 weeks after the end of treatment, both groups still had lasting improved performance (Table 1).

In Egypt, Ahmed and colleagues recruited 45 participants with AD and randomly assigned them into three groups (36). The first group underwent five sessions of high-frequency (20 Hz) rTMS over the DLPFC. The second group received low-frequency (1 Hz) rTMS, while the third group underwent

sham rTMS. The results showed a significant improvement in MMSE after applying high-frequency (20 Hz) rTMS. In addition to the DLPFC, Eliasova and colleagues applied high-frequency (10 Hz) rTMS over the right inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) (39). Ten participants with early AD underwent 10 Hz rTMS over the right IFG and vertex in random order, 2250 stimuli per session. The authors found a significant improvement in in the Trail Making Test parts A and B after applying 10 Hz rTMS over the right IFG.

In China, Zhao and colleagues included 30 participants with AD, and assigned 17 participants into the rTMS group, 13 participants into the sham group (38). Patients of the rTMS group underwent 30 sessions of 20 Hz rTMS over three brain regions for 6 weeks, whereas the control group received placebo stimulation. Three brain regions included posterior temporal T5/T6 and parietal P3/P4, based on the 10–20 electroencephalogram system. The authors found a significant improvement in ADAS-Cog, MMSE, as well as World Health Organization and University of California–Los Angeles Auditory Verbal Learning Test after applying rTMS over the three brain regions for 6 weeks.

In Israel, Bentwich and colleagues developed a combined treatment of high-frequency rTMS and cognitive training (rTMS-COG) (34). Eight patients with AD underwent daily rTMS-COG treatment for 6 weeks, and then maintained two sessions per week for 3 months. High-frequency rTMS were delivered over six specific brain regions including Broca's area, Wernicke's area, bilateral DLPFC, and right and left parietal somatosensory association cortices (R-pSAC and L-pSAC, respectively). The average ADAS-Cog scores significantly improved from 22.5 at baseline to 18.3 at 6-week and 18.5 at 4.5-month. Clinical Global Impression of Change (CGIC) scores also improved by 1.0 and 1.6 points, respectively. Based on these positive results, the same group recruited 15 patients with AD and randomly assigned them into two groups (37). Seven participants underwent rTMS-COG one hour per day, five times a week for 6 weeks, followed by two times a week for three months. Eight participants in the placebo group received sham treatment. The authors found an improvement in ADAS-Cog and CGIC after applying rTMS-COG for 6 weeks and 4.5 months. However, the effects of rTMS and cognitive training are difficult to differentiate because these trials lacked a control group receiving only cognitive training. Moreover, they stimulated six brain regions instead of only the DLPFC. The cognitive effects of stimulation on different regions remain unclear. Therefore, a recent review suggested that further trials are required to use a larger sample size to investigate the synergic effects of rTMS and cognitive training and investigate the cognitive effects on different brain regions (42).

# **Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation**

The transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) delivers electric current, typically ranged 1 to 2 mA, through two or more electrodes placed on the scalp (43). Researchers put anodal and cathodal electrodes into holding bags and moisten them with saline or conductive gel to lower electric resistance. Two electrodes are placed over the head based on the international 10–20 point system. This week current penetrates skull and modulates neural activity of targeted brain regions (44). Generally, anodal tDCS increases cortical excitability in the

Study (first author, year)	Study design	N Primary cognition measure	Mean age (y)	Mean MMSE	Stimulation parameters	Brain target	Sham method	Main results
Cotelli et al. (31)	Controlled study	15 Picture naming	76.6 ± 6.0	17.8 ± 3.7	20 Hz, 90% MT, 600 ms	L/R DLPFC	Coil perpendicular to the scalp	Improve action naming
Cotelli et al. (32)	Controlled study	24 Picture naming	Moderate to severe/Mild: 77.6/75.0	Moderate to severe/Mild: 14.3/19.7	20 Hz, 90% MT, 500 ms	L/R DLPFC	Coil perpendicular to the scalp	Improve action naming in mild AD and moderate-to-severe AD, but not object naming in mild AD
Cotelli et al. (33)	Double-blinded, cross-over, controlled trial	10 Auditory sentence comprehension <sup>a</sup>	Real-real/Placebo- real: 71.2/74.4	Real-real/Placebo-real: 16.2/16.0	20 Hz, 100% MT, 2000 stim/s for 2 weeks	L DLPFC	N/R	Improve performance with respect to baseline or placebo
Bentwich et al (34)	. Open label study	8 ADAS-cog, CGIC	74.5 ± 4.4	22.9 ± 1.7	rTMS+cognitive training(COG), 90% RMT, 10 Hz, 20 pulses x 20 trains, 2 sessions/weeks for 3 months	Six brain regions <sup>b</sup>	RN	Improve ADAS-cog and CGIC after 6 weeks and 4.5 months, compared with baseline
Ahmed et al. (36)	Double-blinded, cross-over, controlled trial	45 MMSE	68.4	14.84 ± 5.5	Group 1: 20Hz, 90% MT, 5 s, 20 trains, ITI = 25 s for 5 days; Group 2: 1 Hz, 100% MT, 2000 pulses in 2 trains, ITI = 30 s for 5 days	Bilateral DLPFC	Group 3: Coil angled away from the head	High-frequency (20 Hz) rTMS improved significantly than low-frequency (1 Hz) and sham
Rabey et al. (37)	Double-blinded, cross-over, controlled trial	15 ADAS-cog	Stim/Placebo: 72.6/75.4	Stim/Placebo:22/22	90%, MT for Broca's area. L/R DLPFC 110% MT for Wennicke's area, L/R PSAC Two Drain Pesions: 20 Lrains, consisting of 2 s of 10 Hz (20 pulses/train), third region: 25 trains, consisting of 2 s of 10 Hz (20 pulses/train), totaling 1,300 pulses/train),	Broca's area, L/R DLPFC, Wernicke's area, L/R PSAC	Sham coil	1-hour dayly rTMS-COG significantly improved ADAS-cog and CGIC than sham
Eliasova et al. (39)	Randomized, crossover, placebo-controlled study	10 Trail making test	72 ± 8	23 ± 3.56	10 Hz, 90% MT, 50 pulses x45 trains ITI = 25 s	R IFG	Vertex stimulation	High frequency rTMS significantly improved attention and psychomotor speed
Zhao et al. (38	) Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial	30 ADAS-cog, MMSE, WHO-UCLA AVLT score	70.8 ± 5.6	22.5 ± 2.7	20 Hz, MT unknown, 1 session/day and 5 days/week for total of 30 sessions	Parietal P3/P4 and posterior temporal T5/T6 according to EEG 10-20 system	Sham coil	Significantly improved ADAS-cog, MMSE and WHO-UCLA AVLT score compared with baselines, and at 6 weeks after treatment
ADAS-cog, Alz parietal somatc World Health C <sup>a</sup> The auditory s <sup>b</sup> Six brain regio	heimer Disease Assessment ssensory association cortex; I rganization University of Cali sentence comprehension suca ins: Broca's area, Wemicke's	<ul> <li>Scale-cognitive subsection R, right; Ref, reference elec Tornia-Los Angeles, Auditor titornia-Los Angeles, Auditor titor tine Battery for Al stea, the right DLPFC, left</li> </ul>	n; DLPFC, dorsolaters strode; MT, motor threa ry Verbal Learning Tes nalysis of Aphasic Def t DLPFC, and right and	al prefrontal cortex; IFG, inft shold; rTMS, repetitive tran; t. ioits.	erior frontal gyrus; ITI, i scranial magnetic stim. y association cortices	inter-train interval; L. left; N. Jation; sham, sham group; (R-pSAC and L-pSAC, res;	MSE, Mini-Mental State Exa stim, stimulation group; TC, oectively).	mination; N/R, not reported; PSAC, temporal cortex. WHO-UCLA AVLT,

brain region under and around the placement, while cathode tDCS decreases (45). tDCS may modulate neuronal activity with polarity change to altering membrane polarization (46, 47). Besides, tDCS is safe (48), tolerable, and low cost for patients, therefore, the studies with tDCS use have grown in decades.

A number of small trials have suggested that tDCS may enhance specific cognitive functions in patients with AD (49– 55). Ferruci and colleagues enrolled 10 patients with probable AD, who received anodal, cathodal or sham tDCS in three sessions (49). These patients underwent stimulation over the bilateral temporoparietal (TP) with a current intensity of 1.5 mA for 15 min/session. When patients underwent sham tDCS, they received stimulation for only 10 s. The authors found anodal tDCS improved word recognition task accuracy after stimulation compared with baseline (17.9 vs. 15.5,p = 0.0068). But cathodal tDCS significantly worsened it, while sham tDCS left it unchanged from baseline (**Table 2**).

Boggio and colleagues demonstrated that anodal tDCS over the left DLPFC and temporal cortex improved Visual Recognition Memory (VRM) in patients with AD (50). The researchers enrolled 10 AD participants who received three sessions including two real stimulations and one sham stimulation. These patients underwent real stimulation over the left DLPFC or temporal cortex with a current intensity of 2 mA for 30 min per session. The sham stimulation was applied only for the first 30 s. The authors assessed the neuropsychological tests during tDCS stimulation. They found tDCS over left DLPFC and temporal cortex significantly improved VRM tasks. The same group revised their study design, which allowed them to evaluate the long-lasting outcome of tDCS (51). They applied tDCS bilaterally over the temporal regions through two scalp anodal electrodes. These patients received stimulation over the bilateral temporal regions with a current intensity of 2 mA for 30 min a day, 5 days a week. After 5-day treatment, a significant improvement in VRM was observed, and the improvement maintained for 1 month after treatment. However, no significant improvement in visual attention or general cognitive performance was found.

In Egypt, Khedr and colleagues included 34 participants with AD and randomly assigned them to three groups. Participants of the anodal group and the cathodal group underwent daily stimulation for 10 consecutive days, with a current intensity of 2 mA for 25 min/day. The authors observed a significant improvement on MMSE scores after applying anodal or cathodal tDCS for 10 days (52).

In addition to tDCS, Cotelli and colleagues developed a combined therapy of anodal tDCS with individualized computerized memory training or motor training (55). The authors recruited 36 participants with AD and randomly assigned them to three groups. Patients in the first group underwent anode tDCS and individualized computerized memory training, while those in the second group received placebo tDCS and individualized computerized memory training. Participants in the third group underwent anodal tDCS and motor training. The tDCS stimulation was applied over the left DLPFC with a current intensity of 2 mA for 25 min a day, 5 days a week, for 2 weeks. Their findings showed a significant improvement on Face-Name associations in AD patients receiving individualized computerized memory training.

However, the results of Bystad and colleagues are inconsistent with previous findings. The authors recruited 25 AD patients and randomly assigned them into active tDCS group or placebo tDCS group. Patients underwent six sessions of stimulation over the left temporal cortex for 10 days, with a current intensity of 2 mA for 30 min/session. No significant difference was observed between the active tDCS group and placebo tDCS group in neurocognitive tests (53). To address these conflicting results, further trials are required to investigate different trial design, stimulation protocol, and standardized neuropsychological memory assessment.

# Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation

Transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS) delivers a current which oscillates above and below zero with a given stimulation strength (i.e., peak-to-peak amplitude) at a particular frequency (56). In tDCS, the excitability thresholds of neuronal membrane potentials are modulated (44, 57), whereas tACS directly interacts with ongoing neuronal activity during cognitive or sensory-motor processes, leading to an entrainment or synchronization of brain network oscillations (56–59).

In previous studies, stimulation frequencies have been chosen within the range of the human electroencephalography frequency band and close to the frequency of the predominant oscillations of neuronal networks and cognitive processes (56, 60, 61). Brain oscillations represent various brain functions. Because specific frequencies reflect particular ongoing cognitive or sensorymotor processes (56, 60), tACS may enhance ongoing processes through exogenous augmentation of those oscillations (60, 62). Therefore, tACS has the potential to synchronize frequencyspecific neuronal networks, thereby causing behavioral changes (61). Moreover, tACS may have the potential to infer causal associations between brain oscillations and cognitive processes (57, 60, 61).

Small trials have shown that tACS can improve specific cognitive functions in healthy adults by directly interacting with ongoing oscillatory cortical activity (56, 60, 61). For example, a sham-controlled crossover trial of 24 healthy adults reveled that tACS significantly improved retrieval accuracy (63). Therefore, tACS may also have potential effects on patients with AD. However, no study with tACS in AD has been published in PubMED. One trial of tACS for AD patients is registered at clinicaltrials.gov. Further trials are required to investigate the potential roles of tACS for cognitive enhancement in patients with AD.

#### **Electroconvulsive Treatment**

Cerletti et al. first used electrical stimulation to cause convulsions in a patient with schizophrenia who was experiencing delusions and hallucinations (64). They reported that they restored the patient to "clear-headedness" and health. Ever since, numerous electroconvulsive treatment (ECT) trials have been conducted for psychiatric disorders. ECT has been approved by the US FDA to treat major depression, mania, schizophrenia, and catatonia (65). Whether ECT-induced seizures can result in cognitive

TABLE 2   CII	inical trials using tDCS as a	a therapeu	utic tool in Alzhein	ner's disease.					
Study (first author, year)	Study design	N CO Mé	imary ognition easure	Mean age (y)	Mean MMSE	Stimulation parameters	Brain target	Sham method	Main results
Ferrucci et al. (49)	Crossover design	10 Wc	ord recognition	75.2 ± 7.3	22.7 ± 1.8	anodal tDCS, 1.5 mA, 15 min	Bilateral temporopariatel areas, Ref: R dettoid	Stimulation was delivered for 10 s	Anodal tDCS improved accuracy of the word recognition memory task
Boggio et al. (50)	Crossover design	10 VF	W	79.1 ± 8.8	17.0 ± 4.9	anodal tDCS, 2 mA, 30 min	(1) L DLPFC, (2) L TC, Ref: R supraorbital area	Stimulation was delivered for 30 s	Temporal and prefrontal tDCS improved VRM as compared with sham stimulation.
Boggio et al. (51)	Crossover design	15 VF	M	71.1 ± 5.8	Anodal/Sham: 20.3/19.2	anodal tDCS, 2 mA, 30 min for 5 days	Bilateral temporal regions, Ref: R deltoid	Stimulation was delivered for 30 s	Temporal anodal tDCS for 5 days improved VRM and the improvement persists for at least 4 weeks after therapy.
Cotelli et al. (55)	Randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled	24 Fa as:	co-name sociation task	76.6/74.7/78.2 <sup>a</sup>	20.1/20.8/22.1 <sup>8</sup>	anodal tDCS 2 mA, 25 min/day, 5 days/week for 2 weeks	L DLPFC, Ref: R deltoid	Stimulation was delivered for 40 s	Both Group 1 (the anodal tDCS plus individualized computenized memory training) and Group 2 (the placebo tDCS plus individualized computerized memory training) significantly improved performances at 2 weeks compared with Group 3 (the anodal tDCS plus motor training).
Khedr et al. (52)	Randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled	34 MP	MSE	69.7 ± 4.8	18.1 ± 3.3	<ul><li>(1) anodal tDCS,</li><li>(2) cathodal tDCS</li><li>2 mA, 25 min/day</li><li>for 10 days</li></ul>	L DLPFC, Ref: R supraorbital area	Stimulation was delivered for 30 s	Both anodal and cathodal tDCS improved MMSE scores compared with sham tDCS
Bystad et al. (53)	Randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled	25 CV	٦	Active/Placebo: 70.0/75.0	20.0/21.2	anodal tDCS 2 mA, six 30-min sessions for 10 days	Left temporal cortex	Stimulation was delivered for 30 s	No significant difference between the active and placebo groups in neurocognitive tests
ADAS-cog, Alz. Mini-Mental Sta Verbal Learning <sup>a</sup> atDCS plus m.	theimer Disease Assessment ate Examination; min, minute; 1 Test-Second Edition; VRM, emory training group/ placeb	Scale-co : N/R, not. Visual rec o tDCS p	gnitive subsection; i reported; R, right; F cognition memory. Nus memory training	atDCS, anodal transcranial Pef, reference electrode; s, . g group/ atDCS plus moto	' direct current stimula second; sham, sham , r training group.	tion; ctDCS, cathodal group; stim, stimulatior	transcranial direct current s 1 group; TC, temporal corte	stimulation; DLPFC, dorso. xx; tDCS, transcranial direc	lateral prefrontal cortex; L, left; MMSE, ct current stimulation; CVLT-II California

Chang et al.

impairment is debated. Most adverse cognitive effects of ECT last a short amount of time. Modifications of and improvements to treatment techniques have been implemented to minimize cognitive side effects (66).

Numerous studies and many meta-analyses have shown gray matter atrophy and lower levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) are associated with AD (1, 2). Moreover, a meta-analysis revealed that ECT may increase BDNF levels in depressed patients (67). Studies have investigated APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 and beta amyloid level after ECT treatment, but the findings are contradictory (68). Moreover, in a trial of ECT for depression, gray matter, and hippocampus volume were reported to increase following ECT (69).

Kumar et al. reviewed 5,154 publications and suggested ECT may improve long-term cognitive outcomes in late-life depression (LLD) (70). For example, Hausner et al. included 44 elderly inpatients with MDD, and divided these patients into three groups (dementia group: 12 subjects, MCI group: 19 subjects, no cognitive impairment (NCI) group: 13 subjects) (71). They delivered right unilaterally at minimal 250% seizure threshold or bilaterally at minimal 150% seizure threshold, two to three times per week. In the dementia group, the pre-ECT MMSE = 22.7 (4.4) and the post-6 month MMSE is 25.6 (3.0). Verwijk et al. included 42 depressed patients aged ≥55 years (72). They found improvement in the Trail Making Test-A (76.21 vs. 61.63, p = 0.024) and Letter Fluency Test (9.00 vs. 12.50, p = 0.004) but not in the MMSE after 6 months. Besides, a retrospective cohort study of 126 patients with ECT treatment reported that the MMSE score was significantly higher at the 6month compared with baseline (27.96 vs. 26.25, p < 0.01) (73). However, these studies addressed elderly depression instead of AD. One trial of ECT for AD patients has been registered at clinicaltrials.gov. Further studies of ECT in patients with AD are required.

#### **Magnetic Seizure Therapy**

Magnetic seizure therapy (MST) is a new implementation of TMS. It is based on the rationale of ECT. Similar to ECT, MST induces seizures using high-intensity rTMS, but with greater control. One study demonstrated the antidepressant effect of MST and identified a response rate of approximately 50–60% (74). A study of 10 patients with refractory depression reported that the relative glucose metabolism increased in brain regions including the medial frontal cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, basal ganglia, and DLPFC after MST treatment (75). This indicated that the mechanism of MST treatment may be associated with these activities in these brain regions.

A systematic review of 11 MST trials revealed little to no adverse cognitive effects (76). Moreover, Kosel et al. identified significantly-improved verbal learning performance in refractory depressed patients (77). Besides, Lisanby et al. found that MST improved the velocity and accuracy of visual cancellation tasks in patients with major depression (78). These studies have revealed that TMS may improve cognitive function in depressed patients. However, until now no trial with MST in AD has been published in PubMED or registered at clinicaltrials.gov. Luber et al. reviewed the applications of TMS and MST in neuropsychiatric illnesses related to cerebral aging (79). The authors suggested MST may enhance cognition or reduce amnesia. Therefore, MST warrants further exploration for its potential effect on patients with AD.

#### **Cranial Electrotherapy Stimulation**

Cranial Electrotherapy Stimulation (also referred to as cranial electrostimulation [CES]) applies pulsed, low-amplitude, electrical currents (typically <1 mA) to the brain through ear clip electrodes. The US FDA has approved CES for the treating depression, anxiety, and insomnia (80).

Small trials have demonstrated that transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) may enhance specific cognitive function in patients with AD (81, 82). Scherder and colleagues (81) recruited 16 participants with early-stage AD, and assigned them equally into the experimental group or the placebo group. The researchers fixed two electrodes on the participant's back between Th 1 and Th 5. These patients underwent stimulation with asymmetric biphasic square impulses in bursts of trains, 30 min per day, for 6 weeks. Each trains contained nine pulses with an internal frequency of 160 Hz. The repletion rate was 2 Hz and pulse width was 40  $\mu$ s. After a 6-week treatment, a significant improvement was observed in Face Recognition, Picture Recognition and Recognition subtest of the 8 Words Test.

Based on these promising findings, the same research team from the Netherlands used the same protocol in the mid-stage of AD (82). They enrolled 16 patients with mid-stage AD. The subjects of the experimental group received 30-min stimulation daily for 6 weeks. The protocol was similar to previous study. Compared with TENS in an early stage, they observed TENS caused less beneficial effects in patients in the mid-stages of AD.

Scherder and colleagues further investigated the cognitive effects of CES in AD patients, because CES mimics TENS but mediated stimulation via the patients' earlobes (head) instead of patients' back. This research team selected 18 participants with AD, and randomly assigned them into the intervention group and the control group (83). Participants of the intervention group underwent low-frequency (0.5 Hz) stimulation with an intensity of 10 to 600  $\mu$ A, 30 min per day, 5 days per week for 6 weeks. However, after 6-week CES treatment, no improvement in cognition was found.

Therefore, Scherder and colleagues launched a study of highfrequency (100 Hz) CES in 21 patients with AD, and assigned theses participants into the experimental group or the control group (84). The protocol was similar to previous trial except the frequency. Patients in the intervention group underwent highfrequency (100 Hz) stimulation with an intensity of 10–600  $\mu$ A, 30 min/day, and 5 days/week. However, the results revealed no cognitive improvement after 6-week treatment. Further research with large sample sizes and better designs may be required to evaluate the effect of CES on cognition.

# Non-invasive Vagus Nerve Stimulation

Non-invasive VNS (nVNS) does not require a surgical procedure to implant an electrode. nVNS devices are portable and can stimulate the vagus nerve indirectly through the skin of neck or ear (85-87). nVNS is less expensive, carries a lower risk, and is more convenient than iVNS.

Two small trials have shown iVNS may enhance cognitive function in patients with AD (21, 22). In Sweden, researchers enrolled 10 patients with AD (22). Each patient received surgery to implant a pulse generator, which deliver programmable signals to the left-side tenth cranial nerve. The initial settings were frequency 20 Hz, pulse width 500  $\mu$ s, and current 0.25 mA. The stimulation was on for 30 s followed by a pause for 5 min. After 3 months of treatment, they found the response rates were 70% (seven of 10 patients) on the ADAS-Cog and 90% (nine of 10 patients) on the MMSE. Moreover, 6 months after the iVNS treatment, response rate was still 70% on the ADAS-Cog, and 70% on the MMSE. Adverse effects of invasive VNS were transient and mild.

Therefore, based on these promising findings, the same research team recruited another seven patients with AD. The researchers followed up these total 17 patients for at least 1 year (21). They found that 1 year after iVNS treatment, the score of the ADAS-Cog in seven patients did not decline or even increase, while the score of the MMSE in 12 patients did not decline or even improve compared with baseline. These two small trials revealed that invasive VNS was well-tolerated and improved specific cognitive functions in MMSE and ADAS-Cog after 1 year and 3 months of treatment, respectively.

Non-invasive VNS may affect cognition through the same neural pathway. Until now, no trial with non-invasive NVS in AD has been published in PubMED or registered at clinicaltrials.gov. Further studies of non-invasive VNS in patients with AD are required.

# BRAIN TARGETS AND MECHANISMS IN INVASIVE BRAIN STIMULATION

#### **Nucleus Basalis of Meynert**

Nucleus basalis of Meynert (NBM) is the first target for DBS in AD (11). The NBM is a group of cholinergic nucleus in the forebrain (88). Previous studies have shown loss of central cholinergic neurons of the basal forebrain cholinergic system in AD patients (89–91). Moreover, in early-stage AD, volume reductions developed in posterior parts of NBM (92). The atrophy of cholinergic neurons is considered to result in cognitive impairment in AD (93). Therefore, current DBS trials are based on the hypothesis that stimulating NBM may enhance the cholinergic system and thereafter improve the cognitive functions in patients with AD (94).

#### Fornix

The fornix is an integral white matter bundle in the medial diencephalon. It connects the medial temporal lobes to the hypothalamus, and serves as a vital role in the memory circuit of Papez (95, 96). Previous studies have shown that fornix lesions cause severe memory impairments (97, 98). Besides, the memory impairment and progression in AD are correlated with axonal degeneration and dysfunction in the fornix (99). Therefore, several trials were performed to evaluate the hypothesis that

fornix DBS could enhance the circuit of Papez and thereafter improve memory and cognitive functions (10, 16).

### Vagus Nerve

The possible mechanism for cognitive improvement through iVNS is based on the neural anatomy. The vagus nerve (tenth cranial nerve) projects to the locus coeruleus (LC), which is the major nucleus of origin for noradrenergic projections in the brain (100). Studies have revealed atrophy of the LC in patients with AD (101). Moreover, decreased norepinephrine (NE) concentration in the temporal cortex is correlated with cognitive impairment in patients with AD (102). In addition, NE can inhibit the inflammatory activation of microglial cells and functions as an endogenous anti-inflammatory agent (103). Therefore, iVNS may increase the NE concentration and decrease inflammation. These mechanisms may involve in specific cognitive functions in AD. Further trials with large sample are required to investigate this hypothesis.

# BRAIN TARGETS AND MECHANISMS IN NON-INVASIVE BRAIN STIMULATION

#### **Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex (DLFPC)**

In contrast to IBS, no consensus has been made for NIBS regarding which brain region should be targeted in AD. Most NIBS studies (31–33, 36, 52, 55) including TMS, tDCS targeted the DLPFC, a region involving in the decline of working memory and specific executive functions in early AD (104, 105). Moreover, the DLPFC may enable compensatory mechanism for working memory performance, and change dynamic neuroplasticity after prefrontal cortex damage (106–108). Thus, these findings may support the use of DLPFC as a potential stimulation target to improve specific cognitive functions in patients with AD.

# Broca's Area, Wernicke's Area, and Parietal Somatosensory Association Cortex (PSAC)

In addition to DLPFC, other cortex areas have been investigated. Broca's area, located in the left frontal part of the temporal lobe, involves sentence comprehension in articulatory rehearsal (109) whereas Wernicke's area, located in the left frontal and left posterior part of the temporal lobe, processes lexical meanings of words (110). Right parietal somatosensory association cortex (PSAC) is in the parietal lobe and associated with visual and spatial attention impairment in AD (111, 112). Two trials targeted six brain regions including right DLPFC, left DLPFC, Borca's area, Wernicke's area, PSAC, and left PSAC (34, 37). These two trials of rTMS over DLPFC, Broca's area, Wernicke's area, and PSAC reported improved ADAS-cog in patients with AD.

#### Inferior Frontal Gyrus

Right inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) plays an important role in the right-lateralized ventral attention network governing reflexive reorienting (113, 114). Previous neuroimaging study has demonstrated that right IFG involves in dissociating inhibition, attention, and response control in the frontoparietal network (115). The lateral prefrontal cortex, particularly the right IFG, can be activated during response inhibition in the go/nogo task (116). Chambers and colleagues reported that rTMS over the right IFG could modulate stop-signal reaction time (117). Elisaova and his colleagues targeted IFG and found that rTMS may improve attention in patients with early AD (39).

#### **Temporal Cortex**

Increasing evidences have shown the association between dysfunction or atrophy of temporal cortex and Alzheimer's diseases (118). Mesial temporal lobe dysfunction is correlated with memory deficits such as episodic memory impairment (119). Boggio and colleagues reported that anodal tDCS over bilateral temporal cortex improved visual recognition memory in patients with AD (51). However, Bystad and colleagues found no significant improvement after tDCS over left temporal cortex (53). The inconsistence may be caused by anatomical differences, limited sample size, severity of AD, and different neuropsychological tests (53). Further studies are suggested to evaluate these differences.

#### **Temporopariatel Cortex**

In addition to temporal cortex, hypofunction or atrophy of temporopariatel (TP) cortex has been noted in AD (120, 121). Both pilot trials of rTMS and tDCS over TP areas have shown promising results. Zhao and colleagues applied rTMS over TP cortex and found a significant improvement in cognitive and language function (38). Ferrucci and colleagues reported that tDCS over TP areas can improve recognition memory performance in patients with AD (49).

In summary, current invasive DBS studies aimed at the subcortical areas such as NBM and fornix, while non-invasive DBS studies aimed the cortical areas such as DLFPC, temporal cortex, Broca's are, Wernicke's area, and PSAC. Generally speaking, the subcortical area is associated with emotion and behavior (122), whereas cortical function is related to cognition (123). However, whether the stimulated regions meet the outcome variables are not clearly evaluated and understood. Further studies are needed to evaluate the targeted brain areas and cognitive outcomes.

#### Stimulation Therapy Combined With Cognitive Training or Cognitive-Challenging Activities

Two trials of rTMS combined with cognitive training (rTMS-COG) have shown promising results in patients with AD (34, 37) and suggest synergistic effects better than rTMS therapy or cognitive training alone. However, the synergistic effects of rTMS-COG are unclear due to the lack of a control group with cognitive therapy only. Therefore, this made it difficult to differentiate the effects between rTMS and cognitive therapy. Furthermore, they applied rTMS over six brain areas including DLPFC. This also made it difficult to compare with other rTMS trials over one or two brain areas. Further controlled-design, larger, multi-center studies are needed.

### **Practical and Ethical Challenges**

IBS treatments, especially DBS, need surgical procedures and cause more concerns about the safety and ethical issues. A few pilot studies have reported that the surgery was well-tolerated with no adverse effects (10, 16, 124), but an AD trial with DBS over fornix has noted four acute serious safety events and three long-term serious events (15). Because DBS surgery and stimulation may cause neurologic and psychiatric side effects, and patients with AD tend to have more comorbidities than normal aged population, several reviews have raised the ethical considerations about participants selection, decision-making procedure, and informed consent (124, 125).

On the other hand, NIBS therapies such as rTMS and tDCS led to less safety and ethical concerns. rTMS may cause mild headache, tinnitus, short-term hearing loss, short-term memory change, or acute psychiatric effects. All these adverse effects are transient and disappear after turning off (25). The most serious side effect is seizure, but the incidence is rare. In a study that reviewed trials by rTMS over non-motor areas between 1998 and 2003, only two seizure cases were found in total 3,092 participants (126). Similarly, tDCS may cause relatively minor adverse effects including fatigue, mild headache, nausea, or itching (127, 128).

#### Improving Cognition Indirectly by Improving Depression

Previous studies of ECT and MST in depressed patients have shown improvement not only in depressive symptoms but also in cognitive functions (71, 72, 77, 78). However, those trials investigated older participants with depression instead of participants with AD. Therefore, the improvement in cognition may correlate with the improvement in depressive symptoms. Whether ECT or MST can improve cognition directly or indirectly remains unclear. Further studies are needed to explore the underlying indirect mechanisms in AD.

# CONCLUSIONS

Studies are increasingly investigating brain stimulation techniques as novel therapeutic approaches to AD. Although some studies have revealed promising results, many lack large samples and the appropriate power, or are poorly designed and not hypothesis-driven. This review examined IBS therapies, namely DBS and invasive VNS, and NIBS therapies, namely TMS, tDCS, tACS, ECT, MST, CES, and non-invasive VNS. Because many brain stimulation methods have no standard settings and guidelines, a robust comparison of these trials remains incomplete. However, stimulation-associated improvements in memory and specific cognitive functions are promising. Moreover, stimulation that is targeted at multiple brain regions or combined with other treatments such as cognitive training appear to produce more positive effects. Therefore, although the field of brain stimulation is relatively immature, such techniques, especially rTMS, warrant further study for their therapeutic implications on patients with AD.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

C-HC drafted the initial manuscript. H-YL provided expert opinions and reviewed the final submitted manuscript. C-HL critically reviewed the draft of manuscript, and approved the final submitted version manuscript.

#### REFERENCES

- Querfurth HW, LaFerla FM. Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med. (2010) 362:329–44. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0909142
- Scheltens P, Blennow K, Breteler MMB, de Strooper B, Frisoni GB, Salloway S, et al. Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* (2016) 388:505–17. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01124-1
- Fiest KM, Roberts JI, Maxwell CJ, Hogan DB, Smith EE, Frolkis A et al. The prevalence and incidence of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2016) 43(Suppl. 1):S51–82. doi: 10.1017/cjn.2016.36
- Prince M, Bryce R, Albanese E, Wimo A, Ribeiro W, Ferri CP. The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and meta analysis. Alzheimer's & dementia: J Alzheimer's Assoc. (2013) 9:63–75 e62. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.007
- Wimo A, Winblad B, Jonsson L. The worldwide societal costs of dementia: estimates for 2009. *Alzheimer's Dement*. (2010) 6:98–103. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2010.01.010
- Shafqat S. Alzheimer disease therapeutics: perspectives from the developing world. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2008) 15:285–87. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2008-15211
- Miocinovic S, Somayajula S, Chitnis S, Vitek JL. History, applications, and mechanisms of deep brain stimulation. *JAMA Neurol.* (2013) 70:163–71. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamaneurol.45
- Mirzadeh Z, Bari A, Lozano AM. The rationale for deep brain stimulation in Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm. (2016) 123:775–83. doi: 10.1007/s00702-015-1462-9
- Viana JNM, Bittlinger M, Gilbert F. Ethical considerations for deep brain stimulation trials in patients with early-onset Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2017) 58:289–301. doi: 10.3233/JAD-161073
- Laxton AW, Lozano AM. Deep brain stimulation for the treatment of Alzheimer disease and dementias. World Neurosurg. (2013) 80:S28 e21–8. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2012.06.028
- Turnbull IM, McGeer PL, Beattie L, Calne D, Pate B. Stimulation of the basal nucleus of Meynert in senile dementia of Alzheimer's type. a preliminary report. *Appl Neurophysiol*. (1985) 48:216–21.
- Hamani C, McAndrews MP, Cohn M, Oh M, Zumsteg D, Shapiro CM et al. Memory enhancement induced by hypothalamic/fornix deep brain stimulation. *Ann Neurol.* (2008) 63:119–23. doi: 10.1002/ana.21295
- Laxton AW, Tang-Wai DF, McAndrews MP, Zumsteg D, Wennberg R, Keren R, et al. A phase I trial of deep brain stimulation of memory circuits in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol. (2010) 68:521–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.22089
- Sankar T, Chakravarty MM, Bescos A, Lara M, Obuchi T, Laxton AW, et al. Deep brain stimulation influences brain structure in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Stimul.* (2015) 8:645–54. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2014.11.020
- Lozano AM, Fosdick L, Chakravarty MM, Leoutsakos JM, Munro C, Oh E, et al. A phase II study of fornix deep brain stimulation in mild Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2016) 54:777–87. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160017
- Fontaine D, Deudon A, Lemaire JJ, Razzouk M, Viau P, Darcourt J, et al. Symptomatic treatment of memory decline in Alzheimer's disease by deep brain stimulation: a feasibility study. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2013) 34:315–23. doi: 10.3233/JAD-121579
- Kuhn J, Hardenacke K, Lenartz D, Gruendler T, Ullsperger M, Bartsch C, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus basalis of Meynert in Alzheimer's dementia. *Mol Psychiatry* (2015) 20:353–60. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.32
- Kuhn J, Hardenacke K, Shubina E, Lenartz D, Visser-Vandewalle V, Zilles K, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus basalis of meynert in early stage of Alzheimer's dementia. *Brain Stimul.* (2015) 8:838–39. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2015.04.002

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from China Medical University Hospital (DMR-107-201), and the Ministry of Health and Welfare, Taiwan (MOHW107-TDU-B-212-1 23004).

- Hardenacke K, Hashemiyoon R, Visser-Vandewalle V, Zapf A, Freund HJ, Sturm V, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus basalis of meynert in Alzheimer's dementia: potential predictors of cognitive change and results of a long-term follow-up in eight patients. *Brain Stimul.* (2016) 9:799–800. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2016.05.013
- Cimpianu CL, Strube W, Falkai P, Palm U, Hasan A. Vagus nerve stimulation in psychiatry: a systematic review of the available evidence. *J Neural Transm.* (2017) 124:145–58. doi: 10.1007/s00702-016-1642-2
- Merrill CA, Jonsson MA, Minthon L, Ejnell H, C-son Silander H, Blennow K, et al. Vagus nerve stimulation in patients with Alzheimer's disease: additional follow-up results of a pilot study through 1 year. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2006) 67:1171–78. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v67n0801
- Sjogren MJ, Hellstrom PT, Jonsson MA, Runnerstam M, Silander HC, Ben-Menachem E. Cognition-enhancing effect of vagus nerve stimulation in patients with Alzheimer's disease: a pilot study. J Clin Psychiatry (2002) 63:972–80. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v63n1103
- Barker AT, Jalinous R, Freeston IL. Non-invasive magnetic stimulation of human motor cortex. *Lancet* (1985) 1:1106–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(85)92413-4
- Hallett M. Transcranial magnetic stimulation: a primer. Neuron (2007) 55:187–99. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.06.026
- Rossi S, Hallett M, Rossini PM, Pascual-Leone A. Safety of TMSCG. Safety, ethical considerations, and application guidelines for the use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in clinical practice and research. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2009) 120:2008–39. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2009.08.016
- Sandrini M, Umilta C, Rusconi E. The use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in cognitive neuroscience: a new synthesis of methodological issues. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2011) 35:516–36. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.06.005
- Caparelli E, Backus W, Telang F, Wang G, Maloney T, Goldstein R, et al. Is 1 Hz rTMS always inhibitory in healthy individuals? *Open Neuroimaging J.* (2012) 6:69–74. doi: 10.2174/1874440001206010069
- Huang YZ, Edwards MJ, Rounis E, Bhatia KP, Rothwell JC. Theta burst stimulation of the human motor cortex. *Neuron* (2005) 45:201–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.12.033
- Hoogendam JM, Ramakers GM, Di Lazzaro V. Physiology of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the human brain. *Brain Stimul.* (2010) 3:95–118. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2009.10.005
- Luber B, Lisanby SH. Enhancement of human cognitive performance using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS). *Neuroimage* (2014) 85 (Pt 3):961– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.007
- Cotelli M, Manenti R, Cappa SF, Geroldi C, Zanetti O, Rossini PM, et al. Effect of transcranial magnetic stimulation on action naming in patients with Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol.* (2006) 63:1602–4. doi: 10.1001/archneur.63.11.1602
- Cotelli M, Manenti R, Cappa SF, Zanetti O, Miniussi C. Transcranial magnetic stimulation improves naming in Alzheimer disease patients at different stages of cognitive decline. *Eur J Neurol.* (2008) 15:1286–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02202.x
- Cotelli M, Calabria M, Manenti R, Rosini S, Zanetti O, Cappa SF, et al. Improved language performance in Alzheimer disease following brain stimulation. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2011) 82:794–97. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009.197848
- 34. Bentwich J, Dobronevsky E, Aichenbaum S, Shorer R, Peretz R, Khaigrekht M, et al. Beneficial effect of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation combined with cognitive training for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: a proof of concept study. J Neural Transm. (2011) 118:463–71. doi: 10.1007/s00702-010-0578-1

- Haffen E, Chopard G, Pretalli JB, Magnin E, Nicolier M, Monnin J,et al. A case report of daily left prefrontal repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) as an adjunctive treatment for Alzheimer disease. *Brain Stimul.* (2012) 5:264–66. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2011.03.003
- Ahmed MA, Darwish ES, Khedr EM, El Serogy YM, Ali AM. Effects of low versus high frequencies of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on cognitive function and cortical excitability in Alzheimer's dementia. *J Neurol.* (2012) 259:83–92. doi: 10.1007/s00415-011-6128-4
- 37. Rabey JM, Dobronevsky E, Aichenbaum S, Gonen O, Marton RG, Khaigrekht M. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation combined with cognitive training is a safe and effective modality for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: a randomized, double-blind study. *J Neural Transm.* (2013) **120**:813–9. doi: 10.1007/s00702-012-0902-z
- Zhao J, Li Z, Cong Y, Zhang J, Tan M, Zhang H, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation improves cognitive function of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:33864–71. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13060
- Eliasova I, Anderkova L, Marecek R, Rektorova I. Non-invasive brain stimulation of the right inferior frontal gyrus may improve attention in early Alzheimer's disease: a pilot study. J Neurol Sci. (2014) 346:318–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2014.08.036
- Elder GJ, Taylor JP. Transcranial magnetic stimulation and transcranial direct current stimulation: treatments for cognitive and neuropsychiatric symptoms in the neurodegenerative dementias? *Alzheimer's Res Ther.* (2014) 6:74. doi: 10.1186/s13195-014-0074-1
- Hsu WY, Ku Y, Zanto TP, Gazzaley A. Effects of noninvasive brain stimulation on cognitive function in healthy aging and Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurobiol Aging* (2015) 36:2348–59. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.04.016
- Gonsalvez I, Baror R, Fried P, Santarnecchi E, Pascual-Leone A. Therapeutic noninvasive brain stimulation in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res.* (2017) 14:362–76. doi: 10.2174/1567205013666160930113907
- Woods AJ, Antal A, Bikson M, Boggio PS, Brunoni AR, Celnik P, et al. A technical guide to tDCS, and related non-invasive brain stimulation tools. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2016) 127:1031–48. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2015.11.012
- Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *J Physiol.* (2000) 527 (Pt. 3):633–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.t01-1-00633.x
- Stagg CJ, Nitsche MA. Physiological basis of transcranial direct current stimulation. *Neuroscientist* (2011) 17:37–53. doi: 10.1177/1073858410386614
- Brunoni AR, Nitsche MA, Bolognini N, Bikson M, Wagner T, Merabet L, et al. Clinical research with transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS): challenges and future directions. *Brain Stimul.* (2012) 5:175–95. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2011.03.002
- Kronberg G, Bridi M, Abel T, Bikson M, Parra LC. Direct current stimulation modulates LTP and LTD: activity dependence and dendritic effects. *Brain Stimul.* (2017) 10:51–8. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2016.10.001
- Bikson M, Grossman P, Thomas C, Zannou AL, Jiang J, Adnan T, et al. Safety of transcranial direct current stimulation: evidence based update 2016. *Brain Stimul.* (2016) 9:641–61. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2016.06.004
- Ferrucci R, Mameli F, Guidi I, Mrakic-Sposta S, Vergari M, Marceglia S, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation improves recognition memory in Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*. (2008) 71:493–98. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000317060.43722.a3
- Boggio PS, Khoury LP, Martins DC, Martins OE, de Macedo EC, Fregni F. Temporal cortex direct current stimulation enhances performance on a visual recognition memory task in Alzheimer disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2009) 80:444–7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.141853
- Boggio PS, Ferrucci R, Mameli F, Martins D, Martins O, Vergari M, et al. Prolonged visual memory enhancement after direct current stimulation in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Stimul.* (2012) 5:223–30. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2011.06.006
- 52. Khedr EM, Gamal NF, El-Fetoh NA, Khalifa H, Ahmed EM, Ali AM, et al. A double-blind randomized clinical trial on the efficacy of cortical direct current stimulation for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2014) 6:275. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00275
- 53. Bystad M, Gronli O, Rasmussen ID, Gundersen N, Nordvang L, Wang-Iversen H, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation

as a memory enhancer in patients with Alzheimer's disease: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Alzheimer's Res Ther.* (2016) **8**:13. doi: 10.1186/s13195-016-0180-3

- Penolazzi B, Bergamaschi S, Pastore M, Villani D, Sartori G, Mondini S. Transcranial direct current stimulation and cognitive training in the rehabilitation of Alzheimer disease: a case study. *Neuropsychol Rehabil.* (2015) 25:799–817. doi: 10.1080/09602011.2014.977301
- Cotelli M, Manenti R, Brambilla M, Petesi M, Rosini S, Ferrari C, et al. Anodal tDCS during face-name associations memory training in Alzheimer's patients. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2014) 6:38. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00038
- Antal A, Paulus W. Transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS). Front Hum Neurosci. (2013) 7:317. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00317
- Kuo MF, Nitsche MA. Effects of transcranial electrical stimulation on cognition. *Clin EEG Neurosci.* (2012) 43:192–9. doi: 10.1177/1550059412444975
- Miniussi C, Harris JA, Ruzzoli M. Modelling non-invasive brain stimulation in cognitive neuroscience. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37:1702–12. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.06.014
- Reato D, Rahman A, Bikson M, Parra LC. Effects of weak transcranial alternating current stimulation on brain activity-a review of known mechanisms from animal studies. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2013) 7:687. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00687
- Herrmann CS, Rach S, Neuling T, Struber D. Transcranial alternating current stimulation: a review of the underlying mechanisms and modulation of cognitive processes. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2013) 7:279. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00279
- Frohlich F, Sellers KK, Cordle AL. Targeting the neurophysiology of cognitive systems with transcranial alternating current stimulation. *Expert Rev Neurother.* (2015) 15:145–67. doi: 10.1586/14737175.2015.992782
- Herrmann CS, Struber D, Helfrich RF, Engel AK. EEG oscillations: from correlation to causality. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* (2016) 103:12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.02.003
- Antonenko D, Faxel M, Grittner U, Lavidor M, Floel A. Effects of transcranial alternating current stimulation on cognitive functions in healthy young and older adults. *Neural Plast.* (2016) 2016:4274127. doi: 10.1155/2016/4274127
- Passione R. Italian psychiatry in an international context: Ugo Cerletti and the case of electroshock. *Hist Psychiatry* (2004) 15(57 Pt 1):83–104. doi: 10.1177/0957154X04039347
- Weiner RD, Reti IM. Key updates in the clinical application of electroconvulsive therapy. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2017) 29:54–62. doi: 10.1080/09540261.2017.1309362
- Andrade C, Arumugham SS, Thirthalli J. Adverse effects of electroconvulsive therapy. *Psychiatr Clin North Am.* (2016) 39:513–30. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2016.04.004
- Rocha RB, Dondossola ER, Grande AJ, Colonetti T, Ceretta LB, Passos IC, et al. Increased BDNF levels after electroconvulsive therapy in patients with major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis study. J Psychiatr Res. (2016) 83:47–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.08.004
- 68. Sutton TA, Sohrabi HR, Rainey-Smith SR, Bird SM, Weinborn M, Martins RN. The role of APOE-varepsilon4 and beta amyloid in the differential rate of recovery from ECT: a review. *Trans Psychiatry* (2015) 5:e539. doi: 10.1038/tp.2015.39
- Bouckaert F, De Winter FL, Emsell L, Dols A, Rhebergen D, Wampers M, et al. Grey matter volume increase following electroconvulsive therapy in patients with late life depression: a longitudinal MRI study. *J Psychiatry Neurosci.* (2016) 41:105–14. doi: 10.1503/jpn.140322
- Kumar S, Mulsant BH, Liu AY, Blumberger DM, Daskalakis ZJ, Rajji TK. Systematic review of cognitive effects of electroconvulsive therapy in late-life depression. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2016) 24:547–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2016.02.053
- Hausner L, Damian M, Sartorius A, Frolich L. Efficacy and cognitive side effects of electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) in depressed elderly inpatients with coexisting mild cognitive impairment or dementia. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2011) 72:91–7. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10m05973gry
- Verwijk E, Comijs HC, Kok RM, Spaans HP, Tielkes CE, Scherder EJ, et al. Short- and long-term neurocognitive functioning after electroconvulsive therapy in depressed elderly: a prospective naturalistic study. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2014) 26:315–24. doi: 10.1017/S1041610213001932

- Fernie G, Bennett DM, Currie J, Perrin JS, Reid IC. Detecting objective and subjective cognitive effects of electroconvulsive therapy: intensity, duration and test utility in a large clinical sample. *Psychol Med.* (2014) 44:2985–94. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714000658
- Cretaz E, Brunoni AR, Lafer B. Magnetic seizure therapy for unipolar and bipolar depression: a systematic review. *Neural Plast.* (2015) 2015:521398. doi: 10.1155/2015/521398
- Hoy KE, Thomson RH, Cherk M, Yap KS, Daskalakis ZJ, Fitzgerald PB. Effect of magnetic seizure therapy on regional brain glucose metabolism in major depression. *Psychiatry Res.* (2013) 211:169–75. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.08.003
- McClintock SM, Tirmizi O, Chansard M, Husain MM. A systematic review of the neurocognitive effects of magnetic seizure therapy. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2011) 23:413–23. doi: 10.3109/09540261.2011.623687
- Kosel M, Frick C, Lisanby SH, Fisch HU, Schlaepfer TE. Magnetic seizure therapy improves mood in refractory major depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2003) 28:2045–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300293
- Lisanby SH, Luber B, Schlaepfer TE, Sackeim HA. Safety and feasibility of magnetic seizure therapy (MST) in major depression: randomized within-subject comparison with electroconvulsive therapy. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2003) 28:1852–65. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300229
- Luber B, McClintock SM, Lisanby SH. Applications of transcranial magnetic stimulation and magnetic seizure therapy in the study and treatment of disorders related to cerebral aging. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 15:87–98.
- Gilula MF, Barach PR. Cranial electrotherapy stimulation: a safe neuromedical treatment for anxiety, depression, or insomnia. South Med J. (2004) 97:1269-70. doi: 10.1097/01.SMJ.0000136304.33212.06
- Scherder EJ, Bouma A, Steen AM. Effects of short-term transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation on memory and affective behaviour in patients with probable Alzheimer's disease. *Behav Brain Res.* (1995) 67:211–9. doi: 10.1016/0166-4328(94)00115-V
- Scherder EJ, Bouma A. Effects of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation on memory and behavior in Alzheimer's disease may be stage-dependent. *Biol Psychiatry* (1999) 45:743–9. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(98)00072-9
- Scherder EJ, Deijen JB, Vreeswijk SH, Sergeant JA, Swaab DF. Cranial electrostimulation (CES) in patients with probable Alzheimer's disease. *Behav Brain Res.* (2002) 128:215–7. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(01)00323-0
- 84. Scherder EJ, van Tol MJ, Swaab DF. High-frequency cranial electrostimulation (CES) in patients with probable Alzheimer's disease. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. (2006) 85:614–8. doi: 10.1097/01.phm.0000223221.17301.50
- Kraus T, Kiess O, Hosl K, Terekhin P, Kornhuber J, Forster C. CNS BOLD fMRI effects of sham-controlled transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation in the left outer auditory canal - a pilot study. *Brain stimul.* (2013) 6:798–804. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2013.01.011
- Rong P, Liu J, Wang L, Liu R, Fang J, Zhao J, et al. Effect of transcutaneous auricular vagus nerve stimulation on major depressive disorder: a nonrandomized controlled pilot study. J Affect Disord. (2016) 195:172–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.02.031
- Hein E, Nowak M, Kiess O, Biermann T, Bayerlein K, Kornhuber J, et al. Auricular transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation in depressed patients: a randomized controlled pilot study. *J Neural Trans.* (2013) 120:821–7. doi: 10.1007/s00702-012-0908-6
- Liu AK, Chang RC, Pearce RK, Gentleman SM. Nucleus basalis of Meynert revisited: anatomy, history and differential involvement in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2015) 129:527–40. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1392-5
- Davies P, Maloney AJ. Selective loss of central cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* (1976) 2:1403. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(76)91936-X
- Pearson RC, Sofroniew MV, Cuello AC, Powell TP, Eckenstein F, Esiri MM, et al. Persistence of cholinergic neurons in the basal nucleus in a brain with senile dementia of the Alzheimer's type demonstrated by immunohistochemical staining for choline acetyltransferase. *Brain Res.* (1983) 289:375–9. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(83)90046-X
- Whitehouse PJ, Price DL, Struble RG, Clark AW, Coyle JT, Delon MR. Alzheimer's disease and senile dementia: loss of neurons in the basal forebrain. *Science* (1982) 215:1237–9.

- Grothe M, Heinsen H, Teipel SJ. Atrophy of the cholinergic Basal forebrain over the adult age range and in early stages of Alzheimer's disease. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 71:805–13. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.06.019
- Schliebs R, Arendt T. The cholinergic system in aging and neuronal degeneration. *Behav Brain Res.* (2011) 221:555–63. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.11.058
- 94. Gratwicke J, Kahan J, Zrinzo L, Hariz M, Limousin P, Foltynie T, et al. The nucleus basalis of Meynert: a new target for deep brain stimulation in dementia? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37(10 Pt 2):2676–88. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.09.003
- Nowrangi MA, Rosenberg PB. The fornix in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2015) 7:1. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00001
- Tsivilis D, Vann SD, Denby C, Roberts N, Mayes AR, Montaldi D, et al. A disproportionate role for the fornix and mammillary bodies in recall versus recognition memory. *Nat Neurosci.* (2008) 11:834–42. doi: 10.1038/ nn.2149
- Browning PG, Gaffan D, Croxson PL, Baxter MG. Severe scene learning impairment, but intact recognition memory, after cholinergic depletion of inferotemporal cortex followed by fornix transection. *Cereb Cortex* (2010) 20:282–93. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhp097
- Wilson CR, Baxter MG, Easton A, Gaffan D. Addition of fornix transection to frontal-temporal disconnection increases the impairment in object-inplace memory in macaque monkeys. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2008) 27:1814–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06140.x
- Mielke MM, Okonkwo OC, Oishi K, Mori S, Tighe S, Miller MI, et al. Fornix integrity and hippocampal volume predict memory decline and progression to Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. (2012) 8:105–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.05.2416
- Foote SL, Bloom FE, Aston-Jones G. Nucleus locus ceruleus: new evidence of anatomical and physiological specificity. *Physiol Rev.* (1983) 63:844–914. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1983.63.3.844
- Bondareff W, Mountjoy CQ, Roth M. Loss of neurons of origin of the adrenergic projection to cerebral cortex (nucleus locus ceruleus) in senile dementia. *Neurology* (1982) 32:164–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.32.2.164
- 102. Matthews KL, Chen CP, Esiri MM, Keene J, Minger SL, Francis PT. Noradrenergic changes, aggressive behavior, and cognition in patients with dementia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2002) 51:407–16. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01235-5
- Gavrilyuk V, Dello Russo C, Heneka MT, Pelligrino D, Weinberg G, Feinstein DL. Norepinephrine increases I kappa B alpha expression in astrocytes. *J Biol Chem.* (2002) 277:29662–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M203256200
- 104. Kaufman LD, Pratt J, Levine B, Black SE. Executive deficits detected in mild Alzheimer's disease using the antisaccade task. *Brain Behav.* (2012) 2:15–21. doi: 10.1002/brb3.28
- 105. Huntley JD, Howard RJ. Working memory in early Alzheimer's disease: a neuropsychological review. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry (2010) 25:121–32. doi: 10.1002/gps.2314
- 106. Gigi A, Babai R, Penker A, Hendler T, Korczyn AD. Prefrontal compensatory mechanism may enable normal semantic memory performance in mild cognitive impairment (MCI). J Neuroimaging (2010) 20:163–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6569.2009.00386.x
- 107. Voytek B, Davis M, Yago E, Barcelo F, Vogel EK, Knight RT. Dynamic neuroplasticity after human prefrontal cortex damage. *Neuron* (2010) 68:401–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.018
- 108. Kumar S, Zomorrodi R, Ghazala Z, Goodman MS, Blumberger DM, Cheam A, et al. Extent of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex plasticity and its association with working memory in patients with Alzheimer disease. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2017) 74:1266–74. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.3292
- Rogalsky C, Matchin W, Hickok G. Broca's area, sentence comprehension, and working memory: an fMRI Study. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2008) 2:14. doi: 10.3389/neuro.09.014.2008
- 110. Harpaz Y, Levkovitz Y, Lavidor M. Lexical ambiguity resolution in Wernicke's area and its right homologue. *Cortex* (2009) 45:1097–103. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2009.01.002
- 111. Hao J, Li K, Li K, Zhang D, Wang W, Yang Y, et al. Visual attention deficits in Alzheimer's disease: an fMRI study. *Neurosci Lett.* (2005) 385:18–23. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2005.05.028

- 112. Buck BH, Black SE, Behrmann M, Caldwell C, Bronskill MJ. Spatialand object-based attentional deficits in Alzheimer's disease. Relationship to HMPAO-SPECT measures of parietal perfusion. *Brain* (1997) **120** (Pt 7):1229–44. doi: 10.1093/brain/120.7.1229
- Corbetta M, Shulman GL. Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. Nature reviews. *Neuroscience* (2002) 3:201–15. doi: 10.1038/nrn755
- 114. Corbetta M, Patel G, Shulman GL. The reorienting system of the human brain: from environment to theory of mind. *Neuron* (2008) 58:306–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.04.017
- 115. Dodds CM, Morein-Zamir S, Robbins TW. Dissociating inhibition, attention, and response control in the frontoparietal network using functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Cereb Cortex* (2011) 21:1155–65. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq187
- Chikazoe J, Konishi S, Asari T, Jimura K, Miyashita Y. Activation of right inferior frontal gyrus during response inhibition across response modalities. *J Cogn Neurosci.* (2007) 19:69–80. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2007.19.1.69
- 117. Chambers CD, Bellgrove MA, Stokes MG, Henderson TR, Garavan H, Robertson IH, et al. Executive "brake failure" following deactivation of human frontal lobe. *J Cogn Neurosci.* (2006) 18:444–55. doi: 10.1162/089892906775990606
- Blennow K, de Leon MJ, Zetterberg H. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet (2006) 368:387-403. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69113-7
- 119. Dickerson BC, Sperling RA. Functional abnormalities of the medial temporal lobe memory system in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: insights from functional MRI studies. *Neuropsychologia* (2008) 46:1624–35. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.11.030
- 120. Kim JJ, Andreasen NC, O'Leary DS, Wiser AK, Boles Ponto L.L, Watkins GL, et al. Direct comparison of the neural substrates of recognition memory for words and faces. *Brain* (1999) **122** (Pt 6):1069–83. doi: 10.1093/brain/122.6.1069
- 121. Remy F, Mirrashed F, Campbell B, Richter W. Verbal episodic memory impairment in Alzheimer's disease: a combined structural and functional MRI study. *Neuroimage* (2005) 25:253–66. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.10.045

- Weddell RA. Effects of subcortical lesion site on human emotional behavior. Brain Cogn. (1994) 25:161–93. doi: 10.1006/brcg.1994.1029
- Damasceno BP. Relationship between cortical microinfarcts and cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease. *Demen Neuropsychol.* (2012) 6:131–6. doi: 10.1590/S1980-57642012DN06030004
- 124. Viana JNM, Vickers JC, Cook MJ, Gilbert F. Currents of memory: recent progress, translational challenges, and ethical considerations in fornix deep brain stimulation trials for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* (2017) 56:202–10. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2017.03.001
- 125. Siegel AM, Barrett MS, Bhati MT. Deep brain stimulation for Alzheimer's Disease: ethical challenges for clinical research. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2017) 56:429–39. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160356
- Machii K, Cohen D, Ramos-Estebanez C, Pascual-Leone A. Safety of rTMS to non-motor cortical areas in healthy participants and patients. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2006) 117:455–71. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2005. 10.014
- 127. Iyer MB, Mattu U, Grafman J, Lomarev M, Sato S, Wassermann EM. Safety and cognitive effect of frontal DC brain polarization in healthy individuals. *Neurology* (2005) 64:872–5. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000152986.0 7469.E9
- Poreisz C, Boros K, Antal A, Paulus W. Safety aspects of transcranial direct current stimulation concerning healthy subjects and patients. *Brain Res Bull.* (2007) 72:208–14. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2007. 01.004

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Chang, Lane and Lin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Acoustic Hyper-Reactivity and Negatively Skewed Locomotor Activity in Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders: An Exploratory** Study

Hidetoshi Takahashi<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Toru Nakamura<sup>3</sup>, Jinhyuk Kim<sup>3</sup>, Hiroe Kikuchi<sup>4</sup>, Takayuki Nakahachi<sup>1</sup>, Makoto Ishitobi<sup>1</sup>, Ken Ebishima<sup>1</sup>, Kazuhiro Yoshiuchi<sup>5</sup>, Tetsuya Ando<sup>4</sup>, Andrew Stickley<sup>1,6</sup>, Yoshiharu Yamamoto<sup>3</sup> and Yoko Kamio<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Child and Adolescent Mental Health, National Institute of Mental Health, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Advanced Neuroimaging, Integrative Brain Imaging Center, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Graduate School of Education, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychosomatic Research, National Institute of Mental Health, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>5</sup> Department of Stress Sciences and Psychosomatic Medicine, Graduate School of Medicine, University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>6</sup> Stockholm Center for Health and Social Change, Södertörn University, Huddinge, Sweden

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited by: Kenii Hashimoto.

# Chiba University, Japan

Reviewed by: Ryuichiro Hashimoto, Showa University School of Medicine, Japan Mitsuru Kikuchi. Kanazawa University, Japan

\*Correspondence:

Hidetoshi Takahashi htakahashi@ncnp.go.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 07 February 2018 Accepted: 16 July 2018 Published: 06 August 2018

#### Citation:

Takahashi H. Nakamura T. Kim J. Kikuchi H, Nakahachi T, Ishitobi M, Ebishima K, Yoshiuchi K, Ando T, Stickley A, Yamamoto Y and Kamio Y (2018) Acoustic Hyper-Reactivity and Negatively Skewed Locomotor Activity in Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders: An Exploratory Study. Front. Psychiatry 9:355. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00355 Investigation of objective and quantitative behavioral phenotypes along with

neurobiological endophenotypes might lead to increased knowledge of the mechanisms that underlie autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Here, we investigated the association between locomotor dynamics and characteristics of the acoustic startle response (ASR) and its modulation in ASD (n = 14) and typically developing (TD, n = 13) children. The ASR was recorded in response to acoustic stimuli in increments of 10 dB (65-105 dB SPL). We calculated the average ASR magnitude for each stimulus intensity and peak-ASR latency. Locomotor activity was continuously measured with a watch-type actigraph. We examined statistics of locomotor activity, such as mean activity levels and the skewness of activity. Children with ASD had a significantly greater ASR magnitude in response to a weak acoustic stimulus, which reflects acoustic hyper-reactivity. The skewness of all-day activity was significantly more negative in children with ASD than those with TD. Skewness of daytime activity was also more negative, although only of borderline statistical significance. For all children, the higher mean and more negatively skewed daytime activity, reflecting hyperactivity that was associated with sporadic large daytime "troughs," was significantly correlated with acoustic hyper-reactivity. The more negatively skewed locomotor activity occurring in the daytime was also associated with impaired sensorimotor gating, examined as prepulse inhibition at a prepulse intensity of 70 dB. This comprehensive investigation of locomotor dynamics and the ASR extends our understanding of the neurophysiology that underlies ASD.

Keywords: acoustic hyper-reactivity, acoustic startle reflex, autism spectrum disorders, endophenotypes, locomotor activity, prepulse inhibition, sensorimotor gating

# INTRODUCTION

Expectations of translational research in relation to being able to determine the biological pathology and fully effective treatments for autism spectrum disorder (ASD), are increasing. Specifically, the expectation of acquiring a deeper understanding of objective and quantitative behavioral and neurobiological indices is growing. Such indices will contribute to the progress of basic and clinical research and lead to the identification of promising ASD phenotypes or endophenotypes.

One promising objective and quantitative endophenotype for translational research is the acoustic startle response (ASR) and the way it is modulated, including aspects such as habituation and prepulse inhibition (PPI). The neurophysiological indices of ASR are often used to assess information processing differences across (ethnic) groups and species as they can be evaluated by using similar nonverbal experimental designs (1, 2). Sensory abnormalities often occur in people that have ASD (3, 4) and are regarded as important elements in this disorder. Among the ASR indices, an increased ASR magnitude to weak stimuli might act as a useful indicator for translational research, especially when considering acoustic hyper-reactivity. For example, recent research (5, 6) has indicated that in response to weak stimuli, peak-ASR latency is prolonged and ASR magnitude is greater in ASD children when compared to those with typical development (TD). Importantly, the difference in these indices which were associated with emotional/behavioral difficulties in ASD children (6), exhibited a fair to moderate degree of stability over a followup period of 1 year (7).

Another promising candidate index for translational research is locomotor dynamics. Locomotor activity is a behavioral index that has been examined in both basic (animal) and clinical research in relation to psychiatric and developmental disorders (8-12). In terms of ASD, locomotor activity is frequently examined using an actigraph, primarily to document atypical sleep patterns (13-17). However, statistical measures of daytime, waking locomotor activity have not been well established in ASD. This is an important oversight, especially as recent studies of depression (18, 19) and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (20-22) have highlighted the usefulness of measures such as mean locomotor activity during waking periods. Compared with the ASR, measuring locomotor activity with an actigraph or by video-recording can be less invasive and more continuous, even during infancy (23). Thus, identifying the clinical significance of locomotor activity during early development might help uncover fundamental mechanisms in the psychopathology of ASD.

Thus, this study's aim was to examine the association between locomotor activity and ASR indices in children with ASD. Locomotor activity was recorded by actigraph and analyzed. We examined several ASR properties, including the magnitude of the ASR to sounds of varying intensities, peak-ASR latency, habituation, and PPI. Our hypothesis was that acoustic hyper-reactivity (a greater ASR magnitude to weak stimuli)—which is related to ASD—would also be related to the dynamic properties of locomotor activity measured in daily life.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Participants**

Fourteen Japanese children with ASD (13 boys) and 13 with TD (10 boys) participated in the study (age: 7-16 years). Participants were recruited through locally placed advertisements. Experienced child psychiatrists assigned diagnoses after reviewing the children's medical records and performing a clinical interview based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision (24). The Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (25) and the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (26) were used to confirm diagnoses. Neither sex, age (age in months; ASD 125.6  $\pm$  30.9; TD 138.5  $\pm$  38.2; U = 76, p = 0.467), or the estimated intelligence quotient (IQ: ASD 105.7  $\pm$  23.3; TD 104.7  $\pm$  18.3; U = 31, p = 0.958) differed significantly between the two groups. Additionally, when using the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children-Third Revision (27) the estimated IQ of every child in the study was above 70. None of the children were smokers or were currently being medicated with psychotropic substances. In addition, none of them had any degree of hearing loss according to the results from the annual school health check-up which includes bilateral hearing screening of 1,000 Hz acoustic stimuli larger than 30 dB and 4,000 Hz acoustic stimuli larger than 40 dB. Further, none of the children had any abnormalities of the central nervous system apart from autism. Exclusion criteria for the TD group included having a previous or current psychiatric diagnosis or learning disability.

# **Ethical Approval and Informed Consent**

This study was undertaken in accordance with the principles laid out in the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its subsequent amendments and institutional review-board approval was granted by the Research Ethics Committee of the National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry (#A2013-112) and the research ethics committee of the Graduate School of Education, the University of Tokyo (#13-119). Before being accepted into the study, the study procedures were explained in detail and written informed consent was obtained from each participant and their parents.

# Startle Response

Details of the stimulus-presentation and eyeblink-acquisition methodology have been presented previously (5, 6, 28, 29). The startle paradigm that was used to test participants comprised three blocks, and we examined the following ASR measures: (i) average eyeblink magnitude in response to each of the five pulse intensities (65, 75, 85, 95, and 105 dB SPL) in block 1; (ii) average peak-ASR latency; (iii) ASR habituation during each test period, calculated as the reduction in the ASR magnitude percentage (at 105 dB SPL) between the first and third blocks; (iv) PPI at prepulse intensities of 65, 70, and 75 dB SPL. Regarding prepulse intensity, each PPI was calculated as the percentage reduction in the ASR magnitude in block 2 between the pulse alone and the pulse with prepulse trials. As the brain mechanisms subserving PPI do not become sufficiently mature until children become 8–10 years old (30–32), we did not examine ASR measures in

four boys (two with ASD and two with TD) who were less than eight years old. In addition, because one boy with ASD could not tolerate the startle stimulus, he did not finish the session and his data were therefore not used in the subsequent statistical analysis.

#### **Assessment of Locomotor Dynamics**

All participants were instructed to wear the MicroMini Motionlogger actigraph (Ambulatory Monitors Inc., Ardsley, NY, USA) (33) on the wrist of their non-dominant hand for more than seven days during school vacations in spring, summer, or winter (TD: 7.7  $\pm$  1.9 days, ASD: 7.8  $\pm$  1.8 days, U = 80, *p* = 0.574). Children were expected to wear this device throughout the study period, except for when bathing, or during rigorous exercise, or when undertaking any other activity that might cause damage to the device, and to lead their lives normally during the period of actigraphic recordings.

This particular actigraph has been used extensively in clinical research (8, 33–35). Locomotor activity was assessed with a uni-axial piezo-electronic accelerometer sensor that is able to detect even minor differences in body acceleration ( $\geq$ 0.01 G/rad/s). In the current study, we used zero-crossing counts that were collected together for each 1-min epoch as a measure of locomotor activity. After children returned the actigraph, ActMe software (ver. 3.10.0.3, Ambulatory Monitoring Inc., Ardsley, NY, USA) was used to download their activity data. Any locomotor activity data that were collected when participants were not actually wearing the device were not included in the analysis. This was done using Action W-2 software (ver. 2.4.20, Ambulatory Monitoring Inc., Ardsley, NY, USA) to manually label the bad time periods (bins) when the participants had taken off the device.

Sleep-wake cycles were scored and sleep measures were also analyzed using Action W-2 software. Sleep epochs were determined based on the Cole-Kripke algorithm (36). One boy with ASD and two TD girls and two TD boys were excluded from the actigraph behavioral data analysis because they did not wear the actigraph for a sufficient period of time during the daytime.

Sleep measures obtained through actigraphy were (a) sleep duration: the total sleep time in minutes between the time of sleep-onset and waking time; (b) sleep latency: the total time in minutes between going to bed and sleep onset; (c) wake-aftersleep onset (WASO): the number of minutes spent awake during the night after the onset of sleep; and (d) sleep efficiency: the ratio between the total sleep time and amount of time spent in bed at night. Actigraphic sleep parameters were calculated each night for each participant and then averaged for each participant.

We also calculated the mean, standard deviation, skewness, and kurtosis of locomotor activity as these can demonstrate behavioral alterations associated with psychiatric disorders or psychological states (10, 19). For example, higher or lower than normal mean activity levels can characterize states related to psychomotor retardation or agitation, respectively. A rightskewed distribution indicates the presence of extreme values higher than their mean ("occasional bursts"). Right-skewed activity levels with a low mean can characterize the increased intermittent patterns of locomotor activity that are exhibited by patients with major depressive disorder (19). Further, this pattern of locomotor activity has been significantly associated with the worsening of depressive mood in healthy adults and depressive patients (10, 19). Therefore, we evaluated the association between these statistics and the ASR indices. As no significant differences between groups were detected in the standard deviation or kurtosis of locomotor activity, detailed results for these statistics are not reported in the text.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Chi-square tests (and when necessary Fisher's exact tests) were used to examine categorical aspects of the participants' demographic data. As most of the variables relating to ASR and locomotor activity were not normally distributed, nonparametric analyses were performed. Specifically, differences in mean parameter values were examined with the Mann-Whitney Utest. Associations between the variables were computed with Spearman's rank order correlation coefficients. As some children were excluded from the ASR and/or actigraph behavioral data analysis, data from 10 children (1 girl) with ASD and 8 children (1 girl) with TD were included in the analysis of the relationship between ASR measures and locomotor activity statistics, while data from 11 children (1 girl) with ASD and 11 (3 girls) with TD were included in the analysis of the relationship between ASR measures and sleep measures. A Bonferroni adjustment for multiple comparisons was used to correct significance levels. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. All analyses were conducted with SPSS Version 22 (IBM Japan, Tokyo, Japan).

# RESULTS

# Startle Measure Differences Between ASD and Control Children

Startle measures are presented in **Table 1**. Children with ASD had significantly prolonged peak-ASR latencies. Additionally, their ASR magnitude was also significantly greater at the 65-, 75-, and 95-dB stimulus intensities. A trend toward a greater ASR magnitude was also observed in ASD children at the 85-dB stimulus intensity. For PPI, the only significant difference between groups was for the prepulse intensity of 65-dB. Statistically significant differences in habituation or PPI were not observed between the groups at any of the other prepulse intensities.

#### Differences in Locomotor Dynamics Between Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders and Controls

Locomotor activity is presented in **Table 2**. Significantly more negative skewness—defined as a left-skewed distribution (or a long left tail relative to the right tail) with extreme values lower than their mean—was observed for all-day activity in children with ASD, indicating an increase in sporadic large "troughs" below mean activity levels. The skewness of daytime activity was also more negative in those with ASD, although it was only of borderline statistical significance. No other significant differences in locomotor activity or any differences in sleep measures were observed between the groups.

#### TABLE 1 | Acoustic startle response measures.

	Typical d	levelopment	Autism sp	ectrum disorders		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	U	р
Peak Startle Latency (ms)	66.0	11.7	90.4	17.3	19	0.006
ACOUSTIC STARTLE RESPO	NSE (MICROVOLTS)					
65 dB	33.6	20.9	53.6	27.1	25	0.020
75 dB	27.8	11.6	47.9	25.0	28	0.033
85 dB	32.6	7.7	61.4	46.6	31	0.052
95 dB	38.1	18.5	66.5	57.5	23	0.014
105 dB	55.2	37.3	85.6	71.4	43	0.250
Habituation (%)	29.3	7.3	22.4	18.7	24	0.248
PREPULSE INHIBITION (%)						
65 dB prepulse	35.6	20.2	14.1	13.4	17.5	0.008
70 dB prepulse	32.1	19.8	22.0	19.4	40	0.290
75 dB prepulse	33.0	19.3	33.6	21.5	59	0.922

SD, Standard deviation; Mann-Whitney U-test. Number of participants (Typical Development: Autism Spectrum Disorders) for Peak startle latency = 11:11; Acoustic startle magnitude (65 dB) = 11:11; (75 dB) = 11:11; (85 dB) = 11:11; (95 dB) = 11:11; (105 dB) = 11:11; (Habituation) = 9:8; Prepulse inhibition (65-dB prepulse) 10:11; (70-dB prepulse) 10:11; (75-dB prepulse) 11:11; (75-dB pre

#### TABLE 2 | Locomotor dynamics.

	Typical d	evelopment	Autism sp	ectrum disorders		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	U	р
SLEEP MEASURES						
Sleep duration (minutes)	517.7	64.2	516.2	39.4	87	0.846
Sleep latency (minutes)	7.8	3.6	7.9	3.3	87	0.846
Wake after sleep onset (minutes)	28.8	20.5	32.4	24.5	84	0.734
Sleep efficiency (%)	94.5	3.9	93.8	4.6	87	0.846
LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY STATISTIC	CS ALL DAY ACTIVIT	Y				
Mean	147.9	18.9	159.0	7.5	35	0.117
Skewness	0.0	0.2	-0.2	0.2	28	0.042
DAYTIME ACTIVITY						
Mean	231.7	32.0	239.5	18.4	41	0.243
Skewness	-1.1	0.6	-1.6	0.5	31	0.066

SD, Standard deviation; Mann-Whitney U test. Number of participants (Typical Development: Autism Spectrum Disorders) for Sleep measures = 13:14; Locomotor activity statistics = 9:13.

### **Relationship Between Locomotor Dynamics and Startle Measures**

When all the children were combined, mean activity levels for daytime activity were significantly correlated with ASR magnitude for the 75-dB stimulus (rho = 0.484, p = 0.042). Likewise, activity-skewness values for daytime activity were significantly correlated with ASR magnitude for the 65-dB stimulus (rho = -0.626, p = 0.005), 85-dB stimulus (rho = -0.499, p = 0.035), and PPI at 70-dB prepulse intensity (rho = 0.566, p = 0.018). The negative skewness of daytime activity was significantly correlated with the ASR magnitude to a 65-dB stimulus even after a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons was applied. No other significant correlations were observed between locomotor activity or any sleep parameter and the ASR measures.

These relations were also confirmed within each group because ASR magnitude for the 65-, 75-, and 85-dB stimuli

was either significantly different or tended to differ between diagnoses. This analysis revealed a statistically significant correlation between daytime skewness and ASR magnitude for the 65-dB stimulus (rho = 0.745, p = 0.013) in the ASD group.

#### DISCUSSION

This study investigated locomotor activity that was measured by actigraph in ASD and TD children. We also investigated the ASR, its modulation by PPI and habituation, and how these indices were related to locomotor dynamics. Results indicated that locomotor activity skewness for children with ASD was significantly more negative for all-day activity, and tended to be more negative for daytime activity. When all children were combined, the mean and skewness values for daytime locomotor activity correlated with several ASR measures, including ASR magnitude for 85 dB stimuli or weaker and PPI at a 70-dB prepulse intensity. Additionally, in the ASD group, as the ASR magnitude to a weak 65-dB stimulus increased, the skewness values for daytime activity became more negative. Our results thus suggest that atypical hyperactivity behavior observed in locomotor dynamics might be caused, in part, by acoustic hyper-reactivity to weak acoustic stimuli.

To our knowledge, this study is the first to report a relation between locomotor dynamics and ASR indices in humans. The skewness of all-day locomotor activity was more negative in ASD than in TD children. These results suggest that negatively skewed all-day activity might serve as a promising quantitative behavioral index related to ASD.

Higher mean activity levels and more negatively skewed values for daytime locomotor activity characterize behavior in children as being hyperactive with sporadic large "troughs" in daytime activity. In the current study, these values were significantly linked to an increased ASR magnitude to weak 65-dB stimuli, a characteristic which has been associated with several autistic traits in ASD and TD children (5, 6). Our finding that the daytime skewness in locomotor activity tended to be more negative in those with ASD is consistent with the idea that the prevalence of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in ASD is high (37). However, hyperactivity/inattention might be associated with acoustic hyper-reactivity. Thus, the analysis of daytime locomotor activity, especially daytime skewness, might provide promising behavioral phenotypes that are related to clinical features in ASD, such as acoustic hyper-reactivity or hyperactivity/inattention.

Our results support the utility of focusing on third-order statistical moments such as skewness in addition to standard descriptive statistics when characterizing behavioral alterations in ASD children. In a recent study, children with ASD were found to be more active during rest periods than healthy children, although this difference was non-significant in statistical terms. However, in rest periods the kurtosis and skewness of their activity distributions were significantly smaller than those of healthy children (38). Other recent research (18, 19) that investigated the relationship between locomotor dynamics and depressive mood reported that the worsening of depressive mood was linked to a greater intermittency of locomotor activity, as seen in lower mean scores and increased positive skewness values. As higher order statistics successfully capture intermittency or non-Gaussian distributions in natural phenomena, these types of analyses should be useful in assessing the locomotor dynamics of children with ASD. Thus, further investigation of daytime and sleep activity using these higher order statistics might reveal more apparent characteristic behavioral alterations in ASD and other psychiatric disorders.

In this study, ASR measures were related to several aspects of locomotor dynamics, which suggests that basic and clinical research using ASR measures and locomotor dynamics might facilitate a better understanding of the association between ASD and co-occurring psychiatric or developmental conditions. For example, numerous animal studies (although not evaluating skewness of locomotor activity) have reported a relationship between increased locomotor activity and decreased PPI in connection with dysfunction in dopaminergic, serotonergic,

and glutamatergic neurotransmitter regulation (39-43). These associations are thought to be related to hippocampal function (40, 43), which suggests an underlying shared biological mechanism between some aspects of locomotor activity and the ASR. We found that for the daytime activity of both groups combined, more negative skewness was significantly associated with smaller PPI at the prepulse intensity of 70 dB, which has been related to some subcategories of autistic traits and with emotional/behavioral difficulties in children with ASD and TD in previous studies (5, 6). In the current study, the skewness of allday locomotor activity was significantly more negative, and the skewness of daytime locomotor activity more negative (although only of borderline significance) in ASD children, suggesting that a comprehensive investigation of locomotor activity and its relationship with ASR modulation might help clarify the neurophysiological basis of ASD and other clinical problems in children. Additionally, assessing locomotor activity, especially skewness, in daily settings might also serve as a preliminary test to predict ASR indices, including PPI. As locomotor activity can be examined less invasively and more continuously than the ASR even in infancy (23), its evaluation during early development in relation to ASD symptom severity might provide an insight into the fundamental mechanisms that contribute to the broad vulnerability to developmental psychopathology seen in ASD.

The fact that both the ASD and TD groups contained few participants is a major limitation of this study. Even though we were able to identify significantly more negative skewness in the all-day locomotor activity in those with ASD, and significant associations between some aspects of locomotor dynamics and ASR indices, the sample size might nevertheless have been too small to detect other significant differences or associations. For example, the significant relationship between PPI and mean locomotor activity, which has been reported in previous animal studies (39-43), was not observed in this study. In particular, no significant differences were found for the sleep measures despite reports of such differences in previous studies (13-17). This might be related to the small number of children included in this study. Similar sleep problems are experienced at a markedly higher prevalence in school-aged children with ASD (44-83%) than in those with TD, and, atypical sleep patterns, such as prolonged sleep latency (14-17), lower sleep efficacy (14, 16, 17), and longer WASO (13, 14) are frequently reported in children with ASD. However, a previous study (44) reported that although school-age children with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism had longer sleep latency and lower sleep efficiency on school days, these differences were not found over the weekend (44), suggesting that sleep patterns in ASD might differ according to the level of daytime activity, and that children with ASD might have difficulty in regulating their school-life rhythm. Thus, the fact that no significant differences were observed in the sleep measures between the ASD and TD groups in this study might be partly due to the locomotor data acquisition period, which was during long seasonal school vacations when participants did not have to adjust to the rhythms of school life. Participants with ASD might exhibit more sleep problems during school days. Future studies with larger samples that include data from both

seasonal school vacations and school days are necessary to clarify the relationship of sleep measures to ASR measures.

Additionally, this study only included ASD children without intellectual disabilities and IQ-matched controls, who were mainly boys, while the age span, which might be important for differences in hormone levels, was rather large. By using intellectual disabilities as an exclusion criterion, we aimed to avoid the high rates of participant rejection reported previously (45). However, it is possible that the ASR profile of ASD children with intellectual disabilities might also differ. Moreover, although not much is known about gender differences in the locomotor dynamics of children, sexual hormones are known to have an effect on ASR modulation, such as PPI (1, 2). Thus, future research needs to use larger samples to examine these associations in participants with intellectual disabilities and in both sexes while ensuring that there is a narrower age range.

#### CONCLUSION

The results from the current study suggest that negatively skewed all-day locomotor activity might serve as a promising quantitative behavioral index related to ASD. For all children, acoustic hyper-reactivity (assessed as a greater ASR magnitude in response to weak stimuli) was related to higher levels of locomotor activity and a negatively skewed activity distribution (which reflected hyperactivity that was characterized by large sporadic "troughs," during the daytime). The more negatively skewed daytime locomotor activity was also associated with impaired sensorimotor gating (i.e., PPI). This comprehensive investigation of locomotor dynamics and the ASR thus extends our understanding of the neurophysiology that underlies ASD.

#### REFERENCES

- Takahashi H, Hashimoto R, Iwase M, Ishii R, Kamio Y, Takeda M. Prepulse inhibition of startle response: recent advances in human studies of psychiatric disease. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci.* (2011) 9:102–10. doi: 10.9758/cpn.2011.9.3.102
- Takahashi H, Kamio Y. Acoustic startle response and its modulation in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorder in Asian subjects. *Schizophr Res.* (2017). doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.05.034
- Gomes E, Pedroso FS, Wagner MB. Auditory hypersensitivity in the autistic spectrum disorder. *Pro Fono.* (2008) 20:279–84. doi: 10.1590/S0104-56872008000400013
- Marco EJ, Hinkley LB, Hill SS, Nagarajan SS. Sensory processing in autism: a review of neurophysiologic findings. *Pediatr Res.* (2011) 69(5 Pt. 2):48–54R. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e3182130c54
- Takahashi H, Nakahachi T, Komatsu S, Ogino K, Iida Y, Kamio Y. Hyperreactivity to weak acoustic stimuli and prolonged acoustic startle latency in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Mol Autism* (2014) 5:23. doi: 10.1186/2040-2392-5-23
- Takahashi H, Komatsu S, Nakahachi T, Ogino K, Kamio Y. Relationship of the acoustic startle response and its modulation to emotional and behavioral problems in typical development children and those with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. (2016) 46:534–43. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2593-4

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HT, ToN, JK, HK, KY, TA, YY, and YK conceived and designed the experiments. HT, ToN, YY, and YK supervised the project. HT and YK confirmed diagnoses. HT, ToN, JK, and TaN performed the experiments. HT, ToN, JK, YY, and YK analyzed the data. HT, ToN, JK, MI, KE, AS, YY, and YK wrote the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This study was supported by Grants-in-Aid from the Japanese Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (23890257 to HT and 24591739 to HT), Intramural Research Grant (23-1 to YK and 26-1 to YK) for Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders of NCNP, Research Grants from the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare of Japan (H19-KOKORO-006 to YK and H20-KOKORO-004 to YK), and the Center of Innovation Program from Japan Science and Technology Agency, JST (to YK).

This study was partially supported by Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology for the work of YY (#26242069, #15K12678), and for the work of K. Kiyono (#15K01285). The work of ToN was supported by PRESTO from the Japan Science and Technology Agency.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank all the children who participated in this study and their parents. We also wish to thank Adam Phillips, PhD, from Edanz Group (www.edanzediting.com/ac) for editing a draft of this manuscript.

- Takahashi H, Nakahachi T, Stickley A, Ishitobi M, Kamio Y. Stability of the acoustic startle response and its modulation in children with typical development and those with autism spectrum disorders: a one-year follow-up. *Autism Res.* (2017) 10:673–9. doi: 10.1002/aur.1710
- Nakamura T, Takumi T, Takano A, Aoyagi N, Yoshiuchi K, Struzik ZR, et al. Of mice and men–universality and breakdown of behavioral organization. *PLoS ONE* (2008) 3:e2050. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002050
- Sano W, Nakamura T, Yoshiuchi K, Kitajima T, Tsuchiya A, Esaki Y, et al. Enhanced persistency of resting and active periods of locomotor activity in schizophrenia. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e43539. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043539
- Kim J, Nakamura T, Kikuchi H, Sasaki T, Yamamoto Y. Co-variation of depressive mood and locomotor dynamics evaluated by ecological momentary assessment in healthy humans. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e74979. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074979
- Kim J, Nakamura T, Kikuchi H, Yamamoto Y. Psychobehavioral validity of self-reported symptoms based on spontaneous physical activity. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc.* (2015) 2015:4021–4. doi: 10.1109/embc.2015.7319276
- Kim J, Nakamura T, Yamamoto Y. A momentary biomarker for depressive mood. In Silico Pharmacol (2016) 4:4. doi: 10.1186/s40203-016-0 017-6
- Goodlin-Jones BL, Tang K, Liu J, Anders TF. Sleep patterns in preschool-age children with autism, developmental delay, and typical development. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2008) 47:930–8. doi: 10.1097/CHI.ObO13e3181799f7c

- Goldman SE, Surdyka K, Cuevas R, Adkins K, Wang L, Malow BA. Defining the sleep phenotype in children with autism. *Dev Neuropsychol.* (2009) 34:560–73. doi: 10.1080/87565640903133509
- Souders MC, Mason TB, Valladares O, Bucan M, Levy SE, Mandell DS, et al. Sleep behaviors and sleep quality in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Sleep* (2009) 32:1566–78.
- Baker E, Richdale A, Short M, Gradisar M. An investigation of sleep patterns in adolescents with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder compared with typically developing adolescents. *Dev Neurorehabil.* (2013) 16:155–65. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2013.765518
- Baker EK, Richdale AL. Sleep patterns in adults with a diagnosis of high-functioning autism spectrum disorder. *Sleep* (2015) 38:1765–74. doi: 10.5665/sleep.5160
- Kim J, Nakamura T, Kikuchi H, Yoshiuchi K, Yamamoto Y. Co-variation of depressive mood and spontaneous physical activity evaluated by ecological momentary assessment in major depressive disorder. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc.* (2014) 2014:6635–8. doi: 10.1109/embc.2014. 6945149
- Kim J, Nakamura T, Kikuchi H, Yoshiuchi K, Sasaki T, Yamamoto Y. Covariation of depressive mood and spontaneous physical activity in major depressive disorder: toward continuous monitoring of depressive mood. *IEEE J Biomed Health Inform*. (2015) 19:1347–55. doi: 10.1109/jbhi.2015.2440764
- Cheung CH, Rijdijk F, McLoughlin G, Faraone SV, Asherson P, Kuntsi J. Childhood predictors of adolescent and young adult outcome in ADHD. J Psychiatr Res. (2015) 62:92–100. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.01.011
- Cheung CH, Rijsdijk F, McLoughlin G, Brandeis D, Banaschewski T, Asherson P, et al. Cognitive and neurophysiological markers of ADHD persistence and remission. *Br J Psychiatry* (2016) 208:548–55. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.114. 145185
- 22. De Crescenzo F, Licchelli S, Ciabattini M, Menghini D, Armando M, Alfieri P, et al. The use of actigraphy in the monitoring of sleep and activity in ADHD: a meta-analysis. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2016) 26:9–20. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.04.002
- 23. Kretch KS, Adolph KE. The organization of exploratory behaviors in infant locomotor planning. *Dev Sci.* (2017) 20:e12421. doi: 10.1111/desc.12421
- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Text Revision. Washington, DC: American psychiatric publishing Inc (2000).
- Lord C, Rutter M, Le Couteur A. Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised. 3rd ed. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (1995).
- Lord C, Rutter M, DiLavore PC, Risi S. Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (2000).
- Wechsler D. Manual for the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, WISC III. 3rd ed. New York, NY: The Psychological Corporation (1991).
- Takahashi H, Iwase M, Ishii R, Ohi K, Fukumoto M, Azechi M, et al. Impaired prepulse inhibition and habituation of acoustic startle response in Japanese patients with schizophrenia. *Neurosci Res.* (2008) 62:187–94. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2008.08.006
- Takahashi H, Iwase M, Canuet L, Yasuda Y, Ohi K, Fukumoto M, et al. Relationship between prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle response and schizotypy in healthy Japanese subjects. *Psychophysiology* (2010) 47:831–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01000.x
- Ornitz EM, Guthrie D, Kaplan AR, Lane SJ, Norman RJ. Maturation of startle modulation. *Psychophysiology* (1986) 23:624–34.
- Ornitz EM, Guthrie D, Sadeghpour M, Sugiyama T. Maturation of prestimulation-induced startle modulation in girls. *Psychophysiology* (1991) 28:11–20.

- Gebhardt J, Schulz-Juergensen S, Eggert P. Maturation of prepulse inhibition (PPI) in childhood. *Psychophysiology* (2012) 49:484–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2011.01323.x
- Teicher MH. Actigraphy and motion analysis: new tools for psychiatry. *Harv Rev Psychiatry* (1995) 3:18–35.
- Kikuchi H, Yoshiuchi K, Ohashi K, Yamamoto Y, Akabayashi A. Tensiontype headache and physical activity: an actigraphic study. *Cephalalgia* (2007) 27:1236–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2007.01436.x
- Nakamura T, Kiyono K, Yoshiuchi K, Nakahara R, Struzik ZR, Yamamoto Y. Universal scaling law in human behavioral organization. *Phys Rev Lett.* (2007) 99:138103. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.99.138103
- Cole RJ, Kripke DF, Gruen W, Mullaney DJ, Gillin JC. Automatic sleep/wake identification from wrist activity. *Sleep* (1992) 15:461–9.
- Lai M-C, Lombardo MV, Baron-Cohen S. Autism. Lancet (2014) 383:896–910. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61539-1
- Peterson BT, Anderer P, Moreau A, Ross M, Thusoo S, Clare G, et al. A novel actigraphy data analysis tool and its application to identifying the optimal threshold value in three subject populations. *Physiol Meas*. (2016) 37:N49–61. doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/37/7/n49
- 39. Takao K, Miyakawa T. Investigating gene-to-behavior pathways in psychiatric disorders: the use of a comprehensive behavioral test battery on genetically engineered mice. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2006) 1086:144–59. doi: 10.1196/annals.1377.008
- Adams W, Kusljic S, van den Buuse M. Serotonin depletion in the dorsal and ventral hippocampus: effects on locomotor hyperactivity, prepulse inhibition and learning and memory. *Neuropharmacology* (2008) 55:1048–55. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.06.035
- van den Buuse M. Modeling the positive symptoms of schizophrenia in genetically modified mice: pharmacology and methodology aspects. *Schizophr Bull.* (2010) 36:246–70. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp132
- 42. Kulak A, Steullet P, Cabungcal JH, Werge T, Ingason A, Cuenod M, et al. Redox dysregulation in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: insights from animal models. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* (2013) 18:1428–43. doi: 10.1089/ars.2012.4858
- Darbra S, Modol L, Llido A, Casas C, Vallee M, Pallares M. Neonatal allopregnanolone levels alteration: effects on behavior and role of the hippocampus. *Prog Neurobiol.* (2014) 113:95–105. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.07.007
- Allik H, Larsson JO, Smedje H. Sleep patterns of school-age children with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism. J Autism Dev Disord. (2006) 36:585–95. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0099-9
- 45. Ornitz EM, Lane SJ, Sugiyama T, de Traversay J. Startle modulation studies in autism. J Autism Dev Disord. (1993) 23:619–37.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Takahashi, Nakamura, Kim, Kikuchi, Nakahachi, Ishitobi, Ebishima, Yoshiuchi, Ando, Stickley, Yamamoto and Kamio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Procedural Memory Consolidation in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Is Promoted by Scheduling of Practice to Evening Hours

Maria Korman<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Ishay Levy<sup>1,2</sup> and Avi Karni<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Social Welfare and Health Sciences, Department of Occupational Therapy, University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel, <sup>2</sup>E. J. Safra Brain Research Center for the Study of Learning Disabilities, Haifa, Israel, <sup>3</sup>Laboratory for Functional Brain Imaging and Learning Research, Sagol Department of Neurobiology, University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel

In young adults without attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) training on

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Tomiki Sumiyoshi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Hidetoshi Takahashi, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan Caroline L. Horton, Bishop Grosseteste University, United Kinadom

\*Correspondence:

Maria Korman korman.maria@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 21 April 2017 Accepted: 19 July 2017 Published: 03 August 2017

#### Citation:

Korman M, Levy I and Karni A (2017) Procedural Memory Consolidation in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Is Promoted by Scheduling of Practice to Evening Hours. Front. Psychiatry 8:140. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00140 a novel movement sequence results not only in large within-session (online) gains in task performance but also in additional (delayed, off-line) gains in the performance, expressed after an interval of sleep. In contrast, young people with ADHD, given an identical practice, were shown to improve online but expressed much smaller delayed gains overnight. As delayed gains in performance are taken to reflect procedural ("how to") memory consolidation processes, this may explain skill learning deficits in persons with ADHD. However, motor training is usually provided in morning sessions, and, given that persons with ADHD are often evening types, chronobiological constraints may constitute a hidden factor. Here, we tested the hypothesis that evening training, compared to morning training, would result in larger overnight consolidation gains following practice on a novel motor task in young women with ADHD. Participants with (N = 25) and without (N = 24) ADHD were given training on a finger opposition sequence tapping task, either in the morning or at evening. Performance was assessed before and immediately after training, overnight, and at 2 weeks post-training. Individuals with ADHD reported a general preference for evening hours. Evening training was equally effective in participants with and without ADHD, both groups showing robust consolidation gains in task performance overnight. However, the ability to express delayed gains overnight was significantly reduced in participants with ADHD if trained in the morning. Typical peers were as effective in expressing overnight consolidation phase gains irrespective of the time-of-day wherein the training session was afforded. Nevertheless, even after morning training, participants with ADHD fully retained the gains acquired within the first 24 h over an interval of about 2 weeks. Our results suggest that procedural memory consolidation processes are extant and effective in ADHD, but require that specific biobehavioral conditions be met. The affordance of training in the evening hours can relax some of the constraints on these processes in ADHD. The current results are in line with the notion that the control of what is to be retained in procedural memory is atypical or more stringent in ADHD.

Keywords: procedural learning, motor sequence, consolidation, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, chronotype, evening training, young adults, training schedule

# INTRODUCTION

### Motor Learning in Healthy Adults

Procedural memory processes (1-4) subserve the mastering and retention of motor skills and have been characterized in typical adults by a distinct time course (5-8). Large improvements in speed of motor performance occur early on during training on a novel motor task, with no costs of accuracy (i.e., within-session gains, "fast" learning phase). Performance within-session reaches an asymptote as practice accumulates [e.g., Ref. (5)]. However, within several hours after the end of the training session, additional robust gains in performance can be expressed (as delayed, "off-line" gains), reflected in improved speed and accuracy of task performance, as well as in a reduction in performance variance (9-11). The off-line gains are considered to constitute a behavioral marker for the successful accomplishment of procedural memory consolidation processes, which are initiated by the training experience but requiring hours to evolve; processes whereby the neuronal substrates engaged during practice are changed according to the accrued experience (3, 12-15). The level of motor performance attained at the consolidation phase is typically retained over a period of weeks and even months in young adults (3, 6, 7, 16). In the FOS task, the task used in the current study, these gains were correlated with experience dependent motor cortex activity pattern changes (17).

Training-related factors such as the number of task repetitions and instruction are critical in determining the effectiveness and course of skill learning (10, 18-20). However, after the termination of the training experience, conflicting experience, or the availability of a post-training sleep interval can also critically affect the course of learning a new skill, specifically, by interacting with the consolidation processes (8, 14, 21). Sleep has been identified as a state wherein the consolidation of newly acquired information in memory is promoted, depending on the specific conditions of training, instruction, and proximity to sleep episode (22, 23). Sleep supports both quantitative and qualitative changes of memory representations (5, 8, 15, 24-27), and age- or health-related changes in sleep architecture were shown to disrupt normal consolidation processes (23). In typical young adults training in the FOS task, memory consolidation processes (as reflected in the expression of delayed, off-line, gains in performance, but also in a decreased susceptibility to interference by subsequent conflicting experiences) were shown to be accelerated and successfully completed not only by a night's sleep but also by relatively shorter daytime naps (8). Thus, in the FOS task [with training in the standard protocol (5, 7, 8)], the evidence clearly indicates that rather than time per se, time in sleep is the critical factor gating the successful completion of consolidation processes, in both young adults and the elderly (28) [but not in preadolescent children (29)].

#### Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) Condition and Motor Learning Deficits in ADHD

Attention-deficit disorder (ADD)/ADHD is a neurological condition characterized by inattention and/or hyperactivity–impulsivity that interferes with everyday functioning. While attention problems are recognized as a core deficit (30), deficits in executive functioning (e.g., fluency, planning, inhibition, and set-shifting) (31) and motor functioning (32–34) are recognized as key characteristics.

Some theoretical accounts implicate deficits in procedural memory (skill acquisition) as a central deficit in ADHD (35). Findings from structural and functional neuroimaging studies of brains of individuals with ADHD have revealed differences compared to typical peers in multiple brain systems including circuits implicated in repeated task performance and skill learning (36-39). It is not clear, however, whether these differences relate to a less effective acquisition, or deficient consolidation or retention processes in ADHD. A simple view of ADHD as a procedural memory deficit may need to be qualified. The evidence from studies of implicit (SRT task) and explicit learning of movement sequences in adults and children with ADHD is equivocal; some studies report deficits vis-à-vis typical controls (32, 33, 40) while in other task conditions, participants with ADHD were as effective learners as their typical peers (40, 41). Deficits in the sustained engagement of attention resources and reduced inhibition of incorrect responses (42) were proposed as important factors leading to ineffective learning in ADHD.

A number of studies wherein the FOS task was used as the to-be-learned task suggest that young adults with ADHD may exhibit an atypical procedural memory consolidation process rather than a critical deficit (32, 43, 44). For example, in a study that compared the time course of learning following the FOS training in young females with and without ADHD, the ADHD group exhibited normal within-session gains in performance speed, but the delayed gains measured at the 24 h post-training retest, were reduced (32). Given the pivotal role of procedural memory for everyday functioning (e.g., the skill of driving) (3, 4), it would be reasonable to expect that short-term motor deficiencies occurring in the individuals with ADHD would have to be at least partially compensated on the long run. Indeed, the study by Adi-Japha and her colleagues (32) demonstrated that the relative initial deficits in the expression of overnight delayed gains turned out to be temporary; the performance gap vis-à-vis typical peers training in an identical protocol diminished within a few days. The real potential of the individuals with ADHD to acquire novel skills may, therefore, be uncovered by manipulating factors that gate brain plasticity; for example, more stringent demands may be set on factors such as attention and arousal levels or post-training sleep quality and timing in ADHD. Indeed, some of the relative learning deficits, in persons with ADHD, could be corrected when training was shortened (32, 33, 44, 45) perhaps decreasing the burden of long repetitive practice on mechanisms of sustained attention (46). The upregulation of arousal levels, which are typically low in ADHD (47), for example, by the means of whole body vibration (48) and white noise (49) stimulation, has been shown to enhance both attention and motor performance.

In typically developing adults, sleep after practicing a new motor skill supports memory consolidation processes, contributing to the generation of stable, enhanced and long lasting procedural memory representations (5, 7, 50–52). A comorbidity of ADHD and sleep disorders is recognized; over 65% of individuals with

ADHD may present with one or more sleep disorders (53–56). A recent review suggests that sleep problems and ADHD interact in a complex bidirectional manner with sleep disturbances exacerbating or exacerbated by ADHD symptoms (53).

#### Chronotype, Sleep, and Learning in ADHD

Chronotype is an individual characteristic reflecting the time of day at which a person is "at his best" (57); "eveningness" (delayed sleep period, alertness reaches the maximum values at 11 p.m.) and "morningness" (advanced sleep period, alertness reaches the maximum at 8 a.m.) are the two extremes with most individuals in the general healthy population preferring the period between these extremes (58, 59).

Adult ADHD is associated with the evening chronotype (60-62). More than 40% of adults with ADHD display an evening preference; in age-matched healthy peers in general population, only 10.8% exhibit evening preference (63). Morning preference is switched, respectively, 40.2% in the typical population and 18.5% in ADHD. Greater eveningness correlates with the core symptoms of inattention and increased impulsivity; as eveningness is associated with shorter night sleep period, sleep debt may play a causal role in these symptoms (63). Additional evidence for a link between ADHD symptoms and circadian disruption comes from findings that seasonal affective disorder, a depression disorder directly linked to circadian disruption shows high comorbidity with ADHD (55, 64, 65). It was also suggested that the hyperactivity of people with ADHD may lead to sleep deprivation (66). The core symptoms of ADHD, such as inattention, impulsivity, and impatience, are typical outcomes of sleep deprivation in typical adults (67).

Consistent failure to meet basic sleep needs is currently viewed as a significant contributor to the cognitive and behavioral deficits in individuals with ADHD (53). As many as 70% of children and up to 83% of adults with ADHD have been reported as having sleep problems (68, 69) with sleep onset insomnia (SOI), the most common problem (54). A study that compared ADHD with and without SOI reported that 78% of adults with ADHD reported SOI, but when tested objectively by actigraphy, no difference in basic sleep parameters (duration and efficiency of sleep, as well as sleep onset latency) were found between those reporting or not reporting SOI (55). However, compared to typical controls, the participants with ADHD showed extended sleep onset latencies and lower sleep efficiency. Adults with ADHD also report reduced sleep quality, difficulty in getting to sleep, and difficulty in waking up (70). Individuals with ADHD were found to sleep on average an hour less than controls on nights prior to work days (but not prior to free days) and showed larger variability in bedtimes and sleep latencies (64). More than 60% of adults with ADHD reported increased sleepiness during day time (54, 55, 70). Delayed timing of melatonin secretion is systematically found in children and adults with ADHD (54, 55, 71). Rybak et al. suggested that a substantial circadian phase delay considerably impacts the core pathology of the ADHD (72).

Brain plasticity, the basis for skill and knowledge, is a slow and highly controlled (selective) process, wherein synaptic and cellular modifications occur at brain circuits in which the memory was initially encoded during salient experiences. Multiple lines of evidence suggest that these processes proceed "off-line," during both wakefulness and sleep, and culminate in the consolidation of new information and it's integration into previously existed knowledge (3, 5, 8, 15). Whether these off-line processes will be allowed to proceed to a successful completion is under strict control ("gating") (73). Optimal arousal level during encoding is considered a prerequisite gating factor mediating the long-term memory formation (47). Memory systems (74) and cognitive processes such as attention and executive functions (75, 76), as well as reward processes (77-79), are sensitive to disruptions of sleep and circadian rhythms. Indeed, the circadian clock, the reward system, and memory processes directly or indirectly affect neurogenesis and neural growth and shaping processes (80). Light acts on all three systems through common basic signaling pathways (80) and all three are affected by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis via cortisol (81). Moreover, the evidence that most of the genes that shape the biological clock are expressed in brain areas that are associated with learning, memory, and reward, such as the amygdala, the hippocampus, and the ventral tegmental areas, is in line with the notion that the endogenous ~24 h time-generator (suprachiasmatic nucleus) has a role in gating neuronal plasticity following daily experiences (81).

#### The Current Study

The majority of training protocols used in memory research afford training sessions during morning or early afternoon, a time of day that may be suboptimal for individuals with evening chronotype and/or with higher susceptibility to interference [like the persons with ADHD (55) or the elderly (28)]. Recently, it was proposed that post-training sleep and its timing relative to the training experience is a critical factor in the control (gating) of motor skill memory selectivity in young adolescents (82) and in the elderly (28). Similar constrains may be imposed on mnemonic processes in individuals with ADHD during the morning hours so as to limit the generation of long-term memory from experiences gained in less than optimal practice-learning conditions; i.e., when alertness and cognitive abilities are at the diurnal minimum (83). Thus, memory deficits may be, at least in part, a result of the timing of the training experience rather than a general deficit in motor skill consolidation. In the current study, we tested the hypothesis that practice in the evening hours compared to morning hours may provide better conditions for the engagement of, the presumably atypical, consolidation processes in young women with ADHD. Operationally, we expected that training in the evening hours will result in higher delayed, overnight, gains in performance than training in the morning in the ADHD groups. In contrast, we expected that in the control groups (typical adults), delayed gains in performance will evolve regardless of the timing of training session.

We chose to address in the current study only young women with ADHD because (i) the performance of skilled movements in ADHD were suggested to be gender dependent (84, 85), (ii) between individual variances in the symptomatology of ADHD is smaller in females compared to males (86) and thus a smaller number of participants can be used in an exploratory study, and (iii) to enable a direct comparison to the results of previous studies (32, 44) wherein consolidation processes were systematically explored in young women with ADHD, using the FOS task (the task used in the current study).

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was approved by the Human Experimentation Ethics committee of the University of Haifa and the participants signed an informed consent form in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki before beginning the experiments. Subjects were paid 150 shekels (approximately \$37) for their participation.

#### **Participants**

Forty-nine right-handed (87) young (age between 20 and 35 years) females, University of Haifa students, enrolled in the study. Participants were recruited through advertisement boards at the University of Haifa and the University center for students with disabilities, for a "motor learning and memory study." 24 participants met the criteria for a DSM-IV diagnosis of ADHD, and 25 typically developing adults matched by age and education, served as a control group. Inclusion criteria for the ADHD groups were as follows: (1) a formal psycho-didactic diagnosis of an attention-deficit disorder (either ADD or ADHD) from an authorized clinician, psychiatrist, or neurologist, approved by the University center for students with disabilities within 5 years of the current study; (2) a positive screening on the adult ADHD self-report scale (ASRS) (88, 89); and (3) no stimulant treatment for ADHD (methylphenidate or other stimulant drugs) during the recent period (> month). The participants of the ADHD group had on average 11 out of 18 items ( $10.9 \pm 2.7$ , mean  $\pm$  SD) positive responses on the ASRS. The control participants met less than 3 out of 6 criteria of the ASRS screening questionnaire (first 6 items). All control participants affirmed that they were not suggested (by family members or teachers) to have or were never diagnosed as having ADHD/ADD during their childhood or adulthood.

All participants underwent a semi-structured interview to exclude persons with diagnosed sleep, neurological or psychiatric disorders, motor-skeletal diseases, and use of chronic medications or drugs. Four of the participants with ADHD, but none of the participants in the control group, reported that they were previously diagnosed as having dyslexia. All participants underwent chronotype assessment using the Horne–Östberg Morningness– Eveningness Questionnaire (MEQ) (90). MEQ assesses whether a person's peak alertness is in the morning, in the evening, or in between. Higher sum scores are associated with morningness, while lower scores point to eveningness. The MEQ is a widely used and reliable scale to measure circadian type (91, 92).

Participants reporting skilled "blind" typing or professional string instrument playing and those reporting sleeping less than 6 h per night routinely, were excluded (5, 32, 43). The participants were instructed not to practice the study task that they were trained on between the scheduled meetings and not to drink caffeine containing drinks during the experiment.

#### **Task and Procedure**

The participants were trained and tested in performing an explicitly instructed five-element finger-to-thumb opposition sequence (**Figure 1A**) (5, 32). All tests were performed with the participants sited in the arm-chair with their left (task performing) arm positioned, comfortably extended, with the palm facing up to allow video recording of all finger movements. Visual feedback was not allowed; the participants were instructed to avert the gaze away from the fingers of the performing hand.

The experiment included three sessions. In the first session, lasting approximately 30 min, the experimenter showed the thumb-to-finger opposition movements, without demonstration of the sequence. Participants received verbal instructions, informed which sequence they were assigned to (randomly chosen A or B, **Figure 1A**) and performed self-paced warm-up





sequences three times. Following the correct performance of the three warm-up trials, a pre-training performance test, a training, and a post-training performance test were afforded. A performance test consisted of four self-paced blocks, each 30 s long. An explicit instruction was provided before each block to perform the assigned sequence of finger movements "as fast and as accurate as possible" between the start and the stop sounds, given by the computer. Occasional errors should not be corrected. A 30 s rest interval was afforded between the test blocks. Following completion of the four test blocks (pretest), the participants performed 20, 30-s, cued training blocks (training), with a 30-s rest between blocks, altogether 160 repetitions of the sequence. Rest periods could be prolonged if requested by the participant.

Start of each sequence was signaled by a beep at a rate 2.5 s per sequence. No feedback was provided on correctness and speed of performance. Following the training, participants again performed four test blocks (posttest), with identical instructions to the initial tests.

The participants were randomly assigned to four groups (**Figure 1B**): two groups, ADHD-morning (AM, n = 12) and control morning (CM, n = 13) were trained in the morning (8:00 a.m. to 10:30 a.m.); and two additional groups, ADHD-evening (AE, n = 12) and control evening (CE, n = 12), received an identical training session in the evening (7:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m.) on the first day of the experiment. The first session (first day, evening, or morning) included the baseline performance test on the assigned sequence (pretest), the training session and the post-test. All participants were retested during second session in the morning of the next day (overnight retest, 5 min long). The third, retention test (third day session, 15 min long), took place on average 14 days ( $\pm 2$ ) after the second session and was performed again during morning hours (8:00 a.m. to 10:30 a.m.).

Participants were asked to wear an actiwatch (Actigraph Co.) starting from the end of the immediate post-training test to the next 5–7 days, so as to record sleep times and quality. Actigraphy was optional; a consent to wear an actiwatch did not constitute an inclusion criterion. The data were analyzed using ActiLife 6 software.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Performance data were analyzed off-line in terms of speed (number of correct sequences) and accuracy (number of errors) performed per test block from video recordings. Average speed and accuracy of the four test-blocks at each of the four time points (pre-training; post-training; 12-24 h post-training; retention) was calculated. Speed and accuracy of performance were analyzed separately using: (a) a repeated measures analysis of variance with the four time points as within-subject factors × 4 groups [ADHD] morning (AM); ADHD evening (AE); CM; CE] as a between subjects factor; and (b) a repeated measures analysis of variance with two consecutive time points to test performance changes across different stages of learning: acquisition phase-fast learning (pretraining vs. post-training), consolidation phase-slow learning (post-training vs. 24 h post-training) and retention phase (24 h post-training vs. retention). Two-tailed t-tests corrected for multiple comparisons were used in the analysis of the normalized performance gains with level of significance of p < 0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### **Chronotype and Sleep Data**

Mean group MEQ scores differed between persons with ADHD and healthy controls (two-sample *t*-test, t = -4.127, p < 0.001); lower scores, corresponding to larger eveningness were found for the ADHD group (Table 1). The proportion of participants expressing a certain chronotype was significantly different between the groups ( $\chi = 9.17$ , p = 0.043; Fisher's exact test, p = 0.048). More eveningness types were found in the ADHD group than in the control group (45.8 vs. 12%). Also, there was a significant difference between the ADHD and the control groups when the MEQ score (continuous measure) were compared (two-sample *t*-test, t = 4.290, p < 0.001). There was, however, no significant difference in the MEQ scores of the participants with ADHD who were trained in the morning as compared to those receiving evening training (two-sample *t*-test, t = 0.660, p = 0.516; EA group—5/12, MA group—6/13). Similarly, no significant difference in the MEQ scores of the control participants who were trained in the morning as compared to those trained in the evening was found (two-sample *t*-test, t = -0.510, p = 0.615; EC group—1/12, MC group—2/12).

As the participation in actigraphy was voluntary, the actigraphy data sample is limited and contains selected participants in each condition [ADHD n = 16, control n = 12; AM n = 7, AE n = 9, CM n = 6, CE n = 6]. Average time-in-bed, sleep latency (time to fall asleep), total sleep time (minutes), and sleep efficiency parameters, averaged across 5-7 nights starting from the first night following the training session, were analyzed using two-tailed independent sample t-tests. Results showed significant main effect of group (ADHD, control) for total sleep time (t = -2.722, p = 0.011), reflecting shorter night sleep in ADHD participants (ADHD: 400.18 ± 74 min, control: 498.46  $\pm$  115 min). No significant differences were found with regard to sleep efficiency (mean 92.3  $\pm$  8.6%), sleep latency (mean  $4.3 \pm 2.9$  min) and time-in-bed. All participants reported a high subjective sleep quality during the experimental period. No significant correlations between chronotypes and sleep parameters and the observed gains in performance speed at the posttest, overnight, and retention test points were found.

#### **Behavioral Data**

First, we excluded the possibility of a confounding effect of pretraining differences in performance between the experimental

TABLE 1   Morningness-eveningness questionnaire (MEQ) continuous and
categorical scores for the ADHD and control participants.

Туре	ADHD ( <i>n</i> = 24)	Control ( <i>n</i> = 25)
MEQ mean ± SE	42 ± 1.89	53.86 ± 2.03
Morning type	0	1
Moderately morning type	2	6
Neither type	11	15
Moderately evening type	7	3
Definitely evening type	4	0

The continuous scores were translated into categorical chronotypes using standard cutoff criteria (90, 91).

groups. Independent samples, two-tailed *t*-tests showed that there were no significant difference between the pretest performance of the two control groups (CM, CE) (p = 0.12) as well as between the two ADHD groups (AM, AE) (p = 0.558). There were also no significant differences between the participants with ADHD and their corresponding control groups when tested in the morning (MA, MC; p = 0.22) or in the evening (EA, EC; p = 0.33). Thus, the baseline performance of all participants was not significantly affected by the time of test (morning or evening) or ADHD status (**Figure 2**).

Training on the assigned sequence of movements resulted in early (within-session) and delayed (post-training, timedependent) gains in performance triggered by a single training session in all groups (**Figure 2**). An analysis of variance with repeated measures (rm-ANOVA) with four groups × 4 time points, showed that, overall, there was a significant improvement in speed [F(3, 43) = 78.46, p < 0.001] (**Figure 2**, upper panel) across the study period in all groups. There was no significant group effect (p = 0.705). There was, however, a trend toward a significant interaction of time-point × group [F(9, 135) = 1.78, p = 0.079] suggesting that the performance changes were dissimilar across the four groups. On average, the participants in all four groups tended to commit, if any, very few errors (**Figure 2**, lower panel). Absolute accuracy did not change significantly across the period tested [F(3, 43) = 1.396, p = 0.247], suggesting that in all groups the improvements in speed were not at the cost of increased errors.

To explore which of the time intervals contributed to the trend toward an interaction of time-point and group, in performance speed, post hoc rm-ANOVA comparing pairs of consecutive time-points were conducted across the four groups. A significant interaction of time-point × group was found only for the postsession consolidation interval, i.e., in comparing between the posttest and the overnight post-training retest [F(3, 45) = 3.31], p = 0.028]; indicating a significant difference in the rate of performance improvement overnight in the different groups. As can be seen in Figure 2 (inset), the ADHD morning group lagged behind their peers who received the identical training protocol but in the evening, as well as behind the participants in the two control groups. To directly test the contribution of the time of training to the expression of overnight, delayed, gains in performance, in participants with ADHD, an rm-ANOVA was performed comparing the two time-points (posttest, overnight) in the two ADHD groups (AM, AE). Although there was no





significant group effect (p = 0.49), there was a significant timepoint effect [F(1, 22) = 22.24, p < 0.001] indicating overall gains, but also a significant interaction of time-point × group [F(1, 22) = 7.55, p = 0.012] reflecting the smaller gains in the ADHD morning group (**Figure 2**, inset). A similar analysis comparing the overnight, delayed gains in performance speed in the two Control groups showed a significant overall improvement in both groups (CM, CE) [F(1, 23) = 39.9, p < 0.001] but no significant group (i.e., time of day) effect (p = 0.58) as well as, importantly, no significant time-point × group interaction (p = 0.29) suggesting that both groups improved at a similar rate.

The time of day in which training was afforded had, however, no significant effect on the ability to retain the gains in speed across the 2 weeks interval (**Figure 2**). An rm-ANOVA comparing performance in the last two time-points (overnight, retention) in the four groups showed that, rather than forgetting, there was a significant improvement in speed across the retention interval [F(1, 45) = 12.26, p = 0.001], but no significant group effect (p = 0.788), reflecting the finding that the gap that opened between the AM groups performance and that of their peers (irrespective of ADHD status) did not close at 2 weeks post training. The relatively smaller speed gains of the AM group were as well retained as those of the other participant groups.

Although there were no significant differences between the four groups' average performance, there were large individual differences in pre-training performance, irrespective of ADHD status. To ensure that these large differences between individuals' task performance levels did not bias the analyses based on absolute performance measures, we also assessed the differences in the expression of delayed gains in performance, with respect to the time of day training was afforded, using normalized data (**Figure 3**).

To this end, each participant's gains in the overnight posttraining interval (i.e., the difference between overnight and posttest) were normalized to pre-training performance. In addition,



**FIGURE 3** | Individual normalized gains in task performance speed expressed at overnight and retention. Overnight gains (ON—the difference between overnight and posttest) were normalized to performance in the posttest; total gains (2 w—difference between retention and the immediate posttest) were normalized to pretest performance for each individual participant. Positive values indicate delayed gains in task performance; negative values correspond to a slowing down of performance speed relative to immediate post training levels. Squares—group averages.

normalization to pre-training performance was done for the total post-training gains expressed in the retention test (i.e., for the difference between retention and the immediate posttest) (Figure 3). There was a significant difference between the two ADHD groups (AM, AE) in the overnight interval (two-sample *t*-test, t = -0.81, p = 0.042) reflecting an advantage for the evening group. In addition, the overnight performance gains of the ADHD morning group were significantly smaller compared to the control participants trained in the evening (two-sample *t*-test, t = -2.085, p = 0.05) though not significantly smaller than the gains of the CM group (p = 0.36). However, the overnight gains of the ADHD evening group (AE) were not significantly different from the gains attained by their typical peers trained either at morning (CM) or evening (CE) (p = 0.43, p = 0.54, respectively). There were no significant differences in the normalized performance gains expressed over the 2 weeks retention period in the four groups.

#### DISCUSSION

The present findings suggest that procedural memory consolidation processes are extant and effective in ADHD, but necessitate specific circadian conditions in order to be fully expressed. The current results, therefore, suggest a new effective learning strategy for ADHD. In line with previous studies (32), persons with ADHD showed the expected gains within the training session but lessthan-expected performance gains, evolving overnight, during the procedural memory consolidation phase, if the training session took place in the morning hours. The same training experience afforded in the evening was equally effective in participants with and without ADHD, with both groups improving within-session as well as expressing additional, robust gains in task performance overnight. Nevertheless, morning training afforded to individuals with ADHD was as effective as evening training in terms of the ability to retain the gains acquired within the first 24 h posttraining over an interval of about 2 weeks. Moreover, the retention of the training induced gains in performance was as effective in individuals with ADHD as in their typical peers with no ADHD.

Importantly, the current results show that the disadvantage of morning training for ADHD was not related to their ability to improve within session, regardless of the time of training. This result is in line with previous studies (32). However, the relative disadvantage of the morning trained individuals with ADHD was in their ability to express delayed, consolidation phase gains following their quite effective within-session learning. This relative performance lag was maintained over the retention interval.

#### **Chronotype and Sleep**

There is good evidence supporting the notion that the affordance of an interval of sleep after a training experience constitutes an important factor in the expression of practice-dependent delayed ("off-line") gains in the performance of the FOS task in young adults (5, 14, 93) and perhaps more so in elderly individuals (28). There are ample data suggesting that sleep structure may be atypical in persons with ADHD (54, 69, 94). In line with these notions, in the current study, individuals with ADHD tended to be evening chronotypes and to have on average shorter sleep durations. However, the robust overnight expression of delayed gains in the performance of the FOS, in persons with and without ADHD, after evening training, suggests that the post-training sleep intervals were equally sufficient in both groups in supporting the consolidation process.

The prevalence of late chronotypes among young adults in general population is less frequent than in those with ADHD but still significant, reaching 10–15% (95, 96); the low number of participants with evening chronotype in the control groups of the current study is in line with these reported frequencies. However, little is known about the contribution of chronotype to memory in healthy typical individuals. Future studies should address whether evening persons in the general population, those with no ADHD symptoms, may benefit from scheduling of learning session to evening hours, in analogy to the effects found for persons with ADHD. This is especially pertinent in adolescence, a phase of development wherein the circadian profiles are skewed toward eveningness (97).

#### **Procedural Memory Processes in ADHD**

The current results provide support for several notions pertaining to skill memory processes in adults with ADHD. First, there is evidence suggesting that the acquisition and consolidation of a recently acquired memory trace, pertaining to a trained movement sequence, interact, but nevertheless constitute independent processes; each of these processes may require a different set of specific conditions to be effectively completed (15, 98, 99). Our results support this notion-young women with ADHD were as effective learners in the morning and evening hours as their typical peers, but they did differ in terms of their ability to subsequently (overnight) express consolidation phase gains. Thus, learning (acquisition, potentially reversible) and memory (dependent on consolidation) may differ from each other with regard to critically important control processes and gating factors. Proximity of evening training to sleep interval may be critical for successful engagement of consolidation processes for persons with ADHD. Not mutually exclusive is the possibility that, in the evening type persons, circadian factors affecting consolidation processes, for example, more effective synaptic tagging (100), are (also) at work.

A second notion is that while procedural memory mechanisms in young adults with ADHD may differ from those subserving skill consolidation in typical individuals, individuals with ADHD nevertheless can generate and effectively retain procedural memory. Atypical procedural memory consolidation processes in young adults with ADHD were indicated in previous studies of motor learning using the FOS task (32, 101). Nevertheless, in both studies, as well as in a study addressing FOS task learning and motor memory consolidation in adolescents with ADHD receiving methylphenidate treatment (43), there was clear evidence, despite atypical learning patterns, for effective long-term retention of skill in the individuals with ADHD. The current results, however, support the notion that young women with ADHD practicing the FOS task may differ from their typical peers in the conditions under which the engagement of consolidation processes occurs. Thus, young women with ADHD may atypically engage consolidation processes when trained in the morning, but not when trained in the evening.

A third notion concerns the training conditions. Conditions that are well suited for typical young adults may be less than optimal for individuals with ADHD. Thus, the apparent consolidation phase deficits in individuals with ADHD may reflect an interaction of the specific learning (and test) conditions with the individuals' predispositions and chronotype, rather than the latter's specific deficits per se. For example, Fox and colleagues (101) showed that halving (shortening) the training session may be beneficial for the training of persons with ADHD; perhaps because individuals with ADHD tend to commit more errors in tasks and tests that require multiple repetitions (33, 42, 45, 102). We extend this notion to account for time of training as an important condition, given that in people with ADHD show predominant chronotypes that are skewed toward eveningness. Optimal arousal level during encoding is considered to be a prerequisite, gating factor, mediating the process of long-term memory formation (47). Thus, the endogenous biological clock should be considered as gating factor to neuronal plasticity induced by daily experiences (81).

Altogether, we propose that consolidation processes are under stricter control in individuals with ADHD compared to their typically developing peers. A similar notion of extant procedural memory consolidation mechanisms that may be under stricter constraints compared to that of typical young adults has been recently suggested in explaining the findings in elderly individuals (28). Korman and her colleagues have shown that motor skill acquisition is well preserved in healthy elderly individuals, however, unless a post-training nap was afforded, overnight (consolidation phase, "off-line") gains were under-expressed. The current findings indicate a similar pattern, with evening training critical for the expression of the full potential for overnight gains, in young women with ADHD. Thus, in analogy to the case of the healthy elderly, we propose that the apparent deficits observed after morning training in individuals with ADHD may reflect suboptimal engagement of procedural, "how to" memory consolidation processes rather than a core deficit in procedural memory consolidation abilities per se [as suggested for example by Nicolson and Fawcett (35)]. We do not suggest that the processes underlying the hypothesized under-engagement (or stricter control) of procedural memory processes in healthy elderly and in young adults with ADHD are identical. The proposal rather is that, in both populations, some added constraints are imposed on the selection of what is to be maintained in longterm memory after a given learning experience, compared to the constraints imposed on consolidation processes in typical young adults. Different constraints on consolidation processes (rather than differences in the capacity to learn or generate long-term procedural memory per se) have also been indicated by recent studies addressing developmental effects in FOS consolidation, i.e., before and after puberty in typically developing individuals (20, 29, 103).

#### Limitations

Several considerations may limit the interpretation of our findings, given the different first retest periods across study groups trained in the morning and evening hours. Unequal time periods from training to subsequent testing may have contributed to processes of interference or enhancement (104), independently of circadian optimal time-windows for skill acquisition.

An increased susceptibility to interference (e.g., by everyday activities, following training session for which the new movement sequence is irrelevant) was suggested as a mechanism for applying a stricter consistency criterion on what is to be incorporated into long-term procedural memory (28, 105). One could suppose that, in adults with ADHD, there is an increased susceptibility to interference experiences during the waking hours after the training session, leading to smaller consolidation gains in performance. This possibility should be further investigated. However, a recent study suggested that overall susceptibility to interference by a subsequent conflicting experience is not enhanced, but rather is reduced in young women with ADHD (44), compared to typical peers.

The protocol using different delay periods across study groups trained in the morning and evening hours (all groups were retested the next morning) was implemented in to neutralize the possible differences in performance resulting from the time of post-training testing. Thus, the morning groups had more time (~24 h) to consolidate the newly acquired knowledge compared to the evening groups (~13 h). If time per se would be the critical factor to determine the amount of the delayed gains in performance, one would expect to find different levels of overnight performance in the control (evening and morning) groups. However, our findings clearly indicate that this is not the case. As well, in order to control for the confounding effect of the different time-periods following training, we have tested for skill retention at 2-week post-training, allowing ample time to complete the memory consolidation process. The results clearly indicate that: (1) all groups show robust retention (thus no forgetting) and, in fact, additional gains compared to the performance at the first retest; (2) the morning trained ADHD group still lags behind. Thus, our data show no forgetting in time intervals as long as 12-14 days post-training, and support the main interpretation of our results, of the disadvantage of morning training in young adults with ADHD.

Further, we note that current results are limited to a population of highly functional young females with and without ADHD (university students). Additional studies should be conducted in

#### REFERENCES

- Brown RM, Robertson EM. Inducing motor skill improvements with a declarative task. Nat Neurosci (2007) 10(2):148–9. doi:10.1038/nn1836
- Cohen N, Squire L. Preserved learning and retention of pattern-analyzing skill in amnesia: dissociation of knowing how and knowing that. *Science* (1980) 210(4466):207–10. doi:10.1126/science.7414331
- Karni A. The acquisition of perceptual and motor skills: a memory system in the adult human cortex. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res* (1996) 5(1–2):39–48. doi:10.1016/S0926-6410(96)00039-0
- Squire LR. Mechanisms of memory. Science (1986) 232(4758):1612–9. doi:10.1126/science.3086978
- Korman M, Raz N, Flash T, Karni A. Multiple shifts in the representation of a motor sequence during the acquisition of skilled performance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(21):12492–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.2035019100
- Maquet P, Schwartz S, Passingham R, Frith C. Sleep-related consolidation of a visuomotor skill: brain mechanisms as assessed by functional magnetic resonance imaging. *J Neurosci* (2003) 23(4):1432–40.

males or mixed experimental groups and in different age groups to afford more general conclusions.

# CONCLUSION

The current study provides evidence to suggest that in individuals with ADHD (frequently exhibiting evening chronotypes), training session afforded during morning hours negatively affect procedural memory consolidation (off-line, delayed) processes. Thus, individuals with ADHD may benefit from training protocols that have been optimized for their own advantage rather than from protocols optimized for their typical peers. Just as the length of the training session (101) or the spacing (rest periods) within and between practice sessions (106, 107) need to be taken into consideration when adapting training protocols for the benefit of persons with ADHD, an adjustment of the diurnal scheduling of the training protocol may be necessary for the full expression of the potential for skill acquisition and its consolidation in persons with ADHD.

### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The study was approved by the Human Experimentation Ethics committee of the University of Haifa and the participants signed an informed consent form in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki before beginning the experiments. Subjects were paid 150 shekels (approximately \$37) for their participation.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MK, IL, and AK conceived and designed the experiments. IL collected the data. MK and IL analyzed the raw data. MK made the statistical analysis and interpretation of the data. MK, IL, and AK wrote the article.

# FUNDING

The E. J. Safra Brain Research Center for the Study of Learning Disabilities is gratefully acknowledged for partially funding this project.

- 7. Karni A, Meyer G, Rey-Hipolito C, Jezzard P, Adams MM, Turner R, et al. The acquisition of skilled motor performance: fast and slow experience-driven changes in primary motor cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1998) 95(3):861–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.3.861
- Korman M, Doyon J, Doljansky J, Carrier J, Dagan Y, Karni A. Daytime sleep condenses the time course of motor memory consolidation. *Nat Neurosci* (2007) 10(9):1206–13. doi:10.1038/nn1959
- Rozanov S, Keren O, Karni A. The specificity of memory for a highly trained finger movement sequence: change the ending, change all. *Brain Res* (2010) 1331(0):80–7. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.03.019
- Friedman J, Korman M. Kinematic strategies underlying improvement in the acquisition of a sequential finger task with self-generated vs. cued repetition training. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(12):e52063. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0052063
- Friedman J, Korman M. Offline optimization of the relative timing of movements in a sequence is blocked by retroactive behavioral interference. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2016) 10:623. doi:10.3389/fnhum. 2016.00623

- Diekelmann S, Wilhelm I, Born J. The whats and whens of sleep-dependent memory consolidation. *Sleep Med Rev* (2009) 13(5):309–21. doi:10.1016/j. smrv.2008.08.002
- Krakauer JW, Shadmehr R. Consolidation of motor memory. Trends Neurosci (2006) 29(1):58–64. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2005.10.003
- Walker MP, Stickgold R, Jolesz FA, Yoo SS. The functional anatomy of sleep-dependent visual skill learning. *Cereb Cortex* (2005) 15(11):1666–75. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhi043
- Dudai Y, Karni A, Born J. The consolidation and transformation of memory. Neuron (2015) 88(1):20–32. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.004
- Dayan E, Cohen Leonardo G. Neuroplasticity subserving motor skill learning. Neuron (2011) 72(3):443–54. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.008
- Gabitov E, Manor D, Karni A. Patterns of modulation in the activity and connectivity of motor cortex during the repeated generation of movement sequences. J Cogn Neurosci (2015) 27(4):736–51. doi:10.1162/jocn\_a\_00751
- Censor N, Karni A, Sagi D. A link between perceptual learning, adaptation and sleep. *Vision Res* (2006) 46(23):4071–4. doi:10.1016/j.visres.2006. 07.022
- Hauptmann B, Reinhart E, Brandt SA, Karni A. The predictive value of the leveling off of within session performance for procedural memory consolidation. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res* (2005) 24(2):181–9. doi:10.1016/j. cogbrainres.2005.01.012
- Wilhelm I, Metzkow-Mészàros M, Knapp S, Born J. Sleep-dependent consolidation of procedural motor memories in children and adults: the pre-sleep level of performance matters. *Dev Sci* (2012) 15(4):506–15. doi:10.1111/j.1467-7687.2012.01146.x
- 21. Brashers-Krug T, Shadmehr R, Bizzi E. Consolidation in human motor memory. *Nature* (1996) 382(6588):252–5. doi:10.1038/382252a0
- Diekelmann S, Born J. The memory function of sleep. Nat Rev Neurosci (2010) 11(2):114–26. doi:10.1038/nrn2762
- Rasch B, Born J. About sleep's role in memory. *Physiol Rev* (2013) 93(2): 681–766. doi:10.1152/physrev.00032.2012
- 24. Born J, Wilhelm I. System consolidation of memory during sleep. *Psychol Res* (2012) 76(2):192–203. doi:10.1007/s00426-011-0335-6
- Albouy G, King BR, Schmidt C, Desseilles M, Dang-Vu TT, Balteau E, et al. Cerebral activity associated with transient sleep-facilitated reduction in motor memory vulnerability to interference. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:34948. doi:10.1038/srep34948
- Lahl O, Wispel C, Willigens B, Pietrowsky R. An ultra short episode of sleep is sufficient to promote declarative memory performance. *J Sleep Res* (2008) 17(1):3–10. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2869.2008.00622.x
- Nishida M, Walker MP. Daytime naps, motor memory consolidation and regionally specific sleep spindles. *PLoS One* (2007) 2(4):e341. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0000341
- Korman M, Dagan Y, Karni A. Nap it or leave it in the elderly: a nap after practice relaxes age-related limitations in procedural memory consolidation. *Neurosci Lett* (2015) 606:173–6. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2015.08.051
- Ashtamker L, Karni A. Motor memory in childhood: early expression of consolidation phase gains. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* (2013) 106:26–30. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2013.07.003
- Douglas VI. Cognitive control processes in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. In: Quay HC, Hogan AE, editors. *Handbook of Disruptive Behavior Disorders*. Boston, MA: Springer US (1999). p. 105–38.
- Pennington BF, Ozonoff S. Executive functions and developmental psychopathology. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* (1996) 37(1):51–87. doi:10.1111/ j.1469-7610.1996.tb01380.x
- Adi-Japha E, Fox O, Karni A. Atypical acquisition and atypical expression of memory consolidation gains in a motor skill in young female adults with ADHD. *Res Dev Disabil* (2011) 32(3):1011–20. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2011. 01.048
- Mostofsky SH, Rimrodt SL, Schafer JGB, Boyce A, Goldberg MC, Pekar JJ, et al. Atypical motor and sensory cortex activation in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study of simple sequential finger tapping. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 59(1):48–56. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2005.06.011
- Goulardins JB, Marques JC, De Oliveira JA. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and motor impairment. *Percept Mot Skills* (2017) 124(2):425–40. doi:10.1177/0031512517690607

- Nicolson RI, Fawcett AJ. Procedural learning difficulties: reuniting the developmental disorders? *Trends Neurosci* (2007) 30(4):135–41. doi:10.1016/j. tins.2007.02.003
- Liston C, Malter Cohen M, Teslovich T, Levenson D, Casey BJ. Atypical prefrontal connectivity in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: pathway to disease or pathological end point? *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 69(12):1168–77. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.03.022
- Konrad K, Eickhoff SB. Is the ADHD brain wired differently? A review on structural and functional connectivity in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2010) 31(6):904–16. doi:10.1002/hbm.21058
- Cubillo A, Halari R, Smith A, Taylor E, Rubia K. A review of fronto-striatal and fronto-cortical brain abnormalities in children and adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and new evidence for dysfunction in adults with ADHD during motivation and attention. *Cortex* (2012) 48(2):194–215. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2011.04.007
- Nakao T, Radua J, Rubia K, Mataix-Cols D. Gray matter volume abnormalities in ADHD: voxel-based meta-analysis exploring the effects of age and stimulant medication. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(11):1154–63. doi:10.1176/ appi.ajp.2011.11020281
- Pedersen A, Ohrmann P. Impaired behavioral inhibition in implicit sequence learning in adult ADHD. J Atten Disord (2012). doi:10.1177/ 1087054712464392
- Karatekin C, White T, Bingham C. Incidental and intentional sequence learning in youth-onset psychosis and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Neuropsychology* (2009) 23(4):445–59. doi:10.1037/ a0015562
- Burden MJ, Mitchell DB. Implicit memory development in school-aged children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): conceptual priming deficit? *Dev Neuropsychol* (2005) 28(3):779–807. doi:10.1207/ s15326942dn2803\_3
- Fox O, Adi-Japha E, Karni A. The effect of a skipped dose (placebo) of methylphenidate on the learning and retention of a motor skill in adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2014) 24(3):391–6. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2013.11.005
- 44. Fox O, Adi-Japha E, Karni A. Motor memory consolidation processes in young female adults with ADHD may be less susceptible to interference. *Neurosci Lett* (2017) 637:91–5. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2016.11.044
- Barnes KA, Howard JH, Howard DV, Kenealy L, Vaidya CJ. Two forms of implicit learning in childhood ADHD. *Dev Neuropsychol* (2010) 35(5): 494–505. doi:10.1080/87565641.2010.494750
- Sergeant JA. Modeling attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a critical appraisal of the cognitive-energetic model. *Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 57(11):1248–55. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.09.010
- Zentall SS, Zentall TR. Optimal stimulation: a model of disordered activity and performance in normal and deviant children. *Psychol Bull* (1983) 94(3):446–71. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.94.3.446
- Fuermaier AB, Tucha L, Koerts J, van Heuvelen MJ, van der Zee EA, Lange KW, et al. Good vibrations – effects of whole body vibration on attention in healthy individuals and individuals with ADHD. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(2):e90747. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090747
- Baijot S, Slama H, Soderlund G, Dan B, Deltenre P, Colin C, et al. Neuropsychological and neurophysiological benefits from white noise in children with and without ADHD. *Behav Brain Funct* (2016) 12(1):016–0095. doi:10.1186/s12993-016-0095-y
- Debas K, Carrier J, Orban P, Barakat M, Lungu O, Vandewalle G, et al. Brain plasticity related to the consolidation of motor sequence learning and motor adaptation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(41):17839–44. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1013176107
- Gais S, Plihal W, Wagner U, Born J. Early sleep triggers memory for early visual discrimination skills. *Nat Neurosci* (2000) 3(12):1335–9. doi:10.1038/ 81881
- Walker MP, Stickgold R. Overnight alchemy: sleep-dependent memory evolution. Nat Rev Neurosci (2010) 11(3):218. doi:10.1038/nrn2762-c1
- Owens J, Gruber R, Brown T, Corkum P, Cortese S, O'Brien L, et al. Future research directions in sleep and ADHD: report of a consensus working group. *J Atten Disord* (2013) 17(7):550–64. doi:10.1177/1087054712457992
- Van der Heijden KB, Smits MG, Van Someren EJ, Gunning WB. Idiopathic chronic sleep onset insomnia in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder:

a circadian rhythm sleep disorder. Chronobiol Int (2005) 22(3):559-70. doi:10.1081/CBI-200062410

- Van Veen MM, Kooij JJS, Boonstra AM, Gordijn MCM, Van Someren EJW. Delayed circadian rhythm in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and chronic sleep-onset insomnia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 67(11):1091-6. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.12.032
- Owens JA. A clinical overview of sleep and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2009) 18(2):92–102.
- Rhee MK, Lee H-J, Rex KM, Kripke DF. Evaluation of two circadian rhythm questionnaires for screening for the delayed sleep phase disorder. *Psychiatry Investig* (2012) 9(3):236–44. doi:10.4306/pi.2012.9.3.236
- Natale V, Alzani A. Additional validity evidence for the composite scale of morningness. *Pers Individ Dif* (2001) 30(2):293–301. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00046-5
- Smith ME, McEvoy LK, Gevins A. The impact of moderate sleep loss on neurophysiologic signals during working-memory task performance. *Sleep* (2002) 25(7):784–94. doi:10.1093/sleep/25.7.56
- Baird AL, Coogan AN, Siddiqui A, Donev RM, Thome J. Adult attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder is associated with alterations in circadian rhythms at the behavioural, endocrine and molecular levels. *Mol Psychiatry* (2012) 17(10):988–95. doi:10.1038/mp.2011.149
- Voinescu BI, Szentagotai A, David D. Sleep disturbance, circadian preference and symptoms of adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *J Neural Transm* (2012) 119(10):1195–204. doi:10.1007/s00702-012-0862-3
- 62. Coogan AN, McGowan NM. A systematic review of circadian function, chronotype and chronotherapy in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Atten Defic Hyperact Disord* (2017). doi:10.1007/s12402-016-0214-5
- Rybak YE, McNeely HE, Mackenzie BE, Jain UR, Levitan RD. Seasonality and circadian preference in adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: clinical and neuropsychological correlates. *Compr Psychiatry* (2007) 48(6):562–71. doi:10.1016/j.comppsych.2007.05.008
- 64. Bijlenga D, Van Someren EJ, Gruber R, Bron TI, Kruithof IF, Spanbroek EC, et al. Body temperature, activity and melatonin profiles in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and delayed sleep: a case-control study. J Sleep Res (2013) 22(6):607–16. doi:10.1111/jsr.12075
- Amons PJ, Kooij JJ, Haffmans PM, Hoffman TO, Hoencamp E. Seasonality of mood disorders in adults with lifetime attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). J Affect Disord (2006) 91(2–3):251–5. doi:10.1016/j. jad.2005.11.017
- 66. Philipsen A. Differential diagnosis and comorbidity of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and borderline personality disorder (BPD) in adults. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2006) 256(1):i42–6. doi:10.1007/ s00406-006-1006-2
- Corkum P, Tannock R, Moldofsky H. Sleep disturbances in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1998) 37(6):637–46. doi:10.1097/00004583-199806000-00014
- Bruni O, Alonso-Alconada D, Besag F, Biran V, Braam W, Cortese S, et al. Current role of melatonin in pediatric neurology: clinical recommendations. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* (2015) 19(2):122–33. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2014.12.007
- Philipsen A, Hornyak M, Riemann D. Sleep and sleep disorders in adults with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Sleep Med Rev* (2006) 10(6):399–405. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2006.05.002
- Kooij JJ, Bijlenga D. The circadian rhythm in adult attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder: current state of affairs. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2013) 13(10):1107–16. doi:10.1586/14737175.2013.836301
- Cubero-Millan I, Molina-Carballo A, Machado-Casas I, Fernandez-Lopez L, Martinez-Serrano S, Tortosa-Pinto P, et al. Methylphenidate ameliorates depressive comorbidity in ADHD children without any modification on differences in serum melatonin concentration between ADHD subtypes. *Int J Mol Sci* (2014) 15(9):17115–29. doi:10.3390/ijms150917115
- Rybak YE, McNeely HE, Mackenzie BE, Jain UR, Levitan RD. An open trial of light therapy in adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2006) 67(10):1527–35. doi:10.4088/JCP.v67n1006
- Korman M, Herling Z, Levy I, Egbarieh N, Engel-Yeger B, Karni A. Background matters: minor vibratory stimulation during motor skill acquisition selectively reduces off-line memory consolidation. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* (2017) 140:27–32. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2017.02.002

- 74. Taki Y, Hashizume H, Thyreau B, Sassa Y, Takeuchi H, Wu K, et al. Sleep duration during weekdays affects hippocampal gray matter volume in healthy children. *Neuroimage* (2012) 60(1):471–5. doi:10.1016/j. neuroimage.2011.11.072
- Nilsson JP, Soderstrom M, Karlsson AU, Lekander M, Akerstedt T, Lindroth NE, et al. Less effective executive functioning after one night's sleep deprivation. J Sleep Res (2005) 14(1):1–6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2869.2005. 00442.x
- Durmer JS, Dinges DF. Neurocognitive consequences of sleep deprivation. Semin Neurol (2005) 25(1):117–29. doi:10.1055/s-2005-867080
- 77. Peigneux P, Laureys S, Fuchs S, Collette F, Perrin F, Reggers J, et al. Are spatial memories strengthened in the human hippocampus during slow wave sleep? *Neuron* (2004) 44(3):535–45. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.10.007
- Ellenbogen JM, Payne JD, Stickgold R. The role of sleep in declarative memory consolidation: passive, permissive, active or none? *Curr Opin Neurobiol* (2006) 16(6):716–22. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2006.10.006
- Ruby NF, Hwang CE, Wessells C, Fernandez F, Zhang P, Sapolsky R, et al. Hippocampal-dependent learning requires a functional circadian system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2008) 105(40):15593–8. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0808259105
- Iyer R, Wang TA, Gillette MU. Circadian gating of neuronal functionality: a basis for iterative metaplasticity. *Front Syst Neurosci* (2014) 8:164. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2014.00164
- Albrecht U. The circadian clock, reward, and memory. Front Mol Neurosci (2011) 4:41. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2011.00041
- Holz J, Piosczyk H, Landmann N, Feige B, Spiegelhalder K, Riemann D, et al. The timing of learning before night-time sleep differentially affects declarative and procedural long-term memory consolidation in adolescents. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(7):e40963. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040963
- Lange KW, Reichl S, Lange KM, Tucha L, Tucha O. The history of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Atten Defic Hyperact Disord* (2010) 2(4): 241–55. doi:10.1007/s12402-010-0045-8
- 84. Kadesjö B, Janols L-O, Korkman M, Mickelsson K, Strand G, Trillingsgaard A, et al. The FTF (five to fifteen): the development of a parent questionnaire for the assessment of ADHD and comorbid conditions. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2004) 13(3):3–13. doi:10.1007/s00787-004-3002-2
- Cole WR, Mostofsky SH, Larson JC, Denckla MB, Mahone EM. Age-related changes in motor subtle signs among girls and boys with ADHD. *Neurology* (2008) 71(19):1514–20. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000334275.57734.5f
- Arnett AB, Pennington BF, Willcutt EG, DeFries JC, Olson RK. Sex differences in ADHD symptom severity. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2015) 56(6):632–9. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12337
- Oldfield RC. The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia* (1971) 9(1):97–113. doi:10.1016/0028-3932 (71)90067-4
- Adler LA, Kessler RC, Spencer T. Adult ADHD Self-Report Scale-v1. 1 (ASRS-v1. 1) Symptom Checklist. New York, NY: World Health Organization (2003).
- Kessler RC, Adler L, Barkley R, Biederman J, Conners CK, Demler O, et al. The prevalence and correlates of adult ADHD in the United States: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Am J Psychiatry* (2006) 163(4):716–23. doi:10.1176/ajp.2006.163.4.716
- Horne JA, Ostberg O. A self-assessment questionnaire to determine morningness-eveningness in human circadian rhythms. *Int J Chronobiol* (1976) 4(2):97–110.
- Caci H, Deschaux O, Adan A, Natale V. Comparing three morningness scales: age and gender effects, structure and cut-off criteria. *Sleep Med* (2009) 10(2):240–5. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2008.01.007
- Di Milia L, Adan A, Natale V, Randler C. Reviewing the psychometric properties of contemporary circadian typology measures. *Chronobiol Int* (2013) 30(10):1261–71. doi:10.3109/07420528.2013.817415
- Fischer S, Nitschke MF, Melchert UH, Erdmann C, Born J. Motor memory consolidation in sleep shapes more effective neuronal representations. *J Neurosci* (2005) 25(49):11248–55. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1743-05.2005
- Oosterloo M, Lammers GJ, Overeem S, de Noord I, Kooij JJS. Possible confusion between primary hypersomnia and adult attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Res* (2006) 143(2):293–7. doi:10.1016/j. psychres.2006.02.009

- Randler C, Freyth-Weber K, Rahafar A, Florez Jurado A, Kriegs JO. Morningness-eveningness in a large sample of German adolescents and adults. *Heliyon* (2016) 2(11):e00200. doi:10.1016/j.heliyon.2016.e00200
- Cavallera GM, Giudici S. Morningness and eveningness personality: a survey in literature from 1995 up till 2006. *Pers Individ Dif* (2008) 44(1):3–21. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2007.07.009
- Roenneberg T, Kuehnle T, Juda M, Kantermann T, Allebrandt K, Gordijn M, et al. Epidemiology of the human circadian clock. *Sleep Med Rev* (2007) 11(6):429–38. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2007.07.005
- Karni A, Korman M. When and where in skill memory consolidation: neuro-behavioral constraints on the acquisition and generation of procedural knowledge. BIO Web Conf (2011) 1:00047. doi:10.1051/bioconf/20110100047
- Seitz AR, Dinse HR. A common framework for perceptual learning. Curr Opin Neurobiol (2007) 17(2):148–53. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2007.02.004
- Redondo RL, Morris RGM. Making memories last: the synaptic tagging and capture hypothesis. Nat Rev Neurosci (2011) 12(1):17-30. doi:10.1038/ nrn2963
- 101. Fox O, Karni A, Adi-Japha E. The consolidation of a motor skill in young adults with ADHD: shorter practice can be better. *Res Dev Disabil* (2016) 52:135–44. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2016.01.014
- 102. Adi-Japha E, Karni A, Parnes A, Loewenschuss I, Vakil E. A shift in task routines during the learning of a motor skill: group-averaged data may mask critical phases in the individuals' acquisition of skilled performance. J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn (2008) 34(6):1544–51. doi:10.1037/a0013217
- 103. Julius MS, Adi-Japha E. Learning of a simple grapho-motor task by young children and adults: similar acquisition but age-dependent retention. *Front Psychol* (2015) 6:225. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00225

- Walker MP, Brakefield T, Seidman J, Morgan A, Hobson JA, Stickgold R. Sleep and the time course of motor skill learning. *Learn Mem* (2003) 10(4):275–84. doi:10.1101/lm.58503
- Dorfberger S, Adi-Japha E, Karni A. Reduced susceptibility to interference in the consolidation of motor memory before adolescence. *PLoS One* (2007) 2(2):e240. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000240
- Kwon YH, Kwon JW, Lee MH. Effectiveness of motor sequential learning according to practice schedules in healthy adults; distributed practice versus massed practice. J Phys Ther Sci (2015) 27(3):769–72. doi:10.1589/jpts.27.769
- 107. Shea CH, Lai Q, Wright DL, Immink M, Black C. Consistent and variable practice conditions: effects on relative and absolute timing. *J Mot Behav* (2001) 33(2):139–52. doi:10.1080/00222890109603146

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer, HT, and handling editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Korman, Levy and Karni. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Neurocognitive Impairments Are More Severe in the Binge-Eating/Purging Anorexia Nervosa Subtype Than in the Restricting Subtype

Hiroko Tamiya<sup>1</sup>, Atushi Ouchi<sup>1</sup>, Runshu Chen<sup>1</sup>, Shiho Miyazawa<sup>2</sup>, Yoritaka Akimoto<sup>3</sup>, Yasuhiro Kaneda<sup>4</sup> and Ichiro Sora<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Kobe University Graduate School of Medicine, Kobe, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Biological Psychiatry, Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine, Sendai, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Department of Information & Management Systems Engineering, Nagaoka University of Technology, Nagaoka, Japan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Iwaki Clinic, Tokushima, Japan

**Objective:** To evaluate cognitive function impairment in patients with anorexia nervosa (AN) of either the restricting (ANR) or binge-eating/purging (ANBP) subtype.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Kenji Hashimoto, Chiba University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy Yoshiyuki Hirano, Chiba University, Japan

\*Correspondence: Ichiro Sora sora@med.kobe-u.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 November 2017 Accepted: 29 March 2018 Published: 16 April 2018

#### Citation:

Tamiya H, Ouchi A, Chen R, Miyazawa S, Akimoto Y, Kaneda Y and Sora I (2018) Neurocognitive Impairments Are More Severe in the Binge-Eating/Purging Anorexia Nervosa Subtype Than in the Restricting Subtype. Front. Psychiatry 9:138. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00138 **Method:** We administered the Japanese version of the MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery to 22 patients with ANR, 18 patients with ANBP, and 69 healthy control subjects. Our participants were selected from among the patients at the Kobe University Hospital and community residents.

**Results:** Compared to the healthy controls, the ANR group had significantly lower visual learning and social cognition scores, and the ANBP group had significantly lower processing speed, attention/vigilance, visual learning, reasoning/problem-solving, and social cognition scores. Compared to the ANR group, the ANBP group had significantly lower attention/vigilance scores.

**Discussion:** The AN subtypes differed in cognitive function impairments. Participants with ANBP, which is associated with higher mortality rates than ANR, exhibited greater impairment severities, especially in the attention/vigilance domain, confirming the presence of impairments in continuous concentration. This may relate to the impulsivity, an ANBP characteristic reported in the personality research. Future studies can further clarify the cognitive impairments of each subtype by addressing the subtype cognitive functions and personality characteristics.

Keywords: anorexia nervosa restricting subtype, anorexia nervosa binge-eating/purging subtype, MCCB Japanese version, neurocognitive impairment, subtype personality characteristics

# INTRODUCTION

Anorexia nervosa (AN) is a disease characterized by extreme anxiety about eating, a pursuit of weight loss, and a distorted body image [1]. Its mortality rate is exceedingly high, even when compared to psychiatric diseases that are generally chronic [2]. Although AN is known to be associated with both biological and psychosocial factors, its etiology is poorly understood, and no

251
effective treatment is yet available. Recent studies have implicated cognitive dysfunctions in the development and maintenance of AN [3], and researchers are increasingly interested in cognitive functioning in AN, including aspects such as set-shifting [4-7], central coherence [8, 9], visuospatial abilities [10], and decisionmaking [11, 12]. Of these aspects, consistent findings have emerged for set-shifting and central coherence [4-9]. Set-shifting is related to flexibility in task performance; therefore, set-shifting impairments hinder adaptation to unfamiliar situations. Weak central coherence, which is believed to induce an excessive focus on details at the expense of big-picture thinking, is reportedly a characteristic cognitive dysfunction in autism spectrum disorder [13]. The weak central coherence in AN is more pronounced in visuospatial tasks than in verbal tasks [4], and these cognitive dysfunctions are reportedly closely tied to core AN symptoms such as the morbid pursuit of thinness and body image distortions [8]. In relation to body image impairment, it has been suggested that compulsively repeated body checking may reinforce negative perception, resulting in distorted beliefs of body image [14]. One of the factors that can lead to increased number of body checking behaviors is body dissatisfaction, which is conceptualized as a multi-dimensional construct consisting of behaviors, cognition and affect; it has been reported to be a candidate of a risk factor for AN onset [15].

Cognitive dysfunctions in AN also affect social adaptation and interpersonal relationships, and this has further consequences for functional outcomes [16]. Cognitive dysfunctions in AN are therefore believed to be associated with AN's core symptoms and patients' social functioning.

AN manifests in a restricting (ANR) subtype, in which patients limit food consumption, and a binge-eating/purging (ANBP) subtype, in which patients exhibit cycles of large meals followed by purging behaviors. Both subtypes share core clinical symptoms including efforts to maintain abnormally low weight, a fear of obesity, and body image disturbances, but there are clear personality and behavioral differences between persons with ANR and those with ANBP [17–20].

As for cognitive functions, past subtype-comparison studies have reported conflicting results. Although the studies agree that weak central coherence and poor set-shifting are commonly found in AN generally, no agreement has been reached in terms of the severity differences of these cognitive domains between the subtypes [21-23]. Furthermore, there is no consensus about dysfunctions in other cognitive domains in AN subtypes [24]. One of the reasons could be that there has been no study to our knowledge that comprehensively evaluated the separable cognitive functions with uniform and standardized test batteries. It would be extremely important to use the consensus assessment batteries because the preceding studies on AN subtype differences in cognitive functions used different tests to evaluate the same cognitive domain, resulting in inconsistent interpretation of the findings. For example, Rose et al. used the Ravello Profile, a cognitive function assessment battery for eating disorders, which can evaluate domains such as performance IQ, Verbal IQ, Visuospatial Memory, Visuospatial Processing, Verbal Fluency, Executive Functioning [25]. However, it cannot evaluate cognitive domains yet to be shown as impaired since it includes only those scales related to cognitive dysfunctions that are considered specific to eating disorders.

Therefore, for this study, we chose to use the MATRICS Consensus Cognition Battery (MCCB), which was originally designed to evaluate cognitive functions in patients with schizophrenia [26–28] and is appropriate for comprehensively assessing basic cognitive functions in order to characterize the extensive cognitive domains of AN subtypes. Because patients frequently alternate between the ANR and ANBP subtypes [29], elucidating the neuropsychological differences and similarities between the subtypes may clarify the pathophysiology of AN.

We developed a Japanese version of the MCCB (MCCB-J) and confirmed its validity and reliability for Japanese patients with schizophrenia [30] and its utility for detecting cognitive dysfunctions in Japanese patients with bipolar disorder [31]. The MCCB has been used to study mental illnesses other than schizophrenia, such as posttraumatic stress disorder [32] and treatment-resistant depression [33], and it has been used to identify cognitive dysfunctions in many other disorders [34, 35]. Although a previous MCCB-based study of AN found no cognitive impairments [36], we aimed to comprehensively examine the neurocognitive features and cognitive functions in each AN subtype using the MCCB-J.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Participants and Procedures**

We consecutively recruited female outpatients or inpatients with AN at the Kobe University Hospital with a targeted age range of 15-60 years. An experienced psychiatrist confirmed AN diagnoses through the clinical interview and we included patients in partial remission who fulfilled all of the diagnostic criteria except for a sustained period of low body weight. The exclusion criteria included a history of drug or alcohol abuse, a comorbid psychopathology related to drug or alcohol abuse, imminent suicidality, any indication of severe mental illness necessitating inpatient treatment, any serious medical condition, a serious daily living impairment due to psychiatric symptoms, or an IQ below 80 as assessed on the Japanese Adult Reading Test (JART) [37]. JART is the Japanese version of the National Adult Reading Test (NART) that was developed to estimate IQ in native English-speaking patients, and its validity and reliability have been confirmed [38]. The presence or absence of illnesses in the exclusion criteria was checked by asking about current psychopathology and developmental history in the clinical interview and by reviewing the past medical records. No recruited subjects were excluded from the analyses based on these criteria or refused to participate. Forty participants met the diagnostic criteria for AN in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edition [1], and did not meet any exclusion criteria. Twenty-two patients (8 inpatients and 14 outpatients) exhibited the ANR subtype (mean age  $27.59 \pm 11.96$ , mean BMI14.27  $\pm$  2.68, mean level of education 13.36  $\pm$  2.20) and 18 patients (8 inpatients and 10 outpatients) exhibited the ANBP subtype (mean age  $30.61 \pm 11.97$ , mean BMI16.79  $\pm 2.69$ , mean level of education 12.83  $\pm$  1.95). The main diagnosis was either ANR or ANBP and there was no comorbidity including another subtype of AN. Medications were taken by nine of ANBP (antidepressant, n = 3, antipsychotic, n = 5, benzodiazepine, n = 1) and six of ANR (antidepressant, n = 2, antipsychotic, n = 2, benzodiazepine, n = 2) at the time of assessment. The data were collected for two years between June, 2015 and June, 2017.

For healthy controls, we recruited 69 female community residents with ages between 15 and 60 years inclusive and no histories of any eating disorders or any other psychiatric disorders through personal contact and public advertisement in the local community. Demographic data for patients and healthy controls are summarized in **Table 1**.

Written consent was obtained from all participants. We also obtained the written informed parental consent for participants under the age 16. The study was conducted according to the standards of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Kobe University Hospital Ethics Committee.

### Measures

AN severity was assessed using the Eating Disorder Examination-Questionnaire (EDE-Q) [39, 40]. As alluded to, each participant's IQ was measured with the JART, which is the validated Japanese version of the NART [37]. As mentioned, our neurocognitive assessments were based on the MCCB-J [30], which was administered by clinical psychologists who had completed MCCB-J training. The MCCB-J consists of 10 subtests that assess seven cognitive domains [41], including (1) processing speed, which is assessed using the Trail Making Test, part A (TMT-A), the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia-Symbol Coding test (BACS-SC), and the Category Fluency-Animal Naming test; (2) attention/vigilance, which is assessed with the Continuous Performance Test-Identical Pairs (CPT-IP); (3) working memory, which is assessed using the University of Maryland-Letter-Number Span test (LNS), and the Wechsler Memory Scale III Spatial Span test (WMS-SS); (4) verbal learning, which is assessed using the Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised (HVLT-R); (5) visual learning, which is assessed using the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised (BVMT-R); (6) reasoning/problem-solving, which is assessed using the Neuropsychological Assessment Battery-Mazes (NAB); and (7) social cognition, which is assessed using the Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test's Managing Emotions component (MSCEIT-ME). Each participant completed the full MCCB-J during one session that took  $\sim$ 90 min.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Because our participants were all Japanese, we did not use the published MCCB normative data as reference data [42]. Instead, we computed T-scores from the means and standard deviations (SDs) of the Japanese normative data derived from the agecorrected standard scores from the MCCB scoring program [42]. The normative data for the MCCB-J are based on 202 participants from six Japanese cities. For all further analyses, we used data from our healthy controls as reference data.

We used one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to compare the ANR, ANBP, and healthy control groups for demographic and clinical characteristics. We then conducted *post-hoc* pairwise multiple comparisons corrections for significant differences with Tukey's test. We used analyses of covariance (ANCOVA) to compare the ANR and ANBP groups for chart-recorded minimum body mass indices (BMIs), BMIs at assessment, illness durations and EDE-Q controlling for three demographic variables (i.e., IQ, age, and years of education) as covariance.

For between-group comparisons of MCCB-J scores, we conducted a multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) with the seven MCCB-J domain T-scores as the dependent variables, the three groups as the subject variables, and the three demographic variables exhibiting significant between-group differences (i.e., IQ, age, and years of education) as covariates. We then applied Bonferroni multiple comparisons corrections for significant differences.

For the ANR and ANBP groups, we calculated partial correlation coefficients with the three demographic variables (i.e., IQ, age, and years of education) as control variables to determine how the chart-recorded minimum BMIs, BMIs at assessment, and illness durations correlated with MCCB-J neurocognitive performance scores.

All statistical analyses were conducted with SPSS version 12.0 (IBM, Armonk, NY). Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05.

### RESULTS

### **Clinical and Demographic Features**

Table 1 displays the means and SDs for the three groups' demographic and clinical characteristics. The ANOVA revealed significant between-group differences in age  $[F_{(2, 106)} = 3.22,$ p = 0.044], education level [ $F_{(2, 106)} = 12.18$ , p < 0.001], and IQ  $[F_{(2, 104)} = 3.93, p = 0.023]$ . Post-hoc application of Tukey's test showed that the ANR group was significantly younger than the healthy controls (p = 0.044), but the ANBP group did not significantly differ in age from the healthy controls (p = 0.43) or the ANR group (p = 0.68). Post-hoc analysis of educational levels revealed that compared to the healthy controls, the ANR (p = 0.002) and ANBP (p < 0.001) groups had significantly fewer years of education. However, it revealed no significant difference between the ANR and ANBP groups (p = 0.73). In terms of IQ, *post-hoc* testing revealed no significant differences between the ANR group and the healthy controls (p = 0.11), between the ANBP group and the healthy controls (p = 0.055), or between the ANR and ANBP groups (p = 0.92).

Compared to the ANBP group, the ANR group exhibited significantly lower minimum chart-recorded BMIs (F = 4.35, p = 0.045) and BMIs at assessment (F = 7.97, p = 0.008). However, the two groups did not significantly differ in illness durations (F = 0.19, p = 0.662) or EDE-Q scores (F = 0.60, p = 0.446).

### MCCB-J Neurocognitive Function Scores

**Figure 1** and Supplementary Table 1 show the mean Tscore profiles for the MCCB-J domains in the ANR, ANBP, and healthy control groups. The MANCOVA of MCCB-J domain scores revealed a significant overall group effect for neurocognitive domain performance  $[F_{(14, 190)} = 3.617, p < 0.001, Wilk's lambda = 0.623]$ . When domain-specific

#### TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics of the subjects.

	ANR group ( <i>n</i> = 19–21)	ANBP group ( $n = 16-18$ ) Mean $\pm$ SD	Healthy controls ( <i>n</i> = 69)	Group comparisons <sup>a</sup> Statistics	p-value	Post-hoc comparisons
Age (years)	27.59 ± 11.96	30.61 ± 11.97	34.36 ± 11.03	F = 3.22	0.044	ANR < HC(p = 0.044)
Estimated IQ <sup>b</sup>	$101.67 \pm 9.02$	$100.53 \pm 9.95$	$106.10 \pm 8.50$	F = 3.93	0.023	n. s.
Education (years)	$13.36\pm2.20$	$12.83 \pm 1.95$	15.26 ± 2.27	F = 12.18	< 0.001	ANR < HC(p = 0.002) ANBP < HC(p < 0.001)
Chart-recorded minimum BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$11.54 \pm 1.98$	$12.92 \pm 1.99$	_	F = 4.35	0.045	ANR <anbp< td=""></anbp<>
BMI at assessment (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$14.27 \pm 2.68$	$16.79 \pm 2.69$	-	F = 7.97	0.008	ANR <anbp< td=""></anbp<>
Illness duration (years)	$9.29 \pm 7.21$	$10.35 \pm 7.24$	-	F = 0.19	0.662	n. s.
EDE-Q total	$2.06\pm1.36$	$2.43 \pm 1.37$	-	F = 0.60	0.446	n. s.

ANR, anorexia nervosa, restricting subtype; ANBP, anorexia nervosa, binge-eating/purging subtype; IQ, intelligence quotient; BMI, body mass index; EDE-Q, Eating Disorder Examination-Questionnaire; SD, standard deviation; ns, not significant.

<sup>a</sup> Group comparisons; One–way analysis of variance for age, estimated IQ, and education. Analyses of covariance for chart-recorded minimum BMI, BMI at assessment, illness duration and EDE-Q total score.

<sup>b</sup> Estimated IQ, One-way analysis of variance revealed significant between-group differences, but the post-hoc Tukey's test revealed no such differences.

results were considered, we found significant group effects for the processing speed, attention/vigilance, visual learning, reasoning/problem-solving, and social cognition domains. These results survived the Bonferroni correction. *Post-hoc* comparisons to the healthy controls revealed that the ANR group scored significantly lower in the visual learning (p = 0.019) and social cognition (p = 0.002) domains and that the ANBP group scored significantly lower in the processing speed (p < 0.001), attention/vigilance (p = 0.001), visual learning (p = 0.001), reasoning/problem-solving (p = 0.005), and social cognition (p = 0.004) domains. Compared to the ANR group, the ANBP group scored significantly lower in the attention/vigilance domain (p = 0.009).

Figure 2 and Supplementary Table 2 show the mean T-scores of the MCCB-J subtests for the three groups. The MANCOVA showed a significant overall group effect  $[F_{(20,184)} = 3.043,$ p < 0.001, Wilk's lambda = 0.565]. Compared to the healthy controls, the ANR and ANBP groups scored significantly lower on the TMT-A, BACS-SC, LNS, NAB, BVMT-R, MSCEIT-ME, and CPT-IP subtests, but the significant group effects for the LNS and NAB subtests disappeared after Bonferroni corrections. Post-hoc comparisons with the healthy controls showed that the ANR group scored significantly lower on the TMT-A (p = 0.017), BACS-SC (p = 0.006), BVMT-R (p = 0.018), and MSCEIT-ME (p = 0.003) subtests and that the ANBP group scored significantly lower on the TMT-A (p < 0.001), BACS-SC (p < 0.001), NAB (p = 0.007), BVMT-R (p = 0.001), MSCEIT-ME (p = 0.004), and CPT-IP (p = 0.001) subtests. Compared to the ANR group, the ANBP group scored significantly lower on the CPT-IP subtest (p = 0.008).

### **Correlations Between Clinical Characteristics and Neurocognitive Functioning Scores**

As shown in Supplementary Table 3 and Supplementary Figure 1, MCCB-J neurocognitive performance scores did not

correlate with chart-recorded minimum BMIs (ANR group:  $-0.361 \le r \le 0.082$ , ANBP group:  $-0.407 \le r \le 0.269$ ), BMIs at assessment (ANR group:  $-0.197 \le r \le 0.303$ , ANBP group:  $-0.343 \le r \le 0.358$ ), or illness durations (ANR group:  $-0.270 \le r \le 0.290$ , ANBP group:  $-0.112 \le r \le 0.507$ ).

### DISCUSSION

We aimed to comprehensively examine the cognitive characteristics of patients with the AN subtypes ANR and ANBP by using the MCCB-J, a comprehensive cognitive assessment for Japanese patients with schizophrenia, to systematically compare cognitive functions in patients with either subtype to those in healthy controls.

We found that compared to the healthy controls, both patient groups scored significantly lower in the visual learning and social cognition domains, with the ANBP group also scoring significantly lower in the processing speed, attention/vigilance, and reasoning/problem-solving domains. Furthermore, compared to the ANR group, the ANBP group scored significantly lower in the attention/vigilance domain. However, the patient groups and healthy controls achieved similar scores in the verbal learning and working memory domains. These results clearly characterized the cognitive dysfunctions of each AN subtype. Furthermore, we found no statistically significant correlations between the cognitive variables and BMIs or illness durations, which suggests that emaciation does not affect the cognitive variables.

The MCCB, which assesses seven cognitive domains with 10 subtests that have superb tolerability, practicality, and test-retest reliability, can be used repeatedly [41]. Another specific quality of the MCCB is its co-norming with a healthy population for standardization [42]. The seven cognitive domains were chosen because (1) they are potential targets for novel schizophrenia treatments, (2) they were examined in many past studies on cognitive dysfunctions in schizophrenia [43], and (3) they were



separable neurocognitive factors previously examined in healthy controls using the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale III and Wechsler Memory Scale III [44]. Thus, the MCCB defines separable neurocognitive domains from healthy control data and incorporates the cognitive characteristics of schizophrenia.

The processing speed domain was assessed with the TMT-A and BACS-SC, which both measure processing speed through non-verbal domains, and a category fluency test, which assesses it through verbal domains. Both patient groups scored significantly lower on the TMT-A and BACS-SC than the healthy controls did, but there were no significant differences in category fluency scores. The TMT-A scores in particular were the lowest subtest scores for both AN groups. The TMT is among the most frequently used assessment tools for set-shifting [5-7, 17, 21, 23], which is characteristic of AN-associated cognitive dysfunctions. The TMT consists of part A, in which subjects serially connect numbers, and part B, in which subjects serially connect numbers and letters in turn. Although only the TMT-A is incorporated into the MCCB, the low TMT-A scores, which reflect TMT-B scores [45], suggest that cognitive flexibility is impaired in AN. Another characteristic of both AN groups in the processing speed domain was that non-verbal processing was slow whereas verbal processing was normal. This implies that although verbal information can be processed normally, visual information processing is problematic. As for overall processing speed domain scores, only the ANBP group scored significantly lower than the healthy controls because the ANBP group's TMT-A and BACS-SC scores were extremely low when compared to those of the healthy controls.

We evaluated the attention/vigilance domain with the CPT-IP, in which subjects press a button when identical numbers appear on a computer screen. This test measures sustained attention. The ANR group's CPT-IP scores were similar to those of the healthy controls, which suggests the absence of serious attention-arousal problems. However, the ANBP group scored significantly lower than both the healthy controls and the ANR group, which suggests that continuous concentration is impaired in ANBP. This represents the first report of CPT-IP-measured differences in continuous concentration between the ANR and ANBP subtypes. It should be emphasized that attention/vigilance was the only MCCB-J cognitive function domain for which we found a significant difference between the subtypes.

In the reasoning/problem-solving domain, we again found that the ANBP group scored significantly lower than the healthy controls did whereas the ANR group did not. We evaluated reasoning/problem-solving abilities with the NAB, which uses



drawn mazes to assess insight and planning abilities that are related to conceptual understanding and objective observation capacities. Since attention and concentration are related to these conceptual activities [45], the ANBP group scored significantly lower in this domain than the healthy controls did, as was the case for the attention/vigilance domain. These results suggest that patients with ANBP experience difficulties in organization and planning.

For the working memory domain, we used the WMS-SS for non-verbal working memory and the LNS for verbal working memory. On the WMS-SS, neither patient group scored significantly lower than the healthy controls did. There were also no significant differences on the LNS after Bonferroni corrections or in pairwise comparisons of the healthy controls with either patient group. Therefore, in this study, working memory was intact in both AN subtypes.

We assessed the verbal learning domain with the HVLT-R and found that neither patient group significantly differed from the healthy controls. The ANR group in particular scored similarly to the healthy controls. Together with the fact that the ANR group scored higher than the healthy controls in the category fluency test, which reflects verbal processing speed, this implies that verbal domains are not impaired in the ANR subtype. Our results are consistent with those of a previous report [46] that language domain performance in patients with AN is no different from, and sometimes superior to, that of healthy controls.

We assessed visual learning with the BVMT-R, on which both patient groups scored significantly lower than the healthy controls did. These results confirm those of previous studies [10, 47] that reported impaired visual perception and visuospatial abilities in both AN subtypes. Visuospatial impairments and weak central coherence at the visuospatial level were the most frequently targeted impairments in the past AN-related studies, and those studies reported that these cognitive dysfunctions affect AN's onset and duration [4]. Of the available visuospatial domain measures, the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test (RCFT) [48], in which subjects copy a complex figure and later reproduce it from memory, has been the most commonly employed and is included in the Ravello Profile [25] that serves as a cognitive function battery for patients with AN. Although the BVMT-R that is included in the MCCB utilizes a simpler figure than the RCFT does, both patient groups scored significantly lower than the healthy controls did. This finding confirms the visuospatial memory and cognition impairments of both AN subtypes as reported in previous studies [10, 47] and further implies the seriousness of these impairments since lower

scores were obtained even with the BVMT-R's relatively simple test.

Cognitive function domains can be classified into neurocognitive domain and social cognitive domain. Social cognition consists of mental processes that underlie social interactions and is defined as the ability to perceive others' intentions and internal states [49]. The impairment of social cognition is reported to have a close relationship with daily living functions, and also associated with functional outcome [50]. In our current study, both ANR and ANBP were impaired in the social cognitive domain. Interestingly, although the ANR group's impairments in some neurocognitive domains were milder than those of the ANBP group, both groups exhibited similarly low social cognition domain scores. This finding may mean that ANR has comparable impairments in daily living functions as ANBP. AN-related social cognition impairments have been widely studied, and previous studies reported impairments of facial cognition [51] and theory of mind [52-54]. The MSCEIT-ME, which measures emotional control in conflictual situations, revealed that both AN groups had problems with such emotional control. Our results suggest that both AN subtypes have social cognition domain impairments, as previously reported, and that these impairments specifically affect emotional control in conflictual situations.

As noted, our ANBP group exhibited broader cognitive function impairments than our ANR group did. Our study is the first to report this subtype-specific difference in cognitive dysfunction severities. Clinical experiences also suggest that patients with ANBP more frequently exhibit kleptomania, substance dependence, suicide, and self-mutilation, which are all related to the impulsivity often observed in ANBP [17, 55], as well as comorbid depression and mood lability [56]. A longitudinal study also reported lower remission rates and higher mortality rates for patients with ANBP and poor prognoses [54]. The broader cognitive impairments of ANBP observed in our study are consistent with these clinical features, and, conversely, more severe cognitive impairments may be related to these features.

Our results reinforce previous reports that cognitive impairments in AN do not correlate with BMIs or illness durations [6, 7, 21, 47, 57, 58]. It is reported that cognitive impairment could be a marker of chronicity in AN or a risk indicator for the development of chronic AN [59]. Furthermore, set-shifting impairments, which have been observed in unaffected sisters of AN probands [21] and in patients with AN who recovered to normal weight [4, 60], could be an endophenotype [61]. This suggests that the cognitive impairments seen in AN may be traits unrelated to ill state.

Phillipou et al.'s study [36] is the only previous one to our knowledge that examined cognitive functions in AN with the MCCB, and it revealed that relative to healthy controls, the patients had significantly delayed false alarm responses on the CPT-IP and significantly different scores on the WMS-SS backward component but no significant differences in cognitive domain scores or subtest scores. But the authors noted that overall cognitive functioning was unimpaired in AN with the MCCB. These findings differ from ours, probably due to differences in the subjects. Phillipou et al. selected subjects who were medically stable but had suboptimal BMIs to minimize the influence of malnutrition on their results. Although our subjects were medically stable and had an average BMI comparable to that of Phillipou et al.'s subjects, our subjects had a greater average age and longer average illness duration. Also our subjects were distinctive in terms of its very low BMIs compared to previous studies [21, 60]; chart-recorded minimum BMIs of ANR being  $11.54 \pm 1.98 \text{ (kg/m}^2)$  and that of ANBP  $12.92 \pm 1.99 \text{ (kg/m}^2)$ . ANBP showed higher mean EDE-Q scores than ANR, but this was not statistically significant. The reason could be that the EDE-Q scores may not necessary corresponds to the severity. As for relationship between illness severity and cognitive function, Phillipou et al.'s milder cases showed no significant cognitive impairment relative to healthy controls. The current study, which included more severe cases, showed cognitive domains with significantly lower cognitive functioning. These findings may suggest that cognitive function of our subjects was more impaired because the illness was more severe with very low chartrecorded minimum BMIs. Furthermore, cognitive impairments in the ANR group were milder than in the ANBP group in the current study, despite the ANR group having significantly lower minimum chart-recorded BMIs and BMIs at assessment. It is therefore unlikely that malnutrition directly relates to cognitive impairment, so just as a previous study [59] suggested that cognitive impairments are a risk factor for chronicity.

Any contribution of comorbid conditions such as depression and anxiety need to be discussed as well. Our current study could not examine the influence of comorbidity since there were no cases with comorbid depressive disorders or anxiety disorders. According to the data of the preceding studies [5, 9], neuropsychological performance did not correlate with level of anxiety and depression, which suggests that comorbid symptoms such as depression and anxiety may not influence cognitive functions.

This study has some limitations. It was a cross-sectional study, so it could not capture the whole picture of AN. Future prospective and longitudinal studies might provide more indepth findings about subtype-specific cognitive impairments. Another limitation was that the sample size was relatively small. Future studies with larger samples are needed to validate our findings.

In summary, we found that MCCB-J scores for the visual learning and social cognition domains were significantly lower in both AN subtypes. Furthermore, the ANBP group scored lower than the ANR group did in all MCCB-J cognitive domains, which indicates broader cognitive impairments in ANBP. It was especially notable that we observed a difference in the attention/vigilance domain. This may relate to the impulsivity, an ANBP characteristic reported in the personality research [17-20]. Future studies may clarify the factors that contribute the development of eating disorders by examining the relationship between cognitive functions and psychological profile of ANR and ANBP including perfectionism characteristic to ANR. As this is the first systematic study of the previously unclear subtypespecific differences in cognitive impairments in AN, our results may be extremely valuable for future efforts to design treatment strategies and elucidate the pathophysiology of AN. We expect that targeting the cognitive profile characteristics observed in our study will prevent severe and enduring AN and enhance improvements in social functioning.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HT and IS designed the study. HT, YK, and IS collected the data. AO administered the psychological tests. YA and SM analyzed the data. HT, RC and AO wrote the draft. HT and IS wrote the final manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- 1. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 5th Edn. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2013).
- Papadoulos FC, Ekbom A, Brandt L, Ekselius L. Excess mortality, causes of death and prognostic factor in anorexia nervosa. *Br J Psychiatry* (2009) 194:10–17. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108.054742
- Gillberg IC, Gillberg C, Rastam M, Johansson M. The cognitive profile of anorexia nervosa: a comparative study including a community-based sample. *Compr Psychiatry* (1996) 37:23–30. doi: 10.1016/S0010-440X(96)90 046-2
- Danner UN, Sanders N, Smeets PAM, van Meer F, Adan RAH, Hoek HW, et al. Neuropsychological weaknesses in anorexia nervosa: set-shifting, central coherence, and decision making in currently ill and recovered women. *Int J Eat Disord*. (2012) 45:685–94. doi: 10.1002/eat.22007
- Roberts ME, Tchanturia K, Stahl D, Southgate L, Treasure J. A systematic review and meta-analysis of set-shifting ability in eating disorders. *Psychol Med.* (2007) 37:1075–84. doi: 10.1017/S0033291707009877
- Tchanturia K, Anderluh MB, Morris RG, Rabe-Hesketh S, Collier DA, Sanchez P, et al. Cognitive flexibility in anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* (2004) 10:513–20. doi: 10.1017/S13556177041 04086
- Tchanturia K, Morris RG, Anderluh MB, Collier DA, Nikolaou V, Treasure J. Set shifting in anorexia nervosa: an examination before and after weight gain, in full recovery and relationship to childhood and adult OCPD traits. J Psychiatr Res. (2004) 38:545–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2004.03.001
- Lopez C, Tchanturia K, Stahl D, Treasure, J. Central coherence in eating disorders: a systematic review. *Psychol Med.* (2008) 38:1393–404. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708003486
- Lopez C, Tchanturia K, Stahl D, Booth R, Holliday J, Treasure J. An examination of the concept of central coherence in women with anorexia nervosa. *Int J Eat Disord*. (2008) 41:143–52. doi: 10.1002/eat.20478
- Fowler L, Blackwell A, Jaffa A, Palmer R, Robbins TW, Sahakian BJ, et al. Profile of neurocognitive impairments associated with female in-patients with anorexia nervosa. *Psychol Med.* (2006) 36:517–27. doi: 10.1017/S0033291705006379
- Abbate-Daga G, Buzzichelli S, Amianto F, Rocca G, Marzola E, McClintock SM, et al. Cognitive flexibility in verbal and nonverbal domains and decision making in anorexia nervosa patients: a pilot study. *BMC Psychiatry* (2011) 11:162. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-11-162
- Cavedini P, Bassi T, Ubbiali A, Casolari A, Giordani S, Zorzi C, et al. Neuropsychological investigation of decision-making in anorexia nervosa. *Psychiatry Res.* (2004) 127:259–66. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2004.03.012
- Happe F, Frith U. The weak coherence account: detail-focused cognitive style in autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. (2006) 36:5–25. doi: 10.1007/s10803-005-0039-0
- 14. Fairburn CG. Cognitive Behavior Therapy and Eating Disorder. Chichester: The Guildford Press (2008).
- Berardis DD, Carano A, Gambi F, Campanella D, Giannetti P, Ceci A, et al. Alexithymia and its relationships with body checking and body image in a non-clinical female sample. *Eat Behav.* (2007) 8:296–304. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2006.11.005

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported in part by research grant from the Smoking Research Foundation.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2018.00138/full#supplementary-material

- Renwick B, Musiat P, Lose A, Dejong H, Broadbent H, Kenyon M, et al. Neuroand social-cognitive clustering highlights distinct profiles in adults with anorexia nervosa. *Int J Eat Disord*. (2015) 48:26–34. doi: 10.1002/eat.22366
- Claes L, Mitchell JE, Vandereycken W. Out of control? Inhibition processes in eating disorders from a personality and cognitive perspective. *Int J Eat Disord*. (2012) 45:407–14. doi: 10.1002/eat.20966
- Claes L, Robinson MD, Muehlenkamp JJ, Vandereycken W, Bijttebier P. Differentiating bingeing/purging and restrictive eating disorder subtypes: the roles of temperament, effortful control, and cognitive control. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2010) 48:166–70. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2009.09.016
- Fassino S, Abbate-Daga G, Amianto F, Leombruni P, Boggio S, Rovera GG. Temperament and character profile of eating disorders: a controlled study with the temperament and character inventory. *Int J Eat Disord.* (2002) 32:412–25. doi: 10.1002/eat.10099
- Halmi KA, Sunday SR, Strober M, Kaplan A, Woodside DB, Fichter M, et al. Perfectionism in anorexia nervosa: variation by clinical subtype, obsessionality, and pathological eating behavior. *Am J Psychiatry* (2000) 157:1799–805. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.11.1799
- Roberts ME, Tchanturia K, Treasure JL. Exploring the neurocognitive signature of poor set-shifting in anorexia and bulimia nervosa. J Psychiatry Res. (2010) 44:964–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.03.001
- Toner BB, Garfinkel PE, Garner DM. Cognitive style of patients with bulimic and diet-restricting anorexia nervosa. *Am J Psychiatry* (1987) 144:510–12. doi: 10.1176/ajp.144.4.510
- 23. Van Autreve S, De Baene W, Baeken C, van Heeringen C, Vervaet M. Do restrictive and bingeing/purging subtypes of anorexia nervosa differ on central coherence and set shifting? *Eur Eat Disord Rev.* (2013) 21:308–14. doi: 10.1002/erv.2233
- Galimberti E, Martoni RM, Cavallini MC, Erzegovesi S, Bellodi L. Motor inhibition and cognitive flexibility in eating disorder subtypes. *Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 36:307–12. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2011.10.017
- Rose M, Davis J, Frampton I, Lask B. The Ravello Profile: development of a global standard neuropsychological assessment for young people with anorexia nervosa. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry* (2011) 16:195–202. doi: 10.1177/1359104511401191
- Green, MF, Nuechterlein KH, Gold JM, Barch DM, Cohen J, Essock S, et al. Approaching a consensus cognitive battery for clinical trials in schizophrenia: the NIMH-MATRICS conference to select cognitive domains and test criteria. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 56:301–7. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.06.023
- Kern RS, Green MF, Nuechterlein KH, Deng BH. NIMH-MATRICS survey on assessment of neurocognition in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 72:11–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.09.004
- Velligan DI, Fredrick M, Mintz J, Li XY, Rubin M, Dube S, et al. The reliability and validity of the MATRICS functional assessment battery. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:1047–52. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt148
- Eddy KT, Keel PK, Dorer DJ, Delinsky SS, Franko DL, Herzog DB. Longitudinal comparison of anorexia nervosa subtypes. Int J Eat Disord. (2002) 31:191–201. doi: 10.1002/eat.10016
- Kaneda Y, Ohmori T, Okahisa Y, Sumiyoshi T, Pu SH, Ueoka Y, et al. Measurement and treatment research to improve cognition in Schizophrenia Consensus Cognitive Battery: validation of the Japanese version. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 67:182–8. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12029

- Ishisaka N, Shimano S, Miura T, Motomura K, Horii M, Imanaga H, et al. Neurocognitive profile of euthymic Japanese patients with bipolar disorder. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 71:373–82. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12500
- Kaye JL, Dunlop BW, Iosifescu DV, Mathew SJ, Kelley ME, Harvey PD. Cognition, functional capacity, and self-reported disability in women with posttraumatic stress disorder: examining the convergence of performance-based measures and self-reports. J Psychiatr Res. (2014) 57:51–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.06.002
- 33. Murrough JW, Burdick KE, Levitch CF, Perez AM, Brallier JW, Chang LC, et al. Neurocognitive effects of ketamine and association with antidepressant response in individuals with treatment-resistant depression: a randomized controlled trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2015) 40:1084–90. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.298
- Lo SB, Szuhany KL, Kredlow MA, Wolfe R, Mueser KT, McGurk SR. A confirmatory factor analysis of the MATRICS consensus cognitive battery in severe mental illness. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 175:79–84. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.03.013
- Van Rheenen TE, Rossell SL. An empirical evaluation of the MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery in bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord.* (2014) 16:318–25. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12134
- Phillipou A, Gurvich C, Castle DJ, Abel LA, Rossell SL. Comprehensive neurocognitive assessment of patients with anorexia nervosa. World J Psychiatry (2015) 5:404–11. doi: 10.5498/wjp.v5.i4.404
- 37. Matsuoka K, Uno M, Kasai K, Koyama K, Kim Y. Estimation of premorbid IQ in individuals with Alzheimer's disease using Japanese ideographic script (Kanji) compound words: Japanese version of National Adult Reading Test. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2006) 60:332–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2006.01510.x
- Nelson HE, Willison JW. *The National Adult Reading Test, 2nd Edn.* Windsor: NFER-NELSON Publishing (1991).
- Berg KC, Peterson CB, Frazier P, Crow SJ. Psychometric evaluation of the eating disorder examination and eating disorder examination-questionnaire: a systematic review of the literature. *Int J Eat Disord.* (2012) 45:428–38. doi: 10.1002/eat.20931
- Mond JM, Hay PJ, Rodgers B, Owen C, Beumont RJV. Validity of the Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire (EDE-Q) in screening for eating disorders in community samples. *Behav Res Ther.* (2004). 42:551–67. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7967(03)00161-X
- Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Kern RS, Baade LE, Barch DM, Cohen JD, et al. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery, part 1: test selection, reliability, and validity. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165:203–13. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07010042
- Kern RS, Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Laade LE, Fenton WS, Gold JM, et al. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery, part 2: conorming and standardization. *Am J Psychiatry* (2008) 165:214–20. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07010043
- Nuechterlein KH, Barch DM, Gold JM, Goldberg TE, Green MF, Heaton RK. Identification of separable cognitive factors in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 72:29–39. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.09.007
- Tulsky DS, Price LR. The joint WAIS-III and WMS-III factor structure: development and cross-validation of a six-factor model of cognitive functioning. *Psychol Assess.* (2003) 15:149–62. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.15.2.149
- 45. Lezak MD, Howieson D, Loring D. *Neuropsychological Assessment, 3rd Edn.* New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2004).
- Stedal K, Rose M, Frampton I, Landro NI, Lask B. The neuropsychological profile of children, adolescents, and young adults with anorexia nervosa. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* (2012) 27:329–37. doi: 10.1093/arclin/acs032
- Heled E, Hoofien D, Bachner-Melman R, Bachar E, Ebstein RP. The sorting test of the D-KEFS in current and weight restored anorexia nervosa patients. *Int J Eat Disord.* (2014) 47:92–8. doi: 10.1002/eat.22203

- Meyers J, Meyers K. Rey Complex Figure Test and Recognition Trial: Professional Manual. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources (1995).
- Adolphs R. Social cognition and the human brain. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (1999) 3:469–79. doi: 10.1016/S1364-6613(99)01399-6
- Brockmeyer T, Pellegrino J, Munch H, Herzog W, Dziobek I, Friederich H. Social cognition in anorexia nervosa: specific difficulties in decoding emotional but not nonemotional mental states. *Int J Eat Disord.* (2016) 49:883–90. doi: 10.1002/eat.22574
- Dapelo MM, Surguladze S, Morris R, Tchanturia K. Emotion recognition in blended facial expressions in women with anorexia nervosa. *Eur Eat Disord Rev.* (2016) 24:34–42. doi: 10.1002/erv.2403
- Harrison A, Sullivan S, Tchanturia K, Treasure J. Emotional functioning in eating disorders: attentional bias, emotion recognition and emotion regulation. *Psychol Med.* (2010) 40:1887–97. doi: 10.1017/S0033291710000036
- Harrison A, Tchanturia K, Naumann U, Treasure J. Social emotional functioning and cognitive styles in eating disorders. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2012) 51:261–79. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.2011.02026.x
- Herzog DB, Field AE, Keller MB, West JC, Robbins WM, Staley J, et al. Subtyping eating disorders: is it justified? J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1996). 35:928–36. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199607000-00020
- Fischer S, Smith GT, Cyders MA. Another look at impulsivity: a metaanalytic review comparing specific dispositions to rash action in their relationship to bulimic symptoms. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2008) 28:1413–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2008.09.001
- Favaro A, Santonastaso P. Purging behaviors, suicide attempts, and psychiatric symptoms in 398 eating disordered subjects. *Int J Eat Disord*. (1996) 20:99–103. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199607)20:1<99::AID-EAT11>3.0. CO;2-E
- Gillberg IC, Rastam M, Wentz E, Gillberg C. Cognitive and executive functions in anorexia nervosa ten years after onset of eating disorder. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol.* (2007) 29:170–8. doi: 10.1080/138033906005 84632
- Lauer CJ, Gorzewski B, Gerlinghoff M, Backmund H, Zihl J. Neuropsychological assessments before and after treatment in patients with anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa. *J Psychiatr Res.* (1999) 33:129–38. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3956(98)00020-X
- 59. Hatch A, Madden S, Kohn MR, Clarke S, Touyz S, Gordon E, et al. In first presentation adolescent anorexia nervosa, do cognitive markers of underweight status change with weight gain following a refeeding intervention? *Int J Eat Disord.* (2010) 43:295–306. doi: 10.1002/eat. 20695
- Talbot A, Hay P, Buckett G, Touyz S. Cognitive deficits as an endophenotype for anorexia nervosa: an accepted fact or a need for re-examination? *Int J Eat Disord.* (2015) 48:15–25. doi: 10.1002/eat.22332
- Holliday J, Tchanturia K, Landau S, Collier D, Treasure J. Is impaired setshifting an endophenotype of anorexia nervosa? *Am J Psychiatry* (2005) 162:2269–75. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.12.2269

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer YH and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Tamiya, Ouchi, Chen, Miyazawa, Akimoto, Kaneda and Sora. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

